

DISCLAIMER NOTICE



THIS DOCUMENT IS BEST QUALITY AVAILABLE. THE COPY FURNISHED TO DTIC CONTAINED A SIGNIFICANT NUMBER OF COLOR PAGES WHICH DO NOT REPRODUCE LEGIBLY ON BLACK AND WHITE MICROFICHE.



1

UNITED STATES AIR FORCE ELMENDORF AIR FORCE BASE, ALASKA

ENVIRONMENTAL RESTORATION PROGRAM

OPERABLE UNIT 5 REMEDIAL INVESTIGATION/FEASIBILITY STUDY 1

۲

۲

VOLUME 1 - TEXT

FINAL

MARCH 1994

WORK PLAN DISCLAIMER

NOTICE

This report has been prepared for the United States Air Force for the purpose of aiding in the implementation of a final remedial action plan under the Air Force Installation Restoration Program (IRP). As the report relates to actual or possible releases of potentially hazardous substances, its releases prior to an Air Force final decision on remedial action may be in the public's interest. The limited objectives of this report and the ongoing nature of the IRP, along with evolving knowledge of site conditions and chemical effects on the environment and health, must be considered when evaluating this report, since subsequent facts may become known which may make this report premature or inaccurate. Acceptance of this report in performance of the contract under which it is prepared does not mean that the Air Force adopts the conclusions, recommendations, or other views expressed herein, which are those of the contractor only and do not necessarily reflect the official position of the United States Air Force.

Copies of this report may be purchased from:

Government agencies and their contractors registered with the Defense Technical Information Center (DTIC) should direct requests for copies of this report to: Defense Technical Information Center, Cameron Station, Alexandria, VA 22304-6145.

Non-Government agencies may purchase copies of this document from: National Technical Information Service (NTIS), 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, VA 22161.

Acces	sion For	
MTIS	GRAZI	
DTIC	TAB	
Unaon	ounced	
Ju sti	fication	
By Distr	ibution/	
. Avai	lability	Godes
D102 A-1	Aveil and Special	d/or L

1	REPORT DOCU	MENTATION F	PAGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
: reparting burden for this authoriton of infor	matter is retinuted to average 1 has	par response, installing the time (ler reviewing instructions, assorbing	anisting data saurosa, ga	turing and maintaining the data nanded, and encyloring an
enation Operations and Reports, 1216 Juliur	aan Davin Highway, Suite 1204, Ada	plan, VA 22202-4309, and to the	and of providents, balance algor a Office of Maragement and Balget,	Papervark Reduction Pr	just (0706-0188), Washington, DC 20503-
AGENCY USE ONLY (Los	ve blank)	2. REPORT DA 4 March 19	TE 994	3. REPOR Final	TYPE AND DATES COVERED
TITLE AND SUBTITLE					5. FUNDING NUMBERS
Remedial Investigation Elmendorf AFB, Anch	/Feasibility Study, O orage, Alaska	perable Unit 5	1 TEX	(T	C-F33615-90-D-4013-0017
. AUTHOR(S)					
Radian Corporation					
. PERFORMING ORGANIZA	TION NAME(S) AND	DDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATIO
Radian Corporation					NEFUNI NUMBEN
P.O. Box 201088					
Austin, Texas, 78759	vard				
SPONSORING/MONITORI		AND ADDRESS(ES))	<u></u>	10. SPONSORING/MONITORING
AFCEE/ESRT					AGENCY REPORT NUMBER
Building 624 West					
Brooks AFB, TX 782. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE	35-5000 s				
Brooks AFB, TX 782 Brooks	35-5000 S BILITY STATEMENT				12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
Brooks AFB, TX 782 1. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE 2a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILAN Unclassified/Unlimited 3. ABSTRACT (Maximum 2	35-5000 S BILITY STATEMENT 00 worde)				12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE
Brooks AFB, TX 782 1. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE 2a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILAN Unclassified/Unlimited 3. ABSTRACT (Maximum 2 This Final Report for (Study for (RI/FS) OU contamination, concept and the effects of the co identification and screet these technologies, and evaluation criteria. Th Based on the analysis,	35-5000 S BALITY STATEMENT Doerable Unit 5 (OU) 5. The RI portion of tual model, and base contamination on hum- ning of potentially a 14) a detailed analys are alternatives are ev- the most cost-effecti	5) is provided per f the report covers line risk assessmen nan health and the pplicable technolog is of the most appl aluated according t ve alternatives are	the statement of we the site background t. The purpose of t environment. The gies, 3) a development icable alternatives. to their combined efficient identified.	ork for the Re 1, field investi- the RI is to de FS covers: 1) ant and screen The analysis fectiveness, in	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE emedial Investigation/Feasibility gations, nature and extent of fine the contamination at OU 5 premedial action objectives, 2) a ing of alternatives which combin considers the nine CERCLA nplementability, and cost scores.
Brooks AFB, TX 782 1. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE 2a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILAN Unclassified/Unlimited 3. ABSTRACT (Maximum 2 This Final Report for (Study for (RI/FS) OU contamination, concept and the effects of the co identification and screet these technologies, and evaluation criteria. Th Based on the analysis, 4. SUBJECT TERMS Remedial Action Object	35-5000 S BUITY STATEMENT 00 words) Operable Unit 5 (OU 5. The RI portion of tual model, and base contamination on hum ning of potentially a 14) a detailed analys as alternatives are ev- the most cost-effection the most cost cost-effection the most cost-effection the most cost-effection the most cost cost cost cost cost cost cost c	5) is provided per f the report covers line risk assessmen nan health and the pplicable technolog is of the most appl aluated according t ve alternatives are	the statement of w the site background t. The purpose of t environment. The gies, 3) a development icable alternatives. to their combined efficient identified.	ork for the Re d, field investi- he RI is to de FS covers: 1) nt and screeni The analysis fectiveness, in	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE emedial Investigation/Feasibility gations, nature and extent of fine the contamination at OU 5 remedial action objectives, 2) a ing of alternatives which combin considers the nine CERCLA nplementability, and cost scores. 15. NUMBER OF PAGES 2,322
Brooks AFB, TX 782 1. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE 2a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILAN Unclassified/Unlimited 3. ABSTRACT (Maximum 2 This Final Report for (Study for (RI/FS) OU contamination, concept and the effects of the co identification and screet these technologies, and evaluation criteria. Th Based on the analysis, 4. SUBJECT TERMS Remedial Action Object Remedial Investigation	35-5000 BALITY STATEMENT CO words Operable Unit 5 (OU 5. The RI portion of tual model, and base contamination on hur ning of potentially a 14) a detailed analys the alternatives are ev- the most cost-effection ctives, ARARs, Deta /Feasibility Study, E	5) is provided per f the report covers line risk assessmen nan health and the pplicable technolog is of the most appl aluated according t ve alternatives are iled Analysis of Al Imendorf AFB, Al	the statement of we the site background t. The purpose of t environment. The gies, 3) a development icable alternatives. to their combined efficient identified.	ork for the Re d, field investi- he RI is to de FS covers: 1) nt and screeni- The analysis fectiveness, in e Unit 5,	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE emedial Investigation/Feasibility gations, nature and extent of fine the contamination at OU 5 premedial action objectives, 2) a ing of alternatives which combin considers the nine CERCLA nplementability, and cost scores. 15. NUMBER OF PAGES 2,322 16. PRICE CODE
Brooks AFB, TX 782 1. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTE 2a. DISTRIBUTION/AVAILAN Unclassified/Unlimited 3. ABSTRACT (Maximum 2) This Final Report for (Study for (RI/FS) OU contamination, concept and the effects of the co identification and scree these technologies, and evaluation criteria. Th Based on the analysis, 4. SUBJECT TERMS Remedial Action Object Remedial Investigation 7. SECURITY CLASSIFICAT OF REPORT Unclassified	35-5000 S BALITY STATEMENT Doerable Unit 5 (OU) 5. The RI portion of the model, and base contamination on hur ning of potentially a 14) a detailed analys are alternatives are ev- the most cost-effection ctives, ARARs, Deta /Feasibility Study, E IS. SECURITY OF THIS F Unclassif	5) is provided per f the report covers line risk assessmen nan health and the pplicable technolog is of the most appl aluated according t ve alternatives are iled Analysis of Al Imendorf AFB, Alt CLASSIFICATION AGE ied	the statement of w the site background t. The purpose of t environment. The fies, 3) a development icable alternatives. to their combined efficient identified.	ork for the Re 1, field investi- the RI is to de FS covers: 1) nt and screen The analysis fectiveness, in e Unit 5, SSIFICATION	12b. DISTRIBUTION CODE emedial Investigation/Feasibility gations, nature and extent of fine the contamination at OU 5 premedial action objectives, 2) a ing of alternatives which combin considers the nine CERCLA nplementability, and cost scores. 15. NUMBER OF PAGES 2,322 16. PRICE CODE 20. LIMITATION OF ABSTRACT Unlimited

TABLE OF CONTENTS

٢

•

۲

8

1

.

		P	age
EXEC	UTIVE	E SUMMARY	. 1
	E .1	Remedial Investigation	. 1
	E.2	Feasibility Study	. 17
1.0	INTR		. 1-1
	1.1	Objectives	. 1-1
	1.2	Operable Unit 5 Background	1-3
		1.2.1 Operable Unit 5 Description	1-3
		1.2.2 Source Area Histories	1-9
		1.2.3 Other Investigations at OU 5	l-17
	1.3	Report Organization	1-32
2.0	INVE	STIGATION AND ANALYSIS PROCEDURES	2-1
	2.1	Field Investigations	.2-1
		2.1.1 Site Reconnaissance	2-1
		2.1.2 Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening	2-19
		2.1.3 Water Use Survey	2-24
		2.1.4 Soils Investigation	2-26
		2.1.5 Groundwater Investigation	2-38
		2.1.6 Surface Water and Sediment Investigation	2-49
		2.1.7 Aquatic Ecological Survey	2-53
		2.1.8 Terrestial Ecological Survey	2-61
		2.1.9 Civil Surveying	2- 69
	2.2	Laboratory Analyses	2-73
	2.3	Data Validation	2-73
	2.4	Data Management	2-81
		2.4.1 Database System	2-81
		2.4.2 Data Management System	2-81
3.0	PHYS	SICAL AND ECOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS	3-1
	3.1	Climate	.3-1
		3.1.1 Precipitation	3-1
		3.1.2 Temperature	3-3
		3.1.3 Wind	.3-4
	3.2	Geology and Soils	.3-4
		3.2.1 Regional Physiographic and Geologic Setting	3-4

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

i

٢

۲

i

Page

		3.2.2 Regional Surficial Deposits and Geomorphology
		3.2.3 Site Investigation Results
	3.3	Hydrology
		3.3.1 Hydrogeology
		3.3.2 Groundwater-Surface Water Interactions
		3.3.3 Streams
	_	3.3.4 Ponds
	3.4	Land Use
		3.4.1 Population
		3.4.2 Use and Access 3-36
	3.5	Water Use
		3.5.1 Upper Aquifer
		3.5.2 Lower Aquifer
		3.5.3 Surface Water
	3.6	Ecology
		3.6.1 Aquatic Communities
		3.6.2 Terrestrial Communities 3-70
4.0	NAT	JRE AND EXTENT OF CONTAMINATION
	4.1	Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening
		4.1.1 Results
		4.1.2 Discussion
	4.2	Soil
		4.2.1 Results
		4.2.2 Discussion
	4.3	Groundwater
		4.3.1 Results
		4.3.2 Discussion
	4.4	Surface Water and Sediments
		4.4.1 Results
		4.4.2 Discussion
	4.5	Aquatic Biota
		4.5.1 Results
		4.5.2 Discussion
	4.6	Terrestrial Plants and Animals 4-102
		4.6.1 Results
		4.6.2 Discussion

ü

		1 mg	
5.0	CON	CEPTUAL MODEL	1
	5.1	Overview	2
	5.2	Sources	õ
	5.3	Contaminant Characteristics and Release Mechanisms 5-2	ñ
		5.3.1 Fuel Products and Constituents	9
		5.3.2 Solvents	2
		5.3.3 Heavy Metals	5
		5.3.4 Polychlorinated Biphenyls	6
	5.4	Environmental Fate and Migration Pathways	7
		5.4.1 Soils and Vadose Zone Migration Pathways	9
		5.4.2 Groundwater Migration Pathways	3
		5.4.3 Surface Water and Sediment Pathways	7
		5.4.4 Airborne Volatile and Particulate Migration Pathways 5-52	2
6.0	BAS	LINE RISK ASSESSMENT	1
	6.1	Human Health Evaluation	1
		6.1.1 Introduction	1
		6.1.2 Identification of Chemicals of Concern	5
		6.1.3 Toxicity Assessment	6
		6.1.4 Exposure Assessment	1
		6.1.5 Public Health Risk Characterization	0
		6.1.6 Uncertainties and Assumptions	3
		6.1.7 Summary and Comparison to EPA Bench Marks	7
	6.2	Ecological Evaluation	2
		6.2.1 Aquatic Resources	4
		6.2.2 Terrestrial Resources	5
7.0	REM	EDIAL INVESTIGATION SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 7-	1
	7.1	Interim Remediation Goals 7-	2
	7.2	General Conceptual Model for OU 5	6
		7.2.1 Groundwater/Seep Interaction	õ
		7.2.2 Groundwater/Ship Creek Interaction (Stream Gaging Results)	2
	7.3	Western OU 5	5
		7.3.1 Conceptual Site Model	5
		7.3.2 Soil	8
		7.3.3 Surface Water and Sediments	8
		7.3.4 Groundwater	8

iii

.

0

۲

	7.3.5	Human Health Risk
	7.3.6	Aquatic Biota
	7.3.7	Terrestrial Plants and Animals
	7.3.8	Conclusions for the Western OU 5
7.4	Central	OU 5
	7.4.1	Conceptual Site Model
	7.4.2	Soil
	7.4.3	Surface Water and Sediment
	7.4.4	Groundwater
	7.4.5	Human Health Risk
	7.4.6	Aquatic Biota
	7.4.7	Terrestrial Plants and Animals
	7.4.8	Conclusions for Central OU 5
7.5	Eastern	OU 5
	7.5.1	Conceptual Site Model
	7.5.2	Soil
	7.5.3	Surface Water and Sediment
	7.5.4	Groundwater
	7.5.5	Human Health Risk
	7.5.6	Aquatic Biota
	7.5.7	Terrestrial Plants and Animals
	7.5.8	Conclusions for the Eastern Area of OU 5
7.6	Snowm	elt Pond
	7.6.1	Initial Remedial Investigation Study
	7.6.2	Second Sediment Sampling
	7.6.3	Third Sampling Event and Site Inspection
	7.6.4	Final Results and Analysis
	7.6.5	Conclusions for the Snowmelt Pond
7.7	Beaver	Pond
	7.7.1	Summary of the Remedial Investigation
	7.7.2	Aquatic Biota
	7.7.3	Natural Attenuation Study
7.8	Contan	ninants of Concern
	7.8.1	Inorganic Elements in Soils
7.9	Recom	mendations
	7.9.1	Areas Recommended for No Further Action
	7.9.2	Areas and Media Recommended for Evaluation in the Feasibility
		Study

Page

0

۲

۲

Electronic APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

ìv

٢

۲

۲

.

.

Page

8.0	REM	EDIAL ACTION OBJECTIVES8-1
	8.1	General and Specific Remedial Action Objectives for OU 5
	8.2	Potential Location- and Action-Specific ARARs
		8.2.1 Potential Location-Specific ARARs
		8.2.2 Potential Action-Specific ARARs
	8.3	Interim Remediation Goals
	8.4	General Response Actions
9.0	IDEN	TIFICATION AND SCREENING OF TECHNOLOGIES
	9.1	General Response Actions for Water
		9.1.1 Natural Attenuation
		9.1.2 Institutional Actions
		9.1.3 Containment
		9.1.4 Extraction/Treatment/Discharge
		9.1.5 In-Situ Treatment
	9.2	General Response Actions for Soil
		9.2.1 Natural Degradation
		9.2.2 Institutional Controls
		9.2.3 Excavation and Disposal
		9.2.4 Containment
		9.2.5 Excavation/Treatment/Disposal
		9.2.6 In-Situ Treatment
	9.3	Identification and Screening of Technology Types and Process Options 9-6
		9.3.1 Identification and Screening of Technologies
		9.3.2 Selection of Technologies
		9.3.3 Surface Water and Sediments
10.0	DEVI	ELOPMENT AND SCREENING OF MEDIA-SPECIFIC ALTERNATIVES 10-1
	10.1	Alternatives for Water
		10.1.1 Natural Attenuation
		10.1.2 Institutional Action
		10.1.3 Containment
		10.1.4 Passive Extraction, Treatment Using Constructed Wetlands, and
		Discharge
		10.1.5 Active Extraction, Treatment Using Constructed Wetlands, and
		Discharge

Elemendorf AFE OU 5 RI/PS Report

V

Page

٢

۲

8

۲

₽

		10.1.6 Passive Extraction, Treatment by Activated Carbon and
		Discharge
		10.1.7 Active Extraction, Treatment Using Air Stripping and Activated
		Carbon, and Discharge 10-15
		10.1.8 Permeable Treatment Beds 10-16
		10.1.9 Air Sparging Combined With Soil Vapor Extraction 10-18
	10.2	Remedial Alternatives For Soil
		10.2.1 Natural Degradation
		10.2.2 Institutional Action
		10.2.3 Containment
		10.2.4 Excavation and Disposal 10-24
		10.2.5 Excavation, Biopiling, and Backfill
		10.2.6 Soil Vapor Extraction/Soil Venting
		10.2.7 Bioventing
	10.3	Alternatives Recommended for Detailed Analysis
		10.3.1 Rationale for Retained Water Alternatives
		10.3.2 Rationale for Eliminated Water Alternatives
		10.3.3 Rationale for Retained Soil Alternatives
		10.3.4 Rationale for Eliminated Soil Alternatives
11.0	DETA	ILED ANALYSIS OF REMEDIAL ACTION ALTERNATIVES 11-1
	11.1	Assumptions
		11.1.1 Presence of Upgradient Groundwater Impacts/Affected Media 11-2
		11.1.2 Upgradient Response Actions
		11.1.3 Remediation Timeframe/Short-Term Effectiveness
		11.1.4 Discharge of Treated Water
		11.1.5 Presumptive Remedy for Snowmelt Pond
	11.2	Technical Approach for Detailed Analysis
		11.2.1 Development and Analysis of Multi-Media Alternatives 11-5
		11.2.2 Evaluation Criteria and Scoring System
	11.3	Detailed Evaluation
		11.3.1 Detailed Assessment of Remedial Alternatives for Water 11-12
		11.3.2 Detailed Assessment of Soil Remedial Alternatives
		11.3.3 Constructed Wetland at Snowmelt Pond
	11.4	Sensitivity Analysis
		11.4.1 Sensitivity to a 50% Increase in Volume to be Treated 11-74
		11.4.2 Order of Magnitude Increase in TFH Concentrations 11-75
		11.4.3 Order of Magnitude Increase in the Concentration of
		Chlorinated Compounds

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

vi

11.4.4Change Significant Risk Level from 10 ⁻⁶ to 10 ⁻⁵ 11-7611.4.5Change Significant Risk Level from 1 x 10 ⁻⁶ to 10 ⁻⁴ 11-7811.4.6Change Implementation Time From 30 to 5 Years11-7811.4.7Change Implementation Time From 30 to 10 Years11-7911.5Comparative Analysis11-7911.5.1Geographic Areas of OU 511-7911.5.2Multi-Media Alternatives Development11-8211.5.3Comparative Analysis11-8411.5.4Limitations of Comparative Analysis11-9111.5.5Conclusion of Comparative Analysis11-92
12.0 REFERENCES
LIST OF APPENDICES
 APPENDIX A: Laboratory Results on Potable Water Supply for Equipment Decontamination APPENDIX B: Soil Boring Logs APPENDIX C: Monitoring Well Boring and Construction Log APPENDIX D: Well Purging and Development Field Data Sheets APPENDIX E: Water Level Monitoring Data
APPENDIX F: Slug Test Data APPENDIX C: Civil Supreming Data
APPENDIX 6: Civil Surveying Data APPENDIX H: Data Validation
APPENDIX K:Analytical Data Summary SheetsAPPENDIX L:Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening ResultsAPPENDIX M:Field Parameters for Monitoring Well SamplingAPPENDIX N:Potential ARARs IdentificationAPPENDIX O:Terrestrial Survey TablesAPPENDIX P:Human Health Risk Assessment TablesAPPENDIX Q:Snowmelt Pond:Additional Information
APPENDIX S: Remedial Technology Process Descriptions APPENDIX T: Cost Estimates

vii

Page

٧

۲

•

\$

.

)

.

.

LIST OF FIGURES

E

U

٠

1.1	Site Location Map, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
1.2	CERCLA Sites at Elmendorf AFB
1.3	Operable Unit 5 Source Areas
1. 4a	Contaminants Detected in Previous Investigations
1. 4 b	Contaminants Detected in Previous Investigations
1.5a	Fuel Pipelines and Tanks 1-24
1. 5 b	Fuel Pipelines and Tanks
2.1a	Surface Locations Identified in Site Reconnaissance
2.1b	Surface Locations Identified in Site Reconnaissance
2.2 a	Surface Water Drainage Pathways
2.2b	Surface Water Drainage Pathways
2.3 a	Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening Locations
2.3b	Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening Locations
2. 4a	Soil Boring and Monitoring Well Locations
2. 4 b	Soil Boring and Monitoring Well Locations
2.5	Generalized Shallow Monitoring Well Cross Section, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
2.6	Generalized Deeper Monitoring Well Cross Section, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
2.7 a	Surface Water, Sediment and Biological Sampling Locations
2.7b	Surface Water, Sediment and Biological Sampling Locations

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

viii

	rage
3.1 a	Location of Soil Cross Sections
3.16	Location of Soil Cross Sections
3.2	Cross Section A-A' Along Bluff Area 3-12
3.3	Cross Section B-B' Across Bluff Area 3-13
3.4	Cross Section C-C' Across Bluff Area 3-14
3.5	Cross Section D-D' Across Bluff Area 3-15
3.6	Cross Section E-E' Across Bluff Area 3-16
3.7	Cross Section F-F' Along Bluff Area 3-17
3.8	Plan View of SP1-02 Bluff Area and Test Hole Locations
3.9	Cross Section G-G' Across Bluff Area 3-20
3.10	Hydrogeologic Cross Section of OU 5, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
3.11	Water Level Contour Map with Flow Lines
3.12a	General Land Use Map
3.1 2b	General Land Use Map
3.13	Water Supply Well Locations
3.1 4a	General Habitat Features
3.1 4 b	General Habitat Features
4.1a	Study Subareas
4.1b	Study Subareas
4.2a	Soil Gas Screening Results - Total VOCs and Petroleum Hydrocarbons 4-10

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RJ/PS Report

ix

.

۲

F

۲

	Page
4.2b	Soil Gas Screening Results - Total VOCs and Petroleum Hydrocarbons 4-11
4.3a	Groundwater Screening Results - Total VOCs
4.3 b	Groundwater Screening Results - Total VOCs
4.4a	Groundwater Screening Results - Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons
4.4b	Groundwater Screening Results - Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons
4.5a	Organic Contaminants Detected in Soil
4.5b	Organic Contaminants Detected in Soil
4.6a	Inorganic Elements Detected in Soil Above Background Levels
4.6 b	Inorganic Elements Detected in Soil Above Background Levels
4.7a	Organic Contaminants Detected in Upper Aquifer Groundwater
4.7b	Organic Contaminants Detected in Upper Aquifer Groundwater
4.8	Location of Lower Aquifer Wells for Background Comparison
4.9	Piper Plot Comparing Confined & Unconfined Groundwater Results, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
4.10a	Organic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment
4.10b	Organic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment
4.11a	Inorganic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment 4-86
4.11b	Inorganic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment
4.12a	Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed 4-107
4.12b	Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed 4-108

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

X

5.1	General Elements of a Conceptual Model, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
5.2	Conceptual Model Illustration, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska 5-5
5.3	Conceptual Model for Potential Human Exposures, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
5.4	Potential Exposure Pathways for Ecological Receptors, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
6.1 a	Additive Risk Estimates for Groundwater at Monitoring Wells
6.1b	Additive Risk Estimates for Groundwater at Monitoring Wells
7-1	Conceptual Model Illustration
7-2	Source Areas and Geographic Subdivisions of OU 5
7-3	Water Level Contour Map with Flow Lines
7-4	Ship Creek Gaging Stations and Flow Interactions with Groundwater in OU 5 . 7-13
7- 5	Sampling Locations and Contaminant Distribution in Western OU 5 7-16
7-6	Conceptual Site Model - Schematic Cross Section A-A', Western OU 5 7-17
7-7	Sampling Locations and Contaminant Distribution in Central OU 5 7-23
7-8	Conceptual Site Model - Schematic Cross Section B-B', Central OU 5 7-24
7-9	Sampling Locations and Contaminant Distribution in Eastern OU 5
7-10	Conceptual Site Model - Schematic Cross Section C-C', Eastern OU 5 7-31
7-11	Approximate Locations of Sediment and Surface Water Samples and PCB Analysis Results, Snowmelt Pond, OU 5
11-1	Natural Attenuation Alternative (Elevation View)

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

٢

۲

۲

٠

xi

	I WEC
11-2	Natural Attenuation Alternative
11-3	Institutional Control Alternative (Elevation View)
11-4	Institutional Control Alternative
11-5	Passive Extraction with Constructed Wetland Treatment Alternative (Elevation View)
11-6	Passive Extraction with Constructed Wetland Treatment Alternative 11-25
11-7	Passive Extraction with Carbon Treatment Alternative (Elevation View) 11-29
11-8	Passive Extraction with Activated Carbon Treatment Alternative 11-30
11-9	Air Sparging with SVE and Activated Carbon Treatment Alternative (Elevation View)
11-10	Air Sparging with SVE and Activated Carbon Treatment Alternative 11-35
11-11	Active Extraction, Air Stripping, and Activated Carbon Treatment Alternative (Elevation View)
11-12	Active Extraction, Air Stripping, and Activated Carbon Treatment Alternative
11-13	Natural Degradation of Contamination in Soil (Elevation View) 11-46
11-14	Natural Degradation of Contamination in Soil
11-15	Institutional Controls Alternative (Elevation View)
11-16	Institutional Controls
11-17	Excavation, Biopiling, Backfill Alternative (Elevation View) 11-54
11 -18	Excavation, Biopiling, Backfill
11-19	Soil Bioventing Alternative (Elevation View)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

xii

_

٢

۲

ē

۲

•

•

۲

۲

۲

		T age
11-20	Soil Bioventing Alternative	11-61
11-21	Areas Requiring Remediation, Assuming 1 x 10 ⁵ Risk	11- 77
11-22	Geographical Areas of OU 5	11-80

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

xiii

LIST OF TABLES

۲

•

.

1	Interim Remediation Goals
2	Media-Specific and Applicable Pathway Remedial Action Alternatives for OU 5
1-1	Storage Tanks Within OU 5 1-27
2-1	Summary of Inspection Results for Wells Installed in Previous Investigations
2-2	Soil Boring Summary
2-3	Monitoring Well Summary 2-43
2-4	Macroinvertebrate, Fish, and Bioassay Sample Collection Locations, in Spring (May-June) and Fall (August-September) 1992
2-5	Plant and Soil Sample Collections in Areas Showing Evidence of Plant Stress
2-6	Small-Mammal Trapping Summary 2-68
2-7	Coordinates for Survey Monuments
2-8	Comparison of Survey Results to Published Data 2-72
2-9	Summary of Laboratory Analyses
2-10	Data Validation Flags
3-1	Climatic Data for Elmendorf AFB
3-2	Wind Direction by Percent for Elmendorf AFB
3-3	Expanded Legend for Geologic Cross Sections
3-4	Results of Water Use Survey
3-5	Data on Water Supply Wells in Vicinity of OU 5

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

xiv

÷

٢

۲

۲

Ð

Page

3-6	Results of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Collection and Analysis from Ship Creek
3-7	Results of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Collection and Analysis from the Golf Course Beaver Pond and Wetland Pond (5M106) - Spring and Fall 1992
3-8	Results of Small-Mammal Trapping Survey
3-9	Bird List for Elmendorf Air Force Base
4- 1	Summary of Screening Results for Soil Gas
4-2	Summary of Screening Results for Groundwater
4-3	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Soil (Quick Turnaround Results)
4-4	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Soil (Normal Turnaround Results)
4-5	Background Metal Concentrations for Elmendorf AFB Soils
4-6	Summary of Analytical Results for Metals in Soil
4- 7	Total Metals in Fly Ash and Fly Ash Leachate Samples
4-8	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)
4-9	Summary of Analytical Results for Dissolved Metals in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)
4-10	Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)
4-11	Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Water Supply Wells (Lower Aquifer)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

XV

0

۲

۲

Page

	-
4-12	Background Comparison of Total Metals and Anions in Groundwater for Lower Aquifer Wells near Ship Creek
4-13	Comparison of Downgradient to Upgradient Total Metals for the Upper Aquifer
4-14	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Surface Water
4-15	Summary of Analytical Results for Dissolved Metals in Surface Water 4-73
4-16	Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Surface Water 4-75
4-17	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Sediment
4-18	Summary of Analytical Results for Metals in Sediment
4-19	Results of Acute Toxicity Testing of Surface Water and Sediments 4-99
4-20	Results of Chronic Toxicity Testing of Surface Water and Sediments 4-101
4-21	Summary of Inorganic Elements (mg/kg, dry weight) in Soils and Plants from Areas Where Plant Stress was Observed
4-22	Maximum Measured Concentrations and Location of Fuel Hydrocarbons in Soils from Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed
4-23	Comparison of Soil Chemistry for Samples from Areas Where Plant Stress was Observed
5-1	Elements of the Conceptual Model Cross-Referenced to Information Sources and Location in RI Report
5-2	Potential Sources for Contaminants in OU 5
5-3	Summary of Organic Contaminants in the Upper Aquifer at Upgradient Operable Units

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

C

ā

xvi

5-4	Physical and Chemical Parameters for Organic and Inorganic Chemicals Detected
5-5	Physical and Chemical Properties of Hydrocarbon Fuels
5- 6	Estimated Worst-Case Concentrations for Ship Creek During Low Flow Periods
6- 1	Compounds Detected by Media
6-2	Oral Reference Dose Values for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5 6-12
6-3	Inhalation Reference Concentrations for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5
6-4	Carcinogen Weight-of-Evidence Classification Scheme
6-5	Cancer Slope Factors for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5 6-20
6-6	Exposure Assumptions for Subsurface Soil Pathways
6-7	Exposure Assumptions for Surface Soil Pathways
6-8	Exposure Assumptions for Groundwater Pathways
6-9	Exposure Assumptions for Surface Water and Sediment Pathways
6-10	Summary of Maximum Risk Screening Estimates for Subsurface Soils 6-43
6- 11	Summary of Risk Estimates for Surface Soils
6-12	Summary of Risk Estimates for Groundwater
6-13	Summary of Risk Estimates for Individual Monitoring Wells
6-14	Summary of Risk Estimates for Dust Inhalation
6-15	Summary of Risk Screening Estimates for Sediments and Surface Water 6-64
6-16	Uncertainty Factors in the Human Health Risk Evaluation for OU 5 6-66

Research APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

xvii

۲

۲

۲

ŧ

Page

1

۲

۲

•

6-17	Summary of Human Health Risk Assessment
6-18	Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection 6-77
6-19	Beaver Pond (5SW13) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-20	Golf Course Beaver Pond (5SW04-05) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-2 1	Wetland Pond (5SW06) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-22	Snowmelt Pond (5SW07) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-23	Bluff Pond (5SW08) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-24	Drainage Ditch (5SW09 and 5SW10) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-25	Ship Creek Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-26	Aquatic Toxicity of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons
6-27	Toxicity of Sediments to Aquatic Organisms
6-28	Summary of Data Sources and Contaminants in Aquatic Media Selected for Further Evaluations
6-29	Comparison of Estimated Maximum Soil Vapor Concentrations From Groundwater to Acute and Chronic Exposure Effect Levels by Inhalation in Mammals
6-30	Comparison of Maximum Estimated Soil Vapor Concentrations From Soils to Acute and Chronic Exposure Effect Levels by Inhalation in Mammals 6-110

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5

xviii



Page

6-31	Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Soils from OU 5 with Elmendorf AFB Background Soils and Canadian Interim Remediation Criteria	₽
6-32	Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Soils from OU 5 that Exceeded Elmendorf AFB Background Soils or Canadian Interim Remediation Criteria with Maximum Tolerable Dietary Levels for Domestic Animals	•
6-33	Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Plants from OU 5 with Maximum Tolerable Dietary Levels for Domestic Animals	
6-34	Comparison of Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Plants from OU 5 with Various Evaluation Levels	
6-35	Summary of Data Sources and Contaminants Selected for Further Evaluations	•
6-36	Potentially Complete Exposure Pathways to Primary Terrestrial Receptors Selected for Assessment	
6-37	LC ₅₀ Values for Five Oils and Four Species in Static and Flow-Through Tests	P
6-38	UTAB Database Information on Bioaccumulation of Heavy Metals by Plants	
6-39	Ecological Quotients Comparing Observed Contaminant Concentrations in OU 5 to Assessment Levels	
7-1	Interim Remediation Goals	
7-2	Ship Creek Flow, Q in OU 5 from Stream Gaging, March through September 1993	P
7-3	Summary of Contaminants of Concern (COCs) Analysis	
8- 1	Specific Remedial Action Objectives for OU 5	I

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

xix

۲

â

۲

Page

8-2	Summary of Interim Remediation Goals and General Response Actions for OU 5
9- 1	Summary of Evaluation of Process Options for Water
9-2	Summary of Evaluation of Process Options for Soil
9 -3	Selected Representative Process Options for Water
9-4	Selected Representative Process Options for Soil
11-1	Media-Specific and Applicable Pathway Remedial Action Alternatives for OU 5
11-2	Remedial Alternative Evaluation Criteria
11-3	Remedial Alternative Evaluation Criteria Rating System
11-4	Sensitivity Analysis of Remedial Action Alternatives (By Medium) 11-71
11 -5	Multi-Media Alternatives
11 -6	Comparative Analysis for Media-Specific Remedial Alternatives
11 -7	Comparative Analysis for Multi-Media Remedial Alternatives

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

٢

۲

۲

	Page
EXECUTIVI	3 SUMMARY 1
E .1	Remedial Investigation
E.2	Feasibility Study

i

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

12

a

LIST OF TABLES

E

9

Ĩ

۹

	Pa	e
1	Interim Remediation Goals	9
2	Media-Specific and Applicable Pathway Remedial Action Alternatives for OU 5	9

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

ü

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report presents the results of the remedial investigation/feasibility study (RI/FS) of Operable Unit (OU) 5 on Elmendorf Air Force Base (AFB), Alaska by the U.S. Air Force. The RI report describes the results of the field investigations and provides an evaluation of the data and a risk assessment. The FS evaluates remedial action alternatives for the contaminants in OU 5.

E

E.1 <u>Remedial Investigation</u>

Objectives

The investigation of OU 5 had the following objectives:

- Provide sufficient data to develop source-specific and OU-specific conceptual models;
- Determine the potential for off-site migration of OU 5 contaminants and impacts on Ship Creek;
- Determine the influence of upgradient contaminant sources on the OU 5 areas;
- Collect sufficient data to determine the approximate extent and nature of contamination;
- Collect sufficient data to determine the risks to human health and the environment; and
- Prepare an RI report with results of the field investigation to provide a basis for the feasibility study (FS).

In accordance with the OU 5 Management Plan, the RI report also presents preliminary recommendations for remedial technologies and remedial action objectives.

1

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Site Background and History

OU 5 is located at the southern perimeter of Elmendorf AFB just north of Ship Creek. The topography is dominated by a bluff that rises approximately 30 feet above beaver ponds at the eastern end of the OU and 60 feet above railroad tracks at the western end. Three fuel pipelines and associated storage tanks and distribution systems are located on top of the bluff. Numerous groundwater seeps that are exposed along the bluff flow into ponds, wetlands, and drainage ditches, and eventually into Ship Creek. Land uses between the base of the bluff and Ship Creek include designated open areas, a railroad right-of-way, picnic area and golf course, fish hatchery, and an off-base commercial/industrial area. 4

The USAF has identified six potential source areas through record searches of spills, pipeline leaks, and fuel seeps.

- Source ST37—In the late 1950s, several thousand gallons of diesel fuel leaked from a fuel line south of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE) building. The exact location of the leak is not known. The fuel seeped out of the ground near the railroad tracks, and thousands of gallons of fuel were recovered.
- Source ST38—In the mid-1960s, a leak in a JP-4 jet fuel pipeline led to seepage out of the bank southeast of Building 22-010. The exact location or volume of the leak is not known and no fuel was recovered.
- Source SS42—An estimated 8000-gallon, one-time spill of diesel fuel occurred near Building 22-010 in March 1976. Most of the fuel was recovered off the frozen ground.
- Source SD40—During the late 1960s, oil was reported seeping out of the bank near the railroad and flowing through a marsh into Ship Creek. The source of this oil is unknown.
- Source ST46---A cracked pipeline in 1978 allowed JP-4 jet fuel to seep into wetlands and Ship Creek. After the pipe was repaired, fuel continued to seep from the bank and into a beaver pond.
- Source SS53—A fuel seep of unknown origin was observed during the spring thaw for an unspecified number of years. This seep was noted

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

south of Post Road, north of the golf course pro shop, and flowed into a drainage ditch parallel to Post Road.

5

All six source areas have undergone previous investigations under USAF environmental programs in the 1980s. Total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) were found in soil samples at each source area, with the highest concentrations observed in soil at the groundwater table. The maximum TPH concentration in soil was approximately 10,000 mg/kg at a 30-foot depth at ST38. Groundwater samples from monitoring wells had TPH concentrations up to 160 milligrams per liter (mg/L) at ST37. Benzene was found in groundwater samples above the federal and state drinking water standard of 5 micrograms per liter (μ g/L) at ST37 (13 μ g/L) and SD40 (27 μ g/L). Trace levels of TCE and other solvents were also detected in groundwater samples. In addition, previous investigations found that fly ash deposits had been used to extend the bluff at ST37 and ST38. A summary of results of all previous investigations is provided in the RI report.

In August 1990, Elmendorf AFB was listed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) on the National Priorities List. This listing designated the facility as a federal Superfund site subject to the remedial response requirements of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986. On November 22, 1991, the USAF, EPA, and the Alaska Department of Conservation signed the Federal Facilities Agreement (FFA) for Elmendorf AFB. Under the terms of the agreement, all remedial response activities will be conducted to protect the public health and welfare, and the environment, in accordance with applicable federal and state law.

OU 5 is one of seven operable units to be investigated under the Elmendorf FFA. The source areas included in OU 5 are grouped together because of similar petroleumlike contaminants, potential for off-site migration of the contaminants, potential impacts to Ship Creek, and potential risks to receptors.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

In late 1991, CH2M HILL began proparing a management plan that served as a planning document for all OU 5 RI activities. The final management plan includes all field, laboratory, and quality assurance procedures for the RI. (*****)

4)

Field Investigations

Field investigations began in May 1992 and continued into December 1992. The scope of the field investigations is summarized in the following paragraphs by specific task.

Monitoring Well Inspection. Seventeen existing monitoring wells were evaluated for usability in the RI, and were repaired as necessary.

Mapping of Groundwater Seeps. Thirty-one seeps at the base of in bluff were located, and general observations of water quality were recorded. Several seeps had discernable petroleum odors and a sheen indicative of either petroleum contamination or biological growth. Some of the seeps were associated with stressed vegetation.

Mapping of Surface Water Drainage. Drainage from the OU 5 bluff source areas travels through ponds, wetlands, open drainage ditches, and buried culverts, until the runoff reaches Ship Creek and flows west into Knik Arm. A tracer-dye study was performed to determine the direction of flow in buried culverts. Drainage to Ship Creek occurs as point source discharges rather than sheet runoff.

Review of Elmendorf AFB Bioenvironmental Engineering Services Group (BESG) Data. The BESG routinely collects water samples from two lower aquifer supply wells (BW2 and BW52) in OU 5 and from a drainage ditch as it exits Elmendorf AFB. These data are summarized in the RI report.

4

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Water Use Survey. A survey of 30 off-base property tenants, computer searches of available groundwater data bases, and interviews were conducted to determine water use at and downgradient of OU 5 and to identify the potential receptors of groundwater and surface-water contaminants. Surface water from Ship Creek is diverted for cooling water at the Elmendorf AFB power plant and for fish production at the hatchery. The upper aquifer groundwater was not found to be used by Elmendorf AFB or adjacent properties. Two Elmendorf base wells, two fish hatchery wells, and four off-site industrial area wells that draw groundwater from the lower aquifer were identified. These wells are used for drinking water, fish production, and cooling water. Most of the tenants off-base do not have supply wells on their property, but are connected to Municipality of Anchorage water supplies. (\mathbf{U})

۲

4)

Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening Survey. A soil gas and groundwater screening survey was used to collect screening-level data on the extent of organic contamination in soil and groundwater, and to guide the placement of soil borings and monitoring wells for the RI field investigation. Samples were analyzed on site with a gas chromatograph (GC) for five chlorinated solvents; benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene (BTEX); and total volatile hydrocarbons.

Soil Investigation. Soil sampling was conducted within OU 5 to define the extent of soil contamination around source areas and to characterize soil types. Soil samples were collected from 31 boring locations. A total of four deep borings were advanced to the Bootlegger Cove Formation using continuous split-barrel sampling to log the soil stratigraphy and verify the depth of the Bootlegger Cove Formation. Other borings were sampled at 5-foot intervals and advanced only to the top of the water table, unless the boring was designated to be completed as a monitoring well. Each soil sample was classified by a field geologist following standard procedures.

Soil samples for chemical analyses were collected at regular, predetermined intervals in the borings and at the groundwater/unsaturated zone interface. An additional soil

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

sample was collected from the bottom of each boring that had been advanced to the Bootlegger Cove Formation to analyze for sinking contaminants. Samples were analyzed for BTEX, halogenated volatile organics, and diesel-, gasoline-, and JP-4-range hydrocarbons. In addition, selected soil samples were analyzed for semivolatile organics, metals, and physical parameters, including grain-size distribution, liquid and plastic limits, and total organic carbon. (**)**

۲

Groundwater Investigation. Nineteen groundwater monitoring wells were installed into the upper aquifer. Monitoring well locations were selected to confirm the presence of contamination identified during the groundwater screening survey to provide groundwater data in areas of known or suspected leaks, and to allow the groundwater directly upgradient and downgradient of OU 5 to be sampled. Water level measurements in existing and new wells and at temporary piezometers installed during the soil gas survey were measured four times during the field season at approximately 3-week intervals. No floating product layers were detected in the monitoring wells. All new monitoring wells were developed with a combination of surging and bailing or pumping. Slug tests were completed on 11 of the new monitoring wells to allow measurement of hydraulic conductivity values.

Groundwater samples from a total of 17 existing and 19 new monitoring wells were collected and analyzed to evaluate upper aquifer groundwater quality. Samples were tested for halogenated volatile organics, BTEX, semivolatile organics, and diesel-, gasoline-, and JP-4-range hydrocarbons. Monitoring wells near fly ash deposits (east of source ST37) were additionally sampled for total and dissolved metals. General water-quality parameters (alkalinity, hardness, and anions) were analyzed in five randomly chosen sample locations. Results of the general water-quality analysis were used to perform a geochemical comparison of water collected from the shallow and deep aquifers.

Four active water-supply wells were also sampled to determine lower aquifer groundwater quality. Samples were analyzed for volatile organics, semivolatile organics, and

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

diesel/gasoline/JP-4-range hydrocarbons. Samples from selected wells were also analyzed for selected cations, anions, and metals.

Coordinates and elevations for monitoring wells, soil borings, piezometers, water supply wells, and stream gages were surveyed and referenced to published control points. Both were used to map sampling locations and provide common reference points for water-level measurements used to evaluate site hydrology. ۲

Surface Water and Sediment Investigation. Surface water and sediments were sampled from Ship Creek, the golf course beaver pond, and selected surface water impoundments and drainage ditches downgradient of the OU 5 bluff. Sample locations were chosen based on strategic points of inlet or discharge to receiving waters, or where stressed vegetation was apparent.

Surface-water samples were analyzed for volatile organics, semivolatile organic:, total and dissolved metals, diesel-, gasoline-, and JP-4-range hydrocarbons, and alkalinity. In-situ field measurements included pH, temperature, specific conductance, and dissolved oxygen. Sediment samples were analyzed for volatile organics, semivolatile organics, diesel/gasoline/JP-4 hydrocarbons, and total metals. PCB samples were included in selected sediment samples.

Ecological Surveys. Aquatic and terrestrial ecological surveys were performed to describe the biological characteristics of OU 5, identify receptors and important habitats, determine if there is evidence of stress on the ecosystems in the area, and assess toxicity of water and sediments in the study area to fish and benthic macroinvertebrates. Insitu physical measurements of surface-water quality and habitat observations were made to provide a qualitative habitat assessment for comparison of each sampling location. The RI report contains the results of both the aquatic and terrestrial surveys.

7

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The following tasks were part of the ecological investigations. Benthic macroinvertebrates were sampled using both quantitative and qualitative methods. Fish were sampled qualitatively using electroshocking at Ship Creek and pond locations. Acute and chronic toxicity tests were conducted on selected surface-water and sediment samples to assess the potential for stress to aquatic organisms. Plant and soil samples were also collected for chemical analyses to determine whether plant stress observed during the terrestrial field survey was directly related to contaminant exposure or to nutritional deficiencies and imbalances induced by contaminants. ۲

Analytical Laboratory Program. The analytical program used both 48-hour turnaround time analyses at the CH2M HILL Corvallis, Oregon, Close Support Laboratory (CSL) and standard turnaround time analyses at the CH2M HILL Redding, California, laboratory. Additional contract laboratories to support add-on work included Superior Analytical, ENSECO, and the CH2M HILL Milwaukee, Wisconsin, aquatic biology laboratory.

Data Validation and Management. The laboratories generated EPA Level III data with documentation equivalent to EPA Level IV data. All data packages from the investigation were reviewed for adherence to quality assurance limits defined in the OU 5 *Management Plan.* An additional 10 to 20 percent of the data was validated using raw data according to EPA functional guidelines. Validation reports are included in the RI report. Generally, the data met the project quality assurance objectives. Standard procedures were also followed for entering the data into a data management system that met USAF requirements.

Nature and Extent of Contamination

The OU 5 sampling locations are divided into seven subareas based on the geographic relationship to the suspected pipeline sources, and habitat and land use characteristics. The subareas studied during the RI are designated upgradient, pipeline

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

corridor, waste paint tank, lower bluff, Post Road corridor, golf course beaver pond, and Ship Creek. The industrial area along Post Road was not investigated under this RI. (4)

۲

Soil. Three source areas had soil petroleum hydrocarbons greater than 100 mg/kg: the pipeline corridor and lower bluff subareas south of the COE building (Source ST37), the lower bluff subarea below Building 22-010 (Source ST38), and the pipeline corridor near a low-point water drain value at the junction of Post Road and Second Avenue (Source SS53). Petroleum hydrocarbons generally increased with depth with very little upper vadose zone contamination. The highest concentration of petroleum hydrocarbons at OU 5 was 1160 mg/kg diesel in a soil boring at the 10- to 12-foot depth at Source ST37. Halogen-ated organics were not detected in any soil samples.

Upper Aquifer Groundwater. Halogenated volatile organic compounds (VOCs) were detected in the upgradient subarea of OU 5 (TCE concentrations between $5.2 \mu g/L$ and $52 \mu g/L$), and at lesser concentrations in the pipeline corridor and lower bluff subareas. The fuel hydrocarbons observed in OU 5 groundwater include BTEX compounds, PAHs, gasoline, JP-4, and diesel-range organics. Several of the fuel hydrocarbons were also observed in upgradient monitoring wells, but generally at lower concentrations than found downgradient of the pipelines. Comparison of metals in groundwater near the fly ash deposits with regional background data indicates that concentrations for several metals are elevated. Additional sampling upgradient and downgradient of the fly ash deposit is being performed to further evaluate the potential impact of the source.

Surface Water and Sediment. In the surface water sampling program, fuel hydrocarbons, BTEX, PAHs, volatiles, and semivolatiles were detected, to some degree, in each pond, except the beaver pond at seep SL29, and in drainage ditches. These organics, with the exception of an diesel-range organic detected at a culvert outfall outside OU 5 (sampling station SW11), were not detected in the Ship Creek surface waters. The chemical analyses results indicate that organic contaminants in the surface water, for the most part are confined to the OU 5 lower bluff ponds, and are either biodegraded/absorbed in soils or

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
vegetation along the drainage pathways, or are diluted to a level below detection limits before reaching Ship Creek.

 \mathbf{U}

۲

()

In the sediment sampling program, organics were detected, to some degree, in the water-body sediments sampled along the OU 5 runoff pathway (ponds, drainage ditches, creek). However, the potential contaminant concentrations detected in Ship Creek sediments are below those detected upgradient/upstream, indicating the potential contaminants are somewhat confined to the upgradient lower bluff pond sediments in the OU 5 transport pathway. PCBs (Aroclor 1260) were detected in one sediment sample (sampling station SE07); however, the source of the PCB is uncertain.

Aquatic Blota. Macroinvertebrate community structures in the ponds at the base of the bluff were restricted. The golf course beaver pond was the most biologically affected sampling station. The presence of organic compounds in the pond surface water and sediments suggests a potential cause for this condition. Laboratory toxicity tests indicated that the golf course beaver pond sediments are acutely toxic to *Chironomus tentans* at the southwest end of the pond, and chronically toxic to *Hyalella azteca* at the northeast end of the pond; however, additional quantitative sampling would be required to better characterize community structure.

Ship Creek was not observed to be affected by any of the OU 5 source areas. Resident fish are present in Ship Creek in limited numbers within the study area, and do not appear to be in the pathway of OU 5 contaminants of concern that could have an adverse effect. No fish were observed to inhabit the OU 5 study area ponds.

Terrestrial Flants and Animals. Several species of plants exhibited signs of stress, including interveinal chlorosis. This suggests that some stressor found in the soils in various areas of OU 5 has altered the photosynthetic rate of affected plants. Because the signs of stress were similar to those induced by iron deficiency, the chemical analyses of plants and soils focused on factors that may affect iron uptake and availability, in addition to

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

10

analyses for previously identified contaminants for OU 5. Elevated soil manganese, phosphorus, and pH may cause mineral imbalances to occur in plants. Based on the data from this exploratory study, a definitive cause for the plant stress cannot be determined. J

۲

Bird eggs that failed to hatch were found in four nests, and five of the six eggs had dead embryos. The affected nests included mew gulls, American widgeon, and spotted sandpiper. The limited observations of water fowl, shorebird, and gull nests did not indicate that eggs were becoming oiled by transfer of oil from the parents' feathers, and oil was not observed on the birds' plumage. These findings are inconclusive, however, because the number of nests being observed was small.

Conceptual Model

A conceptual model was established as a means of defining contaminant migration pathways into, through, and away from OU 5. The primary media of concern in OU 5 include the vadose zone soils, groundwater, surface water, and sediment.

Three areas (Sources ST37, ST38, and SS53) were identified during the investigation as having fuel contaminated soils. Because no ongoing or recent leaks were identified during the investigation, contaminated soils probably represent residual contamination from past reported leaks and spills. The current contamination is located in the capillary fringe of the water table.

Groundwater contamination observed in OU 5 wells occurred exclusively in the upper aquifer. Halogenated VOCs and fuel hydrocarbons were the principal contaminants detected in the groundwater. Concentration patterns suggest that the halogenated VOCs are migrating into OU 5 from upgradient sources via groundwater transport. Fuel hydrocarbon concentration patterns confirm that sources are along the pipeline corridor, but low concentrations indicate that these are relatively old spills and leaks.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The Bootlegger Cove Formation between the upper and lower aquifers is thought to prevent any significant exchange of contaminants between the two aquifers. (4)

()

Groundwater flow within OU 5 is generally toward the Ship Creek valley. Water table elevation contours indicate that groundwater enters Ship Creek as base flow. The elevation of the ponds and seeps along the base of the bluffs and the presence of halogenated VOCs in both groundwater and seeps further indicate that these surface waters are fed by groundwater. These surface-water bodies are also fed by storm-water runoff from the base.

Beseline Risk Assessment

The baseline risk assessment evaluates the potential threat to human health and the environment posed by actual or potential releases of hazardous substances from OU 5 under the no-action alternative (no remedial action).

Human Health Evaluation. The human health evaluation consists of four steps: identification of contaminants of concern, toxicity assessment, exposure assessment, and risk characterization. For each step, assumptions and uncertainties in the process are discussed. The risks for OU 5 are evaluated under both current and potential future land uses. Contaminant concentrations are assumed to remain constant during the duration of the assumed exposures.

A maximum concentration screening approach was used to eliminate pathways of low risk to human health. Pathways eliminated included subsurface soil, surface water, sediment, and some surface soil. A fish ingestion pathway was eliminated because of the lack of contamination in Ship Creek. The remaining pathways, groundwater, air (dust), and some soil, were evaluated under reasonable maximum- and average-case exposure scenarios.

12

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

The estimated risk values were compared to EPA bench marks. The upper aquifer groundwater pathway generated noncancer hazard index values exceeding unity and total excess lifetime cancer risks equal to one in ten thousand (1×10^{-6}) . The groundwater pathway assumed future residential exposures through ingestion, inhalation of vapors, and dermal contact with upper aquifer groundwater over a lifetime. Total metals (arsenic and manganese) are the largest contributors to the groundwater risk estimates. Exposure by ingestion of the groundwater yields the highest risk values. ۲

4)

Under reasonable maximum exposure assumptions, organic contaminants contribute between 10^{-5} and 10^{-6} excess lifetime cancer risks for future residents through ingestion of groundwater and inhalation of volatiles during showering. That level of risk occurs as a result of organic contaminants in all OU 5 subareas. The organic contaminants contributing to the estimated risks include gasoline- and diesel-range organics, benzene, and TCE.

A future residential scenario for the upper aquifer groundwater is highly conservative. The upper aquifer at OU 5 is unlikely to be used for domestic purposes because of low yield and the availability of other piped water supplies. The aquifer is not currently being used at OU 5.

Environmental Evaluation. Assessment endpoints (the environmental values to be protected) considered in the risk assessment for aquatic and terrestrial receptors include the integrity of wildlife habitats in OU 5, no significant impacts of environmental contaminants in OU 5 on wildlife species, and compliance with potential federal and state applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements (ARARs). Measurement endpoints include general habitat conditions as assessed through qualitative surveys, evidence of impaired ecosystem health, and comparison of observations and contaminant concentrations to potential ARARs.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

The risk characterization indicated that the most likely impacts of contaminants on aquatic receptors in OU 5 would be caused by dermal contact, absorption, or ingestion of fuel hydrocarbons, and/or BTEX and PAHs, by benthic macroinvertebrates in the golf course beaver pond, wetland pond, and lower bluff pond. Impacts to aquatic bed plants in the golf course beaver pond and wetland pond hydrophytes by metabolic uptake of contaminants may also be a limiting factor to aquatic vegetation viability. Furthermore, PCBs (Aroclor 1260) were detected in the near-shore sediment of the snowmelt pond above criteria for sediment level of concern. The presence of chironomids at the water/sediment interface, however, suggests that the contaminant in this near-shore environment is not biologically available, or that the taxa present are highly resistant to the contaminant. Fish and invertebrates in Ship Creek do not appear to be at significant risk from OU 5 contaminants.

Plant stress, and possibly the reduced egg-hatching success in semiaquatic birds that nested near several surface-water bodies, provided evidence of impaired ecosystem health. Causes of the plant stress could not be identified definitively, but they appear to be something other than fuel hydrocarbons. The most likely cause seemed to be mineral imbalances related to elevated manganese, and potentially cobalt, phosphorous, and pH in areas where plants showed signs of stress. The number of bird nests was not adequate to determine causes of nesting failure.

The risk characterization indicated that the most likely impacts of contaminants on terrestrial ecological receptors in OU 5 would be caused by the following:

- Inhalation exposure of small mammals to fuel hydrocarbon vapors when the animals were in their burrows;
- Dermal contact/absorption of fuel hydrocarbons by semiaquatic mammals, birds, and wood frogs in the golf course beaver pond (or elsewhere when surface sheens are present); and

Metabolic uptake/inhibition effects of inorganics by plants near seeps and wetlands where plants exhibited signs of stress. ۲

The limitations of the above conclusions are discussed in the RI report.

Comparing observed contaminant levels to potential ARARs indicates that federal ambient water-quality criteria and the Alaska water-quality standards for fuel hydrocarbons are being exceeded in the lower bluff pond and the golf course beaver pond.

Snowmelt Pond. Three studies of the snowmelt pond have been performed. The first study indicated that PCBs may be present in the sediment of the pond. The second study confirmed the presence of the PCBs in the sediment. The third study evaluated the risk to aquatic life posed by the PCBs.

Water samples from snowmelt pond contained concentrations of 1.4 to 2.5 μ g/L of three VOCs that have been detected in groundwater. Analysis of a composite sediment sample from the pond detected 0.057 to 0.240 mg/kg of 11 different polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) compounds and 1,600 μ g/kg of PCBs (Arochlor 1260). Additional sediment samples were collected in June 1993 and were analyzed for PCB concentrations. The reported PCB concentrations in these samples ranged from "not detected" to 1,460 μ g/kg.

Sediment and surface water samples were collected at the three locations where PCBs were detected during the second round of sampling. The sediment samples were analyzed for total organic carbon (TOC) because PCB toxicity in sediments is dependent on the TOC concentration in the sediments. The water samples were analyzed to determine if PCBs are present in the water phase.

The PCB concentrations do not exceed any potential ARARs for human exposure. There is potential risk to aquatic life in sediments at two locations. Also a sheen

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

is found on the water near a seep. The sediment impacts and the sheen are evaluated in the FS.

0

۲

Beaver Pond. The beaver pond is a potentially sensitive receptor of contaminated groundwater. Because of the sensitivity, two studies of the pond have been conducted. The first study focused on the identification of contamination in the water and sediment in the pond. The second study evaluated the ability of the pond to naturally attenuate the known types and concentration of contaminants.

Based on analysis of data collected during the investigation, the following conclusions have been made.

- The beaver pond is within Section 404 jurisdiction; however, a 404 permit would not be required for allowing the wetland to continue natural degradation of contaminants.
- The assessment of functions suggests that the beaver pond is capable of treating contamination in excess of that currently discharging into the system.

Any Remedial Action involving earth moving, capture of surface water, or capture of groundwater that naturally discharges to the pond would not require a 404 permit, although the intent and substantive requirements of this permit would have to be met. A 404 permit would also not be required for allowing Beaver Pond to continue natural degradation of contaminants, although again, the intent and substantive requirements of this permit would have to be met. Continuation of natural degradation would not entail any alteration of the system whatsoever, and therefore, would cause no impacts to the hydrology. A long-term monitoring program would be needed to ensure continued effective water treatment and to track potential impacts to the ecosystem.

Seeps. Three seeps not related to the beaver pond were evaluated in the beaver pond study. These seeps discharge impacted groundwater, and the discharge typically

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

collects in puddles and flow from the puddles into damage ditches. The potential exists for exposing wildlife and humans to the impacted groundwater.

Based on the analysis of data collected for these sceps, the following conclusions can be drawn:

- The seeps not related to the beaver pond contain hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria, yet residence time in the system is probably not sufficient for complete degradation; and
- The water quality improves as the water flows away from the point of discharge.

E.2 Feasibility Study

The results of the remedial investigation (RI) of Operable Unit (OU) 5 indicate areas of soil, sediment, groundwater, and surface water contamination. To determine which media and which contaminants need to be remediated, the RI results were compared to potential ARARs, human health risks posed by the contaminants, and ecological risks. The comparison with these three criteria determined:

- Which contaminants exceeded the criteria. These became the contaminants of concern (COCs).
- The concentrations of the COCs that may require remediation.
- Which media may require remediation.
- The migration pathways affected.

These four factors — COCs, concentrations media, and migration pathways in turn form the basis of the Feasibility Study. The most important factors are the identification of COCs and the concentrations of COCs that may require remediation. In this report, the concentrations above which COCs may need to be remediated are referred to as

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

interim remediation goals (Table 1). They are called interim because, while they are based on regulatory requirements and site data, they are not the negotiated clean-up levels for OU 5. \mathbf{E}

۲

The COCs for OU 5 are:

Water COCs

- Fuel hydrocarbons (JP-4, TFH-diesel, TFH-gasoline);
- Halogenated volatile organic compounds (VOCs); and
- Aromatic volatile organic compounds (BTEX).

Soil and Sediment COCs

- Fuel hydrocarbons (JP-4, TFH-diesel, TFH-gasoline);
- BTEX compounds; and
- PCB (Arochlor 1260).

Remedial actions considered for groundwater and surface seeps in OU 5 must also accommodate contaminants that may migrate in groundwater from all upgradient sources. Therefore, the list of COCs may be expanded in the future, if new COCs are identified during groundwater characterization investigations in areas upgradient from OU 5.

One inorganic compound has not been made a COC. The RI found that arsenic is a major contributor to both carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic risk in the soil and groundwater. However, an increasing body of data indicates that arsenic is not a contaminant in OU 5. Arsenic occurs naturally in soil and water of OU 5 at concentrations greater than those detected in uncontaminated media throughout the U.S. These greater background concentrations in Elmendorf AFB soils provide a natural source of arsenic in

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

۲

•

Ð

•

Interim Remediation Goals

		Luista Rasa	disting Cost		
10milion.	Potential Contaminant of Concurs	Geel	Reference	Rationals/Communes	
Soil (includes sodiments)	TFH - dissel	200 mg/kg	ACM	The ACM, a TBC,	
	TFH - gasoline	100 mg/kg	ACM	to calculate these	
	Benzine	0.5 mg/kg	ACM	specific basis. For all areas of concern at	
	BTEX	15 mg/kg	ACM	OU 5, the indicated goals were calculated.	
	All potential COCs (i.e., PCBs, PAHs, TFHs, VOCs, and inorganics [except arsenic]) at a specific location	Total carcinogenic risk of 1 x 10 ⁴	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	Upper value of 1 x 10 ⁻⁴ to 1 x 10 ⁻⁶ EPA acceptable carcino- genic risk range.	
		Total noncarcino- genic Hazard Index of 1	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	EPA acceptable noncarcinogenic risk value	
	PCB.	1,900 µg/kg (if TOC equals 10%) 190 µg/kg (if TOC equals 1%)	PCB SQCa	EPA recommends that SQCs be considered in establishing reme- distion goals for sedi- ments. The goal is proportional to the TOC concentration as indicated.	
	Armic	9-13 mg/kg	Average surface soil background levels at EAFB	Arsenic can result in a high level of risk, even at background levels. Remediation to below background levels is unreason- able; therefore, arsenic would only be a COC if background levels are exceeded.	

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

19

-

٢

۲

ē

۲

(Continued)

			dintine Gent		
. Kaikas	Potential Conteminant of Concerns	Gud	Tiefermee	Retinde Commune	
Water (surface and groundwater)	Benzono	5 μg/L	MCLs (federal	MCLs are enforceable ARARs under the Safe Drinking Water Act.	
	TCE	5 µg/L	and Alaska)		
	Toluene	1,000 μg/L			
	bis(2-Ethyl hexyl- phthalate)	6 µg/L			
	Ethyl benzene	700 µg/L			
	Xylenes (total)	10,000 µg/L			
	Copper	1, 300 μg/L			
	Arsenic	50 µg/L			
-	Lead	15 µg/L			
	Total hydrocarbons	10 μ g/L	ASWQ standards	ASWQ states that level is lesser of 10 μ g/L or 0.01 times the lowest measured 96 hour LC50 for most sensitive species at the particular loca- tion. Level is 15 μ g/L for species not designated by the state as "most sensi- tive." 10 μ g/L is selected as the conser- vative value.	

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

۲

۲

(Continued)

	Personal Contractorest of Contractor			
Midan		Cud	Reference	Redenste Comments
Water (cont.)	Hydrocarbons, oil, and groase	Not cause visible shoons or discolor- ation	ASWQ standards	Sheens must be from COCs and not natural sources.
	All potential COCs (i.e., PCBs, PAHs, TFHs, VOCs, and inorganics (except arsenic)) at a specific location	Total carcinogenic risk of < 1 x 10 ⁴	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	Upper value of 1 x 10 ⁻⁴ to 1 x 10 ⁻⁴ EPA acceptable carcinogenic risk range.
		Total noncarcino- genic Hazard Index of < 1	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	EPA acceptable noncarcinogenic risk range
	PCBs	0.014 µg/L	NAWQC	This goal is more conservative than the MCLs.

- Total fael hydrocarb TFH
- ACM Alaska Cleanup Matrix for non-UST soils .
- ASWQ Alaska Surface Water Quality Standards ntion level
- MCL = Maximum concents
- To be considered TBC =
- Contaminant of concern COC -
- TCE =
- Trichlorosthylene Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons Volatile organic compounds Tetrachlorosthylene PAH -
- VOC -PCE -
- Sum of bonnes, tokens, ethylb BTEX as and xyleas
- oran on orannar, tonent, ettyfoettees at Polychiorianted biphenyts National Ambiest Water Quality Criteria Sediment Quality Criteria Total organic eachen PCB -NAWQC =
- -
- SQC TOC =

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

other media because the arsenic in soil may be leached to groundwater and surface water or suspended as sediment from soil erosion. Arsenic concentrations in OU 5 groundwater samples are less than federal and Alaskan MCLs for drinking water. Manganese is also found in soil; however, the analytical data show a high bias suggesting the manganese concentrations are lower than shown by the data. For this reason, manganese is not considered a COC. **()**

()

Areas Recommended for No Further Action

No further action is recommended for the following source areas or specific pathways in each of the three geographic areas of OU 5 because remedial actions are not warranted.

Central OU 5

Source Areas ST38 and SS42 — No further action for the soil, surface water, and sediment pathways are warranted for the following reasons:

- TFH diesel, JP-4, and BTEX compounds were only detected in soil 10 to 60 feet below surface SB23, MW11, SP2/6-10, and SP2/6-04 and are not in a surface soil pathway accessible by residents or terrestrial animals;
- Detected contaminant concentrations pose less than 1 x 10⁴ cancer risk and have a Hazard Index less than 1 for non-cancer risks;
- COC concentrations do no exceed ARAR or TBC levels; and
- There are no identifiable affects of contaminants on aquatic biota or terrestrial plants and animals.

Eastern OU 5

the following reasons:

Source Area \$\$53 - No further action is warranted for the soil pethway for TFH diesel, JP-4, and BTEX compound concentrations were detected in SB26 at a depth of 25 to 27 feet; TFH diesel concentration in near

(C)

۲

- Detected contaminant concentrations pose less than 1 x 10⁴ cancer risk and have a Hazard Index less than 1 for non-cancer risk; and
- Contaminant concentrations do no exceed ARAR or TBC levels.

Source Areas SD40 and ST46 - No further action is warranted for the soil pathway for the following reasons:

surface soil at SL20 was only 2 mg/kg;

- Detected contaminant concentrations in all soil samples pose less than 1 x 10⁴ cancer risk and have a Hazard Index less than 1 for non-cancer risk;
- COC concentrations do no exceed ARAR or TBC levels; and
- There are no identifiable affects of contaminants on aquatic biota or terrestrial plants and animals.

Areas and Media Evaluated in the Feasibility Study

Remedial actions for COCs in specific pathways were be evaluated in the feasibility study because contaminants exceed potential ARARs or TBC regulatory levels or pose cancer risks greater than 1 x 10⁴ or non-cancer risks with a Hazard Index greater than 1. The pathways that were evaluated in each geographic area and the reasons for selecting the pathway are explained below.

endorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Western OU 5

Source Area ST37 — Remedial actions were evaluated for the soil pathway for the following reasons:

• TFH diesel and gasoline concentrations exceed the interim remediation goals of 200 mg/kg and 100 mg/kg, respectively, in a sample from 10 to 12 below ground surface at SB29.

Remedial actions were evaluated for the surface water pathway for the

following reason:

• The concentrations of JP-4 (770 µg/L) and TFH gas (320 µg/L) exceed the Alaska Surface Water Quality (ASWQ) ARAR of (10 µg/L) at location SW08.

The surface water is a puddle caused by seep water. This pathway was evaluated in the FS as a seep of groundwater.

Remedial actions were evaluated for the groundwater pathway for the following reasons:

- Potential federal and state ARARs for groundwater are exceeded for benzene (5 μg/L) at SP1-01, for TCE (5 μg/L), and TFH (10 μg/L) at SP1-01, MW15, and MW16A; and
- Excess lifetime cancer risks to a future residential receptor exceed 1 x 10⁴ in groundwater at wells MW02, SP1-01, and SP1-02 locations even if arsenic is deleted as a contributor to risk.

Central OU 5

Outside of Source Areas — Remedial actions were evaluated for the soil pathway for the following reasons:

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

۲ The TFH diesel concentration exceeds the interim remediation goal of 200 mg/kg in a small volume of soil south of ST38 at SL16 and the ۲ sediments at SE06. This soil is contaminated by groundwater seeps. Because the soil is impacted as a result of a seep, the remediation of soil was not considered independently, without evaluation of alternatives for seeps. Remedial actions were evaluated for the groundwater pathway for the following reasons: Interim remediation goals based on potential ARARs for JP 4 and TFH • gasoline (10 μ g/l) are exceeded in MW 13. Excess lifetime cancer risks to a future residential receptor exceed 1 x 10⁴ in groundwater at well MW13. Remedial actions are evaluated for the Snowmelt Pond for the following reasons: PCB in sediment may pose a risk to aquatic life; and A surface sheen near the seeps exists. Eastern OU 5 Beaver Pond Remedial actions were evaluated for the surface water pathway for the

following reason:

• A TFH gasoline concentration of 52 µg/L exceeds the Alaska Surface Water Quality (ASWQ) ARAR of 10 µg/L and TCE exceeds the MCL ARAR of 5 µg/L.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Groundwater Outside of Source Areas

Remedial actions were evaluated for the groundwater pathway for the following reasons:

• Interim remediation goals for groundwater are exceeded for TCE $(5 \mu g/L)$ at MW06 and for TFH gasoline $(10 \mu g/L)$ at GW5A; and

(4)

• Excess lifetime cancer risks to a future residential receptor exceed 1 x 10⁴ at wells MW06, MW07, and GW5A.

Remedial Action Objectives

Remedial action objectives (RAOs) are the goals that the remedial action alternatives proposed in the feasibility study (FS) are designed to achieve.

Overall goals for the remedial actions at Operable Unit (OU) 5 are to:

- Protect human health by reducing the risk from the potential exposures identified in the human health evaluation;
- Protect environmental receptors;
- Restore contaminated media for present and future land use;
- Protect uncontaminated media by preventing releases from sources;
- Expedite site cleanup by applying the U.S. EPA Superfund Accelerated Cleanup Model goals; and
- Use permanent solutions and alternative treatment technologies to the maximum extent practicable.

Specific remedial action objectives derived from these goals are listed in Section 8.0 of the RI/FS.

Remedial Action Alternatives

Based on the remedial action objectives, the interim remediation goals, and the COCs, general response actions were identified for both water and soil contamination.

 (\mathbf{r})

۲

۲

The general response actions for water are:

- Natural attenuation;
- Institutional actions;
- Containment;
- Extraction/treatment/discharge; and
- In-situ treatment.

The general response actions for soil are:

- Natural degradation;
- Institutional controls:
- Excavation and disposal;
- Containment;
- Excavation/treatment/disposal; and
- In-situ treatment.

For sediment in the Snowmelt Pond, reasonable alternatives are linked.

Excavation of the sediment would be difficult because of the standing water and the potential to spread impacted sediment. Also, capping would not be feasible because of the saturated conditions and the probability that a cap would be breached by hydraulic forces. Therefore,

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

a presumptive remedy that isolates the sediment and converts the Snowmelt Pond into a constructed wetland has been selected to remediate impacts on sediment in the central area.

1

From these media-specific general response actions, technologies were identified and screened for effectiveness, implementability, and cost.

Those technologies that passed this initial screening were combined into mediaspecific alternatives that, based on professional judgment, were most applicable to the setting and contaminants at OU 5. These alternatives were screened for effectiveness, implementability, and cost in a process similar to the evaluation of technologies. Alternatives that passed this second screening (Table 2) were evaluated in detail.

However, any remedial action alternative evaluated in the FS must address all of the contamination in the operable unit. In the case of OU 5, that meant developing multimedia alternatives that each address the main body of impacted groundwater, seeps, and soil. Even with only a few remedial alternatives for each medium, the potential plausible combinations of multi-media alternatives is very large.

To reduce the number of repetitive alternative descriptions, an approach was developed where the media-based alternatives were evaluated individually according to the nine CERCLA criteria using a numerical scoring system. Multi-media alternatives were then developed; the multi-media scores for each CERCLA criterion were calculated by averaging individual component scores for a total comparative score. For example, if the long-term effectiveness scores for these components are 4, 5, and 3, the average score for the long-term effectiveness of this multi-media alternative would be 4 (12 + 3). The average scores for the multi-media alternatives were evaluated in the comparative analysis. This approach streamlined the detailed analysis effort by not creating repetitive analyses for similar combinations of alternatives. Each media-specific component was evaluated for protection provided to human health and the environment, compliance with the remedial action

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

C

۲

۲

b

.

Media-Specific and Applicable Pathway Remedial Action Alternatives for OU 5

WATER TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES		Groundwater	Seene	SOIL TREATMENT ALTERNATIVES
Alternative #1 -	Natural Attenuation	1	1	Alternative #7 - Natural Degradation
Alternative #2 -	Institutional Controls	1		Alternative #8 - Institutional Controls
Alternative #3 —	Passive Extraction with Con- structed Wetlands Treatment		1	Alternative #9 — Excavation, Biopiling and Bookfilling
Alternative #4 —	Passive Extraction with Carbon Trestment		1	Alternative #10 Bioventing
Alternative #5	Air Sparging with Soil Vapor Extraction	1	1	
Alternative #6	Active Extraction with Air Stripping and Carbon Treatment		1	

8

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

objectives and potential ARARs, effectiveness, and implementability. For example, a combined multi-media alternative might be:

Passive extraction and activated carbon treatment for seeps;

0

۲

- Bioventing for soil; and
- Natural attenuation with institutional controls for groundwater.

Finally, a cost-to-effectiveness quotient was calculated for each multi-media alternative. The cost-to-effectiveness quotient is the sum of the five effectiveness criteria scores divided by the cost (in millions of dollars). The higher the quotient, the more cost effective the alternative.

Comparative Analysis Results

While the purpose of this FS is not to recommend the "best" remedial alternative, an analysis of effectiveness/cost quotient can give an indication of the most promising alternatives. Below are indicated the three alternatives that scoped highest for each area, with their attendant effectiveness/cost quotients.

Western Area

Effectiveness/Cost Ouotient

1)	6.3	Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural attenua-
		tion with institutional controls for groundwater/bioventing for soils;

- 2) 6.2 Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural attenuation for groundwater/bioventing for soils; and
- 3)

5.9 Passive extraction with activated carbon for seeps/natural attenuation with institutional controls for groundwater/bioventing for soils;

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5.9 Passive extraction/activated carbon treatment for seeps, natural attenuation with institutional controls for groundwater, and bioventing for soil.

()

Central Area

Effectiveness/Cost Ouotient

- 7.7 Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural attenuation for groundwater/bioventing for soils; and
 7.6 Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural
- 2) 7.6 Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural attenuation with institutional controls for groundwater/bioventing for soils;
 - 7.1 Four multimedia options tied, all of which include passive extraction with either constructed wetlands or activated carbon.

Eastern Area

Effectiveness/Cost Ouotient

3)

1) 8.9 Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural attenuation with institutional controls for groundwater: 2) 8.8 Passive extraction with constructed wetlands for seeps/natural attenuation for groundwater; Passive extraction with activated carbon for seeps/natural attenuation 3) 8.1 with institutional controls for groundwater; and 4) 8.0 Passive extraction with activated carbon for seeps/natural attenuation for groundwater.

As stated earlier, the evaluation of alternatives by using effectiveness/cost quotients cannot be relied on to select the "best" alternative due to the numerous assumptions made (e.g., assigning equal weight to each criteria). However, it can provide a useful cut of

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

the more preferable alternatives. The remainder of the CERCLA process (i.e., Proposed Plan, agency/public input, and Record of Decision) will determine the preferred alternative.

Ξ

•

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

٢

۲

Page

1.0	INTR	ODUCTION
	1.1 1.2	Objectives 1-1 Operable Unit 5 Background 1-3 1.2.1 Operable Unit 5 Description 1-3 1.2.2 Source Area Histories 1.9
	1.3	1.2.2 Source Area Histories 1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.

1-i

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

LIST OF FIGURES

۲

۲

Pass

1.1	Site Location Map, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
1.2	CERCLA Sites at Elmendorf AFB
1.3	Operable Unit 5 Source Areas
1. 4a	Contaminants Detected in Previous Investigations
1. 4b	Contaminants Detected in Previous Investigations
1.5 a	Fuel Pipelines and Tanks
1. 5 b	Fuel Pipelines and Tanks

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

1-ii

LIST OF TABLES

0

۲



Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

1-iii

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of the remedial investigation (RI) of Operable Unit (OU) 5 on Elmendorf Air Force Base (AFB), Alaska, conducted by the U.S. Air Force (USAF). The site location is shown on Figure 1-1. The RI report describes the results of field investigations and provides an evaluation of the data and a risk assessment. The RI activities took place during summer and fall 1992. ۲

In August 1990, Elmendorf AFB was listed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) on the National Priorities List (NPL). This listing designated the facility as a federal Superfund site subject to the remedial response requirements of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA), as amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act (SARA) of 1986.

As a result of Elmendorf AFB being listed on the NPL, the USAF, the EPA, and the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) negotiated the Federal Facility Agreement (FFA) for Elmendorf AFB, which all three parties signed on November 22, 1991. Under terms of the agreement, all remedial response activities will be conducted to protect the public health and welfare, and the environment, in accordance with CERCLA, the National Contingency Plan (NCP), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), and applicable state law. The purpose of the FFA and its requirements are summarized in *Elmendorf Air Force Base, Alaska, Basewide Investigation Work Plan* (CH2M HILL, 1992b).

1.1 Objectives

In response to the FFA, the USAF prepared a management plan for OU 5 (CH2M HILL, 1992d) that served as a planning document for the OU 5 RI activities. The OU 5 Management Plan met the requirements of CERCLA and the FFA.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



0

۲

1-2

•

The investigation of OU 5 had the following objectives:

- Provide sufficient data to develop source-specific and OU-specific conceptual models.
- Determine the potential for offsite migration of OU 5 contaminants and impacts on Ship Creek.

۲

- Determine the influence of upgradient contaminant sources on the OU 5 areas.
- Collect sufficient data to determine the approximate extent and nature of contamination.
- Collect sufficient data to determine the risks to human health and the environment.
- Prepare an RI report with results of the field investigation to provide a basis for the feasibility study (FS). In accordance with the OU 5 Management Plan, the RI report will also present preliminary recommendations for remedial technologies and remedial action objectives.

1.2 Operable Unit 5 Background

OU 5 is one of the areas on Elmendorf AFB that has been identified in the FFA as a source of environmental contamination. The location of OU 5 and other operable units at the site is shown on Figure 1-2.

Throughout this RI report, "the site" refers to Elmendorf AFB; areas of contamination or potential contamination within Elmendorf AFB are referred to as "source areas" or "sources."

1.2.1 Operable Unit 5 Description

OU 5 is located just north of Ship Creek at the southern perimeter of Elmendorf AFB. The FFA lists six potential source areas in OU 5 that were identified by

1-3

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



the USAF through records searches of spills and fuel seeps. Figure 1-3 shows the locations of the OU 5 source areas. The source areas included in OU 5 are grouped together because they share similar petroleum-like contaminants, potential for offsite migration of the contaminants, potential impacts to Ship Creek, and potential risks to receptors. All six sources have undergone previous investigations. It is not certain whether these sources are the only sources of petroleum contamination in OU 5. Figure 1-3 also shows the location of coal fly ash deposits that were observed in borings installed during previous investigations. Fly ash was a residual waste of the coal-burning Elmendorf AFB power plants until the plants switched to natural gas in the 1960s. The extent of fly ash deposits on the bluff area is unknown.

 \mathbf{C}

۲

Figure 1-4 shows the locations and concentrations of selected contaminants (total petroleum hydrocarbons [TPH]; benzene; total benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylene [BTEX]; and trichloroethene [TCE]) found within OU 5 during previous investigations. Figure 1-4 also shows a larger study area surrounding the OU 5 sources that includes upgradient and downgradient areas where sampling activities occurred during the RI. The boundaries of this study area are loosely defined as 500 to 1000 ft. north of the petroleum, oil, and lubricants (POL) pipelines, to include open areas where upgradient wells were placed, and along Ship Creek to the south, to include downgradient sampling areas and surface water and sediment sampling along Ship Creek. An offsite industrial area west of Reeve Boulevard and south of Post Road was not included in the proposed study area because of the known and potential sources for soil and groundwater contamination that exist in this area (such as the Standard Steel Superfund site). The known and potential sources in the industrial area are not expected to impact Elmendorf AFB and the OU 5 source areas since they are located hydraulically downgradient from the site. Industrial area sources may cause impacts to Ship Creek that are separate from potential impacts caused by Elmendorf AFB sources; however, this RI is not designed to evaluate impacts caused by offsite industrial area sources.

1-5

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



1-6



•





E

1. 10

1.2.2 Source Area Histories

1.2.2.1 Source ST37—Diesel Fuel Line Leak

Source ST37 is a diesel fuel line leak that occurred from 1956 to 1958 just south of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE) Building. The exact location of the leak was not identified in earlier reports. Diesel fuel reportedly seeped out of the ground near the railroad tracks, and thousands of gallons of diesel fuel were recovered at this location during the 1950s. An unknown amount of diesel may have remained below ground (Engineering-Science, 1983). ۲

Elmendorf AFB Water Supply Well 2 is less than 500 feet east of Source ST37. This well is approximately 850 feet deep and draws from the confined lower aquifer beneath the base. No organic contamination has been detected in Well 2. One sample collected by the Elmendorf Bioenvironmental Engineering Services Group (BESG) contained lead at 13 μ g/L (refer to Section 1.2.3.2). Well 2 serves as a backup for cooling water for the power plant when the flow of Ship Creek is low and for drinking water when Fort Richardson can't supply enough water to meet total demand.⁴

A previous investigation (Black & Veatch, 1990) included 2 soil borings that were converted to Monitoring Wells SP1-01 and SP1-02, and soil gas surveys at 10 locations within Source ST37.

The Black & Veatch sampling and analysis program for ST37 included the following:

Soil samples analyzed for

- Total petroleum hydrocarbons,

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

1-9

^aInformation on Water Supply Well 2 was obtained in a telephone conversation with John Barbour, Elmendorf AFB, Water and Wastewater Office, on October 13, 1992.

- Soil moisture content;
- Groundwater samples analyzed for
 - Total dissolved solids (TDS),
 - Petroleum hydrocarbons,
 - Purgeable aromatics, and
 - Extractable priority pollutants.

Benzene was not detected at any of the 10 soil gas survey locations. Toluene was detected at eight locations, with concentrations ranging from trace levels to 9.98 parts per million (ppm). Xylenes were detected at eight locations, with the maximum concentration at 1.86 ppm. Concentrations of unidentified organics also were detected at eight locations.

 $(\widehat{\bullet})$

Benzene exceeded the maximum contaminant level (MCL) in groundwater at one of the two groundwater sampling locations, monitoring well SP1-01, with a concentration of 13 μ g/L. The maximum concentration of ethylbenzene detected in groundwater was 66 μ g/L; toluene was 8.8 μ g/L; and total xylenes were 105 μ g/L. These concentrations are all below MCL standards. TPH in soil at monitoring well SP1-01 was 160 milligrams per kilogram (mg/kg) and exceeded State of Alaska cleanup standards of 100 mg/kg.

1.2.2.2 Source ST38-JP-4 Fuel Line Leak-and Source SS42-Diesel Fuel Spill

Source ST38 is just north of the Alaska Railroad Corporation (ARRC) tracks and east of Maple Street. As a result of a fuel line leak, an unknown quantity of JP-4 jet fuel seeped out of the bank southeast of Building 22-010 near the drainage ditch crossing Post Road during 1964 and 1965. No fuel was recovered at this location (Engineering-Science, 1983).

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
Source SS42 is next to Building 22-013. An estimated 8000-gallon, one-time spill of diesel fuel occurred on March 31, 1976. The spill occurred when the overflow valve failed during transfer of fuel from an aboveground tank to an underground tank. Most of the fuel was reportedly recovered from the frozen ground (Engineering-Science, 1983).

()

The exact locations of the JP-4 fuel leak at Source ST38 and the spill at Source SS42 have not been clearly identified. The leak and spill are thought to have occurred near a POL tank and a gasoline fill stand at Building 22-010 (Black & Veatch, 1990).

During an investigation in 1984 by Dames & Moore, monitoring well W-16 was installed near a culvert under Bluff Road, approximately 150 feet from Building 22-101. Groundwater samples collected during this investigative stage were analyzed for total organic compounds (TOC), oil and grease, specific conductance, and pH; soil was analyzed for oil and grease and moisture content. Oil and grease in soils were 28 mg/kg at 35 feet and were below the detection limit of 8 mg/kg at 40 feet. Oil and grease, and specific conductance, in the groundwater sample were only slightly elevated (Dames & Moore, 1986).

A second groundwater monitoring well, GW-6A, was installed at ST38 during the Dames & Moore 1986-1987 field effort. Monitoring Well GW-6A was installed near the top edge of the bluff south of Building 22-010 and approximately 100 feet from well W-16. Groundwater was encountered at approximately 30 feet. Water quality sampling in both wells revealed TPH concentrations of 0.8 mg/L from well W-16 and 61 mg/L from well GW-6A (Dames & Moore, 1988).

In September 1987, Harding Lawson Associates' field reconnaissance of Source SS42 identified significant quantities of floating oils and greases on stagnant waters in Ship Creek immediately opposite the diesel fuel storage site (Harding Lawson Associates, 1988b). The extent of contamination identified in the marshy area of Ship Creek extended

approximately 150 yards east of the building at the fuel storage area. The nature of the observed material was undetermined (Harding Lawson Associates, 1988b).

A soil gas survey was conducted at Source ST38/SS42 during the 1988 investigation by Black & Veatch. Benzene was detected, with concentrations ranging from trace amounts to 0.88 ppm. Toluene and xylenes ranged from not detected to 2.55 ppm for toluene and 8.91 ppm for xylenes. Additionally, concentrations of unidentified organics up to a maximum of 0.80 ppm were detected at 22 of 28 locations (Black & Veatch, 1990). (ک)

Ten soil borings were also drilled at Sources ST38/SS42 during the 1988 RI/FS. Five of these borings were converted to monitoring wells (SP2/6-01 through SP2/6-05). Evidence of contamination, indicated by portable photoionization analyzer (HNu) readings, odor, and visual inspection of samples, was recorded during drilling. The sampling and analysis program for the Black & Veatch RI/FS included the following:

- Soil samples analyzed for
 - Total petroleum hydrocarbons,
 - Volatile organic compounds,
 - Semivolatile organic compounds,
 - Soil moisture content; and
- Groundwater samples analyzed for
 - Petroleum hydrocarbons,
 - Purgeable aromatics, and
 - Extractable priority pollutants.

Locations and analytical results of the samples are indicated on Figure 1-4. TPH values in groundwater were detected in four of seven locations and ranged from 1.0 μ g/L to 64 μ g/L. Ethylbenzene was detected in one location at 30 μ g/L. M-xylene was

Elasendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

detected in one location at 19 μ g/L, and o,p-xylenes were detected in one location at 5.8 μ g/L. Contaminants detected in soil included 2-methylnaphthalene in one location at 17 mg/kg, and TPH in two locations ranging from 1763 to 9843 mg/kg (Black & Veatch, 1990).

۲

1.2.2.3 Source SD40—Railroad Maintenance Area Oil Seepage—and Source ST46—JP-4 Fuel Line Leak

Source SD40 is located near the railroad tracks approximately 600 ft. north of Ship Creek. A records search in 1983 documented that during the late 1960s quantities of brownish oil were observed seeping out of the bank near a "railroad maintenance" facility into the marsh area south of the facility and flowing into Ship Creek (Engineering-Science, 1983). The source of the oil is unknown. Also, the existence of a railroad maintenance facility has never been confirmed by Elmendorf AFB or the ARRC. Base maps show an abandoned railroad spur in the area, but interviews did not identify the purpose of the spur.

Source ST46 is a leak discovered in 1978 along the banks of a small stream north of the two 840,000-gallon JP-4 fuel storage tanks. The leak was a result of a crack in an underground pipe. After the pipe was repaired, fuel continued to seep from the bank into a beaver pond and Ship Creek.

Field investigations for Source ST46 conducted in 1984 and 1986-1987 included sampling from soil borings and groundwater monitoring wells (Dames & Moore, 1986; 1988). Figure 1-4 shows sampling locations and analytical results. In 1984, petroleum hydrocarbons were detected at concentrations of 1.7 mg/L in well W-14. In 1984, 19 mg/L of TPH was detected in well GW-4A. The water samples had petroleum odors. Groundwater sampling conducted in 1986-1987 revealed trace levels of the following compounds in well GW-4A: tetrachloroethene (PCE) at 0.46 μ g/L; TCE at 3.0 μ g/L; dibromochloromethane at 1.6 μ g/L; trichlorofluoromethane at 0.49 μ g/L; and trans-1,2dichloroethene (DCE) at 2.4 μ g/L. PCE was also detected at 0.53 μ g/L in W-14 (Dames &

Moore, 1988). These solvents were not detected when GW-4A was resampled by Black & Veatch in 1988 (Black & Veatch, 1990).

As part of the Black & Veatch investigation, a soil gas survey was conducted at 35 locations. BTEX compounds were detected south of the railroad tracks. Benzene was observed at 6 of the 35 soil gas locations, with concentrations ranging from trace amounts to 6.15 ppm. Toluene was detected at all 35 soil gas survey locations, with concentrations ranging from trace amounts to 1613 ppm. Xylene was detected at 23 of the 35 locations in concentrations ranging from trace amounts to 15.97 ppm. Unidentified organics were detected in 19 of the 35 soil gas survey locations at concentrations ranging from trace amounts to 0.94 ppm (Black & Veatch, 1990).

The soil and groundwater sampling and analysis program for the RI/FS conducted by Black & Veatch at Sources SD40/ST46 included the following (Black & Veatch, 1990):

- Soil samples analyzed for
 - Total petroleum hydrocarbons,
 - Volatile organic compounds,
 - Semivolatile organic compounds,
 - Inductively coupled plasma (ICP) screen (25 metals),

- Mercury,
- Organochlorine pesticides and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs),
- Soil moisture content; and
- Groundwater samples analyzed for
 - Petroleum hydrocarbons,

- Purgeable aromatics, and
- Extractable priority pollutants.

Locations and analytical results of the sampling program are indicated on Figure 1-4. Benzene was detected in the groundwater at 27 μ g/L at SP4/11-01 and at 16 μ g/L at GW-4A. Ethylbenzene was detected in one of the locations at 3 μ g/L, and toluene was detected in two locations at 1.1 μ g/L and 6.5 μ g/L. TPH detections occurred in five groundwater samples at concentrations ranging from 1.0 milligram per liter (mg/L) to 3.3 mg/L. ۲

Metals analyses were run on soil samples from Source SD40. Results were as follows: aluminum, 10,000 to 14,000 mg/kg; barium, 28 to 59 mg/kg; beryllium, 0.2 to 0.3 mg/kg; calcium, 4,000 to 5,000 mg/kg; chromium, 18 to 30 mg/kg; cobalt, 8 to 10 mg/kg; copper, 17 to 25 mg/kg; iron, 20,000 to 26,000 mg/kg; magnesium, 7,000 to 10,000 mg/kg; manganese, 400 to 700 mg/kg; nickel, 18 to 31 mg/kg; potassium, 600 to 1,100 mg/kg; sodium, 100 to 200 mg/kg; vanadium, 34 to 52 mg/kg; and zinc, 38 to 53 mg/kg.

1.2.2.4 Source SS53—Golf Course Seep

Source SS53 is south of Post Road, north of Ship Creek, and immediately north of the golf course pro shop. A fuel seep of unknown origin was observed during spring thaw for an unspecified number of years. Fuel from the seep was observed flowing into a drainage ditch parallel to Post Road. A U.S. Army multiproduct pipeline traverses the area and a USAF JP-4 fuel pipeline is located immediately north of the source area.

The slope where this source is located is less than 500 feet north of Ship Creek. In addition, Elmendorf AFB Supply Well BW-52 is located less than 500 feet from the source area. This well is 166 feet deep and draws from the confined lower aquifer

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

beneath the Bootlegger Cove Formation (Engineering-Science, 1983). There is no known contamination in well BW-52.

Harding Lawson Associates performed a field reconnaissance in 1987. Fuel was observed in shallow holes and stained soil was observed in the drainage ditch along Post Road (Harding Lawson Associates, 1988b).

۲

During the RI/FS investigation conducted by Black & Veatch (1990), a soil gas survey was performed at 26 locations. The soil gas survey showed 6340 ppm benzene at one location, with other benzene readings ranging from nondetectable to 15.85 ppm. Toluene was detected at 23 out of 26 soil gas survey locations, and readings ranged from trace levels to 7.53 ppm. Xylene was detected in 22 out of 26 soil gas survey locations, with 11 readings at trace levels and one reading at 6.26 ppm (Black & Veatch, 1990).

During the RI/FS, Black & Veatch (1990) drilled six soil borings in the source area; three were converted to monitoring wells. Twelve soil samples and three groundwater samples were collected. The sampling and analysis program included the following:

- Soil samples analyzed for
 - TPH,
 - Volatile organic compounds (VOC),
 - Soil moisture content; and
- Groundwater samples analyzed for
 - TPH,
 - Purgeable halocarbons,
 - Purgeable aromatics, and
 - Extractable priority pollutants.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Soil and groundwater sampling locations and analytical results are shown on Figure 1-4. TPH was detected in 2 of 12 soil samples: 44 mg/kg at 30 ft. and 56 mg/kg at 40 ft. in boring NS3-06. TPH was detected in two of the three water samples: 2.0 mg/L in NS3-02 and 0.7 mg/L in NS3-03. These concentrations do not exceed State of Alaska Drinking Water Standards because no sheen or odor was detected during sampling. TCE was detected in a groundwater sample from well NS3-02 at 1.2 μ g/L; this concentration is below the MCL of 5.0 μ g/L.

۲

1.2.3 Other Investigations at OU 5

1.2.3.1 Fly Ash Disposal

During previous investigations by Black & Veatch (1990) and Dames & Moore (1988), fly ash deposits were observed in several borings along the bluff of western OU 5. The boring logs for Monitoring Well SP1-02 (near Source ST37) and wells SP2/6-03 and SP2/6-04 (near Source ST38/SS42) indicate fly ash deposits from 2 feet below ground surface to depths of 23, 30, and 17 feet, respectively. Soil with interbedded fly ash was observed below the water table at greater depths in these borings, and also in borings GW-6A and SP2/6-05. The areal extent of the fly ash deposits on the bluff was not determined by these investigations and no metal analyses were performed.

1.2.3.2 Ship Creek

Surface water and sediment sampling were performed at three locations in Ship Creek during the Black & Veatch field investigations. Sampling sites SC-4, SC-5, and SC-6 were located near the base golf course and Post Road gate and were adjacent to Sources ST38/SS42, SD40/ST46, and SS53 (Black & Veatch, 1990). Approximate locations are shown on Figure 1-4.

The sampling program for the RI/FS conducted by Black & Veatch included the following:

 (\mathbf{r})

۲

- Sediment samples analyzed for
 - TPH,
 - ICP screen (25 metals),
 - Mercury,
 - VOC,
 - Semivolatile organic compounds,
 - Cyanide, and
 - Soil moisture content; and
- Surface water samples analyzed for
 - Common anions,
 - Petroleum hydrocarbons,
 - ICP screen (total and dissolved),
 - Arsenic (total and dissolved),
 - Lead (total and dissolved),
 - Mercury (total and dissolved),
 - Selenium (total and dissolved),
 - Purgeable halocarbons,
 - Purgeable aromatics, and
 - Extractable priority pollutants.

No volatile or semivolatile organics were detected in the surface water or sediment samples. TPH was detected at a concentration of 111 mg/kg in a sediment sample from sampling site SC-6, but was not detected in surface water or other sediment samples.

(4)

Metals such as aluminum (14,300 to 17,500 mg/kg), iron (24,700 to 30,700 mg/kg), manganese (390 to 1,300 mg/kg), and magnesium (7,300 to 9,200 mg/kg) were detected in sediment samples. The highest concentrations of these metals were detected downstream at SC-6, and generally decreased upstream to SC-4. In water samples from Ship Creek, total iron, manganese, and magnesium were detected at concentrations as high as 0.21, 0.15, and 3.5 mg/L, respectively. No dissolved iron was detected. Maximum dissolved manganese and magnesium concentrations were 0.2 and 4.5 mg/L, respectively.

Small amounts (less than 120 mg/kg) of elements such as barium, chromium, cobalt, copper, nickel, vanadium, and zinc were detected in sediment samples from all locations. Water samples from all locations contained dissolved barium at concentrations less than 0.02 mg/L. No total barium was reported.

1.2.3.3 Review of Bioenvironmental Engineering Services Group Data

As part of the site reconnaissance for the OU 5 field effort and as a major task for the *Basewide Background Sampling Report* (CH2M HILL, 1992a), the USAF BESG data were reviewed to augment the background information for OU 5. The BESG at Elmendorf AFB routinely collects the following samples for chemical analyses:

- Groundwater from Elmendorf AFB supply wells in compliance with federal and state drinking water regulations; and
- Surface water samples from the major streams on Elmendorf AFB to monitor quality of water entering and leaving the base.

The samples are sent to the USAF Human Systems Division (formerly Occupational and Environmental Health Directorate), Brooks AFB, Texas, where they are ana-

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

lyzed or sent to contract laboratories for analysis. Since 1987, the water samples generally have been tested for total metals, volatiles, semivolatiles, total trihalomethanes, oil and grease, total organic carbons, total hydrocarbons, and other secondary standard water-quality tests.

(**4**)

()

The BESG data are presented in summary tables in Attachment C to Appendix A of the Basewide Background Sampling Report (CH2M HILL, 1992a). Quality control data were not available for the sample data in the local BESG files. BESG personnel indicated that the laboratory quality control data (method blanks, duplicates, surrogates, and spikes) are not routinely transmitted to Elmendorf AFB from Brooks AFB. Review of the data on file at BESG also did not identify data for trip blanks or dinsates, and only one field duplicate was identified. Trip blanks, rinsates, and method blanks are useful in identifying false positives in field data caused by contamination unrelated to the field samples. Duplicates, spikes, and surrogates are used to assess data precision and accuracy.

Without the quality control data, the BESG sample data are probably not suitable for CERCLA uses, such as quantitative risk assessment, which requires EPA Level III or equivalent data. However, the data can be used as a historical reference for observed contaminants.

The following paragraphs summarize the significant findings of the review of the BESG data. Occasionally compounds that are common laboratory contaminants (acetone, methylene chloride, chloroform, and phthalates) were detected at low levels; however, they are not discussed in the following paragraphs. Also, secondary water quality tests were eliminated from the review.

Four Elmendorf AFB supply wells are upgradient within 0.5 mile of the OU 5 study area and are monitored for water quality. Building location, aquifer, and collection period for the samples evaluated are indicated in parentheses. The wells are listed by location, progressing from west to east. In the following paragraphs, the statement "no

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

unusual organic compounds detected" means that no organic compounds other than occasional hits of the common laboratory contaminants listed above were detected in the samples. The statement "no unusual inorganic compounds detected" means that no metals other than common elements such as iron, sodium, and potassium were detected.

- **Base Well 16 (Building 32-189, lower aquifer, July 1987 to December 1989):** no unusual inorganic or organic compounds detected;
- Base Well 40 (Building 5-800, lower aquifer, July 1987 to March 1991): one of five samples contained lead at 103 μg/L; no unusual organic compounds detected;
- Base Well 42 (Building 11-200, lower aquifer, August 1987 to December 1989): one of two samples contained lead at 8 μg/L; no unusual organic compounds detected; and
- **Base Well 1** (Building 23-990, upper aquifer, May 1987 to July 1990): no unusual metals detected; 3 of 11 samples contained trichlorofluoromethane (2.1 to 10 μ g/L); 9 of 11 samples contained TCE (1.0 to 3.2 μ g/L); 8 of 11 samples contained 1,1,1-trichloroethane (TCA) (2.4 to 8.4 μ g/L); 4 of 11 samples contained 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane (3.2 to 7 μ g/L); 4 of 11 samples contained 1,1-dichloroethane (0.9 to 2.2 μ g/L); 3 of 11 samples contained dichlorodifluoromethane (0.7 to 2.8 μ g/L); 1 of 11 samples contained carbon tetrachloride (1.36 μ g/L).

The 1,1,1-TCA in Base Well 1 increased consistently over four data points from May 1989 to July 1990, from 2.4 to 8.4 μ g/L. As a result of the contamination found in base well 1, the water is no longer used as a part of the base drinking water supply.

Two Elmendorf AFB supply wells are within OU 5:

- Base Well 2 (Building 22-001, lower aquifer, July 1987 to March 1991): 1 of 2 samples contained lead at 13 μg/L; no organics detected in 11 samples; and
- **Base Well 52 (Building 23-100, lower aquifer, June 1986 to March 1992):** no unusual metals or organics detected.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

In addition to the potable water wells, BESG collected surface water from the following locations of interest to the OU 5 study:

• Ship Creek I (Fort Richardson/Elmendorf AFB Boundary, upstream of OU 5, March 1987 to October 1991): no unusual metals detected; 2 of 15 samples detected total recoverable oil and grease (0.4 mg/L each); 6 of 10 samples contained total organic carbon (1 to 3 mg/L);

- Ship Creek II (Reeve Boulevard overpass near the fish hatchery, where creek exits military boundary, March 1987 to December 1991): no unusual metals detected; 6 of 12 samples contained total organic carbon (1 to 3 mg/L); and
- Post Road gate runoff (north of railroad track along drainage ditch, near snow disposal area in OU 5, April 1988 to October 1991): no unusual metals detected; 1 of 12 samples contained phenol (630 μg/L); 5 of 6 samples contained total organic carbon (2 to 5 mg/L); 2 of 6 samples contained 1,1,1-TCA (1.53 and 5.93 μg/L).

1.2.3.4 Base Wells 1, 2, and 52

In addition to BESG data on Base Wells 1, 2, and 52; Black & Veatch (1990) sampled the three wells as part of their 1988 investigation. The water samples were analyzed for the following parameters:

- Common anions;
- Petroleum hydrocarbons;
- ICP screen (total and dissolved);
- Arsenic (total and dissolved);
- Lead (total and dissolved);
- Mercury (total and dissolved);
- Selenium (total and dissolved);
- Purgeable halocarbons;

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

- Purgeable aromatics; and
- Extractable priority pollutants.

The sample from Base Well 1 contained 1,1,1-TCA at 3.4 μ g/l, 1,1-DCA at 0.79 μ g/l, TCE at 1.4 μ g/l, 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane at 0.83 μ g/l, and total petroleum hydrocarbons at 3.0 mg/l. Trace metals were also detected including total barium (0.007 mg/l), magnesium (5.4 mg/l), manganese (0.060 mg/l), and zinc (0.01 mg/l).

۲

The sample from Base Well 2 contained no organics. Total metals from Base Well 2 were arsenic (0.005 mg/l), barium (0.013 mg/l), copper (0.009 mg/l), magnesium (5.7 mg/l), and manganese (0.019 mg/l).

Two duplicate samples were collected from Base Well 52. Total petroleum hydrocarbons were found at 2.0 mg/l and 0.5 mg/l and total magnesium at 6.7 mg/l.

1.2.3.5 Records of POL Line Inspections and Repairs

Three underground pipelines carry fuel that supports the operations of Elmendorf AFB and Fort Richardson (Figure 1-5). One 8-inch multiproduct pipeline originates at the Port of Whittier, approximately 40 miles south of Anchorage, and terminates at the Defense Fuels Supply Center (DFSC), near the Port of Anchorage. The multiproduct line enters Elmendorf AFB on the southeast boundary at Muldoon Road, runs along the south side of Oil Well Road to the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) facility, and then runs due west through the FAA facility and the Elmendorf AFB golf course. At Sources ST38/SS42 in OU 5, the multiproduct pipeline bends and runs parallel to Bluff Road, a 4inch diesel pipeline, and a 6-inch JP-4 pipeline.

The diesel and JP-4 pipelines originate at the DFSC. The diesel line terminates at the facility near Tank 105 at Sources ST38/SS42. A connecting pipeline also allows diesel to be routed, if necessary, from the facility at Sources ST38/SS42 to the power plant

1-23



٢

۲

۲

1-24

¢





storage tank at Building 22-017. The JP-4 pipeline continues east to O Street, where it bends to the north to supply facilities near the runway.

(E)

Several underground feeder lines intersect the diesel and JP-4 pipelines. Some of these feeder lines have been abandoned; others run to storage tanks to supply fuel necessary for the operation of the USAF facilities. Table 1-1 describes the tanks that are found in or near OU 5. Information on the tanks was compiled from base maps, tank inventories supplied by the USAF, and from a USAF contractor, USKH (1992). Underground fuel storage tanks on Elmendorf AFB are currently being evaluated for repair, replacement, or removal.

Figure 1-5 shows the 4-inch diesel pipeline extending to abandoned off-loading headers near the ARRC railroad tracks. The abandoned pipeline allowed railroad cars to off-load diesel directly into the line. This section of the pipeline has not been used for several years. USAF records reviewed did not confirm whether the abandoned pipeline has been drained or still contains fuel.

Elmendorf AFB is emptying the diesel storage at the DFSC tank farm and will phase out use of the 4-inch diesel pipeline. A tank truck will deliver diesel fuel to the base.

A 12-inch pipeline carries jet fuel from the north side of the base to the south jetway. A 6-inch pipeline, which had been used to carry JP-4 fuel from the DFSC to the south jetway, has not been used since June 1992 due to an in-line pump problem. The 6-inch pipeline remains full of fuel and is available to transport JP-4. From 1975 to 1979, this pipeline transported aviation gasoline (avgas) for base operations. It is not known what products were transported through the pipeline before 1975. Base personnel responsible for maintaining the POL pipelines have noted a purplish sheen, indicative of aged avgas, in ponds along the railroad tracks in the southern portion of OU 5, near the 6-inch and 12-inch pipelines.

Table 1-1

1

Storage Tanks Within OU 5

	_							_			_	-		
	I	Ž	2	ł	-	-	-	ŀ	I	I	1	ł	I	I
	I	12/90	12/91		I	-		1	1	I	I	16/5	Undergo-ing RCRA clonure	-
Parts Internal Internal	161	1963	ł	1968	1988	1944	1992	1944	06 61	1992	I	1946	1	0661
.	Heating	Vehicles	1	Power	I	Heating	1	Ĭ	1	Eastry recovery	Base support	Base support	Paint storage	I
Tesh Location	Building 21-700, COE, N300	Building 21-710, COE, E30	Building 21-705, COE, \$30	Building 22-004, Power Plant, 5200	Building 22-004, Power Plant, N30	Building 22-007, WS	Building 22-009, innide	Building 22-009, Só	Building 22-009, cil- water separator, W10 from SE wing	Building 22-009, E13 from SW wing	Building 22-013, tank car unloading, NW150	Building 22-013, Pump House, W15	Building 22-044, SE225	Building 22-021. Pest Mentanana 510
Contract	Diesel	Unleaded mogas	Dicael	Diesel	JP-4 wate	Diseel	Watte cil	Diesel	Wanto cil	Ured oil	Diesel	Diesel	Waste paint, solvents	Waste oil
	Closed	Active	Closed	Active	Active	Closed	Active	Closed	Active	Active	Active	Active	Inactive	Active
	1,000	2,000	2005	420,000	eech 4,200	2,000	4,000	3,000	500	4,000	105,000	each 12,000 to 50,000	1,000	500
27	0 0	ÐN	DU	ÐV	ÐN	DU	ĐV	DU	DU	٩Q	ĐV	Ŋ	DU	ng
	51 37	ST 37	5113	ST38/3542	5138/3542	5138/5542	ST38/8542	ST38/8542	5T34/8542	ST38/3542	5T38/8542	ST38/8542	ST38/3542	ST38/SS42
	328	327	326	592	270-271	342	346	347	ž	349	102	218-226	1	343
12	I	I	ŀ	132	1	1	I	I	1	I	105	96 -104	1	I

Table 1-1

(Continued)

iþ	ł	8	1	ž	I	1	I		ł	ŧ	1	1	ł	2	
1	I	I	1	12/90	I	1	1	ł	1	I	1	i	1	16/5	
	1	I	0661	1977	1961	ł	1954	9161	1	1661	ł	1	1953	1956	
e.U	1	Hosting	1	-	Power	Vehicle meinte-anace	Aircraß	Priming pump	Equipment fuoling	Equipment Anding	ł	1	Vehicles	Deicer	
Trada Véterber	Building 22-023, NW50	Building 9-154, Vehicle Service Rack, SE25	Building 9-154, SW150	Building 8-140, W10	Building 8-140, SE	Building 23-100, Golf Course Clubhouse, NE250	Building 23-714, Jat Puel Pump Station, \$50	Beilding 23-714, WB	Building 23-700, N45	Building 23-700, N45	Building 1-532, SW not located	Substation, W300	Substation, E100	Building 1-832, Base Support, Old Quarter Masters Gas Station, SE700	Building 1 840 CECO
Centrel	Diesel	Diesel	Waste oil	Waste oil	Diesel	Unicaded mogas	1P-4)P-4	Unicaded mogas	Diesel	-	1	-	Isopropyl alcohol (diesel and mogas in past)	
)	Closed	Inactive	Active	Active	Active	Active	Active	Active	Active	Active	Inactive	Ina ctive	Imactive	Active	
	<u>500</u>	5,000	1,000	300	10,000	250	ach 840,000	500	009	300	1,000	each 50,000	each 12,000	each 25,000	
1	ĐV	ØN	ÐN	ÐŊ	ÐN	ÐV	M	ÐN	ĐV	MG	Ŋġ	DU	ÐŊ	Ŋ	211
00 1 0	5T38/5542	535 3	55 53	55 33	SS 33	S S53	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	ST 40/ST 46	ST40/ST46	ST 40/ST 46	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	CT ADJETTAK
	¥	339	341	319	351	350	155-156	354	352	353	322	379-380	383-384	168-170	100
11	1	ł	1	1	I	I	734-735	1	I	1	I	I	I	127-129	

٢

Table 1-1

(Continued)

jþ	I	2	a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a a	Z	1	I	2	ł
	1	16/5	16/2	2/91	-	I	12/90	1
į	1960	1956	1965	1965	I	1945	1946	1966
*3	Vehicles	Deicer	Unknown	Vehicles	Abandoned	Purge aircraft engines	Direct aircmft support	Light place refueling
Tent Locates	Building 1-590, E150, abandoned	Building 11-031, W500; Building 11-110, E100	Building 11-160, W100	Building 11-160, W100	Building 11-160, WS	Building 11-160, ES	Building 11-031, N10	Building 11-120, NE200
Control	1	Ethylene glycol	₽-4ſ	Mogas	JP-4	Mator oil	₽-4ſ	Avgas
Steel State	Closed	Active	Ina ctive	Inactive	Closed	Inactive	Active	Inactive
Centro (1)	12,000	each 25,000	1,500	2,500	5,000	500	each 50,000	each 5,000
ļ	ÐŨ	DU	DU	DO	ŊĢ	ÐV	Ð	ß
	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46	ST 40/ST 46	ST40/ST46	ST40/ST46
	373	177, 207- 211	377	378	310	312	100, 101, 103	381, 382
12	ł	I	1	I	1	ł	36, 37, 38	1

1-29

¹ Task numbers are USAF mumbers listed on tasks or maps and past investories.
⁵ STMP ID No. = Stornge Task Management Plas Identification Number. ENSR produced a computer data file and maps in 1992 for the USAF. The STMP identifies and locates the tasks by a specific ID number. This number is required for retrieval of information on specific tasks.

¹ UG = underground; AG = aboveground.

A permanently closed tank may have been removed or abandoned in place, according to the regulations at the time of closure.
A permanently closed tank may have been removed or abandoned in place, according to the regulations at the time of closure.
Contents reflect current contents if tank is listed as active. Historic contents are listed if tank is shown as permanently closed or inactive. Data were not evailable to determine if inactive tanks were empty or still contained product.

* Nearest major building, direction, and distance in feet from building

* Tightness testing is not required for all types of tanks.

-- = information unknown

Source: Computer printout obtained from Larry Opperman, USAF Environmental Office, October 1992.

0

۲

1

Elmendorf AFB conducts a 2-hour hydrostatic pressure test on the JP-4 and diesel lines each year and a 4-hour test every 5 years. The Liquid Fuels Office of Elmendorf AFB is required to maintain records on these POL line inspections only for the last 5 years. A review of the records in July 1992 showed files from 1986 to 1992. (**4**)

۲

In July 1991, a 4-hour hydrostatic test was conducted on the 6-inch JP-4 pipeline. This test indicated the pipeline was structurally sound. No leaks or anomalies other than routine maintenance improvements were noted.

Interviews with personnel in the Liquid Fuels Office indicated a leak was detected in June 1982 in the JP-4 line at the low-point water drain pit west of Post Road, between Bluff Road and Second Street. The pit is labeled on Figure 1-5. The records show that a follow-up acoustic pipeline inspection was conducted by Advanced Technology International in November 1986, and that a broken "bleed line" was discovered to be plugged with dirt and ice. According to the Liquid Fuels Office, the line was repaired. No records were on file to indicate when the break was repaired.

An additional unknown quantity of avgas was lost from the 6-inch pipeline in the mid-1970s (approximately 1976) at Source ST46. Base personnel discovered a leak in the pipeline near Building 23-714, adjacent to POL aboveground tanks 734 and 735, where the pipeline crossed under a creek. This section of the pipeline was replaced with an aboveground section over the creek. In 1991, a line leading to Building 23-714 was also found to be leaking. The fuel was recovered and the line repaired.^b

The 8-inch multiproduct pipeline was emptied in April 1990 as a result of a corrosion test on the line that indicated anomalies in the pipeline wall thickness. No leaks or spills were reported in connection with the test. The DFSC had contractors working on a

^bInformation on the 4-inch dissel pipeline and the 6-inch JP-4 pipeline was obtained in telephone conversations with Joe Pullyard, USAF Liquid Fuels Office, and Clarence Jackson, USAF Fuels Management, in February 1992.

section of the pipeline near Whittier during 1992. A small section of the pipeline in the middle of the driving range of the golf course on Elmendorf AFB also contained anomalies in pipe wall thickness and was repaired in early spring 1992. At that time, a hydrostatic pressure test was conducted on the pipeline. Fuel transport operations resumed in April 1992. While the multiproduct pipeline was being worked on, JP-4 fuel was supplied to Elmendorf AFB from local in-state refineries.⁹

(**4**7)

(4)

According to personnel at the DFSC, there has never been a confirmed leak in the 8-inch multiproduct line. However, on May 28 and 29, 1986, the DFSC was called out to investigate fuel floating on puddles found in natural low spots in the marshy area north of the golf course clubhouse (Building 23-100). This area is represented by Source SS53. The 8-inch line was plugged and passed a 24-hour pressure test. Samples of the fuel were taken and determined to be old fuel and not the product in the line. DFSC concluded that it came from an old leak in a USAF line upgradient, and USAF took over the investigation.⁴ The USAF Fuel Response Team contained the fuel with absorbent booms, an earth berm, and a trench established to focus fuel runoff by lowering the water table with vacuum pumps. After the DFSC multiproduct pipeline passed the pressure test, the USAF tested the USAF fuel line three-eighths of a mile north of the contaminated area. That line was also shown to be intact. Initially, 650 gallons of fuel and water mixture were vacuumed off the area.

An attempt was made to establish the boundaries of the golf course contamination by using a tractor-mounted posthole digger capable of digging 4-foot-deep holes. A grid was established. Holes on the south side of the parking area near Building 23-100 and in a grass island in the center of the parking lot were free of fuel. Twenty-six holes were put in a marshy area north of the clubhouse parking lot where the contamination was discovered. Depth to water varied from 6 inches below the surface to greater than 4 feet.

^cInformation on the 8-inch multiproduct pipeline was obtained in telephone conversations with Jack Appelloni, U.S. Government contracting officer for DFSC; Paul Bestry, Tecom, Inc., contractor for DFSC; and Jack Walty, DFSC facility engineer in February 1992 and October 1992.

⁶Information on the golf course seep was obtained in telephone conversations with Jack Walty, facility manager, and A. J. Sterling, region engineer, of DFSC on October 15, 1992.

Four holes in the immediate area of the original contamination had fuel on top of the water table.

(4)

A trench was established in the center of the four "positive" holes. A small amount of fuel was skimmed from the surface of the standing water. A culvert with slits cut in it was placed in the trench to act as an accumulation point and a focus for continued skimming. On May 29, 1986, approximately 1000 gallons of fuel/water mixture were removed from the trenches. Reports do not indicate that any soil was removed during the cleanup effort. The "negative" holes were filled in. The positive holes were treated with absorbent pads.

Both the Army and the USAF ran laboratory analyses on the sampled fuel. The USAF results showed a mixture of JP-4 and diesel. The Army laboratory identified the substance as "either very old JP-4 or a JP-4/diesel mix." The USAF concluded that the contamination was likely the result of residual fuel from historic spills surfacing on the rising water table. The water table had risen in the days preceding the discovery as a result of snowmelt at higher elevations and light rain."

1.3 Report Organization

The organization and content of this report are described below.

- Section 1.0, Introduction, summarizes the scope and objectives of the RI. Included are a history of OU 5 sources, a summary of results from previous investigations, and other relevant background information.
- Section 2.0, Investigation and Analysis Procedures, describes the RI activities, including field investigations, laboratory analyses, data validation, and data management. Field investigations involved site reconnaissance; a soil gas and groundwater screening survey; a water

^oInformation on the USAF containment and investigation of the golf course seep was obtained from Master Sgt. Brian Seward, USAF, 3CES/DEVC, as an undeted "memorandum for the record" titled "Fuel Spill (Underground Leak) at Golf Course, 28-29 May 1986."

use survey; aquatic and terrestrial ecological surveys; civil surveying; and soils, groundwater, surface water, and sediment sampling activities. (4

4

- Section 3.0, Physical and Ecological Characteristics, describes the physical and ecological features of OU 5, including climate, geology, soils, hydrology (groundwater and surface water), land use, water use, and aquatic and terrestrial ecology. It is based on data obtained from the RI and information contained in previous reports.
- Section 4.0, Nature and Extent of Contamination, presents the results of the RI environmental sampling and analysis program. Included are data gathered during the field investigation on the nature and extent of contamination in soil gas, soils, groundwater, seeps, surface water, sediment, aquatic biota, and terrestrial plants and animals.
- Section 5.0, Conceptual Model, presents an overall conceptual model of OU 5, identifying the sources of contamination when possible, contaminant characteristics and release mechanisms, and environmental fate and transport pathways. The conceptual model is based on data obtained from the RI, previous reports, and relevant technical literature.
- Section 6.0, Baseline Risk Assessment, presents an evaluation of the threat to human health and the environment as a result of the contamination identified at OU 5. The evaluation is based on data obtained from the RI and is consistent with the conceptual model presented in Section 5.0 and current EPA guidance on baseline risk assessments.
- Section 7.0, Remedial Investigation Summary and Recommendations, summarizes the findings of Sections 2.0 through 6.0 including the nature and extent of contamination, contaminant fate and transport, and the risk assessment. Results of additional investigation work, i.e., stream gaging study and snowmelt pond studies, are also presented. Contaminants of concern are identified and recommendations for each area of OU 5 are presented.
- Section 8.0, Remedial Action Objectives, outlines the general and specific objectives for OU 5 remediation. Applicable general response actions to implement these objectives are presented. The FS begins with this section.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

 Section 9.0, Identification and Screening of Technologies, identifies and screens potential remedial technologies and process options that can implement the general response action identified in Section 8.0. (*****)

۲

(

- Section 10.0, Development and Screening of Media-Specific Alternatives, assembles applicable process options into alternatives that can potentially address all media of concern. Each alternative is then evaluated applying the basic CERCLA criteria of effectiveness, implementability and cost.
- Section 11.0, Detailed Analysis of Remedial Action Alternatives presents a more comprehensive analysis of alternatives that passed the screening, applying the nine CERCLA criteria. A sensitivity analysis is presented, which indicates how changes in assumptions would effect the overall analysis. Finally, the alternatives are compared using several evaluation criteria.
- Section 12.0, References, lists all references cited in the RI/FS report.
- Appendices include all supporting data for the RI/FS report. Included are analytical data summary sheets, soil boring logs, monitoring well boring and construction logs, slug test data, soil gas and groundwater screening survey data, civil surveying data, aquatic survey data, terrestrial survey data, risk assessment calculations, potential ARARs identification, remedial technology descriptions, and cost estimates.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.1	Field Investigations
	2.1.1 Site Reconnaissance
	2.1.2 Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening
	2.1.3 Water Use Survey
	2.1.4 Soils Investigation
	2.1.5 Groundwater Investigation
	2.1.6 Surface Water and Sediment Investigation
	2.1.7 Aquatic Ecological Survey 2-53
	2.1.8 Terrestial Ecological Survey
	2.1.9 Civil Surveying
2.2	Laboratory Analyses
2.3	Data Validation
2.4	Data Management
	2.4.1 Database System
	2.4.2 Data Management System

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

2-i

Page

٢

Ď

۲

1

LIST OF FIGURES

۲

ŏ

۲

	P	age
2.1a	Surface Locations Identified in Site Reconnaissance	2-6
2.1b	Surface Locations Identified in Site Reconnaissance	2-7
2.2 a	Surface Water Drainage Pathways	-15
2.2b	Surface Water Drainage Pathways	-16
2.3a	Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening Locations	-20
2.3b	Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening Locations	-21
2.4a	Soil Boring and Monitoring Well Locations	-27
2.4b	Soil Boring and Monitoring Well Locations	-28
2.5	Generalized Shallow Monitoring Well Cross Section, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska	-40
2.6	Generalized Deeper Monitoring Weil Cross Section, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska	-41
2.7 a	Surface Water, Sediment and Biological Sampling Locations	2-50
2.7b	Surface Water, Sediment and Biological Sampling Locations	-51

LIST OF TABLES

9

۲

5

.

Page

2-1	Summary of Inspection Results for Wells Installed in Previous Investigations
2-2	Soil Boring Summary
2-3	Monitoring Well Summary 2-43
2-4	Macroinvertebrate, Fish, and Bioassay Sample Collection Locations, in Spring (May-June) and Fall (August-September) 1992
2-5	Plant and Soil Sample Collections in Areas Showing Evidence of Plant Stress
2-6	Small-Mammal Trapping Summary 2-68
2-7	Coordinates for Survey Monuments
2-8	Comparison of Survey Results to Published Data
2-9	Summary of Laboratory Analyses
2-10	Data Validation Flags

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 BI/FS Report

2-iii

.

2.9 INVESTIGATION AND ANALYSIS PROCEDURES

2.1 Field Investigations

2.1.1 Site Reconnaissance

Site reconnaissance of OU 5 was performed during May and June 1992 to meet the following objectives:

 Locate and evaluate the condition of existing monitoring wells in the OU 5 source areas; ()

- Look for seeps along the banks and bluffs below the OU 5 source areas;
- Map areas of perennial surface water and locate drainage and runoff locations;
- Prepare for mobilization by checking proposed locations for trailers, parking, staging areas, and equipment decontamination, and assess whether proposed locations for soil gas surveying, drilling, and surface water sampling are accessible and appropriate; and
- Review Elmendorf AFB BESG analytical data for surface and groundwater sampling stations near OU 5.

The reconnaissance activities are discussed in the following sections.

2.1.1.1 Well Inspection

Seventeen groundwater monitoring wells existed in the OU 5 study area prior to the RI investigation. These wells are shown on Figure 1-4. An inspection of all existing groundwater monitoring wells at Elmendorf AFB, including the OU 5 wells, was performed by CH2M HILL between June 3 and 10, 1992, as part of the basewide background sampling program. The complete scope and findings of this inspection are discussed in the *Basewide*

Background Sampling Report (CH2M HILL, 1992a), and findings pertaining to OU 5 wells are summarized in this subsection.

(

Observations and measurements made during the well inspection included the following:

- Evidence of frost heave around the well;
- Condition of well cap;
- Height of the well casing top;
- Integrity of the surface seal/concrete pad;
- Water level;
- Presence of floating light non-aqueous phase liquid (LNAPL);
- Silt content in well (soft versus hard bottom);
- Sounded well depth versus well completion log depth;
- Evidence of tampering or physical damage;
- Presence and condition of well lock; and
- Whether well number matches existing well identification information.

Table 2-1 summarizes the information collected during the well inspection. Copies of the well evaluation forms can be found in Appendix E of the *Basewide Background* Sampling Report (CH2M HILL, 1992a).

All existing OU 5 wells are constructed of 2-inch-diameter Schedule 40 PVC screen and riser casing with a 6-inch-diameter square- or round-steel protective casing (except well NS3-06, which is a flush mount). Wells in shallow groundwater table areas near Ship Creek (SP4/11-01, SP4/11-02, GW-4A, and W-14) generally had the following deficiencies: cracked concrete surface closures indicative of frost heaving; soft bottoms from

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

2-2

(

Table 2-1

Summary of Inspection Results for Wells Installed in Previous Investigations

MagnetismWall IILangetive of SarthersMaterialSarthers <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>10</th> <th></th>				10	
Jun 92 Y N Soft, crumbling Sueal 6 2.95 3 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Sueal 6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y N Poor condition Sueal 6.6 3.15 3 Jun 92 Y Y Y Poor condition Sueal 6.6 4.10 3 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Sueal 6.6 1.40 3 Jun 92 Y Y None Sueal 6.6 3.13 4 Jun 92 Y Y None Sueal 6.6 3.140 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Sueal 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Sueal 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Sueal 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Sueal 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y	Matorial Diameter H. Matorial (inches) (f			:11	
J Im 92 Y Y Poer condition Steel 6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y N Poer condition Steel 6.6 3.15 3 Jun 92 Y Y N Poer condition Steel 6.6 3.15 3 Jun 92 Y Y Poer condition Steel 6.6 1.40 3 Jun 92 Y Y Poer condition Steel 6.6 3.17 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.16 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.73 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.73 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good	5 PVC 2	2.70 5.14	0	24.35	Soft
J Jua 92 Y N Poor condition Steel 6.6 3.15 3 Jua 92 Y Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 4.10 3 Jua 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.40 3 Jua 92 Y Y None Steel 6.6 3.17 4 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.16 3 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 4 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 3 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 3 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 4 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.93 4 Jua 92 Y Y Good Steel <t< td=""><td>PVC 2</td><td>2.77 5.38</td><td>0</td><td>27.27</td><td>Soft</td></t<>	PVC 2	2.77 5.38	0	27.27	Soft
J Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 4.10 3 Jun 92 Y Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.40 4 Jun 92 Y Y None Steel 6.6 3.17 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.16 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.93 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 3 Jun 92 Y Y Boor condition Steel 6.6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Boor Steel	PVC 2	2.58 39.15	0	57.50	Soft
3 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.40 4 Jun 92 Y Y Y None Steel 6.5 3.17 4 Jun 92 Y Y Y Good Steel 6.5 3.16 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.5 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.5 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.5 2.93 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 3 Jun 92 Y Y Boor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 4 Jun 92 Y Y Boor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Bood Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Bood	PVC 2	4.15 6.08	0	13.40	Soft
4 Jun 92 Y Y None Steel 6 3.17 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.36 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.06 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.36 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.03 4 Jun 92 Y Y Boor Steel 6.6 3.08 3 Jun 52 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08 <td>PVC 2</td> <td>1.48 2.87</td> <td>0</td> <td>23.92</td> <td>Mod. firm</td>	PVC 2	1.48 2.87	0	23.92	Mod. firm
4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.36 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.93 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08	PVC 2	2.87 8.06	0	23.15	Firm
3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.73 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.77 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.93 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Boor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Boor condition Steel 6.6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08	b PVC 2	3.03 33.95	0	50.45	1
4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.77 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.58 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 1.50 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 52 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08	I PVC 2	2.43 49.67	0	\$3.00	řæ
4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.77 4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.58 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08	I PVC 2	2.93 31.45	0	47.85	Mod. firm
4 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 2.58 3 Jun 92 Y Y Qood Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 2.18 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 72 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08	PVC 2	2.57 37.13	0	52.36	Mod. firm
3 Jun 92 Y Y Qood Steel 6.6 2.93 4 Jun 92 Y Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 2.18 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 92 Y Y Qood Steel 6 6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 6 3.08	BVC 2	2.52 Dry	0	36.98	Mod. firm
4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 2.18 4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 52 Y Y Good Steel 6.6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08	I PVC 2	2.72 32.00	0	49.10	Mod. firm
4 Jun 92 Y Y Poor condition Steel 6.6 1.50 3 Jun 52 Y Y Qood Steel 6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Qood Steel 6 3.48	I PVC 2	2.18 30.91	0	39.50	I
3 Jun 52 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.08 3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.88	PVC 2	1.20 31.30	0	56.00	Mod. firm
3 Jun 92 Y Y Good Steel 6 3.88	I IVC 2	2.63 4.20	0	37.05	Soft
	I PVC 2	3.86 3.14	0	17.01	Soft
25 Sep 92* Y N Good Steel 9.8 Flumh-	PVC 2	-0.40 27.87	o	47.77	Mod. firm

2-3

- Well NS3-06, a flush-mount well, was not found during the initial well inspection in June 1992 and, therefore, was inspected at a later date.

٢

۲

۲

۲

)

)

silt collecting in the wells; and in the case of wells W-14 and GW-4A, PVC riser casing higher than the top of the protective steel casing caused by frost-jacking of the wells. Three wells in the worst condition, SP4/11-01, GW-4A, and W-14, were repaired prior to sampling (protective casing reset, PVC riser pipe trimmed if frost-jacked, and concrete pads replaced). 4)

No obstructions that would interfere with sampling or taking water level measurements were found in any of the wells. Water levels were measured in all well. except SP2/6-04, which was dry. No floating LNAPL product was detected in any of the wells. Locks were missing on two of the wells at the time of the inspection. All locks were replaced with keyed-alike locks.

It is noted that four monitoring wells—W-14, GW-4A, NS3-03, and OU5MW10—were observed to be frozen during January 1993.

2.1.1.2 Groundwater Seeps

The topography at OU 5 is dominated by a bluff that rises approximately 30 feet above the beaver ponds at the eastern end to 60 feet above the railroad tracks at the western end. Numerous groundwater seeps exposed along the bluff flow into ponds, wetlands, drainage ditches, and eventually into Ship Creek. A site reconnaissance was performed on May 14 and 15, 1992, to map seeps along the bluff areas downgradient of the POL pipelines and to map surface water and drainage pathways. General observations of water quality, as identified by odors, sheens, or discoloration, also were noted during the reconnaissance. No sampling was performed at this time; however, shallow groundwater at the seep locations was analyzed as part of the soil gas and groundwater screening survey (Section 2.1.2). Results of the seep area sampling are discussed in Section 4.1.

The reconnaissance began at the western end of OU 5 along an access road on the north side of the ARRC railroad tracks. South of the intersection of Plum Avenue and Bluff Road, the reconnaissance continued through the woods on the bluff hillside until a pond

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

was reached near Building 22-002, the pump station for the power plant's cooling water. The reconnaissance continued along the railroad track right-of-way, which parallels the base of the bluff to the west of Post Road and Second Street, and then follows the top of the bluff above the beaver ponds and JP-4 storage tanks at the eastern end of OU 5. Seeps and surface water locations with questionable water quality were marked in the field by a piece of pink surveyor's flagging tape labeled with a surface location identification number (for example, SL01). Additional surface locations were marked during the ecological surveys to identify areas with apparent plant stress. Approximate locations of the marked surface locations are shown on Figure 2-1 and are described below.

۲

Several seeps had discernable petroleum odors and a sheen indicative of either petroleum contamination or biological growth. A red precipitate or biological growth was also observed in many of the seeps and drainage pathways, sometimes as a fluffy growth beneath the surface of the water, and other times as a stain or precipitate on the sediments and grasses. Because the exact nature of this material is currently unknown, it is referred to as a red discoloration in the following descriptions of the seep areas. Mapping of drainage pathways was followed by additional site reconnaissance and dye-tracer studies and is described in Section 2.1.1.3, Surface Water and Drainage Pathway Mapping.

Areas Near Source ST37

South of the intersection of Plum Avenue and Bluff Road, a dirt road leads down the bluff to an access road on the north side of the railroad tracks. The reconnaissance was started approximately 225 feet west of the base of the dirt road at an aboveground sewer manhole structure. The bluff is approximately 60 feet high and is graded at approximately a 1:1 slope. Numerous small seeps observed along the toe of the bluff were flowing into a drainage ditch on the north side of the access road and the railroad tracks.

SL01. This seep is located approximately 30 feet from the base of the bluff is approximately 100 feet east of a manhole structure on the north side of the ARRC access

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



٢

۲

õ

۲



road. The water looked clear. A green slime growth was observed about halfway up the seep, and a faint petroleum odor was noted. Approximately 30 feet east of this seep, a small seep with a sheen and red discoloration was observed at the base of the bluff. Approximately 75 feet east of SL01, a seep area approximately 36 feet wide was observed. The water looked clear and no odors were detected.

٣

۲

4)

On the bluff directly across from the COE Building (Building 21-700), four prominent seeps (SL02-SL05) drain into a ditch along the northern side of the railroad tracks. Water in the ditch flows in a westerly direction to a pipe that diverts the flow south under the railroad tracks.

SL02. This seep is located in the northwest corner of the intersection of the dirt road leading down the bluff and the ARRC access road. The seep is approximately 25 feet in diameter and has areas with a sheen and red discoloration.

SL03. This seep is located approximately 20 feet east of the dirt road, adjacent to an abandoned yellow car on the dirt road. The seep is approximately 20 feet wide and had a sheen, red discoloration, and a moderate petroleum odor.

SL04. Actually a group of seeps, this seep area lies approximately 100 feet east of the dirt road, approximately 150 feet north of the railroad tracks. A sheen, petroleum odor, and red discoloration were observed.

SL05. A seep and an approximately 40-foot-diameter pond are located next to monitoring well SP1-01. Strong petroleum odors, sheens, and red discoloration were observed. Two ducks were seen at this pond.

SL06. Approximately 100 feet southeast of SL05, this seep lies at the northern edge of a marshy area that is connected to the drainage ditch along the railroad access road. A sheen and red discoloration were observed over an area approximately 10 feet wide.

2-8

SL07. This seep is located on the bluff below monitoring well SP1-02. The seep is approximately 30 feet wide. Miscellaneous trash has been discarded around the seep. A sheen, petroleum odor, and red discoloration were observed. Approximately 60 feet east of this seep, a smaller seep was observed with fewer areas of red discoloration and sheens.

۲

۲

4)

Areas Near the Elmendorf AFB Power Plant

Three seeps were observed on the bluff south of the power plant (Building 22-004).

SLOS. This seep is approximately 5 feet wide and lies near the base of the bluff, below the intersection of Persimmon and Bluff Roads. The water appeared clear, without odor, sheens, or discoloration.

SL09. A seep identified approximately 200 feet east of SL08, SL09 lies 60 feet north of the railroad tracks and below the intersection of Bluff Road and the dirt access road leading to the pump station (Building 22-002). The seep area is approximately 80 feet wide. A strong petroleum odor, sheens, and red discoloration were observed. Three rusted 55-gallon drums, visible from the dirt access road, are in the woods approximately 200 feet east of SL09.

SL10. This seep is located on the north side of the bend in the dirt access road to Building 22-002. The water appeared clear, although a slight petroleum odor was noted. The seep drained from a culvert under the access road to the drainage ditch on the north side of the railroad tracks.

Several ducks and geese were observed on a large area of standing water between the base of the bluff and the railroad tracks near Building 22-002. The bluff at this location is a snow disposal area.
Areas Near Sources ST38/SS42

Three seeps were observed near the drainage ditch north of the railroad tracks and south of monitoring well SP2/6-05. Flow in this ditch is toward the west. ۷

٠

SL11. This seep is located along the drainage ditch on the north side of the tracks, approximately 125 feet southwest of SP2/6-05. An area of this seep along the drainage ditch was covered with a black substance approximately 3 feet by 15 feet in size. The drainage ditch also had a red discoloration and a petroleum odor.

SL12. Located directly below well SP2/6-05 at the eastern end of the drainage ditch, this seep is approximately 3 feet wide and has a red discoloration. A culvert passes under the railroad tracks near this location, diverting flow to a drainage ditch on the north side of Post Road.

SL13. This seep area is a ditch between a culvert and the Post Road ditch, approximately 125 feet east of the Reeve Boulevard sign on the north side of Post Road. A sheen, petroleum odor, and a red discoloration were observed in the seep area. The drainage ditch along Post Road flows toward the west and also has a red discoloration.

SL14. This seep, approximately 100 feet east of SL13, marks the location at which the red discoloration first appears to be seeping into the drainage ditch.

SL15. This seep is located approximately 200 feet southwest of SP2/6-05, along a northern spur of the railroad tracks. The seep is approximately 40 feet wide and has red discoloration, a sheen, and a petroleum odor.

Approximately 100 feet east of SL12 on the north side of the tracks, another drainage ditch begins, with flow toward the east.

Bimendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

SL16. This seep area is the western edge of this eastward-flowing drainage ditch and has a red discoloration and petroleum odor. This ditch flows into a swampy area that is approximately 100 feet long by 40 feet wide on the north side of the tracks. The swampy area drains into a north-south culvert that passes under the railroad tracks and under Post Road to Ship Creek. The water in this drainage ditch appeared to be clear.

 (\bullet)

(ک

Another drainage ditch, approximately 100 feet long, is south of the tracks and flows in an easterly direction to the north-south ditch.

SL17. This seep area is the western end of the ditch and is directly below a switch on the south side of the railroad tracks. This ditch had red discoloration up to the point where it joins the north-south ditch; after this point, the water appears clear.

Areas Near Source SS53

The area west of Post Road and Second Street includes wetlands on the north side of the railroad tracks and a grassy/marshy strip between Post Road and south side of the railroad tracks.

SL18. This seep is on the southern side of the railroad tracks where the multiproduct pipeline crosses. The seep is approximately 40 feet wide and drains into the marshy area between the tracks and Post Road. Red discoloration, a strong petroleum odor, and a visible sheen were noticed.

On the north side of the tracks is a marshy/wetland area that extends east to where the railroad tracks cross Post Road.

SL19. This surface location marks the western end of the marshy area where an odor and red discoloration were observed. The location is next to a culvert that conveys flow from the marshy area under the tracks and Post Road to Ship Creek.

2-11

Himendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

SL20. This surface location lies on the eastern end of the wet, grassy area between the railroad tracks and Post Road. The water looked clear, and no odor or sheen was observed. A red discoloration stain was observed on the grass on the south bank of the railroad tracks.

(4)

Areas Near Sources SD40/ST46. The area south of the railroad tracks and north of a dirt access road along Ship Creek is a wetland/beaver pond area.

SL21. This seep lies at the edge of the wetland area along the south bank of the railroad track and is approximately 40 feet east of the beginning of the curve in the railroad tracks. The seep has red discoloration and a sheen approximately 20 feet wide. No odors were observed.

SL22. This seep is located at the edge of the wetland area along the southern bank of the railroad tracks and is approximately 500 feet east of SL21. The seep is approximately 10 feet wide and was observed to have red discoloration, a sheen, and a slight petroleum odor.

SL23. This seep is located at the northeast corner of the beaver pond, approximately 50 feet south of the railroad tracks and 350 feet east of SL22. The seep has red discoloration, a sheen, and a petroleum odor. The northern edge of the beaver pond between SL22 and SL23 has numerous seeps with red discoloration that were not individually cataloged.

Observations at Additional Surface Locations

During OU 5 field studies, surface locations and seep areas were identified where observations were being documented. Most of those observations were related to the occurrence of apparent plant stress (described in Sections 2.1.8.1 and 4.6.1), which occurred in a number of areas throughout OU 5.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

SL24. This seep is located about halfway between the JP-4 fuel tanks and the beaver pond. During the June terrestrial ecological survey, oil droplets were seen surfacing in the small stream that flows westward from the vicinity of Source ST46 into the large beaver pond.

SL25. This location is at the eastern edge of a large wetland at the foot of the bluff north of the Post Road gate. Stressed vegetation was observed in the wetland extending westward from this location.

SL26. This location is in the same wetland as SL25. It includes the area where a grass-covered peninsula (composed of materials apparently dumped over the bluff) extends into the wetland from the north. Stressed vegetation was observed in the wetland.

SL27. This location is approximately in the center of the same large wetland as SL25 and SL26. It marks the transition area between stressed vegetation to the east and less apparent effects to the west.

SI.28. Plant stress was observed in this wet area, which lies between the snow disposal site and Building 22-002. Red discoloration in the water and sediment was observed in some parts of the area.

SL29. Stressed vegetation also was observed in two beaver pond areas east of the JP-4 fuel tanks at Source ST46. The beaver pond area between the railroad tracks and a gravel road to the south was identified as SL29, but similar effects were observed in a nearby wetland south of the gravel road.

SL30. Water draining from the vicinity of SL15 flows along a small stream that enters a beaver pond south of the snow disposal area. Although this area (marked as SL30) had small trees and shrubs with yellowish or brown leaves, the effects appeared to be due to water logging (flooding) caused by beaver activity.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

SL31. Stressed vegetation was observed in the open area east of Post Road, about halfway between the railroad tracks and the golf course clubhouse. This seep area is near Source SS53.

(4)

SL32. This location is near the western end of the extensive wetland complex between Post Road and Source SD40. A short distance east of SL31, stressed vegetation was observed in a wooded area within Source SS53.

2.1.1.3 Surface Water and Drainage Pathway Mapping

Surface water drainage patterns of OU 5 runoff were investigated during field reconnaissance surveys in May and September 1992. For the most part, surface water drainage from OU 5 flows from east to west. Drainage from the OU 5 bluff source areas travels through ponds, seasonal wetlands, open drainage ditches, and buried storm-water drains (culverts), until the runoff eventually reaches Ship Creek and flows west into Knik Arm. Drainage pathways identified during the field surveys are presented on Figure 2-2.

To map the flow patterns of surface water runoff within the buried stormwater culverts, drawings of the storm-water drainage system were obtained from the ARRC.⁴ Additionally, a dye-tracer study (using Rotamine WT red dye) was conducted to verify suspected discharge routes of OU 5 runoff. As indicated on Figure 2-2, although OU 5 runoff is widespread and collects in numerous wetland ponds and drainage ditches at the base of the bluff, the OU 5 drainage to Ship Creek occurs as point-source discharges rather than sheet runoff.

The golf course beaver pond receives potentially contaminated groundwater discharge from one or more seeps (SL23) at its northeast perimeter, and from a drainage channel north of the JP-4 fuel storage tanks (Tanks 734 and 735), which enters the southeast corner of the beaver pond. Both water sources were observed to have a hydrocarbon odor

This information was obtained in a meeting with Robert Casey, an ARRC employee, on June 3, 1992.

Research APB OU 5 RI/PS Report



(م





and sheen in May and September 1992. Discharge from the pond occurs at two areas along its south and west perimeters where the water leaks over the top of a beaver dam. The discharge travels through wetlands as it moves downgradient to where it drains into Ship Creek at two points of discharge. As depicted on Figure 2-2, surface water runoff from the OU 5 bluff is contained within the wetland ponds and drainage ditch between the base of the bluff and the ARRC tracks. Three points of discharge that drain these areas to Ship Creek were observed:

- Between Salmon Run Park and the Elmendorf AFB fish hatchery, a culvert passes south under the ARRC tracks and Post Road to Ship Creek. This culvert drains the wetlands below Sources ST38/SS42.
- Downgradient of the Elmendorf AFB power plant and between Sources ST37 and ST38, OU 5 bluff runoff and numerous seeps collect in wetland ponds between the base of the bluff and the ARRC tracks. The dye-tracer study indicated that the runoff discharges to Ship Creek from a culvert at the end of Yakutat Street.
 - At the western boundary of OU 5, a storm-water interceptor was observed collecting the runoff from the OU 5 bluff below Source ST37 and other numerous seeps. A dye-tracer study was conducted to locate the ultimate discharge point of the runoff. As indicated on Figure 2-2, the OU 5 runoff was found to flow west for 1720 feet to the eastern edge of the ARRC power plant, turn south for about 1500 feet, and surface into an open drainage ditch at the junction of Post Road and Whitney Road. From this point, the discharge flowed along the thickly vegetated open drainage ditch to the southwest, following an ARRC track spur. At the ARRC trestle at Ship Creek, the drainage ditch turns west and enters a broad wetland pond area separated from Ship Creek by a narrow berm. The wetland expands and deepens into a pond about 3 feet deep, caused by beaver dam-building activity along the west end. The pond was observed to discharge to Ship Creek at two places. One is a discharge channel between the woody debris piles of a beaver lodge: the other is a discharge channel approximately 25 feet to the southwest. During two days of the September 1992 field survey, a portion of the beaver dam was observed to have collapsed, probably from heavy overnight rains. The collapse of the dam lowered the pond by approximately 12 to 18 inches.

Bimendoef APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

A narrow channel (approximately 10 feet wide) joins the beaver pond/wetland complex and another pond to the north that has no outlet other than at the beaver dams. Based on its shape and contours (greater than 8 feet deep), the pond appears to be a pit that may have been excavated as a gravel borrow area. As Figure 2-2 indicates, some of the runoff from the ARRC property is picked up in the storm-water drainage system to the west of the ARRC power plant (separate from OU 5) and conveyed to this receiving-water pit. The balance of the ARRC property drainage appears to discharge below the Ship Creek dam through an oil/water separator. (**a**

· 4)

The wetland and beaver pond depicted on Figure 2-2 is the farthest downstream terminus or sink for OU 5 runoff before it discharges to Ship Creek. Based on the September 1992 observations of drainage pathways from OU 5 to Ship Creek, it appears that the wetland/beaver pond system receives nearly all its water from bluff runoff entering the storm-water interceptor/drainage system between sample station SW/SE09 and the ARRC power plant, 1720 feet to the west. Based on observations of the ground contours of the berm separating the creek from the wetland, it appears that, during spring and early summer, high runoff flows in Ship Creek overflow the low areas of the berm and replenish the wetland/beaver pond system.

2.1.1.4 Inspection of Support Area and Sampling Locations

Locations for field support facilities, such as a field office trailer, equipment storage area, decontamination pad, and contractor parking area, were coordinated with USAF and Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc., another contractor working on Elmendorf AFB CERCLA sites. It was decided that the support facilities would be located in an open field east of Building 22-035. Potable water for decontamination activities was available from a fire hydrant at this site. The fire hydrant water was sampled for metals, volatiles, and semivolatile organics in August 1992 by Jacobs Engineering; no contaminants were detected. The results of this sampling are presented in Appendix A. Wastewater from decontamination

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

and well development and sampling activities was passed through a granular activated carbon unit and discharged to a sanitary sewer manhole. **(4**)

Proposed drilling, monitoring well installation, soil gas sampling, and surface water and sediment sampling areas were evaluated during the site reconnaissance activities to determine the appropriateness and accessibility of selected locations. Final locations for wells and borings were determined during a meeting with EPA, ADEC, and USAF on July 31, 1992, and in follow-up discussions.

2.1.2 Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening

The soil gas and groundwater screening survey was used to collect screeninglevel data on the extent of organic contamination in soil and groundwater, and to guide the placement of soil borings and monitoring wells for the RI field investigation. Soil gas samples were collected in areas where the depth to groundwater exceeded the maximum penetration depth of the soil gas probes (generally 6 feet), including all sample locations above the bluff and isolated locations below the bluff. Seep samples were collected along the lower bluff from areas where active groundwater seeps were identified. Groundwater samples were collected in areas where groundwater was within approximately 6 feet of the ground surface.

Sample locations were selected to expand the areas covered in previous investigations around known source areas, evaluate the pipeline corridor between the known source areas, evaluate groundwater seeps along the lower bluff, and evaluate shallow groundwater along Post Road, Ship Creek, and the golf course beaver pond areas. Figure 2-3 shows the sample locations used for the survey.

Following completion of the sampling, 23 of the groundwater probes were left in the ground as temporary piezometers to provide additional groundwater elevation data. Water levels were measured in the probes at the same time as monitoring well water level

2-19

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

•





۲

۲

2-21

•

measurements were taken, and the data were incorporated into the groundwater contour maps of the site.

()

2.1.2.1 Soil Gas Sampling Procedures

Soil gas sampling probes consisted of 7- and 14-foot lengths of threequarter-in-diameter hollow steel pipe. The probes were fitted with detachable drive tips and hydraulically pushed or pounded to depths of 4 to 13 feet below grade. The majority of the samples were collected at 6 feet below grade. No sample was collected at SG39 or SG79 because of refusal encountered during the three attempts.

The aboveground end of each probe was fitted with an aluminum reducer (manifold) and a length of polyethylene tubing leading to a vacuum pump. Soil gas was pulled by the vacuum pump into the probe. Samples were collected in a glass syringe by inserting a syringe needle through a silicone rubber segment in the evacuation line and down into the steel probe. The vacuum was monitored by a vacuum gage in order to maintain an adequate gas flow from the vadose zone. The volume of air within the probe was purged by evacuating 2 to 5 probe volumes of gas.

2.1.2.2 Groundwater and Seep Sampling Procedures

Sampling probes consisted of 7-foot lengths of 3/4-inch-diameter hollow steel pipe. Groundwater samples were collected at depths of approximately 2 to 6 feet below grade.

The hollow probes with detachable drive points were advanced below the water table. Once at the desired depth, the probes were withdrawn several inches to permit water to flow into the resulting hole. The aboveground end of the sampling probe was fitted with a vacuum adaptor (metal reducer) and a length of polyethylene tubing leading to a vacuum pump. A vacuum of up to 20 in mercury (Hg) was applied to the interior of the

2-22

Elmondorf AFE OU 5 RI/FS Report

probe for 5 to 30 minutes or until water was drawn up the probe. The water accumulated in the hole was removed by vacuum through a 0.25-inch polyethylene tube inserted into the probe to the bottom of the hole. The tubing was used only once and was discarded to avoid cross contamination.

۲

۲

۲

Groundwater samples were collected in 40 mL volatile organic analysis (VOA) vials that were filled with approximately 20 mL of sample. The vials were shaken vigorously and a sample of the headspace from the container was injected into the gas chromatograph (GC).

Headspace analysis was used, rather than direct injection of the water sample into the GC, to reduce the chance of semivolatile and nonvolatile organics contaminating the system. Depending on the partitioning coefficient of a given compound, the GC may be more sensitive to headspace analysis than to direct injection analysis.

2.1.2.3 Analytical Parameters

Soil gas and groundwater samples were analyzed by using screening techniques (EPA Level II) for the following compounds:

- trans-1,2-Dichloroethene;
- cis-1,2-Dichloroethene;
- 1,1,1-Trichloroethane;
- Trichloroethene;
- Tetrachloroethene;
- BTEX compounds; and
- Total volatile hydrocarbons (TVHCs) C_{4.9} and TVHC C_{10-X}.

2-23

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Samples were analyzed generally within 15 minutes of collection using a GC installed in the subcontractor's van. The GC was calibrated daily by using a single-point calibration for each of the measured constituents. Twenty milliliters of a known standard was placed in a 40-mL vial, and the vial was resealed and shaken vigorously for 30 seconds. An analysis of the headspace in the vial determined the response factor (RF), which was then used to estimate the concentrations in groundwater samples. An independent gaseous standard was not analyzed to calibrate soil gas samples. Therefore, the soil gas sample concentrations cannot be quantitated because the standard headspace concentration was unknown.

4

.

Based on a raw data review, a reporting limit of 0.5 μ g/L was selected as appropriate for chlorinated solvents in groundwater samples, below which the results are suspected to be false positives resulting from instrument noise or laboratory contamination. For BTEX compounds in groundwater, a reporting limit of 10 μ g/L was selected because flame ionization detectors such as the one used for this project to quantify results are relatively insensitive to concentrations below 10 μ g/L. The TVHCs C_{4.9} were quantified by integrating the peaks for compounds containing four carbon atoms through o-xylene. The TVHCs C_{10-x} quantification began after o-xylene, and the endpoints varied with the sample run times. The TVHC results should be considered estimates of fuel contamination because quantitations were based on estimates of both retention times and response factors for fuel hydrocarbons. For soil gas analyzes, independent gaseous standards to quantify the headspace concentrations were not analyzed by the subcontractor; therefore, the soil gas results are designated as "unitless."

2.1.3 Water Use Survey

To determine the potential off-base receptors of groundwater contaminants, active water-supply wells off base and downgradient of OU 5 were identified by two methods: a water use survey of current property tenants and computer searches of databases maintained by the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), Water Resource Division, 1209 Orca

2-24

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Street, Anchorage, Alaska; and by the Alaska State Division of Water and Hydrok.gic Surveys, Department of Natural Resources (DNR), Eagle River, Alaska.

The off-base property south of OU 5 and north of Ship Creek along Post Road and the railroad is owned by the ARRC, which acquired the property from the U.S. Department of Transportation in 1986. Currently, several businesses lease the land from the ARRC. A list of tenants and addresses was obtained from the ARRC. The tenants were mailed the water use survey presented in Attachment A5 of the Field Sampling Plan (FSP) of the OU 5 *Management Plan*. If a tenant did not respond to the mail survey, a follow-up phone call or visit was attempted. (4)

The water use survey requested the following information:

- Well construction details, such as installation date, depth, screened interval, pump type, and casing type;
- Water usage;
- Physical problems or damage to the well;
- Water quality; and
- Treatment systems.

The following questions were included in the survey to support the human health risk assessment:

- How many people work/reside at the survey location?
- Are there any children under 10 or adults over 70 at the survey location? If so, how many in each category?

The survey focused on those wells used as potable water sources that are most likely to be affected by off-base migration of OU 5-related contaminants. One on-base and

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

two off-base wells identified as potable water sources were sampled in August 1992 for drinking-water priority pollutants.

(٢)

2.1.4 Soils Investigation

This section describes the sampling program and procedures used to collect and analyze soil samples during the RI field investigation. Sampling locations are shown on Figure 2-4. The sampling program included the collection of soil samples from the surface, the unsaturated zone, and the saturated zone. Chemical analyses of samples were conducted by CH2M HILL's environmental laboratory in Redding, California, and the close support (48 hours turnaround time) laboratory (CSL) in Corvallis, Oregon.

Detailed descriptions of the proposed RI field activities and data analysis were included in the OU 5 Management Plan, the FSP, and the Quality Assurance Project Plan (QAPP) (CH2M HILL, 1992). The Management Plan and the procedures described in the FSP and QAPP were developed with the intent of augmenting previous work performed at the site. The FSP sampling approach was designed to provide data to assess the general extent and possible source areas of the contamination.

Soil sampling was conducted within OU 5 to define the extent of soil contamination around source areas and to characterize soil types. Soil sampling activities were focused on areas where soil and/or groundwater contamination was known or suspected to be present based on the results of the soil gas investigation (see Section 2.1.2). Areas upgradient of OU 5 source areas were sampled in addition to areas suspected of being contaminated. Samples were analyzed for BTEX, halogenated volatile organics, gasoline hydrocarbons, diesel/JP-4 hydrocarbons, metals, and semivolatile organics. In addition, selected soil samples were analyzed for physical parameters, including grain-size distribution, liquid plastic limits, and total organic carbon.



2-27

•

•

9

ð

۲



(

During the soil boring investigation, the following measures were taken to minimize the possibility of drilling into buried utility lines or underground pipes:

- Excavation or drilling permits were obtained from all appropriate utility services, including telephone, electric, natural gas, water, sewer, steam, communications, and military petroleum fuel lines;
- All proposed boring locations were either checked against an as-built map by representatives of each utility service or were field-located before drilling began;
- Underground utilities off base were located by appropriate civilian utility representatives; and
- The ARRC was contacted before drilling began on its property.

2.1.4.1 Borehole Drilling

Boreholes were drilled to depths ranging from 7.5 to 79.5 feet using truckmounted and track-mounted hollow-stem auger drilling rigs equipped with 4.25-inch-innerdiameter (ID) augers. No oil, grease, or other thread compounds were used on augers or tools entering the borehole.

During drilling, standard penetration tests and split-barrel sampling were performed following procedures described in American Society for Testing Materials (ASTM) D1586-84. A total of four deep borings were advanced to the Bootlegger Cove Formation, with continuous split-barrel sampling to log the soil stratigraphy and verify the depth of the Bootlegger Cove Formation. Other borings were sampled at 5-foot intervals and advanced only to the top of the water table, unless the boring was designated to be completed as a monitoring well.

Soil samples were collected from 31 soil boring locations. Samples were collected with either a standard 2-inch-outside-diameter (OD) split-barrel sampler driven by a 140-pound hammer, or a 3-inch-OD sampler driven by a 300-pound hammer. Each soil sample was classified by the field geologist following the "Standard Procedures for Logging

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

of Soil Borings" (CH2M HILL, 1991). Samples for chemical analysis were collected at regular, predetermined intervals in the boring (10-, 20-, and 30-foot depths) and at the groundwater/unsaturated zone interface. To analyze for sinking contaminants, an additional soil sample was collected from the bottom of each boring that extended into the Bootlegger Cove Formation. Samples for chemical analysis were collected using decontaminated split-barrel samplers. Decontamination procedures for sampling equipment are listed in Section 2.1.4.2.

(4)

Samples for volatiles analysis were collected from split-barrel samplers in a manner minimizing aeration and the subsequent loss of volatiles. For health and safety reasons a photoionization detector (PID) was used to check volatile concentrations at both ends of the split-barrel sampler before it was opened. The split-barrel sampler was opened and the contents quickly split into the two barrel halves. Samples for volatile analysis were immediately collected by taking small, representative amounts of sample material from the middle of the soil column along the entire length of the barrel, minus any slough or unrepresentative material at the top of the sampler. A decontaminated stainless steel spoon was used to transfer the sample to a sterilized jar. The jars were filled to allow as little headspace as possible. Small representative amounts of sample material (minus any slough or unrepresentative material) was placed in a decontaminated stainless steel bowl and mixed until homogeneous using a decontaminated stainless steel spoon. Sample jars were then filled with the homogeneous sample material. Sampling equipment was decontaminated between samples following the decontamination procedures given in Section 2.1.4.2.

2.1.4.2 Decontamination Procedures

All non-disposable, multiple-use sampling equipment was decontaminated following the procedures listed below:

Wash with alconox or liquinox detergent;

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

- Rinse with potable water;
- Rinse with deionized water;
- Let air dry; and
- Wrap in clean aluminum foil (shiny side out).

Soil samples collected for field classification or other non-chemical analyses were collected with either decontaminated split-barrel samplers or samplers rinsed only with potable water. ۲

2.1.4.3 Classification of Soils

Soil samples collected at each interval were classified by the field geologist following the "Standard Procedures for Logging of Soil Borings" (CH2M HILL, 1991). Field classification data were recorded directly into a CH2M HILL soil boring log or recorded in a bound, weatherproof logbook and transferred to a soil boring log at a later time. The boring log contains the following technical information, when applicable, for each soil boring:

- Sample numbers and types;
- Sample depths;
- Blow counts;
- Sample recovery/sample interval;
- Soil density or cohesiveness;
- Soil color;
- United Soils Classification System (USCS) material description and symbol;

- Field geologist's name and dated signature; and
- Project number.

Each soil boring log included depths of changes in lithology, sample moisture observations, depth to water, PID readings, drilling methods, total depth of each borehole, and any other pertinent observations. Soil boring logs for boreholes completed as part of this project are presented in Appendix B. ۲

Samples were screened by the field geologist for volatile organic compounds using a PID. Headspace analysis was performed on soil samples sealed in plastic bags. After at least 15 minutes had passed from the time the sample was collected, the probe end of a PID was inserted through the sealed plastic bag. The stabilized concentration of volatiles then was read directly from the PID. Stabilized PID readings were recorded on soil boring logs at the specific sample interval from which the samples were collected. The results of the headspace analysis are intended to be used only to evaluate relative differences in volatile contaminants between depth in a particular borehole or between boreholes. Headspace results are not intended to replace laboratory analysis for volatiles and are not directly comparable with laboratory results.

Laboratory analyses for soil classification were performed on several randomly selected samples of observed soil types to confirm the field classification of soils. Classification of soils (ASTM D2487-85) is a standardized interpretation of results from the liquid and plastic limits and grain-size distribution tests. Total organic carbon analysis was also performed on these selected samples.

2.1.4.4 Completion of Borings

Borings were completed by either backfilling the borehole from the end of the boring to the surface using a cement-bentonite grout or by installing a groundwater mon-

Henendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

itoring well. Well installation is discussed in Section 2.1.5.2, Monitoring Well Installation. For backfilling boreholes, grout was mixed as follows:

- Potable water was added to a 100-gallon galvanized trough;
- A hydraulic mixer was placed in the water and turned to establish a shearing action in the trough;
- One 94-pound sack of Portland Type 1-2 cement and 4.5 pounds of pure, powdered bentonite were added for every 7 gallons of water; and

۲

 The grout was mixed until homogeneous to the satisfaction of the field geologist or hydrogeologist.

The grout mixture then was pumped through a tremie pipe to fill the boring from the bottom to ground surface. Additional grout was added to the borehole as augers were withdrawn and the column of grout dropped. Grout was allowed to cure for at least 4 hours, and additional grout was added as needed to bring the boring to ground level. A summary of soil boring data is presented in Table 2-2.

2.1.4.5 Sample Handling

All sample containers, with the exception of the headspace sample, were immediately placed in coolers containing double-bagged ice. The samples were later transferred to a shipping cooler packed with double-bagged ice, bubble wrap, and vermiculite to protect the samples during shipping. The chain-of-custody procedures described in the OU 5 Management Plan (CH2M HILL, 1992d) were followed throughout the handling and shipping of the samples.

2.1.4.6 Management of Investigation-Derived Wastes

Investigation-derived wastes (IDWs) generated during field activities included soil boring (drill) cuttings, equipment decontamination washwater, personal protective clothing, and monitoring well development and purge water.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 2-2

٢

۲

ě

۲

Soil Boring Summary

Self During Namber	Total Dapits (func)	Total Susadas Collected	Total Sumplus Analyzed	Depth Enterval of Samples	Date Sumpled
MW01	45.0	8	5	5.0 - 7.0 10.0 - 12.0 15.0 - 17.0 25.0 - 27.0	13 Aug 92
MW02	45.0	8	3	35.0 - 37.0 10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 32.5 - 34.5	23 Aug 92
MW03	45.0	8	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 30.0 - 32.0	17 Aug 92
MW04	45.0	8	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 30.0 - 32.0	18 Aug 92
MW05	38.0	7	2	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0	24 Aug 92
MW06	48.0	8	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 35.0 - 37.0	27 Aug 92
MW07	50.0	8	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 35.0 - 37.0	26 Aug 92
MWOS	20.0	4	2	5.0 - 7.0 14.0 - 16.0	11 Aug 92
MW09	9.0	2	1	2.5 - 4.5	10 Aug 92
MW10	9.0	2	1	5.0 - 7.0	10 Aug 92
MW 11	52.0	8	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 35.0 - 37.0	21 Aug 92
MW12	10.0	4	1	7.5 - 9.5	25 Aug 92
MW13	7.5	2	1	2.5 - 4.5	14 Aug 92
MW14	12.0	3	1	7.5 - 9.5	13 Aug 92
MW15	12.0	3	1	7.5 - 9.5	7 Aug 92
MW16	20.0	5	1	16.0 - 12.0	6 Aug 92

Table 2-2

٢

۲

۲

٠

(Continued)

Seal Realing Number	Tetal Dupih (Teta)	Total Sumplus Collected	Total Sumplus Analyzed	Duple Langeral	Diele Sumplied
MW16A	13.0	0	0	NA	26 Aug 92
MW 17	15.0	4	1	9.0 - 11.0	12 Ang 92
SB18	37.0	8	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 35.0 - 37.0	12 Ang 92
SB19	52.5	20	5	0.0 - 2.0 10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 38.0 - 40.0 52.0 - 54.0	10 Aug 92 11 Aug 92
SB20	37.0	9	3	12.0 - 14.0 25.0 - 27.0 35.0 - 37.0	6 Aug 92
SB2 1	50.0	20	4	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 35.0 - 37.0 48.0 - 50.0	12 Aug 92 13 Aug 92
SB22	37.0	7	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 30.0 - 32.0	28 Aug 92
SB23	60.0	23	5	0.0 - 2.0 10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 40.0 - 42.0 58.0 - 60.0	18 Aug 92 21 Aug 92
SB24	32.0	7	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 30.0 - 32.0	23 Aug 92
SB25	12.0	2	2	5.0 - 7.0 10.0 - 12.0	18 Aug 92
SB26	27.0	6	2	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0	28 Aug 92
SB 27	32.0	7	3	10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 30.0 - 32.0	27 Aug 92

Eimenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

1 2010 /~/	Ta	ble	2-2
------------	----	-----	-----

٢

۲

۲

(Continued)

	Tuni byth		Total Surgius Analyzed	Dapits Interval of Sumples	Date Surping
SB28	79.5	29	5	0.0 - 2.0 10.0 - 12.0 25.0 - 27.0 38.0 - 40.0 76.0 - 78.0	24 Aug 92 25 Aug 92
SB29	22.0	6	2	4.0 - 6.0 10.0 - 12.0	7 Aug 92
MW30	10.0	3	2	0.0 - 2.0 5.0 - 7.0	11 Aug 92
MW31	9.0	3	1	2.5 - 4.5	20 Aug 92

Binenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Drill cuttings were stored in 55-gallon steel drums. The drums were clearly marked on both the lid and the side with the boring identification number, borehole depth, date, headspace analysis results, and drum contents. Cuttings from different borings were placed in separate drums.

(٢)

The analytical results (EPA Method 8010, 8015, and 8020 analyses) for soil samples from each boring were reviewed to determine if analytes exceeded any of the hazardous waste criteria under 40 CFR 261(C). No Method 8010 analytes were detected in any soil sample. Some samples contained petroleum-related contaminants (Method 8015 and 8020 analytes); however, benzene concentrations (up to 20 μ g/kg) were well below the levels that would constitute a hazardous waste under 40 CFR 261(C). All soil cuttings were moved to the on-site Elmendorf AFB landfill. Soils from borings with any detectable levels of petroleum concentrations were stockpiled in a bermed and lined area within the landfill. The USAF plans to treat these soils using bioremediation at a later date. Soils from borings with no detectable levels of contaminants were placed at an unlined location within the landfill.

Wastewater from equipment decontamination and monitoring well development and purging was containerized in properly labeled 55-gallon drums and was staged at the end of each day next to the decontamination pad. The wastewater was then pumped through an activated carbon unit and, with the permission of Elmendorf AFB and the Municipality of Anchorage (MOA)^b, was discharged to a sanitary sewer manhole. Effluent from the activated carbon unit was sampled approximately halfway and near the end of the field investigation program, and was analyzed for Method 8010, 8015, and 8020 analytes. No organics were detected in the effluent, indicating that breakthrough of the activated carbon unit did not occur.

^bPermission documented in letters from Colonel Everett L. Mabry, base civil engineer, dated May 15, 1992, and from Mark Spano, Industrial Pretreatment Program coordinator, Anchorage Water and Wastewater Utility, dated May 5, 1992, concerning wastewater discharge from the equipment decontamination facility.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

Personal protective clothing (gloves, overboots, and tyvec suits) were considered nonhazardous because hazardous contamination was not found in the soil cuttings. The clothing was disposed of in dumpsters at Elmendorf AFB. (1

ş4

2.1.5 Groundwater Investigation

2.1.5.1 Monitoring Well Site Selection Rationale

Nineteen groundwater monitoring wells were installed as part of this investigation. Monitoring well locations were selected to confirm contamination identified by the soil gas survey, to provide groundwater data source in areas of known or suspected leaks, and to sample groundwater directly upgradient and downgradient of OU 5. The well placements were intended to augment the existing well network; wherever possible, existing monitoring wells were sampled to provide the required data. When placing wells, consideration was also given to the need to construct reliable water table maps for the OU 5 area. All the monitoring wells were completed above the Bootlegger Cove Formation.

Six of the monitoring wells, MW01 through MW06, were installed north of OU 5 source areas. These locations were selected to provide information on the quality of the groundwater migrating from upgradient areas located north to northeast of OU 5. Monitoring wells MW07 and MW08 were installed northeast to east of OU 5 source areas to intercept upgradient groundwater flowing from areas east of OU 5. Well MW08 is also located south of the JP-4 pipeline and several fuel storage tanks; depending on the groundwater flow direction, this well may also detect fuel products that may have leaked from the pipeline or the storage tanks. Well MW11 was placed next to a waste paint tank located upgradient of Sources ST38/SS42.

All other wells were intended to provide data from areas near or downgradient from suspected OU 5 source areas. Wells MW09, MW10, MW30 and MW31 were installed near Ship Creek south of Post Road to intercept suspected hydrocarbon plumes from Sources

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

SD40, ST46, and SS53. Wells MW11 through MW17 were spaced at approximately equal distances along Post Road to intercept plumes that may be migrating toward Ship Creek from Sources ST37, ST38 or SS42. To the extent possible, these wells were located upgradient from areas outside the scope of the OU 5 investigation, such as the railroad yard and the industrial area along Post Road.

2.1.5.2 Monitoring Well Installation

Monitoring well construction diagrams for shallow and deep wells are shown on Figures 2-5 and 2-6. Monitoring well casings and screens were constructed of 2-inch-ID, Schedule 40, flush-threaded PVC. The field hydrogeologist determined the length of the well screen based on the observed thickness of the water table, depth to the water table, and depth to the Bootlegger Cove Formation. Well screens for completed wells were between 5 and 15 feet long. Whenever possible, wells were constructed with the well screen extending into both the water-saturated formation and the overlying unsaturated soil. This design allows the sampling of LNAPL contaminants, such as petroleum products and solvents, that tend to float on the groundwater surface and may not be captured if only the saturated formation were screened.

Shallow wells MW09 and MW13 were screened below the top of the water table because the groundwater depth was too shallow to screen above and below the water table and to install a sufficient surface seal on the well (see Figure 2-5). Screen slot size and corresponding sand-filter pack gradation were selected based on field observations of soil types. A well screen slot size of 10-slot (0.010 inch) and sand filter pack gradation of 16-40 Colorado Silica Sand Inc. (CSSI) were used for all monitoring wells to gain consistency in the hydraulic responses of the monitoring wells.

Stainless steel centralizers were installed on only one well, MW01. The use of centralizers caused problems with the sand pack installation and measurement during the construction of this well. A field change request was written recommending that the use of

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



2-40

۲



2-41

•

the centralizers be discontinued. In subsequent well installations, the 4.25-inch-ID augers acted as a guide to hold the 2-inch-ID PVC well assembly in place during construction. The PVC well assembly was suspended from above to help keep the well plumb within the borehole until the sand filter pack and grout seal could be installed.

()

The sand filter pack was installed by slowly pouring 16-40 CSSI in the annular space between the auger and the PVC well screen. Measurements to monitor the filter pack placement were taken, at a minimum, after each 5-gallon bucket of sand was added. After the sand filter pack was in place, 3/8-inch bentonite chips were added to the space between the auger and the well screen to a thickness of approximately 2 feet. Potable water was added slowly to hydrate the bentonite chips, which were allowed to swell for at least 20 minutes. The cement/bentonite grout seal was pumped through a tremie pipe into the area between the auger and the PVC well screen, using a pump mounted on the drill rig. The tremie pipe was lowered to approximately 5 feet above the top of the bentonite seal before pumping began, and was withdrawn as the borehole was filled with grout from the bottom. Cement/bentonite grout was added to the borehole as the auger was withdrawn. When the auger was removed from the borehole, the grout was brought up to approximately 2 feet below ground surface. Hydrated bentonite chips were added to the remaining 2 feet, providing a watertight seal between the protective steel casing and upper PVC well casing the seal will not adhere to the PVC when the overlying concrete pad is displaced by frost heave. A 6-in-diameter steel protective casing with a locking cap was placed over the PVC well assembly and driven into the hydrated bentonite chips. A 3-foot-by-3-foot-by-0.5-foot concrete pad was then installed around the protective steel casing to hold it in place and protect the surface seal. Protective steel bollards set in concrete were installed around monitoring wells located near roadways or parking areas.

Well construction details were recorded by the field hydrogeologist in a bound field logbook and on CH2M HILL well construction forms. As-built diagrams of all wells are presented in Appendix C. A summary of monitoring well data is presented in Table 2-3.

2-42

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 2-3

٢

۲

.

Monitoring Well Summary

	Total Wes	Servered Interval	Sand Fliter Pack*	Depth to Water
	Cleac	(100)	(feet)	(Turt)/Date
MW01	45.0	30.0 - 45.0	27.0 - 45.0	35.0/13 Aug 92
MW02	45.0	25.0 - 40.0	23.0 - 45.0	31.23 Aug 92
MW03	45.0	25.0 - 40.0	23.0 - 45.0	31.5/17 Aug 92
MW04	43.0	23.0 - 38.0	21.0 - 45.0	30.6/18 Aug 92
MW05	38.0	18.0 - 33.0	16.0 - 38.0	24.0/24 Aug 92
MW06	48.0	28.0 - 43.0	26.0 - 48.0	34.7/27 Ang 92
MW07	50.0	30.0 - 45.0	26.0 - 50.0	35.5/26 Aug 92
MW08	20.0	10.0 - 20.0	9.0 - 20.0	14.3/11 Aug 92
MW09	8.0	3.0 - 8.0	2.0 - 9.0	1.7/10 Ang 92
MW10	8.0	3.0 - 8.0	2.0 - 9.0	2.1/10 Aug 92
MW 11	50.0	30.0 - 45.0	28.0 - 52.0	36.5/21 Aug 92
MW12	10.0	5.0 - 10.0	3.0 - 10.0	7.5/25 Aug 92
MW13	7.5	2.5 - 7.5	2.0 - 7.5	1.4/14 Aug 92
MW14	12.0	7.0 - 12.0	5.0 - 12.0	8.7/13 Aug 92
MW15	12.0	7.0 - 12.0	5.0 - 12.0	9.5/7 Aug 92
MW16A*	12.5	7.5 - 12.5	5.5 - 13.0	10.0/25 Aug 92
MW 17	13.0	8.0 - 13.0	7.0 - 15.0	9.5/12 Aug 92
MW30	7.5	2.5 - 7.5	2.4 - 10.0	4.5/11 Ang 92
MW31	7.5	2.5 - 7.5	2.0 - 9.0	3.5/20 Aug 92

All wells were constructed using 2-inch-ID, Schodule 40, floah-threaded PVC cosing and acreen (10-sist).
Send filter pack is 16-40 CISI.
Alternate well installed after poor yield coursed Well MW16 to be sheadcood.

Ø

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

One well, MW16, did not yield sufficient groundwater for development and sampling. Well MW16 was abandoned by removing the well screen and casing and back-filling the boring with cement/bentonite grout. An alternate well, MW16A, was installed near MW16 and yielded enough groundwater to be properly developed and sampled.

۲

()

2.1.5.3 Monitoring Well Development

New monitoring wells were "developed" (purged repeatedly) before sampling, using a combination of surging and bailing or pumping to remove fines from the borehole, enhance well yield, and provide turbidity-free samples. The first step in developing these wells was to measure the static water level and total depth of the well. The water volume required for purging a well volume then was calculated from these data. The wells were surged over the screened interval by manually raising and lowering a surge block in the well. This step was followed by either bailing, using a decontaminated stainless steel bailer, or pumping, using a decontaminated submersible pump. The bailing and pumping were done throughout the screened interval to remove the fines pulled into the well by surging.

During monitoring well development, groundwater was monitored for pH, temperature, and specific conductance. Wells were developed until purge water was free of turbidity, to the satisfaction of the field hydrogeologist; the monitored parameters were stable to within 10 percent in consecutive well purge volumes; and at least three well volumes had been purged from the well. Several wells could not be developed to the point that the purge water was free of turbidity. Wells that were still turbid after development generally were constructed in shallow borings that extended into the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation. Well purging and development data are presented in Appendix F.

2.1.5.4 Groundwater Level Measurements

Water levels in new and existing OU 5 wells and at temporary piezometers installed during the soil gas survey were measured four times during the field season at

Bunndorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

approximately 3-week intervals. Electronic water level indicators were used to collect groundwater measurements. An oil/water interface probe was used to check for a floating product layer. Measurements were taken relative to the top of the PVC well casing. Water levels were measured to the nearest 0.01 foot. Water level and floating product level measurements were recorded in bound field logbooks. Water level monitoring data are presented in Appendix E. (4)

۲

2.1.5.5 Groundwater Sampling

Groundwater samples from a total of 17 existing and 19 new monitoring wells were collected and analyzed to evaluate groundwater quality within and around the OU 5 source area. All groundwater samples were analyzed at an off-site laboratory for halogenated volatile organics, BTEX, semivolatile organics, and diesel/gasoline/JP-4-range hydrocarbons. Monitoring wells located near fly ash deposits (east of Source ST37) were additionally analyzed for total and dissolved metals. General water-quality parameters (alkalinity, hardness, and anions) were analyzed in five randomly chosen sample locations. Results of the general water-quality analysis were used to perform a geochemical comparison of water collected from the shallow and deep aquifers.

The first step in sampling the monitoring wells was to determine if a floating product layer was present in the well using an oil/water interface probe. No floating product layers were detected in the OU 5 monitoring wells. The static water-level and total depth of the well were then measured using an electronic water-level indicator to calculate a borehole volume of water for purging. Before sampling, wells were purged to remove a minimum of three borehole volumes of water. The borehole volume was calculated as the water inside of the well and in the pore spaces in the silica sand filter pack, assuming a porosity of 30 percent for the sand filter pack. Purging was performed using a low-rate WaTerra sampling pump to minimize aeration and subsequent volatilization of organics. Groundwater sampling crews were careful not to disturb sediment that may have accumulated in the bottom of the well. A WaTerra sampling pump or a decontaminated bailer were used to collect

Elmender! AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
groundwater samples. All equipment that came into contact with groundwater or the inside of the wells either was provided by the manufacturer in clean, sealed, plastic packaging, or was decontaminated before use according to the decontamination procedures in Section 2.1.4.2. ۲

۲

Field parameters (pH, temperature, and specific conductance) were measured after each borehole volume was purged from the wells. Wells were purged until field parameter results between consecutive borehole volumes were within 10 percent (at least three borehole volumes) or until the well was purged to dryness. Disposable plastic cups were used to hold groundwater samples analyzed for field parameters. No field parameter monitoring probes were placed into sample containers to be used for laboratory analysis. Probes used for field parameter monitoring were rinsed with deionized water between each use. Field parameter monitoring instruments were field calibrated or checked against standards daily according to the manufacturer's specifications.

2.1.5.6 Sampling of Water Supply Wells

In addition to OU 5 area monitoring wells, on-site and off-site water supply wells potentially affected by OU 5 were sampled. The off-site water supply wells were identified through a survey of property tenants in the industrial area located between OU 5 and Ship Creek. Samples were analyzed for volatile organics, semivolatile organics, and diesel/gasoline/JP-4-range hydrocarbons. In addition, samples from selected wells were analyzed for alkalinity and for selected cations (magnesium, calcium, iron, sodium, and potassium) and anions (sulfate, nitrate, and chloride) to allow a geochemical comparison with water from the shallow aquifer. A sampling point nearest to the wellhead was selected at each well. The sampling points were generally outdoor spigots or bathroom sink faucets.

2.1.5.7 Aquifer Slog Testing

Slug tests were completed on 11 of the new monitoring wells at OU 5. The tests were conducted to estimate hydraulic conductivity values for the aquifer materials. The slug tests were chosen because they are less expensive to conduct than pump tests. Slug tests have been used at many hazardous waste sites to provide estimates of hydraulic conductivity for the aquifer material directly adjacent to the well.

(4)

۲

Some of the assumptions inherent in completing slug tests are that the aquifer is characterized by radial flow, that drawdown of the water table around the well is negligible, that there is instantaneous withdrawal of water from the well, that the aquifer is homogeneous and isotropic, and that the well is fully penetrating. Although all sites violate these assumptions to some extent, slug tests generally provide reliable well-specific, order-ofmagnitude estimates that may be used to estimate fate and transport parameters and preliminary evaluations of design options for remedial alternatives.

The aquifer material at OU 5 is generally homogeneous and does not exhibit a high degree of stratification when compared to other slug test sites. Slug tests are generally believed to provide reliable estimates under these conditions.

The slug tests were performed on the following wells: MW01, MW03, MW05, MW08, MW10, MW12, MW13, MW14, MW15, MW16, and MW31. Wells were selected to provide as broad a geographic coverage as possible. Several wells south of the bluff were tested to provide data that may be useful later during the design of an aquifer recovery system.

Slug tests were completed by a team consisting of a field technician and a hydrogeologist. The tests were conducted using PVC slugs, which were either 1 inch or 1.5 inch in diameter and 10 feet in length. Pressure transducers wired to an electronic data recorder were used to record water level measurements during the tests. The data recorders

Basendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

were programmed to record data every one-fifth of a second during the earliest portion of each test, increasing the recording interval incrementally as the test progressed. The longest recording interval used for most of the tests was 1.2 seconds. This recording schedule resulted in frequent data measurements during the earliest portion of the test when the water levels were responding quickly to the slug removal, and less frequent measurements as the water levels began to equilibrate. (*****)

۲

Equipment was decontaminated before testing each well following procedures described in Section 2.1.4.2. The tests were conducted by first placing the pressure transducer near the bottom of the well. The height of the water column above the transducer was read using the electronic data recorder. The static water level was read manually using a water level meter, and the value was recorded in the field notebook. Next, the slug was placed into the well and submerged as far as possible. Some wells contained less than 10 feet of water, so complete submergence was not always possible. Before beginning the test, the water level was allowed to return to its original level, which typically took less than 30 seconds. Equilibration was checked by periodically measuring the water level with a water level meter, or by reading the water level at the pressure transducer using the electronic data recorder.

After the water level in the well had returned to its original height, the slug was removed quickly and completely from the well. Simultaneously, the electronic data recorder was turned on. The data recorder was left on until the water level had restabilized as determined by periodic manual water level measurements. Tests typically lasted 1 minute or less. Each test was repeated at least once so that duplicate test results could be compared.

Following the completion of each test, the data were downloaded from the data recorder onto a laptop PC. The results were then analyzed using the Bouwer and Rice solution (Bouwer, 1989; Bouwer and Rice, 1976). Appendix F contains the results of this analysis.

2.1.6 Surface Water and Sediment Investigation

Surface water and sediments were sampled from Ship Creek, the golf course beaver pond, and selected surface water impoundments and drainage ditches downgradient of the OU 5 bluff, as shown on Figure 2-7, to characterize the level of contamination and assess whether the contamination is related to OU 5 source areas. The surface water and sediment sampling stations were selected during the site reconnaissance performed by project biologists identifying appropriate locations for concurrent fish and benthic macroinvertebrate sampling.

The Ship Creek substrate is composed primarily of loose or slightly embedded gravel. To characterize potential sediment contaminant concentrations of seemingly localized sediments, the sample stations were selected in the most quiescent areas possible where suitable quantities of potentially unflushed silty sediment could be collected.

A background reference station was selected for Ship Creek at the boundary between Elmendorf AFB and Fort Richardson. No reference pond station with biological and physical characteristics similar to those of the golf course beaver pond and not potentially affected by an Elmendorf AFB OU could be identified.

The Ship Creek sample stations were within aquatic habitats where the stream configuration was braided or split. The golf course beaver pond was sampled near a seep inlet (SL23), and near its point of discharge (beaver dam). Surface water impoundments on the OU 5 bluff and drainage ditches conveying flow from OU 5 source areas were sampled for surface water and/or sediments at strategic points of inlet or discharge to receiving waters, or where stressed vegetation was apparent.

The surface water and sediment sampling stations and corresponding station numbers are as follows:

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report





0

۲

۲

2-51

.

Sample Station	Location
SW/SE/MI01 (reference)	Ship Creek (Elmendorf AFB-Fort Richardson Boundary)
SW/SE/MI02	Ship Creek (Salmon Run Park)
SW/SE/MI03	Ship Creek (upstream of fish hatchery)
SW/SE/MI04	Golf course beaver pond
SW/SE/MI05	Golf course beaver pond
SW/SE/MI06	Wetland pond at base of OU 5 bluff
SW/SE/MI07	Snowmelt pond at base of OU 5 bluff
SW/SE/MI08	Bluff pond on side of bluff
SW/SE09	Drainage ditch within OU 5
SW/SE10	Drainage ditch west of OU 5
SW/SE/MI11	Yakutat Street, discharge point to Ship Creek
SE/MI12	100 feet upstream of SW11 on Ship Creek
SW/SE13	Beaver pond at seep SL29

SW represents surface water sample stations; SE represents sediment sample stations; and MI represents biological (macroinvertebrate) sample stations. When designated SW, SE, or MI, sampling of the different media occurred at the same location.

Surface water and sediment analyses were performed at off-site laboratories. Surface water samples were analyzed for volatile and semivolatile organic compounds, total and dissolved metals, diesel/gasoline/JP-4 hydrocarbons, and alkalinity. In-situ field measurements included pH, temperature, specific conductance, and dissolved oxygen. Sediment samples were analyzed for volatile and semivolatile organic compounds, diesel/ gasoline/JP-4 hydrocarbons, and total metals. PCB analyses were included for sediment samples obtained near Source SD40 and lower bluff pond locations.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Surface water was collected directly into appropriate sample containers by immersing the open top container a few inches below the water surface. Dissolved metals samples were collected by immersing a sterile Nalgene filter unit, and filling the upper reservoir of the two-reservoir assembly. The water then was filtered through a 0.45-micron-mesh filter until the filtered water filled the lower reservoir. The filtered water sample then was poured directly into a 1-liter polyethylene container and preserved with nitric acid.

Ŀ

Sediment samples were collected using decontaminated stainless steel trowels, spoons, corers, or a Ponar grab sampler. The sediment was placed in a stainless steel bowl or polyethylene pail. After volatile organic and BTEX samples were transferred with a stainless steel spoon into sample containers, the rest of the sediment sample was homogenized by mixing and then spooned into respective sample containers.

2.1.7 Aquatic Ecological Survey

The aquatic ecological survey consisted of qualitative and quantitative sampling of benthic macroinvertebrates and fish to accomplish the following:

- Describe the biological characteristics of OU 5;
- Identify receptors and important habitats;
- Determine if there is evidence of stress on ecosystems in the area; and
- Assess toxicity of onsite water and sediments to fish and macroinvertebrates.

2.1.7.1 Field Measurements

Field measurements were conducted to document water quality, physical, and habitat conditions at each site. The data were used to characterize the site and make comparisons with other sites. The in-situ field measurements included pH, temperature,

2-53

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

specific conductance, and dissolved oxygen. A qualitative description was made of the station, the general sampling conditions (such as weather) and the habitat (Ship Creek and, where applicable, the ponds) using the habitat assessment protocols established in the EPA Rapid Bioassessment Protocols for Use in Streams and Rivers (RBP) (Plafkin et al, 1989). Field observations of the physical and biological features at each station were recorded on field data sheets and in a field log book. This provided a qualitative habitat assessment for comparison of each site. Each element of the physical measurements and qualitative habitat descriptions is discussed below.

Physical Measurements

At each station, a description of the physical features was recorded. The physical characterization parameters included weather conditions at the time of sampling, estimations of general land use, and physical characteristics such as stream width, presence of undercut banks, high watermarks, channel morphology, and canopy cover (Appendix J, Table J.3).

Weather Conditions. This assessment included approximate cloud cover, rain or mist, and air temperature.

Predominant Surrounding Land Use. The prevalent land use type—for example, agriculture, industrial, silviculture, and forested wetlands—in the vicinity of each station was observed. Also noted were any other land uses in the area that, although not predominant, may affect water quality.

Local Watershed Erosion. The potential for erosion in the watershed at each station was estimated by observing any exposed soil that drained directly into the creek or pond.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 BI/F8 Report

Local Watershed Nonpoint Source Pollution. Nonpoint source estimates were made by identifying diffuse urban runoff.

۲

Average Stream Width. The average distance from shore to shore within each stream sampling area was measured in feet with a 100-foot tape measure.

High-Water Mark. The high-water mark was determined by estimating the vertical distance from the stream bank to the peak overflow level, as indicated by debris hanging in bank or floodplain vegetation and by deposition of silt or soil in the floodplain.

Canopy Cover. The proportion of open to shaded area was estimated by visual observation of overstory and shrub canopy.

Sediment Odors, Oils, and Deposits. Bottom substrate materials were examined to measure odors by smell and oils by visual observation of surface sheen or tar deposits. A visual observation of the substrate was made to determine the type of deposition.

Inorganic and Organic Substrate Components. Estimates of the percentage and size of inorganic substrate material were made according to the scheme on the data sheets. Estimates also were made for organic compounds.

Habitat Measurements

The RBP habitat analysis procedures were used to develop a semiquantitative comparison of the habitat conditions at each stream site (Plafkin et al, 1989). Using this procedure, each parameter was evaluated in the field and rated based on protocols listed on the habitat assessment field data sheets. From this analysis a total score was obtained for each stream station. Reference and test station scores were compared and used to classify each station on the basis of similarity and the station's apparent potential to support an acceptable level of biological health.

Ensender AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

The habitat parameters were separated into three categories: substrate and instream cover, channel morphology, and riparian bank structure. These were selected to provide a semiquantitative comparison of the habitat conditions at the test and reference stations.

 (\mathbf{b})

Substrate and Instream Cover. Bottom substrate, available cover, and water current were evaluated. Bottom substrate refers to habitat for support of aquatic organisms. A variety of substrate materials and habitat types results in a diverse biotic community. In general, a direct relationship exists between favorable habitat suitability and the diversity of habitat types and substrate materials present. Substrate and instream cover were evaluated by visual assessment during sampling by qualitatively determining the amount of habitat available for refuge. These habitats included rocks, rubble, submerged logs, undercut banks, and other stable habitat. The qualitative assessment included ranking each site according to the categories listed on the field data sheets. Stream flow was evaluated qualitatively as the ability of a stream to provide and maintain a stable aquatic environment. Areas where the velocity is highest generally provide the least suitable habitat for fish and benthos.

Riparian Bank Structure. Riparian bank structure refers to three parameters: bank stability, bank vegetation, and streamside cover. Bank stability is rated by observing existing or potential detachment of soil from the upper and lower stream bank and the potential for movement of the soil into the stream. Steeper banks are generally more subject to erosion and failure and do not support stable vegetation. Bank soil generally is held in place by plant root systems. An estimate of the density of bank vegetation covering the bank provides an indication of bank stability and the potential for instream sedimentation. Streamside cover is evaluated in terms of stream shading and escape cover or refuge for fish.

2.1.7.2 Benthic Macroinvertebrate Sampling

Benthic macroinvertebrates (bottom-dwelling organisms) were sampled using both quantitative and qualitative methods. Quantitative surveys of benthic invertebrates were conducted using one of two methods, depending on the bottom substrate composition:

• The petite Ponar grab sampler was used to sample soft sediment in ponds.

۲

• The Surber sampler was used to sample riffles and the erosional zone in creeks.

To supplement the quantitative sampling and provide additional information on the colonization of different benthic habitats within the stream and ponds, natural substrates were qualitatively sampled. The natural substrates sampled included soft sediments, woody debris, stumps, vegetation, leaf packs, bark, and twigs.

Quantitative Sampling

Stream Locations. Stream location sampling is described in Table 2-4. At each stream station (Figure 2-7), three quantitative Surber (1024-micron net) samples were collected from riffle locations along a stream reach. A Surber sampler collects benthos from a 1-square-foot area. Surber collection sites coincided with the surface-water quality sampling sites. Surber samples were placed inside a plastic bag enclosed in a second plastic bag, and were preserved with formalin (approximately 10 percent).

Pond Locations. At each of the pond sites, three petite Ponar grabs were collected (Table 2-4, Figure 2-7). The Ponar sampler collects benthos from a 0.25-square-foot area. Ponar collections also coincided with the water quality sampling sites. Ponar samples were sieved through a wash bucket (No. 30 mesh), placed in plastic bags, each within a second plastic bag, and preserved with formalin (approximately 10 percent).

2-57

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/F8 Report

E

۲

٢

Macroinvertebrate, Fish, and Bioassay Sample Collection Locations, in Spring (May-June) and Fall (August-September) 1992

Location	Side Creat	Gelf Course Bayver Pond	Sections Discharge Area	Buff Pend
MIO1	s, qL., F			
MR02	S, QL, F, BSW, BSE			
MI03	S, QL, F, BSW, BSE			
MI04		PP, QL, F, BSW, BSE		
MIOS		PP, QL, F, BSW, BSE		
MEO6			PP, QL	
M107				QL
MIOS				QL
MI 11	S, QL			
MI12	S, QL			
SW/SE09			BSW, BSE	

M a and fish col

SW/SE

\$

PP

QL F = kickast and/or hand co

2010 DEE

uder! AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Qualitative Sampling

Qualitative samples at each of the above stations consisted of invertebrates collected by kicknet and hand collection into the kicknet. The collections were made by three methods:

1. In streams only, physically disturbing the bottom substrate by kicking the material upstream of the net and allowing time for the material to be washed into the net. ۲

- 2. Collecting by hand woody debris and leaf packs that were scraped into the net.
- 3. In ponds only, dragging the net across the surface of the sediments and scraping organic material from stumps into the net.

The qualitative collection was placed into a small bucket and was mixed thoroughly. Then a small sample aliquot was removed and placed into a plastic picking pan. A 100-organism subsample (or the number picked in 30 minutes) was removed from the pan for preliminary identification of invertebrate taxa present at each sample site. Qualitatively picked samples were washed into doubled plastic bags and preserved with formalin (approximately 10 percent).

Evaluation Metrics

Where appropriate, in stream and pond areas, the following metrics (ecological variables) were used to assist in the ecological assessment.

Taxa Richness. The health of the community can be determined by a measurement of the variety of taxa (for example, total number of order, family, genera, and/ or species) present. The premise for using this metric is that the taxa richness increases with better water quality, habitat diversity, and/or habitat suitability.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

EPT Index. The EPT index, which generally increases with increasing water quality, is the total number of distinct taxa within the three orders Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, and Trichoptera. This value summarizes taxa richness within the insect orders that are generally considered to be pollution sensitive. (\mathbf{r})

(+)

Ratio of EPT and Chironomidae Abundance. The Ephemeroptera, Plecoptera, Trichoptera (EPT), and Chironomidae (C) abundance ratios (EPT/C) use these indicator organisms as a measure of community balance. Good biotic conditions—generally water quality and habitat—are reflected in communities having a fairly even distribution among these four major groups, with substantial representation in the sensitive EPT groups. Skewed populations have a disproportionate number of the generally tolerant Chironomidae relative to the more sensitive insect groups; this skewing may indicate environmental stress.

Diversity Index. Species diversity is an expression of community structure. In general, a community will have a high species diversity if equally abundant species are present. On the other hand, if a community is composed of a very few species, or if only a few species are abundant, diversity is low.

Evenness. Diversity of a community depends on the number of species present and the evenness with which the individuals are apportioned among them. To describe a community's diversity in terms of its diversity index alone confounds these two factors; a community with few, evenly represented species can have the same diversity as one with many, unevenly represented species. Therefore, it is desirable to keep these two components of diversity distinct. The use of this index is based on the assumption that the better the water quality and more diverse the habitat, the more species abundance will be distributed evenly among the taxa present. This would increase the evenness index value toward one.

Functional Feeding Groups. Macroinvertebrates were classified into functional feeding groups according to the schemes proposed by Merritt and Cummins (1984)

2-60

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

and Commins and Klug (1979). Functional group analysis was done to assist in the assessment of potential changes in functional groups in the invertebrate community due to the contaminant of concern.

lacksquare

۲

۲

2.1.7.3 Fish

Fish were sampled during May and September 1992 at the three sampling stations within Ship Creek above the Elmendorf AFB fish hatchery (SW01 through SW03), and in June 1992 only at the two golf course beaver pond sampling stations (SW04 and SW05). Fish were sampled qualitatively using electroshocking. Minnow acining of the creek and pond was intended, but not possible due to high creek-flow velocities and pond bottom obstructions.

2.1.7.4 Toxicity Tests

Acute and chronic toxicity tests for contaminants of concern were conducted on selected surface water and sediment samples to assess the potential for stress to aquatic organisms. The results of the testing are discussed in Section 4.5.

2.1.8 Terrestrial Ecological Survey

Surveys were conducted during May and June 1992 to describe the terrestrial biological characteristics of OU 5, identify receptors and important habitats, and determine if there is evidence of stress on ecosystems in the area. In accordance with the phased approach being used at OU 5 (CH2M HILL, 1992d), the surveys were designed to obtain qualitative rather than quantitative information. More detailed studies may be conducted in the future if quantitative data are needed for assessment of ecological risks.

The earlier conserved ecological survey reports and assessments (Rothe et si, 1983, NOAA, 1990, USDI, 1990, CH2M HILL, 1992c) were reviewed for general informa-

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PE Report

tion pertaining to OU 5. The field surveys during May and June were designed to focus on the terrestrial habitats and species identified in those earlier references and to obtain more specific inventories and assessments within OU 5. These surveys were conducted from May 19 through 25 and June 23 through 29, 1992. (In addition, after the first survey, some follow-up was done on May 27 and June 5. Cursory observations were made, and nests found during the May survey were checked.) Because evidence of plant stress was observed during the June survey, plant and soil samples were collected from selected areas in OU 5 during September 1 through 5, 1992. ۲

۲

Primary access routes for making observations in OU 5 included Bluff Road and the ARRC right-of-way north and west of Post Road, and the ARRC right-of-way and gravel roads north of Ship Creek in the areas east of Post Road (see to Figure 2-1). From those access routes, walking surveys were performed throughout the wooded, grassy, and wetland areas within the OU 5 portion of the base. Particular attention was given to those locations where seeps had been identified (see Section 2.1.1), source areas in or near wildlife habitats, and wetlands that could receive groundwater or surface water discharges from those areas.

2.1.8.1 Habitats and Vegetation

OU 5 was surveyed to identify the major habitats and plant communities present and their general distribution. Potentially sensitive habitats, such as wetlands, were identified and visible areas of recent or historical disturbance were noted. The terrestrial habitats were surveyed by walking transects through each OU 5 source area between the bluff and Ship Creek to identify common species present. Less intensive surveys were conducted above the bluff, and aerial photographs were examined to assist in mapping habitat types throughout OU 5. Vegetation types were identified according to the summary of types presented in the basewide ecological survey (CH2M HILL, 1992c), which was based on earlier studies by Rothe et al (1983).

Bimenderf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Habitat types were compared to maps and descriptions from Rothe et al (1983) and to color aerial photographs taken in 1982. Evidence of plant stress was noted when there were visual signs of foliar damage. Potential reference sites were surveyed for comparison to the OU 5 habitats. **(4**)

۲

Table 2-5 provides a summary of the plant and soil samples that were collected to evaluate possible relationships between plant stress and OU 5 contaminants. The sampling locations are shown on Figure 2-1. At most of the sampled locations (excluding SL16 and SL27, where no affected plants were observed), aboveground portions of plants were collected. These included plants showing apparent stress and others of the same species, but not showing effects, that were growing nearby (usually 10 to 30 yards from the affected area). The selected species were considered representative of the affected plants at that location. The plant species included horsetail (*Equisetum arvense*), bluejoint grass (*Calamagrostis canadensis*), fireweed (*Epilobium angustifolium*), brook veronica (*Veronica serpyllifolia*), and willow (*Salix* sp.). Sections 3.6.2 and 4.6 provide descriptions of general habitat types and locations where plant stress was observed.

Along with each of those plant samples, soils were collected at depths that were expected to reflect the root zone of the sampled plant species (although the extent of the root zone for each species was not determined in the field). Soil samples also were collected at SL16 and SL27 (even though affected plants were not observed there) for comparison to soils between SL25 and SL26 (which are located in the same wetland as SL16 and SL27, but where affected plants were observed). At SL29, the soil sample was sediment from an affected area that was flooded.

Collection of paired soil samples (one sample from an area where plants showed effects), the other from a nearby area where the same types of plants were unaffected was considered superior to comparing samples from a more distant reference site where soil, water, and environmental conditions might confound comparisons. At each of the sampling

Elmonderf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

١

۲

Plant and Soil Sample Collections in Areas Showing Evidence of Plant Stress

Notes: At each location except \$L16 and \$L27, paired mappies of stressed plants and soils were collected along with nearby, apparently healthy plants and the soil in which they were growing.

A = Affected N = Noneffect

S = Sediment d because the area was flooded

underf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

points, soils were collected from depths of 2 to 12 inches, 12 to 24 inches, and 24 to 36 inches deep, as appropriate for the expected root depths for plants at that station.

These representative areas (listed in Table 2-5) in which plants showed evidence of stress were sampled to determine whether chemicals in the soil may be associated with the observed effects. This sampling was conducted as an exploratory survey during the 1992 growing season—consistent with the phased approach described earlier (CH2M HILL, 1992d)—to obtain information potentially useful for preliminary identification of causative factors and planning of bioassays or experimental studies using available toxicity tests (for example, Kapustka and Reporter, 1991, SETAC, 1991). The goal of this additional work was to determine, if possible, the cleanup (no effect) levels for contaminants that are associated with plant stress within OU 5. ۲

Plants in the affected area were examined to further characterize the signs of stress. The goal was to conduct this examination during August (before plants began seasonal die-off or winter dormancy) but it could not be conducted before the first week of September 1992. The specific signs of stress in various plants may provide insight to the causative factors; in other words, whether the signs of stress are directly related to contaminant exposure or perhaps to nutritional deficiencies or imbalances induced by contaminants.

Sampling locations included two where horsetail showed effects (between SL04 and SL05, plus SL19), two open areas where grasses and herbaceous plants were affected (SL20 and SL31), and two larger wetlands where multiple species showed effects. These wetlands included the one between SL16 and SL25, as well as the one at SL29. Within the SL29 wetland, sampling was conducted at one location where multiple species showed effects (and a paired no-effect sample). Within the SL16 to SL25 wetland, sampling was conducted along an east-west transect that included two stations at SL16 and SL27 (where vegetation appeared normal) and at one station between SL25 and SL26. Plant and soil samples were collected concurrently.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

In addition to petroleum-related chemicals (BTEX and diesel/gasoline/JP-4 hydrocarbons), the constituents for analysis included other chemicals found in soil vapors or groundwater (volatile organics), pH, conductivity, nitrogen, phosphorus, soluble and extractable cations, and trace elements. Among the trace elements, the analyses of plants or soils included essential elements for nutrition (boron, cobalt, copper, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, and zinc), non-essential elements that may be present (arsenic, cadmium, chromium, lead, mercury, and selenium), and those that may be antagonistic to iron (boron, cadmium, cobalt, chromium, copper, molybdenum, and zinc) because some of the signs of stress were similar to iron deficiency.

2.1.8.2 Fauna

Surveys were conducted at OU 5 to identify resident and migratory animals using the site during the spring and early summer, and to determine their distribution among the identified habitats. The surveys concentrated on small and selected medium-sized mammals (beaver [*Castor canadensis*], muskrat [*Ondatra zibethicus*], voles, and shrews), birds (especially waterfowl and shorebirds), and amphibians, because these animals range over a smaller area or nest in the vicinity and thus are at greater risk for exposure to any contaminants that may be present. Wood frogs (*Rana sylvatica*) may be among the more sensitive receptors because they lay their eggs in direct contact with potentially contaminated surface waters. Larger animals such as river otter (*Lutra canadensis*), red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), coyote (*Canis latrans*), bear (*Ursus americanus*), and moose (*Alces alces*) are wideranging and were not surveyed, although their presence was noted when they were observed.

Mammals

Surveys of mammals were completed by walking various habitat types and observing signs of presence, such as nests, dens, scat, and trails. More reclusive species (such as voles and shrews) were surveyed by trapping with live traps and snap traps. The traps were typically set as pairs, with one live trap and one snap trap at each location.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 2-6 provides a summary of the number of trap nights (nights on which traps were set for small mammals). The trapping was conducted in habitats near identified source areas or seeps as well as near the margins of wetlands located close to those areas. The habitats included steep, heavily wooded slopes (for example, those in Source ST37), moist and dry grassy areas, and mixed grass-shrub habitats. Small mammals that were captured were saved for possible examination and also for chemical analysis if appropriate.

Surveys of larger mammals (such as beavers and muskrats) were performed by direct observation and by observation of signs such as burrows, nests, scat, and trails. No trapping was involved.

Birds

Surveys of waterfowl and shorebirds observed at OU 5 were performed to determine which species or individuals feed or nest in ponds and wetlands on OU 5. Birds using ponds with visible surface sheens were observed more closely to detect whether oil could be seen on their plumages. Nest searches were conducted and the eggs in the nests were counted and recorded; hatching success was monitored, insofar as possible. Eggs were examined for evidence of petroleum products on the shell surface. Eggs that failed to hatch were collected and examined to determine if embryos were present and if there were gross abnormalities.

Surveys of birds other than waterfowl and shorebirds entailed walking through habitat types and recording sightings and calls for each species.

Amphibians

The presence of egg, tadpole, or adult wood frogs in ponds, waterways, and other suitable habitats of OU 5 was determined by visual observation and by dipnet.

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table	2-6

Trap Nights	69	69	77	73	288	74	76	32	32	214
Saap Traps Set	49	49	38	36	172	37	38	16	16	107
Live Traps Set	20	20	39	37	116	37	38	16	16	107
Trapping	23	23	24	25	Tetal	25	26	37	2	Total
			May					Ju		

Small-Mammal Trapping Summary

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

2-68

,

E

Í

Ú

2.1.9 Civil Surveying

Coordinates and elevations for monitoring wells, soil borings, piezometers, water supply wells, and stream gauges in or near the OU 5 study area were surveyed in October 1992. Horizontal and vertical control was established to third-order accuracy and was referenced to published control points for the 1983 North American Datum (NAD83) and the 1983 National Geodetic Vertical Datum. Elevations were determined for the following points:

- Monitoring wells—top of PVC casing (cap removed), top of steel casing (cap removed), and ground surface next to concrete pad;
- **Plezometers**—top of steel pipe (cap removed) and ground surface next to steel pipe;

(

- Water supply wells—top of flange (well BW-40) or top of seal (wells BW-50 and BW-52) and ground surface next to wells;
- Soil borings—ground surface next to backfilled boring; and
- Stream gages-top of steel rod supporting gaging instruments.

The coordinates and elevations were used to map sampling locations and provide common reference points for water-level measurements used to evaluate site hydrology. The surveying results are summarized in Appendix G.

2.1.9.1 Horizontal Control

Four permanent monuments having NAD83 values exist within the project area. These monuments, along with several others, are also a part of the "Elmendorf Grid" system. The Elmendorf Grid is an assumed coordinate system; its significance here is that most survey projects at Elmendorf AFB are related to it.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Table 2-7 below lists four monuments within the project limits that are common to both systems.

All computations and adjustments were performed using the Elmendorf Grid values. Each traverse was independently closed and adjusted using the compass rule. Previously adjusted values were held during subsequent adjustments.

When all traverses were adjusted, the inverse distances between monument TT AN 7 and the other three monuments having NAD83 values were compared. The results of this comparison are summarized in Table 2-8.

Monuments TT AN 7 and RY-6A were held because they offered the least scale factor for transforming the survey coordinate values to NAD83 values. The NAD83 values were substituted for the two desired monuments, and all surveyed coordinates were rotated and scaled accordingly.

2.1.9.2 Vertical Control

Vertical datum for the project was specified to be the 1983 National Geodetic Vertical Datum. The survey was initiated at U.S. Coastal and Geodetic Survey (USC&GS) bench mark E-74, which has a published elevation of 76.09 feet above mean sea level. USC&GS bench mark F-74 was also used.

It was found that this datum does not agree with the Elmendorf Grid, which is approximately 2.2 feet higher. To determine which datum other OU 5 project information was related to, AeroMap of Anchorage, Alaska, was contacted for information regarding the 1987 aerial mapping that was used to generate the Elmendorf AFB site maps used in this report. Vertical control for the Elmendorf AFB site maps was based on MOA bench marks

Elemender (APB OU 5 RJ/PS Report

Table 2	-7
---------	----

ξ

Ĩ

٩

Coordinates for Survey Monuments

Minned -	··· Courdinate	Elmandorf Grid (NRC)	NADIG Ging
ΤΤ 7	Northing	110,000.00	2,644,656.61
	Easting	110,000.00	1,673,691. 8 0
RY-6A	Northing	109,589.33	2,644,234.04
	Easting	105,835.94	1,669,528.78
G-3	Northing	110, 480.95	2,645,074.05
	Easting	112,918.63	1,676,608.68
04	Northing	110,913.17	2,645,586.11
	Easting	115,664.45	1,679,352.60

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

2-71

5

E

Ì

Comparison of Survey Results to Published Data

Topowne	Siarroy Inverse Distance	NADES Inverse Distance
TT AN 7 to RY-6A	4184.77	4184.42
TT AN 7 to G-3	2946.92	2946.59
TT AN 7 to O-4	5737.23	5736.60

Emender! APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

CB-1A, CB-1B, CB-2A, CB-2C, and CB-6A.[•] The datum for these bench marks is NGS 1972 adjusted (mean sea level = 0.00 foot). During the 1987 survey, the elevations for bench marks E-74 and F-74 were found to be 0.60 foot lower than the USC&GS published values. The 1987 survey value used by AeroMap for bench mark E-74 was 75.49 feet. Because the 75.49-foot bench mark elevation agrees with the control used for previous Elmendorf AFB mapping, the OU 5 surveyed elevations were referenced to this datum. ۲

۲

2.2 Laboratory Analyses

This section summarizes the laboratory analysis program for samples collected during the field investigation. The analytical program used both 48-hour turnaround time analyses at the CH2M HILL Corvallis, Oregon, CSL and standard turnaround time analyses at the CH2M HILL Redding, California, laboratory for EPA Level III analyses. Additional contract laboratories to support add-on work included Superior Analytical, ENSECO, and the CH2M HILL Milwaukee, Wisconsin, aquatic biology laboratory. Table 2-9 summarizes the number of samples and parameters analyzed by each laboratory. These totals do not include the quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) samples (trip blanks, field blanks, rinsate blanks, and field duplicates) collected during the sampling efforts.

2.3 Data Validation

Samples collected during the field investigation were analyzed according to EPA Level III, with documentation equivalent to Level IV. Level III and Level IV are defined as follows:

> • Level III—all analyses performed in an off-site analytical laboratory. Level III analyses may or may not use contract laboratory program (CLP) procedures, but do not usually utilize the validation or docu-

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

From a letter dated January 15, 1987, from Thomas A. Sturgis of Tryck, Nyman & Hayes to Steve St. Peter of Air Photo Tech, Inc.

		CIENC HILL Corveille			
					The second
Hologensted Velatile Organies	MPABO 10		10	5	
Dissid/NP-4 Range Hydrosachens	HPABOLS and		13	5	
BTEX, Garolino Rango Hydroxedrano	EPA8020/8015		13	5	
PCBs	EPASOOO		8		
Cyunida	RPA-CLP SOW		1		
Tetal Manks	EPA6010, 200, 7000 mr.		18		
Sourivolatilo Organico	EPAR270		13	5	
Suit					
Halogensed Voisille Organies	EPA3 010	78	9		27
Dissel/12-4 Range Hydrocuchons	EPAJ015 mpd	78	9		27
BTEX, Gastilas Range Hydrocedens	EPA8020/8015	79	9		27
Agricultural Analyses	ASA#9 12-3.4 & 31-3		10		
	ASTM D2216 & D421		27		
	EPA/CE18-3-155		27		
	USBR. 514.8.8		16		
	USBR. 514.8.15		27		
	USBR 514.8.2		27		
	USBR 514.8.3		27		
	USBR 514.8.5		27		
	127A5080		27		
Total Organio Carbon	EPA9060		32		
Totel Motels	6010, 200, 7000 mer.		38		
Semivalatile Organice	EPA8270		12		

Summary of Laboratory Analyses

Elmenderf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

2-74

۲

•

0

5

۲

ŀ

.

.

(Continued)

		CHINE MEL	CROMENTEL Realing		
Surface Water		.	3	Service and a second seco	Section Account of the second s
Malageanted Valatile Organics	EPA8 010		13	4	
Dissel/JP-4 Range Hydrosenbens	EPAB015 mod		S	3	
BTEX, Gasoline Range Rydrocasbone	EPA8020/8015		\$		
Total Motale	6010, 200, 7000 ser.		17		
Dissolved Motals	6010, 200, 7000 ser.		17		
Alkalinity	310.1		17		
Semivolatile Organics	EPA625M		13	3	
Hardases	50(314A		10		
	TPH-A			1	
Ground Water					
Halogensted Volatile Organice	EPA3 010		24		
Dissol/JP-4 Range Hydrocarbons	EPA3015 mod		36		
BTEX, Gesoline Range Hydrosachons	EPA8020/8015		37		
Total Motals	6010, 200, 7000 ser.		8		
Dissolved Metals	6010, 200, 7000 ser.		8		
Anions (80 ₄ , NO ₃ , CI)	300.0		2		
Alkalisity	310.1		4		
Somivolatile Organice	BPA625M		36		
Drinking Water Supply					
Halogensted Volatile Organice	EPA8 010		2		
Dised/JP-4 Range Rydecoasbons	EPAB015 mod		2		
Cations (Ca, Mg, Na, Na, K)	IEPA8020/8015		5		
Total Motals	6010, 200, 7000 mr.		1		

Elmenderf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(•

۲

1

1

(Continued)

Course 1		C		D undar
Anions (IO ₁₀ NO ₂₀ CI)	300.0		4	
Altalaty	310.1		4	
Semivolatile Organice	BPA625M		4	
Volatilo Cognaire	524		4	
Plant Tanne				
Muregen, Phospherus	AG EKT BULL 766		24	
Total Metals	6010, 200, 7090 sec.		24	

Einenderf APB OU 5 RI/PE Report

i,

mentation procedures required of CLP Level IV analysis. The laboratory may or may not be a CLP laboratory. ()

• Level IV—CLP routine analytical services (RAS). All analyses are performed in an off-site CLP analytical laboratory following CLP protocols. Level IV is characterized by rigorous QA/QC protocols and documentation.

Laboratory reports included:

- Sample results, with copies of raw data;
- QC test results, with copies of raw data (matrix spikes, blanks, and duplicates);
- Calibrations and tunes, with raw data;
- A narrative summarizing problems or unusual circumstances that may have been encountered during sample analysis;
- Chain-of-custody forms;
- Sample preparation logs; and
- Raw data for tentatively identified compounds (TICs).

All of the data packages submitted by the CSL and off-site laboratories were reviewed for adherence to QC limits defined in the *Management Plan Operable Unit 5 Quality Assurance Project Plan* (QAPP) (CH2M HILL, 1992d). An additional 10 to 20 percent of the data was validated using raw data according to functional guidelines for evaluating organics analysis and guidelines for evaluating inorganics analysis (EPA, 1988b, 1988c).

Data validation reports are presented in two technical memoranda in Appendix F, one for the CSL and one for other off-site laboratories.

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The data were evaluated according to applicable requirements for the following:

۲

- Holding times;
- Calibrations and times;
- Blank contamination;
- Surrogate spikes (organics only);
- Matrix spikes and blank spikes; and
- Duplicates.

Generally, the data met the quality assurance objectives described in the project QAPP; minor nonconformances are described in the technical memoranda in Appendix H. Data flags and their application to the data set are presented in Table 2-10.

In addition to the data review based on EPA guidelines, field duplicate results were summarized and evaluated. Of the 197 pairs of duplicate results, 5 pairs resulted in a greater relative percent difference (RPD) than the project goal of 100. A summary of field duplicate results is presented in Appendix H with data validation memoranda.

In evaluating the data, it was observed that several common laboratory contaminants were present in method blanks and associated samples for many of the analytical procedures. For metals and volatile organic analysis, laboratory contamination was observed in both blanks and samples for each data set. However, for semivolatile analysis (EPA Method 8270), several samples were reported to have low levels (1 to 2 μ g/kg) of common laboratory contaminants (phthalates and n-nitrosodiphenylamine) that were not reported in the method blank for the sample set. In these cases, it is believed that the low levels of phthalates and n-nitrosodiphenylamine are laboratory contaminants, and are not originating from samples collected at Elmendorf AFB.

Elemenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

0

۲

Data Validation Flags

Rearco	The	Description
Laboratory- assigned flag*	U	This flag is used with organic and inorganic results when an analyte was not detected above the method detection limit (MDL) or the contract- required detection limit (CRDL).
	B	This flag is used with organic results when an analyte is found in the associated method blank as well as in the sample, indicating possible laboratory contamination.
		This flag is also used with inorganic results when a reported analyte concentration is between the instrument detection limit (IDL) and the CRDL. This indicates that the analyte concentration may be estimated.
	1	This flag is used with organic analyses when the raw data indicate the presence of a compound below the stated MDL. This indicates that the analyte concentration may be estimated.
	E	This flag is used with gas chromatograph/mass spectromster (GC/MS) data only. It indicates that the concentration of the compound is above the linear calibration range of the instrument, which means the sample should be reanalyzed at an appropriate dilution. The results of the dilution are reported on a separate form and flagged with a "D" (see below) if the dilution brings the concentration within proper calibration.
	D	This flag is used with GC/MS data only; it identifies compounds that have been diluted to bring their concentration within the linear range of the instrument.
	С	This flag is used with organic analyses when results are confirmed by a second column.
	x	This flag is used exclusively by the Superior Analytical Laboratory with JP-4 results when the sample JP-4 chromstographic fingerprint pattern does not match standard JP-4 chromstographic fingerprint patterns.
	Y	This flag is used exclusively by the Superior Analytical Laboratory with JP-4 results and indicates that the JP-4 detection limit was raised due to an integration error.
	Z	This flag is used exclusively by the Superior Analytical Laboratory with dissel results and indicates that the dissel detection limit was raised due to an integration error.

Electronic AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6

(Continued)

Source	Mag	Description
Roviewer- assigned flag ^b	J	This flag is used with organic and inorganic results. It indicates that it is difficult to determine a direction of bias. This difficulty may occur when a duplicate RPD result is outside the acceptable range for precision or when holding time criteria have been exceeded.
	យ	This flag is used with organic and inorganic results when a compound analyzed for was not detected. It indicates that the sample quantitation limit is estimated. This may occur when a duplicate RPD result is outside the acceptable range for precision or when holding time criteria have been exceeded.
	NJ	This flag is used with organic results. It indicates that the presence of a tentatively identified compound is at an estimated concentration.
	K	This flag is used with organic and inorganic results when an analyte is present but the actual value is expected to be lower; the reported value may be biased high. This may occur when the matrix spike recovery is above QC acceptance limits.
	L	This flag is used with organic and inorganic results when an analyte is present, but the actual value is expected to be higher; the reported value may be biased low. This may occur when matrix spike recovery is below QC acceptance limits.
	UL	This flag is used with organic and inorganic results when analytes were not detected. It indicates that the sample quantitation limit may be biased low and the actual quantitation limit is expected to be higher. This may occur when matrix spike recovery is below QC acceptance limits.
	R	This flag is used with organic results only and indicates that the sample results are unusable (compounds may or may not be present). This may occur when surrogate spike recovery is below 10 percent.

* Flags that are assigned by the laboratory are descriptions about the concentration of the analyte and usually do not indicate a problem with the data.

^b Data that do not stelety most QC acceptance criteria were qualified by the reviewer with flags that are single- or double-letter abbreviations that provide descriptions or indicate a problem with the data. Control or acceptance limits are delineated in the appropriate method or the CLP Statement of Work. The assignment of validation qualifiers is discussed in the Data Review section (Appendix H).

Ilmenderf APB OU 5 21/PS Report

•

•

2.4 Data Management

A data management system was implemented to assist the flow of information by providing a means of tracking, cataloguing, organizing, and archiving information. This system includes:

- The database—data structures, hardware, and software for data handling; and
- Data management procedures—data tracking and preparation, data entry and verification, and data administration.

2.4.1 Database System

The Environmental Information Management (EIM) Branch of the Air Force Center for Environmental Excellence (AFCEE) maintains a database to store, analyze, and report information used for the Air Force Installation Restoration Program (IRP). The database is referred to as IRPIMS and is written in dBase[®], a commercially available management system.

CH2M HILL has developed an environmental database application using Paradox[®] software, which is similar in design to IRPIMS. To reduce data entry time and improve reporting capabilities, the Paradox[®] application was modified to provide data entry and reporting functions with IRPIMS database structures.

2.4.2 Data Management System

Approximately 50 percent of the data received from the laboratories was available in both electronic and hard-copy formats; the remainder of the data was available as hard copy only, which required manual entry of the data. To ensure consistency between data sets, internal database integrity, and a verified, usable data set, the following procedures

Basedorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report
were followed for all data entered either electronically or manually into the data management system.

Electronic Data Preparation

- Check for completeness; compare data received to analyses requested.
- Log in data disks.
- Verify that files received match transmittal paperwork.
- Copy and archive files for project files.

Electronic Data Entry

- Download data into temporary database files.
- Restructure temporary files to fit the data management system structures.
- Map fields of temporary files to appropriate fields of final database.

Electronic Data Verification

- Print data file output (checkprint).
- Compare number and identity of samples to hard-copy data.
- Compare 10 percent of values to original data sheets received from laboratory.
- Proceed with manual data verification procedures for 100 percent of values if discrepancies are noted.

Manual Data Preparation

- Check for completeness; compare data received to analyses requested.
- Copy and archive field and analytical data for project files.
- Amend hard copies to include pertinent information not printed on the forms.
- Clearly mark all sample preparation information to be entered in database.

Manual Data Entry

• Enter data into temporary database files that will be loaded into final files when verification is complete.

Manual Data Verification

- Print a checkprint of data.
- Compare each record to original coded sheets; highlight correct values; mark incorrect values with revisions in red.
- Sign and date the first page of each data listing.
- Correct the database.
- Print checkprint and compare corrected data to original coded sheets; repeat until all corrections are completed.
- Bind and file coded data sheets and checkprints.
- Convert temporary files to final files.

Final database files will be converted to comma-delimited ASCII format for submittal to the USAF in IRPIMS format.

Bissenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

2-83

•

•

•

TABLE OF CONTENTS

3.0	PHY	SICAL AND ECOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS
	3.1	Climate
		3.1.1 Precipitation
		3.1.2 Temperature
		3.1.3 Wind
	3.2	Geology and Soils
		3.2.1 Regional Physiographic and Geologic Setting
		3.2.2 Regional Surficial Deposits and Geomorphology
		3.2.3 Site Investigation Results
	3.3	Hydrology
		3.3.1 Hydrogeology
		3.3.2 Groundwater-Surface Water Interactions
		3.3.3 Streams
		3.3.4 Ponds
	3.4	Land Use
		3.4.1 Population
		3.4.2 Use and Access
	3.5	Water Use
		3.5.1 Upper Aquifer
		3.5.2 Lower Aquifer
		3.5.3 Surface Water
	3.6	Ecology
		3.6.1 Aquatic Communities
		3.6.2 Terrestrial Communities

5

3-i

D

D

Č

Ċ

Page

LIST OF FIGURES

ł

Ċ

	Page
3.1 a	Location of Soil Cross Sections
3.1b	Location of Soil Cross Sections
3.2	Cross Section A-A' Along Bluff Area
3.3	Cross Section B-B' Across Bluff Area 3-13
3.4	Cross Section C-C' Across Bluff Area 3-14
3.5	Cross Section D-D' Across Bluff Area 3-15
3.6	Cross Section E-E' Across Bluff Area 3-16
3.7	Cross Section F-F' Along Bluff Area
3.8	Plan View of SP1-02 Bluff Area and Test Hole Locations
3.9	Cross Section G-G' Across Bluff Area 3-20
3.10	Hydrogeologic Cross Section of OU 5, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
3.11	Water Level Contour Map with Flow Lines
3.12a	General Land Use Map
3.1 2b	General Land Use Map
3.13	Water Supply Well Locations
3.14a	General Habitat Features
3.14h	General Habitat Features 3-72

Eimendorf APB OU 5 RJ/PS Report

3-ii

LIST OF TABLES

E

Į

Ć

3-1	Climatic Data for Elmendorf AFB	2
3-2	Wind Direction by Percent for Elmendorf AFB	5
3-3	Expanded Legend for Geologic Cross Sections	9
3-4	Results of Water Use Survey	4
3-5	Data on Water Supply Wells in Vicinity of OU 5	0
3-6	Results of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Collection and Analysis from Ship Creek	5
3-7	Results of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Collection and Analysis from the Golf Course Beaver Pond and Wetland Pond (5M106) - Spring and Fall 1992	1
3-8	Results of Small-Mammal Trapping Survey	7
3- 9	Bird List for Elmendorf Air Force Base	9

3.0

PHYSICAL AND ECOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS

(4

۲

3.1 Climate

The principal factors affecting the climate of Elmendorf AFB include terrain, latitude, and geographic position relative to large land masses and oceans. Elmendorf AFB is situated in a transitional climatic zone between the maritime climate effects to the south and the interior, or continental, climate zone to the north (Selkregg et al, 1972). The St. Elias and Chugach mountains to the south and east act as a barrier to the maritime influences of the northern Pacific Ocean, while the Alaska Range to the north protects the area from the extreme cold air masses of the state's interior region. The proximity of the base to Cook Inlet provides additional temperate effects on the climate.

This transitional zone experiences a reasonably moderate climate, generally lacking extremes in precipitation and temperature. However, because of the northern latitudinal location of the base, reduction of annual input of solar radiation results in low mean annual temperatures.

3.1.1 Precipitation

Table 3-1 presents monthly precipitation data for Elmendorf AFB collected from 1941 to 1987.

Average annual precipitation for the Elmendorf AFB area is 15.91 inches. Most of this precipitation (9.63 inches, or 61% of the annual precipitation) falls from June through October (Leslie, 1989). The 2-year, 24-hour rainfall, a measure of rainfall intensity, is 1.5 inches in the Anchorage Bowl (Miller, 1963).

Annual net precipitation is the mean annual precipitation minus the mean annual lake evaporation. No value for mean annual lake evaporation was available from

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 3-1

Climatic Data for Elmendorf AFB

Mate Rate is a construction Mate is construction Mat						Į	Ĺ	(ingree	5								Z	ł	J	-			
Mith Mith <th< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>Į</th><th></th><th></th><th>Ratre</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>NM</th><th>e. Deys</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>]</th><th></th><th></th></th<>			Į			Ratre				NM	e. Deys]		
Mith Mits Mits <th< th=""><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>Rec</th><th>Ţ</th><th>Rec</th><th>Ţ</th><th>M</th><th>× 2</th><th>M B</th><th>. 1</th><th></th><th>2</th><th></th><th></th><th>ĮŽ4</th><th></th><th>5</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>a N</th></th<>					Rec	Ţ	Rec	Ţ	M	× 2	M B	. 1		2			ĮŽ4		5				a N
Jan 19.3 5.1 12.3 49.0 1945 -0.0 1545.4 0.94 1.15 195 0.3 1.3 2.9 10.3 2.9 1955 2.3 10.3 2.9 1955 2.3 11.0 31.0 132.3 33.0 11.3 34.0 11.0 31.0 132.3 0.91 1.70 1975 2.0 11.0 31.0 139.6 2.3 132.3 0.31 1.10 137.3 2.9 11.0 31.0 1975 23.7 132.7 132.7 0.31 1.70 1975 0.3 1.1.0 1975 0.3 11.0 31.0 1975 11.0 1975 23.7 11.0 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 1975 23.1 137.1 1371 1311 133.1 23.1 23.1 13	Mah	Max	M	1	Ħ	۲۲	2	¥.	New Y	1	1.	Below 33	¥ Į	ĮĮž	New York	۲	3	2	125	22 4 1			153
Feb 23.0 9.5 17.3 58.0 1943 -43.0 1941 0.0 20.4 7.6 27.9 1320.8 0.31 11.0 31.0 1956 23 23.1 15.9 24.0 11.0 31.0 1956 27.0 1956 27.0 1956 27.0 1956 27.0 1957 13.2 1979 0.2 0.6 23.1 1956 24.0 1956 27.0	Jan	19.3	5.1	12.3	49.0	1945	0.66-	1975	0.0	26.2	12.0	30.7	1588.4	0.94	1.15	1965	0.3	E. 1	2.9	0.5	1 0.6	38	31.0
Mar 32.1 15.9 24.0 1946 0.0 14.1 4.0 29.5 1247 0.75 1.32 1979 0.2 0.6 2.5 8.7 27.0 1975 13 Apr 43.0 27.9 35.5 65.0 1976 -20.0 1944 0.0 2.0 1 2.7 88.3 0.62 0.83 196.3 0.1 0.6 2.3 5.3 2.1.0 1975 13 May 54.3 38.6 46.5 80.0 1947 -1.0 1943 2.9 0.0 0.1 2.3 591.4 0.55 0.57 144 2.0 1945 2.0 1955 2.10 1975 127 137 136 144 2.0 105 2.10 1975 127 127 129 120 120 120 127 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121 121	19 19	23.0	9.5	17.3	58.0	1943	0.64	1947	0.0	20.4	7.6	27.9	1320.8	16.0	2.	1975	0.2	0.9	<u>.</u>	<u>.</u>	51 O'11	8	28.0
$ \begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	Mar	32.1	15.9	24.0	51.0	1965	-24.0	1946	0.0	14.1	4.0	29.5	1247.9	0.75	1.32	6261	0.2	0.6	2.5	5	1.0 11	2	29.0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Apr	43.0	27.9	35.5	65.0	1976	-20.0	12	0.0	2.0	0.1	22.7	8.538	0.62	0.83	1963	0.1	0.6	2.3	5.3	11.0 11	3	12.4
	May	54.3	38.6	\$6.5	0.08	1947	-1.0	1945	0.6	0.1	0.0	3.2	591.4	0.59	0.57	0061	0.1	0.3	2.1	4.0	2.0	ŝ	0.1
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Jun	61.5	47.1	54.4	86.0	1969	33.0	1943	2.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	351.7	1.12	1.31	1962	4.0	4.	3.3	0.0	0.0		0.0
Aug 63.1 49.1 56.1 82.0 1948 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 306.6 2.33 1.56 1960 0.9 3.6 6.4 0.0 0.0 5 Sep 54.8 41.4 48.1 74.0 1957 20.0 1946 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.6 527.0 2.43 1.67 1951 1.3 2.8 6.4 0.0 0.0 100 2.6 527.0 2.43 1.67 1951 1.0 1961 0.2 1.0 1961 0.2 1.0 1961 100 0.2 1.0 1961 1961 1961 100 100 2.0 2.0 2.33 1.277.1 1.17 1952 0.2 1.0 1961 1961 1961 1962 21 Nov 27.4 15.0 1364 0.4 2.3 12.77 1951 0.4 1.2 3.7 11.3 100 103 103 103 103 </td <td>Jul</td> <td>64.6</td> <td>51.4</td> <td>58.0</td> <td>83.0</td> <td>1952</td> <td>34.0</td> <td>1</td> <td>5.8</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>252.8</td> <td>2.11</td> <td>1.61</td> <td>58</td> <td>0.1</td> <td>2.6</td> <td>5.5</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>-</td> <td>0.0</td>	Jul	64.6	51.4	58.0	83.0	1952	34.0	1	5.8	0.0	0.0	0.0	252.8	2.11	1.61	58	0.1	2.6	5.5	0.0	0.0	-	0.0
Sep 54.8 41.4 48.1 74.0 1957 20.0 1946 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.6 527.0 2.43 1.67 1951 1.3 2.8 6.6 0.2 1.0 1941 0 Oct 40.0 28.2 34.1 63.0 1946 0.1 0.0 5.4 0.3 20.6 963.8 1.64 1.17 1952 0.6 2.1 5.2 7.4 13.0 1940 0 1941 0 1951 1911 1911 1952 0.6 21 5.2 7.4 13.0 1941 0 1956 21 0.5 20.1 1.17 1952 0.6 2.1 2.7 1912 1912 1912 1956 210 1956 210 1955 20.0 1956 20.0 1956 20.0 1956 20.0 1956 20.0 1956 20.0 1956 20.0 1956 20.0 1577.1 1.16 1.27 <t< td=""><td>Aug</td><td>63.1</td><td>49.1</td><td>56.1</td><td>\$2.0</td><td>1968</td><td>29.0</td><td>1948</td><td>3.6</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.1</td><td>308.6</td><td>2.33</td><td>35.1</td><td>200</td><td>0.9</td><td>3.6</td><td>..</td><td>0.0</td><td>0.0</td><td></td><td>00</td></t<>	Aug	63.1	49.1	56.1	\$2.0	1968	29.0	1948	3.6	0.0	0.0	0.1	308.6	2.33	35.1	200	0.9	3.6	. .	0.0	0.0		00
Oct 40.0 28.2 34.1 63.0 1966 -10.0 1969 0.0 5.4 0.3 20.6 963.8 1.64 1.17 1952 0.6 2.1 5.2 7.4 13.0 1980 6 Nov 27.4 15.0 21.2 57.0 1947 -20.0 1948 0.0 20.7 4.4 28.3 1277.1 1.16 1.31 1981 0.4 11.3 19.0 1956 21 Dec 20.1 7.0 13.4 0.0 26.2 10.1 30.2 1559.0 1.31 1981 0.4 1.2 3.7 11.3 19.0 1956 21 Dec 20.1 7.0 13.6 76.2 10.1 30.2 1559.0 1.31 1951 0.4 12.7 19.0 1955 20 Dec 20.1 7.0 1961 0.0 26.2 10.1 30.2 1559.0 1.31 1951 0.6 2.1 4.4 15.6 30.0 1955 21 New Ave. Ave. Ave. Rec. Tot. To	ŝ	54.8	41.4	1 .1	74.0	1957	20.0	1980	0.1	0.0	0.0	2.6	527.0	2.43	1.67	1951	5 1	2.8	6.6	0.2	1.0 1	ž	0.0
Nov 27.4 15.0 21.2 57.0 1947 -20.0 1948 0.0 20.7 4.4 28.3 1277.1 1.16 1.31 1981 0.4 1.2 3.7 11.3 19.0 1956 21 Dec 20.1 7.0 13.6 53.0 1941 -34.0 1961 0.0 26.2 10.1 30.2 1559.0 1.31 127 1955 0.3 1.7 4.4 15.6 30.0 1955 21 Dec 20.1 7.0 13.6 57.0 1961 0.3 1.7 4.5 15.6 30.0 1955 21 Ave. Ave. Ave. Ave. Ave. Rec. Tot.	ö	0.0	28.2	34.1	63.0	1966	-10.0	6961	0.0	5.4	0.3	20.6	963.8	1.1	1.17	1952	0.6	2.1	52	7.4	3.0	2	6.9
Dec 20.1 7.0 13.6 53.0 1941 -34.0 1961 0.0 26.2 10.1 30.2 1559.0 1.31 1.27 1955 0.3 1.7 4.4 15.6 30.0 1955 21 Year Ave. Ave. Ave. Ave. Ave. Ave. Ave. Tot. Tot	Nov	27.4	15.0	21.2	57.0	1947	-20.0	1 5	0.0	20.7	4.4	28.3	1277.1	1.16	1.31	1961	4.0	1.2	3.7	<u>.</u>	<u>0.0</u>	2	21.1
Ave. Ave. Ave. Rec. Tot. Tot. <th< td=""><td>Dec</td><td>20.1</td><td>7.0</td><td>13.6</td><td>53.0</td><td>1941</td><td>-34.0</td><td>1961</td><td>0.0</td><td>26.2</td><td>10.1</td><td>30.2</td><td>1559.0</td><td>16.1</td><td>1.27</td><td>1955</td><td>0.3</td><td>1.7</td><td>4.4</td><td>5.6</td><td>0.0</td><td>SS</td><td>28.9</td></th<>	Dec	20.1	7.0	13.6	53.0	1941	-34.0	1961	0.0	26.2	10.1	30.2	1559.0	16.1	1.27	1955	0.3	1.7	4.4	5.6	0.0	S S	28.9
Year 42.1 28.0 35.1 86.0 43.0 13.0 115.2 38.5 195.8 10872.3 15.92 1.70 6.0 19.1 47.8 70.4 31.0 15		Ave.	Ave.	Ave.	Rec.		Rec.		Tot.	Tot.	Tot.	Tot.	Tot.	Tot.	Rec.		Tat.	Tœ	۲ ع	J.	, i		Tot.
	Year	42.1	28.0	35.1	86.0		-43.0		13.0	115.2	38.5	195.8	10872.3	15.92	2.1		6.0	1.61	1.8		0.1	_	57.5

Heating degree days are compiled from a base temperature of 65°F.
 Snow: Mean Mth Tot = mean monthly total anowfall

Max Mith = maximum snow depth on the ground

Mean Days 1.0=mean number of days with 1.0 inch of anow on the ground Annual temperature means are an average of the monthly means with no weighting factor for the variability in the number of days per month.

Record of data from 1941 to 1987.

Coordinates of station: Latitude 61°15'N, Longitude 149°48'W, Elevation 192 feet above mean sea level Source: Lealie, L. D. February 1989. "A Compilation of Long-Term Means and Extremes at 478 Alastan Stations." Alasta Climate Summaries. Alasta Technical Note No. 5, 2ad ed., Arctic Environmental Information and Data Center, University of Alasta.

1

۲

۲

٢

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

literature sources or local meteorological stations. Using a mean annual temperature of 35.3°F and a mean annual precipitation of 14.27 inches, the potential and actual evapotranspiration rates for the Anchorage area are estimated to be 19.25 inches and 15.20 inches, respectively (Thornwaite, 1968). With evapotranspiration rates greater than the average annual precipitation, the net precipitation would be negative.

(**4**7)

۲

Snow with minor amounts of rain is prevalent October through April. Average snowfall during this period is 69.8 inches (5.8 inches of precipitation), which comprises 36% of the annual precipitation. Rainfall averages 1.49 inches during this same period. Snow usually covers the ground from mid-October through mid-April in most areas of the Anchorage Bowl. During periods of snow cover, the surface soil temperatures would be expected to be near or below freezing. The treeless south-facing bluffs of OU 5 often become free of snow by late March. Adjacent areas that are shaded by trees are not free of snow until late April. The snow dump area south of Sources ST38/SS42 feeds the adjacent ponds with melt water until mid-summer.

3.1.2 Temperature

 Table 3-1 presents temperature data for the Elmendorf AFB area from 1941 to

 1987.

Seasonal variations in temperature at Elmendorf AFB are exaggerated because of the reduced number of daylight hours during the winter. However, daily fluctuations in temperature are relatively slight. January exhibits the lowest monthly mean temperature at 12°F. The highest monthly mean temperature, 58°F, is in July. Daily temperature fluctuations are on the order of 15°F. The monthly mean temperature is below freezing for 5 months of the year and below 40°F for 7 months of the year. Therefore, the ponds and other stagnant areas of surface water in OU 5 can be expected to be frozen at least 5 months of the year.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

3.1.3 Wind

Table 3-2 shows the wind direction by percent for Elmendorf AFB⁴.

Above-surface air flow in the Elmendorf AFB area is generally toward the northeast and northwest. Surface flow, however, is more variable. During summer, surface winds blow from the west and northwest onto the base from Cook Inlet. In winter, these winds are more likely to blow south along Knik Arm. Surface wind velocities average 5.8 knots (6.7 miles per hour [mph]), although channeling of the winds near Ship Creek is common, with velocities reaching 53 knots (60 mph) (Rothe et al, 1983).

3.2 Geology and Solls

Since 1950, three USGS teams have mapped the region that encompasses Elmendorf AFB. They were R. D. Miller and Ernest Dobrovolny between 1950 and 1959; Henry Schmoll, Ernest Dobrovolny, and Clyde Wahrhaftig between 1965 and 1972; and Lynn Yehle, Henry Schmoll, and Ernest Dobrovolny between 1987 and 1991. All maps were scaled at 1:24,000 (1 inch=2000 feet). The discussion in this subsection is based on these USGS reports, as well as onsite investigations by CH2M HILL, Black & Veatch, Harding Lawson Associates, and James Montgomery Consulting Engineers.

3.2.1 Regional Physiographic and Geologic Setting

Elmendorf AFB lies in the Cook Inlet-Susitna Lowland physiographic province, within an informal subdivision termed the Anchorage Lowland. The highest point in the Anchorage Lowland is about 380 feet in altitude, east of the Knik Arm along the Elmendorf Moraine. About 9 miles east of Elmendorf AFB is a boundary between the Cook Inlet-Susitna Lowland and the Kenai-Chugach Mountains physiographic provinces; here the

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

[&]quot;Original source (Selkregg et al, 1972) does not list dates for the data in Table 3-2. James L. Wiss, retired Alaska state climatologist, estimated that the data were summarized for the period from the mid-1950s to the early 1970s. Phone conversation on Jamuary 14, 1993.

Table 3-2

1

Wind Direction by Percent for Elmendorf AFB

Direction Jan. Feb. Mar. Apr. May Jun. Jul. Jul. Aug. Sep. Oct. North North 44.4 47.7 49.8 40.7 29.2 21.8 23.6 29.8 38.1 45.7 46. North 44.4 47.7 49.8 40.7 29.2 21.8 23.6 29.8 38.1 45.7 46. East 20.3 14.9 9.8 6.9 6.7 5.9 5.7 7.6 9.2 13.5 17.1 South 7.5 11.6 11.7 15.1 21.6 25.7 22.6 18.9 15.0 12.7 9. West 2.3 30.3 27.6 18.9 15.0 12.7 9. Vest 2.5 20.8 16.0 16.3 20.5 29.1 24.6 23. 23.6 24.6 23. 23.1 24.6 23. 23.1 23.5 23.1 24.6 </th <th></th>														
North 44.4 47.7 49.8 40.7 29.2 21.8 23.6 29.8 38.1 45.7 46.1 East 20.3 14.9 9.8 6.9 6.7 5.9 5.7 7.6 9.2 13.5 17.1 East 20.3 14.9 9.8 6.9 6.7 5.9 5.7 7.6 9.2 13.5 17.1 South 7.5 11.6 11.7 15.1 21.6 25.7 22.6 18.9 15.0 12.7 9.1 West 2.3 3.0 6.3 16.5 26.5 30.3 27.6 17.8 8.6 3.5 2.1 West 25.5 22.8 22.4 20.8 16.0 16.3 20.5 25.9 29.1 24.6 23.	Direction	ä	Reb.	Mar.	Apr.	May	Jun.	jet.	Awg.	Sep.	Oet	Ner.	Dec	1
East 20.3 14.9 9.8 6.9 6.7 5.9 5.7 7.6 9.2 13.5 17.1 South 7.5 11.6 11.7 15.1 21.6 25.7 22.6 18.9 15.0 12.7 9.2 West 2.3 3.0 6.3 16.5 26.5 30.3 27.6 18.9 15.0 12.7 9.2 West 2.3 3.0 6.3 16.5 26.5 30.3 27.6 17.8 8.6 3.5 2.1 Calm 25.5 22.8 22.4 20.8 16.0 16.3 20.5 29.1 24.6 23.	North	44.4	47.7	49.8	40.7	29.2	21.8	23.6	29.8	38.1	45.7	46.9	43.8	38.5
South 7.5 11.6 11.7 15.1 21.6 25.7 22.6 18.9 15.0 12.7 9. West 2.3 3.0 6.3 16.5 26.5 30.3 27.6 17.8 8.6 3.5 2.3 Calm 25.5 22.8 22.4 20.8 16.0 16.3 20.5 29.1 24.6 23.	East	20.3	14.9	9.8	6.9	6.7	5.9	5.7	7.6	9.2	13.5	17.0	20.7	11.5
West 2.3 3.0 6.3 16.5 26.5 30.3 27.6 17.8 8.6 3.5 2.1 Calm 25.5 22.8 22.4 20.8 16.0 16.3 20.5 25.9 29.1 24.6 23.	South	7.5	11.6	11.7	15.1	21.6	25.7	22.6	18.9	15.0	12.7	9.9	\$.2	15.0
Calm 25.5 22.8 22.4 20.8 16.0 16.3 20.5 25.9 29.1 24.6 23.	West	2.3	3.0	6.3	16.5	26.5	30.3	27.6	17.8	8.6	3.5	2.5	2.2	12.3
	Calm	25.5	22.8	22.4	20.8	16.0	16.3	20.5	25.9	29.1	24.6	23.7	25.1	22.7

North = morthwest, morth-morthwest, morth, morth-mortheast, south = southeast, south-southeast, south-southwest, southwest East = east-mortheast, east, east-southeast West = west-morthwest, west, west-morthwest

3-5

Source: Selkregg et al. 1972. Data from the mid-1950s to the early 1970s.

٢

rugged Chugach Mountains rise abruptly above the Anchorage Lowland along the Chugach Mountain front.

(م)

.

Bedrock in the Anchorage area consists of consolidated and partly consolidated deposits. The oldest rocks in the Elmendorf AFB are consolidated rocks that form the Chugach Mountains. These rocks are a complex mixture of deformed and metamorphosed sedimentary and igneous rocks deposited during the Paleozoic and Mesozoic eras, about 65 to 650 million years ago. During the Tertiary Period (2 million to 65 million years ago), as much as 20,000 feet of gravel, sand, and organic material—present-day conglomerate, sandstone, mudstone, and coal—filled a gradually sinking trough in the Cook Inlet-Susitna Lowland. These moderately consolidated rocks occur extensively throughout the lowland; they are covered by about 1000 feet of unconsolidated, surficial material deposited during the Quaternary Period in the last 2 million years.

3.2.2 Regional Surficial Deposits and Geomorphology

The entire regional land area is covered by surficial deposits of Quaternary age; these deposits are mapped and divided mainly on the basis of landform boundaries. Surficial deposits within the region consist mainly of Pleistocene-age glacial drift that includes extensive areas of moraine deposits, as well as related glacioalluvial and glacioestuarine deposits. Although covering less area than other deposits, nonglacial deposits are widely distributed. They include intertidal, colluvial, alluvial, bog, and anthropogenic (man-made fill) deposits.

3.2.2.1 Glacial Deposits

Most geologic landforms and surficial deposits in the region consist of products of several glacial advances and retreats, most notably the Wisconsin Epoch glaciation. During this epoch, the Matanuska-Knik lobe of the Naptowne Glacier advanced out of the northeast toward the southwest to approximately the position marked by the Elmendorf

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Moraine. The retreat of this glacier resulted in three topographic subdivisions: ground moraines and a terminal moraine that comprise the Elmendorf Moraine, and an outwash plain extending beyond the Elmendorf Moraine toward the south and west. ۲

4)

The ground moraines slope gently upward toward the west, ending at the terminal, or end, moraine. Features found within the ground moraine include drumlins, eskers, kames, kame terraces, and lakes.

The end moraine and southern boundary of the Elmendorf Moraine is visible as a rising bluff line on the north side of the east-west Elmendorf AFB runway. The topography of this end moraine is rough and hilly, with elevations ranging from 200 feet in altitude at the bluff edge of Knik Arm to about 380 feet at the eastern boundary. Relief is not uniform; it reflects the hilly nature typical of a terminal moraine.

The relatively smooth outwash plain extends south of the moraine, encompassing the region south and west of Knik Arm, as well as a sizable portion of the Kenai Peninsula. Relief is generally flat, with elevations ranging from 25 feet along Knik Arm bluffs to 225 feet at the flank of the Elmendorf Moraine. The outwash plain also has been incised by stream channels, displaying the braided and meandering nature of fast-flowing streams in glacial material. Ship Creek, which parallels the Elmendorf Moraine, is an example of an incised, glacial-fed stream.

The main deposit types found in these landforms include the following:

- Morainal;
- Glacioalluvial; and
- Glacioestuarine.

Morainal deposits consist of material deposited directly by glacier ice that occurs in end and ground moraines. Morainal deposits consist of till that is composed

3-7

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

mainly of diamicton-a poorly sorted mixture of clay, silt, sand, and gravel with poorly sorted silty and sandy gravel.

Glacioalluvial deposits are composed of material deposited by running water within, around, and draining away from the glacial ice. These deposits generally consist of gravel and sand, although some diamicton and finer-grained material is commonly present in kames.

Glacioestuarine deposits are composed of material deposited in estuaries, partly by glacier ics. These deposits, principally the Bootlegger Cove Formation, typically consist of clays and silts, with some interbedded and scattered coarser material, including medium to coarse sand and gravel.

3.2.2.2 Nonglacial Deposits

Most nonglacial deposits are recent, having been deposited within the last 10,000 years. These deposits included the following:

- Intertidal;
- Colluvial;
- Alluvial;
- Bog; and
- Anthropogenic.

Modern intertidal deposits in the region are limited to those on the modern beach bordering the sea bluffs along Knik Arm, as well as a small area of tidal-flat deposits within Goose Bay. The beach deposits consist of mostly sand and gravel overlying boulders and cobbles.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Colluvial deposits, or colluvium, are deposits that have accumulated on or at the base of slopes with the aid of gravity and running water. Examples are found in the bluffs that border Knik Arm and locally on the walls of a few channels within glacial deposits, especially along the outwash plain. Colluvium occurs as a downslope-thickening wedge of silt, sand, and gravel that has been cut or eroded by streams or waves.

Other surficial deposits include alluvial deposits, or alluvium, as well as bog and fill. Alluvium that is not directly related to glacial activity is restricted to stream alluvium found in active creek beds and fan alluvium found in a few gullies on slopes of the Elmendorf Moraine. Alluvial deposits typically consist mostly of fine sand and silt, but sand and gravel are dominant in some of the region's alluvium. Bog deposits are scattered throughout the irregular terrain of the Elmendorf Moraine and consist mostly of peat, with varying amounts of silt and sand, as well as local lenses of tephra. Anthropogenic, or manmade, deposits include areas that have been emplaced or reworked. Fill deposits are found throughout the Anchorage Bowl, and for the most part, south of the Elmendorf AFB runways. The fill typically consists of silty or sandy gravel and sand; in one case, it also contains fly ash material, a possible byproduct of the Elmendorf AFB power plants.

3.2.3 Site Investigation Results

Information on soil was obtained primarily by field observations during drilling, and also from physical laboratory test results of select soil samples collected during drilling. Soil boring logs are provided in Appendixes B and C. Results of laboratory tests of physical properties are discussed below.

The soil profile of OU 5 is shown in several figures that depict the area in cross sections. Figures 3-1 and 3-8 show the locations of the soil cross sections; Table 3-3 is an expanded legend for the cross sections presented on Figures 3-2 through 3-7 and 3-9.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report



.





3-12

•



i e _

Ć



.

· here all its

Έ

Ċ



•





٢

۲

۲

3-17

.



3-18

• •

. . . .



٢

۲

۲

۲

Expanded Legend for Geologic Cross Sections

	Grany Name	Group Symbol	Group Manas
FA	FLYASH (FILL)	SPandGP	INTERBEDDED SAND AND GRAVEL
OL	ORGANIC SILT	GM	POORLY GRADED SILTY GRAVEL
ML	SILT	GM-GP	POORLY GRADED SILT WITH GRAVEL
	SILT WITH SAND SILT WITH SAND AND GRAVEL SILT WITH GRAVEL	GP-GM	POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SILT
	SANDY SILT WITH GRAVEL	GC	GRAVEL, VERY CLAYEY
CL	CLAY SILTY CLAY SILTY LEAN CLAY	GP	POORLY GRADED GRAVEL WITH SAND GRAVEL WITH SAND SANDY GRAVEL GRAVEL
SM	SANDY SILT		GRAVEL WITH SAND AND COBBLES
SP	POORLY GRADED SAND WITH SILT POORLY GRADED SAND	GW	WELL GRADED GRAVEL WITH SAND WELL GRADED GRAVEL
	GRAVEL GRAVELSAND	GW-GM	WELL GRADED GRAVEL WITH SILT
SW	WELL SORTED SAND	CL?	CLAY (SUSPECT DESCRIPTION)
		GC7	CLAYEY GRAVEL, (SUSPECT DESCRIPTION)
	GRADATIONAL CONTACT; BASED ON M	, AND NATT	ve soil Ype or depositional type
ţ	SAMPLE INTERVAL		
<u>-</u>	WATER LEVEL MEASURED IN BOREHOU	LE DURING	OR IMMEDIATELY AFTER DRILLING
SOIL BO	RING LOGS ARE IN APPENDICES B AND C	•	
\downarrow	CROSS SECTIONAL CHANGE IN DIRECT	ION	

3-19

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



•

3.2.3.1 Soil Profile

Soil found in the bluff running along the POL pipeline differed distinctly from soil found at the base of the bluff in the Ship Creek floodplain. The soil running through and along the top of the bluff following the POL pipeline corridor generally consisted of three layers: a thin veneer of loess, glacioalluvial deposits, and the glacioestuarine deposits that comprise the Bootlegger Cove Formation.

The loess, a ubiquitous windblown silt, ranged from less than 1 foot to 8.5 feet in thickness, and was found in all borings, except SB26 and SB27. The windblown silt was medium to very stiff and contained fine sand seams. Underneath the loess was a gradational layer of granular material. This gradational layer ranged from 2 to 6 feet in thickness and consisted of loose- to medium-dense, poorly sorted, interbedded layers of silty sands, sands, and exavels. The underlying glacioalluvial deposits generally contained interbedded layers of sands and gravels, along with an occasional coal lens as thick as 2 inches and coal fragments. This granular material was loose to dense and ranged from about 60 to 90 feet in thickness. Interbedded layers of stiff clay and silts characteristic of the Bootlegger Cove Formation were found 53.5, 47, 58, and 75.5 feet below the surface in borings SB19, SB21, SB23, and SB28, respectively.

Fly ash appears to have been used as fill along the shoulder of the bluff in a 500-foot-long area surrounding Monitoring Well SP1-02, and at least a 1,000-foot-long area surrounding Monitoring Wells SP2/6-03, SP2/6-04, GW-6A, and SP2/6-05. The extent of fly ash surrounding SP1-02 is described in more detail in Section 3.2.3.3.

The soil along the bottom of the bluff generally contained recent alluvial deposits and, to a lesser degree, fill and colluvial deposits lying on beds of silt and clay from the Bootlegger Cove Formation.

Basedorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Alluvial deposits were found in all borings along Cross Section 3-8 and ranged in thickness from 7 to 30 feet. These deposits are associated with the Ship Creek floodplain and alluvial fans; they generally consisted of interbedded layers of well-graded, loose- to medium-dense silty clay, silty sands, sands, and gravels.

Borings MW13, MW14, MW15, and MW16 also contained soil that can be characterized as colluvial or alluvial fan deposits. These deposits ranged from about 10 to 12 feet in thickness, and included interbedded layers of peat (in MW16), silty clay, clays, silts, sands, and gravels. The fine material was medium stiff to hard; the granular material was loose to medium dense. Silt and clay beds from the Bootlegger Cove Formation were found at depths of 14, 7.5, and 15 feet in borings MW13, MW16, and MW17, respectively.

Boring MW08 also contained well-graded gravel with sand and silt, which had been used as subgrade road fill. This material was very dense and also contained cobbles as large as 8 inches in diameter.

3.2.3.2 Soil Physical Analyses

Five soil samples were reexamined in the CH2M HILL Redding Laboratory to either verify their field classifications or evaluate their fine material fractions. Soil samples were collected from borings SB01, SB19, SB21, and SB28, and were tested to measure liquid and plastic limits (or lack of), plasticity index, and, in the case of SB28, particle size distribution. With the exception of a silty clay sample collected from an interval of 76 to 78 feet, the fine fraction was so limited that liquid and plastic limits and plastic index could not be measured. Boring sample 5SB28-76 had a liquid limit of 19.5 and a plastic limit of 14.4 along with a moisture content of 13.2 percent. Based on the USCS, this sample of the Bootlegger Cove Formation is classified as silty clay.

3.2.3.3 Fly Ash Observations Near Well SP1-02

As mentioned above, soil samples and cuttings from the boring for Monitoring Well SP1-02 contained fly ash. Fly ash was a by-product of coal used by Elmendorf AFB power plants until the late 1960s when the plants were converted to natural gas. A power plant is about 1000 feet north and east of SP1-02, across Bluff Road.

Well SP1-02 is 8 feet in from the shoulder of the bluff and was drilled to 52 feet. According to the boring log, fly ash was found from depths of 0.5 to 22.5 feet below the surface, and soil with interbedded fly ash was found up to 46 feet below ground surface. Groundwater in SP1-02 was measured at depths ranging from 31.5 to 32.6 feet in the summer and fall of 1992.

The bluff in this area had a relief of about 30 feet with a 2:1 slope facing south. About 30 to 40 feet on the north side of SP1-02, a linear depression ran parallel to and following Bluff Road (Figure 3-8). Vegetation on the bluff consisted of grass; vegetation on the slope consisted of brush with willow and alder trees. The diameter of the tree trunks ranged from less than about 8 inches in the immediate slope area around SP1-02, to greater than 12 inches in the areas 300 feet north and 300 feet south on the sideslope.

To further define the areal and vertical extent of fly ash in the vicinity of SP1-02, 10 test holes were dug to 4 feet and grab samples were obtained for visual identification from the bluff shoulder and sideslope (Figures 3-8 and 3-9). Collecting grab samples at the shoulder and on the bluff sideslope allowed confirmation of the boring log description for fly ash in SP1-02.

Grab samples were collected from test hole TH-7 at the top of the bluff. Fly ash was found from 0.5 feet to the bottom of the test hole at 4 feet. Samples were collected along the slope about 8 feet from the shoulder on a sideslope surface to a depth of 4 feet. Fly ash was found from surface to a depth of 4 feet in test holes TH-1, TH-2, TH-3, TH-4,

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

and TH-5. Test holes TH-6 (170 feet west of SP1-02) and TH-8 (235 feet east of SP1-02) contained interbedded layers of silt, silty gravel, and sandy gravel to a depth of 4 feet.

Sampling results indicated that fly ash is found as a continuous, horizontal layer, at least 8 feet thick and about 500 feet long, from SP1-02 to the edge of the bluff. By combining and extrapolating sampling results with drilling results and an inspection that identified the existence of a depression and new growth trees, the fly ash can be interpreted to exist in a 500-foot-long area that varies from 40 to 70 feet in width and is probably about 20 to 30 feet deep.

During the 1992 investigation, field confirmation was not performed for the reported fly ash around wells SP2/6-03, SP2/6-04, GW-6A, and SP2/6-05.

3.3 Hydrology

3.3.1 Hydrogeology

The hydrogeology of OU 5 was evaluated using lithologic data collected during drilling operations and water level and slug test data collected at monitoring wells. The drilling results were used to confirm previously reported lithologic characteristics of an unconfined aquifer that constitutes the uppermost of three hydrostratigraphic units. The water level and slug test data were used to evaluate groundwater flow within the unconfined aquifer. Groundwater flow characteristics of the confined aquifer are discussed briefly using existing data (no groundwater flow characterization of the confined aquifer was performed as part of the OU 5 investigation). The interaction between unconfined groundwater and flow in Ship Creek is also discussed.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

3.3.1.1 Hydrostratigraphic Units

The principal waterbearing units within OU 5 are a layered sequence of unconsolidated aediments that range in lithology from coarse sands and gravels to low permeability silts. The coarser sediments are of glacial and glaciofluvial origin and were deposited during the late Pleistocene. The fine-grained sediments are of glacioestuarine origin. The full sequence of sediments has been separated into three major hydrostratigraphic units. The stratigraphic relationship between these three units is depicted in Figure 3-10. The uppermost unit, referred to as the unconfined aquifer, consists predominantly of interbedded sands and gravels with thin, discontinuous, silty zones. The middle unit is the Bootlegger Cove Formation, which consists primarily of silt and clay and acts as a confining unit (or aquitard) separating the two aquifers. The lower unit, referred to as the confined aquifer, consists of interlayered silts and sands. The confined aquifer has been tapped by water supply wells on base and in other parts of the Anchorage area. The general lithologic characteristics of each unit are summarized below. ų.

Unconfined Aquifer

The unconfined aquifer consists predominantly of sandy and gravelly sediments deposited as outwash near the terminus of the coalesced Matanuska and Knik glaciers. Within OU 5, the unconfined aquifer consists of these outwash deposits at higher elevations, and of recent alluvial sediments found at lower elevations in the Ship Creek flood plain. The unconfined aquifer ranges in thickness from less than 10 feet within the Ship Creek flood plain to as much as 80 feet in areas of higher surface elevation.

The bluffs along the north side of Ship Creek are the most significant topographic feature in OU 5 and are cut entirely into the sands and gravels of the unconfined aquifer. The cross sections in Figures 3-2 through 3-7 and 3-9 illustrate the stratigraphic and topographic features of the unconfined aquifer. Detailed descriptions of the stratigraphy of the unconfined aquifer in OU 5 are provided in the boring logs in Appendixes B and C.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



ELMF310.FH3 - VMG 6/6/93 SAC

(1

Ċ

Confining Unit

The Bootlegger Cove Formation consists predominantly of silt and clay deposited during the late stage of the Naptowne glaciation, near the time of maximum ice extent (Ulery and Updike, 1983). Regionally this unit extends across the Knik Arm and underlies the surficial sands throughout most of the Anchorage area (Ulery and Updike, 1983; Cederstrom et al, 1964). Within the Ship Creek drainage, the Bootlegger Cove Formation pinches out near the Chugach Mountains, eliminating the confining layer between the confined and unconfined aquifers in the area where both aquifers are recharged. The unit thickens toward the west, and the upper surface rises in elevation so that it is exposed along the coast and prevents unconfined groundwater from discharging along the Knik Arm eastern shoreline (Freethey et al, 1976). Within OU 5, the Bootlegger Cove Formation separates the confined and unconfined aquifers and is approximately 50 to 200 feet thick, according to historical well logs (Cederstrom et al, 1964). 6

4

Confined Aquifer

The confined aquifer consists of interlayered sand, silty sand, and clay. Well logs for water supply wells drilled on or near Elmendorf AFB indicate that the confined aquifer is approximately 550 feet thick (Cederstrom et al, 1964). The majority of the sediments logged in this zone are either glacial till or fine-grained. The upper 50 to 100 feet appear to be the most productive zone in which to acreen a water supply well.

3.3.1.2 Groundwater Flow

The process of evaluating groundwater flow within OU 5 involved several steps. In the initial step, existing literature was reviewed and a conceptual understanding of regional groundwater flow was established. The data collected during the OU 5 investigation were then evaluated and interpreted within the context of the regional setting. Because the unconfined aquifer is most vulnerable to contamination by surface sources, emphasis was

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

placed on understanding its flow characteristics. Groundwater flow data from the confined aquifer were not collected as part of this investigation.

•

Regional Groundwater Flow

Regional hydrogeologic studies have shown that the unconfined aquifer is recharged by infiltration over its entire area of exposure. The highest recharge rate of the aguifer occurs along the slopes of the Chugach Mountains and along the upper reaches of Ship Creek, and discharges along the lower reaches of Ship Creek (Weeks, 1970; Cederstrom et al, 1964; Waller, 1964; Somers and Marcher, 1965). The Elmendorf Moraine acts as a low-flow barrier to the north, and the upper surface of the Bootlegger Cove unit performs the same function to the west and along the base of the unconfined aguifer. The Bootlegger Cove Formation acts as a flow barrier to the west because its upper surface rises to the ground surface along the coast, which prevents unconfined groundwater from discharging directly into Knik Arm. These barriers cause unconfined groundwater to flow toward the lower reaches of Ship Creek. A water table contour map of the Anchorage area (Dearborn and Freethey, 1974) shows that unconfined groundwater flows toward lower Ship Creek from the south and the north, then moves down the Ship Creek valley toward Knik Arm. This pattern suggests that unconfined groundwater in the Ship Creek drainage basin flows toward the creek, either entering the creek as base flow or moving down the valley as groundwater in the recent alluvial sediments. This flow pattern places OU 5 downgradient of nearly all of Elmendorf AFB, and in an area of groundwater discharge to Ship Creek and Knik Arm.

These same studies indicate that Ship Creek is a gaining stream in its lower reaches. The unconfined aquifer is recharged through alluvial fans along the front of the Chugach Mountains east of Anchorage. Natural groundwater flow is believed to be westward with discharges in Cook Inlet and Knik Arm. Because of these flow constraints, it is probable that unconfined groundwater is contributing to base flow in the lower reaches of Ship Creek.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Water-Level Monitoring Results

The data used to evaluate unconfined groundwater flow characteristics in OU 5 included three rounds of water level data collected at each monitoring well in August, September and October. In addition, hydraulic conductivity estimates based on alug test data for 11 newly installed wells were used to evaluate flow rates. These data are summarized in Appendix E.

(ک)

Local Groundwater Flow

The OU 5 data are used to illustrate the groundwater flow direction for the unconfined aquifer using water level contour (Figure 3-11). As with the basewide groundwater contour map, this map was generated by kriging water level data collected at OU 5 monitoring wells using SURFER[®], and was verified by comparing to a hand-drawn map created using linear interpolation. The groundwater flow direction and flow gradient illustrated on this map represent conditions on September 24 and 25, 1992, the days when the data were collected.

The flow lines on Figure 3-11 indicate that groundwater flows toward the southwest on the eastern end of OU 5 and toward the south-southwest on the western end.

This pattern is consistent with the hypothesis that groundwater enters Ship Creek as base flow in the vicinity of OU 5. The flow gradient also steepens on the western end of OU 5 in response to the thinning of the unconfined aquifer at the base of the bluff.

3.3.2 Groundwater-Surface Water Interactions

Based on published studies of regional flow in the Ship Creek drainage (Patrick, 1989; Freethey, 1976; Weeks, 1970; Dearborn and Freethey, 1974), it is believed that unconfined aquifer groundwater discharges to the surface in the vicinity of OU 5. This

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report





•

discharge is manifested in several forms such as seeps and springs, wetland ponds, and as base flow in Ship Creek.

(4)

۲

The seeps observed along the bluff occur at an elevation similar to that of the water table, which suggests a groundwater source. Water has also been observed to flow from at least some of these seeps during early winter months when snow covers the ground, further suggesting that these seeps are fed by groundwater contiguous with the OU 5 saturated zone, and are not caused by localized perched water tables. Water emerging from the majority of these seeps is routed to Ship Creek through the local storm water drainage network. Although no measurements of seep flow volume have been made, most appear to be relatively low-volume seeps (generally less than several gallons per minute).

The ponds within the OU 5 study area include beaver ponds along the terraces of the OU 5 bluff, and low-lying wetland-bog pond depressions along the base of the bluff. These ponds drain from north to south, and depending on their location downgradient from specific OU 5 source areas, are potential receptors of contaminants of concern. The ponds, in turn, discharge to drainage ditches that route OU 5 runoff to Ship Creek.

The water table contour maps generated for OU 5 indicate that groundwater flows toward Ship Creek. Water not discharged as seeps or into ponds flows into Ship Creek alluvium. It has not been determined how much groundwater discharges to the creek as base flow, and how much flows through the alluvium as underflow. Regardless of which flow path was followed, the data collected as part this investigation are consistent with published studies, which indicate that unconfined groundwater flows into the Ship Creek valley and ultimately to Knik Arm.

3.3.3 Streams

Ship Creek is the only stream identified during field investigations as being potentially affected by OU 5 source area runoff (Figure 2-7). Other stream channels within

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report
OU 5 serve to connect the wetland pond systems or drain them to Ship Creek as discussed in the following section. Five sample stations were selected for the survey of the creek, three above the Ship Creek Hatchery Dam (SW/SE01, SW/SE02, and SW/SE03), and two down-stream of the dam (SW/SE11 and SE12).

(4)

The headwaters of Ship Creek are in the Chugach Mountains east of Anchorage. Numerous mountain tributaries combine to form a channel approximately 24 miles long, which ultimately discharges into Knik Arm. The total area of the drainage basin is 117 square miles. A 4.2-mile stretch of Ship Creek traverses Elmendorf AFB. From 1970 to 1980, the mean annual flow for this section was 144 cubic feet per second (cfs) (USGS, 1981).

Before 1942, the entire length of Ship Creek was open to spawning salmon. Five dams were built along Ship Creek between 1942 and 1962. The Chugach Dam at the Chugach Electric Association power plant is about one-third mile from Knik Arm, and the Ship Creek Hatchery Dam and the Central Dam (since removed) are within Elmendorf AFB in the lower Ship Creek basin. The Fort Richardson Dam and the Anchorage water diversion dam are on the Fort Richardson Army Post, upstream of Elmendorf AFB. Three of the dams were once total barriers to salmon migrating upstream; however, fish ladders have been installed at the dams in the lower Ship Creek basin to allow fish to reach spawning areas upstream.

Although the ADFG blocked the fish ladders at the Ship Creek Hatchery Dam because they were concerned that salmon dying after spawning upstream might introduce infectious organisms into the hatchery, some adult salmon were observed above this dam by Rothe et al (1983). Therefore, the Ship Creek Hatchery Dam is not a complete barrier. However, the uppermost dam, the Anchorage water diversion dam, located 10.5 miles upstream from Knik Arm, is 40 feet high and forms a complete barrier to salmon.

Elemender (AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Flows in Ship Creek are a function of precipitation, snow melt, diversions for municipal and/or industrial use, and recharge (loss) to the groundwater system. Ship Creek is used for municipal and military water supplies and for cooling water for three power plants (Elmendorf AFB, Fort Richardson, and Chugach Electric Association). Average annual diversions for the power plants are about 11 cfs (COE, 1979), but most of this is returned to the creek. Water diverted at the Anchorage water diversion dam supplies about one-half of the municipal and military demand for Anchorage, Elmendorf AFB, and Fort Richardson.

(*)

0

()

The Bootlegger Cove Formation that forms the essentially impermeable layer between the shallow unconfined groundwater system at Elmendorf AFB and the underlying confined Anchorage aquifer is present under the lower 6 miles of Ship Creek. Above that point, flows in Ship Creek apparently recharge the Anchorage aquifer. Long-term flow data at the Anchorage water diversion dam and at an Elmendorf AFB gaging station 4.7 miles upstream from Knik Arm indicate that some upper sections of Ship Creek are losing-stream sections. Apparently, about 17 cfs of creek water is lost through the glacial outwash material into the deeper groundwater system (Weeks, 1970). The lower 5 or 6 miles of Ship Creek is a gaining stream because flows increase as surface water and shallow groundwater flow into the creek and are retained within the surface drainage by the underlying Bootlegger Cove Formation.

Peak flows occur in Ship Creek in June or July as a result of snow melt in the watershed; low flows occur in March, before breakup. Based on records at the Elmendorf AFB gaging station, from 1970 to 1980 (USGS, 1980) the mean annual discharge of Ship Creek ranged between 91 and 260 cfs, with an average of 144 cfs. Both minimum and maximum discharges during this 10-year period were recorded in 1971: 5.8 cfs in March and 1600 cfs in August. Rothe et al (1983) observed that a section of Ship Creek from the Fort Richardson and Elmendorf AFB boundary downstream to the eastern end of the golf course was dry or completely frozen during March 1983. It has also been stated that during the

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

early spring, the entire flow in Ship Creek may be withdrawn for cooling water at the Elmendorf AFB power plant or used by the fish hatchery^b.

3.3.4 Ponds

Four ponds located between the middle and bottom of the OU 5 bluff were investigated during this RI. As depicted on Figure 2-7, they are (from east to west): a beaver pond just northeast of the old power plant cooling pond (SW/SE13), the golf course beaver pond located just northwest of the old power plant cooling pond (SW/SE04 and SW/SE05), the beaver pond below the snow disposal area and just east of Building 22-002 (SW/SE07), and a pothole pond on the bluff below the COE building (SW/SE08).

The pond at SW/SE13 is 1 to 2 acres in size and is contained between the bluff and the gravel haul road connecting Post Road and the golf course clubhouse. Inlets and discharge points were not readily observed during the survey, but it appears that the seeps and springs prevalent along the bluff pass water into the pond, while seeps under the road pass water into a lower gradient pond on the opposite side of the road.

The golf course beaver pond, located between the railroad tracks and Ship Creek, is approximately 2 acres in size with a maximum depth of about 8 feet (average 2 to 3 feet). The water sources for the pond are a drainage ditch (located between the bluff and the JP-4 tanks) that drains the upland wetlands, and seeps SL22 and SL23 (Figure 2-2). During both spring and summer sampling periods, the pond appeared to be discharging at two points along the beaver dam at about 10 gallons per minute (gpm). As shown on Figures 2-2 and 2-7, the discharge routes are through small terraced wetland ponds and streams that ultimately discharge directly into Ship Creek.

Elimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

[&]quot;This information was obtained during personal communications with Allen Richmond, the Elmendorf AFB natural resources planner, on October 8-10, 1991, and subsequent phone conversations.

The beaver pond below the snow disposal area is also about 2 acres in size (depth not determined), and was observed to drain into the wetlands between the base of the bluff and the railroad tracks. Discharge flows were observed to be about 5 to 10 gpm during the spring sampling period.

The pothole pond (downgradient of the COE building) is at the end of a haul road about halfway down the side of the bluff. It is a small pond about 300 square feet in surface area. The pond's water source is most likely fed by springs or seeps, as well as supplied from precipitation runoff from the bluff slope.

3.4 Land Use

3.4.1 Population

The current resident population of Elmendorf AFB is about 8600 people, consisting mostly of young men and women with families (CH2M HILL, 1992b). Children (defined as less than 18 years of age) make up 37 percent of the base population (Harding Lawson Associates, 1988b). Most military personnel and their families probably do not spend more than 5 years at Elmendorf AFB. Some civilian personnel who work on base but do not live there can be expected to spend 40 hours per week at the base for several years. The current population of Anchorage surrounding Elmendorf AFB is about 240,000.

Only two residences are immediately downgradient of OU 5. They are located at the fish hatchery and house families of employees of the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADFG). Each dwelling houses two adults and two children.^e The other areas downgradient of OU 5 are primarily used for industrial or recreational purposes.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

^oInformation on the hatchery was obtained in a telephone conversation with Darrell Keifer, hatchery manager, ADPG, on October 8, 1992.

An unknown, but small, number of homeless adults occupy tents along Ship Creek and the bluff in the industrial area west of the OU 5 study area. The number of homeless living along Ship Creek can be expected to decline during winter months because of colder temperatures. During the RI field activities in the summer of 1992, shelters made of plastic sheeting were observed on the bluff between the COE building (Building 21-700) and the railroad tracks. At the same time, camps were observed near a beaver pond between Ship Creek and the ARRC railroad yard, approximately two-thirds mile west of the COE building.

3.4.2 Use and Access

General land uses at OU 5 are shown on Figure 3-12 and described below.

- Post Road is used as a major access route onto the base.
- Bluff Road carries traffic along the southern part of the base to the power plant and COE building.
- The railroad schedules several trains a day through the area near OU 5 in the summer, fewer in the winter. Some maintenance, switching, and storage of rail cars occurs at the western end of OU 5.
- The Elmendorf AFB golf course in the southern part of OU 5 serves military personnel and guests during the summer and provides a crosscountry skiing area in the winter.
- A popular picnic area is located along Ship Creek between the Post Road gate and the golf course.
- The hill on the west side of Source SS53 is a popular sledding area for military families during the winter.
- A winter snowmobile route parallels the pipeline at Sources SD40/ST46.
- A limited trout and salmon fishery occurs on Ship Creek. Fishing for trout and Dolly Varden occurs mostly in the late summer and early fall above the Chugach Dam. Fishing below the Chugach Dam is primarily for returning salmon during the summer.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report





Č

U

 The fish hatchery has a viewing area on Ship Creek that attracts approximately 55,000 visitors per summer to observe salmon returning to spawn. C

٩

- The area southwest of OU 5 is used as a major industrial, warehouse, and commercial area for Anchorage. This area is zoned I-2, heavy industrial, by the Municipality of Anchorage (MOA).
- North of the pipelines, across Bluff Road and 2nd Street, are major residential, commercial, and industrial areas of the base.
- Walking trails are routed along the bluff area.

During the RI, field crews noted the following activities:

- Two adult women were collecting mushrooms on the bluff south of the COE building in late August and early September.
- Two teenagers were collecting golf balls in Ship Creek just above the dam at the fish hatchery. They indicated that this was a frequent activity in the summer months.
- Two elementary-age children were playing at the beaver ponds near Sources SD40/ST46. The children had built and launched a raft. The children stated that they and their friends often played in the area.
- All along the bluff area there was evidence, such as handmade "forts" and bicycle tracks, that children play in the woods during the summer months.

Access to the base is restricted by gates and fences and is limited to residents, workers, and authorized visitors. Visitors generally have to enter the base by the Boniface Parkway gate rather than the Post Road gate. At OU 5, only the underground tanks at Source SS42 are restricted by fences. The railroad property south of Sources SS37 and SS38 is generally accessible by the casual visitor and worker; however, the ARRC has posted signs to discourage use of the right-of-way.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

3.5 Water Use

This subsection describes the water use downgradient of and at OU 5. The information presented comes from interviews with personnel from the USAF and ADFG. Additional information on water use came from surveys mailed to tenants of the ARRC property southwest of OU 5 and follow-up interviews. Literature searches and computer searches of USGS and Alaska Department of Natural Resources (ADNR) files were also conducted to identify wells downgradient of OU 5 and obtain drillers' logs or well construction logs of those wells. Finally, observations of recreational use of Ship Creek and ponds in OU 5 were recorded by the CH2M HILL field team during the field investigations.

3.5.1 Upper Aquifer

Development of the unconfined (shallow) groundwater in the lower Ship Creek valley (Boniface Parkway to Cook Inlet) has been limited. An infiltration gallery constructed in 1946 by the ARRC (then owned by the U.S. Department of Transportation) withdrew water from the creekbed alluvium through a 24-inch corrugated pipe at a capacity of about 5 million gallons per day (mgd). This gallery was about 2 miles downstream of the Elmendorf AFB boundary. The water has not been used since 1952 because of contamination (Freethey et al, 1976).

Elmendorf AFB well 1 was used as a backup drinking-water well until the late 1980s when TPH and chlorinated solvents were found in the water. Well 1 (Building 23-990) is a shallow well (16 feet deep) located just upgradient of the OU 5 study area on the north side of Ship Creek and near the north-south runway.

From the mid-1970s to the mid-1980s, water from the upper groundwater aquifer at OU 5 was used for fish production activities at the fish hatchery. The hatchery is located on military land, and is operated by the ADFG under a cooperative agreement with Elmendorf AFB. A gallery well was located east of the cooling pond and another well was

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

located east of the hatchery shop building. These wells were abandoned because of low production and problems with suspected fuel contamination. Other shallow exploratory wells were drilled in the vicinity of the cooling pond and the golf course in 1969 by the USGS, and in 1975 by ADFG, but these wells are not currently used as a water supply. ۲

3.5.2 Lower Aquifer

The water drawn from the lower groundwater aquifer at OU 5 is used for the following purposes:

- Drinking water and other domestic uses;
- Industrial purposes;
- Cooling water for the power plant; and
- Fish production at the fish hatchery.

The following paragraphs discuss the lower aquifer uses in more detail.

Figure 3-13 shows the location of wells and the location of businesses contacted during the water use survey.

On military land in OU 5, four wells are screened into the lower aquifer: Base Supply Wells 2 and 52, and Hatchery Wells 2 and 3. (Hatchery Well 1 was a shallow production well that was abandoned and filled in because of low yield.) Base Supply Well 2 supplies cooling water for the power plant during low flow periods in Ship Creek and serves as a backup drinking-water well for Elmendorf AFB when Fort Richardson is unable to meet the demand. In spring 1992, sand was drawn into the well; as a result, the well was taken out of use in the fall of 1992 until repairs can be made.⁴

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

⁶Information on Base Wells 2 and 52 was obtained in a telephone conversation with John Barbour, Elmendorf AFB Water and Wastewater Office, on October 13, 1992.



3-42

Base Supply Well 52 serves the golf course clubhouse. The water is used for drinking water, food preparation in the restaurant, and in the restrooms. The water is also used for cleaning golf carts. The clubhouse is in operation from approximately April to the first week in October, depending on the weather. The facility is occasionally opened during the winter months for parties and special events.

4)

Hatchery Wells 2 and 3 were installed into the lower aquifer at the fish hatchery in 1985 and 1991, respectively. Hatchery Well 2 operates approximately 11 months, from July to the first of June; the water is used for incubation. Hatchery Well 3 operates for approximately 6 months each year—July, August, and February through May. The two production wells are not used for drinking water because the facility, including the two residences at the fish hatchery, are connected to municipal water supplies.*

Thirty water use surveys were mailed to land tenants in or near the industrial area southwest of OU 5 (Table 3-4). No responses were obtained from two of the tenants after follow-up phone calls or visits. An additional five tenants did not know the source of their water supply. It is assumed that those tenants who did not respond or did not know the source of their water, do not have water on their property, or are on public (MOA) water supplies.

The following four ARRC tenants reported an onsite well:

- Inlet Company (1833 Post Road);
- IGM (2433 Post Road);
- SteelFab (2132 Railroad Avenue), which also supplies water for Testing Institute of Alaska (2114 Railroad Avenue); and
- Wholesale Distributors of Alaska, Inc. (2548 Post Road).

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

[&]quot;information on the hatchery wells was obtained in a telephone conversation with Darrell Keifer, hatchery manager, ADPG, on October 5, 1992.

Results of Water Use Survey

		1 Joe' Fra 164 278	2 Dev 170 279	3 Jack 171 277	4 Chr 174 279	5 Nev 184 258	6 Ale 186 279	7 Bya
	santy Tanati Pana	's Body Paint and me 8 Post Road -2816	re Bates, Inc. O Post Road -4353	covich Induntrial & Intraction 6 Post Road -1406	is Berg, Inc. 8 Post Rosed -7736	wborry Alaska, Inc. 8 Post Rosed -9073	aita Crate and Pallot 0 Post Road -7736	k Trucking 0 Reilroad Avenue
		No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
		ł	Yee	Yes	Yes	No	Yee	Yes
		1		I		1	1	I
		1	X	M	x	1	Į	x
	Perita	I	1	1	ł	١	ł	1
	ļ	I	1	I	1	I	x	t
I		I	*	X	ž	X	17	NR
	Verses News	ł	0	NR	NR	NR	-	2
		I	1	1	1	1	1	1

•

۲

۲

۲

•

.

•

0

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 3-4 (Continued)

ļ]]]	, in the second s	įij	te San	, j	뱱		
•	LL Towing 1860 Railroad Avenue 337-7700	No	1	1	1	1	I	I	I	1
Ø	Prescott Equipment, Inc. 1860 Post Road 276-0537	Yes	Yes	I	×	I	1	N	NR .	I
0	inlet Company 1833 Post Road 274-1551	Yes	Yes	×	I	1	I	X	•	×
11	Northern Consolidators, Inc. 1907 Post Road 276-5776	Yes	Yes	1	×	Ι	1	Ś	NR	ł
12	Ouendian Security 1940 Post Road 274-5275	Yes	No	1	1	I	I	J	I	I
13	Longstaff Bogineers 2002 Post Road 276-7933	Yes	Yes	1	х	1	I	NR	s	1
*	Bills Services Auto Repeir 2014 Post Road 276-0072	Yes	Yes	1	1	х	1	X	2	I
15	F&M Small Engine 2121 Post Road 258-1942	Yes	Yœ	I	×	I	I	XX	7	æ

٢

0

.

•

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

•2

Table 3-4 (Continued)

ţ	tions in the						New York	捌	ij	J
16	Alasta Phanking & Haring 2132 Post Road 272-2451	Yes	Yes	1	×	1	I	30	51	ą
17	Testing Institute of Alasha 2114 Railroad Avenue 276-3440	Yes	Yes	×	1	I	I	NR	NR	1
18	SmalFab 2132 Raiboad Avenue 278-5773	Yes	Yes	×	1	L	1	4 0+	<20	I
19	Aur V an Linne, Inc. 2216 Pont Rond 272-0536	Yes	Yes	1	x	1	1	NR	30	8
ନ୍ଧ	Auto Ellectric 2217 Post Road 276-2606	Yes	Yes	1	×	I	I	X	NR	ł
21	Keyrstone Distribution 2320 Post Road 277-6536	Yes	Yes	I	x	1	1	13	25	1
8	KGM 2433 Poet Road 276-4454	Yes	Yes	×	1	I	ł	11	14-18	υ

9

۲

۲

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 3-4 (Continued)

					A Line Wa	te Sars				
	Property Transferrence	Series	ji	Ma	il.	Detted	1			ļ
ន	Standard Steel & Metals Company 2400 Railroad Avenue 272-8558	Yee	Yes	I	-	x	1	NR	1	I
\$	Pacific Movers 2510 Post Road 276-5737	Yes	Yes	1	х	I	I	NR	35	ļ
z	Wholemle Disrributors of Alasta, Inc. 2548 Post Roed 277-4584	Yes	Yes	×	-	I	I	X	NR	۵
8	Paul's Services 2530 Railroad Avenue 258–4581	Yes	No	I	I	ŀ	I	I	I	I
z	Aurora Giana 2530 Railroad Avenue 277-1058	Yes	No	I	1	1	I	1		-
28	Beeson Plumbing & Heating 2600 Railroad Avenue 278-4546	Yes	No	ł	1	1	1	1	1	1
R	Ditomaso's Fruit and Vegetables 601 Yakntat 276-8743	Yas	Ycs	1	x	1	l	N	8	ł

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

6

(Continued)

	E
ij	Approximentaly 4 workers: 8 residents
	Ř
Į	1
	J
	м
W	1
	Yœ
]-]	Ya
	Einemoort Fiae Hatchery Alacta Department of Fiah & Game 274-0065
j,	R

Number of years on water sou

. Number of years on water source: Quantion was, "How long have you been obtaining water this wey?" Respondents may have indicated the number of years they have leaded to number of years they have leaded to preperty or the number of years the property has been on the stand water apply. • Twing Indiana of Aladia gate water from Staaffed.

8

3-48

- Well built approximately 1955. Depth approximately 120 feet. No known physical problems or damage to steel casing. No problems with water quality. No water trast <
 - فللماعدة يعداعك Polit de Marine 3 U
- chiféra a' eldety percon. sty bu caly can sied into water well. No problems with water, it is used manulty. into lower squiffer. Use wells in fish production operation. All deinking water connes from histoipatity of Anchorge. Four adults and four children reside on ag a wel for clanzing purposes only. Simuly 20-30 years ago. Instilled pump. Steel casing. Look on correr. No physical problema/samage with welk. Wenr has and and sate of fact. No even HE OF VOL. No Chill Two building
 - 8 A 🛤
- two wells an property into lower age · hundra

= No rego Ź

adorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report Fi:

•

Tap water from Inlet Company and IGM was sampled during the RI field investigation because of their proximities to the Elmendorf AFB boundary. Both companies are located on the north side of Post Road next to the railroad. Inlet Company is approximately 600 feet south of the Elmendorf AFB boundary, and IGM is approximately 300 feet south of the Elmendorf AFB boundary. The water is used as drinking water by employees. No residences are connected to the wells. No children or elderly persons drink the water on a regular basis. An IGM employee reported that the drinking water had the smell and taste of fuel, although sampling results did not show any evidence of organic contamination in that water.

Data on the eight wells used for drinking water or fish production in the OU 5 area are shown in Table 3-5.

3.5.3 Surface Water

Surface water from Ship Creek or nearby ponds is used for the following purposes:

- Irrigation at the golf course;
- Cooling water for the power plant;
- Fish production at the fish hatchery; and
- Recreation.

Surface water from Ship Creek is used by the Elmendorf AFB power plant (Building 22-004) for cooling water, and by the fish hatchery for fish rearing. The USAF supplies warm water from the power plant to the fish hatchery. ADFG supplies the fish that are used to stock the lakes on Elmendorf AFB and operates the intake system for the cooling pond. Surface water is diverted from Ship Creek at the intake building located east of the cooling pond. The water is carried to the cooling pond by a 36-inch-diameter line or directly

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Data on Water Supply Wells in Vicinity of OU 5

Mint			APR6	ij		ağı	ļ	
Viel ID	Bees well 2	Base well 52	Hackery well 2	Hatchery well 3	NA	NA	NA	NA NA
Walker (1962) Flade No.	NN	NA	NA	NA	31	37	NA	NA NA
USGS Lected No.	8001300308 DAAA1-001	\$801300309 ACACI-020	NA	N	SB01300308 DCAC1-009	5801300309 CBBC1-029	110-1VVDD	NA
Date Contracted	1953	1970	1984-1985	1991	1954	1955	9561	NA
Letindo-Nerth	61+13-52-	61-14-04-	.05.61.19	.87.81.19	61-13-37-	61+13-50	.17.61.19	NN
Longinsto-West	149*50'12*	149*49*00*	_\$\$.6\$.6\$1	-S7.67-671	149*50'46"	149*50'05"	149*50*13*	NN
Total Dupth (R-bgs)	\$50	166	257	171	185	159	330	NN
Latebo (adervels (R.1gs)	208-237, 342-451, 458-530	161-166	TM-161	153-168	175-185	159	716 <	NA
Type of Screen	Performed	60-elot serven	180-alot screen	100-akst screes	80-elot sorean	Open cal	NA	VN
Ageilter	Lowe	Lower	Lower	Lowe	Lower	Lowe	Lowe	XX
Source of Goologic Log	nsce	USGS	ADPG	ADPG	USOS	UBCB	U3G\$	NA
Source of Well Comptoion Inductories	N\$OS	USOS	ADPG	DAGA	USOS	UNCE	NA	NA

NA = Not evaliable

ł

ŧ,

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RL/PS Report

to the hatchery by a 30-inch-diameter line. From the cooling pond, the water is piped to the power plant. Warm water is returned to the cooling pond and mixed with cool water before being used in the rearing ponds of the fish hatchery, or before being discharged into Ship Creek below the hatchery.⁴

Ŀ

ADFG reports that an average of approximately 4000 gpm of water flows through the hatchery during the year. Peak use occurs in March with 6400 gpm, and low use occurs in July and August with 2,400 gpm. These figures include water from Ship Creek and some from the wells on the property, but not the heated effluent from the power plant. ADFG estimates the daily water draw from Ship Creek for the power plant to be 1,200 to 1,500 gpm from 11:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m.; 4,000 to 5,000 gpm from 6:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., and 6,000 gpm from 4:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m.

Surface water from Ship Creek is also used for irrigating the grounds when the golf course is open. Water from the creek is routed to a pond, where a pump lifts the water into the sprinkler system.³

Recreational uses of the surface water in OU 5 also have included fishing, wading, and fish viewing, as previously discussed under Land Use, Section 3.4.

^fInformation on the use of surface water at the hatchery and power plant was obtained in telephone conversations with Darrell Keifer, hatchery manager, ADFG, on October 8 and 13, 1992.

⁵Information on irrigation at the golf course was obtained in a telephone conversation with John Barbour, Elemendorf AFB Water and Wastewater Office, on October 13, 1992.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

3.6 Ecology

3.6.1 Aquatic Communities

3.6.1.1 Ship Creek

Physical Characteristics

The results of the physical measurements observed during the field study are summarized in Appendix J. The predominant land use in the background sampling area (MI01, Figure 2-7) was considered forest/wetland although the site was located within the confines of a military installation. Downstream sampling stations within the OU 5 study area were considered commercial (at the golf course, at Salmon Run Park, and at the fish hatchery, Figure 2-7). One sample station (MI11) was located adjacent to a culvert at the end of Yakutat Street. This area would be classified as industrial due to the scrap metal yard next to the sample area. Ć

The stream bank height, which varies with depth, was estimated as the distance from the surface of the water to the top of the bank. Bank height at the reference station was less than 3 feet. Downstream stations varied and ranged from less than 3 feet and up to 5 feet. The creek width in the areas sampled ranged from 30 feet at Station MI11 to 120 feet at the reference station (MI01).

The high water mark, evidenced by stain lines and debris in vegetation along the creek, was estimated to be 1.5 to 3 feet above the bank. Portions of the banks adjacent to the sampling areas were undercut. The canopy cover over the water was generally less than 5 percent (open).

The stream bottom was composed largely of gravel, cobble, and sand. There was little difference in substrate material among sites except for Station MI12, which

Bimenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

exhibited more cobble size substrate. Silt and/or clay substrate materials were absent from sample stations. Extensive organic substrate material was generally absent within the study area. The organic material that was present consisted of logs, twigs, and leaf packs (coarse particulate organic matter, or CPOM). There was little or no silt and mud (fine particulate organic matter, or FPOM) present. The substrate material exhibited no unusual odors, deposits, or oils. C

٢

Water Quality

The in-situ water quality measurements taken at the Ship Creek sampling stations indicated that the creek was in good condition, and the parameters measured were within state and federal criteria for the propagation and maintenance of fish and wildlife (Appendix J).

Habitat Assessment

The habitat assessment followed the procedures of Plafkin et al (1989). Each habitat parameter was evaluated and numerically scored along with a rating of excellent, good, fair, or poor. The ratings obtained at the reference station (5MI01) were considered the base condition. All other stations were compared to the reference site. Habitat assessments for each station are shown in Appendix J. All stations were considered comparable to the reference site, except Station M11 (\geq 90 percent of reference evaluation score, Appendix J, Table J.3), which was considered supporting (75 to 80 percent of reference score, Appendix J, Table J.3).

Fauna: Beathic Macroinvertebrates. A list of the benthos collected from Ship Creek at each station during the spring and fall sampling periods are presented in Appendix J. The benthic macroinvertebrate data were evaluated using several ecological variables (metrics) that were appropriate for the site conditions. The rapid bioassessment protocols for use in streams and rivers (RBP) (Plafkin et al, 1989) provide a source of

3-53

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

metrics for measuring the benthic community and population structure; the metrics that were used assisted in assessing the biotic integrity of Ship Creek. A summary of the benthic macroinvertebrate sampling results for Ship Creek is presented in Table 3-6 and is discussed below.

۲

The community structure of Ship Creek benthos during the spring collections was dominated by organisms of the order Diptera (flies, mosquitoes, and midges); family Chironomidae and the class Oligochaeta (aquatic worms); families Lumbriculidae and Niadidae. Ephemeroptera (Mayflies) were also an important component at Sample Station MI01 (reference site) and MI05 (Salmon Run Park) (Figure 2-7). Stoneflies (Plecoptera) and caddis flies (Trichoptera) were less numerous.

The benthic species richness between the reference station and the downstream sites varied little. There was a trend toward increased taxa richness downstream. Likewise, the EPT index remained relatively constant throughout the study area. The EPT/C abundance ratio, which increases as the abundance of more sensitive organisms increases, was low at both the reference site and downstream locations. Species diversity was comparable at both locations.

The dominant community functional guild was collector-gatherers. This functional feeding group displayed little difference between the reference site and downstream locations. Other significant groups were the predator-engulfers, shredders, and scrapers. Predator-engulfers decreased in abundance in downstream reaches while shredders increased. Scrapers decreased below reference levels only at Station MI03.

In general, the spring collection showed good similarity in macroinvertebrate community structure and function between the reference site and downstream sites from the spring collection (Appendix J, Table 15).

0

Ö,

۲

ŧ

Results of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Collections and Analysis from Ship Creek

tintation (36 4	
NEMATODA								1
ANNELIDA Oligochasta								
Lumbriculidae	5	15	28	26		3	6	18
Encaidians hexathecs				1				
Niadidae								
Nais sp.	41	47	110	4	40	38	76	5
Pristinelle sp.					1			
Tubificidae w.h.c.			1	3	2		25	
Limnodribus np.							7	
PLATYHRLMINTHES Turbellaria								
Tricladida				1				
ARTHOPODA Arachaoidea								
Hydracerina		2		3			2	
lassecta								
Ephomoroptera.								
Bastidas								
Bastis op.	4	10	7	3		1		
Bphomorollidae								
Drunolla doddsi	2	6	4	202	75	81	4	22
Ephomerolla inormis				6			1	
Hoptagoniidas								
Casygnule sp.	1	2		28				
Epocra op.	5	2		91	11	17		9
Piecoptera								
Choroperlidae								
Suvellie sp.	6	1	4					
Nomcuridae								

Simenderf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

_

0

٢

(Continued)

						<u>214</u>		
Zapada up.			1		3	1	1	
Peciodides								
Isoperia sp.			1	1				
Trisksptere								
Glessessatides								
Gleannenne sp.				56	119	54	26	56
Hydropeychidas								
Choumatopsyche up.				1				
Limasphilidas								1
Eccilsomyis sp.				1	3	1	2	1
Nemotaulius hostilis							1	
Rhyacophilidae								
Rhyacophila sp.	1							
Diptora								
Ceratopogonidae								
Bezza/Paponona sp. 20.	1		3					
		19						'
Stude op.								
Colosteon o	14	12	52	`	21	18	10	19
Diemese en	5	9	21					
Exhigitivistic gracel st. en.	5	29	36		5	89	19	1
Eubioficialis m.				1				
Enhiefivielle of. clariponnie 19.39.							6	
Orthocladius sp.	5	2	9			58	28	
Pagantia sp.	2	1	3	7	11	IJ	6	2
Phasmaposcire sp.		1						
Pothania sp.					1			
Rhoocricotopus op.			1					
Synorthocladias sontvirons		1						[]

Elmondorf APB OU 5 25/76 Report

Υ.

٢

.

(Continued)

Termienter m		×	2	8X	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·····		
Testado barados en en	· · · · ·					-		
Chelifiers sp.		3	6	1				
Mussides				1				
Linnephore sp.							3	
Prychodidae								
Paricoma op.			1					
Simuliidae					1			
Chephie sp.	1	1	3	8	1	11		5
Tipulidae								
Dicranota ap.		3	5		2			
Ormosia sp.							5	
MOLLUSCA Gastropola								
Planorbidas	1							
TOTAL NUMBER OF ORGANISMS	119	176	346	451	309	405	250	155
TAXA RICHNESS	. 18	22	22	23	16	14	20	15
ept	6	5	5	9	5	6	6	5
EPT/Chironomidae abundance ratio	0.37	0.26	0.10	43.2	4.14	0.79	0.38	2.41
Diversity (H')	3.204	3.473	3.281	2.585	2.628	3.071	3.391	2.940
Evenness (J')	0.768	0.779	0.736	0.571	0.657	0.807	0.785	0.752
FUNCTIONAL GROUPS								
Collector-gatherers	92 (77.3%)	141 (90.0%)	265 (76.6%)	9 (2.0%)	2 (0.6%)	11 (2.7%)	0	5 (3.3%)
Collector-filterers	1 (0.8%)	(0.7%)	5 (1.4%)	147 (32.6%)	85 (27.5%)	238 (59.1%)	187 (74.3%)	45 (29.0%)
Produtor-enguiller	14 (11. \$%)	11 (6.3%)	20 (5.8%)	9 (2.0%)	5 (1.6 %)	1 (0.2 %)	11 (4.4 %)	7 (4.5%)
Scrapers	8 (6.7%)	9 (5.1%)	4 (1.2 %)	286 (63.4%)	194 (62.8%)	135 (33.5%)	30 (12.0 %)	78 (50.3%)
Shreddors	4 (3.4%)	14 (7.9%)	52 (15.0%)	0	23 (7.4%)	18 (4.5%)	22 (8.8%)	20 (12.9%)

Eimendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

'H. - /

•,

3-57

۲

0

The benthic community structure of Ship Creek during the fall collections was dominated by the order Ephemeroptera, family Ephemerellidae and Heptageniidae; order Diptera, family Chironomidae; order Trichoptera, family Glossosomatidae; and class Oligochaeta, families Lumbriculidae, Niadidae, and Tubificidae. Mayflies were the dominant taxa at the reference site (Station MI01), and decreased in numerical abundance in a downstream direction, especially at Station MI11. Diptera increased in numerical abundance in a downstream direction, particularly Stations MI03 and MI11. Trichoptera abundance increased at Station MI02, but was generally the same as the reference site at Stations MI03, MI11, and MI12. The aquatic worm population also increased in abundance in a downstream direction, particularly at Station MI11.

(4)

Species richness decreased at Stations MI02, MI03, and MI12, but was near the reference station value at Station MI11. EPT also decreased in a downstream direction, and the EPT/C abundance ratio was lowest at Stations MI03 and MI11. Diversity and evenness were generally higher at Stations MI03 and MI11, reflecting the increased abundance of midges and aquatic worms.

Community functional guilds fluctuated considerably within the study area. Scrapers were dominant at the reference (Station MI01) and Station MI02 (Salmon Run Park), but were replaced in dominance by collector-gatherers at Stations MI03 and MI11. Station MI12 had a more even mix of trophic guilds with the addition of a greater abundance of shredders.

There was less similarity in benthic community structure and function between the reference site and that of the downstream stations in the fall collection, especially Station MI11. Downstream Station MI02 was more similar to Stations MI03 and MI12 than Station MI11, and Station MI11 was more similar to Station MI03 (Appendix J, Table 15).

Fie

Fish sampling was attempted with a backpack electrofisher at Sample Stations MI01, MI02, and MI03 (Figure 2-7). Based on a review of Rothe et al, 1983, it appeared that resident populations of fish would be apparent in the Ship Creek study area. However, only incidental collections of fish occurred. Two rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), each about 6 inches in length, were collected from pools at Reference Station MI01, and about 30 slimy sculpins (*Cottus cognatus*) measuring from 1 to 2 inches were collected overall from Sample Stations MI02 and MI03. Based on the limited fish population observed above the Elmendorf AFB hatchery dam, resident fish occurrence will not be considered as an indicator of habitat suitability based on potential OU 5 contamination.

۲

3.6.1.2 Golf Course Beaver Pond

Physical Characteristics

The physical characteristics observed in the beaver pond are presented in Appendix J.

Land use was predominantly commercial with the ARRC right-of-way to the north, the golf course to the east and west, and JP-4 tanks to the east. The pond was formed by a beaver dam at the west end. Canopy cover was generally open. Sediment odors were considered normal at MR04, but the distinct smell of petroleum was present at MI05. Sediment oils were considered slight at MI04, appearing as a sheen on the surface water of Ponar samples before sieving. Sediment oils were considered moderate at MI05. Qualitatively the inorganic substrate material at MI04 was composed largely of sand, some fine gravel material with 1 or 2 inches of fine silt on top. Station MI05 inorganic substrate was composed mainly of silt with some sand. The organic substrate component at MI04 was composed of fine particulate material (muck-mud), while that of MI05 was largely composed of detritus (leaf packs, twigs, stumps, and submerged logs).

Busederf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Water Quality

Dissolved oxygen (DO) was good, except at Station MH05 in the spring where a DO of 3.7 mg/L was recorded. Temperatures fluctuated little between stations and seasons. Likewise, conductivity remained relatively constant at each station and each sampling. The pH was at or near 7.0 with some fluctuation between sampling events at MH05. ۲

Habitat Assessment. A formal habitat assessment similar to the creek was not conducted due to the lack of sufficient criteria statements for lentic systems. A qualitative narrative describing the beaver pond habitat is presented as an alternative. The bottom substrate material varied within the beaver pond proper. The northeast corner, adjacent to seep SL23, was comprised of leaf packs, twigs, decaying log, and stumps. Beaver have downed many trees adjacent to the northeast and southeast corners of the pond, which have fallen into the water. There is more CPOM in this area of the pond then in the center or near the beaver dam itself. The area next to the dam was open with little detrital material on the bottom. Dead, but standing, trees were also present in the southern area of the pond. Cover in terms of canopy was considered open. Vegetation cover within the pond was essentially nonexistent.

Erosion associated with the area surrounding the pond was not present. Pond edge stability and vegetation were sufficient to curb any runoff into the pond.

Fauna: Benthic Macroinvertebrates. A list of the benthos collected from the golf course beaver pond at each station during the spring and fall sampling periods is presented in Table 3-7.

The benthic community structure in the beaver pond was dominated by organisms from the order Diptera, especially the family Chironomidae. Members of the class Oligochaeta also played an important role in community structure definition. The

Results of Benthic Macroinvertebrate Collection and Analysis from the Golf Course Beaver Pond and Wetland Pond (5M106) - Spring and Fall 1992

			,	•	Critica .
	54544		5.40M		
NEMATODA		1			
ANNELIDA Oligochasta	•				
Lumbriculidae	- 44	1	120	4	56
Eincaidiana hexatheca	13		7		22
Lumbriculus sp.	4		5		
Niadidae					
Nais ap.	1		10	12	
Nais communis	12				
Pristinelle sp.			7	1	
Slevine appendiculate	4				
Stylaria lacustris	4				
Tubificidae w.h.c.			7		6
Tubificidae w.o.h.c.	4				34
Limnodrilus sp.					140
Linmodrilus of. hoffmeisteri	1				
Rhyacodrilus montana					
ARTHOPODA Arachaoidea					
Hydracarina			2		
Crustaces					
Amphipode					
Talitridas					
Hyalelle extecs	1		15		
Ciadocera			<u> </u>		
Dephaides					
Daphnia of. pulax		12	3	4	
Copepoia					
Cyclopeide					
Ortmoste	-		1	2	

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

•

0

Ö

ŏ

۲

(Continued)

				•	
				eine	
Insecta Ephomoroptera					
Bestides					
Bastis sp.			1		
Hoptagoniidae					
Stenoname ap.	1				
Hoteroptera.					
Corixidae					
Arctocorise sp.		1			
Diptera				·	
Cerstopogonidae					
Bezzie/Peipomyia sp. gp.	2		5		4
Chironomidae	45	6	9	1	1
Chaetociadius sp.					63
Chironominae A					2
Chironomus sp.		3		6	20
Cricotopus ap.	59		1	1	8
Dicrotendipes sp.			11	2	
Diplocladius cultriger				1	
Glyptotendipes sp.		3	1		
Orthocladiinas A					10
Orthocladiinas B					2
Orthocladius sp.					39
Pagastia sp.			· · · · · · · · · ·		1
ragasticila sp.					
reremenne sp.					
Faraciasopeima sp.	5				
rareberenene bethophila		2			
randinynaria sp.	39	10			
rnatnoperart sp.		3		**	
Polypellium sp.					1

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

÷.

(Continued)

a an					
Polypadilum cf. convictum	5				
Potthestie sp.			38		
Procladius sp.	44	3	29	40	
Prodiances sp.					1
Prectrocladius sp.	33	2	11		12
Proctrolanypus sp.				117	
Rhootanytarous sp.	4	15	3	7	
Тапурыя пр.				5	
Tanyturnus sp.	729	148	235	32	5
Empidideo					
Chelifere sp.			1		
Coleoptera					
Dytiscidae					1
Dytiscus ep.		2			
MOLLUSCA Gestropode					
Pisnorbidas					
Gyraulus (Torquis) sp.	4				
Pelecypoda					
Sphaeriidae					
Pisidison milison	6		20		
TOTAL NUMBER OF ORGANISMS	1080	212	542	282	988
TAXA RICHNESS	25	15	23	17	22
Diversity (H')	2.107	1.868	1.850	2.677	2.403
Evenes (J')	0.454	0.478	0.415	0.655	0.539
FUNCTIONAL GROUPS # (%)					
Collector-gatherers	231(21.4)	18(8.5)	255(47.0)	67(23.8)	409(41.4)
Collector-filterers	778(72.0)	185(87.3)	262(48.3)	45(16.0)	5(0.5)
Predator-enguifers	2(0.2)	3(1.4)	8(1.5)	123(43.5)	13(1.3)
Scrapers	4(0.4)	3(1.4)	0	46(16.3)	552(55.9)
Skredders	65(6.0)	3(1.4)	17(3.2)	1(0.4)	9(0.9)

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

3-63

.

(

dipteran abundance was greater at Station MH04 than at Station MH05, both in spring and in fall. There was a decrease in dipteran abundance at Station MH04 between spring and fall collections, and an increase in dipteran abundance at Station MH05 during the same sampling timeframe. This was attributed, at least in part, to seasonal changes. Numerical abundance of aquatic worms was low at Station MH05 when compared to Station MH04, especially in the spring collection.

e

Species richness was higher at Station MI04 than at Station MI05. Comparison of collection periods for both locations indicated essentially little seasonal differences. Diversity and evenness were low at both locations and differed between location depending on the sampling period (Table 3-7). Standing water habitats (lentic systems) generally exhibit lower taxonomic diversity than flowing water habitats (lotic systems).

Macroinvertebrate functional guilds were dominated by collector-filterers in the spring sampling at both sites. The midge *Tanytarsus* sp. was the principal representative, and was probably acting in several trophic feeding roles within this system. Although this taxa remained a dominant factor at Station MIO4 in August, other trophic components began to dominate (collector-gatherers). Likewise the trophic structure at Station MIO5 changed in the fall with an increase in the number of predators.

At Station MI04, community structure between the two sample periods (spring and fall) was very similar. Likewise there was some similarity between both Station MI04 samples and that of the June sample at Station MI05. The August sample at Station MI05 was different in community structure due to a loss of some similar taxa (Appendix J).

Fauna: Fish. Fish sampling was attempted with a backpack electrofisher at Sample Stations MI04 and MI05; however, no fish were observed inhabiting the golf course beaver pond.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

3.6.1.3 Ponds, Seeps, and Drainage Ditches

Physical Characteristics

Physical characteristic associated with several seeps and pools sampled within the OU 5 area are presented in Appendix J. (I

Predominant land use was considered commercial due to the location of these sites near the ARRC right-of-way and yard, and proximity to Elmendorf AFB operations. Canopy was generally shaded except for MI07, which was open.

Sediment odors, oils and deposits varied between locations. A distinct smell of petroleum was evident in sediments from MI06 and MI08. Ferric hydroxide (rust colored flocculent material) was quite prevalent at MI06. Organic substrate composition also varied between locations and was dependent on the amount of canopy cover (source of detrital material). Inorganic substrate composition was similar at Stations MI06 and MI08. The pool associated with the snow melt area was composed mostly of a thin layer of fine organic material over sand and fine gravel.

Water Quality

The in-aitu water quality measurements taken at the seep and pool areas are presented in Appendix J.

In-situ water quality parameters measured at seeps and pools were considered adequate for the support of invertebrate populations. Dissolved oxygen at Stations MIO6 and MIO6 was less than 5 mg/L, which may not support higher vertebrate organisms (fish). Petroleum odor was also noted in the water taken at MIO6 and MIO8, and a sheen on the surface water was observed at Station MIO6.

Bimmdorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Habitat Assessment

A formal habitat assessment similar to that done at the creek was not conducted due to the lack of sufficient criteria statements for lentic systems. Substrate material varied between all three locations.

The bottom material associated with MI06 (pool/wetland area adjacent to seep ST36) was composed of silt and vegetable detritus. although stream bank stabilization and cover was good, the size and depth of the area would probably preclude its use by fish.

Substrate material at MI07 was composed of packed sand/gravel covered with a thin layer of silt. No aquatic vegetation was noted that could provide cover for aquatic vertebrates. The vegetative cover associated with the riparian zone generally stabilized the area from erosion, except in front of the snowmelt pile, which contained large amounts of dirt and debris.

Site MI08 (bluff pond) was a small pool filled with leaf litter and detritus. Human debris (old tires, construction materials, grass clippings, and leaf litter collections) were prevalent in areas adjacent to the pool. Pond-side vegetation and bank stability were adequate, but erosion from a road leading to the pool was evident.

Fauna: Benthic Macro'svertebrates. A list of the benthos collected from wetland pond (MI06) during the June sampling period is presented in Appendix J. The benthic macroinvertebrate data were evaluated using the same ecological variables (metrics) that were used for the golf course beaver pond.

The benthic community structure at Station MI06 was dominated by taxa representing the order Diptera, family Chironomidae; and the class Oligochaeta, families Lumbriculidae and Tubificidae. Dominant representatives of these groups are considered especially tolerant of organic pollution.

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

Species richness was good, and quite similar to Station MI04 in the beaver pond. Diversity and evenness were also considered similar to that of the beaver pond.

Functionally, Station MIO6 was dominated by both scrapers (*Phaenopsectra* sp.) and collector-gatherers (aquatic worms).

Because of its unique habitat, the community structure at Station MI06 was not similar to any other stations within the study area. The closest similarity would be Station MI05 (August).

Qualitative invertebrate collections (RBP I) from MI07 and MI08 was less in spring of 1992 contained mostly cladocerans (water fleas), culicid (mosquito) pupa, and chironomid (midge) larvae. The physical structure of these ponds was considered unique to the study area (closed systems for the most part) and as such, influence the biota present. The presence of cladocerans in the water column suggest that at least that portion of these two pools supports some aquatic life. Likewise, the near-bottom sediments of MI07 which contained some chironomids would also appear to support a restrictive benthic community. The bottom substrate of ME08 (bluff pond) was apparently devoid of organisms and may not support aquatic life use.

Fauna: Fish. Drainage ditches were not sampled for fish. However, following a dye tracer study conducted in September 1992, approximately a dozen fish were observed in a surface drainage ditch. Juvenile (barred) salmonids (not collected or identified) were observed swimming in a drainage ditch where a stormwater culvert surfaces at the junction of Post Road and Whitney Road, approximately 1500 feet northeast of Ship Creek (Sample Station SW/SE 10). It appears that the fish had moved from the excavated pit/wetland beaver pond next to Ship Creek, and followed the flow in the drainage ditch that parallels the railroad spur as shown in Figure 2-2. Although fish could not be observed in the culvert, they were observed orienting to the flow at the face of the culvert. When disturbed, they disappeared into the undercuts and vegetation overgrowth of the drainage ditch.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
Juvenile submonids were observed seeking cover within the entire drainage ditch during further visual survey.

3.6.1.4 Summary and Conclusions

Ship Creek

Macroinvertebrates. The land use within the study area along Ship Creek changes from forested/wooded at the reference site to commercial (golf course, park, fish hatchery, scrap metal yard) at downstream locations, which may influence aquatic communities in the downstream reaches of the creek. Instream physical characteristics remain relatively the same between locations, and the habitat assessment suggests that all stations should be capable of supporting similar community structure and function.

Macroinvertebrate community structure and function were relatively the same between the reference site and downstream sites during the spring sampling. However, there were noticeable differences in the fall sampling event. The fall collections indicated a shift in community structure and function from a dominance in intolerant species to a community structure that was considered more tolerant, particularly at Station MI11.

Fish. Fish sampling resulted in the incidental collection of two rainbow trout in pools at the upstream reference sample station, and about 30 slimy sculpins at the downstream sample stations within OU 5. Physical anomalies were not apparent and no conclusions can be drawn about potential OU 5 effects to fish, because of the limited sample size and restricted habitat in this reach of Ship Creek.

Golf Course Beaver Pond

Macroinvertebrates. The land use within the vicinity of the pond was primarily commercial. Physical characteristics between the two sample stations were differ-

Elmondorf AFS OU 5 RI/FS Report

ent. Bottom material at MB05 had more detritus than MB04. Likewise the distinct smell of petroleum products was evident at MB05.

۲

The benthic community differed between these two sample stations, particularly in the June collection. There was also a decrease in tolerant taxa associated with bottom sediments at 5MR05, indicative of severe impact.

Fish. No fish were observed inhabiting the pond, although the habitat may be suitable if aquatic vegetation and other cover features were present.

Wetland Pond ME06

Macroinvertebrates. The prominent land use was commercial. The physical environment was dominated by detrital material, with a distinct smell of petroleum product. An orange/rust colored material (iron bacteria) was prevalent.

The macroinvertebrate community was dominated by organisms that are considered tolerant. Although the community structure was restricted, physical conditions did not preclude the existence of aquatic life.

Fish. The physical habitat is not suitable for fish species.

Snowmelt Pend MI07 and Bluff Pend MI08

Macreinvertebrates. Qualitative invertebrate collections conducted at both of these ponds indicated the presence of aquatic life. Invertebrate community structure was considered restricted.

Fish. The snowmelt pond appears to provide suitable physical habitat for fish, although none were observed. The bluff pond is not suitable for fish habitation.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

3.6.2 Terrestrial Communities

3.6.2.1 Habitats and Vegetation

The general habitat features within OU 5 are illustrated on Figure 3-14, and the various habitat types are described in the following sections.

Distribution and Composition

The distribution and composition of habitat types within OU 5 are generally similar to their occurrence in 1982 (Rothe et al, 1983, CH2M HILL, 1992c) to the extent that they were described. Within OU 5, the habitat mapping by Rothe et al (1983) did not include the areas between the bluff and railroad tracks west of the junction of Reeve Boulevard and Post Road; these areas are outside Elmendorf AFB. However, from the aerial photographs taken in 1982, most of that area (including all of Source ST37) appeared to have been a balsam poplar (*Populus balsamifera*) forest, as it was during the 1992 surveys.

From the snow disposal area (near SL28) eastward to Post Road, most areas between the bluff and the railroad tracks were occupied by a mixture of woody species. The area included trees, shrubs and understory species typical of the closed balsam poplar forest and closed alder (*Almus* sp.) tall scrub-shrub that were mapped in this area (Rothe et al, 1983). One notable exception was the apparent absence of devil's club (*Echinopanax horridum*) and lower abundance of highbush cranberry (*Vlburnum edulae*) and American red currant (*Ribes triste*) than that of cow parsnip (*Heracleum lantanum*) in the understory. Between the railroad tracks and Post Road, the habitat was largely open with species characteristic of the bluejoint grass mesic graminoid herbaceous type. In addition to grasses and sedges, there were various herbaceous plants such as fireweed, cow parsnip, yarrow (*Achillea borealis*), and horsetail in this area. Trees and shrubs were limited to a few small stands.



• •











لميدو (مقد الع

Most areas between Bluff Road and the bluff are mowed periodically; the vegetation observed during the investigation was limited to short grass. (This was also typical of other areas north of Bluff Road.) Woody vegetation was limited to the upper edge of the bluff in most of those areas. East of Post Road, most of the grass between Second Street and the ARRC railroad tracks and in a small area southeast of the railroad crossing on Post Road was mowed. However, in the vicinity of SL31 (see Figures 2-1 and 3-14), the vegetation consisted primarily of grasses and herbaceous plants that had not been mowed.

4

A narrow strip of balsam poplar forest also occurred along the low bluff north of the railroad to the east of Post Road. In that area, there was much less topographic relief than along the bluff west of Post Road. This string of woodland extended from Source SS53 eastward beyond Source ST46, along the north side of the railroad tracks.

Most of the area east of Post Road between the ARRC railroad tracks and Ship Creek was a mosaic of habitats dominated by trees and shrubs. The habitat types were similar to those mapped by Rothe et al (1983). They included floodplain open cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*)-white spruce (*Picea glauca*) forest and closed alder tall scrub-shrub, along with mesic graminoid herbaceous (sedges/bluejoint grass) habitat.

Wetlands

Wetlands of varying sizes and types occur throughout OU 5. They were commonly noted as pools or streams along the lower edge of the bluff west of Post Road, with the larger ones near SLO5, SLO6, SLO7, the snow disposal area (and downstream beaver ponds between there and the railroad tracks), SL16 eastward to SL25, and the area east of SL19 (refer to Figure 2-1 for locations). East of Post Road, several beaver ponds represented the largest wetland areas and contributed to water retention between the railroad tracks and Ship Creek. These wetlands occurred from SL32 to SL23 south to Ship Creek, and at SL29. The largest and oldest beaver pond appeared to be receiving drainage from seeps at

3-73

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

SL22 and SL23 in Source SD40. This beaver pond had much less aquatic vegetation than the ones at SL29 (cast of the JP-4 tanks).

It should be noted that many areas below the bluff, other than those mentioned here or illustrated on Figure 3-14, are at least seasonally wetlands; the wetlands were not mapped in detail and jurisdictional wetlands were not delineated in this survey. U

Disturbance

The area between Building 22-002 and SL12 has been disturbed by snow being disposed of over the bluff and by activities associated with the ARRC (Figure 3-14). These latter activities include the cutting of some woody vegetation, disposal of scrap material from railroad tracks, and the renovation of a spur track that was under way during the June 1992 survey. Consequently, the trees in that area are smaller than those in other areas.

In recent years, trees have also been cut in the area northwest of the large beaver pond (near SL22), and in an area north of the JP-4 fuel tanks. The history of these disturbances was not investigated; some are evident in the 1982 aerial photographs.

Although visible effects on the habitat types were less obvious in 1992, two areas of irregular topography were noted, suggesting that disposal activities had occurred there in the past. One area (between SL06 and SL08) was wooded; the other (north of SL26) was a grassy peninsula extending from the bluff to the wetland. Both areas had numerous truckload-sized mounds that contained apparent construction debris and other materials. In addition, concrete and metal debris was observed at several other locations, especially below the bluff.

Reference Sites

Three areas were surveyed as potential reference sites for the wetlands in OU 5, but none was found to be suitable for comparison. A large beaver pond east of the Ship Creek Hatchery Dam appeared to have very different characteristics (including water source, depth, and vegetation) from those north of Ship Creek in OU 5. Another beaver pond east of the JP-4 fuel tanks (SL29) was initially considered (in May 1992) to be a better reference site for the large SD40 beaver pond. In June, however, vegetation in this pond was noted as showing stress similar to that at SL19, SL25, and SL26. For this reason, it was considered unsuitable as a reference site. Another apparently natural wetland was located west of the Loop Road and a little south of the east-west runway's west approach (between the approach and some gravel pits). This wetland, which is clearly visible in the 1982 aerial photos, was observed to contain vegetation that was mostly sedges in the water and grasses and heavily browsed alder above the water level. This habitat is not comparable to wetlands in OU 5. Several small wood frogs were observed around this wetland. Further surveys may be needed to identify reference sites. However, it appears that other areas of Elmendorf AFB will not be readily comparable to the wetlands along the bluff within OU 5.^h For sampling in the OU 5 wetlands, it may be possible to compare affected areas to nonaffected areas in the same wetland.

Miscellancous

It was noted that walking through the large beaver pond in the vicinity of SL22 (Figure 2-1) caused an oil sheen to appear on the water surface. The sheen was accompanied by a strong petroleum odor. At SL24, which is downstream from Source ST46 and flows into the large beaver pond, oil floated to the water surface although the sediment in this channel was not disturbed. The sheens at these two locations were caused by oil,

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

^bThis information was obtained from Allen Richmond, natural resource planner at Elmendorf AFB, during a site visit on June 29, 1992.

which was detected in the surface water and sediment samples, but sheens observed at many other identified sceps (see Section 2.1) were apparently caused by bacteria. However, petroleum odors had been noted at many of those sceps.

۲

3.6.2.2 Fauna

Mammals

Trapping of small mammals showed that voles and shrews live close to seeps and at the margins of wetlands near those locations. A total of 25 voles and 17 shrews were captured (Table 3-8). Trapping success varied by location and season, as well as the type of trap. Some nights the live traps were more productive; on other nights, the snap traps captured more animals.

Most of the voles from the steeper, wooded bluff habitats were red-backed voles (*Clethrionomys rutilus*), whereas all of the voles from more open and grassy habitats appeared to be meadow voles (*Microtus pennsylvanicus*). The shrew species have yet to be identified, but most shrews appeared to be masked shrews (*Sorex cinereus*). Positive identification would require dissection of the skulls; this may not be necessary for current purposes.

Beavers and muskrats were observed in the pond below the snow disposal area and in the beaver ponds at SL23, SL24, and SL29.

Among the larger mammals, moose were observed near the snow disposal area (between SL10 and SL11), where they were feeding. Their droppings were found throughout much of OU 5. Bear scat was observed at two locations near SL23. Although the age of the scat could not be determined, the droppings were probably from the spring of 1992. No other large mammals (or signs of their presence) were observed.

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 3-	-8
----------	----

0

۲

Results of Small-Mammal Trapping Survey

tion of the second second										
				÷.		25	3	27		
Shrows Captured	2	0	0	1	3	2	6	3	3	14
Voles Captured	0	2	4	3	9	4	3	3	6	16
Trapping Success*	0.03	0.03	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.06	0.12	0.19	0.28	0.14

* Animals coptaced per trap-night; other values are members of animals captured.

•

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Birds

A wide variety of bird species was observed during surveys in OU 5 (Table 3-9). About half the species reported by Rothe et al (1983) in the basewide natural resource study were not observed during the surveys of OU 5, which was not surprising; the latter surveys were conducted in a smaller area over a limited time. However, the surveys indicate that wetlands in OU 5 are used by more than 15 species of waterfowl and shorebirds, and that several species nest there during spring and early summer.

۲

In addition to waterfowl and shorebirds, other species were observed in various OU 5 habitats, including grouse, kingfishers, woodpeckers, swallows, magpies, ravens, and 13 species of songbird (Table 3-9). The feeding habits of these birds vary widely; some forage in the forest canopy whereas others, such as robins, eat mainly invertebrates taken from the ground.

Amphibians

Adult-size wood frogs were observed on 2 days near SL23, and one wood frog that was about one-half adult size was observed near SL29 on 1 day. Wood frog tadpoles were caught in nets during the surveys of aquatic invertebrates in the beaver pond near SL22 and SL23.ⁱ No frog eggs were observed in any of the OU 5 wetlands during either survey.

ⁱThis information was obtained in a telephone conversation with Steve Hope, an aquatic ecologist with CH2M HILL, on June 22, 1992.

Elemenderf APB OU 5 RI/FE Report

Bird List for Elmendorf Air Force Base

					ř.			1	
]	3	2	1	1	1	1	
Red thread Loon	Gente stellese								
Arotic Loon	Genie antice	J							
Common Leon	Gents human								
Romed Gene	Adopt autor								
Red-excited Grabe	Pediape gringme	υ		×			×		
Thereis June	Cygnus columbianus		2						
Canada Goose	Press canadants		Н	×	×	×	×		×
Green winged Teal	And creek	υ	H	x	×		×		×
Mallard	And playtynches		Н	x		×	×		×
Northern Piatail	Anne acuse	•	H						
Mus-winged Teal	And Breez		H						
Northern Shoreler	Anes chipses		н	X					
American Wigeon	And and care	c	Н	X	×		×	×	×
Ring-mechand Duck	Aysthys collieris		AT, H						
Greater Scamp	Aydhye merike		H						
Louis Scarp	Aydiya affinis		Н						
Scarp Species			H	×					
Harlequin Duck	Retences historicus	9	Н	×					
White-winged Scoter	Melanites Juce		H						
Common Goldeneye	Puccphale clangede		H						

dorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report Ð

õ

3-79

vj

٢

1

•

)

(Continued)

					Ī		•	
					it;		1	
			3		У.			
Berrow's Goldsenys	Burghala lalandice	v	H	x				
This Bagin	Reference Incocopheter			x				
Northern Herrier	Circus symmetry							
Breinson's Hart	Auto material							
Red-tailed Hart	Base janaicente	C						
Gaiden Begis	Aquile chynester		2					
Species Genues	Dendrugene canadarais	C	78 , H			x		
White-tailed Premipes	Lagopur laucuru							
Willow Parnigan	Lapopur lapopur							
Northern Bobwhite Quali	Colinue virginianue							
Sauthill Cross	Orus canadantis							
Semipelensed Plover	Charachtar amigachasar	S						
Geneter Yellowings	Thigs mismine			x				
Lesser Yellowings	Tringe Jeripee			x				
Yellowings Species		C						
Spotted Sandpiper	Actitie mecularie	•		x	×	×	×	×
Whimbred	Nender phenopur			×				
Western Sendpiper	Califorte menuri							

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

3-80

•

٢

(Continued)

					l				
		Ĩ			1	1			
Loss Sandyine	Califyte minuelle	8		×					
Shart-tilled Dowleder	يستابح يستخمسان	9							
Long-tilled Dowlader	Limnedomme acetopacem			×					
Red-sected Plaintys	Philoryna labana	υ		x			×		
Common Sains	Gellinge gellinge	υ		X			×	×	
Bompate's Gull	Love philadephic	S		x					
Mere Ouli	Lanu canu	υ		×	×		×	×	×
Genous singed Oalt	Lene plancement								
Arctic Tern	Storne paradisare								
Aloution Torn	Sterne elevelos								
Rock Dow	Columba Brie	8	Н	×			×		
Greet Horney Owl	Auto virginianu	υ							
Bobol Kingfider	Caryle alcyan	8		×	×				
Downy Woodpeaker	Notidae pubacane								
Hairy Woodpecker	Picotder villeme	υ					×		
Three cost Woodpeakar	Posidas tridecylus	υ							
Marte Janahad Woodparchar	Pooldes arcticus	9							
Northern Plicker	Colepter surging	υ							

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

3-81

٢

F

ŧ

)

Table 3-9 (Continued)

					N		1	
	There have		1		1			
Olive-sided Physiolaher	Comput borradie	•						
Western Wood perso	Conserve and the day	s						
Alder Flyostoher	Bupidones aboren	8						
Thes Swellow	Tachychese Moeler	J						
Violat-green Swillow	Techychese Anlautine	c		x		×		
Back Swallow	Nparie ripurte	J						
Cliff Swellow	Abundo pyrthonote	υ				×		
Gery Jay	Pertoerus condensis	C						
Bind - billed Magnie	Nos pice			x	×	×		×
Common Raven	Carrue const	c		x		×		
Mack-sepped Chistades	Para ericepline	υ		x				
Bornel Chicknes	Parte Indonécie	υ						
Red breated Number	Sine canadonale							
Brown Creeper	Contris emotions	υ						
American Dipper	Chicker meticener	•3		x		x		
Golden arowned Kinglet	Reputur antropo	Ø						
Ruby-crowned Kinglet	Reprine colordinie	υ		×		×		
Swainson's Threat	Catanu unidate	υ						
Hermit Threeh	Cehene publike							

9

•

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 3-9 (Continued)

					ţ			1	
J]	3	1	2	1		1	2
American Robin	Turbu signantus	υ		×			×	×	×
Varied Threek	hoven narries	υ							
Gay sheeted Threek	Contrast in the second s								
Bohomina Warwing	Beniycille gernius								
Northern Shrike	Lenius accubitor								
Orange crowned Warbler	Verniture colore	υ		x			×	x	
Yakow Warbler	Dembroice prescrite	9		x					
Yellow-cumped Wathise	Dendrates coronate	υ					x		
Towmed's Webber	Dentroice tormacuit								
Wilson's Wathlet	Whenis putile								
Bindipoli Wathier	Dembreice artese	9							
Northern Waterthreet	Seture soutorecents								
Several Sparce	Pressonate sendente	69		×					
Rox Spericer	Personale Macc	υ							
Song Sparrow	Kelepise meleke	9							
Lincoln's Sperrow	Melegias Incolui	υ							
Golden-crowned Sourrow	Zonosłałka astagelija			×	1				

3-83

۲

۲

õ

۲

1

)

•

•

Þ

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Richards (1		•	
					ţ			
		j	J				1	
White connect	Zenorichie leucephye	υ		X		x		
Amadiana Tree Spectros	Spizelle arberne							
Dark-ayed Junco	Janco kyanaka	υ				×		
Lephad Longour	Calcutus lapponicus							
Reaty Machhied	Eighegus carolinus	υ		×		x	×	
Greet tailed Grackle	Quincaius menicanus							
Plan Grothesk	Phricols anchair							
White winged Crossbill	Latte leucopiere	ø						
Pine Sinkin	Controlls pines			×		×		

5

2

s: Roth et al. (1993)

٢

۲

ŏ

۲

.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Õ

۲

•

Page

4.1	Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening	
	4.1.1 Results	
	4.1.2 Discussion	4
4.2	Soil	4
	4.2.1 Results	4
	4.2.2 Discussion	. 4
4.3	Groundwater	4
	4.3.1 Results	4
	4.3.2 Discussion	4
4.4	Surface Water and Sediments	4
	4.4.1 Results	4
	4.4.2 Discussion	4
4.5	Aquatic Biota	4
	4.5.1 Results	4
	4.5.2 Discussion	4
46	Terretrial Diants and Animals	4-1

Elemenderf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Ĵ

4-i

LIST OF FIGURES

ŧ

Ċ

ŧ

	Page
4.1a	Study Subarcas
4.1b	Study Subareas
4.2a	Soil Gas Screening Results - Total VOCs and Petroleum Hydrocarbons 4-10
4.2b	Soil Gas Screening Results - Total VOCs and Petroleum Hydrocarbons 4-11
4.3a	Groundwater Screening Results - Total VOCs
4.3b	Groundwater Screening Results - Total VOCs
4.4a	Groundwater Screening Results - Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons
4.4b	Groundwater Screening Results - Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons
4.5a	Organic Contaminants Detected in Soil
4.5b	Organic Contaminants Detected in Soil
4.6a	Inorganic Elements Detected in Soil Above Background Levels
4.6b	Inorganic Elements Detected in Soil Above Background Levels
4.7a	Organic Contaminants Detected in Upper Aquifer Groundwater 4-46
4.7b	Organic Contaminants Detected in Upper Aquifer Groundwater 4-47
4.8	Location of Lower Aquifer Wells for Background Comparison 4-56
4.9	Piper Plot Comparing Confined & Unconfined Groundwater Results, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
4.10a	Organic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment
4.1 0 b	Organic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment
4.11a	Inorganic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment 4-86
4.11b	Inorganic Constituents Detected in Surface Water and Sediment 4-87

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

LIST OF FIGURES (CONTINUED)

E

3

Ű

Page

4.12a	Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed	
4.12b	Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed	

Elmender! APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-iii

LIST OF TABLES

4-1	Summary of Screening Results for Soil Gas
4-2	Summary of Screening Results for Groundwater
4-3	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Soil (Quick Turnaround Results)
4-4	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Soil (Normal Turnaround Results)
4-5	Background Metal Concentrations for Elmendorf AFB Soils
4-6	Summary of Analytical Results for Metals in Soil
4-7	Total Metals in Fly Ash and Fly Ash Leachate Samples
4-8	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)
4-9	Summary of Analytical Results for Dissolved Metals in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)
4-10	Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)
4-11	Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Water Supply Wells (Lower Aquifer)
4-12	Background Comparison of Total Metals and Anions in Groundwater for Lower Aquifer Wells near Ship Creek
4-13	Comparison of Downgradient to Upgradient Total Metals for the Upper Aquifer
4-14	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Surface Water
4-15	Summary of Analytical Results for Dissolved Metals in Surface Water 4-73
4-16	Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Surface Water 4-75

Bimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-iv

.

E

Ć

LIST OF TABLES (CONTINUED)

6

Ć

Page

4-17	Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Sediment
4-18	Summary of Analytical Results for Metals in Sediment
4-19	Results of Acute Toxicity Testing of Surface Water and Sediments 4-99
4-20	Results of Chronic Toxicity Testing of Surface Water and Sediments 4-101
4-21	Summary of Inorganic Elements (mg/kg, dry weight) in Soils and Plants from Areas Where Plant Stress was Observed
4-22	Maximum Measured Concentrations and Location of Fuel Hydrocarbons in Soils from Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed
4-23	Comparison of Soil Chemistry for Samples from Areas Where Plant Stress was Observed

Emendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4-v

4.9 NATURE AND EXTENT OF CONTAMINATION

In this section, the nature and extent of contamination at OU 5 are summarized using data obtained during the 1992 field investigation. Results of previous investigations are discussed when necessary to complete the summary.

۲

In keeping with the objectives for this RI (Section 1.1), the sampling program was designed to determine the influence of upgradient contaminant sources on the OU 5 areas, the approximate extent and nature of contamination in the OU 5 area, and the potential for offsite migration of OU 5 contaminants and subsequent impacts on Ship Creek. To facilitate an evaluation of the data in terms of these three objectives, the OU 5 study area was divided into the following seven study subareas:

- The upgradient area;
- The pipeline corridor;
- The waste paint tank area;
- The lower bluff;
- The Post Road corridor;
- The golf course beaver pond; and
- Ship Creek.

The study subareas are shown on Figure 4-1. Potential contamination within the industrial area between Post Road and Ship Creek was not evaluated as part of this investigation.

The upgradient area includes soil and groundwater data collected from the installation of seven monitoring wells located hydraulically upgradient of the OU 5 source areas. The groundwater data provide information on whether contamination is migrating

4-1

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report





from upgradient sources into the OU 5 areas, and the soil data from these borings is a useful reference for soil data collected within and downgradient from the OU 5 sources. All of the known OU 5 source areas occur along a pipeline corridor that runs east-west along the top of the bluff. If undiscovered leaks have occurred in the pipeline, their impact would be observed within this subarea. Soil data collected from the vadose zone within the pipeline corridor will be evaluated to determine if areas of contaminated soil are currently contaminating groundwater beneath OU 5. A smaller area within the pipeline corridor, the waste paint tank area, was evaluated separately using data from soil boring and monitoring well MW11 because the waste paint tank source area is different from the OU 5 petroleum contamination sources.

 (\bullet)

The remaining study subareas are located hydraulically downgradient from the pipeline corridor and are useful for evaluating the potential for offsite migration of OU 5 contaminants and their impacts on Ship Creek. The lower bluff area is adjacent and immediately downgradient of the western half of the pipeline corridor. This hillside is well vegetated with trees and shrubs and there are numerous groundwater seeps along the bank. Similarly, the golf course beaver pond area is adjacent and downgradient of the eastern half of the pipeline corridor. This area is also well vegetated and contains beaver ponds and wetland areas. Both of these subareas are of interest for the ecological assessments because aquatic and terrestrial receptors could be affected by contaminated groundwater seeping out of the bluffs or entering the shallow groundwater table. Soil, groundwater, surface water and sediment data, terrestrial plants and animals, and aquatic biota are evaluated within this study subarea.

The Post Road corridor is a group of six monitoring wells located along a business district of Post Road and the ARRC right-of-way. This area represents the offsite location closest to OU 5 where human activities occur on a daily basis. If groundwater contaminants are migrating away from source areas in the western half of OU 5, it is expected that they would be detected in the shallow Post Road corridor wells. This area is also hydraulically upgradient from the industrial area south of Post Road, where known and

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

potential sources of contamination could interfere with evaluating contaminants migrating from OU 5 sources. As discussed in Section 1.2.1, this RI does not address potential impacts caused by offsite sources in the Post Road industrial area. (\cdot)

۲

Ship Creek is the recipient of groundwater and surface water drainage from the southern part of Elmendorf AFB. Surface water and sediment data and aquatic biota in Ship Creek were evaluated to determine the nature and extent of contamination from OU 5 sources that could affect Ship Creek.

The division of OU 5 into subareas does not necessarily represent differences in observed site contamination. Rather, the division provides a convenient way to organize the discussion of the large quantity of data obtained during the field investigation. Some contaminants may, in fact, be present in all areas, and may be attributed to the same source(s).

In addition to the division of OU 5 into seven study subareas, much of the discussion on observed contaminants is divided into three categories:

- Petroleum hydrocarbons (including gasoline, diesel, JP-4, BTEX, and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [PAHs]);
- Nonpetroleum organics (including halogenated volatile organics and PCBs); and
- Metals.

These chemical categories represent, in most situations at OU 5, different sources, different impacts on human and biological receptors, and different fate and transport mechanisms. A summary of the analytical data is presented with each section. Although all pre-existing and new monitoring wells and new borings were sampled during the field investigation, the data summary tables and figures in Section 4 only present detected results. Therefore, if sampling in a specific study subarea did not yield any detectable analytes, the summary tables

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

omit the subarea from the summary and no data is posted for the sampling location on the figures. Complete analytical results for the field investigation are presented in Appendix K.

(4)

۲

۲

Summaries of analytical results are presented for each medium discussed in Section 4 to summarize the constituents detected and present several descriptive statistics (range of detected values, geometric mean, arithmetic mean, number of detections versus number of samples, and percent of samples with detections. Geometric means are computed by converting the data to \log_{10} values, calculating the mean, and converting the \log_{10} mean back to an arithmetic value. Both the arithmetic and geometric means are calculated using one-half the detection limit for non-detection results. Therefore, when the number of detections versus number of samples is low, the calculated means will be influenced more by the analytical detection limits than by the results for detected constituents. In some cases, the calculated mean values may be less than the lower detected value or greater than the highest detected value because of this calculation method. Therefore, it is necessary to consider the number of detections versus the sample size when interpreting the mean values in the summary tables.

The discussion of the nature and extent of contamination will be presented in six sections:

- Soil gas and groundwater screening;
- Soil;
- Groundwater and seeps;
- Surface water and sediments;
- Aquatic biota; and
- Terrestrial plants and animals.

It is understood that there will be significant chemical interaction between media in some situations. This interaction will be discussed in this chapter and further refined in Section 5, Conceptual Model.

(4)

۲

4.1 Soil Gas and Groundwater Screening

4.1.1 Results

Field screening of soil gas and groundwater samples was performed to give relative, order-of-magnitude estimates of the presence of VOCs and petroleum hydrocarbons at OU 5, and to focus the placement of soil borings and monitoring wells around suspected source areas. The soil gas screening results are qualitative and indicate the absence or presence of constituents and their relative concentrations. The soil gas results are presented as unitless quantities because the field screening instruments were not calibrated to independent gaseous standards. Groundwater screening results are considered to be semiquantitative to a minimum concentration of approximately 0.5 μ g/L for VOCs and 10 μ g/L for BTEX compounds. The petroleum hydrocarbon scans (C₆-C₉ and C₁₀-C₂) are considered estimates of fuel contamination because quantitations were based on estimates of both retention times and response factors for fuel hydrocarbons.

A summary of the compounds detected in the soil gas and groundwater screenings surveys are presented in Tables 4-1 and 4-2, respectively. Figures 4-2, 4-3, and 4-4 display the locations of the detections for an order-of-magnitude comparison of results. Areas that appeared to have relatively high concentrations of VOCs or petroleum hydrocarbons were targeted for soil borings and monitoring wells during the field investigation. Table 4-1

Summary of Screening Results for Soil Gas

anty Subara	Dentied Compared	Range of Detected Values (ins with)	Gemetic Men	Arithmetic Meetic	No of Surger	and and
eline Corridor	1,1,1-Trichloroethane	0.0002 - 0.084	4.37 x 10 ⁴	4.93 x 10 ³	22/88	25
	Tetrachloroethylene (PCE)	0.0005 - 0.06	2.98 x 10 ⁴	2.48 x 10 ³	20/90	2
	Trichloroethylene (TCE)	0.0003 - 0.5	3.82 x 10 ⁺	1.00 x 10 ²	13/90	14
	TVHC CI0-X	7 - 290	2.91 x 10 ¹	4.42 x 10°	4/90	*
	TVHC C4-9	0.6 - 610	3.13 x 10 ¹	8.02 x 10°	6/90	7
	cis-1,2-Dichloroethylens	0.02 - 0.4	1.88 x 10 ⁻²	3.44 x 10 ²	20/90	ឧ

Note: Soil ges results are uniders.

٢

۲

۲

D

Ð

۵

Ð

Elementer AFE OU 5 RJ/PS Report

Table 4-2

			an a			
		. Range of	Geometric	Artthunetic	Detuction	Percent
	Detected Command	Detected Values (un/D	Minner (mt/D	Mana (mt/D	Nad	
Golf Course Beaver	Trichloroethylene (TCE)	0.7 - 12	5.43 x 10 ⁻¹	1.46 x 10 ⁶	13/40	33
Pond Area	TVHC C10-X	27 - 9300	2.58 x 10 ⁴	6.35 x 10 ²	14/40	35
	TVHC C4-9	11 - 510000	\$.07 x 10 ⁴	2.91 x 10 ⁴	20/40	50
	cis-1,2-Dichlorosthyleas	0.8 - 53	1.30 x 10 ⁴	4.47 x 10 ⁰	23/40	58
Lower Blaff Area	1,1,1-Trichloroethans	1 - 2	2. 87 x 10 ⁻¹	3.50 x 10 ⁻¹	2/25	•
	Trichloroethylens (TCE)	0.6 - 1	2.83 x 10 ⁻¹	3.06 x 10 ⁻¹	3/25	12
	TVHC C10-X	43 - 11000	5.02 x 10 ⁴	1.51 x 10 ³	10/25	40
	TVHC 74-9	12 - 91000	1.71 x 10 ²	5.83 x 10 ³	17/25	68
	cis-1,2-L716 soroethylene	0.9 - 45	6.26 x 10 ⁻¹	2.88 x 10 ⁰	9/25	36
	trans-1,2-Dichloroethene	0.7 - 9	4.06 x 10 ⁻¹	1.14 x 10 ⁰	5/25	20
Pipeline Corridor	ТУНС С10-Х	19 - NA	NA	NA	1/11	9
	тунс с4-9	16 - 1000	1.13 x 10 ⁴	1.01 x 10 ²	3/11	27
	cis-1,2-Dichloroethylese	0.6 - 32	5.08 x 10 ⁻¹	3.33 x 10 ⁴	3/11	27
Post Road Corridor	TVHC C10-X	58 - 540	9.25 x 10 ⁴	4.75 x 10 ¹	3/17	18
	TVHC C4-9	24 - 19000	3.47 x 10 ⁴	1.87 x 10 ³	1 /17	47
	trans-1,2-Dichloroethene	0.8 - NA	NA	NA	1/17	6
Ship Creak Area	TVHC C4-9	19 - NA	NA	NA	1/4	25
	cis-1,2-Dichlorocthylese	1 - 2	8.41 x 10 ⁻¹	1.06 x 10 ⁰	3/4	75

Summary of Screening Results for Groundwater

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

.

Δ.

۲

۲

۲








.....

) 1910-1910-1910







.....





•













•





. .





4.1.2 Discussion

The soil gas acreening results showed detections of 1,1,1-trichloroethane, cis-1,2-dichloroethene, trichloroethene, and tetrachloroethene at numerous locations in western OU 5 along the pipeline corridor and south of the railroad tracks along the Post Road corridor. The pattern of detections does not indicate a localized source area in OU 5 for VOCs. The widespread occurrence of VOCs in soil gas may be indicative of groundwater contaminants transported from upgradient sources. ۲

Petroleum-range hydrocarbons were detected in soil gas at only five locations, and no BTEX compounds were detected. Most of the petroleum hydrocarbon hits were detected south of the railroad tracks along the Post Road corridor where groundwater is generally within 10 feet of the surface and may indicate fuel contamination in the groundwater.

Groundwater screening results indicated the presence of VOCs at several of the lower bluff area seeps on western OU 5, south of Post Road near the golf course clubhouse, and, in eastern OU 5, around the JP-4 storage tanks and along the northern bank of Ship Creek. The widespread occurrence and relatively low-level concentrations suggest that the VOCs are migrating in the groundwater from an unknown upgradient source.

Petroleum-range hydrocarbons were observed in reasonably tight clusters at groundwater seeps and in shallow groundwater below known source areas. Groups of hits were found below Sources ST37, ST38/SS42, SS53, and ST46.

Based on the soil gas and groundwater screening results, soil borings were placed along the pipeline corridor at Source ST37 (borings SB18 through SB21 and SB29), at the western end of Sources ST38/SS42 (borings SB22 and SB23), and along the pipeline corridor near Source SS53 (borings SB26, SB27, and SB28). Monitoring wells were installed to extend the coverage of the existing monitoring well network and to confirm the

4-16

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

presence of contaminants observed in the groundwater screening survey. New wells in western OU 5 were placed between the bluff and Ship Creek along the Post Road corridor (wells MW12 through MW17) and along the north bank of Ship Creek in the golf course beaver pond area (wells MW09, MW10, MW30, and MW31).

 (\mathbf{z})

۲

4.2 <u>Soil</u>

4.2.1 Results

Soil samples were obtained from at least three depths for each soil boring in the upgradient area and the pipeline corridor to evaluate the presence of source area contamination in the vadose zone. The sampling intervals included surface soils (zero to 2 feet) at six locations, and for all borings, between surface and the water table at 10- and 25-foot depths, and at the water table. Samples were also collected at the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation in borings SB19, SB21, SB23, and SB28 to evaluate the presence of DNAPLs. In the shallow groundwater areas along Post Road and the golf course beaver pond, soil samples were obtained from a single depth at the top of the water table.

All soil boring samples were analyzed for organic compounds by the quickturnaround time CSL in Corvallis, Oregon. The CSL analyses included four Method 8010 compounds (1,1,1-TCA; trans-1,2-DCE; TCE; and PCE); Method 8015 total fuel hydrocarbon tests for gasoline, diesel, and JP-4 range organics; and four Method 8020 compounds (BTEX compounds). The CSL data are reported on an as-received (wet weight) basis. A summary of detection frequencies, ranges of values, and arithmetic and geometric means for the CSL data is presented in Table 4-3. Figure 4-5 shows the locations for detected organic constituents in soil.

Approximately 10% of the soil boring samples were split and analyzed by the normal (30-day) turnaround time laboratory in Redding, California, for the Method 8010 (full list), Method 8015, Method 8020 (BTEX), and Method 8270 (semivolatile organic)

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

۲

۲

٢

Study Subarva	Depth -	Detected Compound	Range of Detected Volume (rg/hg)	Growersteite Meess (reg/kg)	Artthumatic Migan (ng/kg)	No. ef Detections/ No. of Samples	Percent of Samples
Upgradient	Deep	JP-4	80410 - NA	NA	NA	1/20	5
	Deep	TFH Direct	38880 - NA	NA	NA	1/20	5
	Deep	TFH Ges	50000 - 50000	2.68 x 10 ⁴	2.75 x 10 ⁴	2/20	10
Pipeline Corridor	Deep	Benzone	20 - NA	NA	NA	1/34	3
	Deep	Ethylbenzene	220 - NA	NA	NA	1/34	3
	Deep	JP-4	89050 - 164590	2.74 x 10 ⁴	3.10 x 10 ⁴	2/34	6
	Deep	M,P-Xylene (Sum of Isomers)	660 - NA	NA	NA	1/34	3
	Deep	O-Xylene (1,2-Dimethyl benzene)	540 - NA	NA	NA	1/34	3
	Deep	TFH Diesel	56630 - 172180	2.86 x 10 ⁴	3.42 x 10 ⁴	3/34	9
	Deep	Toluenc	390 - 510	2.96 x 10 ¹	5.00 x 10 ¹	2/34	6
Waste Paint Tank	Deep	Ethylbenzene	638 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	Deep	M,P-Xylene (Sum of Isomers)	8298 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	Deep	O-Xylene (1,2-Dimethyl benzene)	1077 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	Deep	Toluene	132 - 166	8.18 x 10 ¹	1.08 x 10 ²	2/3	67
Lower Bluff	Deep	JP-4	606980 - NA	NA	NA	1/4	25
	Deep	TFH Diesel	143110 - 1160000	1.01 x 10 ⁵	3.38 x 10 ⁵	2/4	50
	Deep	TFH Gas	7400 - 168000	1.51 x 10 ⁴	5.02 x 10 ⁴	2/5	40
Post Road Corridor	Deep	Tolucne	68 - NA	NA	NA	דע	14

Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Soil (Quick Turnaround Results)

Note: Remits reported on "as received" (wet weight) basis. NA = Nat Applicable due to only one reported value.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report





٢

۲

۲

4-20

compounds. In addition, surface and root-zone soil samples collected as part of the terrestrial ecological survey for evaluating plant stress in OU 5 were analyzed for Method 8010 (full list), Method 8015, and Method 8020 (BTEX) compounds by a normal (30-day) turnaround time laboratory. The 30-day turnaround time results are reported on a dry-weight basis. A summary of these results is presented in Table 4-4 and the detected compounds are also shown on Figure 4-5.

Metals were evaluated first by comparing soil sample concentrations to background concentrations obtained during the basewide background sampling activities (CH2M HILL 1992a). A statistical summary of background metals in Elmendorf AFB soils is presented in Table 4-5. To evaluate metal results in soil samples from OU 5, each sample result was compared to the upper tolerance limit (UTL) in Table 4-5, which is defined as the 99th percentile value calculated at a 95% confidence interval. If the soil concentration is higher than the background comparison level, the possible reasons for this are discussed. Table 4-6 presents a summary of analytical results for metals in the soil samples from OU 5, including the number of results that exceeded background comparison levels. The sampling locations where metals exceeded background levels are presented on Figure 4-6. Only metals that are considered contaminants of concern for the human health risk assessments and ecological evaluations presented in subsequent sections of this report are shown on the figure.

Fly ash deposits have been observed on the lower bluff areas below Monitoring Well SP1-02, and were documented in the boring logs for pre-existing wells SP2/6-03, SP2/6-04, GW-6A, and SP2/6-05. Composite fly ash samples from two locations on the bluff below well SP1-02 were collected and analyzed for total TAL metals and metals in leachate using a modified EP (extraction procedure) Toxicity Test procedure with deionized water as the extractant. Results for the fly ash analyses are summarized in Table 4-7.

Background soil metal concentrations were also compared to levels in volcanic ash deposits at OU 5. On the evening of August 18, 1992, a volcanic eruption of Mount

4-21

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

			Range of	Currents	Antonia	No. of	Provent
j	1	Detected Compound	Yahan Ganhar	Mass (reflet)	Nines (na/ka)	No. of Sumpton	el Sample
Mpoline Corridor	Deep	4-Nitrophenal	100 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Deep	Diethyl phthalate	49 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Deep	Pyrone	44 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
Wasto Paint Tank	Deep	Di-a-butyl philadate	39 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Diothyl phthalate	41 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Bihylbonzone	51 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100 `
	Deep	JP-4	14000 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	TFH Geo	4100 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Tokens	7.8 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Xylenes, 10tal	1800 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	bie(2-Bihylhexyl) phtheiste	16 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
Lower Blaff	Surface	Benno(k)fivozanthene	43 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Surface	Bhylbonasas	200 - 202	7.98 x 10 ⁹	4.03 x 10 ⁴	2/11	18
	Surface	Phoceathons	63 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Suchos	JP-4	1000 - NA	NA	NA	1/10	10
	Suctions	Phonesthrone	39 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Suction	Pyrone	67 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Suchos	TPH Dises	6100 - 83000	5.67 x 10 ⁴	1.70 x 10 ⁴	7/11	64
	Surface	TFH Ges	39500 - 310000	2.08 x 10 ⁴	5.53 x 10 ⁴	3/11	27
	Suches	Tokene	16.3 - NA	NA	NA	1/11	9
	Suction	Xylenes, Total	565 - 3940	2.10 x 10 ⁴	6.91 x 10 [#]	3/11	27
	Suctors	bie(2-Bibylhexyl) philadate	49 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Root	Donmone	13.3 - 14.9	7.47 x 10 ⁴	9.30 x 10 ⁴	2/6	33
	Root	TFH Dissel	720000 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
	Root	TTFE Gas	271000 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17

Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Soil (Normal Turnaround Results)

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

.

١

۲

ŏ

٢

۲

۲

)

.

(Continued)

ł	Depa	المحمد المحمد	Namp of Desired Velasi Colla	Connecteda Minan Log/Agt	Artemente Mana Grafia	No. of Description No. of Stangets	Parcel V Sample
	Root	Token	63.9 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
	Root	Xylenes, Total	1980 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
	Deep	2-Mothylasphthalous	48 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Anthracone	63 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
i	Deep	Bonzo(s)anthraceas	200 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Beano(a)pyreas	330 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Bonno(b)fluoranthone	160 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Basso(g,h,i)peryless	100 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Benno(k)floornathous	180 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Chrysses	240 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Phorambons	300 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyreas	98 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Phonesthrone	240 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	Ругово	280 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Deep	bis(2-sthylhexyl) phthalate	280 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
Post Road Comidor	Surface	TFH Dissoi	2000 - NA	NA	NA	1/4	25
	Root	TPH Dissel	3000 - NA	NA	NA	1/4	25
Golf Course Beaver	Suches	TPH Disset	29000 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
Post	Deep	4-Methylphonol (p-cocce)	51 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100

Note: Results reported on a dry weight basis. NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported w

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

. . . .

۲

۲

õ

۲

ana sectara								600 A 2 4 4 4 5		
			C						There	Number of Poliste
								Upper	Candidana	Encoding the
						Munher	of Man-	Tulorance Làndi [*]	Charles Anno	Upper Televance
		10		<u> <u></u></u>		of Canad	Detecto	(mate)	(mythe)	Limit
Aluminum	Suchor	4,750	15,094	25,000	5,813	14	0	35,627	19,211	0
	Root zons*	14,850	19,700	23,800	2,391	14	0	31,655	21,393	0
	Deep*	9,830	12,878	16,600	1,606	21	0	18,013	13,764	0
Astimony	Surface	1.45	1.83	3.40	N/A	14	13	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Root zone	1.20	1.40	1.60	N/A	14	14	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Deep	1.10	1.29	3.10	N/A	21	20	N/A	N/A	N/A
Americ	Surface	3.90	7.20	13.10	2.54	14	0	16.18	9.00	0
	Root zone	4.70	6.87	9.60	1.28	14	0	11.40	7.78	0
	Deep	3.50	5.46	8.35	1.18	21	0	9.24	6.12	0
Decium	Suchos	77.3	113.8	154.0	24.9	14	0	201.7	131.4	0
	Root zons	43.4	103.3	171.0	31.4	14	0	214.3	125.5	0
	Deep	37.1	54.5	82.5	12.7	21	0	95.0	61.5	0
Boryllium	Suchos	0.12	0.37	0.62	0.15	14	3	0.91	0.47	0
	Root zone	0.29	0.41	0.55	0.06	14	0	6.70	0.46	0
	Deep	0.09	0.28	0.45	0.11	21	3	0.63	0.34	0
Codesium	Juchos	0.17	1.07	1.95	0.55	14	2	3.01	1.46	0
	Root zone	0.93	1.62	1.90	0.26	14	0	2.53	1.80	0
	Deep	0.96	1.63	2.70	0.44	21	0	1.03	1.87	0
Calcium	Suchos	1,330	2,803	8,210	1,721	14	0	6 2011	4,021	0
	Root zone	1,730	3,283	7,530	1,474	14	o	1.00	4,327	0
	Deep	2,900	5,312	10,800	1,503	20	0	19,100	6,165	1
Chromium	Suchos	9.6	19.8	34.3	8.1	14	0	•.4	25.5	0
	Rost zone	19.0	31.8	45.3	6.4	14	0		36.3	0
	Deep	18.5	31.6	80.9	13.9	21	0	76.1	39.3	1
Cobait	Suchos	1.3	7.1	12.6	3.9	14	2	29.7	9.81	0
	Root 2000	7.2	12.3	14.3	2.2	14	0	30.2	13.8	0
	Deep	7.2	11.1	16.6	2.0	21	0	17.5	12.2	0

Background Metal Concentrations for Elmendorf AFB Soils

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

T

(Continued)

			ĉ					Ugger	Unior: 59% Couldense	Musiker of Points Recording the
) 1										Upper Telerance Linek
Abunimum	Sector	4,750	15,094	25,000	5,813	14	0	85,627	19,211	0
Copper	Junhos	7.8	14.8	24.8	4.9	14	0	22.2	18.3	0
	Root 2080	14.0	20.8	28.3	4.0	14	0	9.7	23.6	0
	Deep	14.5	29.5	59.9	9.3	21	0	92	34.7	1
lice	Jurface	8,970	22,359	32,700	7,609	14	0	e 27	27,748	0
	Root some	23,450	28,082	32,000	3,039	14	0	50,515	30,235	0
	Deep	18,500	24,581	38,000	4,262	21	0	35,219	26,932	0
Land	Suchos	4.30	6.93	11.10	1.80	14	0	LCI	8.2	0
	Root 2000	4.10	5.65	7.00	0.89	14	0	6.78	6.28	0
	Deep	3.00	5.30	9.10	1.48	21	0	0.01	6.12	0
Magnotium	Suchos	769	2,821	6610	2,133	14	0	10,356	4,332	0
	Root zone	2,160	6,371	10,100	1,929	14	0	15,183	7,737	0
	Deep	3,690	7,895	14,800	2,112	21	0	14,64	9,060	1
Manganasas	Jucíaco	67.8	319.9	738.0	197.0	14	0	1,015.7	459.4	0
	Root zone	193.5	489.4	742.5	136.2	14	0	979.5	585.8	0
	Deep	375.0	518.3	640.0	58.6	21	0	76.5	550.6	0
Mercury	Suchos	0.050	0.090	0.150	0.029	14	0	0.19	0.11	0
	Root zone	0.040	0.075	0.220	0.044	14	0	0.23	0.11	0
	Deep	0.040	0.088	0.165	0.036	21	0	6.20	0.11	0
Nickal	Juchos	1.3	13.0	31.7	10.1	14	2	e. .5	20.1	0
	Root mas	11.0	29.6	44.5	8.8	14	0		35.8	0
	Deep	17.6	34.6	73.1	11.4	21	0	71.1	40.9	1
Potentine	Suchos	244	406	645	144	14	0	215.7	508.5	0
	Root 2000	236	466	630	119	14	0	171	550.3	0
	Deep	221	612	842	154	21	0	1.161.1	697.3	0
Selector	Juches	0.055	0,295	0.510	0.113	14	1		0.37	0
	Bost mes	0.045	0,161	0,200	0.000	14	3		0.22	0
	Deep	0.040	0.104		0.116	21	16	M/A	N/A	N/A

Remenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

I

			°					Dung		Riverier d' Paris
			Line:							Dyna Talarana Ulan
Abuniaum	Suchor	4,750	15,094	25,000	5,813	14	0	35,627	19,211	0
Silver	Suchos	0.23	0.63	1.60	0.39	14	4	2.69	0.91	0
	Root some	0.16	0.51	1.20	0.32	14 .	5	1,42	0.73	0
	Deep	0.15	0.41	0.78	0.20	21	6	1.55	0.52	0
Sodium	Suchos	242.0	327.8	381.0	44.5	11	0	673	364.9	0
	Root 2000	178.5	251.2	317.0	40.5	11	0	405.1	285.0	0
	Deep	181.0	234.8	306.0	38.3	17	0	58.1	258.7	0
Thelium	Section	0.105	0.133	020	N/A	14	13	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Root zone	0.085	0.101	0.315	N/A	14	14	N/A	N/A	N/A
	Deep	0.080	0.092	0.50	N/A	21	20	N/A	N/A	N/A
Vanadium	Suchoe	21.5	53.4	83.1	18.5	14	0	518.6	66.5	0
	Root some	46.9	60.0	76.6	8.8	14	0	616	66.3	0
	Deep	33.2	44.3	59.9	6.7	21	0	65	46.0	0
Zinc	Suchos	12.9	36.7	71.1	18.7	14	0	8639	49.9	0
	Root zone	33.7	51.3	62.9	9.5	14	0	8.5	58.0	0
	Deep	34.1	51.7	63.0	7.5	21	0	23	55.9	0

Assumes non-detect values are equal to can-half the detection limit.
^b Upper tolerance limit for the 99th percentile wish a 95% confidence level.
^c Shellow soils correspond to 0.5 foot bgs.
^d Rest mass soils correspond to 0.5 to 3.0 foot bgs.
^e Deep soils correspond to 3.0 ft bgs to the groundwater table.
Shellow values denote background comparison values.
Rests superied on dry weight basis.
N/A = Not Applicable. Calculation of statistics is not applicable because of the sampler of non-detects.

Elemendoorf AFB OU 5 RI/F8 Report

Table	4-6
-------	-----

Summary of Analytical Results for Metals in Soil

		- Internal Company	jii		113		No. of Description Alberts Background No. of Background No. of	Percent of Samples
Upgendient	Deep	Abuniana	12600 - NA	NA	NA	18013	0/1	0
	Deep	Asuals	4.8 - NA	NA	NA	9.24	0/1	0
	Deep	Barium	43.3 - NA	NA	NA	95	0/1	0
	Deep	Beryllium.	0.35 - NA	NA	NA	0.63	0/1	0
	Deep	Cadmium	1.1 - NA	NA	NA	3.03	0/1	0
	Deep	Calcina	5970 - NA	NA	NA	10169	0/1	0
	Deep	Chromium, Total	21.7 - NA	NA	NA	76 .1	0/1	
	Deep	Cobelt	8.7 - NA	NA	NA	17.5	Q/1	0
	Eleop	Copper	21.1 - NA	NA	NA	59.2	0/1	` 0
	Deep	Iron	22300 - NA	NA	NA	38210	0/1	0
	Deep	Load	4 - NA	NA	NA	10	0/1	0
	Deep	Magnesium	7610 - NA	NA	NA	14648	0/1	0
	Deep	Manganasa	410 - NA	NA	NA	705.8	0/1	0
	Deep	Nickal	25.4 - NA	NA	NA	71.1	0/1	0
	Deep	Potassium	573 - NA	NA	NA	1105.1	0/1	0
	Deep	Silvec	0.54 - NA	NA	NA	1.05	0/1	0
	Deep	Sodium	265 - NA	NA	NA	363.1	0/1	0
	Deep	Vanadium	43.4 - NA	NA	NA	65.8	0/1	0
	Deep	Zine	47.1 - NA	NA	NA	75.7	0/1	0
ipeliae Corridor	Deep	Abusiana	9680 - 19100	1.30 x 10 ⁴	1.34 x 10 ⁴	18013	1/7	14
	Deep	Antimony	2.8 - NA	NA	NA	3.1	0/7	0
	Deep	Actonic	3.5 - 8.1	5.44 x 10 ⁹	5.69 x 10 ⁴	9.24	07	. 0
	Deep	Becken	33.8 - 96.3	4.98 x 10 ⁴	5.36 x 10 ⁴	95	1/7	14
	Deep	Beryllium	0.17 - 0.54	2.43 x 10 ⁴	3.04 x 10 ⁴	0.63	0/7	0
	Deep	Coluin	1.1 - 1.8	1.32 x 10 ⁰	1.34 x 10 ⁹	3.03	0/7	0
	Deep	Catoinen	3230 - 13500	5.89 x 10 ⁴	6.54 x 10 ⁴	10169	1/7	14
	Deep	Chromium, Total	18.3 - 37.4	2.59 x 10 ⁴	2.68 x 10 ⁴	76.1	077	0

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(Continued)

			Read of Read	Commente			Na. of Describes Altern	Pursuit of
						Constant	Deckyrnendfile. of Engelse	Simple
lipoline Corridor cont.)	Deep	Cobalt	8.2 - 15.9	1.03 x 10 ⁴	1.06 x 10 ⁴	17.5	0/7	0
	Deep	Copper	22.3 - 44.4	2.89 x 10 ⁴	2.99 x 10 ⁴	59.2	0/7	0
	Deep	irea	20800 - 34100	2.52 x 10 ⁴	2.57 x 10 ⁴	38210	0/7	0
	Deep	Leed	3.1 - 7.8	4.65 x 10 ⁴	4.89 x 10 ⁹	10	0/7	0
	Deep	Magaooizan	6890 - 11700	8.40 x 10 ⁴	8.56 x 10 ⁴	14648	0/7	0
	Deep	Manganore	381 - 658	4.75 x 10 ⁴	4.83 x 10 ²	705.8	0/7	0
	Deep	Marvery	0.03 - 0.06	3.53 x 10 ⁴	3.79 x 10 ⁴	0.2	0/7	0
I	Deep	Nickei	23.6 - 47.8	3.20 x 10 ⁴	3.30 x 10 ⁴	71.1	0/7	0
	Deep	Potassium	360 - 1440	5.61 x 10 ⁴	6.28 x 10 ⁴	1105.1	1/7	14
	Deep	Solonium	0.16 - 0.24	7.69 x 10 ²	9.50 x 10 ²	0.4	0/7	0
	Deep	Silver	0.48 - 0.59	3.34 x 10 ⁴	3.65 x 10 ⁴	1.05	0/7	0
	Deep	Sodium	193 - 386	2.36 x 10 ⁴	2.42 x 10 ⁴	363.1	1/7	14
	Deep	Vanadium	33.1 - 58.9	4.48 x 10 ⁴	4.58 x 10 ⁴	65.8	0/7	0
	Deep	Zinc	43.3 - 81.3	5.41 x 10 ⁴	5.54 x 10 ⁴	75.7	1/7	14
ower Bluff	Surface	Abunisma	4380 - 18400	1.23 x 10 ⁴	1.31 x 10 ⁴	35627	0/11	0
	Suchos	Armenic	4 - 28.2	7.91 x 10 ⁴	9.37 x 10°	16.18	1/11	9
	Suchos	Berium	61.4 - 3650	1.65 x 10 ⁴	5.27 x 10	201.7	3/11	27
	Suchos	Beryline	0.57 - 1.3	2.73 x 104	3.66 x 104	0.91	1/11	9
	Suchos	Cadasian	0.66 - 1.6	1.08 x 10 ⁹	1.16 x 10 ⁴	3.01	0/11	0
	Suchos	Culsium	5260 - 35300	8.24 x 10 ⁴	1.00 x 10 ⁴	355 1	3/11	27
	Suchee	Chromien, Tutal	14.3 - 36.6	2.51 x 10 ⁴	2.60 x 10 ⁴	48.4	0/11	0
	Suchos	Cobek	3.5 - 12.5	7.91 x 10 ⁴	8.54 x 10 ⁴	20.7	0/11	0
	Suchos	Copper	14 - 35.6	2.32 x 10 ⁴	2.42 x 10 ⁴	32.2	2/11	18
	Suchos	live	13000 - 37800	2.48 x 10 ⁴	2.56 x 10 ⁴	49237	0/11	0
	Suchos	Lord	10.2 - 32.5	1.98 x 10 ⁴	2.14 x 10 ⁴	13.3	9/11	82
	Suchos	Magnetium	2300 - 9080	6.06 x 10 ⁴	6.50 x 10 ⁴	10356	0/11	0
	Suches	Manager	434 - 199000	1.70 x 10	1.99 x 10 ⁴	1015.7	5/11	45

Elmenderf APB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

Ā

4-28

(Continued)

				Canada			No. of Detections Above	Furget of
						Comparison (maybed)	Beckgroundfin, of Jampins	Samples
lower Blaff	Suchos	Meeting	0.04 - 0.12	6.16 x 10 ²	6.59 x 10 ⁴	0.19	0/11	0
post.)	Section	Nickel	15.9 - 34.2	2.79 x 10 ⁴	2.86 x 10 ⁴	48.5	0/11	0
1	Suchos	Potassinas	419 - 743	5.93 x 10 ⁴	6.00 x 10 ⁴	915.7	0/11	0
	Suchco	Solonium	0.17 - 1.1	1.11 x 10 ¹	1.90 x 10 ¹	0.69	1/11	9
	Surface	Silver	0.49 - 22	9.57 x 10 ¹	2.72 x 10 ⁹	2	1/11	9
	Suchoe	Sodium	251 - 1430	4.21 x 10 ⁴	5.06 x 10 ⁴	497.8	3/11	27
	Surface	Theiling	0.21 - NA	NA	NA	0.25	0/10	0
	Surface	Vanadium	20.5 - 83.3	4.72 x 10 ⁴	5.01 x 10 ⁴	118.6	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0
	Surface	Ziec	39.6 - 63.5	5.10 x 10 ⁴	5.15 x 10 ⁴	102.9	0/11	0
	Root	Ahnima	8670 - 19700	1.33 x 10 ⁴	1.37 x 10 ⁴	31655	0/6	0
	Root	Areenic	2.7 - 8.7	6.26 x 10 ⁴	6.70 x 10 ⁴	11.4	0/6	0
	Root	Derive	36.5 - 1430	3.25 x 10 ⁴	6.19 x 10 ²	214.3	4/6	67
	Root	Decyllines	0.71 - 1.1	3.55 x 10 ⁴	4.53 x 10 ⁴	0.7	2/6	32
	Rect	Codminus	0.45 - 1.6	8.26 x 10 ¹	9.66 x 10 ¹	2.53	0/6	0
	Root	Calainna	7240 - 18300	9.16 x 10 ⁴	9.73 x 10 ⁴	8490	3/6	50
	Root	Chromium, Totel	11.8 - 54.3	2.20 x 10 ⁴	2.60 x 10 ⁴	54.4	0/6	0
	Root	Cobalt	3.3 - 13.9	7.49 x 10 ⁺	8.28 x 10 ⁹	20.2	0/6	0
	Root	Соррес	17.8 - 32	2.41 x 10 ⁴	2.45 x 10 ⁴	34.7	0/6	0
	Rect	lron	6550 - 34600	1.56 x 10 ⁴	1.85 x 10 ⁴	38818	0/6	0
	Reat	Lood	4.7 - 19.8	9.97 x 10°	1.10 x 10 ⁴	8.78	4/6	67
	Root	Maganium	1660 - 9810	4.87 x 10 ⁴	5.93 x 10 ⁹	13183	0/6	0
	Reat	Manganase	473 - 7860	1.33 x 10 ⁴	2.24 x 10 ⁴	970.5	3/6	50
	Reat	Massury	0.05 - NA	NA	NA	0.23	0/6	0
	3 pot	Niekel	12.1 - 47.6	2.45 x 10 ⁴	2.72 x 10 ⁴	60.6	0/6	0
	Roct	Potentium	306 - 854	6.12 x 10 ⁴	6.46 x 10 ⁴	887. 1	0/6	0
	Rect	Solonium	0.3 - NA	NA	NA	0.47	0/6	0
	Reat	Silver	0.65 - 1.5	8.04 x 10 ⁴	8.71 x 10 ⁴	1.62	0/6	0
	Rect	Sodium	277 - 929	5.51 x 10 [#]	6.02 x 10 ⁴	406.1	4/6	67

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-29

é

e

Ľ

•

(Continued)

			Ì	Gaaaaata Maaa	Antonente Munit		No. of Providence Annual States	Process of Receptor
Lower Haff (cont.)	Rect	Theilium	0.31 - 0.59	3.11 x 10 ⁴	3.52 x 104	0.115	4/6	67
	Reat	Vanadium	51 - 81.1	6.42 x 10 ⁴	6.50 x 10 ⁴	91.3	0/6	0
	Reat	Zies	29.8 - 69.7	4.73 x 10 ⁴	4.94 x 10 ⁴	84.8	0/6	0
	Deep	Aluminum	11800 - 14800	1.32 x 10 ⁴	1.33 x 10 ⁴	18013	0/2	0
	Deep	Arnonic	4.2 - 6.4	5.18 x 10	5.30 x 10 ⁹	9.24	0/2	0
	Deep	Bacinus	154 - 504	2.79 x 10 ⁰	3.29 x 10 ⁴	95	2/2	100
	Deep	Roryllines	0.23 - 0.35	2.84 x 104	2.90 x 10 ⁴	0.63	0/2	0
	Deep	Calaxium	1.4 - 1.6	1.50 x 10 ⁹	1.50 x 10 ⁹	3.03	0/2	` O
	Deep	Calcium	4830 - 7420	5.99 x 10 ⁴	6.13 x 10 ⁹	10169	0/2	0
	Deep	Chromium, Totel	27.8 - NA	NA	NA	76.1	0/2	` O
	Deep	Cobelt	9.5 - 11.3	1.04 x 10 ⁴	1.04 x 10 ⁴	17.5	0/2	0
	Deep	Copper	28.9 - 30.9	2.99 x 10 ⁴	2.99 x 10 ⁴	59.2	0/2	0
	Deep	Iron	24300 - 24500	2.44 x 10 ⁴	2.44 x 10 ⁴	38210	0/2	0
	Deep	Lond	31.2 - 206	8.02 x 10 ⁴	1.19 x 10 ⁴	10	2/2	100
	Deep	Magnooinen	7590 - 8590	8.07 x 10 ⁴	8.09 x 10 ⁴	14648	0/2	0
	Deep	Manganese	486 - 590	5.35 x 10 ⁴	5.38 x 10 ⁴	705.8	0/2	0
	Deep	Meroury	0.06 - NA	NA	NA	0.2	0/2	0
	Deep	Nieksi	34.3 - 35	3.46 x 10 ⁴	3.47 x 10 ⁴	71.1	0/2	0
	Deep	Potessium	510 - 983	7.08 x 10 ⁴	7.47 x 10 ⁴	1105.1	0/2	0
	Deep	Sedium	237 - 419	3.15 x 10 ⁴	3.28 x 10 ⁴	363.1	1/2	50
	Deep	Vessilves	42.6 - 63.5	5.20 x 10 ⁴	5.31 x 10 ⁴	65.8	0/2	0
	Deep	Ziac	55.8 - 74.1	6.43 x 10 ⁴	6.50 x 10 ⁴	75.7	0/2	0
Post Road Carridor	Suchos	Alunimum	13600 - 17600	1.61 x 10 ⁴	1.62 x 10 ⁴	35627	0/4	0
	Suchos	Acusaio	4.3 - 8	6.45 x 10 ⁹	6.63 x 10 ⁴	16.18	0/4	0
	Buches	Deriver	81.7 - 101	8.85 x 10 ⁴	8.86 x 10 ⁴	201.7	0/4	0
	Juchos	Berytlines	0.57 - NA	NA	NA	0.91	0/4	0
	Juchos	Colmina	1.4 - 3.1	1.77 x 10*	1.88 x 10 ⁹	3.01	1/4	25
	Sandara	Calaina	\$260 - 12500	7.99 - 109	1.31 x 10 ⁰	2221	1/4	25

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

C

4-30

E

۲

•

(Continued)

			Dense				No. of Burnstone	
		-	Yes		Man	Gamparian	hand a state of the state of th	Parcent of Samples
Post Road Corridor (cost.)	Suchos	Chronium, Total	29.9 - 39	3.42 x 10 ⁴	3.43 x 10 ⁴	48.4	0/4	0
	Juchco	Cobelt	9.7 - 11.7	1.06 x 10 ⁴	1.07 x 10 ⁴	20.7	0/4	0
	Suchoo	Copper	25.1 - 37.3	2.80 x 10 ⁴	2.84 x 10 ⁴	32.2	1/4	25
	Surface	leon	22500 - 28900	2.69 x 10 ⁴	2.70 x 10 ⁴	49237	0/4	0
	Suchos	Lood	9.5 - 87.2	1.79 x 10 ⁴	2.96 x 10 ⁴	13.3	1/4	25
	Surface	Magassium	6850 - 8960	7.94 x 10 ⁹	7.96 x 10 ⁹	10356	0/4	0
	Suchos	Manganasa	402 - 765	5.78 x 10 ⁴	5.93 x 10 ⁴	1015.7	0/4	0
	Suchos	Morrary	0.09 - 0.1	8.35 x 10 ³	8.50 x 10 ²	0.19	0/4	0
	Suchos	Nickal	29.7 - 36.3	3.25 x 10 ⁴	3.26 x 10 ⁴	48.5	0/4	0
	Suchoe	Potassina	451 - 908	6.61 x 10 ⁴	6.83 x 10 ⁹	915.7	0/4	0
	Surface	Silver	0.75 - NA	NA	NA	2	0/4	0
	Suchos	Sodium	308 - 909	4.65 x 10 ⁴	5.09 x 10 ⁴	497.8	1/4	25
	Surface	Thalling	0.19 - 0.31	2.53 x 10 ⁴	2.58 x 10 ¹	0.28	1/4	25
	Surface	Vacadium	48.3 - 62.3	5.60 x 10 ⁴	5.63 x 10 ⁴	118.6	0/4	0
	Suchce	Ziec	66.8 - 159	8.96 x 10 ⁴	9.56 x 10 ⁴	102.9	1/4	25
	Root	Ahmimum	16000 - 18300	1.67 x 10 ⁴	1.67 x 10 ⁴	31655	0/4	0
	Root	Areenic	2.8 - 6.4	4.64 x 10 ⁹	4.85 x 10 ⁴	11.4	0/4	0
	Root	Baciom	50.8 - 98.7	7.19 x 10 ⁴	7.54 x 10 ⁴	214.3	0/4	0
	Root	Cadminas	1.5 - 1.8	1.65 x 10 ⁴	1.65 x 10 ⁹	2.53	0/4	0
	Root	Coloinn	5780 - 8100	6.86 x 10 ⁹	6.92 x 10 ⁹	8490	0/4	0
	Reat	Chromium, Total	30.8 - 64.3	4.47 x 10 ⁴	4.66 x 10 ⁴	54.4	1/4	25
	Root	Cobalt	9.6 - 12.3	1.09 x 10 ⁴	1.09 x 10 ⁴	20.2	0/4	0
	Root	Copper	18.6 - 29	2.37 x 10 ⁴	2.40 x 10 ⁴	34.7	0/4	0
	Root	iron	22200 - 30100	2.72 x 10 ⁴	2.74 x 10 ⁴	38818	0/4	0
	Root	Lond	4.5 - 22.3	1.08 x 10 ⁴	1.26 x 10 ⁴	8.78	3/4	75
	Root	Magassium	6770 - 9210	8.10 x 10 ⁹	8.16 x 10 ⁴	13183	0/4	0
	Rdot	Mangausse	307 - 811	4.85 x 10 ⁴	5.15 x 10 ⁴	970.5	0/4	0

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-31

E

۲

۲

Έ

۲

۲

•

.

.

•

(Continued)

					Antonia Maria	h-typed Comparison	No. of Beauties Altern Richground No. of	Purcent of Samples
							Bundin	
Post Road Carridor (cont.)	Root	Meroury	0.03 - 0.11	6.10 x 10 ⁴	6.75 x 10"	0.23	0/4	0
	Root	Niekel	31.1 - 54.9	4.06 x 10 ⁴	4.18 x 10	60.6	0/4	0
	Root	Potassina	540 - 865	7.09 x 10 ⁴	7.22 x 10 ⁴	887 .1	0/4	0
	Root	Silver	0.85 - NA	NA	NA	1.62	0/4	0
	Root	Sodium	320 - 429	3.76 x 10 ⁴	3.79 x 10 ⁴	406.1	2/4	50
	Reat	Theiling	0.16 - 0.59	2.30 x 10 ⁴	2.89 x 10 ¹	0.115	3/4	75
	Root	Vanadium	52.6 - 63.1	5.70 x 10 ⁴	5.72 x 10 ⁴	91.3	0/4	0
	Root	Zine	55.7 - 86 .4	6.52 x 10 ⁴	6.63 x 10 ⁴	84.8	1/4	25
Golf Course Basvur Puul	Suchoo	Aluminum	13300 - NA	NA	NA	35627	Q/1	, O
	Suchoo	Areenis	6.9 - NA	NA_	NA	16.18	0/1	0
	Suchos	Derives	152 - NA	NA	NA	201.7	0/1	0
	Suchos	Boryllium	0.74 - NA	NA	NA	0.91	0/1	0
	Suchco	Cutation	1.5 - NA	NA	NA	3.01	0/1	0
	Suchos	Culcium	15100 - NA	NA	NA	8881	1/1	100
	Suchos	Cheomisen, Total	27.2 - NA	NA	NA	48.4	0/1	0
	Suchos	Cobult	8.6 - NA	NA	NA	20.7	0/1	0
	Suchos	Copper	38 - NA	NA	NA	32.2	1/1	100
	Suchos	irce	21300 - NA	NA	NA	49237	0/1	0
	Surface	Lood	35.2 - NA	NA	NA	13.3	1/1	100
	Suchce	Meganaium	6140 - NA	NA	NA	10356	0/1	0
	Suchos	Manganasa	384 - NA	NA	NA	1015.7	Q/1	0
	Suctore	Meroury	0.3 - NA	NA	NA	0.19	1/1	100
	Suchoe	Nichel	28.9 - NA	NA	NA	48.5	0/1	0
	Suchos	Potessium	763 - NA	NA	NA	915.7	0/1	0
	Sucioo	Sodium	494 - NA	NA	NA	497.8	0/1	0
	Suchos	Vanadium	46.6 - NA	NA	NA	118.6	0/1	0
	Surface	Zinc	98.5 - NA	NA	NA	102.9	0/1	0
	Root	Abanimum	9380 - 10400	9.88 x 10 ⁴	9.89 x 10 ⁴	31655	0/2	0

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

5

Ξ

۲

h

(Continued)

 ,]]ł		1			Purcast of Receptor
Golf Course Berver Poul (cont.)	Root	Armaic	3.3 - 4.5	3.85 x 10 ⁹	3.90 x 10 ⁹	11.4	0/2	0
	Rect	Barium	44.6 - 124	7.44 x 10 ⁴	8.43 x 10 ⁴	214.3	0/2	0
	Root	Codminen	0.75 - 1.3	9.87 x 10 ¹	1.03 x 10 ⁹	2.53	0/2	0
	Reat	Calcium	7080 - 20400	1.20 x 10 ⁴	1.37 x 10 ⁴	8490	1/2	50
	Root	Chromium, Totel	23.8 - 31.6	2.74 x 10 ⁴	2.77 x 10 ⁴	54.4	0/2	0
	Root	Cobalt	6.2 - 6.5	6.35 x 10 ⁴	6.35 x 10 ⁹	20.2	0/2	0
	Reat	Copper	19.5 - 31	2.46 x 10 ⁴	2.53 x 10 ⁴	34.7	0/2	- 1 0
	Root	irca	16300 - NA	NA	NA	38818	0/2	0
	Root	Lond	5.4 - 16.8	9.52 x 10 ⁴	1.11 x 10 ⁴	8.78	1/2	50
	Root	Magaseium	5020 - 5410	5.21 x 10 ⁴	5.22 x 10 ⁴	13183	0/2	0
	Root	Manganoso	358 - 533	4.37 x 10 ⁴	4.46 x 10 ²	970.5	0/2	0
	Root	Meesury	0.11 - 0.31	1.85 x 104	2.10 x 10 ³	0.23	1/2	50
	Root	Nichal	21.3 - 23.1	2.22 x 10 ⁴	2.22 x 10 ⁴	60.6	0/2	0
	Root	Potassium	339 - 493	4.09 x 10 ⁴	4.16 x 10 ⁴	887.1	0/2	0
	Root	Solaainm	1.2 - 3.1	1.93 x 10 ⁹	2.15 x 10°	0.47	2/2	100
	Root	Sodium	419 - 753	5.62 x 10 ⁴	5.86 x 10 ⁴	406.1	2/2	100
	Root	Theline	0.51 - NA	NA	NA	0.115	1/2	50
	Root	Vanadium	34.3 - 34.7	3.45 x 10 ⁴	3.45 x 10 ⁴	91.3	0/2	0
	Reat	Zine	47 - 74	5.90 x 10 ⁴	6.05 x 10 ⁴	84.8	0/2	0

Note: Results reported on a dry weight basis. NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

Emenderf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report



٢

۲

Õ

(ځ


			Mindle Star	le Location		
	Thy	AA	Backge	ment Sell	Ty An I	eccheste
35:63	7.61-62 (mg/1q)	7.60-62 (mg/1g)	Rost Zoon UTL (ing/kg)	Dies Fly Ash Record Inchiground?	7.01-42 (mg/L)	FA82-42 (mg/L)
Aluminum	15,500	6,770 - 6,900	31,655	No	0.4472	0.3122
Antimony	<3.6	3.6	1.6	No	<0.0121	<0.0121
Arsonic	6.5	3.5 - 4.0	11.40	No	0.0019	0.0052
Barium	1,170	1,300 - 1,600	214.3	Yes	0.1003	0.2022
Becyllium	0.60	0.32 - 0.58	0.70	No	< 0.0005	< 0.0005
Cadmium	1.3	0.68 - 1.1	2.53	No	<0.0012	<0.0012
Calcium	6,520	5,090 - 5,610	8,490	No	3.7727	7.1394
Chromium	25.5	9.8 - 12.0	54.4	No	< 0.0037	<0.0037
Cobalt	12.9	9.8 - 10.4	20.2	No	<0.0058	< 0.0058
Copper	26.7	19.9J - 23.0J	34.7	No	0.0024	0.0043
Iroa	21,400	5,360 - 6,660	38,818	No	0.5686	0.2377
Leed	6.7	10.1 - 13.5	8.78ª	Yes*	<0.0006	0.0023
Magnesium	5,800	1,280 - 1,530	13,183	No	1. 439 1	2.4688
Manganese	376	63.4 - 91.4	970.5	No	0.0150	0.0083
Mercury	0.05	<0.04 - 0.05	0.23	No	< 0.0001	<0.0001
Nickel	32.1	20.4 - 22.2	60.6	No	<0.0077	<0.0077
Potassium	891	838 - 876	887 .1*	Yes*	3.8588	9.7592
Selectum	<0.15	<0.15	0.47	No	< 0.0005	< 0.0005
Silver	<0.63	<0.62	1. 62	No	< 0.0021	<0.0021
Sodium	427	526 - 53 1	406.1	Yes	2.7255	1.7045
Thellium	<0.21	0.21	0.115	Yes*	<0.0007	< 0.0007
Vanadium.	74.5	71.1 - 79.9	91.3	No	0.0123	0.0281
Zinc	45.2J	22.1J - 27.4J	84.8	No	0.0177	0.0390

Total Metals in Fly Ash and Fly Ash Leachate Samples

* Although fly ask value exceeded background UTL for root zone (0.5 to 3.0 feet), it would not have exceeded background value for surface soil (zero to 0.5 flot). The fly ask was collected at 1.5- to 2-flott depths.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4-36

.

٧

۲

۲

Spurr deposited a 1/8-inch (approximate) thick layer of ash over the Anchorage area. A sample of the ash deposited at OU 5 was collected and analyzed for metals. Only calcium (9210 mg/kg) and sodium (1690 mg/kg) in the ash were found to exceed background concentrations in Elmendorf AFB soils. These elements are not contaminants of concern at OU 5, and it is therefore not expected that the ash event influenced the analytical results or interpretation of metals in OU 5 soils.

 (\mathbf{v})

۲

(4)

4.2.2 Discussion

4.2.2.1 Upgradient Area

Seven borings were placed in the upgradient area of OU 5 (SB01 through SB07) and all of these borings were completed as monitoring wells. Only two of the seven borings showed any detectable organic contamination in the soil.

Petroleum hydrocarbons were detected in soil boring SB03. This boring is approximately 600 feet northwest of Sources ST38/SS42 and approximately 200 feet east of an abandoned diesel product pipeline that runs parallel to Maple Street. Diesel-range organics were reported at 38 mg/kg in SB03 at 10 feet, and gasoline-range organics were detected at 50 mg/kg at depths of 10 feet and 25 feet below ground surface. Groundwater is approximately 31.5 feet deep at this location.

In boring SB06, JP-4-range organics were reported at 35 feet below ground surface at the groundwater table. These results indicate that vadose zone samples taken in the upgradient area are free of organic contamination, with the exception of SB03, which has detectable fuel hydrocarbons above the water table.

One soil sample from the upgradient area was collected for metal analysis at SB01, 25 feet below ground surface. None of the metal concentrations exceeded the comparison levels in the background data.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4.2.2.2 Pipeline Corridor

Ten borings were placed in the pipeline corridor area: SB18 through SB24, and SB26, SB27, and SB28. The purpose of these borings was to evaluate the extent of vadose zone contamination at the suspected source areas. Samples were also taken at the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation in borings SB19, SB21, SB23, and SB28 to evaluate the presence of DNAPLs. (\mathbf{z})

۲

۲

Petroleum hydrocarbons were detected in three of the ten soil borings within the pipeline corridor area. In soil boring SB18 at Source ST37, JP-4 was detected at 89 mg/kg, diesel was detected at 159 mg/kg, and BTEX compounds were detected at 1 mg/kg at a depth of 35 feet, corresponding to the top of the water table. Petroleum hydrocarbons were not detected above the 35-foot depth, suggesting that those constituents have either been flushed from the vadose zone soils or are migrating with the groundwater. The three other borings drilled around Source ST37 did not detect organic contaminants in the vadose zone or at the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation.

The second soil boring in the pipeline corridor area where petroleum hydrocarbons were detected is SB23, adjacent to the JP-4 pipeline at Source ST38 and approximately 50 feet east of the Small Arms Firing Range (Building 22-007). Diesel was detected at 57 mg/kg in the sample taken at the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation, 58 feet below ground surface. The water table in this vicinity is approximately 40 feet below ground surface. Diesel fuel is not a "sinker" and would not be expected to be found in high concentrations on top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation, but may be present as a dissolved contaminant in the saturated soil layer. Two other borings at source areas ST38/SS42 were free of detectable contamination, including boring SB22, which was a site where raised levels of halogenated VOCs were detected during the soil gas screening survey.

A third boring where petroleum hydrocarbons were detected is SB26. This boring is located approximately 15 feet from a low point water drain pit on the JP-4 pipeline

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

where a leak was detected in 1982 (refer to Section 1.2.3.5 for discussion). It is likely that this pipeline leak was responsible for the petroleum seeps observed along Post Road that comprise Source SS53. Near the groundwater table at a depth of 25 feet, JP-4 and dieselrange organics were detected at 165 and 172 mg/kg, respectively. All of the BTEX compounds were also detected at concentrations less than 1 mg/kg. A shallower sample taken at 10 feet did not show any detectable organic contaminants. If the source of contamination is the low point water drain pit, then these observations suggest that the leaking product migrated downward to the water table and did not create a large secondary source area of contaminated vadose zone soils. Two other borings located along the pipeline near Source SS53 did not yield any detectable contamination in the vadose zone or at the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation.

Metals concentrations in borings SB20 and SB21 were either less than the background comparison values or flagged as estimates because of QC considerations.

In summary, petroleum hydrocarbons were detected in the pipeline corrido. only in three samples taken from the saturated soil layer. Vadose zone contamination was not observed at the source areas. It is likely that vadose zone contamination from past pipeline leaks was localized and left a relatively small footprint as fuel products percolated rapidly downward through the sandy soils. Given the age of the leaks (15 to 35 years) and the relatively porous subsurface soils, it is also likely that vadose zone contamination has already been attenuated by natural processes such as flushing or biodegradation. Therefore, it does not appear that soil around the pipeline leaks and surface spill areas is acting as a significant secondary source for groundwater contamination. DNAPL contaminants such as TCE were not detected in any of the four samples taken at the top of the Bootlegger Cove Formation.

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4.2.2.3 Waste Paint Tank Area

The waste paint tank is about 400 feet northeast of Source SS42. Soil samples were collected at 10-, 25-, and 35-foot depths in SB11, immediately east of the tank. Petroleum hydrocarbons were reported at depths of 10 feet and 25 feet below ground surface in SB11. The depth to groundwater is approximately 36 feet at this location. At 10 feet, JP-4 was detected at 14 mg/kg, and gasoline was detected at 7.1 mg/kg. Xylenes were also reported at 10 feet, at a total concentration of 9.4 mg/kg, higher than expected for the low levels of fuel. The total BTEX concentration at the 10-foot depth was 10.2 mg/kg. At 25 feet below ground surface in SB11, the BTEX concentration decreased to 0.17 mg/kg and JP-4 and gasoline-range organics were not detected. Because the BTEX contamination (particularly xylenes) is high at the 10-foot depth relative to fuel concentrations, it is suspected that it may originate from solvents from the waste paint tank. Additional sampling around the tank and at various depths would be required to confirm whether the tank has leaked waste paint products to the surrounding soil.

No soil samples from the waste paint tank area were submitted for metal analysis.

4.2.2.4 Lower Bluff Area

Petroleum hydrocarbons and PAHs were observed in soil samples collected from SE29 in the lower bluff area. This boring location is on the hillside below Source ST37 and is next to a groundwater seep (SL05)and monitoring well SP1-01. This location appears to have grass cuttings and other ground maintenance debris dumped here on a regular basis. It is speculated that this could be a site where individuals have changed the oil in their vehicles, and discarded small quantities of it, although no interviews were performed to confirm this. Numerous PAHs were detected at a total concentration of $5050 \mu g/kg$ at the surface (zero to 2 feet), and decreased to 2240 mg/kg in the 4- to 6-foot interval. PAHs were not analyzed in samples collected at depths lower than 6 feet.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Unlike the PAHs reported in soil boring SB29, diesel concentrations increased with depth. Diesel was detected at 6.1 mg/kg at the surface, and at 1160 mg/kg at 10 to 12 feet. JP-4 and gasoline were detected at the 10- to 12-foot interval, at 600 mg/kg and 160 mg/kg, respectively.

In addition to the soil contaminants in SB29, petroleum hydrocarbons were found at nine separate surface soil locations, unrelated to the soil borings. Soil samples were collected from these locations (designated with the prefix SL) as part of the ecological assessment to evaluate the impact, if any, of contaminants on terrestrial plants. The highest values of petroleum hydrocarbons were observed at locations SL04 and SL16. Gasoline (670 mg/kg), JP-4 (280 mg/kg), and diesel (115 mg/kg) were reported in surface soils at SL04 in an area of stressed vegetation. Gasoline (271 mg/kg), JP-4 (525 mg/kg), and diesel (400 mg/kg) were detected at SL16 in an area where vegetation appeared to be normal. Benzene was reported in samples collected from SL25 at the 1- to 2-foot and 2- to 3-foot intervals (0.013 mg/kg and 0.015 mg/kg, respectively). Diesel, JP-4, and gasoline were detected at levels below 100 ppm at SL04 and SL16 in areas where vegetation appeared normal. These constituents were also observed at SL19 and SL20, but at concentrations less than 10 mg/kg.

Metal concentrations in the lower bluff area soils that exceeded background comparison levels include arsenic, barium, calcium, lead, manganese, nickel, silver, and sodium. Most of these were observed at surface soil sampling location SL25 at the zero to 1-foot depth, immediately north of the ARRC railroad tracks in an area of stressed vegetation.

Nickel was reported at 10 times the background comparison level in SL27, approximately 500 feet west of SL25 in an area where vegetation appeared normal. Lead was detected at approximately 20 times background comparison concentrations in soil boring SB29 at the 4- to 6-foot interval. Barium, calcium, manganese, lead, and/or sodium were detected at concentrations significantly higher than background comparison levels at sample

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

locations SL04 (zero to 1-foot interval), SL16 (zero to 1-foot interval), SL25 (1- to 2-foot and 2- to 3-foot intervals), SL27 (zero to 1-foot and 1-to 2-foot intervals), and SB29 (zero to 2-foot and 4- to 6-foot intervals).

Fly ash deposits were sampled on the bluff below Monitoring Well SP1-02 at depths between 2 and 4 feet. The total metals results for fly ash and leachate are shown in Table 4-7. Comparison of the fly ash metals to total metals in background soils (Table 4-5) shows that barium is present in the fly ash at greater than five times the background levels. Lead, potassium, sodium, and thallium only slightly exceeded the background comparisons. Aluminum, iron, manganese, and vanadium are not above soil background levels in the fly ash. Arsenic, barium, vanadium, and zinc in the fly ash may be leaching out at levels that represent the detected concentrations in the groundwater (see Section 4.3.2.4).

4.2.2.5 Post Road Corridor

One petroleum hydrocarbon (toluene) on soil was reported at 0.068 mg/kg in SB13, on the north side of Post Road and west of the Post Road and Reeve Boulevard intersection. The toluene was detected at a depth interval of 2.5 to 4.5 feet. Soil boring SB13 was converted to monitoring well MW13 during the field investigation. Groundwater at MW13 was measured at 1.4 feet below ground surface, suggesting that fluctuating levels of contaminated groundwater may have affected soil in the smear zone.

Some metal concentrations reported on surface soil samples collected from the Post Road corridor were significantly higher than the background comparison values. Calcium, lead, sodium, and zinc at two to eight times higher than background comparison levels were reported at surface sampling location SL20, at the zero to 1-foot interval. Lead was also detected at twice the background comparison level in the 1- to 2-foot interval at SL20. Location SL20 is a grassy area between Post Road and the ARRC tracks, in the golf course seep area (Source SS53). Stressed vegetation was observed at SL20 during the terrestrial survey.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/F8 Report

Other metals were only slightly above the background comparison levels, were near the detection limit, or were flagged as estimates because of QC considerations.

4.3 <u>Groundwater</u>

4.3.1 Results

Groundwater data were collected during one round of sampling from new and previously installed wells in OU 5. All samples were analyzed for BTEX compounds; gasoline-, diesel-, and JP-4-range hydrocarbons; and semivolatile organic compounds. Halogenated VOCs were also analyzed in samples from the new wells installed during the investigation; these wells are located in areas upgradient and downgradient of the OU 5 pipeline corridor source areas. All groundwater samples were analyzed with a 30-day turnaround time at the Redding, California, laboratory. Table 4-8 lists a statistical summary of organic constituents detected in OU 5 groundwater samples. Figure 4-7 provides physical locations for organic constituents detected in the subareas.

Target analyte list (TAL) metals were analyzed for dissolved and total metals from six shallow aquifer monitoring wells (MW01, MW02, SP1-01, SP1-02, MW15, and MW16A) near a fly ash disposal location on the bluff below well SP1-02, at the western end of OU 5. Wells MW01 and MW02 are located hydraulically upgradient of the fly ash deposits, and the groundwater results for these wells were used as background for the other four wells that are located in or downgradient of the fly ash. Results for dissolved and total metals are summarized in Tables 4-9 and 4-10, respectively. Only the results from the December 1992 sampling event are presented and discussed. Wells SP1-01 and SP1-02 were also sampled in August 1992. However, the total metals concentration was higher in August than in December, and for some metals, the difference was tenfold. It is believed that the suspended solids observed in the samples from the August sampling caused high metals results that were not representative of the groundwater. During the December sampling, a submersible pump was used and resulted in low turbidity in the samples. Consequently, the

Elenendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

ł

U

	Brand Coopens	Range of Detected Values Gapti	Geometric Mean (rg/1)	Artificante Mana (cg/t)		
Upgradient	1,1,1-Trichlorosthans	9.4 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	1,1,2,2-Tetrachiorosthene	8 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Bhythenzone	0.67 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	JP-4	760 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	TFH Diesel	120 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	TFH Gas	92 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Totuene	0.62 - 1.4	3.64 x 10 ⁻¹	4.67 x 10 ¹	1/7	14
	Trichloroethylene (TCE)	5.2 - 52	2.16 x 10 ⁹	1.03 x 10 ⁴	2/7	29
	Xylenes, Total	2.7 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	bis(2-sthylhexyl) phthalate	2 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	tert-butyl methyl ether	0.56 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
Pipeline Corridor	Di-a-butyi phthalate	1 - NA	NA	NA	2/12	17
	Disthyl phthalate	1 - NA	NA	NA	1/12	8
	N-aitrosodiphonylamine	5 - NA	NA	NA	1/12	8
	TFH Dissel	100 - NA	NA	NA	3/12	25
	Trichloroethylene (TCE)	33 - NA	NA	NA	3/3	100
	bis(2-sthylhexyl) phthalate	1 - NA	NA	NA	2/12	17
Wasto Paint Tank	D i a buty i phthelate	1 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Telucae	0.56 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthelate	20 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
Lower Bluff	1,1-Dichlorosthane	1.3 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	2-Methylasphthalene	9 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	Dename	3.9 - 8.5	2.02 x 10°	4.22 x 10°	1/3	33
	Chlorosthese	1.3 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	Birvibessee	16 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33

Summary of Analtycial Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

.

١.

E

Ć

(Continued)

					lind.	
		The		Arithmetic		
				Same and a factor		
	JP-4	200 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	N-aitrocodiphonylamine	1 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	Nepisthelese	13 - NA	NA	NA	3/3	100
	TPH Dissel	290 - NA	NA	NA	1/3	33
	TFH Gas	54 - 700	2.03 x 10 ²	3.25 x 10 ⁴	1/3	33
	Xylenes, Total	0.57 - 39	5.76 x 10 ⁴	1.61 x 10 ⁴	1/3	33
Post Road Corridor	Benaves	0.6 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
	Disthyl phthalate	1 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
	JP-4	730 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
	TFH Dissel	190 - NA	NA	NA	2/6	33
	TFH Gas	250 - NA	NA	NA	3/6	50
	bis(2-sthylhexyl) phthelate	1 - NA	NA	NA	1/6	17
Golf Course Bosver	Benzene	0.84 - NA	NA	NA	2/1	29
Pond	Disthyl phthelate	15 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	JP-4	370 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	TFH Gas	260 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Trichleresthylese (TCE)	2.5 - NA	NA	NA	1/4	25

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

Emenderf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report



E

C

(

đ



E

۲



 $\mathbf{\hat{o}}$

۲

۲

Summary of Analytical Results for Dissolved Metals in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)

						In.e.	
		Brow of	Gammite	Artichandi:		Allow	Percent
	i con constante de la constante	(ma/)					
Upgrafiest	Barisan, solubio	0.0146 - 0.0152	1.49 x 10 ²	1.49 x 10 ²	0.0152	02	0
	Caloina, saisibio	83.3 - 87.2	8.52 x 10 ⁴	8.53 x 10 ⁴	89	0/2	0
	Copper, solubic	0.0011 - 0.0029	1.79 x 10 ³	2.00 x 10 ³	0.0063	0/2	0
	Magaasium, solubio	14.4 - 23.4	1.84 x 10 ⁴	1. 39 x 10 ⁴	23.8	0/2	0
	Manganasa, soluble	0.0039 - 0.317	3.52 x 10 ⁴	1.60 x 10 ⁴	0.323	0/2	0
	Potassium, sotubio	1.52 - 1.79	1.65 x 10°	1.66 x 10°	2.04	0/2	0
	Solonium, zolubie	0.0019 - NA	NA	NA	0.0019	0/2	0
	Sodium, solubie	7.9 - 11.4	9.49 x 10°	9.65 x 10 ⁴	11.5	0/2	0
	Vanadium, solubio	0.0019 - 0.0023	2.09 x 10 ³	2.10 x 10 ³	0.003	0/2	0
Pipeline Corridor	Derium, solubie	0.0189 - NA	NA	NA	0.0151	1/1	100
	Calcium, solubie	84.8 - NA	NA	NA	89	0/1	0
	Copper, solubie	0.0023 - NA	NA	NA	0.0063	0/1	0
	Irea, solubie	0.0783 - NA	NA	NA	0.00142	1/1	100
	Magaasium, solubie	18.3 - NA	NA	NA	23.8	Q/1	0
	Manganasa, solubia	1.38 - NA	NA	NA	0.323	1/1	100
	Potassium, solubio	1.35 - NA	NA	NA	2.04	Q ⁄1	0
	Sodium, solubio	7.12 - NA	NA	NA	11.5	0/1	0

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4-48

.

٢

Ð

(Continued)

ļ		Roman of Descent Videos GayN	1 15	Arithmetit Missa Gag/B	li I		Percent of Secondary
	Vepedium, solubie	0.0023 - NA	NA	NA	0.003	0/1	0
Lower Bluff	Aluminum, solubio	0.0439 - 0.0678	3.59 x 10 ²	4.24 x 10 ²	0.031	2/3	67
	Arannic, solubio	0.0009 - 0.0032	2.05 x 10 ³	2.37 x 10 ³	0.007	0/3	0
	Barium, solubie	0.0165 - 0.103	4.71 x 10 ²	6.04 x 10 ²	0.0151	3/3	100
	Calcium, solubie	77.8 - 94.7	8.68 x 10 ⁴	8.71 x 10 ⁴	89	1/3	33
	Capper, soluble	0.0023 - NA	NA	NA	0.0063	0/3	0
	iron, soluble	5.23 - 12.6	8.83 x 10 ¹	5.95 x 10 ⁹	0.00142	2/3	67
	Magnasium, solubie	14.3 - 18.8	1.70 x 10 ⁴	1.71 x 10 ⁴	23.8	0/3	0
	Manganasa, solubia	0.0941 - 4.28	8.69 x 10 ⁴	2.00 x 10 ⁴	0.323	2/3	67
	Potnesium, solubio	1.13 - 2.07	1.66 x 10 ⁹	1.72 x 10 ⁹	2.04	1/3	33
	Selenium, solubio	0.0022 - 0.0025	1.45 x 10°	1.75 x 10 ³	0.0019	2/3	67
	Sodium, solubio	6.79 - 9.57	7.70 x 10 ⁴	7.79 x 10 ⁹	11.5	0/3	0
	Thallium, solubio	0.0007 - NA	NA	NA	0.0007	0/3	0
	Vacadium, solubie	0.003 - 0.005	3.95 x 10 ⁴	4.03 x 10 ³	0.003	2/3	67

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Groundwater (Upper Aquifer)

- HAN	The Control			ju	ļ !§	ļ		ij	ji
Upgradient	Abrian	0.0581	NN .	VN	N	0.0581	: / 0	2	0
	Antimony	0.0144	- NA	NA	NA	0.0144	: / 0	2	0
	Americ	0.0018	- NA	VN	VN	0.0018	: / 0	2	0
	F	0.0152	- 0.0163	1.57 x 10 ²	1.5 8 x 10°	0.0163	; / 0	3	9
	Caloisen	N.4	- 90.1	8.72 x 10	8.73 x 10 ⁵	90.1	: 1 0	2	0
	Cupper	0.0027	- 0.0037	3.16 x 10°	3.20 x 10°	0.0037	. / 0	3	0
	iroa	0.0415	. 0.184	8.74 x 10 ³	1.13 x 10 ¹	0.184	- 0	~	•
<u> </u>	la l	0.009	. NA	NA	VN	0.000	. 0	2	0
	Magnadium	14.6	- 24.1	1.88 x 10 ⁴	1.94 x 10 ⁴	24.1	. 1 0	2	0
	Margan	0.0271	• 0.329	9.44 x 10 ³	1.78 x 10 ⁴	0.329	/ 0	2	•
	Potanina	1.43	- 1.8	1.60 x 10°	1.62 × 10	8.1	. / 0	2	0
	Sodium	7.82	- 11.5	9.48 x 10 ⁶	9.66 x 10°	11.5	: / 0	2	0
	Theffirm	0.0012	- NA	NA	VN	0.0012	. 1 0	2	0
		0.0019	. 0.00	2.39 x 10'	2.45 x 10 ⁴	0.003	•	6	0
Pipalina Corridor	Alimina	1.09	- NA	NA	VN	0.0581	1 1	1	9
	Arrenic	0.0017	- NA	VN	N	0.0018	/ 0	1	0
	Berjum	0.0259	VN -	VN	VN	0.0163	/ 1		160

٢

۲

.

Ð

Þ

•

)

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Table 4-10 (Continued)

1		Ĩ]11	ļı]]s	R. Constant	jj
Pipeline Corridor (cont.)	Calcium	87.5	- NA	VN	٨٨	90.1	1 / 0	0
	Copper	0.0059	- NA	NA	N	0.0037	1 / 1	8
	Iroa	1.84	- NA	VN	NA	0.184	1 / 1	100
	Land	0.0007	- NA	VN	NA	0.0009	0 / 1	0
	Magnatium	19	- NA	VN	NA	24.1	0 / 1	0
	Maganas	1.45	- NA	VN	NA	0.329	1 / 1	100
	Nickel	0.0115	- NA	VN	NA	0.0077	1 / 1	100
	Potaesium	1.33	- NA	NA	NA	1.8	0 / 1	0
	Sodium	8 6.9	- NA	VN	NA	11.5	1 / 0	0
	Vandium	0.0061	- NA	NA	NA	0.003	1 / 1	100
Lower Bluff	Alminum	265.0	. 7.24	3.63 x 10 ⁴	2.75 x 10°	0.0581	2 / 3	63
	Armeio	0.000	- 0.0054	2.12 × 10*	2.80 x 104	0.0018	2 / 3	63
	heine	0.0168	- 0.116	5.98 x 10°	8.09 x 10 ⁴	0.0163	3 / 3	100
	Calcium	77.6	- 93.7	8.57 x 10 ⁴	8.60 × 10	90.1	1 / 3	R
	Chromine, total	0.0125	- NA	VN	VN	0.0037	1 / 3	ß
	Capper	0.0017	- 0.0099	3.48 x 10°	4.70 × 10*	0.0037	c / 1	33
	lroe	0.057	- 19.3	1.89 x 10°	8.51 x 10°	0.184	2 / 3	67
			ŝ				•	•

٢

0

۲

of AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

V	

(Continued)

]	Designed	Real Decision Value	jıs	ļ15	ļj	M. Control and and a second se	ji
Lower Bhiff (cont.)	Manganes	0.099 - 4.44	9.48 x 10 ¹	2.16 × 10	0.329	2 / 3	63
	Nictel	0.0206 - NA	NA	NA	0.0077	1 / 3	33
	Potassium	1.09 - 2.15	1.71 × 10	1.79 x 10°	1.8	2 / 3	67
	Sodium	6.9 - 10	7.83 × 10*	7.96 x 10°	11.5	0 / 3	0
	Vanadiam	0.0034 - 0.0187	7.60 x 10 ⁴	9.67 x 10°	0.003	3 / 3	100
	Zinc	0.0328 - 0.0341	1.76 x 10 ⁴	2.39 x 10 ¹	0.0144	2 / 3	67

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

4-52

٢

0

۲

Þ

Ð

Ð

Þ

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

December results for wells SP1-01 and SP1-02 are considered more representative of the total metals in the groundwater. All of the sampling results from both the August and December sampling events are presented in Appendix K.

The only lower aquifer well in the OU 5 study area tested for TAL metals was the IGM well (WS01). Four wells (IGM, Inlet Company [WS02], Base Well 52 [BW52], and Base Well 02 [BW02]) were tested for calcium, iron, magnesium, potassium, and sodium to allow a geotechnical comparison of upper and lower aquifer waters. Sampling results are summarized in Table 4-11.

The following data were reviewed to determine background levels for inorganics in the lower aquifer:

- Elmendorf supply wells—BESG data found in the Basewide Background Sampling Report (CH2M HILL 1992a), and data collected by Black & Veatch (1990);
- MOA supply wells---data obtained from Mitch Lile, Ship Creek Water Treatment Plant, Anchorage Water and Wastewater Utility, MOA;
- Fort Richardson wells (COE 1991); and
- Regional groundwater well data obtained from USGS computer database and reported in the *Basewide Background Sampling Report* (CH2M HILL 1992a).

The background data were reviewed to determine if the analytical detection limits were suitable for comparison with the data collected during the OU 5 investigation and if wells were located near potential sources of contamination. BESG data were not useable for background comparison because of higher detection limits than the OU 5 data (for example, the BESG data had a detection limit of 10 μ g/L for arsenic, but the value detected in WS01 was 4.1 μ g/L). The USGS data were from wells near the Merrill Field Sanitary Landfill and

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

	Descard Compared	Range of Detected Values (mg/l)	Geometrie Meas (reg/l)	Arlthusetic Mean (mg/l)	Background Comparison (mg/l)	No. of Detections Above Background/ No. of Samples	Purcent of Samples
Supply Wells	Arrenic	0.0041 - NA	NA	NA	0.01	0/1	0
	Barium	0.0142 - NA	NA	NA	0.126	0/1	0
	Calcium	10.3 - 27	1.55 x 10 ⁱ	1.69 x 10 ¹	76.9	0/4	0
	Copper	0.002 - NA	NA	NA	0.014	0/1	0
	iron	0.0555 - 0.183	9.37 x 10 ⁻²	1.05 x 10 ⁻¹	3.1	0/4	0
	Magneeium	5.63 - 8.65	6.77 x 10 ⁹	6.85 x 10 ⁰	7.4	1/4	25
	Manganose	0.0354 - NA	NA	NA	0.11	0/1	0
	Potnesium	0.83 - 1.99	1.48 x 10 ⁰	1.55 x 10 ⁰	1.9	1/4	25
	Solonium	0.00071 - NA	NA	NA	0.001	0/1	0
	Sodium	6.17 - 41.9	1.98 x 10 ¹	2.57 x 10 ¹	18.6	2/4	50
	Zinc	0.0281 - NA	NA	NA	0.043	0/1	0

Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Water Supply Wells (Lower Aquifer)

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

6

Elmandorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

were eliminated from the consideration as background because of the potential for contamination from the landfill.

Figure 4-8 shows the location of the MOA wells and Fort Richardson wells selected for the background comparison, in addition to the four OU 5 wells sampled during the RI. Only wells near Ship Creek were chosen as background comparison wells so that the data would more closely reflect the hydrogeology of the OU 5 study area. Table 4-12 shows the data for the wells from the Black & Veatch investigation, the MOA, and the COE. Black & Veatch sampled only BW2 and BW52, which are located in OU 5.

There is some degree of uncertainty in the data presented in Table 4-12 because it was collected by several investigators at different times and analyzed in different laboratories. It appears, however, that standard EPA methods and QA/QC checks were made. Because of the different sources of the data, the background comparison values were not calculated statistically, as was done for the background soil metals. Instead, the maximum concentration detected in the wells was selected for the background comparison.

The field parameters temperature, pH, and specific conductance were measured at each well that was sampled. Although these data are of general interest, they are most applicable to the geochemical evaluation of the confined and unconfined aquifers, and will be discussed in that section.

4.3.2 Discussion

4.3.2.1 Upgradient

The monitoring wells located in the upgradient subarea are MW01, MW02, MW03, MW04, MW05, MW06, and MW07. All of these shallow aquifer wells were installed as part of this investigation.

Bimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report



and the second se

Background Comparison of Total Metals and Anions in Groundwater for Lower Aquifer Wells near Ship Creek

					Range of C.	andradam (
		APR WAY	1	A he was a h	acherage Wel	1		Fort 1	ticher hen	W.C.		
Mit	SMA		we 3	• 8 4	6 P M	Num 20	IML	ALL		ADFG 9	AE-3137	
Ahumm	ž	ž	VN	VN	VN	VN	0.36	< 0.045-0.1	<0.045	<0.045	<0.045	95.0
Animory	ž	Ž	VN	VN	N	NA	<0.01	<0.001- <0.010	<0.010	010.0>	<0.010	NDL
Areaic	0.005	Ź	0.006-0.010	<0.001	<0.001	0.002-0.003	0.0029	0.001-<0.002	0.0026	0.0021	<0.002	0.010
Berium	0.013	ž	0.125-0.126	0.004	0.006	0.064-0.093	<0.010	0.005-<0.010	0.013	<0.010	0.015	0.126
Beryllium	ž	ž	YN N	VN	VN	VN	<0.001	<0.001- <0.007	<0.001	<0.001	100.0>	NDL
Codmium	ź	ę.	-1000.0 0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0005	<0.0005- <0.002	<0.0005	<0.0005	<0.0005	1000.0
Celcium	01	2.6	39.7-53	34.3-34.4	47.6-49.5	64.8-76.9	37	35-36	32	28	27	76.9
Chloride	2.4	1.4	11.6-16.2	1.1-3.6	5.2-14.6	7.1-7.7	3.25	1.5-2.6	2.15	2.85	2.05	16.2
Chromium	ž	N.	100.0>	<0.001	< 0.001- 0.001	<0.001	0.0026	<0.002-0.003	0.0046	< 0.002	0.0041	0.0046
Cobait	N	NN	NN	NA	VN	VN	<0.005	< 0.003- < 0.005	<0.005	<0.005	<0.005	MDL
Copper	0.009	N.	< 0.001-0.002	< 0.001	< 0.001- 0.002	0.002-0.014	<0.005	0.0063-0.012	< 0.005	<0.005	< 0.005	0.014
liron	ž	ž	0.040-0.050	<0.03-0.06	0.04	0.06-0.14	2.1	0.14-3.1	0.13	0.054	0.12	3.1
lesd	ž	ž	<0.001	< 0.001	<0.001	< 0.001	0.0022	0.0037-0.016	< 0.002	0.047	< 0.002	0.047
Magnesium	5.7	6.7	VN	٩X	٧N	٧N	7.4	1.7-6.3	٢	5.1	6.3	7.4
Manganese	0.019	R	0.1-0.11	< 0.02	< 0.02	0.08-0.09	0.025	< 0.002-0.008	< 0.002	< 0.002	910.0	0.11

Elemenderf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(Continued)

3					Range of Ca	incentrations ((TAM					
	and and a second se	ATT WAY	W	A for the set of A	acherage Wel	3		Part J	li herber	Water		
Mente	BW2			. Wein 4	6 IPM	Well 20	IWT	j.		ADPC 9	AE-3127	
Meetury	ž	ž	> 0.0003	<0.0003	<0.0003	< 0.0003	< 0.0002	< 0.0002	< 0.0002	< 0.0002	< 0.0002	KDL
Nichel	N.	N	NA	NA	N	NA	< 0.005	<0.005- <0.010	<0.005	<0.005	<0.085	MDL
Nitzata	ž	ž	<0.1	0.2	0.5-0.9	0.1-0.2	NA	VN	VN	VN	VN	0.9
Potassium	Å	ž	VN	VN	VN	VN	0.82	0.51-1.9	0.53	0.45	0.67	1.9
Selenium	ž	Å	<0.002	< 0.002	< 0.002	< 0.002	< 0.005	0.001-<0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	<0.005	0.001
Silver	NR	X	< 0.0002	< 0.0002- 0.0004	< 0.0002	< 0.0002	<0.0005	<0.0005- 0.010	<0.0005	<0.0005	<0.0005	0.0004
Sodium	ę	6.4-6.7	17.38-18.6	3.29-3.6	3.8-4.62	4.86-5	3.2	3.1-4.5	3.4	3.2	S	18.6
Sulface	16	12	17.38-29	12-15	23-32	16-24	15	14-16	2	17	14	32
Thellium	Ä	R	VN	VN	VN	٩N	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	NDL
Vanadium	X	NR	NA	VN	NA	VN	<0.005	< 0.002- < 0.005)	<0.005	< 0.005	< 0.005	MDL
Zinc	ž	X	<0.005	<0.005	< 0.005- 0.006	0.022-0.026	0.014	0.012-0.043	0.013	0.037	0.015	0.043

Data from one sampling event in 1987 by Black & Veatch (1990). One sample for Well 2. Two duplicate samples for Well 52, range reported.
Data obtained from Mitch Lile, Ship Creak Water Treatment Plant, Anchorage Water and Wasterwater Utility, Municipality of Anchorage. Two sampling events, March 1991 and September 1991, for each well range reported.

Data from one ampling event, September 1990 by COE (1991). Results for duplicate amples are reported.
Value selected for background comparison is the maximum concentration detected at the Municipality of Anchorage wells or Fort Richardson wells.
NR = Analyte tested for and not detected, detection limit not reported.

NR = Analyte tested for and no NA = Analyte not analyzed. MDL = Minimum detection limit.

dorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Halogenated VOCs were detected in four of the seven upgradient wells. TCE was detected in wells MW01, MW02, and MW06 ranging from 5.2 to 52 μ g/L. 1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane was detected in MW07 at a concentration of 8 μ g/L. Because there are no known sources of these compounds in OU 5, it is likely that these compounds are migrating with the groundwater from upgradient locations. Low levels of both TCE and 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane were detected in previous investigations in well 1, which is upgradient of MW06 and MW07.

U

BTEX compounds (except benzene) were detected in at least one upgradient well at very low levels, with only one concentration (toluene in MW06) exceeding 1 μ g/L. No PAHs were detected in any upgradient well samples. Gasoline-, diesel-, and JP-4-range hydrocarbons were detected in several wells within the upgradient subarea in concentrations of less than 1 mg/L. As with the halogenated VOCs, the low frequency of detection and low concentrations suggest migration from some source(s) upgradient of OU 5.

Very low concentrations of bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate were detected in monitoring wells MW03 and MW04. Because there is no known source of this compound in the upgradient subarea, it is likely that these concentrations are the result of migration from sources upgradient of OU 5 or of laboratory contamination.

4.3.2.2 Pipeline Corridor

The pipeline corridor wells include SP1-02, GW-6A, W-16, SP2/6-01 through SP2/6-05, SP4/11-03, W14, NS3-03, and MW10.

The second highest halogenated VOC concentration detected in OU 5 was reported for well SP1-02. This value of 33 μ g/L TCE was the only reported halogenated VOC within the pipeline corridor. Because SP1-02 is downgradient of well MW02 (where this compound was also detected), it is possible that these concentrations indicate a pattern of TCE transport in groundwater through the western part of OU 5.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Only one well in the pipeline corridor, SP2/6-05, contained any detectable fuel hydrocarbons. A concentration of 0.1 mg/L of gasoline-range organics was measured in this well, located downgradient of Sources ST38/SS42. Previous investigations detected TPH in well SP2/6-05 at 5.8 mg/L and TPH concentrations ranging from 1.0 to 64 mg/L in nearby wells SP2/6-03, SP2/6-04, and GW-6A. The absence of any hydrocarbons in groundwater in an area of known historical fuel leaks suggests that the impacts of past leaks on groundwater have been attenuated by natural processes.

U

4.3.2.3 Waste Paint Tank

A monitoring well (MW11) was installed near a waste paint tank to investigate potential impacts from the tank contents. The organic compounds detected in well MW11 were toluene at less than 1 μ g/L, bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate at 20 μ g/L, and di-n-butylphthalate at 1 μ g/L. The toluene concentration is similar to levels detected in upgradient wells. Elevated xylenes detected in soil at a 10-foot depth were not observed in the groundwater sample. The low levels of toluene and phthalates do not indicate that contents of the tank have affected groundwater quality.

4.3.2.4 Lower Bluff

Two new monitoring wells (MW15 and MW16A) were installed in the Lower Bluff subarea during this investigation to augment the one existing well (SP1-01). Despite the small number of wells, a more extensive list of organic compounds was detected in this subarea than any other.

Halogenated VOC compounds 1,1-dichloroethane (1.3 μ g/L) and chloroethene (1.3 μ g/L) were detected in well SP1-01. No halogenated VOCs were detected in wells MW15 and MW16A, located downgradient of SP1-01. These two compounds may be a degradation product of TCE detected in upgradient wells. Well SP1-01 marks the farthest downgradient point within OU 5 at which a halogenated VOC was detected in groundwater.

Elmandorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

In contrast to the diminishing trend relative to upgradient and pipeline corridor wells exhibited by halogenated VOCs, the BTEX compounds were detected with greater frequency and in higher concentrations in lower bluff wells than any other area of OU 5. With the exception of toluene, all BTEX compounds were detected at least once in the three wells with concentrations ranging from less than 1 to 39 μ g/L. Well SP1-01 had the highest BTEX contamination. No well completed upgradient of SP1-01 contains the level of BTEX or variety of compounds found in this well. e

At least one fuel hydrocarbon (diesel, gasoline, or JP-4) was detected in each well of the lower bluff subarea wells. As with the BTEX compounds, the greater concentration is present in SP1-01, although all detected levels are less than 2 mg/l. Two PAHs known to be associated with diesel fuel, naphthalene and 2-methylnapthalene, were also found in groundwater at SP1-01. Petroleum hydrocarbons and PAHs were also present in shallow soil samples in boring SB29, located approximately 15 feet from well SP1-01. This may indicate that this location is a localized source where petroleum products such as waste automotive oil have been discarded.

The semivolatile organic compound n-nitrosodiphenylamine was detected in both SP1-01 and MW15 at a concentration of 1 μ g/L. The lack of a known source of this compound and the very low concentration make it difficult to determine whether these data reflect groundwater concentrations or are the result of laboratory contamination.

Groundwater samples for total and dissolved metals were collected from wells MW01, MW02, SP1-01, SP1-02, MW15, and MW16A to assess potential impacts of fly ash disposed of along the edge of the bluff in this area. According to the well construction log, Monitoring Well SP1-02 was installed through the fly ash. Therefore, wells SP1-01, MW15, and MW16A are considered downgradient of the fly ash deposits. Upgradient (background) water quality was assessed by sampling wells MW01 and MW02.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Fourteen metals were found in higher concentrations in well SP1-02 or downgradient wells than in the upgradient wells. A comparison of the groundwater results is presented in Table 4-13. Comparing maximum concentrations detected, the following trends can be identified:

> • Aluminum, barium, iron, manganese, and vanadium were detected in the lower bluff subarea at greater than five times the upgradient levels. The concentrations of the five metals also increased across the site in a downgradient direction.

- Arsenic, chromium, copper, lead, nickel, selenium, and zinc were detected in the lower bluff subarea at between two and five times the upgradient levels. The maximum concentrations of arsenic and lead in the pipeline corridor well (SP1-02) were slightly less than in the maximum concentrations in the upgradient subarea. The maximum concentration of selenium on the site was in the pipeline corridor well. The remaining four metals increased over the site in a downgradient direction.
- Calcium and potassium were slightly higher in the lower bluff subarea and slightly less in the pipeline corridor subarea, compared to the maximum upgradient concentrations.

Comparing fly ash leachate results (Table 4-7) to the shallow aquifer groundwater results, it appears that arsenic, barium, vanadium, and zinc may be leaching out at levels that represent the detected concentrations in the groundwater. Naturally occurring levels of aluminum, iron, and manganese in OU 5 soils are most likely responsible for the observed raised levels in the lower bluff area groundwater.

4.3.2.5 Post Road Corridor

Six wells are included in the Post Road corridor: NS3-06, MW09, MW12, MW13, MW14, and MW17. On the western site of OU 5, wells MW14 and MW17 were both free of contamination, with the exception of trace levels of bis(2-ethylhexy)) what are at $1 \mu g/L$ (estimated) where and well. This compound is typically observed as a common laboratory contaminant, and is not considered significant at the low levels detected. In the

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

۲

۲

۲

	Negration Maximum Concentration		Pipuline Corridor (Ry Ade Area) Mittheme Concentration		Lever Yeard Machinese Concentration		
	ng£.	Location	mg/L	Location		Louise	Connect
Aluminum	0.0581	MW02	1.090	SP1-02	7.84	SP1-01	c, e
Areenic	0.0018	MW02	0.0017	SP1-02	0.0054	SP1-01	ь
Barium	0.0163	MW02	0.0259	SP1-02	0.116	MW16	C, 0
Calcian	90.1	MW01	87.5	SP1-02	93.7	MW16	8
Chromium	<0.0037	MW01, MW02	< 0.0037	SP1-02	0.0125	SP1-01	b, e
Copper	0.0037	MW01	0.0059	SP1-02	0.0099	SP1-01	b, s
Iron	0.184	MW02	1.84	SP1-02	19.3	SP1-01	с, е
Lond	0.0009	MW01	0.0007	SP1-02	0.0032	SP1-01	b
Manganeso	0.329	MW01	1.45	SP1-02	4.44	SP 1-01	C, 8
Nickel	<0.0077	MW01, MW02	0.00115	SP1-02	0.0208	SP 1-01	b, e
Potassium	1.80	MW01	1.33	SP1-02	2.150	SP1-01	8
Selenium	0.00064	MW01, MW02	0.002	SP1-02	0.001	MW15	b, d
Vanadium	0.0030	MW02	0.0061	SP1-02	0.0187	SP1-01	c, e
Zinc	<0.0144	MW02	<0.0131	SP1-02	0.0341	SP1-01	b, e

Comparison of Downgradient to Upgradient Total Metals for the Upper Aquifer

A downgradient value is less than two times the upgradient metal's concentration
A downgradient value is between two and five times the upgradient metal's concentration
A downgradient value is greater than five times the upgradient metal's concentration

at value is greater than five times the upgradient metal's concentration.

 d = The pipeline corrider sample has the highest metal concentration.
a The metal concentration increases progressively from the upgredient to the lower blaff subserse.
Note: A metal is shown only if its concentration in a downgradient sample exceeded the value for an upgredient sample. fient comple. Only data from the December 1992 sampling event is compared. The lower blaff subares is downgradient of the pipeline corridor subares. Well SPI-02 in the pipeline corridor subares is located in the fly ask deposit.

middle of OU 5, at wells MW09 and MW13, low levels of petroleum hydrocarbons were detected as well as trace levels of phthalates.

۲

No halogenated VOCs were detected in groundwater in the Post Road corridor. Because no known source of these compounds exists in OU 5, the halogenated VOCs are useful in tracing groundwater flow through OU 5. The disappearance of these compounds in the Post Road corridor suggests that either the groundwater containing halogenated VOCs is being discharged in seeps along the lower bluff area or the halogenated VOC concentrations are reduced below detection due to mixing with groundwater in the Ship Creek alluvium.

Monitoring Well MW13 was the only location where any of the four compounds included in the BTEX group were detected in the Post Road corridor. A single estimated value of 0.6 μ g/L benzene was detected at this well. Low levels of fuel hydrocarbons were also detected at wells MW09 and MW13. Diesel-range organics were detected at MW09, and both JP-4 and gasoline-range organics were detected at MW13. All concentrations were less than 1 mg/L. Both of these wells are downgradient of reported fuel hydrocarbon spills at Sources ST38/SS42 and SS53, and these concentrations may represent the remnants of the fuel that migrated to the water table.

Each of the Post Road corridor well samples contained a phthalate compound except MW12 and NS3-03. No concentrations exceeded 2 μ g/L. As at other locations, it is difficult to determine whether these data reflect groundwater concentrations or are the result of laboratory contamination.

4.3.2.6 Golf Course Beaver Pond

Two monitoring wells (MW30 and MW31) were installed in this subarea in addition to existing wells NS3-02, SP4-02, SP4/11-01, and GW-4A. No contaminants were detected in groundwater samples collected at any of the wells in this subarea. Although this

4-64

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

is constrary to expectations, since low levels of fuel hydrocarbons (TPH less than 3.5 mg/L) and volatile organics (TCE and other compounds less than 3 μ g/L) were detected in previous investigations, it is in an area of groundwater discharge and it is possible that the readily mobile contaminants have been flushed from the area. Given the hydrologic conditions in this subarea, analytical results for surface water and sediments may provide a better indication of environmental impacts of fuel spills than the groundwater. (\mathbf{z})

۲

4.3.2.7 Lower (Confined) Aquifer

Lower aquifer groundwater samples were collected from Elmendorf AFB Supply Wells 2 and 52, and offsite water supply wells for two businesses along Post Road, IGM and the Inlet Co. No organic contaminants were detected in any of these wells. A summary of the results for total metal analyses is presented in Table 4-11. Only total magnesium, potassium, and sodium were slightly higher in OU 5 RI data than in the background wells (Table 4-12). Arsenic has a risk-based concentration of approximately 5 $\mu g/L$ for an excess lifetime cancer risk of 1 in 10,000 (EPA Region 10, 1991), but a higher federal (40 CFR 141) and state (18 AAC 80) drinking water standard of 50 $\mu g/L$. Arsenic appears in low levels in 6 of the 9 background wells outside of the OU 5 study area, indicating that the levels found in the IGM well during the OU 5 investigation and in BW2 by Black & Veatch (1990) can be attributed to naturally occurring background levels and not to OU 5 sources.

4.3.2.8 Geochemical Evaluation

Major cation and anion data and field parameter measurements were used to compare the geochemical characteristics of confined and unconfined groundwater within OU 5. The unconfined groundwater data were collected at several OU 5 monitoring wells. The confined groundwater characteristics were evaluated using data collected at three water supply wells located in or near OU 5.

Elsendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

The cations used for the comparison were dissolved concentrations for the unconfined aquifer and total concentrations for the confined aquifer. Because the confined aquifer wells are water supply wells that produce water of very low turbidity, it was assumed that using the total concentrations will not introduce significant error into the comparison.

()

The cations used in this comparison were calcium, sodium, magnesium, and potassium. The anions include bicarbonate, carbonate, chloride, and sulfate. The anion nitrate was not included in the comparison because concentrations of this ion were very low at all wells.

Field parameter results are listed for all wells and surface water locations in Appendix M. These data show that water from both aquifers is relatively low in total dissolved solids as indicated by the specific conductance data. With the exception of wells MW17 and SP2/6-03 (the specific conductance readings for these two wells appear anomalous), the unconfined aquifer data ranged from 280 to 550 micro-mhos per centimeter (μ mho/cm). The two confined wells monitored for field parameters were both less than 200 μ mho/cm. However, the pH for the two confined wells was 8 or greater while the pH for the unconfined aquifer wells was considerably lower, ranging from 6.3 to 7.38. Temperatures measured at confined aquifer wells were between 5 and 6 degrees Celsius, while the unconfined aquifer wells ranged from 6.2 to 11.7 degrees Celsius. The unconfined temperatures reflect the greater influence of atmospheric temperatures on the shallow groundwater.

A Piper plot was constructed using the major ion data from the two aquifers to illustrate the relative percentage of each ion in the two groundwaters. The plot presented in Figure 4-9 illustrates the following general characteristics of both groundwaters:

[•] The dominant anion in all samples is bicarbonate. Low concentrations of chloride, nitrate (measured in unconfined aquifer wells only), and carbonate (found in confined aquifer wells only) and moderate levels of sulfate were also detected.



ELMF49.FH3 - VMG 6/10/93 SAC

• The dominant cation in the two unconfined aquifer samples and the sample from supply well BW2 is calcium. Approximately equal quantities of calcium, magnesium, and sodium were found in the sample from supply well WS02, and sodium is the dominant cation in samples from wells WS01 and BW52.

It is common for calcium and magnesium to be the most prevalent cations in groundwater (in silicate rock) that is near the area of recharge. The relatively high concentrations of sodium in the three confined aquifer wells (WS01, WS02, and BW52) are not consistent with this expectation. The reason for this apparent increase in sodium is not known. The distance between the recharge area and Elmendorf AFB is similar for both the confined and unconfined aquifers, and no minerals have been identified in the confined aquifer that would increase the sodium concentration relative to the unconfined aquifer values. Salt-water intrusion, another potential explanation for elevated sodium, is not occurring at these wells because chloride and specific conductance levels are consistent with unconfined aquifer valves. It is possible that the elevated sodium for calcium and magnesium to reduce hardness. It is possible that the samples were collected from wells with water softener units installed.

4.4 Surface Water and Sediments

4.4.1 Results

Surface water and sediment samples were collected from Ship Creek, the golf course beaver pond, and ponds and drainage ditches that capture OU 5 runoff. Figure 4-10 shows the surface water and sediment sampling locations. In accordance with the sampling schedule specified in the work plan (CH2M HILL 1992b), surface water and sediments were sampled in the spring and late summer in Ship Creek and the golf course beaver pond. The other ponds and drainage ditches were sampled once; locations SW/SE06, 07, 08, and 09 in the spring, and SW/SE10, 11, 12, and 13 in the late summer. Tables 4-14 through 4-18 present statistical summaries of organic and inorganic constituents in surface water and sediments.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report



•



•

•
Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Surface Water

Strifty Subarra	Desicted Compound	Bange of Damage	Germania Mana Mana	Attended to the second	Descharting of Baradia	
Lower Bluff Ponds & Drainage	1, 1, 1-Trichloroethane	1.8 - 1.9	8.44 x 10 ⁻¹	1.04 x 10°	2/5	40
	1,1-Dichloroethane	2.3 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	1,2-Dichloroethane	2.6 - NA	NA	VN	1/5	20
	4-Methylphenol (p-cresol)	7 - NA	NA	NA	1/4	25
	Benzene	1.5 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Bromothene	1.3 - NA	NA	NA	2/1	8
	Ethylbenzene	12 - NA	NN	NA	1/5	8
	JP-4	T70 - NA	NA	VN	1/5	8
	Naphthalene	1 - NA	NA	NN	14	25
	TFH Gas	400 - NA	NA	NA	1 1	33
	Toluene	2.7 - 27	8.37 x 10 ⁻¹	6.05 x 10°	2/5	ę
	Trichloroethylene (TCE)	1.4 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	8
	Xylenes, total	NN - 61	NA	NA	5/1	8
	trans-1,2-Dichloroethese	1.9 - NA	VN	VN	£1	33

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6

Table 4-14 (Continued)

Golf Course Berver Pond	1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane Benzene	1.2 - 4.3 0.6 - NA	9.16 x 10 ⁻¹ NA	1.40 x 10° NA	2/5 1/5	8 8
	Toluene	0.7 - NA	٧N	۷N	1/4	22
	Trichloroethylene (TCB)	2.4 - 6.6	1.63 x 10°	2.58 x 10°	3/5	8

outed value. NA - Not Applicable due to only one rep

inderf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4-72

	Detected	Range & Statechill Values	Connecties.			
	Cimpoul					
Lower Buff Pends & Dreisage	Arcenic, solubie	0.0014 - 0.0016	8.37 x 10 ⁴	1.04 x 10°	3/5	60
	Barium, solubie	0.0155 - 0.16	3.72 x 10 ⁴	5.48 x 10 ³	5/5	100
	Beryllium, solubie	0.00061 - 0.00062	4.75 x 10 ⁴	4.86 x 104	2/5	40
	Cadmium, solubie	0.0014 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Calcium, soluble	79.2 - 91.1	8.34 x 10 ⁴	8.35 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	iron, solubie	0.309 - 2.4	2.50 x 10 ²	5.43 x 104	2/5	40
	Magnesium, actuble	10.7 - 25	1.68 x 10 ⁴	1.77 x 10 ¹	5/5	100
	Manganess, soluble	0.0215 - 2.85	4.84 x 10 ¹	1.25 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Nickel, soluble	0.0097 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Potassium, soluble	0.983 - 1.84	1.43 x 10°	1.46 x 10°	5/5	100
	Sodium, soluble	5.2 - 13.2	8.28 x 10°	8.67 x 10°	5/5	100
	Vanadium, Soluble	0.0015 - 0.0059	2.25 x 10 ⁴	2.73 x 10 ³	4/5	80
	Ziac, soluble	0.0031 - 0.0136	2.54 x 10 ³	4.44 x 10 ³	3/5	60
Golf Course Beaver Pond	Arsonic, soluble	0.0007 - 0.0008	4.74 x 10 ⁴	5.10 x 104	2/5	40
	Barium, soluble	0.0157 - 0.053	2.37 x 10 ⁴	2.63 x 10 ²	5/5	100
	Beryllium, soluble	0.00061 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Cadmium, sotubis	0.0017 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Calcium, sotuble	57.2 - 68.6	6.28 x 10 ⁴	6.29 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Copper, soluble	0.0047 - 0.0219	1.70 x 10 ⁴	5.63 x 10 ³	2/5	40
	Iron, soluble	0.245 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Lond, soluble	0.0007 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Magnesium, soluble	10.5 - 11.4	1.11 x 10 ⁴	1.11 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Manganess, solubie	0.042 - 1.39	3.67 x 104	6. 10 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Nickal, soluble	0.0111 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20

Summary of Analytical Results for Dissolved Metals in Surface Water

1

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-73

1

•

.

(Continued)

the states	Descent .	Yahar				
and a second stranger size and the second	Patassium, soluble	0.735 - 3.58	9.29 x 10 ⁴	1.26 x 10 ⁴	3/5	······································
	Sodium, soluble	3.75 - 7.39	4.66 x 10°	4.81 x 10 ^o	5/5	100
	Thallium, soluble	0.0006 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
•	Vanadium, solubie	0.0021 - 0.0027	1.49 x 10 ³	1.70 x 10 ³	3/5	60
	Ziac, soluble	0.0016 - 0.0589	1.02 x 10 ²	2.24 x 10 ²	4/5	80
Ship Creek	Aluminum, solubie	0.0618 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Antimony, soluble	0.015 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Amenic, solubio	0.0009 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Barium, soluble	0.004 - 0.0721	8.25 x 10 ³	1.56 x 10 ²	רזר	100
	Beryilium, soluble	0.00061 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Calcium, solubie	12.6 - 95.7	2.25 x 104	2.94 x 10 ⁴	1/1	109
	Copper, soluble	0.0017 - 0.0098	1.58 x 10 ³	2.99 x 10°	4/7	57
	iron, colubie	0.014 - 0.161	1.96 x 10 ²	3.93 x 10 ²	5/7	71
	Lend, soluble	0.0017 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Magacsium, solubio	2.01 - 13.3	3.38 x 10°	4.27 x 10°	חו	100
	Mangansan, solubio	0.001 - 0.312	1.47 x 10 ^a	6.01 x 10 ²	1/1	100
	Potassium, solubio	0.323 - 1.3	4.17 x 10 ⁴	4.93 x 10 ⁴	5/7	71
	Scienium, solubie	0.00054 - 0.00056	2.85 x 104	3.14 x 10 ⁴	2/1	29
	Sedium, solubio	1.55 - 7.21	2.38 x 10°	2.78 x 10°	חר	100
	Vanadium, solubio	0.0013 - 0.0026	1.18 x 10 ⁴	1.30 x 10 ⁴	2/7	29
	Zias, soluble	0.0042 - 0.0133	3.09 x 10 ³	4.43 x 10 ³	2/7	29

NA - Not Applicable due to only one reported value

1

(

Summary of Analytical Results for Total Metals in Surface Water

	Determit	Vilia	Constanting Manual I			
		6000A				
Lower Huff Peads & Desinego	Aluminum	0.0256 - 1.19	7.52 x 10 ³	3.15 x 10 ⁴	3/5	60
	Assenic	0.0007 - 0.0035	1.23 x 10 ³	1.73 x 10 ³	4/5	80
	Deciver	0.017 - 0.2	5.36 x 10 ⁴	8.23 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
-	Beryllium	0.00061 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Cadmium	0.0014 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Calcium	83.1 - 92.3	8.67 x 10 ⁴	8.68 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Copper	0.0015 - 0.0072	1.06 x 10 ³	2.05 x 10 ⁴	2/5	40
	irce	0.0362 - 6.27	6.38 x 10 ⁻⁴	2.13 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Lead	0.0026 - 0.0148	9.72 x 10 ⁴	3.65 x 10°	2/5	40
	Magassium	10.9 - 25.8	1.73 x 10 ⁴	1.83 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Manganese	0.0208 - 3.85	5.80 x 104	1.73 x 10°	5/5	100
	Nickel	0.0082 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Putassium	0.847 - 4.97	1.79 x 10 ⁴	2.15 x 10 ⁶	5/5	100
	Sodium	5.28 - 14.9	8.68 x 10°	9.19 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Vanadium	0.0018 - NA	3.60 x 10 ³	4.48 x 10 ³	5/5	100
	Ziac	0.0039 - NA	NA	NA	3/5	60
Golf Course Beaver Pond	Atumisum	0.249 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Arsenic	0.0012 - 0.0014	5.91 x 104	7.30 x 10 ⁴	2/5	40
	Berium	0.0169 - 0.045	2.42 x 10 ³	2.59 x 10 ³	5/5	100
	Calcium	56.7 - 69.6	6.32 x 10 ⁴	6.34 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Copper	0.002 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	iron	0.0392 - 2.72	5.08 x 10 ⁴	1.06 x 10°	5/5	100
	Lond	0.0047 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Magnesium	10.7 - 11.7	1.12 x 10 ⁴	1.12 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Manganese	0.0127 - 1.5	3.36 x 10 ⁴	7.19 x 104	5/5	100
	Potessium	0.727 - 3.37	8.36 x 10 ⁴	1.16 x 10°	3/5	60

Eimenderf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4-75

(Continued)

Ų.

		Rings of Discosof	Guines	Aithmete	nd.	Parent
	Carry Contraction					
	Sodium	3.86 - 5.82	4.32 x 10 ⁴	4.37 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Venation	9.0014 - 0.0021	1.40 x 10 ⁴	1.48 x 10 ⁴	3/5	
	Zino	0.0045 - 0.0214	4.64 x 10 ³	7.48 x 10 ⁴	4/5	80
Ship Creek	Alumieum	0.315 - 0.569	1.04 x 10 ⁴	2.05 x 10 ¹	3/7	43
	Arsonic	0.0007 - 0.0021	5.62 x 10 ⁴	7.25 x 10 ⁴	2/6	33
	Berium	0.0085 - 0.0678	1.36 x 10 ²	1.88 x 10 ²	1/1	100
	Dorytlium	0.00061 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Calcium	12.9 - 95.7	2.49 x 10 ⁴	3.14 x 10 ⁴	1/1	100
	Copper	0.001 - 0.0025	8.72 x 10 ⁴	1.06 x 10 ⁴	4/7	57
	lroe	0.0489 - 0.863	2.17 x 10 ⁴	3.40 x 10 ⁴	חו	100
	Lond	0.0007 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14
	Magnosium	2.15 - 13.3	3.77 x 10°	4.59 x 10 ⁴	1/1	100
	Maagaaaso	0.0034 - 0.254	4.39 x 10 ²	8.61 x 10 ²	1/1	100
	Potassium	0.323 - 1.44	3.82 x 10 ⁴	4.89 x 10 ¹	4/1	57
	Sodium	1.53 - 7.14	2.41 x 10°	2.77 x 10°	חר	100
	Vanadium	0.002 - 0.0028	1.47 x 10 ³	1.68 x 10 ³	3/7	43
	Ziac	0.0026 - NA	NA	NA	1/7	14

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

•

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-76

•

0

E

۲

h

Summary of Analytical Results for Detected Organic Constituents in Sediment

		Denned	0			
	Reasted Compound	Descond Values	Minut			
Lower Huff Pasts & Drainage	2-Methylnephthalene	57 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	4-Methylphenol (p-cresol)	89 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Anthesees	230 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Benzo(s)anthraceas	59 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Benzo(a)pyrene	91 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Benzo(b)fluoranthene	58 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Benzo(k)fluorantheas	63 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Chrysens	85 - 120	2.93 x 10 ²	1.09 x 10°	2/5	40
	Buyibonzone	400 - 930	2.49 x 10 ⁴	2.68 x 10 ²	2/5	40
	Fluoranthene	130 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	PCB-1260 (Arochior 1260)	1600 - NA	NA	NA	1/1	100
	Phonasthrene	92 - 270	3.50 x 10 ²	1.12 x 10 ⁵	2/5	40
	Pyrene	150 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	TFH Dissel	1100000 - 7400000	3.20 x 104	1.70 x 10 ⁴	2/5	40
	TFH Ges	110000 - 700000	3.95 x 104	2.70 x 10 ⁵	2/3	67
	Toluene	26 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Xylones, total	3700 - 6200	8.80 x 10 ⁴	1.98 x 10 ⁴	2/5	40
	bis(2-sthylhexyl) phthelate	240 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
Golf Course Beaver Poed	2-methylnephthelene	100 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Bhylbenzene	260 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	JP-4	100000 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Naphthalous	69 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Phonasthrone	77 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20

Electron AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4-77

•

3

۲

۲

Ð

(Continued)

Karatan		Room of Journal Vision Capital				Paramet M
	TPH Diesel	21000 - 63000	1.13 x 10 ⁴	2.55 x 10 ⁴	3/5	60
	TITH Gas	1500 - 29000	5.21 x 10 ⁴	1.03 x 10 ⁴	2/4	50
	Toluene	520 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Xylenes, total	1100 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	bis(2-sthylhexyl) phtheiste	450 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
Ship Crusk	4-methylphenol (p-oresol)	160 - NA	NA	NA	1/8	13
	TFH Dissel	1000 - NA	NA	NA	1/8	13
	Tolucas	15 - NA	NA	NA	1/8	13
	bia(2-sthylhexyl) phthalate	57 - 76	1.10 x 10 ²	1.31 x 10 ³	4/8	50

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

Elemenderf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

۲

¥.

ŧ

1

8

		Rungs of Detected	Gennetris	Arithmetic	Detections*	Terint
	Detected Chargerand	Valuet (mg/kg)	Mines (mg/hg)		No.d Samples	
Lower Huff Peads & Desinage	Aluminum	6910 - 18400	1.31 x 10 ⁴	1.38 x 104	5/5	100
	Armaic	4.2 - 23.1	6.55 x 10°	8.46 x 10°	5/5	100
	Drive	39.6 - 1250	1.47 x 10 ²	3.41 x 10 ²	5/5	100
	Berytlium	0.39 - 0.59	5.14 x 10 ⁴	5.20 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Cadmium	0.78 - 1.9	1.43 x 10°	1.50 x 10*	5/5	100
	Calcium	5140 - 13700	7.22 x 10 ⁴	7.72 x 10°	5/5	100
	Chromium, total	7.7 - 31.6	2.02 x 10 ⁴	2.24 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Cobelt	8.9 - 12.1	1.04 x 10 ⁴	1.05 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Copper	21.1 - 30.6	2.45 x 10 ⁴	2.47 x 104	5/5	100
	leon	9190 - 54100	2.39 x 10 ⁴	2.77 x 104	5/5	100
	Load	4.9 - 39.5	1.21 x 10 ⁴	1.67 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Megassium	2140 - 8890	5.16 x 10 ⁴	5.90 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Manganoro	478 - 9580	1.17 x 10 ⁴	2.49 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Mercury	0.06 - 0.1	4.74 x 10 ³	6.00 x 10 ⁴	3/5	60
	Nickel	19.8 - 36.6	2.71 x 10 ⁴	2.80 x 10 ¹	5/5	100
	Potnesium	367 - 676	4.98 x 10 ²	5.14 x 10 ²	5/5	100
	Silver	0.85 - 1.3	4.60 x 10 ⁴	5.90 x 10 ⁴	2/5	40
	Sodium	258 - 452	3.46 x 10 ²	3.54 x 10 ²	5/5	100
	Thellium	0.26 - NA	NA	NA	1/5	20
	Vanadium	47.9 - 62.3	5.48 x 10 ¹	5.50 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Zine	36.8 - 100	6.23 x 10 ⁴	6.58 x 104	5/5	100
Golf Course Beaver Pond	Atumiaum	6930 - 14800	1.06 x 10 ⁴	1.10 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Arsonic	4.3 - 38.1	7.78 x 10°	1.18 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Berium	40.8 - 1180	1.60 x 10 ²	3.61 x 10 ²	5/5	100
	Deryilium	0.46 - 0.63	3.20 x 10 ⁴	3.94 x 10 ⁴	3/5	60
	Cadmium	1 - 1.7	1.45 x 10°	1.48 x 10°	5/5	100

Summary of Analytical Results for Metals in Sediment

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

.

0

۲

Þ

.

•

Þ

)

(Continued)

		Burns of Burnston	6	A-10	Pad.	
	Determent Comparent	Villes Inv/te)			24	
	Calcium	4730 - 12000	6.67 x 10 ⁴	7.04 x 104	5/5	100
	Chromium, total	12.7 - 34	2.36 x 10 ⁴	2.49 x 10 ⁴	5/5	109
	Cobait	9.8 - 23.7	1.23 x 10 ⁴	1.31 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Copper	22.8 - 37.4	2.79 x 10 ⁴	2.83 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	licon	8960 - 69300	2.59 x 10 ⁴	3.17 x 104	5/5	100
	Lood	7.6 - 25.5	1.57 x 10 ⁴	1.79 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Magnosium	2730 - 9070	6.18 x 10 ⁵	6.72 x 10°	5/5	100
	Maaganono	197 - 37900	1.55 x 10°	8.29 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Mercury	0.05 - 0.2	6.49 x 10 ²	8.10 x 10 ²	3/5	60
	Nick:	26.5 - 71.5	3.90 x 10 ⁴	4.15 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Potassium	344 - 717	5.10 x 10 ²	5.30 x 10 ²	5/5	100
	Silver	0.64 - 5.6	9.80 x 10 ⁴	1.64 x 10°	4/5	80
	Sodium	318 - 459	2.97 x 10 ²	3.13 x 10 ²	3/5	60
	Vasadium	38.4 - 57.5	4.77 x 10 ¹	4.84 x 10 ⁴	5/5	100
	Zinc	35.6 - 10 8	6.29 x 10 ²	6.69 x 10 ¹	5/5	100
Ship Creek	Atuminum	10900 - 18000	1.45 x 104	1.47 x 104	8/8	100
	Arsenic	4.7 - 8	5.94 x 10 ⁴	6.03 x 10°	8/8	100
	Barium	52.6 - 445	8.62 x 10 ⁴	1.16 x 10 ²	2/3	100
	Beryllium	0.38 - 0.73	4.19 x 10 ⁴	4.62 x 10 ⁴	6/8	75
	Cadmium	1.1 - 1.8	1.36 x 10°	1.38 x 10 ⁴	\$/\$	100
	Calcium	4320 - 9850	6.53 x 10 ⁴	6.71 x 10 ⁴	1/1	100
	Chromium, total	23.3 - 40	3.24 x 10 ⁴	3.28 x 10 ⁴	\$/1	100
	Cobelt	8.7 - 13.8	1.11 x 10 ⁴	1.12 x 10 ⁴	8/8	100
	Сорряг	22 - 31.6	2.72 x 104	2.75 x 10 ⁴	8/8	100
	irea	22600 - 33100	2.71 x 104	2.73 x 10 ⁴	8/8	100
	Leet	3.7 - 12.4	6.05 x 10°	6.41 x 10 ⁴	\$/8	100
	Megnesium	5980 - 10100	8.15 x 10 ⁴	8.24 x 10 ⁴	8/8	100
	Mangantes	433 - 14100	8.50 x 10 ⁴	2.27 x 10 ⁴	8/8	100

Bimmint APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-80

õ

.

ł

.

1

1

I

L

Î

ŧ

		Brange of Descaled	Connetrie	Actionsty	No. of Descriptions	Restant
	Compared	(mg/m)	(mg/hg)			
	Mercury	0.06 - 0.16	5.74 x 10 ²	6.88 x 10 ³	3/1	38
	Nickel	26.1 - 40.9	3.32 x 10 ⁴	3.35 x 10 ⁴	i/8	100
	Potassium	596 - 1060	7.14 x 10 ²	7.54 x 10 ²	7/8	88
	Solonium	0.11 - 0.31	1.30 x 10 ¹	1.49 x 10 ⁴	3/8	38
	Säver	0.77 - 1.9	5.58 x 10 ⁴	6.94 x 10 ⁴	4/8	50
-	Sodium	305 - 544	3.17 x 10 ²	3.40 x 10 ²	5/8	63
	Thellium	0.21 - 0.27	1.47 x 10 ⁴	1.59 x 10 ¹	3/8	38
	Vanadium	43.6 - 70.5	5.33 x 10 ⁴	5.40 x 10 ⁴	1/1	100
	Zinc	49.9 - 140	7.32 x 10 ¹	7.69 x 10 ⁴	8/8	100

(Continued)

NA = Not Applicable due to only one reported value.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

As discussed in Section 2.1.6, a suitable background reference pond not potentially affected by an Elmendorf AFB OU could not be identified. Therefore, the following nature and extent discussions of potential contaminants in pond surface water and sediments cannot be elaborated on in terms of contaminants detected in comparison to background values of the analytes. Conversely, a background reference sample station was established for Ship Creek (SW/SE01), and comparisons of analytes detected downstream are made to the reference station (see discussion in Section 4.4.2.2). Although the Ship Creek reference sample station is upstream of OU 5 (Elmendorf AFB-Fort Richardson boundary), it is possible that chemical concentrations detected could be contributed from runoff from Fort Richardson, Glenn Highway, or some other upstream source.

Additionally, laboratory analyses provided both total and dissolved (soluble) concentrations data of the inorganic analytes detected. For the purpose of brevity, only the maximum dissolved concentrations of inorganic elements detected are discussed in the text. Total metal concentrations are summarized in Table 4-16.

The results of the nature and extent of contamination is organized to follow the upgradient-to-downgradient transition of potential contaminants through OU 5.

4.4.1.1 Beaver Pond (SW/SE13)

Surface water was sampled at this beaver pond to correlate the site specific chemical concentration data with observed stressed vegetation effects at seep SL29 (see Section 6.2.2).

No organic chemicals were detected in the surface water samples. Metals and other inorganics detected include barium (0.053 mg/L), beryllium (0.00061 mg/L), calcium (57.2 mg/L), copper (0.0219 mg/L), iron, lead (0.0007 mg/L), magnesium (11.3 mg/L), ma-

Elemenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

nganese (0.042 mg/L), nickel (0.0111 mg/L), potassium (3.58 mg/L), sodium (7.39 mg/L), vanadium (0.0027 mg/L), and zinc (0.0589 mg/L).

All TAL list chemicals were detected, with the exception of mercury, silver, and thallium.

4.4.1.2 Golf Course Beaver Pond (SW/SE04 and SE05)

This beaver pond is downgradient of source area SD40, (the oil seepage from the bluff area) and slightly west and downstream of source area ST46 (the JP-4 fuel line leak). Organics detected in the golf course beaver pond surface water include TFH gas (0.052 mg/L), 1,1,2,2-tetrachlorethane (0.0043 mg/L), benzene (0.0006 mg/L), toluene (0.0007 mg/L), and trichlorethene (0.0066 mg/L). Metals and other inorganics detected include aluminum, arsenic (0.0008 mg/L), barium (0.2035 mg/L), calcium (68.6 mg/L), copper (0.0047 mg/L), iron (0.245 mg/L), lead, magnesium (11.7 mg/L), manganese (1.39 mg/L), potassium (0.941 mg/L), sodium (4.63 mg/L), thallium (0.0008 mg/L), vanadium (0.0021 mg/L), and zinc (0.039 mg/L).

Organic chemicals detected in the sediments include 2-methylnaphthalene (0.1 mg/kg), bis(2-ethylhexyl phthalate (0.45 mg/kg), ethylbenzene (0.26 mg/kg), JP-4 (100 mg/kg), naphthalene (0.069 mg/kg), phenanthrene (0.077 mg/kg), TFH-diesel (21 to 63 mg/kg), TFH-gas (17 mg/kg), and total xylenes (1.1 mg/kg). All TAL metals were detected, with the exception of thallium.

4.4.1.3 Wetland Pond (SW/SE06)

This very shallow wetland pond (up to 6 inches deep) at the base of the lower bluff is located southeast of source areas ST38 (a JP-4 fuel line leak) and SS42 (a diesel fuel spill site). Toluene (0.0027 mg/L) is the only organic contaminant detected in the wetland pond surface water samples. Inorganic chemicals that were detected include: aluminum,

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

arsenic (0.0014 mg/L), barium (0.050 mg/L), calcium (91.1 mg/L), iron (2.4 mg/L), magnesium (12.7 mg/L), manganese (2.85 mg/L), potassium (0.983 mg/L), sodium (5.2 mg/L), and vanadium (0.0023 mg/L).

The organic chemicals detected in sediments include anthracene (0.23 mg/kg), chrysene (0.12 mg/kg), ethylbenzene (0.4 mg/kg), phenanthrene (0.27 mg/kg), total fuel hydrocarbon (TFH) diesel (7,400 mg/kg), TFH gas (17 mg/kg), toluene (0.026 mg/kg), and total xylenes (3.7 mg/kg). All TAL list metals were detected in the sediment, with the exception of thallium.

4.4.1.4 Snowmelt Pond (SW/SE07)

This beaver pond, referred to as the snowmelt pond, is directly below the bluff where base snow disposal occurs. It is also slightly southwest of source area ST38, the JP-4 fuel line leak source.

Organic chemicals detected in the snowmelt pond surface water include: 1,2-dichloroethane (0.0026 mg/L), trans-1,2-dichloroethene (0.0019 mg/L), and TCE (0.0014 mg/L). Metals and other inorganic elements detected include arsenic (0.0015 mg/L), barium (0.16 mg/L), calcium (81.7 mg/L), magnesium (10.7 mg/L), manganese (1.63 mg/L), potassium (1.37 mg/L), sodium (13.2 mg/L), vanadium (0.0059 mg/L), and zinc (0.0031 mg/L).

PCBs (Arochlor-1260) were detected in this composite sediment sample at a concentration of 1.6 mg/kg. Other organics detected in the sediments include 2-snethylnaphthalene (0.057 mg/kg), 4-methylphenol (0.089 mg/kg), benzo(a)pyrene 0.091 mg/kg, benzo(b)fluoranthene (0.058 mg/kg), benzo(k)fluoranthene (0.063 mg/kg), bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (0.24 mg/kg), chrysene (0.085 mg/kg), fluoranthene (130 mg/kg), phenanthrene (0.092 mg/kg), and pyrene (0.15 mg/kg). All TAL list metals were detected, with the exception of silver.

Himondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(

4.4.1.5 **Bieff Pond (SW/SE06)**

This bluff pond (approximately halfway up the side of bluff) is located downgradient of source area ST37, the site of a diesel fuel line leak.

Organic chemicals detected in the bluff pond surface water consist of the following: 1,1-dichloroethane (0.0023 mg/L), 4-methylphenol (0.007 mg/L), benzene (0.0015 mg/L), bromomethane (0.0013 mg/L), ethylbenzene (0.012 mg/L), JP-4 (0.77 mg/kg), naphthalene (0.001 mg/L), TFH-gas (0.3 mg/L), toluene (0.027 mg/L), and total xylenes (0.019 mg/L). Inorganic chemicals detected include arsenic (0.0016 mg/L), barium (0.028 mg/L), calcium (79.2 mg/L), iron (0.309 mg/L), magnesium (17.8 mg/L), manganese (1.56 mg/L), potassium (1.62 mg/L), sodium (7.790 mg/L), and vanadium (0.0015 mg/L).

Organic chemicals detected in the sediments include ethylbenzene (0.93 mg/kg), TFH diesel (1100 mg/kg), TFH-gas (180 mg/kg), and total xylenes (6.2 mg/kg). Metals detected in the sediments are shown on Figure 4-11.

4.4.1.6 Drainage Ditch (SW/SE09)

This drainage ditch sample station is located to the southwest of source area ST37 at the western perimeter of OU 5.

1,1,1-Trichloroethane (0.0018 mg/L) is the only organic chemical detected in the drainage ditch surface water. Inorganic elements detected include barium (0.0155 mg/L), beryllium (0.00062 mg/L), cadmium (0.0014 mg/L), calcium (83.4 mg/L), magnesium (22.4 mg/L), manganese (0.170 mg/L), potassium (1.5 mg/L), sodium (7.63 mg/L), and zinc (0.0136 mg/L).

Organic chemicals detected in the sediments include phenol (0.072 mg/kg). All TAL list metals were detected, with the exception of mercury, silver, and thallium.

Elemenderf APB OU 5 RI/PE Report



) سر





4.4.1.7 Draimage Ditch (SW/SE10)

This drainage ditch sampling station (junction of Post Road and Whitney Road) is outside the defined boundary of OU 5, but does receive all the drainage from the stormwater interceptor at sample station SW09, runoff from the Elmendorf AFB bluff outside of OU 5, and possibly drainage or infiltration from the ARRC property between the base of the bluff and its discharge point at Post and Whitney roads.

The only organic chemical detected in the drainage ditch surface water was 1,1,1-trichloroethane (0.0019 mg/L). Inorganic chemicals detected include barium (0.0202 mg/L), beryllium (0.00061 mg/L), calcium (82.2 mg/L), magnesium (25.0 mg/L), manganese (0.0215 mg/L), nickel (0.0097 mg/L), potassium (1.84 mg/L), sodium (9.53 mg/L), vanadium (0.003 mg/L), and zinc (0.0039 mg/L).

All TAL list metals were detected, with the exception of mercury, silver, thallium, and zinc.

4.4.1.8 Ship Creek (SW/SE01, SW/SE02, SW/SE03, SW/SE11, and SE12)

No organic contaminants were detected in Ship Creek surface water. Metals and other inorganics detected include aluminum (0.0618 mg/L), antimony (0.015 mg/L), arsenic (0.0009 mg/L), barium (0.072 mg/L), beryllium (0.0061 mg/L), calcium (95.7 mg/L), copper (0.0098 mg/L), iron (0.161 mg/L), lead (0.0017 mg/L), magnesium (13.3 mg/L), manganese (0.312 mg/L), potassium (1.3 mg/L), selenium (0.00056 mg/L), sodium (7.21 mg/L), vanadium (0.0026 mg/L), and zinc (0.0133 mg/L).

Organic chemicals detected in the Ship Creek sediments include 4methylphenol (0.16 mg/kg) at SE03, bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (0.076 mg/kg) at SE01, SE02 (0.066 mg/kg), and SE03 (0.057 mg/kg), a diesel-range organic at SE11 (4 mg/kg), phenol

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(0.059 mg/kg) at SE11, and toluene (0.015 mg/kg) at SE03. All inorganic chemicals listed on Table 4-18 were detected in the sediments.

4.4.2 Discussion

The following discussion relates the occurrence of potential contaminants at each of the sample sites, with the probable or suspected OU 5 source areas. Background surface water and sediment chemical data are available for comparison of Ship Creek contaminant concentrations, using data from the reference location at the Elmendorf-Fort Richardson boundary, and as previously discussed, background sediment data for ponds and drainage ditches are not available because a suitable reference station was not available. All the TAL metals were detected in the sediments at each of the sample sites, except for mercury in the drainage ditches (SE09 and SE10); thallium, found only in the snowmelt pond sediment (SE07); and zinc, absent in drainage ditch sample SE10.

Based on the absence of pond sediment background data, and because no reliable approaches currently exist for predicting surface water concentrations of inorganic compounds from sediment information, further discussion of sediment inorganics in the ponds and drainage ditches is deferred to Section 6, Baseline Risk Assessment.

4.4.2.1 Ponds and Drainage Ditches

Beaver Pond (SW/SE13)

This beaver pond, near the eastern perimeter of OU 5, appears to be outside the pathway for the migration of fuels and other organic compounds, because none were detected. The concentrations of inorganic elements are consistent with those found in the other ponds, with the exception of elevated surface-water concentrations of copper, potassium, and zinc.

Emenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Golf Course Beaver Pond (SW/SE04 and SW/SE05)

Volatiles detected in the surface water (1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane, TCE, and toluene), and volatiles, semivolatiles, PAHs, and fuel hydrocarbons detected in the sediments—namely bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate, ethylbenzene, JP-4, TFH-diesel, TFH-gas, toluene, xylene, naphthalene, and phenanthrene—appear to be consistent with petroleum contamination that would be expected downgradient from sources SD40 and ST46.

Solvents detected in the surface water include 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane and TCE. No solvents were detected in the sediments. The origin of the solvents appears to be from upgradient sources based on sample results from upgradient wells.

The concentration of metals and other inorganics in the surface water is consistent with concentrations found in other pond surface waters, except for the unique occurrence of thallium.

Wetland Pond (SW/SE06)

This pond is located downgradient of two OU 5 source areas (ST38 and SS42. The volatiles, PAHs, and fuel hydrocarbons detected in the pond surface water (toluene), and those in the sediments, such as, anthracene, chrysene, ethylbenzene, phenanthrene, TFH diesel, TFH-gas, toluene, and xylene, appear to be from those source areas.

Snowmelt Pond (SW/SE07)

Volatiles were detected in the surface water only, and include trans-1,2dichlorethene and TCE. This is the only sample station where trans-1,2-dichloroethene was detected (Figure 4-10). The following organic elements were detected in the sediment samples: PCB (Aroclor 1260), 2-methylnaphthalene, 4-methylphenol, benzo(a)pyrene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, bis(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate, chrysene, fluoran-

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

these, phenanthrese, and pyrese. This pond receives snowmelt runoff from the crest of the OU 5 bluff, and is southwest of source areas ST38 (JP-4 fuel line leak) and SS42 (diesel fuel spill). Snow plowed from Elmendorf AFB roads and/or aircraft taxiways may have contributed to the occurrence of volatiles, semivolatiles, and PAHs, as well as the migration of these elements from the ST38/SD40 sources.

é

٩

PCBs (Aroclor 1260) were detected in the sediments, and may have entered drains or have been landfilled on Elmendorf AFB upgradient of OU 5 (CH2M HILL, 1992a). The origin of the PCBs is unclear.

Bluff Pond (SW/SE08)

Volatiles, semivolatiles, PAHs, and fuel hydrocarbons detected in the surface water include 4-methylphenol, benzene, bromomethane, 1,1-dichloroethane ethylbenzene, JP-4, naphthalene, TFH-gas, toluene, and total xylenes. Organic compounds detected in the sediments include ethylbenzene, TFH diesel, TFH-gas, and total xylenes.

This pond is downgradient of Source ST37 (diesel fuel line leak), and based on the occurrence of brush, grass clippings, and trash observed during sampling activities, appears to have been used as a small disposal area. The fuel line leak and/or past waste disposal practices appear to be the likely source(s) of contamination found in this bluff pond.

Drainage Ditch (SW/SE09)

The sample station at this drainage ditch is southwest of source area ST37 (diesel fuel line leak), and is next to the ARRC railroad tracks. These two areas appear to be the likely sources of the organic compounds detected. No volatiles or fuel hydrocarbons were detected in the surface water. Phenol was detected in the sediments. 1,1,1-Trichloroethane is the only organic element detected in the surface water, and no other organics were detected in the sediments.

4-91

Elmandorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Draimage Ditch (SW/SE10)

This sampling location is the outfall of the buried culvert that receives flow from the drainage ditch at location SW/SE09. The only organic compound detected in the surface water was 1,1,1-trichloroethane. No organic chemicals were detected in the sediments. The source of the 1,1,1-trichloroethane is unclear but could be drainage from the Elmendorf AFB bluff west of OU 5, non-point source runoff from the railroad tracks to the drainage ditch, or some other infiltration on the ARRC property.

4.4.2.2 Ship Creek

Surface Water

Five discharge points of surface water runoff from the OU 5 bluff, ponds, and drainage ditches to Ship Creek were identified during the 1992 field investigations. Two from the golf course beaver pond drainage, one from drainage of a stormwater culvert/wetland east of sample station SW06 (across from golf course clubhouse) and immediately upstream of Ship Creek Sample Station SW02, one from a culvert draining the SW06 wetland pond and just upstream of Ship Creek Sample Station SW03, and one discharge culvert at Yakutat Street (SW11) that drains a portion of the lower bluff to the creek.

No organic compounds were detected in the Ship Creek surface water samples. Analyses of inorganics conducted on Ship Creek surface water samples indicate that at Sample Station SW02, the following inorganic elements exceeded concentrations found at the background sample station (SW01): aluminum, barium, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, potassium, sodium, vanadium, and zinc. However, the inorganic elements in surface water at SW02 are less than those measured upgradient (lower bluff) at Sample Station SW06, with the exception of aluminum, copper, iron, lead, vanadium, and zinc. Because Ship Creek sampling occurred within the mixing zone of bluff runoff, it appears

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

that, in some instances, bluff drainage may contribute to elevated localized inorganic concentrations in Ship Creek.

۲

At Sample Station SW03, approximately 300 feet downstream of SW02, the following inorganic elements in surface water also exceeded background concentrations: barium, calcium, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, potassium, and sodium. Similar to Sample Station SW02, inorganic concentrations at SW03 are observed to be less than concentrations that were measured at the upgradient station SW06, except for copper and lead. Again, since sampling was conducted within the mixing zone of bluff runoff to Ship Creek, it appears that the bluff drainage may elevate some localized inorganic concentrations within Ship Creek.

At Sample Station SW11, the concentrations of inorganic elements detected in surface water exceeded Ship Creek background reference values for the following potential contaminants: antimony, barium, beryllium, calcium, magnesium, manganese, potassium, sodium, and zinc. However, the concentrations measured are less than those detected at upgradient Sample Station SW07 on the lower bluff, except for calcium and magnesium.

Sediments

The Ship Creek sediment sampling program detected both organic and inorganic chemicals in the sediments that exceed background values obtained from reference site SB01. In one instance, a background semivolatile was detected at a higher concentration than within the OU 5 study area. At Sample Stations SE02 and SE03, bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate was detected at 66 mg/kg and 57 mg/kg, respectively, while it was detected at the reference station at 76 mg/kg. Other organics detected in the sediments include: 4methylphenol (160 μ g/kg) and toluene (0.015 mg/kg) at SE03, phenol (59 μ g/kg) at SE11, and an unknown hydrocarbon (4.0 mg/kg) at SE11.

Busedoof AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

4.5 <u>Acuatic Biota</u>

4.5.1 Results

4.5.1.1 Aquatic Macroinvertebrates

Golf Course Beaver Pond (MI04 and MI05)

The structure of the macroinvertebrate community within the golf course beaver pond was composed of organisms that are considered tolerant (family Chironomidae and class Oligochaeta). Very few intolerant species such as Ephemeroptera (Mayflies) were present. The chironomid taxa that were dominant (*Procladius* sp., *Psectrotanypus* sp. and *Tanytarsus* sp.) were associated with the upper detrital layer (leaf packs, twigs, fine detritus). This is particularly true in the case of *Tanytarsus* sp., which maintained fairly consistent numerical abundance at both locations during both sample periods. Aquatic worms (class Oligochaeta) on the other hand, associate closely with the bottom sediments, even burrowing into them. The worms were noticeably absent from Station MI05 benthos. Surface water results do not indicate unusual conditions that could be related to Station MI05 biological anomalies.

Wetland Pond (MI06)

Benthic invertebrates associated with the wetland pond MI06 were consisted of members from the family Chironomidae and class Oligochaeta. These two groups, as mentioned previously, generally represent tolerant organisms. No intolerant organisms were present. The dominant organisms (*Phaenopsectra* sp., *Limbriculidae*, and *Limnodrilus* sp.) are indicative of the habitat structure, soft silty bottom with associated detrital material (leaf packs, twigs). Although these organisms represent tolerant organisms, their diversity was good.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RJ/F8 Report

Snowmelt Pond (MI07)

Macroinvertebrates associated with this pond were collected qualitative from the surface substrate material. Cladocerans (water fleas), culicids (mosquitoes), and chironomids (midges) were the dominant organisms. Although aluminum and iron were present in the surface waters above AWQC, the presence of cladocerans suggests that the surface water was probably not acutely toxic. Some hydrocarbons were present in the sediments, and may have restricted the benthic organism structure as represented by the Chironomidae.

Bluff Pond (MI08)

Benthos from the bluff pond were also obtained qualitative from near surface sediments. Cladocerans and culicid (pupa) were the only invertebrates noted. These organisms were associated with the water column. High levels of inorganic and organic elements did not appear to restrict the presence of at least some aquatic life. No organisms were noted in the bottom debris and sediment.

Ship Creek

The benthic community of Ship Creek represented a diverse group of organisms from the order Diptera (flies, mosquitoes and midges), family Chironomidae; the class Oligochaeta (aquatic worms), families Lumbriculidae and Niadidae; the order Ephemeroptera, family Ephemerellidae and Heptageniidae; and order Trichoptera, family Glossosomatidae. Community structure and function exhibited little change between the reference location and that of downstream sites (stations MI02 and MI03) in the May collection. There was a change in structure and function between the May and September collections, but this could be attributed to normal life cycle changes in invertebrate populations. Comparison of community structure and function between locations in the September collections indicated some differences between the reference location and

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

downstream sites. Sensitive species, especially in the order Ephemeroptera (Drunella doddsi in particular), decreased downstream. In contrast, the abundance of tolerant species, Chironomidae and Oligochaeta, increased downstream, especially at Stations MI03 and MI11. Analytical data are discussed in Section 4.4. Other than the naturally high iron concentration, there was little to suggest a potential effect on the macrobenthos from OU 5 constituents.

4.5.2 Discussion

4.5.2.1 Golf Course Beaver Pond (MI04 and MI05)

Elevated levels of fuel hydrocarbons appear to restrict the community structure at MI05. This was particularly true of organisms associated with the sediments (oligochaetes). Organisms associated with the surface detritus (leaf packs, detritus) and near bottom water column appeared less affected. The site nearest the beaver dam (MI04) displayed less stress when compared to MI05. Although no reference pond was available, it appears that site MI04 was in better condition ecologically than MI05.

4.5.2.2 Wetland Pond (MI06)

Macroinvertebrate community structure and function was considered restrictive, with an abundance of tolerant taxa. Presence of fuel hydrocarbons and other organic chemicals (phenanthrene, diesel, gas, toluene, and xylenes) suggests potential sources of agents that could influence the biological integrity of this pond.

4.5.2.3 Snowmelt Pond (MI07)

Presence of cladocerans in this pond suggests adequate water quality conditions. These organisms are used in toxicity bioassays and their presence suggests no acute toxicity. This may not be the case with regard to the sediments. Only members of the

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Chironomidae were present, again suggesting a restricted community structure. More extensive sampling would be necessary to substantiate this.

4.5.2.4 Bluff Pond (MI08)

The bluff pond also contained cladocerans in the water column, again suggesting that the water column environment was adequate for their survival. Nothing was noted in the near surface sediments, suggesting potential restrictions due to metals and organic elements.

4.5.2.5 Ship Creek

The community structure and function did change between locations in the September sampling. The changes that did occur are more indicative of eutrophication processes than restriction of the benthos structure due to toxic components.

4.5.2.6 Iron Bacteria

An orange/rust colored precipitate was observed within shallow low-flow pond and seep environments during sampling of surface water within OU 5. It appeared predominantly near seep interfaces as an algal substance at Sample Stations SW05 (golf course beaver pond near seep SL23) and SW06 (wetland pond near seep SL16), compared to other sample stations. Although the precipitate was not analyzed, it appeared to be iron bacteria.

Since at neutral pH and in the presence of oxygen ferrous iron is spontaneously oxidized (Wetzel 1975), the iron-oxidizing bacteria are restricted to steep redox gradients in which they are competing effectively with oxygen for the reduced iron. Therefore, the iron bacteria usually are restricted to the interface regions of iron-bearing rock (soil) seeps, swamps, and bogs where the redox potential is sufficiently low for reduced iron

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

to occur. Background soil boring analyses indicate a maximum iron concentration of 32,700 mg/kg detected in surface soils, and 54,100 and 27,800 mg/kg detected in sediment samples from SE06 and SE05, respectively. These relatively high iron concentrations appear to be consistent with the criteria necessary for iron bacteria development.

Based on the similarity of the aforementioned physical characteristics at the OU 5 locations where sampling occurred, and observations of Wetzel (1975), it appears that the conditions observed within OU 5 support iron bacteria development. Although unsightly, the iron bacteria did not appear to cause an adverse impact to shoreline or wetland vegetation where it was predominant.

4.5.2.7 Toxicity Tests

Acute and chronic toxicity tests were conducted on surface water and sediment samples collected during the 1992 sampling. Table 4-19 summarizes the acute toxicity test results.

Acute tests were conducted on selected samples collected during the spring sampling event to screen creek, pond, and drainage ditch surface water and sediment samples for conditions that may be adverse to the survival of aquatic life.

The bioassay test organisms were Ceriodaphnia dubia, fathead minnows, Chironomus tentans, and Hyalella azteca.

The test results indicate the following:

- The surface water samples were not acutely toxic to *Ceriodaphnia* dubia or fathead minnows.
- The sediment samples were not acutely toxic to Hyalella azteca.

Results of Acute Toxicity Testing of Surface Water and Sediments

S	urface Water Acute Bioassays	
	Mean Percen	t Survival
Field Sample No.	Certodaphnia dubia	Fathead Minnow
Laboratory Control SW02 SW03 SW04 SW05 SW09	100 100 100 100 100 90	95 90 90 80 95 100
	Sediment Acute Bloassays	
Field Sample No.	Chironomus tentans	Hyalella arteca
Laboratory Control SE02 SE03 SE04 SE05 SE09	100 90 95 55* 95 95 95	100 100 100 100 100 100

^a Indicates significant (p < 0.05) difference (reduction) from laboratory control data.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

• The sediment samples were not acutely toxic to *Chironomus tentans* except for sample SEC4.

 Laboratory control water and sediment were acceptable for all bioassays.

Chronic toxicity tests were conducted with surface water and sediment samples collected from both golf course beaver pond sample stations. The chronic tests were conducted because results of the acute toxicity test indicated that sediments from the southwest end of the beaver pond are acutely toxic to *Chironomus*, a normally pollution-tolerant burrower, and because fuel odors and sheens were very apparent during sampling at the northeast end of the pond. Table 4-20 summarizes the results of the chronic toxicity tests.

The results of these tests show that:

- The surface water samples were not chronically toxic to *Ceriodaphnia* dubia or fathead minnows.
- Laboratory control data for the *Ceriodaphnia* and fathead minnow tests were acceptable.
- The sediment samples were not chronically toxic to *Chironomus* tentans.
- Sediment sample SE04 was not chronically toxic to *Hyalella azteca* based on significant difference testing. *Hyalella* growth was approximately 41% of the laboratory control weight, indicating that the statistical analyses may be inappropriate for toxicity interpretation.
- Sediment sample SE05 was chronically toxic to *Hyalella azteca*. This sample caused a reduction in *Hyalella* survival, also indicating acute toxicity.
- The recovery of live or dead test organisms was greater in the Chironomus bioassay than in the Hyalella test. Missing organisms were not included in the data analysis (non-recovered organisms were not counted as fatalities.)
- Laboratory control data were acceptable for both bioassays.

Elmonderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

•

۲

ē

۲

Results of Chronic Toxicity Testing of Surface Water and Sediments

	Surface Wa	ater Chronic Biog	saays	
	Ceriodap	hnia dubia	Patheo	d Minnow
Field Sample No.	Mean %	Mean No. of	Mean %	Mean Growth
	Survival	Offspring	Survival	(mg)
Laboratory Control	90	26.7	92.3	0.664
SW04	100	24.7	97.5	0.688
SW05	100	28.4	95	0.833
	Sedimen	t Chronic Bioassa	er,	
	Chironomus tentans		Hyalella arteca	
Field Sample No.	Mean %	Mean growth	Mean %	Mean Growth
	Survival	(mg)	Survival	(mg)
Laboratory Control	100	0.420	83.1	0.098
SE04	100	0.377	92.5	0.040
SE05	100	0.382	46.9*	0.054

^a Indicates significant (p < 0.05) difference (reduction) from laboratory control data.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Additionally, benthic macroinvertebrate sample analyses indicate a decrease in tolerant taxa associated with bottom sediments at Sample Station MI05 in the golf course beaver pond, indicative of severe impact (see Section 3.6.1.4). The results of the toxicity tests will be discussed further in the risk assessment (see Section 6.2.1).

(4)

•

4.6 <u>Terrestrial Plants and Animals</u>

4.6.1 Results

Analytical results for soil and plants are presented in Appendix K. Summary data are presented in Tables 4-21, 4-22, and 4-23, and statistical comparisons are in Appendix O.

4.6.1.1 Plants

Several species of plants in widely scattered areas of OU 5 exhibited signs of stress at the time of the June 1992 survey (Figure 4-12). The signs of stress included interveinal chlorosis, which suggests that some stressor found in the soils in various areas has altered the photosynthetic rates of affected plants. The stress could have been caused either directly by effects on the plants or indirectly by effects on soil microorganisms. Affected species included several annuals and perennials at various locations. Horsetail, grasses, fireweed, cow parsnip, red currant, willow, alder, brook veronica, and tall Jacob's ladder (*Polemonium acutiflorum*) were among those affected.

In general, the plants had yellowish leaves but most were still alive. However, in several areas the horsetail was turning brown and dying. This coloration and death are not typical for plants of these various species during early summer.¹

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

¹This information was obtained from Allen Richmond, natural resource planner at Elmendorf AFB, on June 29, 1992.

	54		Pass		
(Charles)	Affected	Noneffected	Affected	Nonaffected"	
Atuminum.	12546 (4380-17600)	13864 (8670-19700)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	
Antimony	2.3 (1.4-7.5)	2.1 (1.4-4.5)	ND ⁴	ND ⁴	
Armic	7.1 (4.0-28)	6.0 (2.7-15)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	
Berium	149 (51-3650)	137 (37-1240)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	
Beryllium	0.5 (0.25-1.1)	0.4 (0.16-1.3)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	
Boron	9.2 (4.6-37)	7.8 (3.4-24)	18 (4.8-65)	16 (3.7-45)	
Cadmium	1.3 (0.32-3.1)	1.1 (0.38-1.7)	NC ⁴	NC ⁴	
Calcium	8195 (5330-35300)	8412 (4420-20400)	13399 (5880-26800)	11311 (4080-28100)	
Chromium	28 (12-53)	28 (12-64)	0.75 (0.20-1.6)	0.71 (0.20-1.2)	
Cobalt	8.9 (3.6-14)	8.1 (3.3-13)	0.41 (0.15-6.9)	0.34 (0.15-2.2)	
Copper	24 (14-37)	25 (14-38)	5.8 (3.2-9.8)	5.7 (2.6-11)	
Iron	24522 (8440-37800)	20983 (6550-34600)	407 (177-1370)	351 (131-1350)	
Lond	18 (4.5-87)	13 (4.7-35)	3.6 (1.7-48)	2.8 (1.7-20)	
Magnesium	5816 (1660-9210)	6371 (2250-9810)	2935 (1160-6570)	2298 (1060-6570)	
Manganese	1351 (457-7860)*	652 (307-10700) [*]	164 (43-484)	125 (50-321)	
Mercury	0.06 (0.03-0.1)	0.06 (0.02-0.31)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	
Molybdenum	1.1 (0.43-25)	0.92 (0.42-3.1)	0.82 (0.20-2.1)	0.77 (0.20-3.9)	
Nickel	31 (19-49)	28 (12-55)	2.4 (0.85-5.9)	2.1 (0.85-6.5)	
Potassium	641 (361-908)	572 (306-854)	13379 (7070-26600)	11733 (4980-24200)	
Solenium	0.15 (0.055-1.1)	0.23 (0.055-3.1)	ND ⁴	ND ⁴	
Silicon	746 (346-2910)	718 (312-1840)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	
Silver	0.92 (0.25-22)	0.62 (0.29-2.0)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴	

Summary of Inorganic Elements (mg/kg, dry weight) in Soils and Plants from Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed⁴

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

4-103

۲

۲

۲

.

۲

۲

۲

.

۱

(Continued)

			Panin	
Chamical	Affected	Noneffected*	Affected	Nonallociod"
Sodium	471 (251-1430)	435 (226-933)	446 (222-943)	419 (190-1750)
Thallium	0.21 (0.080-0.59)	0.20 (0.080-0.59)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴
Vanadium	49 (21-81)	52 (34-72)	NA ⁴	NA ⁴
Zinc	60 (35-159)	57 (30- 99)	21 (8.4-51)	25 (11-96)

* Geometric means and (range of values).

* Collected at identified surface locations where plant stress was observed (see also Section 2.1.8.1).

* Collected nearby where plants appeared to be normal.

* NA = Not analyzed; ND = Not detected (less than 3.2 mg/kg); NC = not calculated (11 of 12 samples below detection limit).

* Significant difference (p < 0.05) between affected and nonaffected soils; no other significant differences.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

٣

۲

۲

4)

Maximum Measured Concentrations and Location of Fuel Hydrocarbons in Soils from Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed

Chunical	Surger Afficial	Type*
Benzene µg/kg	ND ⁴	14.9; SL25
Toluene µg/kg	ND	63.9; SL16
Ethylbenzene µg/kg	393; SL04	ND
Xylence µg/kg	8360; SL04	1980; SL16
Gasoline mg/kg	670; SL04	271; SL16
Diceel mg/kg	151; SL04	720; SL16
Jet Fuel mg/kg	ND; SL04	ND; SL16

Soils collected where plant stress was observed and nearby reference locations where plants appeared to be normal.
ND = Not detected (less than 0.005 mg/kg).

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

۷

۲

۲

(م

Comparison of Soil Chemistry for Samples from Areas Where Plant Stress Was Observed^a

Analysis (units)	Affected	Nonaffected
pH	6.9 (6.2-7.4)	6. 5 (5.6- 7.7)
Electrical Conductivity (mmhos/cm)	0.54 (0.24-1.6)	0.53 (0.23-1.9)
Phosphorus (mg/kg)	26 (6.8-60)	19 (4.1-56)
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (mg/kg)	1560 (168-4410)	1632 (207-8550)
NH ₃ (mg/kg)	12 (1.8-68)	13 (1.9-83)
Water-Soluble Cations (meq/100g)		
Calcium	0.22 (0.04-1.4)	0.26 (0.06-1.9)
Magnesium	0.055 (0.010-0.32)	0.062 (0.020-0.33)
Potassium	0.015 (0.010-0.12)	0.014 (0.010-0.090)
Sodium	0.040 (0.010-0.28)	0.037 (0.010-0.15)
Cation Exchange Capacity (meq/100g)	13 (4.8-57)	16 (3.2-67)
Acid-Extractable Cations (meq/100g)		
Calcium	9.0 (2.6-49)	11 (2.5-39)
Magnesium	0.75 (0.19-3.0)	0.86 (0.12-4.1)
Potassium	0.14 (0.040-0.75)	0.10 (0.03-0.20)
Sodium	0.37 (0.18-17)	0.21 (0.14-0.34)

^a Geometric mean and (range of values) for soils collected where plant stress was observed and nearby reference locations where plants appeared to be normal.

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report


•



Apparent plant stress was observed at the following locations:

(

SL3	SLA/SL5
SL19	SL20
SL25	SL26
SL28	SL29
SL31	SL32.

Some other woody plants apparently were stressed due to the flooding caused by beaver activities or by other hydrologic changes. These changes occurred at SL29 and SL30 more recently (based on dead leaves seen on some trees) and at SL19, SL25/SL26, and SL22/SL23 (in the golf course beaver pond).

The trees in the latter three wetlands died many years ago. At SL19 and SL25/SL26, there was no evidence of beaver activity, but the wetlands apparently developed there after many of the trees were established. The white spruce trees that are showing signs of stress would typically grow in areas with better drainage than now exists. They probably were present before the area became a wetland, but the timing of hydrologic changes in these two areas has not been determined. At the large beaver pond south of SL22 and SL23, the trees may have died as a result of flooding caused by the beaver dams.

In addition, many of the balsam poplar trees between SL7 and SL10 had been substantially defoliated, apparently by insects. The defoliation of the trees has not been attributed to OU 5 contaminants.

Soils and plants were collected from representative areas where plant stress was observed (see Section 2.1.8.1) for analysis of possible causes of plant stress. Because the signs of stress were similar to those induced by iron deficiency (that is, interveinal chlorosis), the analyses focused on factors that may affect iron uptake and availability, in addition to analyses for previously identified contaminants for OU 5.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Soils and plants were collected as paired samples (from the same soil depths and plant species) from both affected and nearby nonaffected locations. Thus, the means shown in these tables provide comparable values between the affected and nonaffected areas. Results of statistical tests comparing the affected and nonaffected soil or plants are in Appendix O; the results are summarized in the following text and in Tables 4-21, 4-22, and 4-23. (4

4

Except for manganese, there were no statistically significant differences in concentrations of inorganics for soil or plants (Table 4-21). Soil in which affected plants were growing tended to have higher concentrations of some inorganics (for example, barium, boron, iron, nickel, potassium, lead, and zinc) than those supporting nonaffected plants. Likewise, the affected plants tended to have higher concentrations of certain metals or nutrients (for example, calcium, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, potassium, and sodium), but lower concentrations of other metals and nutrients (such as zinc), although the differences were not statistically significant (P > 0.05).

Halogenated VOCs were not found at measurable concentrations in any of these soils (Appendix K). BTEX and gasoline, diesel, or jet fuel were observed at several sample locations. However, with the exception of SL4, there was no consistent pattern of these chemicals being more common in soil from affected plant sites than the soil from the nonaffected ones. Petroleum hydrocarbons were not detected in most of the soil samples. Maximum concentrations of these chemicals by location and soil sample type are presented in Table 4-22. The highest concentrations of ethylbenzene, xylene, gasoline, and diesel from SL4 were in samples collected for quality control analyses (Appendix K).

Diesel soil analysis results indicate that constituents of these fuels do not have a causal relationship with the affected plants. At SL4/SL5, affected plants were found in soil with higher contaminant concentration than soil in which nonaffected plants were found; although higher concentrations were found in soils at SL16, where no affected plants were found. The affected plant species at SL4/SL5 is horsetail; it is also the affected species at

4-110

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

SL19. However, measurable diesel concentrations were not found to be greater than 12 mg/kg in the soil at SL19. If this species is exhibiting the same symptoms at both locations, one could expect the fuel contaminants to be present at both sites.

Elevated levels of gasoline, ethylbenzene, and xylenes were found at SL4/SL5 in soil from the affected plant site and not in soil from the nonaffected site. However, these chemicals were not found at SL19, where horsetail was similarly affected. Elevated levels of gasoline, toluene, and total xylenes were found at SL16, where no affected plants were found. Results of soil chemistry analyses comparing the soils in which affected and nonaffected plants grow are presented in Appendix O and summarized in Table 4-23. Soil pH tended to be higher where plants exhibited stress than at nearby nonaffected reference locations where plants appeared to be normal, and the differences approached statistical significance (0.05 < P < 0.1; that is, it was significant at 90% but not 95% as being a true difference). Water-soluble potassium concentrations were similar in the soils, but acidextractable potassium tended to be higher in affected areas than in nonaffected ones (0.05 < P < 0.1). Although some other analytes (for example, phosphorus, nitrogen, sodium) showed apparent differences between affected and nonaffected locations, the values were highly variable and did not approach statistical significance (P > 0.1).

Phosphorus concentrations and pH in soil were compared between sites of affected and nonaffected plants. At SL4/SL5, SL20, and SL29, both phosphorus concentrations and pH were elevated in soils from the affected areas when compared to soils from nonaffected areas. At SL19 and SL25/SL26, pH for both affected and nonaffected areas were about the same, while phosphorus concentrations were increased at affected areas. SL31 soils showed an increase in pH but a decrease in phosphorus at the affected site.

4.6.1.2 Birds

Eggs that failed to hatch were found in four nests. Five of the six eggs had dead embryos, but none of them had visible deformities. Three mew gull eggs (apparently the entire clutch, although that nest had not been monitored previously) in a nest at the snow disposal area pond had dead embryos that had reached about one-half term incubation. A single addled egg (no visible development) was found in another gull nest at that pond. One wigeon egg failed to hatch in a nest west of the golf course beaver pond (south of SL22). The embryo was nearly full term and had died about the time the other six eggs in the nest apparently hatched successfully. One of the four eggs failed to hatch in a spotted sandpiper nest on the berm of JP-4 fuel tank 734 (southeast of SL24). It contained an embryo that died after about 1 week of incubation.

4

4.6.2 Discussion

4.6.2.1 Plants

Whereas elevated levels of diesel, gasoline, ethylbenzene, and total xylenes were found in the soil of affected plants and not in the soil of nonaffected plants at SL4/SL5, these compounds were not present in any soil samples from SL19, or were present at low levels. Since horsetail plants at both sites exhibited the same stress symptom of chlorosis, it is doubtful that any of these chemicals are related to the plant stress. The fact that diesel, gasoline, benzene, toluene, and total xylenes were found at SL16, where there were no affected plants, strengthens the hypothesis that these chemicals are not a contributing factor.

The statistically-significant difference in soil manganese concentrations between affected and unaffected areas may be biologically significant. An imbalance in the ratio of manganese to iron can affect the ability for plants to use iron, and may cause chlorosis of the leaves.

Eimenderf APB OU 5 RI/PE Report

A potential trend may exist between pH levels and phosphorus concentrations in the soils of affected and nonaffected plant sites. The comparisons of these parameters were made for the 2- to 12-inch depth soil samples, and the trend does appear similar for all sample depths. In unfavorable soil pH, mineral imbalances may occur in the plant. At increased soil pH, available ferrous salts can be converted to unavailable ferric salts leading to iron deficiency. Also, iron may be made unavailable by excess soluble phosphates. Based on the data from this exploratory study, a definitive cause for the plant stress, as expressed as chlorosis, cannot be determined. Possible causes of the observed plant stress are discussed further in Section 6.2.2.3. (4

4.6.2.2 Birds

The limited observations of waterfowl, shorebird, and gull nests did not indicate that eggs were becoming oiled by transfer of oil from the parents' feathers, and oil was not observed on the birds' plumage. However, the number of nests being observed was small, and these findings are inconclusive. Based on observations of other areas, the number of eggs failing to hatch (as a percentage of eggs observed) was higher than expected. Embryo toxicity caused by exposure to potential contaminants of concern in OU 5 cannot be determined on the basis of limited data from this study. Given the observed oily sheen on the beaver pond near SL22, the birds' feathers may become oiled and they may transfer oil to eggs they are incubating. One green-winged teal and two wigeon nests were observed at this pond.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

6

۲

۲

)

•

Page

5.0	CON	CEPTUAL MODEL
	5.1	Overview
	5.2	Sources
	5.3	Contaminant Characteristics and Release Mechanisms
		5.3.1 Fuel Products and Constituents
		5.3.2 Solvents
		5.3.3 Heavy Metals
		5.3.4 Polychlorinated Binhenvis
	5.4	Environmental Fate and Migration Pathways
	••••	5.4.1 Soils and Vadose Zone Migration Pathways
		5.4.2 Groundwater Migration Pathways
		5.4.3 Surface Water and Sediment Pathways
		5.4.4 Airborne Volatile and Particulate Migration Pathways 5-52

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5

5-i

LIST OF FIGURES

5.1	General Elements of a Conceptual Model, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
5.2	Conceptual Model Illustration, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
5.3	Conceptual Model for Potential Human Exposures, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska
5.4	Potential Exposure Pathways for Ecological Receptors, Elmendorf AFB, Anchorage, Alaska

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/P# Report

٢

۲

Page

·

LIST OF TABLES

٢

۲

۲

3

•

Page

5-1	Elements of the Conceptual Model Cross-Referenced to Information Sources and Location in RI Report
5-2	Potential Sources for Contaminants in OU 5
5-3	Summary of Organic Contaminants in the Upper Aquifer at Upgradient Operable Units
5-4	Physical and Chemical Parameters for Organic and Inorganic Chemicals Detected
5-5	Physical and Chemical Properties of Hydrocarbon Fuels
5-6	Estimated Worst-Case Concentrations for Ship Creek During Low Flow Periods

5-iii

5.0 CONCEPTUAL MODEL

This section presents an overview of the OU 5 conceptual model (CM) and more detailed discussions of the sources of contamination, the general fate and transport characteristics of the contaminants, and migration pathways in the environment. Exposure routes (inhalation, ingestion, dermal absorption) and exposed populations (humans, aquatic animals, and terrestrial plants and animals) are discussed in Section 6.0, Risk Assessment.

Section 5.0 asks three questions and focuses on the following significant results and interpretations:

- 1. What are the contaminants of concern and where are they located in OU 5?
 - Fuel constituents were detected in soils at the bluff area south of the COE building, at the base of the bluff below Building 22-010, and at the valve pit near the junction of Post Road and Second Avenue.

- Low levels of fuel and solvent constituents have been detected in groundwater within OU 5 and in seeps and ponds, both surface water and sediment, below the bluff.
- Limited testing detected metals in groundwater above background levels at locations near fly ash deposits on the bluff and in soils below the bluff.
- PCBs were detected at low concentration in one sediment sample collected from the snow-disposal pond (lower bluff pond).
- 2. What are the potential sources of the contaminants?
 - The fuel constituents in soils and groundwater at OU 5 most likely represent residual contamination from past recorded spills and leaks at underground pipelines. There is no evidence of recent or ongoing leaks.

- The solvent and some fuel contamination of groundwater and surface water enters OU 5 from unknown sources upgradient of the pipelines.
- The limited number of metals analyses do not allow for the identification of sources for the elevated levels of metals in soils and groundwater. The source of some metals, including arsenic and barium, may be fly ash deposits.
- The source of PCBs is unknown but may involve the snow disposal area adjacent to the lower bluff pond or ARRC activities.
- 3. How are the contaminants being transported?
 - Residual fuel contaminants in subsurface soils near the pipelines are transported downward by physical processes to the groundwater.
 - Groundwater flushes the fuel out of the soil through seeps and into ponds at the base of the bluff.
 - Low levels of fuel and solvent contaminants also enter OU 5 from upgradient sources as dissolved components in the groundwater and discharge through seeps and groundwater into ponds at the base of the bluff.
 - Low levels of fuel and solvent contamination have migrated off base onto railroad property at the western end of OU 5 via the upper aquifer groundwater.
 - The results from the total metals analyses and the leaching tests on the fly ash show that arsenic, barium, vanadium, and zinc may be leaching from the fly ash at levels that represent the detected concentrations in the groundwater.

5.1 <u>Overview</u>

The OU 5 CM describes OU 5 and its environs and presents hypotheses regarding the following components:

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

- Source or sources of contamination;
- Contaminant release mechanisms;
- Nature and extent of contaminants present;
- Contaminant routes of migration; and
- Potential impact of contaminants on sensitive receptors.

The CM hypotheses are tested, refined, and modified throughout the RI/FS. A preliminary CM presented in the OU 5 *Management Plan* assisted in the identification of data quality objectives, data needs, remedial alternatives, and general management decisions. The refined conceptual model is useful for evaluating data during the RI and developing remedial alternatives during the FS. Figure 5-1 shows the general elements of a CM.

To aid in the discussion of the OU 5 CM, an illustration is provided as Figure 5-2. Two CM schematics are also provided: Figure 5-3 for human receptors and Figure 5-4 for the ecological receptors. Table 5-1 cross-references the elements of the OU 5 CM with detailed discussions in this RI report.

The Elmendorf FFA grouped six source areas into OU 5 because the contaminants at the sources appeared to be similar:

> Source of contamination — The most likely sources of contaminant releases appear to be three fuel pipelines and the associated fuel distribution system and operations. This system includes storage tanks, valve pits, truck fill stands, and abandoned and active fuel lines. Other potential contamination sources within OU 5 include railroad maintenance operations (never verified) and fly ash. Shop drains (OU 4) and sanitary landfills (OU 1), fire training areas (OU 4, OU 7), drums (OU 7), and other storage areas 2 miles upgradient of the pipelines could be influencing groundwater and surface water quality within OU 5 (see Figure 1-2).

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



۲

5-4

And the second s

8

.

.

۲

•







...

◀



6

۲

۲

ŧ

Elements of the Conceptual Model Cross-Referenced to Information Sources and Location in RI Report

Constant Lines	Televert	Task
Sources and release mechanisms	Rention 1.2	Pourse and histories
- 003	Section 1.2.3.2	BOI ninelines and teaks
	Section 1.2.2.1	Fly ash
	Section 3.2.3.3	Fly ash
- Ungradient	CH2M HILL 1991	Site summeries
- pp.	CH2M HILL 1992	Beauwide Investigation Work Plan
	Jacobs 1992	OU 1 Management Plan
	Jacobs 1992	OU 2 Management Plan
	CH2M HILL 1992	OU 4 Limited Field Investigation Report
Nature and extent of contamination		
- Past investigations	Section 1.2	Source area histories
-	Figure 1.3	Contaminants detected in past
		investigations
- Current RI	Section 4.2	Soils
	Section 4.3	Groundwater and seeps
	Section 4.4	Surface water and sediments
	Section 4.6	Terrestrial plants
	Section 5.3	Contaminant characteristics
Routes of migration (transport media)	Section 3.1	Climate
	Section 3.2	Geology and soils
	Section 3.3	Hydrology
	Section 5.3	Contaminant characteristics
	Section 5.4	Environmental fate and transport
		pethways
Exposure points, exposure routes,		
exposed populations		
- Humans	Section 3.4	Land use characteristics
	Section 5.5	Water use characteristics
		Linned ocated link and all of
- Aquatic communities	Section 3.6.1	Aquatic communities characteristics
	Section 4.5	Aquatic biota (results)
	Section 0.2.1	Aquatic resources risk assessment
- Terrestrial communities	Section 3.6.2	Terrestrial communities characteristics
	Section 4.6	Terrestrial plans and animals (results)
	Section 6.2.2	Terrestrial resources risk assessment

* Section manher reflers to Section in OU 5 RI Report.

1

Release mechanisms — Both subsurface breaks in the fuel lines and surface spills have been recorded in the past. Pipelines have been repaired and there are currently no known pipeline leaks at OU 5. 4)

ŧ

- Nature of contamination The known organic contaminants in soils at OU 5 include fuels (TFH diesel, TFH gas, and JP-4), BTEX, and SVOCs including PAHs. The known organic contaminants in groundwater, surface water, and sediments include fuels; BTEX; SVOCs including PAHs; and chlorinated solvents. PCBs were detected in one sediment sample. Several metals were detected above background levels in all media.
- Routes of migration Runoff and seeps, which leach contaminants from the soil into ground and surface water, appear to be the most important routes of contaminant migration. Local hydrogeology is thought to be similar within OU 5. The three pipelines run along the southern boundary of Elmendorf AFB on a glacial outwash plain composed of interbedded layers of gravel, sand, and small amounts of silt. Just south of the pipelines is a bluff that overlooks lower Ship Creek and its alluvial floodplain. At the base of the bluff are several shallow ponds and seasonally wet areas. Since the 1950s, seeps of fuel from the face of the bluff have resulted in cleanups, environmental investigations, and repairs to the pipelines. Groundwater flow in the upper aquifer moves in a southerly to southwesterly direction almost perpendicular to the pipelines on the bluff. Lower Ship Creek represents the primary recipient of both surface water and groundwater coming from the base, and of any contaminants transported by water. There is a potential for off-base migration of the contaminants via groundwater and surface-water runoff.
- Human and ecological receptors Current land uses within the base, but downgradient of the pipeline sources, include industrial and recreational uses. The downgradient area also serves as a major access route to the base. Land uses between the base and lower Ship Creek include railroad, industrial, and fisheries activities. Water uses vary by source of water. Only the lower groundwater aquifer is used as a source of drinking water. Recreational users may come in contact with the surface water. Surface water from Ship Creek is used for irrigation of the golf course, cooling water for the power plant, and hatchery operations. Ecological receptors include terrestrial and aquatic communities.

Data from both past investigations and the RI will be used to formulate the CM. It should be stressed that the data used from past investigations have not been fully

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

evaluated for completeness, quality, and technical usefulness. However, the past data are sufficient to discuss the previous conditions existing in OU 5. Data from the current RI were validated as described in Section 2.3.

۲

۲

5.2 Seurces

Table 5-2 identifies the potential sources of contaminants based on spill records, the type of contaminants, and the past and present distribution of contaminants in the environment. Figure 1-2 shows the relationship of potential upgradient OUs to the OU 5 study area.

The focus of the RI was to investigate fuel contamination at OU 5. Fuel leaks and spills from the pipelines and distribution points along the southern boundary of Elmendorf AFB have been documented. Fuel-contaminated soils with petroleum hydrocarbon levels greater than 100 mg/kg (ADEC, 1991) were detected in three areas of OU 5.

- South of the COE building (SB29, Source ST37);
- Base of bluff below Building 22-0010 (SL16, Source ST38); and
- Near the low-point drain pit at the junction of Post Road and Second Avenue (Source SS53).

The OU 5 sources that led to the current distribution of soil contamination by fuels were probably the pipeline leaks discussed in detail in Section 1.2:

- Source ST37-diesel fuel line leak, 1956 to 1958;
- Source ST38-JP-4 fuel line leak, 1964 and 1965; and
- Source ST53—golf course leak at low-point drain pit of JP-4 fuel line discovered in 1982.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Potential Sources for Contaminants in OU 5

1 1 1 1	Contraction		Other Evidence	J.	Commen
Mucolenum, oil, Ubricante POLa)	TPH gas, dissel, JP-4 BTEX PAHs	Found in soil, upper ground- water, aurface weter, and soli- ment in OU 5 study area	Spill and maintenance reports, observations of fuel seeps and shoens on surface water increasing after rains or spring breakup	OU 5 sources-pipelines and associated tanks (Table 1.1)	Ammal preserve testing above pipelime innot. Current scorces of fael may be residued pochets of fael is axis from past spills and leafs. These "het" gout were verified during the R1 to here TPH is axis greater than 100 mg/kg: blang are scotth of COE building, the low point valve pix at 2nd Stress and Post Rond, and a vertiend posed shong the lower blanf (GL16).
		Found in soil and upper ground- weeks in upgra- diest study subarua of OU 5	Past and ongoing investigations at other CERCLA OUs and sources in state cleanup programs	Upgradient fael tanks and pipelines - OUs 2 and 4 - State UST/POL sources - Right line maintenance aboys Upgradient faoy waste and areas - OUs 1, 3, and 7 Upgradient fare training - OUs 4/7	No comment.
olventa	TCE 1,1,1-TCA 1,1,2,2- termehoroethase chloroethase 1,1-DCA	Found in upper groundwater and aufface water at OU 5; not found in notile or sediment	No documented release in OU 5 study area	OU 5 sources - Waste oil and paint tanks (Table 1.1) - Mainfannace shops	All wate oil and paint tanks and muintenance shope are in the upgradient or pipeline corridor shelp area of OU 5. Minor maintenance shope occur at the eastern and of the golf course.
	1,2 DCA 1,2-DCE	Found in upper groundwater in upgradient andy subares of OU 5 and in upgradient base well 1	Past and orgoing investigations at other CERCLA OUs and sources in stats cleamp programs, BESG data on base supply well 1.	Upgradient sources - Shop draine, OU 4 - Fire uniaing, OU 47 - Laadfills, OU 1 - Shop wees disposel, OU 3 - Flight line meintenance - Skornes vards	No comments.

Έ

۲

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Constant	Contraction		Other Enterno	Presential Sources	Constants
inorganics	Mentis	Higher than beck- proved broth in colls and proved- veter	Boring log of SP1-02 abowing ash deposits	OU 5 sources - Coal fly ach in lower bluff sudy subarea - Puel components from pipelines and accounted tants (Table 1.1) - Snow disponal area in lower bluff poad area	Metals were analyzed for a much annulner of soil, adiancia, groundwater, and aurfaco wear annulla during the RU to determine if a problem animed. Most of the soil mutals remains if a problem animed. Most from strends and unstreads areas of vegetime for the soological assessment.
		High total metals in uppredicat base hydrology wells; atributed to poor well development (Black & Veench 1990a)	Past and ongoing investigations at other CERCLA OUs and sources in state cleasury programs	Upgradient nources - Same as for POLs and solvents above	No comment.
PCBs	Arocher 1260	One endiment encrete at Lower Built Pond. Not analyzad for in acids, ground- water, or aurface water	No documented releases in OU 5 study area	No known OU 5 sources	PCB presence may be released to ABBC activities and soor disposed practices. PCBs were analyzed in only a few rediment samples for interpretation of equatic toxicity tests.

٢

•

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

In each area, the contaminated soil is located at the groundwater table. Upper vadose zone contamination was not encountered in the bluff area, except where free standing water or groundwater was encountered at or near the surface. At sampling locations SB29, SL04, and SL16, diesel fuel was encountered in the 0- to 2-foot depth at 6.1 mg/kg, 151 mg/kg, and 720 mg/kg, respectively; however, groundwater seeps or high water tables were encountered nearby. No contaminant plume was observed in the vadose zone during the RI. Therefore, it is likely that the fuels from past spills have been biodegraded or dispersed through volatilization and flushing.

()

()

Because of weathering of the fuel, fingerprints of the fuel (for example, identification as JP-4, TFH gas, and TFH diesel) are also probably not reliable as indicators of which line was responsible for the current contamination. Most weathered fuels in soils would be identified as diesel fuel, regardless of their sources. the residual fuels in the soil could serve as a secondary source of contamination into the groundwater.

No active leaks were encountered during the RI. Current USAF practices of pipeline and tank testing and routine maintenance minimize the recurrence of leaks.

Past investigations showed only trace levels of halogenated VOCs in two monitoring wells (NS3-02 and GW-4A) in OU 5. The current RI revealed that the contamination of the upper groundwater aquifer and surface water by halogenated VOCs is more widespread. The seeps and ponds at the base of the bluff appear to receive water from the upper groundwater aquifer. Consequently, groundwater contamination serves as a secondary source of contamination to the surface water below the bluff.

The groundwater samples from the upgradient study subarea also contained halogenated VOCs and fuel constituents, indicating that the groundwater entering the OU 5 study area is already contaminated from unknown upgradient sources. Previous investigations at upgradient OUs have indicated both fuel and solvents in the shallow groundwater

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Table 5-3; refer to Figure 1-2 for location of OUs on Elmendorf AFB). Three observations of the solvent contamination of the upper aquifer on the base can be made:

- Solvent contamination is widespread.
- Concentrations are generally low $(\mu g/L)$ and involve more than one compound or breakdown product.

(4)

()

• The most common compound detected is TCE.

The highest solvent concentrations (1400 μ g/L for 1,1,1-trichloroethane) were found at the fire training area. Nowhere at upgradient sources were the concentrations of solvents high enough to unambiguously identify the source of the contaminants entering OU 5. Considering their disposal history and upgradient location relative to OU 5, the following sources may be contributing to the low levels of solvents found in OU 5:

- SD16 (OU 3)—abandoned disposal trench for shop wastes;
- FT23 (OU 4, OU 7)—fire training area; and
- SD24, SD25, SD28, SD29, SD31 (OU 4)—floor drains.

Source SD16 (OU 3), the abandoned disposal trench for shop wastes, is located in a flight line area, west of Building 31-260 near the east-west runway, and is less than 1 acre in size. During the 1950s and 1960s, waste solvents, paint thinners, and other liquid wastes from shop operations were poured into a ditch(es) and disposed of directly onto the soil at the source. The area was subsequently backfilled and revegetated so that the actual locations of the trench(es) cannot be determined by visual observation (Engineering Science, 1983).

Source FT23 (OU 4, OU 7), the fire training area, is located west of the north end of the north-south runway near Building 43 585. The source consists of two areas: a drum storage area and a bermed burning area. The drum storage area contained as many as

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Summary of Organic Contaminants in the Upper Aquifer at Upgradient Operable Units

j	Demos & Manes 1988 Renk & Vounts 1990 Jacoba 1990a	1978	1996 - Anna	Dura à Minos 198
]]] }	1.1 2.6 6.9 1.6 1.6 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 6.9 2.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7.6 7	15,000 60,000 60,000 12 floating protect	540 1,900 3 2 22,500	1
j	beenee birC-shybery(ppthales showshow above threates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates trainforcthreates	beenee BTEX (cond) triabbrochese TPH	bearness BTEX (cotal) chloroform Erichlorothese TPH	bergene 1, 2. dichlorrowheae H1.2. dichlorrowheae H1.2. dichlorrowheae H1.2. dichlorrowheae Tricklorrowheae Tricklorrowheae
	1 min NB of OU 5	1.5 mile N of OU 5	0.5 mile N of OU 5	1 mile N of OU 5
ļ		Underground find norage tanks (wgas, JP-4)	Underground wate storige tank	Abundonad disposed trench for dog weeks
J-	LF705 LF705 OT56 LF759	શ્વન	81720	9108
8]	1 DO	0U 2		6 00

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5-15

٢

۲

۲

Table 5-3 (Continued)

Mark & Veenth 1990	76 2,000	trickloro ethens TPH	0.5 mile N of OU 5	Ploot danina Pari pipalinan, tankt	5030 1146. 21-900	
Black & Veensh 1990	12 8.1 900	tetrachlorconhean tricklorconhean TPH	1.5 mile NE of OU 5	Ploor draine Puel pipelinee, tanks	5029 Indg. 43-450	
Muck & Voetsk 1990	600	H	1.5 mile NE of OU 5	Ploce denim Puel pipelines, tecks	5028 Bidg. 43-410	
Black & Vestch 1990	13 2.2 5.8	bis-Q-ethyllaxylyphthalee 1,1-dichlocoethans 1,1,1-tricklocoethans	1.5 mile N of OU 5	Floor druine Puel pipelines, tanks	5027 1146. 42-300	
Mack & Vanish 1990	1,300	H	1.5 mile N of OU 5	Ploot drains Pool pipelians, tanks	SD26 Bidg. 42-550	
Nuck & Ventch 1990	700	HAL	1.5 mile N of OU 5	Ploot draine Puel pipelines, tanks	SD25 Bidg. 42-425	
Naci & Veenin 1990	35 7.1 250 3.1 3.1 460 1,050 floating product 720 500 280	buccess 1.1-dichlocostana atyphomesa 1.1.1-triablocostana konos 2.4kms 2.4kms 2entyphotos 2-entyphotos 2-entyphotos	1.5 mile N of OU S	Rox tain Ni pinin, ut	8054 111:	◆no
and the	ļļŀ	1		-	j.	8]

٢

۲

۲

١

dorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5

(Continued)

ļ		Dame & Moore 1988 JACS and IBDS* 1988
]]]]§	2.1 0.93 6.8 2,000 2,000 (odor, m een)	340 1,600 1,000 1,400 11,400 1110 6,300 floating product
ļ	1,1 dichiocodhana 1,1,1-trichloroethana trichloroethana toihean TPH	bearses styffermes othyffermes totan 1,1,1-trickforcothens tyfers TPH
	0.5 mile N of OU S	1.5 mile N of OU S
ļ	Floot draiaa Pool pipeliase, taaks	Fin tairing area
j.	1231 1445-32-060	113
8]	00 4 (b'moʻ)	00.7

Orgoing investigations at the OUs are apported to generate more data from the 1992 field assoon. Jacobs Regimering, Jac., provided CH2M HILL with preliminary data from OU 1 and OU 2. A review of that positizations of an above data from OU 1 and OU 2. A review of that positizations of an above data from OU 1 and OU 2. A review of that positizations data aboved and concentrations as the previously reported data that are summarized in this table.
I amose Montgomery Commiting Regiment, Jac., and Harta Environmental Services.

٢

•

۲

۲

Ð

D

Þ

•

5-17

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

one hundred 55-gallon drums of contaminated waste oils, paint thinners, waste fuel, and waste solvents from aircraft maintenance and other shop operations on base. Fire training activities were conducted in the bermed area from the 1940s to 1983. From the 1940s to 1960s, combustible wastes such as oils, fuels, and solvents were used as fuel for fire training exercises. Approximately 250 to 3000 gallons of contaminated waste materials were spread on the ground surface and ignited during each exercise. Protein foams or chlorobromomethane were used to extinguish the fire. The bermed area remained saturated with unconsumed fuel following each training exercise. Visual observations of the source in 1983 indicated very small amounts of residual fuels in the burn area. However, the source is situated on porous soils and gravels through which material infiltrates rapidly. In addition, the berm did not completely enclose the fire training area, resulting in runoff of unconsumed fuel.

Training activities occurred approximately once a month until 1974. Since 1974, only clean fuel has been used and, from 1974 to 1978, training activity decreased to semiannually. From 1978 to 1991, training was conducted on a quarterly basis and unconsumed fuel was collected in containers to prevent further runoff. In 1991, fire training activities ceased. In addition to fire training and storage activities, the source was also used for disposal of empty drums and spent fuel filters. These materials were buried adjacent to the source a few hundred feet east of the bermed area and are covered with local gravel (Engineering Science, 1983).

Sources SD24, SD25, SD28, SD29, and SD31 (OU 4) are floor drains. It is suspected that solvents, as well as POLs, have been disposed of through shop floor drains into dry wells or leach fields. Most of this disposal occurred before the mid-1960s, before building drains were connected to the MOA sewage system or individual septic systems. A limited field investigation (LFI) during the summer of 1992 used geophysical techniques to locate potential drain outfalls. Soil samples were collected to quantify any existing soil contamination at the outfalls. The sources listed above were identified for further remedial investigation. No groundwater samples were collected during the LFI; however, a review of

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

previous groundwater data was performed. The fire training area may be contributing to the groundwater contamination at the floor drain sources (CH2M Hill, 1992e).

U

Total metal concentrations above upgradient groundwater concentrations (MW01, MW02) or background soil concentrations were found in four upper aquifer groundwater samples (SP1-01, SP1-02, MW15, and MW16) and in soil samples collected near the base of the lower bluff. Of the metals exceeding background levels, arsenic and beryllium are important in the evaluation of risk because of their toxicity (Section 6.1).

The source of the elevated metals is unknown but may be related to naturally occurring geological formations such as in-place coal seams or to anthropogenic sources such as fuel spills, coal fly ash deposits, or storm-water runoff.

Coal fly ash was encountered in five soil borings (SP1-02, SP2/6-05, SP2/6-04, SP2/6-03, and GW-6A) drilled at OU 5 by previous investigators (Black & Veatch, 1990a; Dames & Moore, 1988). During the RI, no new borings contained fly ash, and the areal extent of the fly ash was determined at ST37. The fly ash appears to have been used to extend the bluff and may have been laid down in lifts with covering of other fill material.

Coal was used by the military bases in the Anchorage area to generate power and steam for heating buildings until the 1960s when the power plants switched to natural gas. At least some of the coal came from the coal mines near Sutton in the Matanuska Valley, which closed down when the military switched fuels (O'Hara et al, 1985). It is unlikely that the fly ash at OU 5 originated from the burning of refuse because of the historical and extensive use of landfills for disposal of refuse. Consequently, only metals, rather than other burn products, are suspected in the fly ash.

Metals might also be encountered in snow that was plowed from base roadways and piled on the bluff near the intersection of Maple Street and Bluff Road. The

Elsendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

snow melted into a pond at the base of the bluff. During warmer months, storm-water runoff discharges along riprap channels on the lower bluff and may be introducing metals into the wetland areas at the base of the bluff.

One of the six sediment samples contained PCBs. The sample was taken from the lower bluff pond. Potential sources of the PCB may be the railroad next to the pond or snow disposal operations at the top of the bluff.

5.3 <u>Contaminant Characteristics and Release Mechanisms</u>

The primary release mechanisms for contaminants at OU 5 have been identified as spills and leaks. The known contaminants are fuel products and their constituents. Solvents, metals, and PCBs have also been identified. The physical and chemical parameters for the organic and inorganic contaminants identified from OU 5 activities are summarized in Tables 5-4 and 5-5.

The fate and transport of chemicals at a site are evaluated by considering the physical and chemical interaction of the chemicals within the environment. Mobility and persistence are of primary importance. Mobility represents the potential for a chemical to migrate along a given pathway. Persistence is a measure of how long a chemical will remain in the environment.

Several physical and chemical properties affect the transport of inorganic and organic compounds in the environment. The following six parameters are important to contaminant transport:

- Molecular weight;
- Solubility in water;
- Vapor pressure;

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

0

Physical and Chemical Parameters for Organic and Inorganic Chemicals Detected

			Water	Liquid Vapor	Henry's Law			
Chemical Constituent	CAS Number ^b	(g/g-mole)	(mg/L)	(mm Hg)	(atm-m ³ /mol)		Log K.	
POLs								
Acenaphthylene	208-96-8	152	16.1	6.84 x 10 ⁶	1.13 x 10 ⁵	2,500	3.92	0.90
Anthracene	120-12-7	178	0.043	2.00 x 10 ⁴	6.50 x 10 ⁴	14,000	4.45	1.25
Benzene	71-43-2	78	1,790	7.14 x 10'	5.55 x 10 ³	83	2.13	0.87
Benzo(a)anthracene	56-55-3	228	0.0094	2.33 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	9.66 x 10°	1,380,000	5.66	1.11
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	205-99-2	252	0.0015	3.75 x 10°	1.11 x 10 ⁴	550,000	6.57	VN
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	207-08-9	252	0.0008	7.50 x 10 ¹²	4.00 x 10 ⁻¹	550,000	6.00	VN
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	191-24-2	276	0.26	1.00 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	5.34 x 10 ⁴	1,600,000	6.51	VN
Benzo(a)pyrene	50-32-8	252	0.0016	4.13 x 10 ⁻¹¹	1.13 x 104	5,500,000	5.97	1.11
Bis(2-ethylbexyl)phthalate	117-81-7	391	0.340	7.31 x 10 ⁴	1.47 x 10 ⁴	123,027	5.11	0.90
Carbazole	86-74-8	167	VN	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN
Chrysene	218-01-9	228	0.002	4.65 x 10 ⁻¹¹	9.46 x 10 ⁵	200,000	5.66	1.11
Dibenz(a, h)anthracene	53-70-3	278	2.49 x 10 ⁴	7.50 x 10 ⁻¹³	1.15 x 10 ⁴	2,029,000	6.50	VN
Debenzofuran	132-64-9	168	3.10	NA	NA	4,600	4.12	1.17
Diesel #2	68476-30-2	142	32.0	4.50 x 10 ²	2.9 x 10 ⁴	VN	3.86	0.87
Diethylphthalate	84-66-2	222	1,080	1.24 x 10 ⁵	4.50 x 10 ⁻⁷	142	3.22	1.12
Di-n-butylphthalate	84-74-2	278	11.2	5.48 x 10 ⁷	1.81 x 10 ⁴	170,000	5.20	1.05
Ethylbenzene	100-41-4	106	169	7.20 x 10 ²	8.43 x 10 ⁻³	1,100	3.15	0.86

5-21

0

ě

۲

I.

ŧ

•

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Probable Source/ Chemical Constituent*	CAS Number*	Mole Weight (g/g-mole)	Water Solubility ^e (mg/L)	Liquid Vapor Pressure (mm Hg)	Henry's Law Constant" (atm-m?fmol)	Koc' (mil/g)	Los K.º	ij
Fluoranthene	206-44-0	202	0.26	1.00 x 10 ⁻²	6.73 x 10 ²	38,000	4.90	1.25
Fluorene	86-73-7	166	1.89	6.32 x 10 ⁵	1.00 x 10 ⁴	7,300	4.18	1.20
Gasoline	8006-61-9	178	1,800	9.50	5.6 x 10 ³	NA	2.11	0.73
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene	193-39-5	276	5.30 x 10 ⁴	1.00 x 10 ¹⁶	6.90 x 10°	20,146	6.51	VN
Kerosene (JP-1 or Fuel Oil #1)	8008-20-6	142	32.0	4.50 x 10 ²	2.90 x 10*	NA	3.86	0.87
4-methylphenol	106-44-5	108	21,500	8.25 x 10 ⁴	7.92 x 107	NA	1.94	N A
2-methylnaphthalene	91-57-6	142	32.0	4.50 x 10 ²	2.90 x 104	NA	3.86	1.02
methyl tert-butyl ether	1634-04-4	88	48,000	245	NA	NA	NA	0.74
naphthalene	91-20-3	128	31.0	6.38 x 10 ⁴	4.83 x 10 ⁴	NA	3.59	1.14
n-Nitrosodiphenylamine	86-30-6	198	35	5.02 x 10°	5.00 x 10*	NA	3.13	1.23
4-Nitrophenol	100-02-7	139	16,000	3.08 х 107	4.15 x 10 ¹⁰	NA	1.91	1.40
polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (general)	VN	178 to 276	<2.6 x 10° to 1.29	10 ⁻⁴ to 10 ⁻¹¹	۷N	NA	4.45 - 7.66	٧N
phenanthrene	85-01-8	178	1.15	8.40 x 10 ⁷	2.28 x 10 ⁻⁵	14,000	4.46	1.18
pyrene	129-00-1	202	0.130	4.20 x 10°	7.00 x 10*	38,000	5.32	1.27
toluene	108-88-3	92	526	2.13 x 10 ¹	6.64 x 10 ³	300	2.73	0.87
xylenes	1330-20-7	106	200	8.50	5.25 x 10 ⁵	240	3.26	0.86

٢

0

D

9

٦

D

0

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

0

Table 5-4

20
Š
2
·Ξ
E
ð
٢J.
ະ

 \frown

Probable Source/ Chemical Constituent	CAS Number*	Mole Weight (g/g-mole)	Water Solubility ^c (mg/L)	Liquid Vapor Pressure (mm Hg)	Henry's Law Constant" (atm-m ³ /mod)	Kac' (mil/g)	Log K.	1
PCBe								
Aroclor 1260	11096-82-5	376	0.014	6.30 x 10 ⁴	1.70 x 10 ⁴	VN	6.00	1.4
PCBstypical		300-376	0.0027 to 0.054	104 to 10 ⁴	10 ⁻³ to 10 ⁻⁴	530,000	6.00	NA
SOLVENTS OR RELATED S	OURCES							
Bromomethame	74-83-9	95	15,200	12.1	6.24 x 10 ³	VN	1.19	1.73
Chloroethane	75-00-3	65	5,680	7.56	8.82 x 10 ³	NA	1.54	0.92
Dibromochloromethane	124-48-1	208	2,700	6.74 x 10 ¹	8.74 x 10 ⁴	VN	2.23	2.38
1,1-dichloroethane (1,1-DCA)	75-34-3	8	5,060	1.70	5.62 x 10 ³	R	1.79	1.17
1,2-dichloroethane (1,2-DCA)	107-06-2	8	8,520	5.92 x 10'	9.79 x 104	14	1.48	1.26
trans-1,2-dichloroethene (t-1,2-DCE)	156-60-5	97	6,300	324	6.56 x 10 ³	5 9	0.48	1.28
Phenol	108-95-2	8	82,800	2.63 x 10 ³	3.33 x 10 ⁷	14.2	1.48	1.07
1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	79-34-5	168	2,900	5.00	3.81 x 10 ⁴	118	2.39	1.59
Tetrachloroethene (PCE)	127-18-4	166	200	1.39 x 10'	1.84 x 10 ²	364	3.40	1.62
1,1,1-trichloroethane	71-55-6	133	1,490	9.30 x 10'	1.72 x 10 ⁻²	152	2.49	1.35
1,1,2-trichloroethane	79-00-5	133	4,420	1.73 x 10'	9.13 x 10*	S	2.17	1.44
Trichloroethene (TCE)	9-10-62	131	1,100	5.18 x 10 ⁴	1.03 x 10 ²	126	2.42	1.46
Trichlorofluoromethane (Freon)	75-69-4	137	1,100	6.02	9.7 x 10 ⁻²	159	2.53	1.49

5-23

٢

۲

۲

)

ŧ

)

1

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 5-4 (Continued)

Probable Source/ Chemical Constituent	CAS Number ^b	Mole Weight (g/g-mole)	Water Solubility ^e (mg/L)	Liquid Vapor Pressure (mm Hg)	Henry's Law Constant" (atm-m?/mol)	Kar (mil/r)	la K	ij
METALS								
Aluminum	7429-90-5	27	NA	VN	NA	NN	N	VN
Antimony	7440-36-0	122	NA	NA	NA	NN	VN	VN
Arsenic	7440-38-2	75	٧N	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN
Barium	7440-39-3	137	VN	NA	NA	VN	VN	٧N
Beryllium	7440-41-7	6	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN	VN
Boron	7440-42-8	11	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN	VN
Codmium	7440-43-9	112	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN	٩N
Calcium	7440-70-2	40	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN	٩N
Chromium (III or IV)	16065-83-1 (III) 18549-29-9 (VI)	52	۷N	۷N	۷Z	VN	VN	Y N
Cobalt	7440-48-4	59	٩N	NA	VN	NA	NN	٩N
Copper	7440-50-8	2	NA	VN	VN	NA	VN	٧X
lron	1309-37-1	x	VN	VN	VN	NA	٧N	VN
Lead	7439-92-1	207	VN	VN	N A	NA	VN	VN
Magnesium	7439-95-4	24	VN	VN	NA	NA	VN	VN
Manganese	7439-96-5	SS	VN	VN	٧N	NA	VN	۲N
Mercury	7439-97-6	201	VN	1.50 x 10 ⁻⁵	VN	VN	٩V	٧N
Molybdenum	7439-98-7	8	VN	VN	VN	VN	٩X	Y Z

٢

0

۲

.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Probable Source/ Chemical Constituent*	CAS Number ¹	Mole Weight (g/g-mole)	Water Solubility ^r (mg/L)	Liquid Vapor Pressure (men Hg)	Henry's Law Constant" (atm-mi/mod)	Koć (ml/g)	Log K.	ij
Nickle	7440-02-0	59	NA	NA	VN	NA	VN	NN
Nitrate	14797-55-8	VN	NA	NA	VN	NA	VN	NA
Potassium	7440-09-7	39	NA	NA	VN	NA	VN	٧N
Selenium	7782-49-2	79	NA	VN	VN	NA	VN	VN
Silver	7440-22-4	108	NA	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN
Sodium	7440-23-5	23	VN	VN	NA	NA	NA	VN
Thallium	7440-28-0	204	VN	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Vanadium	7440-62-2	51	VN	NA	VN	NA	NA	VN
Zinc	740-66-6	65	NA	NA	NA	NA	VN	VN

Some chemicals could come from more than one source but are listed only once in this table. Compounds are listed if part reports or the RI showed their presence in the environment a OU 5 and a state upperfailed to an advertance of a short service Number. CAS Number = Chemical Abstract Service Number. Consumer a neglection of a chapter Service Number. We of the entire list of compounds shown in the table. Constant of a lange of a state of solubility may indicate applice onto addiment, the presence of a chability may indicate applice onto addiment, the presence of a chability may indicate applice onto addiment, the presence of a non-aqueous-phase liquid. We of the the the vapor presence, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the vapor presence, the more likely a chemical partitioning between organic carbon and water at equilibrium. The higher the Wapor transmer, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the vapor presence, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the Wapor transmer, the more likely a chemical partitioning between organic carbon and water at equilibrium. The higher the Heary's Law Command, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the theory is compared, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the theory is contact, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the Heary's Law Command, the more likely a chemical is to exist in its gascous state. The higher the theory of the more likely a chemical partitioning between organic carbon and water at equilibrium. The higher the Koc, the more likely a chemical is to bind to noil or adiment than to remain in water. Command, the take the Koc is the more likely a chemical is to bind to noil or adiment than to remain in water. Common in water at equilibrium. The present at a quilibrium. The present state of a chemical is to bind to noil or adiment than to remain in water.

.

5-25

•

.

.

NA = not available or applicable.

Õ

۲

۱

Sources: Department of Defense 1991, EPA 1986e

Physical and Chemical Properties of Hydrocarbon Fuels

Reat.	P.1	Direct Oil (3-DP	أعفسانان مناسق مناسفين
Physical state (20°C/1 atm)	Liquid	Liquid	Liquid
Color	Coloriese to light brown	Coloriese to brown	Coloriese to paie brown or piak
Odor	Fuel oil	Kerveene-like	Chemotenistic
Odor threehold	1 ppm	NA	0.250 ppm
Density (15-20°C)	0.7500 g/ml	0.8100 to 0.9360 g/ml	0.7321 g/mi
Freeze/molt point	-72°C	-48 to 18°C	NA
Boiling point	60 to 270°C	151 to > 588°C	38 to 204°C
Flach point	-23 to -1 °C	38 to 74°C	-46 to 38°C
Flammable limits (by volume)	1.3 to 8.0%	0.6 to 7.5%	1.2 to 7.6%
Autoignition temperature	240 to 242°C	177 to 329°C	257 to 471°C
Vapor pressure	91 mm Hg at 20°C	2.12 to 26.4 mm Hg at 21°C	263 to 675 mm Hg at 38°C
Sand. conc. in air (20°C)	660,000 mg/m ³	NA	NA
Solubility in water (20°C)	300 mg/L	5 mg/L	Innotable
Viacosity (at 20°C)	0.829 cp	1.152 to 1.965 cp	0.451 cp
Surface tension (at 20°C)	25 dyne/cm	21 to 32 dyne/cm	19 to 23 dyna/cm
Range for typical components Log K Soil adsorption coefficient Henry's law constant (20°C) Bioconcentration factor	3.00 to 7.00 240 to 5,000,000 0.0001 to 1.0 atm m²/mol 5 to 500,000	3.3 to 7.06 960 to 5,500,000 0.00006 to 7.4 atm m ³ /mol NA	2.13 to 4.67 65 to 36,000 0.0005 to 3.3 atm m²/mol NA

٢

0

۲

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
Table 5-5

(Continued)

Approximate chemical comparison 61.05 Althenes 20.05 Althenes 0.05 Althenes 0.055 Althenes 0.055 Althenes 0.055 Althenes 0.013 Althenes 0.013 Althenes 0.013 Althenes 0.013 Althenes 0.055 Althenes 0.013 Alt	. Annual	Z	Direct Of 0-by	Annual Control (Marine)
Selected organica (% by weight) Benevec Benevec Toltnese Toltnese Stylense Tylense p-rylense p-rylense p-rylense p-rylense p-rylense p-rylense p-rylense MA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA N	Approximate chemical composition: Altanes Cycloultanes Cycloultanes Altythennese, benzenes Indens/tetralins Nephthalenes Olefins	61.0% 29.0% 8.0% 1.1% 0.0% NA		N-alitanese 15.0 - 17.0% Branched 29.0 - 36.0% 3.0 - 5.0% 20.0 - 49.0% NA 0.0% - 1.0% 1.0% - 11.0%
Selected metals (ppm by weight) Arrentic Barium Cadmium Cadmium Chromium Iron Load Magnetium Magnetium NA O.09 NA NA O.012 - 0.13 NA O.012 - 0.13 NA O.012 - 0.13 NA O.012 - 0.13 NA O.009 - 0.89 O.055 - 2.8 3.8 - 71.0 C.60 South NA O.069 - 0.89 O.069 - 0.80 O.069 - 0.89 O.069 - 0.80 O.069 - 0.80 O.060 -	Selected organics (% by weight) Beasense Tolteese Ethylbeasense Xylense mr-zylense p-zylense o-zylense	0.50% 1.33% 0.37% 2.32% 0.96% 0.35%	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	3.25 4.85 4.85 1.45 0.65 8.65 NA NA
Magnose NA 0.29 - 6.2 Marcury NA 0.29 - 6.2 Selanius NA NA NA Silver NA NA	Selected metals (ppm by weight) Arrentic Berium Cadmium Chromium Iron Iron Leed Magneeium Magneeium Selenium Silver	0.5 ppm NA NA 20.03 20.05 NA NA NA NA NA NA	0.012 - 0.13 NA 0.009 - 0.09 0.55 - 2.8 3.8 - 71.0 2.6 - 2.0 NA 0.29 - 6.2 NA NA	222222222222

ky weish. In Anda, ž for Quide 1-D or for a m 1121 Ĩ dets are not av ₹Ţ 2 2. 2 JUS . ٢

-

NA = Not Source: Bid

mantal Information Analysis 1989. ical and Environ

)

•

ŧ

orf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

- Henry's law constant;
- Density; and
- Organic carbon partition coefficient.

Other properties not listed that may affect migration of contaminants include viscosity and temperature. A brief description of the six parameters follows.

()

The molecular weight of a pure compound influences other physical characteristics of a compound. For example, VOCs with higher molecular weights have less tendency to volatilize than those with lower molecular weights.

Water solubility is the maximum concentration of a compound that can dissolve in water at a specific pH and temperature. Highly soluble compounds tend to be more mobile in groundwater and the leach from soils.

Density and solubility of contaminants are among the primary physical properties affecting the transport of separate phase liquids in soil and water. The density of a slightly soluble compound determines whether it will sink or float in the saturated zone.

Vapor pressure is a relative measure of volatility of a contaminant in its pure state. Compounds with high vapor pressures volatilize readily from the liquid form.

Henry's law constant describes the distribution of a chemical between air and soil or water at equilibrium. It is usually defined as the ratio of the partial pressure of the compound in air, measured in atmospheres, to the mole fraction of the compound in a water solution. A high Henry's law constant indicates a higher tendency for a compound to volatilize from soil or water.

The organic carbon partition coefficient (K_{ss}) indicates the tendency for a chemical to be absorbed by organic carbon in the solid matrix of the vadose and water-

Elmandorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

bearing zone. Low K_m values indicate faster leaching from the source areas and less retardation of the cont.minant as it is transported by groundwater movement.

Another parameter, the octanol/water partition coefficient or Log K_{ee} , can be used to predict bioconcentration in aquatic organisms. The Log K_{ee} provides a measure of the extent of chemical partitioning between water and octanol at equilibrium. The greater the Log K_{ee} , the more likely a chemical is to partition to octanol than remain in water. Octanol is used as a surrogate for lipids (fats), and is stored as fat by animals. 0

۲

The following paragraphs describe the contaminants of concern, the physical parameters that affect the fate and transport of the contaminants in the environment, and the general distribution of the contaminants in the environment. Detected concentrations are also compared to established federal and state regulations where appropriate. Any exceedances are discussed. (Note: Appendix N in this RI report contains the preliminary ARAR evaluation that was completed for the OU 5 Management Plan [CH2M Hill, 1992d].)

5.3.1 Fuel Products and Constituents

Previous investigations and spill records have shown that fuels, fuel constituents, and their weathered decomposition products are the primary environmental contaminants expected at OU 5. The physical and chemical properties of these products are summarized in Table 5-5.

Laboratory reports and military specifications obtained from Elmendorf AFB Fuels Management address gross performance levels of the fuels and do not quantify specific chemicals. For example, JP-4 jet fuel is made by blending various proportions of distillate stocks, such as naphtha, gasoline, and kerosene, to meet military specifications. There is considerable variability in the concentration of major components and performance characteristics, depending on the source of crude oil.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Diesel, JP-4, and gasoline differ in the average molecular length of the hydrocarbon constituents. This difference can be useful in fingerprinting the source of a leak if more than one fuel type is involved. The molecular length of hydrocarbon constituents is also necessary information for selecting the most appropriate EPA laboratory test method (such as, EPA Method 418.1, 8100 Modified, or 8015 Modified [ADEC, 1991]) to maximize recovery during analysis. The fingerprinting of fuels is most useful for fresh spills or leaks. Petroleum spills lose their short-chain hydrocarbon components by volatilization to the air or solubilization to the groundwater. Old weathered spills in soils tend to retain the more persistent, longer-chain components (Biomedical and Environmental Information Analysis, 1989). **(+**)

In general, automotive gasoline is composed of hydrocarbons in the range of C_4 to C_{11} , with boiling points from approximately 30°C to 210°C. The reported distillation range for JP-4 is approximately 140°C to 270°C, recovering hydrocarbons in the range of C_4 to C_{14} . Diesel fuel usually distills after kerosene, in the range of 200°C to 400°C. Several grades of diesel fuel are obtained by blending various feedstocks to achieve performance specifications, but diesel fuel is predominantly a mixture of C_{10} through C_{19} hydrocarbons (Biomedical and Environmental Information Analysis, 1989).

Fuel was seen seeping from the base of the bluff near the railroad track at Source ST37 in the late 1950s, and thousands of gallons of fuel were reportedly recovered at the site. Other fuel seeps have been sighted along the entire length of OU 5. Fuel-like sheens have also been reported on the ponds and seasonally wet areas of the lowlands north of Ship Creek. Because fuels are lighter than water (LNAPLs), they can form a floating layer on the groundwater table or on surface water when in concentrations greater than their solubilities. No LNAPLs were encountered in the monitoring wells during this investigation.

Based on the physical and chemical parameters in Table 5-4, volatile components of fuels such as BTEX generally have a relatively high solubility in water, high vapor pressure, low molecular weight, and low K_{ee} . These characteristics result in relatively

5-30

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

high mobility of these fuels. BTEX compounds are expected to leach easily from the unsaturated zone and move with the groundwater.

 (\bullet)

۲

The federal (40 CFR 141) and state (18 AAC 80) drinking water maximum contaminant level (MCL) for benzene is 5 μ g/L. Alaska regulations also state that fuel contamination must not result in a sheen or odor. In a past investigation, a water sample from monitoring well SP1-01 exceeded the standards with 13 μ g/L benzene and fuel odor. This same well had concentrations of 8.5 μ g/L benzene, 290 μ g/L TFH diesel, and 1600 μ g/L TFH gas when resampled during this 1992 investigation. Because benzene is a known carcinogen, it often drives risk-based calculations and cleanup parameters.

In contrast to BTEX, PAHs have relatively high molecular weight, low vapor pressure, low Henry's law constant, low solubility, and high K_{∞} . In general, PAHs have a high affinity for sorption to most soils and tend to leach more slowly than VOCs. Once in groundwater, they tend to migrate at a slower rate than the groundwater. However, some PAHs, such as naphthalene and acenaphthene, are relatively mobile in groundwater compared with other PAHs.

PAHs are often found at low concentrations in or near surface soils and in stagnant surface water and sediments. The low background levels can result from the ubiquitous use and incomplete combustion of fuels and the use of petroleum products as road surfacing compounds. Background levels for PAHs are not known for Elmendorf AFB.

During this investigation, PAHs were detected in some soil and sediment samples. Several PAHs were detected in two duplicate samples from the surface and one sample from the 4-foot depth at soil boring SB29. Boring SB29 is located in the lower bluff study subarea below the COE building and next to monitoring well SP1-01, which also contained naphthalenes. This location also appears to have grass cuttings and other ground maintenance debris dumped here on a regular basis, and could possibly be a site where small

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

quantities of waste oil have been discarded from individuals changing their automotive oil. Sediment samples in the lower bluff ponds also contained PAFs. ۲

(†)

Components with low solubilities and low vapor pressures, such as the heavier and often weathered hydrocarbon components, are likely to remain in the soil and could be transported away from the release area by windblown dusts or by surface runoff. It is possible for compounds with low water solubilities to reach the groundwater if they have higher solubilities in other liquids that occur at the source (for instance, PCBs dissolve in diesel fuel or gasoline).

Spills and leaks at OU 5 have been reported for up to 40 years, especially during the 1950s and 1960s. Therefore, considerable weathering, transport of more soluble or volatile components, and natural biological degradation may have already occurred. Natural attenuation of contaminants will be a vital factor, especially in assessing the off-base migration of groundwater and in defining in-situ treatment parameters.

A more detailed conceptual assessment of the environmental fate and transport of fuel contaminants at OU 5 is found in Section 5.4.

5.3.2 Solvents

During previous investigations, TCE was found in one groundwater monitoring well (NS3-02) at Source SS53, at a trace level of $1.2 \mu g/L$. Well NS3-02 is between the ARRC railroad track and Ship Creek, near the golf course. PCE ($0.4 \mu g/L$), TCE ($3.0 \mu g/L$), and DCE ($2.4 \mu g/L$) were detected in well GW-4A at Source SD40/ST46 in 1986 by Dames & Moore (1988), but were not detected when the well was resampled in 1988 (Black & Veatch, 1990). NS3-02 and GW-4A were not resampled for halogenated VOCs during the 1992 investigation. However, new monitoring wells (MW-30 and MW-31) in nearby areas were sampled and no halogenated VOCs were detected.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

During the RI, no soil samples or sediment samples were found to contain halogenated VOCs. However, both upper groundwater aquifer and pond surface water had halogenated VOCs, including the following compounds: 0

۲

- TCE;
- 1,1,1-TCA;
- 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane;
- Chloroethane;
- 1,1-DCA;
- 1,2-DCA; and
- t-1,2-DCE.

The following three solvents occurred in monitoring wells from the upgradient study subarea:

- TCE;
- 1,1,1-TCA; and
- 1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane.

Past investigations have found the following halogenated VOCs in Well 1, which is also upgradient of the OU 5 study area (Black & Veatch, 1990; BESG data, Section 1.2.3.3 herein):

- TCE;
- 1,1,1-TCA;
- 1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane; and
- 1,1-DCA.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Of the solvents found in OU 5, TCE occurs in the most locations spread across the study area. TCE exceeds the federal (40 CFR 141) and state (18 AAC 80) drinking water regulations of 5 μ g/L at monitoring wells in the upgradient subarea (MW02, MW06, MW07) and in the pipeline corridor subarea (SP1-02). TCE was also detected in surface water samples at the golf course beaver pond and the lower bluff pond.

 (\bullet)

In the past, TCE was used for cleaning activities in flightline shops and at other areas of the base. TCE and its decomposition products, such as DCE and chloroethane, have been detected in the groundwater and/or soils at areas upgradient of OU 5 at concentrations approaching or above established maximum contaminant levels. These areas are the landfills in OU 1, the shop waste disposal site (Source SD16) of OU 3, and near shop drains of OU 4. TCE is also a degradation product of PCE. PCE has been detected in OU 1, OU 3, and OU 4.

TCE has a moderate solubility in water; therefore surface spills are likely to migrate to groundwater or surface water. If a small quantity spill occurred, downward migration to the aquifer or through the water column would be controlled by vertical gradients or dispersion. TCE is heavier than water, so if free product reached the water table, it could sink and eventually become solubilized or collect on a low-permeability layer. A large release of TCE into the permeable alluvial aquifer could result in more rapid vertical migration than would be expected for solubilized contaminants. No layers of contaminants heavier than water (DNAPLs) were encountered during the RI in either the soil borings or the monitoring wells that reached the low permeability Bootlegger Cove Formation. TCE would also be expected to volatilize into the air and soil gas.

A more detailed conceptual assessment of the environmental fate and transport of solvent contaminants at OU 5 is found in Section 5.4.

5.3.3 Heavy Mietals

The form, bioavailability, and transport of metals in soils depend on the parent rock material, soil, pH, amount of moisture and organic matter, oxidation-reduction processes, and other complex chemical processes. ۲

At OU 5, lead exceeded background levels in soils in the lower bluff, Post Road corridor, and golf course beaver pond where maximum detected concentrations of 206 mg/kg, 87.2 mg/kg, and 35.2 mg/kg, respectively, were found. No lead was detected in the groundwater samples. Lead has been used as a fuel additive and, therefore, can be found in releases of leaded fuels. Other metals can also be found in fuels (Table 5-5).

Heavy metals may be concentrated in fly ash from the burning of coal. The type and concentrations of metals found in fly ash are dependent on the source of the coal and the particle size. Potentially toxic elements such as arsenic, cadmium, chromium, copper, nickel, antimony, selenium, tin, lead, vanadium, and zinc have been found to be preferentially concentrated on the surfaces of small fly ash particles (Norton et al, 1986).

Arsenic exceeded background (or upgradient) levels in soil, fly ash, and the upper aquifer groundwater at OU 5. According to O'Neill (1990), the proportion of arsenic in fly ash that is water soluble varies, and the value obtained depends on the method of estimation. He reports that fly ash in the United States contained 4 percent of the arsenic in a soluble form by using a high liquid-to-solid ratio. The arsenic in the water extract was determined to be the pentavalent form of arsenic.

In December 1992, upper aquifer groundwater samples were collected from two upgradient subarea wells (MW01 and MW02), one pipeline subarea well (SP1-02), and three lower bluff subarea wells (SP1-01, MW15, and MW16). Fourteen metals were found in higher concentrations in the pipeline corridor or lower bluff subareas than in the

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

upgradient subarea. Comparing the maximum groundwater concentrations detected, the following trends can be identified:

• Aluminum, barium, iron, manganese, and vanadium were detected in the lower bluff subarea at greater than five times the upgradient levels. The concentrations of the five metals also increased over the site in a downgradient direction.

- Arsenic, chromium, copper, lead, nickel, selenium, and zinc were detected in the lower bluff subarea at between two and five times the upgradient levels. The maximum concentrations of arsenic and lead in the pipeline corridor well (SP1-02) were slightly less than in the maximum concentrations in the upgradient subarea. The maximum concentration of selenium on the site was in the pipeline corridor well. The remaining four metals increased across the site in a downgradient direction.
- Calcium and potassium were slightly higher in the lower bluff subarea and slightly less in the pipeline corridor subarea, compared to the maximum upgradient concentrations.

Fly ash samples collected from Source ST37 in December 1992 were analyzed for total metals. Comparison of the fly ash metals to total metals in background soils shows that barium is present in the fly ash at greater than five times the background levels. Lead, potassium, sodium, and thallium only slightly exceeded the background levels. Aluminum, iron, manganese, and vanadium, which are elevated in the lower bluff area groundwater, are not above soil background levels in the fly ash. Arsenic, barium, vanadium, and zinc in the fly ash may be leaching out at levels that represent the detected concentrations in the groundwater.

5.3.4 Polychlorinated Biphenyls

PCBs are potential, but unlikely, contaminants at OU 5. PCB-contaminated oils may have entered drains or been landfilled on the base upgradient of OU 5. Waste oils containing PCBs may also have been sprayed along roadways or the railroad for dust control. PCBs generally have a strong affinity for soils and are expected to have limited mobility

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

unless carried by a non-aqueous liquid or windblown dust. PCB spills on water may result in a surface film when the PCBs are dissolved in petroleum products that are lighter than water, or sink to the bottom when the PCBs are in a heavier-than-water matrix. (\mathbf{c})

۲

PCBs may accumulate in sediments after surface application or spills. Benthic organisms associated with sediments at the bottom of ponds and creeks are known to ingest PCBs; hence, the compounds can be transferred up the food chain. PCBs are stored in the fatty tissue of higher animals and can accumulate to toxic levels, as indicated by the high Log K_{ee} value (Table 5-4).

In past investigations, only subsurface soil samples from Source SD40 (railroad maintenance area) were tested for PCBs (Black & Veatch, 1990); no PCBs were detected. At a meeting on February 21, 1992, project managers for the USAF, EPA, and ADEC agreed that a few sediment samples should be tested for PCBs to determine if they are chemicals of concern and to provide adequate chemical data to assist in evaluating the results of toxicity tests for the ecological investigation at OU 5. One of six sediment samples contained PCBs. The sample was collected from the lower bluff beaver pond. Potential sources of this PCB may be the railroad located next to the pond or snow disposal operations at the top of the bluff.

5.4 Environmental Fate and Migration Pathways

Contaminant migration pathways for unsaturated (vadose) zone soil, groundwater, sediment and surface water, and air are discussed in this section. The conceptual illustration of the pathways is depicted in Figure 5-2. The environmental fate of the following three groups of compounds is emphasized because they are contaminants of concern at OU 5:

- Fuel and its constituents, particularly BTEXs and PAHs, in soil and water;
- TCE and related solvents in water; and
- Metals in soil and water.

Fuels are complex mixtures of hundreds of chemicals. The transport and transformation of individual constituents of fuel will depend on the physical, chemical, and biological properties of the constituents. Some constituents will dissolve more quickly (in percolating groundwater), be sorbed less strongly on soils (transported more rapidly), and may be more or less susceptible to degradation by chemical or biological action. Thus, the relative concentrations of the constituents will vary with time and distance from the source. This effect is called weathering. Weathering may have played a large role in OU 5 already due to the time that has elapsed since the first reported leaks and spills. Current USAF handling procedures for fuels minimize the occurrence of spills, and recent pipeline pressure tests show no current leaks.

Based on the observed distribution of contaminants in soil, groundwater, surface water, and sediments at OU 5, transport is assumed to occur by three principal mechanisms:

- Adsorption to vadose zone particles or sediment particles and transport or disposition with those particles;
- Solution and transport in percolated water, groundwater, and surface water; and
- Flow of LNAPL fuel products through the soil/sediment to the groundwater with scepage to surface water (observed as fuel seeps at the bluff and sheens on surface water).

Although air toxics were not measured at OU 5 during the RI, a fourth transport mechanism will also be evaluated:

 (\bullet)

• Volatilization and particulate release to the air.

5.4.1 Soils and Vadore Zone Migration Pathways

The major landform of OU 5 is a bluff that traverses from east to west. The bluff is approximately 60 feet high in the west and 20 to 30 feet high in the east. It bisects OU 5 into two areas: deep valoes zone soils on top of the bluff, and soils with a shallow groundwater table in the lowlands at the base of the bluff and along Ship Creek. The soils consist of mixtures or beds of gravel and sand with small amounts of silt. Infiltration of surface precipitation through the deep valoes zone soils on the top of the bluff may be low. Evapotranspiration rates at Elmendorf AFB are greater than the average annual precipitation, so the net precipitation is negative (Section 3.1.1). A negative value for net precipitation indicates a low potential for leachate production. The gravelly and sandy soils at OU 5, however, would not be expected to retard the infiltration of water downward to the ground-water.

Layered strata of different permeability can affect the vertical and horizontal movement of liquids through the unsaturated zone. The less permeable layers of silt and coal lenses found in OU 5 (Section 3.2.3.1) may deflect groundwater flow toward the bluff in the form of seeps after heavy rains or spring thaw. The seeps investigated by soil gas/groundwater studies during the RI had halogenated VOC contamination. Because no known sources of solvents occur in OU 5 and halogenated VOCs are also found in upgradient groundwater samples, the seeps probably represent groundwater rather than water infiltrating directly from the surface.

In addition to the native soil formations, gravel fill material mined from onsite borrow pits has been used to construct roads, building pads, and the railroad. The

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

gravel fill tends to be well drained and have moderate to high permeability. Artificial features, including utility corridors and gravel fill around pipelines, will also affect the migration of contaminants. Data from nearby boring logs may not predict these pathways.

(*)

۲

۲

Fly ash, concrete, and bricks have been used to extend the face of the bluff at OU 5. Nothing in the fill material is expected to retard the movement of contaminants to the groundwater, and the fly ash may be a source of metals. The fly ash and construction rubble extend into the apparent water table at OU 5, indicating that as the bluff was extended outward, the water table also extended into the fly ash. Another source of metals may be naturally occurring coal seams. In addition, snow dumped over the bank west of ST38 during snow removal operations on base may have contributed metals and POLs and may affect contaminant migration through the soils due to the volume of water added.

The unsaturated zone, or vadose zone, at OU 5 ranges from zero to approximately 40 feet below ground surface. In general, the vadose zone:

- Is a pathway for the transport of gases and volatile organics;
- Can be a zone of significant biodegradation;
- Can have greater retention than the saturated zone and can thus act as a source of contamination even after the surface has been remediated; and
- Is more difficult to characterize than the saturated zone.

The vadose and saturated zones are part of a continuous subsurface system. Consequently, any investigations and remedial decisions must address both zones. The saturated zone (groundwater) has basewide implications because it crosses source boundaries. The vadose zone is more source-area specific, but can serve as a secondary contamination source to the air and groundwater.

Because of the shallow nature of the groundwater and the permeability of the vadose zone soils, contaminants from large spills of POLs or solvents might be expected to

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

reach the upper aquifer. In fact, both product sheens and dissolved components have been discovered in investigation of OU 5 sources.

The surface aquifers are recharged and surface soils are flushed during the spring thaw. Seasonal water level fluctuations will also occur in wetlands, surface drainage ditches, and in stream banks. This is accompanied by a rise in the groundwater table that peaks in the summer to early fall because of continuous input from snow melt in the Chugach Mountains and from summer precipitation. Hence, movement of residual contaminants from the vadose zone to the groundwater system is expected to be greatest during spring thaw and summer. The August-September sampling period during the RI coincided with the period of maximum annual precipitation (Section 3.1).

Freezing of surface soils during the winter retards infiltration. This has helped in the containment and cleanup of several POL spills that occurred during the winter, including the diesel fuel spill at Source SS42. No significant permafrost occurs on Elmendorf AFB, so it is not expected to be a determinant in the migration pathways of contaminants.

Mechanisms for degradation of vadose zone contaminants (biodegradation, volatilization, and photodegradation) are greatest during the summer, when biologic activity and solar radiation are at their peak. Rates for various biological and chemical degradation processes are expected to be largely temperature and oxygen dependent.

Large releases of fuel may exceed the sorptive capacity of the soil, thereby filling the pore spaces of the soil with fuel. In this situation most of the fuel would move as a bulk fluid downward through the soil and to the groundwater. Volatilization of the fuel components to the air would not be expected to be a significant factor if the releases came from underground sources, as is thought to be the case at most areas of OU 5. At Source SS42, however, a diesel fuel spill occurred at the surface. Volatilization and surface runoff could have been important factors in contaminant migration, except that the ground

5-41

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

was frozen, temperatures were low, and most of the fuel was reported to have been recovered.

Often, fuel contaminants are in concentrations below the aqueous solubility. This situation may be found at the edge of a migrating plume, at a slow leak, or after longterm weathering. The fate of the fuel in the soil environment then becomes a function of the solubility, volatility, sorption, and degradation of its major components. The relative importance of each of these processes is influenced by the following factors (Biomedical and Environmental Information Analysis, 1989, Vol. 4):

- Type of release--surface versus underground; small versus large;
- Soil type-organic content; previous history of soil contamination; and

(4)

۲

• Environmental conditions—pH, temperature, oxygen content.

Migration of fuels through soils may be retarded by sorption of the fuel to soil particles. The higher the organic content of the soil, the greater the sorption. The deep gravels and sands at OU 5 probably contain little organic matter. The total organic content of soil samples from soil boring SB01 in the upgradient study area was 4,400 mg/kg at the 5-foot depth and 2,160 mg/kg at the 15-foot depth. The total organic contents of the soils at the base of the bluff were found to be high during the RI, ranging from 4,000 to 229,000 mg/kg in the zero- to 3-foot zone. These soils at the base of the bluff tended to be saturated at least part of the year, and well vegetated. Considering only relative organic contents, the soils at the base of the bluff would be expected to retard fuels more than the vadose zone soils beneath the pipelines.

Migration is expected to be fastest through previously contaminated soils where the sorptive sites may be unavailable. Therefore, fuel might flow quite rapidly at locations in the bluff where seeps have been rescatedly reported. Some fuel is left behind in the soil through which the plume traveled. That residue tends to be more concentrated in the

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

fine sands than in the coarser gravels. The residually contaminated soils may serve as sources of leachable fuels for a long time. (**4**)

()

Transport processes are more important than degradation in the fate of lowmolecular-weight components of fuels. Initially, a large portion of the surface spills of fuels may evaporate or be transported by surface runoff. For subsurface contamination, partitioning to the soil-vapor phase is common for the lower molecular weight aliphatic hydrocarbons (C_4 — C_5 , JP-4, and gasoline), which are characterized by high vapor pressures and low water solubility. The alkyl benzenes and BTEX have higher water solubilities and may be carried by the infiltrating water. Larger compounds (> C_5) are weathered primarily by evaporation and biodegradation (Biomedical and Environmental Information Analysis, 1989). No halogenated VOCs were detected in vadose zone soils during the OU 5 RI.

5.4.2 Groundwater Migration Pathways

Two major sources of groundwater have been identified at Elmendorf AFB:

- A shallow, unconfined aquifer system; and
- A deeper, confined aquifer.

The Bootlegger Cove Formation forms the lower limit of the shallow aquifer and is the confining layer of the deeper aquifer. It is not known whether connections between the aquifers exist under Elmendorf AFB, but the Bootlegger Cove Formation is believed to prevent the downward migration of contaminants to the lower aquifer (Patrick et al, 1989). The only known estimate of the travel time for pollutants between aquifers is a theoretical analysis of the Merrill Field sanitary landfill in Anchorage. The landfill has refuse buried below the upper aquifer water table, thereby creating an environment in which the refuse is continuously leached and the resulting local pollution is high. Nelson (1982) indicated that minor amounts of pollutants may reach the upper part of the confined aquifer

5-43

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

after "many tens of years, but that water of the composition of the leachate probably would not reach the aquifer for more than three centuries."

4)

The shallow aquifer at OU 5 is composed of alluvial and outwash deposits. Most sediments consist of alluvial and outwash deposits of sands, gravels, and small amounts of silts with high permeability and a yield of 10 to 1,500 gpm (Patrick et al, 1989). The shallow aquifer is estimated to be 10 to 80 feet thick, based on a review of boring logs from the RI and previous investigations.

Data collected during the RI indicate that the shallow-aquifer groundwater flow across the southern part of Elmendorf AFB occurs in a south or southwest direction (Figure 3-11). Consequently, OU 5 is downgradient of other OUs and potential contamination sources on the base (Figure 1-2). Groundwater monitoring wells placed upgradient of the pipelines at OU 5 had low levels of dissolved fuels and solvents, indicating that contaminants are coming into OU 5 from unknown upgradient sources. Some uncertainty exists with these interpretations because of data limitations. Water level measurements and chemical sampling were done only during a high groundwater and stream flow period (August through October). Consequently, that data cannot address the issue of seasonal variability. Ongoing groundwater studies on Elmendorf AFB will provide a more complete picture in the future.

Groundwater velocities depend on hydraulic gradient, hydraulic conductivity, and porosity; all are moderate to high in the unconfined aquifer at the southern part of the base. The hydraulic gradient within the unconfined aquifer along the southern portion of the base at the east end of OU 5 is 95 feet per mile and at the west end of OU 5 is 264 feet per mile in a south or southwest direction based on the data from the RI. Locally, hydraulic gradients may increase near surface water bodies or shallow operating wells. Hydraulic conductivity was estimated by slug tests at newly installed wells during the 1992 RI. The inherent limitations in the slug test data are discussed in Section 2.1.5.7. Hydraulic conduc-

5-44

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

tivity ranged from 1.4 feet per minute (ft/min) (0.71 cm/sec) at MW14 to 0.027 ft/min (0.016 cm/sec) at MW16 (Appendix F).

(*****)

۲

The magnitude of seasonal water level fluctuations in the unconfined aquifer is not well known. Water levels are expected to rise in the spring in response to the spring thaw and through the summer from continued input from the Chugach Mountains and precipitation. The levels then should fall slowly in fall and winter. Any free product layer (for example, fuel contaminants) floating on the water table would be smeared or spread over the aquifer materials that were dehydrated as water levels in the aquifer declined. The smear zone often proves to be the most important secondary source of contamination and is often the most difficult area to remediate.

During the RI, water level measurements were taken three to four times on OU 5 monitoring wells from early August to late October 1992. Little change in water level elevations was observed during that short interval (Appendix E).

Advection and dispersion are believed to be the primary transport mechanisms for dissolved phase contaminants. Advection, movement as a consequence of groundwater flow, primarily influences horizontal transport of contaminants in the saturated zone. Dispersion, fluid mixing due to effects of heterogeneities in permeability, influences both the vertical and lateral spreading of a contaminant plume.

Molecular diffusion caused by concentration gradients would be expected to play a minor role in transporting contaminants, compared to advection and dispersion.

The capacity of the unconfined aquifer to retard contaminant migration is expected to be low because of limited amounts of organic material and silt and/or clay in the soils on the bluff. Most contaminants are expected to migrate at approximately the rate of groundwater flow. However, individual contaminants may have particle velocities that differ significantly from water velocity.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Once in solution, most fuel-related contaminants (such as hydrocarbons and BTEX compounds at saturation) are expected to concentrate and migrate near the top of the aquifer. Conversely, nonaqueous liquids with densities greater than water (for example, TCE and PCE) could migrate vertically downward through the aquifer if free product reached the water table. Chlorinated compounds in solution at concentrations much less than saturation will move primarily by advection and dispersion near the top of the aquifer. To date, chlorinated compounds and BTEX have been found only in concentrations below saturation and, hence, are dissolved and carried by advection near the top of the aquifer. (**T**)

۲

۲

(م

Results of the RI show that fuel and perhaps solvent contamination has moved off base via the upper aquifer. The Elmendorf AFB boundary runs roughly along the top of the bluff on the western end of OU 5. Off-base monitoring wells SP1-01, MW16, MW15, and MW13 in the lower bluff and Post Road corridor subareas each had at least three of the following contaminants (maximum amount detected in the wells):

- JP-4 (730 μg/L);
- TFH gas (1600 μ g/L);
- TFH diesel (290 μ g/L);
- Benzene (8.5 μg/L);
- Ethyl benzene (16 μ g/L);
- Xylenes (570 μg/L);
- 2-Methylnaphthalene (9 J μ g/L);
- Naphthalene (13 J μ g/L); and
- 1,1-DCA (1.3 μg/L).

Monitoring Wells MW14 and MW17, downgradient of the aforementioned offbase wells, did not have any organic contaminants.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The confined aquifer is overlain by substantial thicknesses of the Bootlegger Cove Formation. Cederstrom et al (1964) estimated the thickness of the confining layer in the vicinity of OU 5 to be 50 to 150 feet. The clays and silts that make up the formation have low hydraulic conductivity and would be expected to retard contaminant flow between the two major aquifer systems. Whether connections exist between the two aquifer systems under the base is not known due to lack of stratigraphic data. The historic artesian nature of the confined aquifer may serve to force any groundwater movement between the two systems upward rather than downward. However, well pumping in localized areas may cause cores of depression and reverse the assumed direction of vertical flow. (4)

5.4.3 Surface Water and Sediment Pathways

Surface water bodies in the vicinity of OU 5 include Ship Creek, ponds, and permanently and seasonally wet areas. Surface water is an important source of drinking water for the base. However, surface water supplies come from sources upgradient of the base, such as Eklutna and Ship Creek reservoirs.

South of the Elmendorf moraine, surface water drains south and west into Ship Creek. The surface water travels through culverts and road ditches to arrive at Ship Creek (Figure 2-2). The upper Ship Creek basin is an important recharge area for the Anchorage confined aquifer and provides approximately 25% of the total recharge to the system (Weeks, 1970). Surface water quality on Elmendorf AFB is monitored by the base Bioenvironmental Engineering Services group (Section 1.2.3.2), Black & Veatch (1990) collected several samples from Ship Creek (Section 1.2.3.1), and more samples were analyzed for the RI (Section 4.4). Generally, the water quality of the analyzed samples from Ship Creek has been good. However, there are reports from previous investigators of foam in Ship Creek, and fuel sheens and petroleum odors on ponds in road ditches at OU 5.

Contaminant migration in surface water and sediment is strongly influenced by the spring thaw, when large volumes of water are flushed through the surface water drainage

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

system. This event would influence the following primary contaminant migration mechanisms:

• Flushing, solubilization, and/or erosion of contaminated surface soils by surface runoff, with eventual discharge to the receiving surface water body;

()

- Flushing of vadose zone contaminants to the groundwater system, and later discharge to a receiving surface water body; and
- Resuspension and transport of sediments during peak discharge periods.

Similar processes would occur during heavy summer or fall rains.

Contaminants are mobilized primarily either as dissolved constituents or adsorbed particulate matter. Once introduced to the surface water systems, many contaminants will undergo various transport, transformation, or degradation processes, including volatilization, adsorption, biodegradation/bioaccumulation, and photodegradation.

Ship Creek appears to be a gaining stream in the OU 5 study area. Studies during the RI showed good hydraulic communication between the groundwater in the Ship Creek alluvium and the creek, and a general trend of groundwater flow toward Ship Creek. Chemical analysis of surface water from Ship Creek during the RI shows it to be free of organic contaminants.

Estimated Worst-Case Surface Water Concentrations

The surface water and sediment monitoring conducted as part of the OU 5 investigation was performed on two occasions, both during the summer months when flow within Ship Creek was at or near maximum. Historical data for Ship Creek (USGS, 1976) indicate that minimum flows, ranging from 17 to approximately 20 cfs, occur during the late winter months (February through April). Seepage studies conducted by the USGS (Weeks, 1970) indicate that groundwater discharges into Ship Creek as base flow in the vicinity of

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

OU 5. Therefore, the maximum impact that contaminated groundwater could have on Ship Creek water quality would be expected to occur during the low flow period.

(4)

No water quality data are available for Ship Creek during the low flow period. However, groundwater data collected as part of the OU 5 investigation were used in conjunction with historical flow records to estimate potential worst-case concentrations in Ship Creek during the low flow period. The estimated concentrations do not represent a prediction of actual concentrations for this period, but rather what concentrations could be in Ship Creek in a worst-case scenario based on the available data.

The estimated worst-case concentrations were calculated by comparing the estimated volume of groundwater flowing through OU 5 with minimum Ship Creek flows, and using the results to estimate the extent to which measured groundwater concentrations are diluted upon entering Ship Creek. The estimated worst-case concentrations are based on a series of assumptions, including the following:

- The flow volume in Ship Creek equals the lowest average daily flow rate of 17 cfs recorded at the Ship Creek gaging station (no longer in service) below the power plant at Elmendorf AFB on March 29, 1975.
- The estimated groundwater flow rate of 4 cfs through the unconfined aquifer beneath OU 5, based on water level data collected on September 24, 1992, is representative of groundwater flow at other times of the year.
- The available stratigraphic data are sufficient to estimate the crosssectional area of the unconfined aquifer through which groundwater flowing into OU 5 must move.
- All groundwater flowing into OU 5 through the unconfined aquifer enters Ship Creek along the southern boundary of OU 5.
- Groundwater concentrations measured in samples from OU 5 monitoring wells completed in alluvium near Ship Creek are representative of groundwater concentrations entering Ship Creek.

 Groundwater concentrations are reduced by an amount proportional to the ratio of groundwater flow (4 cfs) to Ship Creek flow (17 cfs), to a value that is approximately 25% of the original concentration. (年)

The volume of groundwater flowing through OU 5 was estimated by drawing a cross section through the unconfined aquifer, perpendicular to the direction of flow, along the 125-foot contour line (refer to Figure 3-11). Stratigraphic information obtained from monitoring well logs (for wells located along the 125-foot contour line) was used to estimate the cross-sectional area of the saturated zone (approximately 1.86×10^4 square feet). This cross-sectional area was multiplied by a linear groundwater flow velocity to estimate a steady state groundwater flux through OU 5. The linear velocity is based on an estimated gradient of 0.02, a hydraulic conductivity of 3.3×10^4 feet per second, and an aquifer porosity of 30 percent.

The groundwater concentrations used in this exercise are actually upperconfidence limits (for a 95% confidence interval) for a mean concentration calculated using data from 11 wells located near Ship Creek. (The wells include the following: MW08, MW09, MW10, MW12, MW13, MW14, MW15, MW16, MW17, MW30, and MW31. The parameters for which mean concentrations were calculated—gasoline-range hydrocarbons, JP-4-range hydrocarbons, diesel-range hydrocarbons, and benzene—were each detected in at least one of the wells used in the calculation. Although other parameters were detected in several of these wells, they were not used to estimate worst-case concentrations because no standards exist against which they may be compared.

The worst-case concentrations and applicable standards are listed in Table 5-6. The results listed in Table 5-6 indicate several points of importance:

- Most of the chemical-specific organic compounds included in this investigation are not expected to enter Ship Creek in measurable quantities.
- Benzene concentrations are well below the only applicable standard.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 5-6

۲

۲

Estimated Worst-Case Concentrations for Ship Creek During Low Flow Periods

Farmeliker	Entirement Warris Com Communities	Succes W	dae Citacle" » Alasta: Citacle"
Benzeno	1.21 µg/L	مەر/_مە	
Gescline	0.182 mg/L		0.015 mg/L ^t
JP-4	0.237 mg/L		0.015 mg/L ^f
Diaml	0.083 mg/L		0.015 mg/L ^f

parison with the estimated worst-case concentrations apply to the protection of aquatic • The surface water oritoria used as a basis for ocea its and wildlife rather than human health oritoria. Ingestion of water from Ship Crook by humans was not considered in the human boolth risk acco

Close Water Act Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Protection of Aquatic Life. Alaska Water Quality Criteria (18 AAC 70.020) for petroleum hydrocarbons, oil and grease in water; class (1)(C) Aquatic Life and Wildle.

⁴ This values is an acute standard; no CWA chronic standard is available for beaman.
⁵ Lowest observed effect level.
⁶ The value of 0.015 mg/L applies to total hydrocechons.

The calculated worst-case concentrations exceed the only applicable Alaska surface water criterion by more than an order of magnitude for gasoline and JP-4, and by a factor of 5 for diesel. ۲

The method detection limits for gasoline-, JP-4-, and diesel-range hydrocarbons are 0.050 mg/L, 0.100 mg/L, and 0.100 mg/L, respectively. The total hydrocarbon standard of 0.015 mg/L is much lower than any of these method detection limits. This difference is largely responsible for the estimated worst-case concentrations exceeding the standard because gasoline- and JP-4-range hydrocarbons were only detected in 2 of 11 samples considered, and the diesel-range hydrocarbons were detected in only 1 sample. Given the gap between the method detection limits and the current standard, it is probably not reasonable to conclude that total hydrocarbon concentrations in Ship Creek would rise to levels that pose a threat to aquatic life and wildlife. This is consistent with the results of the ecological risk assessment (Section 6.2).

5.4.4 Airborne Volatile and Particulate Migration Pathways

Contaminant transport to the atmosphere results from two primary mechanisms: volatilization and air entrainment of contaminated particulates.

Volatilization from contaminant sources and windblown dusts is expected to be greatest during the summer, when solar radiation is at a peak, and ambient soil, ground-water, and surface water temperatures rise. Constituents most likely to volatilize are those with vapor pressures greater than 10^3 mm of mercury (Table 5-3). Such constituents include aromatic hydrocarbons, such as BTEX, and chlorinated solvents, such as TCE. Volatilization is expected to be greatest where fuels have seeped to the surface soils or reached surface waters.

Airborne volatiles near building foundations or in basements are not expected to be pathways of concern at OU 5 now or in the future because of low concentrations of volatiles and limited future building sites in the OU. Soil contamination was found only in

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

low concentrations and at depth near the groundwater table in the pipeline corridor and upgradient subareas where current buildings are located. The groundwater throughout the OU has volatiles only in the low parts-per-billion range, and soil gas studies during the RI showed few areas where volatiles were venting through the valoes zone (see Section 4.1). The bluff area is not likely to be used as building sites. Slope failure occurred along the bluff just west of OU 5 and near the snow disposal pond during the Alaska earthquake of 1964. Also, much of the area between the bluff and Ship Creek is unsuitable for building because of standing water and areas that would probably be delineated as wetlands. ۲

Where contaminated surface soils are exposed or not covered by surface vegetation, contaminants can be transported as windblown dusts. Contaminants which may migrate as dusts are those with a strong adsorptive affinity, such as PCBs, metals, and PAHs. The only PCBs detected at OU 5 were in a single sediment sample at the bottom of the snow disposal pond; they are not likely candidates for particulate transport.

Air is not expected to be a significant pathway for the transport of volatiles or contaminated particulates at OU 5 for the following reasons:

- The primary sources are thought to be underground pipelines and therefore are not directly exposed to the air or wind.
- Soil overburden and heavy vegetative cover at OU 5 will restrict volatilization to the air and prevent contaminated soil from reaching the surface as particulates.
- Cold temperatures for 6 months of the year will restrict volatilization.
- Snow cover for 6 months each year will further limit transport of soil particles. Areas below the bluff are saturated or moist for most of the rest of the year.
- Existing field reports and interviews with base personnel do not indicate any air quality problem related to the suspected sources.

Surface soil contamination at OU 5 was limited in areal extent and magnitude. A surface sample (0- to 2-foot depth) at SB29 had an estimated 5 mg/kg total PAHs, 6.1 mg/kg diesel fuel, and both lead and barium concentrations slightly above background. The surface contamination at SB29 is speculated to be limited to a small area of surface dumping (grass cuttings). Surface soil samples (0- to 1-foot depth) near seep areas SL04, SL16, SL19, SL20, and SL29 had diesel contamination of 151, 49, 9, 2, and 29 mg/kg, respectively. Those seep area samples also slightly exceeded background levels for one or more of the following metals: arsenic, barium, cadmium, chromium, selenium, and silver. the surface soils near those seeps tend to have high moisture contents (13 to 76 percent moisture) and would be unlikely to contribute to particulate production.

۲

Direct air sampling was not done during the RI, but potential air exposures will be estimated from surface soil and surface water samples concentrations in Section 6.0. Data from direct air measurements are seldom available from source investigations because measuring air volatiles and contaminants on particulates is a complex, expensive endeavor. Other sources, such as power plants and off-base industrial activities, may also confound data obtained during air sampling.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

0

۲

)

Page

6.0	BASI	ELINE RISK ASSESSMENT
	6.1	Human Health Evaluation
		6.1.1 Introduction
		6.1.2 Identification of Chemicals of Concern
		6.1.3 Toxicity Assessment
		6.1.4 Exposure Assessment
		6.1.5 Public Health Risk Characterization
		6.1.6 Uncertainties and Assumptions
		6.1.7 Summary and Comparison to EPA Bench Marks
	6.2	Ecological Evaluation
		6.2.1 Aquatic Resources
		6.2.2 Terrestrial Resources

6-i

LIST OF FIGURES

 $\mathbf{\tilde{e}}$

٢

		Lage
6.1 a	Additive Risk Estimates for Groundwater at Monitoring Wells	. 6-58
6.1b	Additive Risk Estimates for Groundwater at Monitoring Wells	. 6-59

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report, 01/26/94

Sec. 6 & a the

ł

6-ii

1.14

LIST OF TABLES

	Page
6- 1	Compounds Detected by Media
6- 2	Oral Reference Dose Values for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5 6-12
6- 3	Inhalation Reference Concentrations for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5
6-4	Carcinogen Weight-of-Evidence Classification Scheme
6-5	Cancer Slope Factors for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5 6-20
6-6	Exposure Assumptions for Subsurface Soil Pathways
6-7	Exposure Assumptions for Surface Soil Pathways
6-8	Exposure Assumptions for Groundwater Pathways
6-9	Exposure Assumptions for Surface Water and Sediment Pathways
6-10	Summary of Maximum Risk Screening Estimates for Subsurface Soils 6-43
6-11	Summary of Risk Estimates for Surface Soils
6 -12	Summary of Risk Estimates for Groundwater
6-13	Summary of Risk Estimates for Individual Monitoring Wells
6-14	Summary of Risk Estimates for Dust Inhalation
6-15	Summary of Risk Screening Estimates for Sediments and Surface Water 6-64
6-16	Uncertainty Factors in the Human Health Risk Evaluation for OU 5 6-66
6-17	Summary of Human Health Risk Assessment
6-18	Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-19	Beaver Pond (5SW13) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report, 01/26/94 6-iii

Ø

.

0

۲

۲

LIST OF TABLES (CONTINUED)

6-20	Golf Course Beaver Pond (5SW04-05) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-21	Wetland Pond (5SW06) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-22	Snowmelt Pond (5SW07) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-23	Bluff Pond (5SW08) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-24	Drainage Ditch (5SW09 and 5SW10) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-25	Ship Creek Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection
6-26	Aquatic Toxicity of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons
6-27	Toxicity of Sediments to Aquatic Organisms
6-28	Summary of Data Sources and Contaminants in Aquatic Media Selected for Further Evaluations
6-29	Comparison of Estimated Maximum Soil Vapor Concentrations From Groundwater to Acute and Chronic Exposure Effect Levels by Inhalation in Mammals
6-30	Comparison of Maximum Estimated Soil Vapor Concentrations From Soils to Acute and Chronic Exposure Effect Levels by Inhalation in Mammals 6-110
6-31	Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Soils from OU 5 with Elmendorf AFB Background Soils and Canadian Interim Remediation Criteria
6-32	Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Soils from OU 5 that Exceeded Elmendorf AFB Background Soils or Canadian Interim Remediation Criteria with Maximum Tolerable Dietary Levels for Domestic Animals

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report, 01/26/94 6-iv

0

۲

۲

LIST OF TABLES (CONTINUED)

P	94	Þø	
	-	50	

٢

۲

۲

÷

٠

6-33	Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Plants from OU 5 with Maximum Tolerable Dietary Levels
	for Domestic Animals
6-34	Comparison of Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Plants from OU 5 with Various Evaluation Levels
6-35	Summary of Data Sources and Contaminants Selected for Further Evaluations
6-36	Potentially Complete Exposure Pathways to Primary Terrestrial Receptors Selected for Assessment
6-37	LC ₅₀ Values for Five Oils and Four Species in Static and Flow-Through Tests
6-38	UTAB Database Information on Bioaccumulation of Heavy Metals by Plants
6-39	Ecological Quotients Comparing Observed Contaminant Concentrations in OU 5 to Assessment Levels

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report, 01/26/94

6-v

6.0 BASELINE RISK ASSESSMENT

This section presents the results of the baseline risk assessments for organisms potentially exposed to contaminants in OU 5. The overall purpose of the risk assessments is to provide a qualitative and/or quantitative appraisal of actual or potential effects of contaminants on humans, other animals, and plants to help determine whether there is a need for remedial action (or no action) and to help determine the scale of a remedial action. (ک)

A baseline risk assessment evaluates potential threats to public health and the environment in absence of any remedial action (the no-action alternative) (EPA, 1988a). It identifies and characterizes the toxicity of chemicals of potential concern, the possible exposure pathways, the potential human and ecclogical receptors, and the upper bound on possible risks under the conditions defined for the facility.

The no-action alternative assumes that no corrective actions will take place and no restrictions will be placed on future uses of the areas currently occupied by OU 5. The baseline human health and ecological evaluations address potential risks from OU 5 under current and reasonable future land uses. Evaluation of this no-action alternative is required under Section 300.430(d) of the NCP (EPA, 1990).

6.1 <u>Human Health Evaluation</u>

6.1.1 Introduction

This section presents the results of the baseline human health evaluation for the OU 5 RI/FS. The potential pathways for human exposure to contaminants at OU 5 are shown in the conceptual model diagram, Figure 5-3.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

6-1

C

6.1.1.1 Risk Assessment Guidance

This baseline human health evaluation was performed in accordance with the following guidance documents and advisories:

- Risk Assessment Guidelines (EPA, 1986a, 1986b, and 1986c);
- Exposure Factors Handbook (EPA, 1989a);
- Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund: Volume 1, Human Health Evaluation Manual (Part A) (EPA, 1989b);

(4)

- Supplemental Guidance for Superfund Risk Assessments in Region 10, (EPA, 1991a); and
- Human Health Evaluation Manual, Supplemental Guidance: Standard Default Exposure Factors (EPA, 1991b).

This assessment is based on the following major assumptions:

- No remedial actions have been or will be conducted.
- There is potential for future development of areas currently occupied by OU 5 under reasonable assumptions of future land use.
- For the purpose of risk calculations, chemical concentrations are assumed to remain constant over the assumed exposure periods.

This human health evaluation is based on chemical analysis of surface and subsurface soils, surface water, sediments, and groundwater samples collected during the RI.

6.1.1.2 Report Organization

The human health evaluation for OU 5 is organized into six sections:

6-2

Elmondorf AFE OU 5 RI/FE Report

- Identification of chemicals of concern;
- Toxicity assessment;
- Exposure assessment;
- Risk characterization;
- Uncertainties and assumptions; and
- Summary and comparison to EPA benchmarks.

Identification of the chemicals of concern is based on the conceptual site model, sampling and analysis data, background concentrations of the chemicals detected, environmental transport and fate, nature and extent of contamination, and the toxicology of the chemicals detected. (\mathbf{r})

۲

(4)

The toxicity assessment involves gathering the available toxicology information regarding the chemicals or concern to answer two questions:

- What adverse health effects are associated with exposure to the chemicals of concern?
- What level of exposure is associated with the occurrence of adverse health effects?

The toxicity information gathered includes quantitative toxicity estimates that the EPA has developed. These estimates are collectively known as toxicity values and usually include reference doses for assessing noncancer effects, and cancer slope factors for assessing the risk of cancer.

The objective of the exposure assessment is to assess the potential routes of exposure, and the frequency, duration, and magnitude of potential exposures to the chemicals of concern. The result of the exposure assessment is usually a quantitative estimate of the

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PE Report
level of exposure. This information is combined with the results of the toxicity assessment to develop the risk characterization.

The objective of the risk characterization section is to qualitatively and quantitatively characterize the risk of developing noncancer adverse effects or cancer in potential receptors exposed to the chemicals of concern under conditions specified in the exposure assessment. The risk of developing noncancer effects is estimated by the hazard index method wherein the estimated daily intake of a chemical is compared to the reference dose for that chemical. The risk of developing cancer is estimated by calculating the excess lifetime cancer risk, which is the product of the estimated daily intake of a chemical and the cancer slope factor for that chemical.

The section on uncertainties and assumptions describes the basic assumptions used in the risk assessment and limitations of data and methodology.

The final section summarizes the results of the human health evaluation.

6.1.1.3 Approach to Risk Estimate Calculations

A two-phased approach is used to calculate risk estimates for the exposure pathways:

- Phase I: Maximum Screen. For each pathway, the maximum concentration for each chemical (sitewide or within a study subarea) is used as the exposure concentration to calculate a risk estimate using reasonable maximum exposure assumptions. If the estimated hazard index for the noncancer health evaluation is less than 1 and the lifetime excess cancer risk is less than 1 x 10⁴ (one in a million) the evaluation is considered complete.
- Phase II: Baseline Risk Assessment. For each pathway that is not eliminated through the maximum screening calculations, risk estimates are calculated using both the arithmetic average (Average Case) and the

64

95% upper confidence limit on the arithmetic average (Reasonable Maximum Case) as exposure concentrations.

(4)

۲

The phased approach has the benefit of rapidly screening out pathways of low risk to human health. The maximum screen is a conservative approach, and risk estimates for pathways generated by using the averaging statistics of the baseline risk assessment can be expected to be even lower. This approach follows EPA guidance, which states:

For some sites, where a screening level analysis is regarded as sufficient to characterize potential exposures, calculation of the upper confidence limit on the arithmetic average is not required. In those cases, the maximum detected or modeled concentration should be used as the exposure concentration (EPA, 1989b, p. 6-22).

The criteria chosen to trigger the baseline risk assessment are also based on EPA guidance. The EPA uses the general 10^4 to 10^6 excess lifetime cancer risk range as a "target range" within which the agency strives to manage risks as a part of a CERCLA cleanup. A noncancer hazard index greater than 1 can also trigger management decisions (EPA, 1990, 1991c).

6.1.2 Identification of Chemicals of Concern

The results of the chemical analyses of soil, sediment, groundwater, and surface water samples collected from OU 5 were evaluated to determine whether the analyses were valid and useful for risk assessment. Data validation procedures are described in Section 2.3 of this report.

Only EPA Level III (CLP equivalent) laboratory data are used in the human health risk assessment. The field screening (EPA Level II) data obtained during soil gas and groundwater probe studies are not used in the evaluation.

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

During data validation, the data were reviewed to eliminate results that might represent contamination of samples in the laboratory or in the field or that failed to meet quality control guidelines (for example, insufficient surrogate spike recovery). Estimated results (data with a J qualifier) that met data validation requirements were considered usable for risk assessment (EPA, 1989b).

Chemicals detected in the samples collected from OU 5 were identified as chemicals of concern for the evaluation of human health risk based on the following criteria:

• Positively detected at least once in at least one medium (soil, sediment, groundwater, or surface water) sampled at OU 5.

٣

0

Ŏ

()

• At least one detection exceeded background criteria described in Sections 4.2 and 4.3 This criterion was applied only to total metals because background concentrations were not available for organic compounds. Total metals, not dissolved metals, in groundwater were used in the human health risk assessment.

The chemicals that met either or both of these criteria were designated as chemicals of concern and are listed in Table 6-1 by the medium in which they were detected. The chemicals of concern were then grouped by study subarea, as described in Section 4, for exposure assessment and risk characterization. Data summaries for the chemicals detected in soil, sediments, groundwater, and surface water are presented in Section 4.

6.1.3 Toxicity Assessment

The purpose of the toxicity assessment is to weigh the available evidence regarding the potential for particular contaminants to cause adverse effects in exposed individuals and to provide, where possible, an estimate of the relationship between the extent of exposure to a contaminant and the increased likelihood or severity of adverse effects. Toxicity assessment for contaminants found at Superfund sites is generally accomplished in two steps: hazard identification and dose-response assessment.

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

Compounds Detected by Media

			Growen	dvaler		
Constitut	Surface Soli	Subsurface Soli	Upper	Lower	Sedment	Surface Water
Petroleum-Related Compor	mde					
JP-4	x	X	x		x	x
TPH-Gesolins	x	X	x		x	x
TFH-Diesel	x	X	x		x	
Semivolatile Organic Com	pounds					
Accemphthylene	x					
Anthracene	x	x			X	
Benzo(a)enthracens	x	x			x	
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	x	x			x	
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	x	x			x	
Benzo(g,h,i)perylene	x	x				
Вендо(а)ругене	x	x	[x	
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	x	x	x		x	
Carbazole	x					
Chrysene	x	x			x	
Dibenz(a,h)asthracene	x					
Dibenzofuran	x					
Disthylphthelate	1	x	x			
Di-a-butylphthalate	1	x	x			
Finorenthene	x	x			x	
Pluorene	x	x	[
Indeno(1,2,3-c,d) Pyrene	x	x				
2-Methylasphthalens	x	x	x		x	
4-Mothylphonol	† 1	1			x	x
Naphthalene	x	} ─────	x		x	x
N-Nitrosodiphenylamine	1		x			

Elemendorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

•

1

(Continued)

			Groundwater			
Canadasi	Surface Soil	Suberrface Soil	Upper	Long	Soliment	Surface Water
4-Nitrophenol		x				
Phenenthrene	x	x			x	
Phonol					x	
Руговс	x	X				
Volatile Organic Compound	ds					
Benzene	x	x	x			x
Bromomethans						x
Chloroethane			x			
1,1-Dichloroethene			x			x
1,2-Dichloroethene						x
trans-1,2-Dichloroethene						x
Ethylbenzene	x	x	_x		x	x
Tert-butyl Methyl Ether			x			
1,1,2,2-Tetrachioroethane			x			х
Toluene	x	X	x		X	х
1,1,1-Trichloroethane			х			x
Trichloroethene			x			x
Xyienes, Total	x	x	x		x	x
Polychlorinated Biphenyis						
Aroclor 1260	NA	NA	NA	NA	x	NA
Inorganics	_					
Aluminum	x	x	x		x	х
Antimony		x	x			
Aromic	x	x	x	x	x	x
Berium	x	X	x	x	x	x
Beryllium	X	X	X		x	x

Emenderf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

-

6-8

0

۲

۲

•

٢

۲

۲

(Continued)

			Groundwater			
Chinadean	Surface Soli	Subsurface Soli	Upper	Louis	Sedmant	Simbles Water
Boron	x	x	NA	NA	NA	NA
Cadmium	x	x	x		x	X
Calcium	x	x	x	x	x	x
Chromium	x	x	x		x	
Cobalt	x	x	x		x	
Copper	x	x	x	x	x	x
Iron	x	x	x	x	x	x
Lond	x	x	x		X	x
Magnesium	X	x	x	x	x	x
Manganase	x	x	x	x	x	x
Mercury	x	x	x		x	
Molybdenum	x	x	NA	NA	NA	NA
Nickel	х	x	x		x	x
Nitrate				x		
Potassium	x	x	x	X	x	x
Solonism	x	x	x	x	x	x
Silver	x	x			x	
Sodium	X	x	x	x	x	x
Thellium	x	x			x	x
Vanadium	x	x	x		x	x
Zinc	x	x	x	x	x	x

NA = Not analyzed

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

•

The first step, hazard identification is the process of determining whether exposure to an agent can cause an increase in the incidence of a particular adverse health effect (for example, cancer or a birth defect) and whether the adverse health effect is likely to occur in humans. Hazard identification involves characterizing the nature and strength of the evidence of causation. The second step, dose-response evaluation, is the process of quantitatively evaluating the toxicity information and characterizing the relationship between the dose of the contaminant administered or received and the incidence of adverse health effects in the exposed population. From this quantitative dose-response relationship, toxicity values (such as reference doses and slope factors) are derived that can be used to estimate the incidence or potential for adverse effects as a function of human exposure to the chemical. These toxicity values are used in the risk characterization step to estimate the likelihood of adverse effects occurring in humans at different exposure levels. EPA has performed the toxicity assessment step for many chemicals and has made available the resulting toxicity information and toxicity values, most of which have undergone extensive peer review. (**4**)

4)

6.1.3.1 Hazard Identification

For assessing human health risks, health effects are divided into two broad groups--noncancer effects and cancer. This division is based on the different mechanisms of action currently associated with each category. Thus, for this assessment, chemicals causing noncancer effects are handled independently from those having cancer effects. However, some chemicals are considered in both categories.

Noncancer Effects

Noncancer health effects include a variety of toxic effects on body systems ranging from renal toxicity (toxicity to the kidney) to central nervous system disorders. Noncancer health effects fall into two basic categories: acute toxicity and chronic toxicity. Acute toxicity can occur after a single exposure (usually at high doses) and the effect is most often seen immediately. Chronic toxicity occurs after repeated exposure (usually at low

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

doses) and is seen weeks, months, or years after the initial exposure. Noncancer effects, in contrast to cancer effects, are assumed to result only after a critical level of exposure (a toxic threshold) is exceeded. It is believed that organisms may have adaptive mechanisms that must be overcome before a toxic endpoint (effect) is manifested. The noncancer effects observed in toxicology studies of the chemicals of concern at OU 5 are presented in Tables 6-2 and 6-3.

Cancer

Some chemical exposures result in or are suspected of resulting in cancer. EPA as developed a carcinogen classification system (EPA, 1986a) using a weight-ofevidence approach to classify the likelihood that a chemical is a human carcinogen. Information considered in developing the classification includes human studies of the association between cancer incidence and exposure, as well as long-term animal studies under controlled laboratory conditions. Other supporting evidence considered includes short-term tests for genotoxicity, metabolic and pharmacokinetics properties, toxicological effects other than cancer, structure-activity relationships, and physical and chemical properties of the chemical.

The weight-of-evidence classification (Table 6-4) is an attempt to account for the uncertainty in the evidence of carcinogenicity. The evidence is characterized separately for human studies and animal studies as sufficient, limited, inadequate, no data, or evidence of no effect.

6.1.3.2 Dose-Response Evaluation

The development of toxicity is dependent on the dose of a chemical and the route of administration or exposure. The dose-response relationship is a qualitative or quantitative expression of the response observed in a test population of either humans or other animals at a given dose or range of doses. Toxicity values are quantitative expressions

6-11

(*)

Oral Reference Dose Values for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5

	Done (RfD)					Confidence
Chemical	(mg/kg/day)	Source	Critical Effect	UF	MP	in R/D ⁴
Antimony	0.0004	IRIS	Longevity, blood glucose, and cholesterol effects	1,000	1	Low
Areenic	0.0003	IRIS	Keratosis and hyperpigmentation	3	1	Medium
Barium	0.07	IRIS	Increased blood preasure	3	1	Medium
Beryllium	0.005	IRIS	No adverse effects	100	1	Low
Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalste	0.02	IRIS	Increased relative liver weight	1,000	1	Medium
Boron	0.09	IRIS	Testicular lesions	100	1	-
Bromomethana	0.0014	IRIS	Epithelial hyperplasis of the forestomach	1,000	1	Medium
Cedmium	0.0005	IRIS	Significant proteinuria	10	1	High
Chromium III	1	IRIS	No effects observed	100	10	Low
Chromium VI	0.005	IRIS	No effects reported	500	1	Low
Copper	0.037•	HEAST	Local gastrointestinal irritation	-	-	-
1,1-Dichloroethane	0.1	HEAST	No effects reported	1,000	1	
trans-1,2-Dichloro- ethens	0.02	IRIS	Increased serum alkaline phosphatase in male mice	1,000	1	Low
Dibenzofuran	0.0042'	MEMO 1/92	Kidney effects	3,000	1	Low
Di-n-butyiphthalato	0.1	IRIS	Mortality	1000	1	Low
Diothylphthalato	0.8	IRIS	Decreased growth rate and food consumption and altered organ weights	1,000	1	Low

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-12

6

۲

8

۲

٢

۲

۲

.

•

١

(Continued)

Chantes	Reference Dose (RfD) (mg/kg/day)	Source	Critical Effect	UP*	MP	Confidence in R/D ⁴
Ethylbenzene	0.1	IRIS	Liver and kidney toxicity	1,000	1	Low
Fluocanthene	0.04	IRIS	Nephropathy, increased liver weights, hemstological changes, and clinical effects	3,000	1	Low
Fluorene	0.04	IRIS	Decreased red blood cells, packed cell volume, and hemoglobin	3,000	1	Low
Fluoride	0.06	IRIS	Dental Fluorosis	1	1	-
JP-4	0.08 ^k	ЕРА	Fatty changes in livers of female mice	10,000	1	Low
Manganese	0.1	IRIS	Central nervous system effects	1	1	Medium
Mercury, inorganic	0.0003	HEAST	Kidney effects	1,000	1	-
4-Methyl phenol	0.05	HEAST	Decreased weight gain and neurotoxicity	1,000	1	Medium
Molyb denum	0.005	HEAST	Increased uric acid pain and swelling in joints	30	1	-
Naphthalone	0.04	HEAST	Decreased body weight gain	1,000	1	-
Nickel	0.02*	IRIS	Decreased body and organ weights	100	3	Medium
Nitrate	1.6	IRIS	Early clinical signs of methemoglobinemia in excess of 10% (0-3 months old infants formula)	1	1	High

Bimenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-13

•

v :

٢

۲

۲

١

•

(Continued)

Chamical	Reference Done (RfD) (mg/log/day)	Source	Critical Effect	UP	MP	Confidence in R/D ⁴
Phenol	0.6	IRIS	Decreased fetal weight in rats	100	1	Low
Pyrene	0.03	IRIS	Kidney effects	3,000	1	Low
Selenium	0.005	IRIS	Clinical selenosis	3	1	High
Silver	0.005	IRIS	Argyria	3	1	Low
TFH Dicael	0.008 ⁶	ЕРА	Fatty changes in livers of female mice	10,000	1	Low
TFH Gas	0.24	ЕРА	Reduced body weight gain in female mice	1,000	1	Low
Thellium (soluble salts)	0.00007	HEAST	Increased SGOT and serum LDH levels, alopecia	3,000	1	-
Tolusne	0.2	IRIS	Changes in liver and kidney weights	1,000	1	Medium
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	0.09	HEAST	Hepstotoxicity	1,000	1	-
Vanadium	0.007	HEAST	None observed	100	1	+
Xylenes	2	IRIS	Hyperactivity, decreased body weight and increased mortality (males)	100	1	Medium
Zinc	0.2	HEAST	Anemia	10	1	

 Sources of toxisity values: IRIM-Integrated Rick Information System (EPA 1992a) HEAST-Health Effects Assessment Summery Tables-Annual Summery (EPA 1992d, for all chemicals except thallium; EPA 1991f, for theilinm). • UP-Uncertainty factor. • MP-Modifying factor.

⁴ Confidence in RfD as reported in IRIS.
 ⁵ Based on proposed drinking water standard of 1.3 mg/L.
 ⁶ Provisional RfD. Searce: Memorandum from Kenneth Poirier, EPA, to Bill Dans, DEQ, on Jan. 24, 1992.

.

* Nickel value based on nickel-soluble mits.

Provisional RfD. Source: Momorandum from Josa Dollarhide, Superfund Health Rick Technical Support Center to Carol Sweeney, HPA Region 10 on March 24, 1992. .

6-14

0

٢

۲

۲

(ځ)

.

Þ

Inhalation Reference Concentrations for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5

Chemical	References Concentration (RfC, ung/ur [*])	Source	Critical Effect	UF	MF*	Confidence in RfC ⁴
Berium	0.0005	HEAST	Fetotoxicity	1,000	1	1
Trivalent chromium	0.000002	HEAST	Nasal mucosa atrophy	300	1	-
Hexavalent chromium	0.000002	HEAST	Nasal mucosa atrophy	300	1	
1,1- Dichloroethane	0.5	HEAST	Kidney damage	1,000	1	-
Ethylbenzene	1	IRIS	Developmental toxicity	300	1	Low
Manganese	0.0004	IRIS	Increased prevalence of respiratory symptoms and psychomotor disturbances	300	3	Medium
Mercury (inorganic)	0.0003	HEAST	Neurotoxicity	30	1	-
Toluene	0.4	HEAST	Central nervous system effects and eye and nose irritation	300	1	-
1,1,1- Trichloroethane	1	HEAST	Hepatotoxicity	1,000	1	-
Xylenes	0.3	HEAST	Central nervous system effects and nose and throat irritation	100	1	-

Sources of toxicity values: RIS-Integrated Rick Information System (EPA 1992s). HEAST-Health Effects Assessment Summery Tables-A mary Tables-Annual Summary (EPA 1992d, for all chemicals except hexavalent chromium; EPA 1991f, for hexavalent chromium). • UF-Uncertainty factor.

MF-Modifying factor.
Confidence in RfC as reported in IRIS.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

ł

(

(

ę

Carcinogen Weight-of-Evidence Classification Scheme

Weight of Evidence Group	Comments
A	Known human carcinogen.
B1	Probable human carcinogen: sufficient evidence in animals, limited evidence in humans.
B2	Probable human carcinogen; sufficient evidence in animals, inadequate or no evidence in humans.
С	Possible human carcinogen.
D	Not classifiable as to human carcinogenicity.
B	Evidence of noncarcinogenicity for humans.

Source: EPA 19896

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

of the dose-response relationship for a chemical. These values are expressed as noncancer reference doses (RfDs) and cancer slope factors, both of which are affected by exposure routes.

(

√ا

Two primary sources of critical toxicity values were used for this assessment. The primary source was IRIS database (EPA, 1992e), the EPA repository of agencywide verified toxicity values. If a toxicity value was not available through IRIS, then the latest available quarterly update of the HEAST issued by the Office of Research and Development (EPA, 1992d) was used as a secondary source. For some chemicals detected at OU 5, no toxicity value from IRIS or HEAST was available, and toxicity values were provided by Region 10 as provisional RfDs.

Reference Doses for Noncancer Effects

The toxicity value describing the dose-response relationship for noncancer effects is the RfD. The apparent toxic threshold value is used by EPA, in conjunction with uncertainty factors based on the strength of the toxicological evidence, to derive an RfD. The EPA RfD Work Group (EPA, 1989e) defines an RfD as follows:

In general, the RfD is an estimate (with uncertainty spanning perhaps an order of magnitude) of a daily exposure to the human population (including sensitive subgroups) that is likely to be without an appreciable risk of deleterious effects during a lifetime. The RfD is generally expressed in units of milligram per kilogram of body weight per day (mg/kg/day).

RfDs are developed based on studies of laboratory animals or humans. Briefly, a no-observed-effects-level (NOAEL) or lowest-observed-effects-level (LOAEL) is identified in a study that is considered of sufficient quality to support an RfD. The NOAEL or LOAEL is then divided by uncertainty factors to account for the use of a LOAEL if a NOAEL is not available, data from a subchronic study if a chronic study is not available,

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

variability in toxicological responses between animals and humans, and the variability in toxicological responses between humans. Modifying factors are sometimes used to account for the quality of the toxicological information available for a given chemical. Finally, the confidence level of the EPA work group that reviewed the development of the RfD is recorded as low, medium, or high. The RfD value, critical effect, uncertainty factor, modifying factor, and confidence level are reported for the chemicals of concern at OU 5 in Table 6-2.

1

Some of the RfDs listed in the HEAST update (Health Effects Assessment Summary Tables [EPA, 1992d]) have not yet been verified by the EPA. This assessment uses the term RfD to describe both EPA-verified and unverified critical toxicity values for noncancer effects. RfDs for some inorganic compounds are for specific forms such as hexavalent versus trivalent chromium. Yet in most cases, the contract laboratory program (CLP) analyses do not report concentrations of specific forms, but rather give results in terms of total inorganic chemical. In such situations, it was assumed that, unless otherwise known, the most toxic form is present and its RfD was used. For the inhalation pathway, the threshold toxicity value for noncancer effects is termed the inhalation reference concentration (RfC). RfCs are developed under methodology similar to that for RfDs. The RfCs for the chemicals of concern at OU 5 are listed in Table 6-3.

Cancer Slope Factors

The dose-response relationship for cancer effects is usually expressed as a cancer slope factor that converts estimated exposures directly to incremental lifetime cancer risk. Slope factors are presented in units of risk per level of exposure (or intake).

Toxicity values for carcinogenic effects also can be expressed in terms of risk per unit concentration of the substance in the medium where human contact occurs. These measures are called unit risks, and the standard duration is continuous lifetime exposure.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The data used for estimating the dose-response relationship are taken from lifetime animal studies or human occupational or epidemiological studies where excess cancer risk has been associated with exposure to the chemical. However, because risk at low intake levels cannot be directly measured in animal or human epidemiological studies (EPA, 1987). a number of mathematical models and procedures have been developed to extrapolate from the high doses used in the studies to the low doses typically associated with environmental exposures. The model choice leads to uncertainty. EPA assumes linearity at low doses and uses the linearized multistage procedure when uncertainty exists concerning the mechanism of action of a carcinogen and when information suggesting nonlinearity is absent. Thus, it is assumed that if a cancer response occurs at the dose levels used in the study, there is some probability that a response will occur at all lower exposure levels (that is, a dose-response relationship with no threshold is assumed). Moreover, the dose-response slope chosen is usually the upper confidence limit on the dose-response curve observed in the laboratory studies. As a result, there is uncertainty and conservatism built into the EPA risk extrapolation approach. EPA has stated that cancer risks estimated by this method produce estimates that "provide a rough but plausible upper limit of risk." In other words, it is not likely that the true risk would be much more than the estimated risk, but "the true value of the risk is unknown and may be as low as zero" (EPA, 1986a). The cancer slope factors and unit risks used in this assessment are summarized in Table 6-5.

٣

۲

(م

1

Lead is classed as a B2 carcinogen by EPA, but no cancer slope factor or RfD has been established. For the purposes of this human health evaluation, a soil concentration of 500 mg/kg is used as a level of concern for lead. This value is based on use of the EPA uptake biokinetic (UBK) model to predict blood lead levels in a potentially exposed population. Using the UBK model, and assuming a benchmark of 95% of the sensitive population has blood lead levels below 10 μ g/dL, EPA has stated that a value of approximately 500 ppm is predicted as an acceptable level (EPA, 1991e). The highest level of lead detected in soil samples at OU 5 was 206 mg/kg.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

	Ora	l Route of Expos		Inhalation Route of Exponers			
Chemical	Weight of Evidence	Slope Factor (mg/kg/day) ⁴	Source	Weight of Evidence	Unit Risk (sg/m ²) ⁻⁴	Source*	
Armic	Α	2	Ь	Α	0.0043	IRIS	
Benzene	Α	0.029	IRIS	A	0.0000083	IRIS	
Benzo(a)anthracene	B2	7.3	c	B2	0.0017	с	
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	B2	7.3	с	B2	0.0017	c	
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	B2	7.3	с	B2	0.0017	с	
Benzo(a)pyrene	B2	7.3	IRIS	B2	0.0017	HEAST	
Beryllium	B2	4.3	IRIS	B2	0.0024	IRIS	
Bis(2-Ethylhexyl)phthalate	B2	0.014	IRIS	B2		IRIS	
Cadmium				B 1	0.0018	IRIS	
Carbazole	B2	0.02	HEAST	B2	-		
Hexavalent Chromium	-	-	-	A	0.012	IRIS	
Chrysene	B2	* 7.3	с	B2	0.0017	c	
Dibenz(a,h)anthracene	B2	7.3	c	B2	0.0017	с	
1,1-Dichloroethane	С		IRIS	С		HEAST	
1,2-Dichloroethane	B2	0.091	IRIS	B2	0.000026	IRIS	
Indeno(1,2,3-cd)pyrene	B2	7.3	с	B2	0.0017	c	
Lead	B2		IRIS	B2		HEAST	
N-Nitrosodiphenylamine	B2	0.0049	IRIS	B2	-	HEAST	
Polychlorinsted biphenyls	B2	7.7	IRIS	B2		HEAST	
1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane	С	0.2	IRIS	B2	0.000058	IRIS	
Tetrachloroethylene ⁴	B2	0.051	HEAST	B2	0.00000052	HEAST	
TFH Gas*	с	0.0017	EPA*				
Trichloroethene ⁴	B2	0.011	HEAST	B2	0.0000017	HEAST	

Cancer Slope Factors for the Chemicals of Concern at OU 5

.

Sources of toxicity values: IRUS-Integrated Risk Information System (EPA 1992e). HRAST-Health Effects Assessment Summary Tables-Annual Summary (EPA 1992d). Based on Risk Assessment Council unit risk of $5x10^3$ (µg/L)⁻¹ (EPA 1988e). Based on beano(a)pyress. Withdown from IRIS. Value previously listed in HEAST is used. Provisional Slope Factor. Source: Memorandum from Joan Dollarhide, Superfund Health Risk Technical Support Center to Carol Sweeney, U.S. EPA Region 10, March 24, 1992.

Elsmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-20

)

۷

۲

(

1

The EPA has set an MCL goal for lead in drinking water at zero. An MCL for lead in drinking water does not currently exist, and has been replaced by a treatment technique requirement. Treatment technique requirements are triggered when the action level of 0.015 mg/L lead is exceeded at the consumer's tap. During the RI, no lead was detected in the lower aquifer supply wells. The maximum level of lead detected in the upper aquifer monitor wells in the December 1992 sampling event was 0.0032 mg/L.

(**)**

8

4)

D

6.1.3.3 Toxicology Uncertainty

Uncertainties in the toxicological information available can influence the outcome of the risk assessment and the reliability of risk management decisions. The toxicity values used for quantifying risk in this assessment have varying levels of confidence that will affect the usefulness of the resulting risk estimates. The level of uncertainty for RfDs and RfCs, judged by EPA based on uncertainty factors and modifying factors, is listed in Tables 6-2 and 6-3 for the OU 5 chemicals of concern. For those chemicals suspected of resulting in cancer, uncertainty is in part expressed in terms of the EPA weight-of-evidence classification, listed in Table 6-4. As previously stated, the models used to extrapolate toxicological information between species, doses, and exposure durations also contribute to the uncertainty in the outcome of the risk assessment.

6.1.4 Exposure Assessment

The objective of the exposure assessment is to estimate the type and magnitude of exposures to the chemicals of potential concern that are present at or are migrating from a site. Exposure is defined as the contact of an organism (humans in the case of health risk assessment) with a chemical or physical agent. The magnitude of exposure is determined by measuring or estimating the amount of an agent available at the exchange boundaries (for example, the lungs, gut, or skin) during a specified time period.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Superfund exposure assessments are generally concerned with current and future exposures to site contaminants. Estimates of current exposures can be based on measurements or models of existing conditions; those of future exposures can be based on models of or assumptions regarding future conditions. The exposure assessment for OU 5 is based on the conceptual site model, as explained in Section 5, the potential exposure pathways, the potential receptors, and the estimation of the potential daily chemical intake from exposure to contaminated media.

An exposure pathway is the means by which a chemical moves from a source to a receptor, which is a potentially exposed organism. A complete exposure pathway has five elements:

- Chemical source;
- Mechanism for chemical release (leak, spill, volatilization, process emission);
- Environmental transport medium (groundwater, surface water, air, bulk phase transport, etc.);
- Exposure point (receptor location); and
- Route of exposure.

Exposure may occur when chemicals migrate from their source to an exposure point (a location where receptors can come into contact with the chemicals) or when a receptor moves into direct contact with chemicals or contaminated media close to the source. An exposure pathway is complete (there is exposure) if there is a way for the receptor to take in chemicals through ingestion, inhalation, or dermal absorption. No exposure exists (and therefore no risk) unless the exposure pathway is complete. This is an important requirement in the risk assessment process.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-22

(

6.1.4.1 Potential Receptors at OU 5

The activity patterns of potentially exposed populations are largely determined by the land uses for which the areas have been zoned. The MOA has zoned the area immediately southwest of the Elmendorf AFB boundary as heavy industrial and it is unlikely that this land designation will change in the future. The industrial area has a single land owner, ARRC, which leases the land to numerous businesses. ٣)

The current uses of the OU 5 area within the boundaries of Elmendorf AFB are shown on Figure 3-12. The current uses include recreational, residential, commercial/ service, light industrial, and fish hatchery production. There are no plans to shift the boundaries of the uses as shown on Figure 3-12 (Environmental Science & Engineering et al, 1991).

Potential receptors in the OU 5 study area include residents, workers, children at play (recreationists), and infrequent visitors or trespassers.

Estimates of the number of potential receptors currently on Elmendorf AFB are as follows:

- **Residents:** about 8600 military and family residents basewide (CH2M Hill, 1992b), including approximately 3,200 children less than 18 years of age (Harding Lawson Associates, 1988a); only a few of those residents live immediately upgradient of the pipeline (north of Second Street or west of the COE building).
- Workers: about 7,400 workers basewide, including 1,300 civilians and 6,100 military (CH2M Hill, 1992b); less than 50 workers might be expected to come in direct contact with OU 5 contaminants by working in fuel distribution or trenching operations for utilidor repair and installation (based on size of work crews, interviews, and field observations during the RI); approximately 400 administrative employees work at the COE Building 21-700, upgradient of the pipelines.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Recreationists: a few children, numbers unknown, hike and play in the woods on the bluff and near the golf course beaver pond (based on field observations during the RI); military families and civilian workers, numbers unknown, picnic and golf along Ship Creek in the summer (Section 3.4). ۳

۲

- Sensitive populations: no schools, hospitals, or nursing homes within 0.5 miles of OU 5.
- Visitors and Trespassers: Visitors cannot enter Elmendorf AFB via the Post Road gate, but must enter by the Government Hill or Boniface gates. Once on the base, visitors can be expected to remain on the roadways or to enter buildings on business.

Estimates of the current number of potential receptors at the Elmendorf Fish Hatchery (land leased from the USAF) or just off base in the ARRC industrial area are as follows:

- **Residents:** eight (including four children) at the Elmendorf Fish Hatchery (Section 3.4).
- Workers: about 250 workers (based on the water use surveys, Section 3.5); about half of those workers (railroad yard workers, freight operators) may spend time outside in the industrial yards.
- **Recreationists:** a limited fishery takes place on Ship Creek, number of fishermen in the vicinity of OU 5 not known; most fishing occurs near the mouth of Ship Creek, 2 miles from OU 5.
- Sensitive populations: no schools, hospitals, or nursing homes within 0.5 miles of OU 5.
- Visitors and Trespassers: about 55,000 visitors stop at the Elmendorf Fish Hatchery viewing area each summer, visits usually last less than 1/2 hour (Section 3.4); customers, numbers or length of visits not known, will enter businesses in the industrial area; a few homeless individuals, numbers not known, may live near Ship Creek and the railroad right-of-way for short periods of time.

For the purpose of this risk assessment the following exposure settings were used for the indicated transport media:

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

- Lower aquifer groundwater-current and future residential;
- Upper aquifer groundwater-future residential (no current use);
- Surface water and sediment—current and future recreational;
- Surface soils—current residential for the upgradient subarea and future residential for all other subareas;
- Subsurface soils-current and future trench worker; and
- Air-current and future residential.

6.1.4.2 Pathways of Exposure for OU 5

Based on a review of the area setting, the nature and extent of chemical contamination, and the possible exposure routes, the potential exposure pathways most pertinent to OU 5 are evaluated in this assessment. Figure 5-3 shows the exposure pathways for OU 5 that potentially are complete under current and reasonable future land use conditions. For OU 5, the most pertinent pathways involve soils and groundwater. Potential health risks are also associated with sediments and surface water at OU 5.

Exposure to Chemicals in Surface Soils. Current or future residents, current or future workers, or people who infrequently gain access to OU 5 as visitors or trespassers could come into contact with chemicals in surface soils. Exposure to surface soils could occur via inadvertent ingestion, skin contact, or by inhaling dusts. The frequency, duration, extent, and route of exposure would depend on the particular activity of the receptor and location of the activity. For this assessment, soil ingestion exposures were estimated for a maximum screening exposure scenario in which residential reasonable maximum exposure (RME) assumptions were made and the maximum concentrations of each chemical detected used in the calculation of risk.

Dermal absorption of contaminants in the surface soils of OU 5 may occur by direct contact. Contaminants in the soil may adhere to and become absorbed by the skin.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Estimates of dermal absorption of contaminants are generally unreliable and of limited usefulness in assessing human health risks because the efficiency of chemical absorption from contaminated soil across the skin is not known for most chemicals and because toxicity values (RfDs or slope factors) are not currently developed or verified by the EPA. In spite of this, a highly conservative approach has been used to develop an upper bound estimate of exposure by the dermal absorption pathway. Thus, risk estimates based on this pathway are not likely to be exceeded under any reasonable scenario that might occur at OU 5. ۷

۲

۲

2

Inhalation of chemicals can occur if wind releases soil into the air as dust. However, this may not be a major release pathway for OU 5 because most of the ground is covered with vegetation or pavement and any exposed soils are wet or under snow cover for much of the year. The possibility that the air pathway could be of potential concern at OU 5 is evaluated using a screening procedure agreed to by the USAF, EPA, and ADEC project managers in the OU 5 *Management Plan*. OU 5 surface soil concentrations are used to estimate dust concentrations, assuming a particulate concentration (PM₁₀) equivalent to the federal annual standard of 50 μ g/m³ or the MOA measured data of 30 μ g/m³.

Exposure to Chemicals in Subsurface Soils. Chemicals have been detected in on-site subsurface soils. Receptors coming into contact with chemicals in subsurface soils may become exposed through incidental ingestion, skin contact, or inhalation of vapors. Because the major current or future land use for the areas occupied by and surrounding OU 5 is industrial, a plausible exposure scenario would be short-term exposure during excavations and trenching to repair or place utility lines or pipes. Potential receptors would be current or future short-term workers such as utility personnel. Exposures under this scenario would be expected to be infrequent (at most a few times per year).

While the primary exposure route would probably be incidental ingestion during work activities, exposure to some chemicals detected in subsurface soil at OU 5 can occur via absorption through unprotected skin, resulting in exposure. However, trench workers would likely wear protective clothing during excavation activities, limiting contact.

Elmandorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

The same uncertainties associated with calculated dermal exposures to surface soils also apply to subsurface soils.

(中)

۲

4;

Trench workers could, to some extent, be exposed to chemicals by inhalation of dusts or vapors. However, dusts are not likely to exist in trenches during short-term excavations because soils will probably be wet and relatively protected from wind. Some of the more volatile compounds could form vapors, making inhalation exposure possible. A conservative modeling approach is used to estimate risk based concentrations of volatiles in subsurface soils. Using the EPA guidance method and assumptions (EPA, 1991a), subsurface soil concentrations that could result in air concentrations for volatiles at target levels $(1 \times 10^4$ excess lifetime cancer risk for carcinogens and a hazard quotient [HQ] of unity for noncarcinogens) are calculated. Measured subsurface soil concentrations of VOCs are then compared to the calculated risk-based concentrations.

Exposure to Chemicals in Groundwater. Human exposure to chemicals in groundwater can occur through ingestion as drinking water, by dermal contact during bathing, etc., or by inhaling chemicals volatilized from water during showering, cooking, or other household activities.

Current Groundwater Use Conditions. The upper aquifer groundwater is not currently used for domestic or industrial uses on Elmendorf AFB and OU 5. Previous uses of the upper aquifer included fish production at the hatchery; however, low yield and suspected contamination resulted in the shallow wells being abandoned in the mid-1980s. A shallow base supply well, Well 1, was used as a backup for base drinking water until contamination forced the well to be shut down in the late 1980s. Well 1 is located upgradient of the OU 5 study area along Ship Creek. The MOA abandoned the use of shallow wells along Ship Creek in the 1940s due to contamination.

The lower aquifer is tapped by wells for drinking water supply in the Anchorage Bowl. Base Well 2 is in the OU 5 study area and serves as a backup supply for

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

ũ

cooling water at the power plant and for drinking water when other supplies are low. Base Well 52 is used seasonally at the golf course clubhouse for all domestic uses associated with the clubhouse and its restaurant. Four deep aquifer offbase wells were located in the industrial area downgradient of Elmendorf AFB during the water use survey. All four wells are apparently used by workers for drinking water but no residents or sensitive subgroups such as children or elderly persons use the water on a regular basis. Two of the offbase wells closest to Elmendorf AFB (Inlet and IGM companies) and base wells 2 and 52 were sampled as part of the RI. The only residences between the OU 5 pipelines and Ship Creek are located at the hatchery and are connected to Municipality of Anchorage drinking water supplies, not to on-site wells. The hatchery pumps water from two on-site wells screened into the lower aquifer for use in fish production.

Future Groundwater Use Conditions. Given the industrial land use that surrounds OU 5, industrial water supply wells might be constructed in the future. Personal use of this water is unlikely, however, because the area is connected to municipal water supplies and this arrangement will probably continue.

Groundwater modeling was not conducted for this human health evaluation, and current on-site concentrations in groundwater have been assumed to represent future concentrations in potential on-site wells. This could be a health-conservative assumption and may overestimate exposures, because groundwater chemical concentrations will probably decrease with time as the result of natural attenuation (migration and degradation). Barring any unanticipated future releases, contaminant concentrations in groundwater at OU 5 are not expected to increase because no ongoing releases or significant pockets of contaminated soil were encountered during the RI. In the 6 years (1986-1992) of investigations at OU 5, the concentration of contaminants in groundwater has remained in the low $\mu g/L$ range.

Exposure to Chemicals in Surface Water and Sediments. Chemicals have been detected in surface water and sediments in the OU 5 study area. Receptors coming in

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-28

હ

(

contact with chemicals in surface water or sediment may be exposed through incidental ingestion, skin contact, or inhalation of vapors.

6

The surface water in OU 5 primarily flows through the golf course or parkland as Ship Creek or occupies unused marshy habitat (beaver ponds) at the base of the bluff. No organized swimming occurs because of the cold water temperatures, shallow and swift water (Ship Creek), and the short summer season. Occasionally children will raft on the golf course beaver pond or harvest golf balls from the bottom of Ship Creek. Potential receptors are primarily children as recreationists. Exposure under a swimming scenario would be expected to be infrequent (for example, a couple of days per month in the summer), and military tours of duty would limit Elmendorf children to 5 years or less of exposure.

The inhalation of volatiles from surface water is expected to be a pathway of low concern for the following reasons:

- VOCs were detected in low (ppb) concentrations in the surface water.
- The VOCs are highly water soluble, hence are expected to remain dissolved in the water.
- The atmospheric temperatures are cold and the water is frozen approximately 6 months of the year, reducing volatilization of the compounds.
- The surface water is not in a confined space and the prevailing winds can be expected to mix the air above the ponds. Hence, any VOCs escaping into the air will be rapidly diluted.

Consequently, the risk of inhaling VOCs in surface water will not be quantified.

Miscellaneous Exposure Pathways. Two other exposure pathways, human consumption of contaminated fish and vegetables, are not quantified in this evaluation because neither is likely to be a completed pathway. No vegetable gardening currently takes place at OU 5. Future vegetable gardening is also unlikely because of MOA zoning restrictions and forecast land uses (Environmental Science & Engineering et al, 1991). The

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

land is also not suitable for agricultural purposes because of steep or unstable slopes or wetlands. Surface soil contamination was not encountered in areas suitable for the growth of wild berries or mushrooms. સ

1

Project managers from the USAF, EPA, and ADEC agreed in the OU 5 Management Plan to a phased approach to determining the influence of OU 5 contaminants on Ship Creek and its indigenous fish species. During the RI, Ship Creek was found to be free of organic contaminants. Hence, it is unlikely that OU 5 sources influence fish in Ship Creek. No fish tissue analyses, or human use surveys were conducted as part of the RI, and none are planned.

6.1.4.3 Estimation of Exposure Point Concentrations

Estimation Method. In order to estimate cancer and noncancer risks from possible exposures to media at OU 5, it is necessary to know concentrations of each chemical of potential concern at possible exposure points. Exposure point concentrations can be estimated by direct measurement of concentrations in the exposure medium at a potential point of contact, or by modeling chemical release and transport to a exposure point. For soil, groundwater, surface water, and sediment, this assessment used the direct measurement approach (actual analytic data were used to quantify risks). Inhalation exposures to contaminants in dust were estimated from sitewide detected concentrations as screening tool. Modeling chemical movement in these media was not considered appropriate because of data uncertainties (for example, source release rates and fates).

Where possible, pathways were first screened out using maximum sitewide concentrations or maximum subarea concentrations in each media and reasonable, conservative exposure scenarios. When this maximum screening approach demonstrated a Hazard Index greater than one or an excess lifetime cancer risk of greater than 10⁻⁶, as in the case of groundwater, exposure point concentrations were estimated for assumed average case and reasonable maximum case exposure settings.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Average case exposures represent exposures to arithmetic average concentrations at the site. Reasonable maximum exposure estimates, developed according to EPA guidance (1989b), represent the highest exposures that are reasonably expected to occur to site chemicals of potential concern. The concentrations used to estimate exposure under reasonable maximum exposure conditions were calculated as the 95% upper confidence limit of the arithmetic mean concentrations in a particular medium at a particular study subarea (EPA, 1992f). Ć

4

The detected concentrations plus one-half of the detection limits for the samples with nondetects are used to generate the averaging statistics. In instances in which the only detected values are below the detection limit (identified as J values), this procedure can result in averages and UCLs that are greater than the detected values at the site and their use in the risk assessment would be overly conservative. In this latter case, averages and UCLs are generated only with the detected values (EPA, 1989b).

In some data subgroups in which variability in the measured data is high due to small sample size, the UCLs on the average concentrations are above the maximum detected value. In these cases, the maximum detected concentration is used to estimate the reasonable maximum exposure concentration according to EPA guidance (EPA, 1989b). An example of this occurs in the upper aquifer groundwater data for the lower bluff subarea where the sample size is three.

All input concentrations and exposure parameters used in this risk assessment are shown in Appendix P.

Grouping of Data. Sampling data resulting from the RI were grouped according to study subareas for each medium of concern. Study subareas were determined by considering distinct geographic locations within OU 5.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Surface soils were taken from the zero to 2-foot depth. Subsurface soils were soils collected at greater than 2-foot depth. All soil metal concentrations were compared to background metals concentrations as described in Section 4.0. Background concentrations were not subtracted from analytical data that exceeded background comparisons when estimating exposure point concentrations. ۷

۲

۲

(م)

Groundwater samples were collected from monitoring wells screened at varying groundwater depths in the upper aquifer and from active supply wells screened into the lower, confined aquifer. The groundwater results were grouped into upper and lower aquifer. Upper aquifer samples were also divided into study subarea. Groundwater total metals for the lower aquifer were compared to regional (background) data (Section 4.3). Upper aquifer metals were compared to metals in samples collected from the upgradient subarea. Individual wells were assessed to determine the relative contribution of each well to the overall risk. A more complete description of the wells and depths to groundwater is given in Sections 2.1.5 and 3.3.

Sediment and surface water samples were grouped into three subareas. No background sediment or surface water sample was collected for comparison with pond samples. Upgradient surface water and sediment samples were collected for Ship Creek.

6.1.4.4 Quantification of Exposure

This section describes the calculation of chemical intakes for individual pathways of exposure, summarizes the assumptions that were made to estimate exposure, and describes the means used to estimate concentrations. Specific exposure equations, exposure parameters, and concentration values used in this risk assessment are found in Appendix P.

Estimation of Chemical Intake. Chronic exposure (chronic daily intake) is expressed in terms of milligrams of chemical contacting the body per kilogram body weight

6-32

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

per day (mg/kg/d). For the exposure routes evaluated, the following generic equation was used:

Exposure (mg/kg body weight/day) = $(C \times i \times F \times D)/(W \times T)$

Where:

С	=	Concentration of Chemical (for example, mg/kg soil)
I	-	Media Intake Rate (for example, kg soil ingested/day)
F	=	Exposure Frequency (days/year)
D		Exposure Duration (years)
W	-	Body Weight (kg)
Т	-	Averaging Time (period over which exposure is
		averaged, in days)

4)

This equation requires variables (exposure parameters) which are specific to a particular exposure scenario. Exposure parameters are usually estimated values. The reliability of the values chosen can also contribute substantially to the uncertainty of resulting risk estimates. Many of the exposure parameters assumed for OU 5 have default values that are used by convention. These assumptions, based on estimates of body weights, media intake levels, and exposure frequencies and durations, are provided by EPA guidance (1989a, 1989b; 1991b), and in EPA Region 10 guidance (EPA, 1991d). Other assumptions (for example, for the subsurface trenching scenario) required consideration of location-specific information and were determined using professional judgment.

Reasonable Maximum Exposure Case. EPA guidance states that actions at Superfund sites should be based on an estimate of the RME expected to occur under both current and future land use conditions. The RME is defined as the "highest exposure that is reasonably expected to occur at a site" (EPA, 1989b). The intent of the RME scenario is to estimate a conservative exposure case (that is, well above the average case) that is still within the range of possibilities. Many of the exposure parameters used to estimate RME are upper confidence limit values.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Average Case Exposure. EPA has recently stated the need for providing risk information that includes both the average and the high end RME portions of the risk distribution (EPA, 1992c). Presentation of the plausible range of risks allows risk management decisions to incorporate the relative uncertainty in the risk estimates. Thus, this human health evaluation assesses exposures under both RME and more likely "average" exposure conditions. The average case exposure assumptions largely represent the 50th percentile values within the population.

The exposure assumptions used to estimate potential RME and average case exposures to chemicals of potential concern at OU 5 are summarized in Tables 6-6 through 6-9 for the subsurface soil, surface soil, groundwater, surface water, sediment, and air pathways. The exposure assumptions used in preliminary maximum screens were the same as the RME exposure assumptions. The exposure estimates (in terms of chronic daily intakes) for each of the chemicals of concern in each sample, derived using the estimated exposure point concentrations (discussed below), are given on the risk calculation data sheets in Appendix P.

In spite of the uncertainties inherent to estimates of exposure by dermal absorption, this exposure pathway has been evaluated using highly conservative assumptions. This approach is intended to provide an upper bound estimate of exposure by dermal absorption. Thus, risk estimates based on the dermal absorption pathway are not likely to be exceeded under any reasonable scenario that might occur at OU 5.

The dermal absorption efficiency for soils and sediment assumed the following values:

- Six percent for semivolatile organic compounds based on the value reported for PCBs (EPA, 1992a);
- One percent for metals based on the value reported for cadmium (EPA, 1992a); and
- Fifty percent for VOAs based on best judgment. (No published values exist.)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report, 01/26/94 6-34

Exposure Assumptions for Subsurface Soil Pathways

Renthered Rentedure	Ressonable Maximum
Exposed Individual	Trench Worker
Body Weight (kg)	70*
Soil Ingestion Rate (mg/day)	480 ⁶
Exposed Skin Surface Area (cm ²)	5000°
Soil to Skin Adherence Factor (mg/cm ²)	1.0*
Days/year Exposed	244
Years Exposed	54

⁴ Source: EPA, 1991b ⁵ Source: EPA, 1991d ⁶ Source: EPA, 1991d ⁷ Source: EPA, 1992a

4 Source: Personal com stion from Rossenne Lorenzane, EPA, Region 10, to Dennis Shelton, CH2M Hill, 1992.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-35

۲

۲

۲

۲

3

۲

Õ

۲

۱

Exposure Assumptions for Surface Soil Pathways

Tapasare Parameters	Ressonable Maximum Exposure	Average
Exposed Individual	Resident	Resident
Body Weight (kg)	15 (0-буг) 70 (>буг)*	704
Soil Ingestion Rate (mg/day)	200 (0-буг) 100 (>буг)*	1004
Dust Inhalation Rate (M ³ /day)	20	20
Particulate Concentration (µg/M ³)	50°, 30°	50°, 30°
Exposed Skin Surface Area (cm ²)	5,800°	5,000°
Soil-to-Skin Adherence Factor (mg/cm ²)	1.0°	0.2°
Days/year Exposed (Ingestion and Inhalation)	350*	275 ⁴
Days/Year Exposed (Dermal)	350*	40°
Years Exposed	30*	9ª

Source: EPA, 1991b
 Source: National Annual Ambient Air Quality Standard, 36 FR 22384
 Source: EPA, 1992a
 Source: EPA, 1991d
 Source: MOA PM₁₀ data obtained from Mr. Lawrence Taylor.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

٢

۲

۲

۲

Exposure Assumptions for Groundwater Pathways

	Barp	tanra Cias
Espense Parameters	Average Case	Rommeble Meximum Expanse
Exposed Individual	Resident	Resident
Body Weight (kg)	70 °	70*
Ingestion Rate (L/day)	1.4	2ª
Inhalation Rate (M ³ /day)	15*	15*
Exposed Skin Surface Area (cm ²)	20,000°	23,000 ^e
Days/Year Exposed	275*	350*
Time in Water (min/day)	10°	15°
Years Exposed	94	30*

⁶ Source: EPA, 1991b ⁶ Source: EPA, 1989a ⁶ Source: EPA, 1992a ⁴ Source: EPA, 1991d

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

۲

۲

۲

Exposure Assumptions for Surface Water and Sediment Pathways

Esperant Perceptions	Resconde Maximum Exposure	
Exposed Individual	Recreational User	
Body Weight (kg)	35°	
Surface Water Ingestion Rate (L/day)	0.05*	
Sediment Ingestion Rate (mg/day)	100*	
Exposed Skin Surface Area for Water (cm ²)	10,000•	
Time in Water (min/day)	60*	
Exposed Skin Surface Area for Sediment (cm ²)	3,900*	
Sediment to Skin Adherence Factor (mg/cm ²)	1.0°	
Days/Year Exposed	264	
Years Exposed	5*	

* Bost judgment * Source: EPA, 1989a * Source: EPA, 1992a

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

For dermal contact with groundwater and surface water, the estimated chemical-specific skin permeability constants were as listed in Table 5-8 of EPA guidance on dermal exposure (1992a). For chemicals for which no estimated values exist (for example, JP-4), the permeability constant for water $(1.6 \times 10^4 \text{ cm/hr})$ was used.

Exposure of potential receptors to the contaminants of concern at OU 5 was quantified for estimating human health risks by the following exposure routes:

• Oral ingestion of surface and subsurface soils, sediments, surface, and groundwater;

۲

(

- Inhalation of organics that volatilize during domestic use (showering) of groundwater and of particulates from surface soil; and
- Dermal absorption of surface and subsurface soils, surface and groundwater, and sediments.

6.1.4.5 Uncertainties Related to Exposure Estimation

Uncertainties in risk characterization of exposure assessment include assumptions about future land and groundwater use, sample collection and analyses, and chemical intake.

Future land uses at OU 5 are likely to remain industrial off base and a mixture of residential, industrial, and recreational onbase. Use of the upper aquifer for potable water is not likely due to the availability of public water sources and the low yield of the upper aquifer beneath OU 5. Exposure estimates for groundwater were quantified to provide a frame of reference for risk management decision making.

Uncertainties associated with sampling and analyses include the inherent variability (standard error) in the analysis, representativeness of the samples, sampling errors, and heterogeneity of the sample matrix. While the QA/QC program used in the RI serves to reduce these errors, it cannot eliminate all errors associated with sampling and

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
analyses. The degree to which sample collection and analyses reflect real exposure point concentrations will determine the reliability of resulting risk estimates. Many of the sample data used for this assessment were generated from samples collected at known or suspected source areas, rather than randomly. Since exposure is not likely to be limited solely to higher concentration areas, risk estimates for these areas may be conservatively high. This assessment made the simplifying assumption that media concentrations remain constant over the duration of exposure, specifically, that no chemical loss or transformation occurs in the future. This assumption may also result in conservative risk estimates. ٧

۲

۲

4).

The estimation of exposure required numerous assumptions to describe potential exposure situations. The use of upper bound exposure assumptions to estimate RME exposures provides a bounding estimate on exposure. The use of average exposure parameters in estimation of exposure allows accounting for some of the uncertainties due to use of reasonable maximum exposure assumptions.

6.1.5 Public Health Risk Characterization

The approach used to develop the human health risk estimates is summarized in this section. A quantitative risk characterization is presented for the OU 5 media of concern under the assumed exposure settings described in Section 6.1.4, Exposure Assessment. Cancer and noncancer risks associated with the potential site exposures are evaluated. The estimation of risks is based on the assumption that contaminant concentrations and intake levels are constant.

6.1.5.1 Noncancer Effects Risk Characterization

For noncancer effects, risks were estimated by comparing the predicted level of exposure for a particular chemical to the highest level of exposure that is considered protective (its RfD). The ratio of exposure divided by RfD is termed the hazard quotient (HQ):

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

HQ = exposure/RfD

3

◙

۲

4)

When the HQ for a chemical exceeds 1 (exposure exceeds RfD) there is a concern for potential noncancer health effects. To assess the potential for noncancer effects posed by exposure to multiple chemicals, a hazard index (HI) approach was used according to EPA guidance (1986c). This approach assumes additivity and does not account for synergistic or antagonistic effects. When two or more chemicals in the same sample have HQs less than one, but the aggregate sum of HQs, the HI, exceeds one, the potential for health effects exists if the chemicals act by the same toxicologic mechanism.

6.1.5.2 Cancer Risk Characterization

The potential for cancer effects is evaluated by estimating excess lifetime cancer risk. Excess lifetime cancer risk is the incremental increase in the probability of developing cancer over one's lifetime over the background probability of developing cancer (if no exposure to site chemicals occurs). For example, a 1×10^{-6} excess lifetime cancer risk means that for every 1 million people exposed to the carcinogen throughout their lifetimes, the average incidence of cancer may increase by one case of cancer. The background probability of developing cancer is about one in four.

As previously mentioned, cancer slope factors developed by the EPA represent upper bound estimates, so any cancer risks generated in this assessment should be regarded as upper bounds on the potential cancer risks rather than accurate representations of true cancer risk. The true cancer risk is likely to be less than that predicted (EPA, 1989b). For OU 5, excess lifetime cancer risks were estimated using the following formula:

risk = cancer slope factor \times exposure (or intake)

Although synergistic or antagonistic interactions might occur between cancercausing chemicals and other chemicals, information is generally lacking in the toxicological

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

literature to quantitatively predict the effects of these potential interactions. Therefore, cancer risks were treated as additive within an exposure route in this assessment. This is consistent with the current EPA guidelines on chemical mixtures (1986c).

સ

6.1.5.3 Quantitative Risk Estimation

The potential risks associated with OU 5 are quantified in this section. Based on the analysis of exposure pathways presented earlier in this assessment, the potential current and future risks for the site are characterized and described in this section for each particular medium of concern. Descriptions are limited primarily to the maximum screen and RME risk estimates. Average case risks are also provided in the summary tables when RME estimates did not screen out the pathway. Detailed risk tables listing individual chemical risks and percentage contributions to total risk are contained in Appendix P.

Subsurface Soil Exposure Pathways

Short-term worker risks are independently quantified for subsurface soils in six study subareas. Table 6-10 summarizes the risk estimates for ingestion and dermal absorption of subsurface soils. The estimates use maximum chemical concentrations in each subarea in order to eliminate subsurface soil exposure as a pathway of concern.

No HI values exceed 1.0. The maximum on-site excess lifetime cancer risk is 4×10^{-7} for subsurface soil ingestion in the lower bluff subarea.

To evaluate the possibility of exposure to short-term workers by inhalation of vapors in trenches, a conservative modelling approach is used to estimate risk-based concentrations of VOCs in subsurface soils. Using the EPA guidance method and assumptions (EPA, 1991a), subsurface soil concentrations that could result in air concentrations for volatiles at target risk levels (1 x 10^4 excess cancer risk for carcinogens, HQ of unity for noncarcinogens) are calculated. Of the four VOCs that could be modelled in subsurface

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

é

۲

Ć

.

			Noncase	er Effects	6	e Diffects
Study Suburves	Exposed budytheat (carrent and future)	Exposure Setting*	Noncancer Hazard Index	Risk- Contributing Chemicals	Ences Lifetime Cancer Risk	Biston Contributing Chamicals
Upgradient	Trench Worker	Incidental Ingestion	<0.01	NA	3 x 10°	NA
		Dermal Absorption	<0.01	NA	2 x 10 ⁴	NA
		Additive Risk	<0.01	NA	5 x 10 ⁴	NA
Pipeline Corridor	Trench Worker	Incidental Ingestion	0.01	NA	2 x 10 ¹¹	NA
		Dermal Absorption	<0.01	NA	1 x 10 ¹⁰	NA
		Additive Risk	0.02	NA	1 x 10 ¹⁰	NA
Lower Bluff	Trench Worker	Incidental Ingestion	0.02	NA	4 x 10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Dermal Absorption	<0.01	NA	1 x 10 ⁴	NA
		Additive Risk	0.02	NA	4 x 10 ⁷	NA
Post Road Corridor	Trench Worker	Incidental Ingestion	<0.01	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Absorption	<0.01	NA	ND	NA
		Additive Risk	< 0.01	NA	ND	NA
Golf Course	Trench Worker	Incidental Ingestion	ND	NA	ND	NA
Beaver Pond	•	Dermal Absorption	ND	NA	ND	NA
		Additive Risk	ND	NA	ND	NA
Wasto Paint Tank	Trench Worker	Incidental Ingestion	<0.01	NA	4 x 10 ⁻¹⁰	NA
		Dermal Absorption	<0.01	NA	3 x 10 ¹⁰	NA
		Additive Risk	<0.01	NA	7 x 10 ¹⁰	NA

Summary of Maximum Risk Screening Estimates for Subsurface Soils*

The estimated risks are for current or future utility workers who spend 24 days per year for 5 years working in trenches exposed to maximum consecutations of contaminants in subsurface soils. Exposure assumptions are shown in Table 6-5.
 Inhelation of vapors in trenches is discussed in text. Additive risk equals the sum of the ingestion and dermal risks.
 Risk-contributing chemicals are listed only when the excess lifetime cancer risk exceeds 1x10⁴ or when the Hazard Index exceeds 0.5. NA = Not applicable.
 ND = No applicable chemicals detected.

6-43

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

soils, risk-based concentrations are estimated to be 1.75 mg/kg for benzene, 19,300 mg/kg for ethylbenzene, 3,820 mg/kg for toluene, and 2,570 mg/kg for xylenes. None of the subsurface soil concentrations at OU 5 exceed these risk-based levels. The highest concentrations detected are 0.2 mg/kg benzene, 0.660 mg/kg ethylbenzene, 0.510 mg/kg toluene, and 9.3 mg/kg xylenes. These results suggest that inhalation of BTEX in trenches is a pathway of low concern.

(4

Surface Soil Exposure Pathways

Risk estimates are calculated for residential receptors exposed to surface soils via incidental ingestion and dermal absorption. Currently residents are only found in the upgradient subarea; therefore, estimates for the other subareas are for future residents over a lifetime. Table 6-11 summarizes the risk estimates for surface soils. The estimates first used maximum chemical concentrations in each subarea to eliminate surface soil ingestion and dermal absorption as pathways of concern.

Risks were recalculated using UCL and average concentrations if the sum of the maximum screening estimates for ingestion and dermal absorption exceed an HI of 1.0 or an excess lifetime cancer risk of 1×10^4 . Only the lower bluff subarea exceeded those criteria. The additive RME estimate for the HI for the lower bluff area was less than unity.

The maximum excess lifetime cancer risk for ingestion is $1 \ge 10^4$ for the lower bluff subarea. The risk was recalculated using UCL and average concentrations, yielding an excess lifetime cancer risk for ingestion of $6 \ge 10^5$ for the RME exposure case and $4 \ge 10^4$ for the average exposure case. Approximately 76% of the RME cancer risk in the lower bluff subarea is contributed by metals (arsenic 69%; beryllium 7%). The remaining 24% of the cancer risk is contributed by PAHs. The PAHs concentrations are estimated values found below the detection limit in one sample (SB29-00A); however, no PAHs were detected in that sample's field duplicate (SB29-00). Although the subarea maximum arsenic concentration was greater than the background screening levels, the

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

ĕ

€

1

٩

Summary of Risk Estimates for Surface Soils*

			Neacan	er Effects	Carriers	200as
Statip Scherten		Exposure Setting*	Nonconcer Hassard Tades	Risk- Contributing Chemicals	Excess Lifetime Cancer Risk	Risk- Contributing Chemicals*
Upgradient	Current Resident	Incidental Ingestion	NS	NA	NS	NA
		Dermal Absorption	NS	NA	NS	NA
Pipeline Corridor	Future Resident	Incidental Ingestion	ND	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Absorption	ND	NA	ND	NA
Lower Bluff	Future Resident	Incidental Ingestion	1.0 MAX 0.4 RME 0.07 AVE	Arsenic (43%) Barium (18%) TFH dicect (22%)	1x10 ⁴ MAX 7x10 ⁵ RME 4x10 ⁴ AVE	Arsenic (69%) PAHs (24%) Beryllium (7%)
		Dermal Absorption	0.6 MAX 0.2 RME 0.002 AVE	TFH diesel (61%) Arsenic (20%) Barium (8%)	2x10 ⁵ MAX 9x10 ⁴ RME 4x10 ⁴ AVE	Arsenic (85%) Beryllium (10%) TFH gas (5%)
		Additive Risk	2. MAX 0.6 RME 0.07 AVE	NA	1x10 ⁻⁴ MAX 8x10 ⁻⁵ RME 4x10 ⁻⁶ AVE	NA
Post Road Corridor	Future Resident	Incidental Ingestion	0.1 MAX	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Absorption	0.03 MAX	NA	ND	NA
		Additive Risk	0.1 MAX	NA	ND	NA
Golf Course Boever	Future Resident	Incidental Ingestion	0.05 MAX	NA	ND	NA
Pond		Dermal Absorption	0.03 MAX	NA	ND	NA
		Additive Risk	0.08 MAX	NA	ND	NA

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Suit	Bayrood Baylaidaul	Exposure Section	Nescuster Nescuster Bissord Today	ne Effects Rich- Contribution	Constitu Roman Lifetime Constan Histo	Riflects Rifle- Castaficating
Waste Paint Tank	Puture Resident	Incidental Ingestion	NS	NA	NS	NA
		Dermal Absorption	NS	NA	NS	NA

* The estimated risks are for a residential setting over a lifetime. Residents currently live only in the upgradient subares. Exposure assumptions are shown in Table 6-7.

Exposure Cases:

MAX = maximum concentrations used to estimate risks as a screening approach

RME = reasonable maximum exposure case

AVE = average case

* Inhalation of volatiles and particulates from surface soil is discussed under the Air Pathway and associated risks are shown in Table 6-14.

Additive risk equals the sum of the ingestion and dermal risks. • Value in parentheses is the percent contribution to the total pathway risk estimate. The percentages are for the RME estimated risk. A value is listed only when any excess lifetime cancer risk exceeds 1x10^d or when any HI exceeds 0.5.

NS = No samples at this location. ND = No applicable chemicals detected. NA = Not applicable.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-46

•

E

۲

subarea UCL and average concentrations would have been screened out. Consequently, the RME and average case risk estimates for excess lifetime cancer risks are equivalent to background risks for metals.

(4)

(+)

No HI for dermal absorption exceeds 1.0. The maximum case excess lifetime cancer risk for dermal absorption is 2×10^{-5} in the lower bluff subarea; the RME case is 9×10^{-6} , and the average case is 1×10^{-6} . Approximately 95% of the cancer risk is contributed by metals.

Residents currently live in the upgradient subarea north of 2nd Street and on fish hatchery leases next to the Post Road corridor. No surface soil samples were collected from the upgradient subarea, which is largely covered by lawns or pavement with little exposed surface soils. The residential exposure scenario applies the most conservative exposure assumptions (see Table 6-7) used in risk assessments. Actual exposure to surface soils at OU 5 may be much less: examples, military families' tours of duty seldom exceed 5 years (not the 30 years used in assumptions) on Elmendorf AFB and the ground surface is free of snow only about 6 months of the year (not 350 days). The lower bluff subarea was the only area where the excess lifetime cancer risk for ingestion and dermal exposure exceeded 1×10^4 . This subarea is unlikely to be used for residences because of unstable, steep bluffs and wetlands. Consequently, the residential scenario is highly conservative and the actual risk because of future exposure to chemicals in surface soils may be much less than estimated.

Inhalation of chemicals released to the ambient air from surface soils is considered in the Air Pathways subsection.

Groundwater Exposure Pathways

For the groundwater pathways, risk estimates are developed for potential future residential ingestion, inhalation, and dermal exposures to the upper aquifer ground-

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

water. No residential or industrial potable water wells draw water from the upper aquifer in the OU 5 study area. For the lower aquifer, the risk estimates apply to both current and future residential scenarios. Risks are estimated for each subarea for the upper aquifer, for the pooled sample data for the lower aquifer, and for individual monitoring wells. Ingestion, inhalation (during showering), and dermal (during showering) exposure routes are evaluated. Risks are calculated by using the metals data from the December 1992 sampling effort, and not from the August 1992 sampling effort. ٣

۲

4)

Groundwater Risks for Study Subareas and Lower Aquifer: Risk estimates are summarized in Table 6-12.

No HI for inhalation or dermal absorption during showering exceeds 1.0 for residents under RME conditions. The highest risk estimates for RME excess lifetime cancer risks for future residents through inhalation during showering is 2×10^{-5} at the pipeline corridor subarea and 1×10^{-5} at the lower bluff subarea and the upgradient subarea. Benzene contributed 100% to the inhalation risk estimated in the lower bluff subarea. TCE contributed 100% to the inhalation risk estimated in the pipeline corridor and upgradient subareas. The highest risk for future residents as the result of dermal absorption during showering is 5×10^{-7} in the lower bluff subarea. The dermal absorption risks are due largely to metals.

A potential future ingestion of groundwater from the upper unconfined aquifer constitutes the highest estimated health risks for OU 5. HI estimates for ingestion of groundwater exceed 1.0 under RME case conditions for the upper aquifer in the lower bluff subarea. Metals are the largest contributor to the overall risk, followed by TFH diesel. Arsenic and manganese contribute to the risk at the lower bluff.

The RME excess lifetime cancer risks for ingestion of groundwater from the upper aquifer by future residents range from 3×10^4 at the waste paint tank, Post Road

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5

Summary of Risk Estimates for Groundwater

					Noncancer Eff	ects		Can	icer Effects
			 	Noncance	er Hazard Index		Excess Cany	Lifetime er Risk	
Aquifer	Study Subareas	Exposed Individual	Exposure Setting	Average Case	Reasonable Maximum Case	Risk- Contributing Chemicals*	A verage Case	Rensonable Maximum Case	Riek-Contributing Chemicals*
Upper	Upgradient	Future Resident	Ingestion	0.1	0.4	VN	1 x 10 ⁴	1 x 10 ⁵	1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethense (67%) TCE (23%) TFH gas (8%)
			Inhalation (Showering)	<0.01	10.0>	VN	1 x 10*	1 x 10 ⁻⁵	TCE (100%)
			Dermal (Showering)	<0.01	10.0>	VN	3 x 10 ⁴	4 x 10 ⁻⁷	VN
_			Additive Risk	0.1	0.4	VN	2 x 10 ⁶	2 x 10 ⁵	VN
	Pipeline Corridor	Future Resident	Ingestion	0.4	0.7	Manganese (60%) TFH diesel (32%) Other metals (8%)	3 х 10'	5 x 10 ⁴	TCE (91 %) N-nitrosodiphenylamine (6 %)
			Inhalation (Showering)	QN	DN	VN	1 x 10*	2 x 10 ⁵	TCE (100%)
			Dermal (Showering)	< 0.01	<0.01	VN	1 x 10 ⁴	2 x 10'	VN
			Additive Risk	0.4	0.7	٩N	1 x 10 ⁴	3 x 10 ⁵	۲Z

٢

ı

ŧ

ŧ

ł

•

•

)

)

•

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(Continued)

					Noncancer Eff	ects		Can	cer Effects
				Noncance	r Hazard Index		Excent Cany	i Lifetime ter Risk	
Aquifer	Study Subarras	Exposed Individual	Exposure Setting	Average Case	Reasonable Maximum Case	Risk- Contributing Chemicals*	A verage Case	Rensonable Maximum Case	Riek-Contributing Chemicals*
Upper (Cont'd)	Lower Bluff	Future Resident	Ingestion	0.8	3	Mangancee (39%) TFH diceel (32%) Arsenic (16%)	1 x 10 ⁵	1 x 10 ⁴	Arnenic (88%) TFH gas (10%)
			Inhalation (Showering)	0.02	0.05	VN	1 x 10 ⁴	1 x 10 ⁵	Benzene (100%)
			Dermal (Showering)	<0.01	10.0>	VN	4 x 10 ⁶	5 x 10 ⁷	NA
			Additive Risk	0.8	3	٧N	1 x 10 ⁵	1 x 10 ⁴	NN
	Post Road Corridor	Future Resident	Ingestion	0.2	0.5	۷N	3 x 10 ⁻⁷	3 x 10*	TFH gas (90%) Benzene (4%)
			Inhalation (Showering)	ŊŊ	QN	VN	9 x 10 ⁴	5 x 10'	NA
			Dermal (Showering)	< 0.01	< 0.01	VN	9 x 10' ¹⁰	1 x 10 ⁴	NA
			Additive Risk	0.2	0.5	VN	4 x 10 ⁷	4 x 10 ⁴	۲N

۲

ی انگان کی

.

b

•

Exmenderf AFB OU 5 RJ/PS Report

Table 6-12 (Continued)

5

					Noncancer Effe	xts		Cau	cer Effects
				Noncance	r Hazard Index		Excess	: Lifetime er Rick	
Aquifer	Study Subarcas	Expand Individual	Exposure Setting	Average Case	Reesonable Maximum Case	Risk- Contributing Chemicals*	Average Case	Remonable Maximum Case	Rick-Contributing Chemicals
Upper (Cont'd)	Golf Course Beaver Pond	Future Resident	Ingestion	0.02	0.08	VN	2 x 10'	3 x 10°	TFH gas (84%) TCE (10%) Benzone (6%)
			Inhalation (Showering)	ŊŊ	QN	VN	4 x 10 ⁷	2 x 10*	TCE (63%) Bearene (37%)
			Dermal (Showering)	<0.01	10.0>	VN	2 x 10°	2 x 10 ⁴	VN
			Additive Risk	0.02	0.08	VN	6 x 10'	5 x 10*	N
	Waste Paint Tank	Future Resident	Ingestion	0.02	0.03	VN	5 x 107	3 x 10*	bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (100%)
			Inhalation (Showering)	< 0.01	<0.01	VN	QN	Ŋ	VN
			Dermal (Showering)	< 0.01	<0.01	VN	2 x 10"	2 x 10*	NA
			Additive Risk	0.02	0.03	VN	5 x 10 ⁷	3 x 10 ⁶	۲N

٢

۲

۲

۲

,

h

1

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(Continued)

			·		Noncancer Effe	acts.		Can	ar Effects
				Noncance	r Hazard Index		Excens Canc	Lifetime er Risk	
Aquifer	Study Subarreas	Exposed Individual	Exposure Setting	Average Case	Reasonable Maximum Case	Risk- Contributing Chemicals*	Average Case	Reneonable Maximum Case	Rish-Centributing Chemicals
Lower	Drinking	Current	Ingestion	QN	QN	NA	QN	DN	VN
	Water Wells	Resident	Inhalation (Showering)	ŊŊ	QN	NA	QN	QN	NA
			Dermal (Showering)	QN	Ŋ	VN	QN	Q	VN

The estimated risks are for a future residential setting over a lifetime. There is no current domestic water use of the upper aquifer. Additive risk equals the area of the ingention, inhalution, and dermal risks.

Value in parentheses is the percent contribution to the total pathway risk estimate, for reasonable maximum exposure conditions. A value is listed when the excess lifetime cancer risk exceeds
 1 x 10⁴ or when the HI exceeds 0.5.
 ND = No applicable chemicals detected.
 NA = Not applicable.

٢

۲

۲

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

corridor, and golf course beaver pond subareas to $1 \ge 10^4$ at the lower bluff subarea. Arsenic contributed 88 percent of the risk for ingestion in the lower bluff subarea.

The RME additive risks exceeded an HI of 1.0 and equaled an excess lifetime cancer risk of 1×10^4 at the lower bluff subarea. For all other subareas, the additive risks were less than the criteria. The ingestion route provided most of the additive risk.

٣

۲

4)

Arsenic is a contributor to the calculated risk values at the lower bluff area. Background levels of metals were not subtracted from the risk calculations. The maximum concentration for arsenic in the lower bluff area was 0.0054 mg/L. In comparison, well MW02 in the upgradient subarea, which had an arsenic concentration of 0.0018 mg/L, would have an estimated excess lifetime cancer risk of 4×10^{-5} and a hazard quotient of 0.2. Consequently, at least 40 percent of the excess lifetime cancer risk at the lower bluff area probably results from background levels of arsenic. The organic contaminants contribute approximately 10^{-6} to 10^{-5} to the RME excess lifetime cancer risk for future residents exposed to upper aquifer groundwater in all subareas of OU 5.

The risk estimates produced for the upper aquifer are for a future residential scenario over a lifetime. This is a highly conservative scenario. It is very unlikely that the upper aquifer at OU 5 will ever be used for domestic purposes because of low yield and the availability of municipal or military water supplies from other sources.

No contaminants of concern above background levels were detected in the lower aquifer.

Groundwater Risks from Individual Wells: The estimated noncancer and cancer risks (RME only) for individual monitoring well samples for ingestion, inhalation, and dermal absorption are shown in Table 6-13. Figure 6-1 shows the additive risks. The risks are based on only one sampling event per well.

6-53

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

۷

۲

۲

۲

1

			Nescence	r Billocis	Cancer	- Reflects
1]	Na B Na	Laite	Nessioner Baurd Luige: Researchis Machines Case	Ris- Cust Solice Custoff	Karan Lifetan Canor Ride Researchis Machines Can	Bia- Castlation Constant
Upgradient	OUSMW02	Ingestion	ND	NA	7x10 ⁷	NA
		Inhalation	ND	NA	3x10 ⁻⁶	TCE (100%)
		Dermal Contact	ND	NA	3x10 ⁻⁸	NA
		Additive Risks	ND	NA	4x10-4	NA
	OUSMW03	Ingestion	0.3	NA	3x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Inheletice	ND	NA	ND	NA
0		Dermal Contact	0.0001	NA	2x10 ¹⁰	NA
		Additive Risks	0.3	NA	3x10 ⁻⁷	NA
	OU5MW04 In In I	Ingestion	0.4	NA	3x10 ⁷	NA
		Inhelation	ND	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Contact	0.0002	NA	2x10 ⁻¹⁰	NA
		Additive Risks	0.4	NA	3x10 ⁻⁷	NA
	OU5MW06	Ingestion	0.01	NA	9x10*	TCE (78%) TFH Gas (20%)
		Inhelation	0.005	NA	3x10 ⁻⁵	TCE (100%)
		Dermal Contact	0.00007	NA	3x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Additive Risks	0.02	NA	4x10 ⁻⁵	NA

Summary of Risk Estimates for Individual Monitoring Wells

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-54

.

(Continued)

			Nessee	r Effects	Cancer	
Shudy Subara	Wet ID No.*	Engennen Satting*	Nonconcer Round Indes: Researchie Machanan Case	Right- Constituting Classicalit	Roome Lifetice Charge Risk: Recorded Machings Case	Rist- Constituting Chandicals
	OU5MW07	Ingestion	ND	NA	2x10 ⁻³	1,1,2,2- Tetrachloro- ethane (91%) TCE (9%)
Upgradient	OU5MW07	Inhelation	ND	NA	7x104	TCE (100%)
		Dormal Contact	ND	NA	6x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Additive Riaks	ND	NA	3x10 ⁻⁵	NA
Waste Paint Tank	OU5MW11	Ingestion	0.03	NA	3x10 ⁻⁶	Bis(2- ethylhexyl)- phthalate (100%)
		Inhalation	0.0005	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Contect	0.00005	NA	2x10*	NA
		Additive Risks	0.03	NA	3x10⁴	NA
Pipeline Corridor	SP1-02	Ingestion	0.5	Manganese (88%) Vanadium (5%) Barium (3%)	4x10 ⁻⁶	TCE (100%)
		Inhelation	ND	NA	2x10 ⁻⁵	TCE (100%)
-		Dermal Contect	0.001	NA	2x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Additive Risks	0.5	NA	2x10 ⁻³	NA
	SP2/6-05	Ingestion	0.2	NA	ND	NA
		Inhalation	ND	NA	ND	NA

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-55

•

9

•

٢

۲

Õ

۲

(Continued)

				r Millecta	Cancer Russel I. Rubber	2Mada
	WED Sk.		Anno 1 Judge Research 10 Martines (Can	Nito- Caratellaritag Charatellarit		Rido- Castributing Chemicals
		Dermal Contact	0.0001	NA	ND	NA
		Additive Risks	0.2	NA	ND	NA
Lower Bluff	SP 1-01	Ingestion	3	Manganese (40%) TFH diesel (32%) Areenic (16%)	1x10 ⁻⁴	Arsenic (88%) TFH gas (10%) Bonzone (2%)
		Inhalation	0.05	NA	1x10 ^s	Benzene (100%)
		Dermal Contact	0.009	NA	5x10 ⁻⁷	NA
	0110 0114	Additive Risks	3	NA	1x104	NA
	OU5MW16A	Ingestion	0.9	Manganese (62%) Arsenic (23%) Barium (7%)	6x10 ⁻⁵	Arsenic (90%) TFH gas (8%) Benzene (8%)
		Inhalation	0.01	NA	5x104	Benzene (100%)
		Dermal Contact	0.002	NA	2x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Additive Rieks	0.9	NA	7x10 ⁻³	NA
	OU5MW15	Ingestion	0.2	NA	2x10 ⁻⁵	Arsonic (\$4%) TFH gas (5%)
		Inhelation	0.0007	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Contact	0.0004	NA	5x10 ⁴	NA
		Additive Risks	0.2	NA	2x10 ⁻⁵	NA

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-56

Ċ

(

4

V.

U

6

(d

\$

(Continued)

		B			Constant Rocking (1998) Constant Rocking (1997) Rocking (1997)	Elles Tax
				.		
Post Road Corridor	OU5MW13	Ingestion	0.3	NA	5x104	TFH gas (96%) Benzene (4%)
		Inhalation	ND	NA	8x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Dermal Contact	0.0001	NA	1x10 ⁴	NA
		Additive Risks	0.3	NA	6x10 ⁻⁴	NA
	OU5MW09	Ingestion	0.6	1FH dicsel (100%)	2x10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Inhalation	ND	NA	ND	NA
		Dermal Contact	0.0003	NA	8x10 ⁻¹¹	NA
Golf Course Berver	gw4a	Additive Risks	0.6	NA	2x10-7	NA
		Ingestion	0.2	NA	6x104	TFH gas (90%) TCE (6%) Benzene (5%)
Pond		Inhelation	ND	NA	2x104	TCE (53 %) Benzene (47 %)
		Dermal Contact	0.00007	NA	3x10 ⁴	NA
		Additive Risks	0.2	NA	8x10*	NA

Monitoring wells with both an additive HI of less than 0.01 and an additive excess lifetime cancer risk of less than 10⁶ are not shown in this table. Bick estimates for all wells are found in Appendix P.
 Additive risk equals the seas of the ingestion, inhibition, and early risk.
 Value in paratheses is the percent contribution to the total pathway risk estimate, for reasonable maximum exposure conditions. A value is listed when the excess lifetime.
 Value is listed when the excess lifetime.
 NA = No applicable chemicals detected.
 ND = Not applicable per floatnotes a and b.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٠



6-58

á

Ċ





Č

6

1

U

The only individual well to have an HI greater than 1.0 is SP101 in the lower bluff subarea. The excess lifetime cancer risk for well SP101 is 1×10^4 . All other wells have excess lifetime cancer risks of less than 1×10^4 .

۷

Inhalation (Air) Exposure Pathways

Noncancer and excess lifetime cancer risks for dust inhalation are estimated under future residential exposure over a lifetime, and are shown in Table 6-14. The risk estimates were generated using very conservative assumptions. The actual risks are probably much less for the reasons discussed in the following paragraphs.

Upper bound dust concentrations are first estimated using maximum sitewide surface soil concentrations, assuming a PM_{10} equivalent to the federal annual standard of 50 $\mu g/m^3$. The federal standard is very conservative, because local PM_{10} measurements for the MOA show a mean of annual averages from 1986 through 1990 of 22.9 $\mu g/m^3$, and a range of 17.1 to 31.3 $\mu g/m^3$ over the 5 years². Consequently, the upper bound risk may be less than 60 percent of the estimated value using the federal annual standard and is recalculated using 30 $\mu g/m^3$. It is also highly unlikely that the measured PM_{10} would entirely come from OU 5 sources; instead it likely is contributed to by other regional sources such as glacial flour and road dust.

Currently residents live only in the upgradient subareas. The sitewide surface soil concentrations that contributed to the inhalation risk came from the lower bluff subarea, which is not occupied by residences and, for reasons previously enumerated under the soil and groundwater pathways, is unlikely ever to be a residential area.

The risk estimates in Table 6-14 are based on an exposure duration of 275 days per year in the average case and 350 days per year in the RME and maximum screen

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-60

•

[&]quot;PM_{se}data obtained from Mr. Lawrence Taylor, Department of Human Health and Services; MOA data are from recording station at 7th Avenue and C Street, Anchorage, Alaska.

 (\mathbf{b})

۲

۲

.

Summary of Risk Estimates for Dust Inhalation*

		Particulum Contentration* (apier)	Numerour Record Ladas	Bist-Castributing Classicals	Roome Lifetime Cancer Midt	Rido- Count function Countest?
OU 5 (ali sebareas)	Future Residential	50	2 MAX 1 RME 0.7 AVE	Chromium (86%) Manganese (7%) Barium (6%)	4x10 ⁻³ MAX 2x10 ⁻³ RME 2x10 ⁻³ AVE	Chromium (91%) Arcenic (9%)
		30	1 MAX 0.6 RME 0.4 AVE		2x10 ⁻³ MAX 1x10 ⁻³ RME 9x10 ⁻⁴ AVE	

* Sitewide concentrations in surface soil samples (0-2-R depth) were used to estimate dust concentrations. The estimated risks are for a future residential setting over a lifetime.

Exposure cases: MAX = maximum concentrations used to estimate risks as accessing approach RME = reasonable maximum exposure case

AVE = sverage case

^b Particulate concentration: 50µg/m³ = federal samuel PM₁₀ standard 30µg/m³ = Municipality of Anchorage average annual PM₁₀ data

* Value in parenthesis is the percent contribution to the the total RME pathway risk estimate.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

cases. The soils at OU 5 are frozen and covered by snow for half of the year, however. Such winter conditions would limit the wind transport of soil particles from OU 5. (Most of the winter airborne dust in the MOA comes from sanded roadways and exposed glacial outwashes.) To account for the snow cover, the RME risk estimates may be multiplied by 0.5 and the average case estimates by 0.7.

The dust inhalation risk estimates can also be put in perspective by examining the chemicals and samples contributing to the risk estimates. Chromium VI and barium contribute 86% and 6%, respectively, to the RME HI for noncarcinogens. Arsenic and chromium VI contribute 9% and 91%, respectively, to the excess lifetime cancer risk estimate. The samples were analyzed for total metals which does not distinguish between the forms of chromium (VI and III); however, the higher toxicity values of chromium VI are used in generating the risk values. Chromium III is the most stable and commonly found ionic form in the environment (McGrath and Smith, 1990); so it is unlikely that chromium VI would constitute a significant amount of the total chromium content.

The two samples that generated the maximum metal risk were SL25S12A (barium and arsenic) and SL27S24N (chromium). Both sampling locations are in the lower bluff subarea in a very wet and vegetated area. Moisture contents for the two samples were 84 percent and 37 percent, respectively. Sample SL27S24 was also collected from the 12- to 24-inch depth. The samples are not likely to contribute to dust production because of their high soil moisture content, vegetative cover, and depth.

Sediment and Surface Water Exposure Pathways

Risks are quantified for current and future recreational users of the surface water bodies in OU 5. Assumed exposures for incidental ingestion are quantified for children only because adults are not likely to play in the ponds, and Ship Creek did not show any significant contamination. Maximum sediment and surface water concentrations from OU 5 are used to estimate the upper bound concentrations to eliminate exposure to sediment

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

and surface water as a pathway of concern. No background metals data were available for sediment or surface water; consequently, site concentrations were not screened against background levels. The risk estimates are shown in Table 6-15.

۲

No HI values exceed 1.0. The highest excess lifetime cancer risk is for recreational exposure to addiments of 1×10^4 . The assumptions used in this pathway are highly conservative. The estimated maximum risks are for a child playing (swimming or wading) directly in surface water at OU 5 and coming in contact with the sediments. It is assumed that a child is exposed for 1 hour per day for 26 days per year over a 5-year period. During the course of the field effort for the RI, only two children were observed rafting on the ponds and two were observed collecting golf balls from Ship Creek.

6.1.6 Uncertainties and Assumptions

6.1.6.1 Uncertainty Factors

Risk assessment as a scientific activity is subject to uncertainty, both with risk assessment in general and regarding an understanding of the site or site-specific uncertainties. This assessment is subject to uncertainty pertaining to:

- Sampling and analysis;
- Fate and transport estimation;
- Exposure estimation; and
- Toxicological data.

Uncertainties associated with sampling and analysis include the inherent variability (standard error) in the analysis, representativeness of the samples, sampling errors, and heterogeneity of the sample matrix. While the QA/QC program used in the RI

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

۲

			Noncast	er Effecte	Cancer	Ziliecia
14.48	Individual (current and fature)	Exposure Setting*	Nonconcer History Index	Risk- Contributing Chemicals	Rocces Libetes Cancer Mais	Ridt- Cambridadag Chambridada
Sediments	Recreational (child)	Incidental ingestion	0.3	NA	1 x 10 ⁴	Metale (84%) PCB (13%) PAHs (3%)
		Dermal absorption	0.5	TFH diesel (91%)	8 x 10 ⁻⁷	NA
		Additive Risk	0.8	NA	2 x 10 ⁴	NA
Surface Water	Recreational (child)	Incidental ingestion	<0.01	NA	8 x 10 ⁴	NA
		Dermal absorption	<0.01	NA	3 x 10 ⁴	NA
		Additive Risk	<0.01	NA	1 x 10 ⁷	NA

Summary of Risk Screening Estimates for Sediments and Surface Water*

As a screening approach, sitewide maximum detected concentrations were used to estimate risks. Exposure assumptions are shown in Table 6-9. The estimated risks are for a child playing (evimaning or wading) directly in surface water at OU 5 and coming in contact with acdiments. It is assumed that a child is exposed for 1 hour per day for 26 days per year over a 5-year period.
 ^b Inhulation of vapors from surface water is discussed in text. Additive risk equals the sum of the ingestion and dormal risks.
 ^c Value in percentheses is the percent contribution to the total pathway risk estimate. A value is listed only when the excess lifetime cancer risk encoded 1 x 10⁶ or when the Hazard Index exceeds 0.5.

NA = Not applicable.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

serves to reduce these errors, it cannot eliminate all errors associated with sampling and analysis.

(*****)

۲

This assessment made simplifying assumptions about the environmental fate and transport of the site contaminants; specifically, that no contaminant loss or transformation occurred. The choice of data to represent exposure point concentrations is an additional source of potential error.

The estimation of exposure required numerous assumptions to describe potential exposure situations. There are a number of uncertainties regarding likelihood of exposure, frequency of contact with contaminated media, concentration of contaminants at exposure points, and time period of exposure. These tend to simplify and approximate actual site conditions.

The toxicological database is also a source of uncertainty. The EPA outlined some of the sources of uncertainties in its *Guidelines for Carcinogen Risk Assessment* (1986a). They include extrapolation from high to low doses and from animals to humans; species, gender, age, and strain differences in uptake, metabolism, organ distribution, and target site susceptibility; and human population variability with respect to diet, environment, activity patterns, and cultural factors.

Uncertainty in the risk assessment is a function of the "state-of-the-practice" of risk assessment in general and also a function of the uncertainty specific to OU 5 in particular. Table 6-16 lists general uncertainty factors in risk assessment.

6.1.6.2 Assumptions

The major assumptions used in this assessment are:

 Contaminant concentrations remain constant over the exposure period;

Bineaderf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

Uncertainty Factors in the Human Health Risk Evaluation for OU 5

Becertabety Paster	Effect of Uncertainty	Cumment
Use of cancer slope factors	May overestimate risk of developing cancer.	Slope factors are upper 95th percent confidence limits derived from the linearized multistage model. Considered unlikely to underestimate true risk.
Risks within an exposure route assumed to be additive	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Does not account for synergism or entagonism.
Critical toxicity values derived mainly from animal studies	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Extrapolation from animal to humans may incorporate errors due to differences in pharmacokinstics, pharmacodynamics, and population variability.
Critical toxicity values derived mainly from high does exposures, most expos- ures are at low doess	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Assume linearity at low doess.
Critical toxicity values in general	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Not all values represent the same degree of certainty. All are subject to change as new evidence becomes available.
Phermacokinstics	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Assumption that pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics are equivalent across species.
Not all chemicals of concern have RfDs or SFs	May underestimate risk.	Health risks of exposure to such chemicals cannot be quantified.
Exposures to chemicals in ambient air not directly measured but were calcu- lated from soil concentrations	May overestimate risk for soils.	Sampling and analysis of ambient air was not conducted.
Exposure Assumptions (Tables 6.6 - 6.9)	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Assumptions regarding in gestion rates, exposure durations and frequencies, body weight, etc., may not be accurate.
Exposures assumed constant	May overestimate or underestimate risk.	Does not account for environmental fate, transport, or dilution.
Lintited scope of chemical analysis	May underestimate risk.	Metals in groundwater were not analyzed in some subareas.
Some soil results reported as wet weight instead of dry weight values.	May underestimate risk.	Part of the soil sample results were reported as wet weight. Both wet and dry weight results were used in risk estimates.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-66

٢

۲

۲

- Exposure remains constant over time;
- Selected intake rates and population characteristics (for example, weight, life span, and activities) are representative for the potentially exposed population; and

()

۲

(4)

• All intake of contaminants is from the site-related exposure media and not from other sources (no relative source contribution).

6.1.7 Summary and Comparison to EPA Bench Marks

The baseline risk assessment is an evaluation of the potential public health risks posed by the pipelines and other identified sources at OU 5 under the no-action (no remedial action) alternative. Risks are evaluated under current and potential future site conditions. Current uses are residential for upgradient subarea surface soil and the lower groundwater aquifer, no current use for the upper aquifer (hence, no risk), trench worker for subsurface soils, and recreational for sediments and surface water. Future uses are assumed to be residential for surface soil and groundwater evaluations, trench worker for subsurface soils, and recreational for sediments and surface water.

Contaminants of potential concern are identified by evaluating the toxicities, concentrations, and frequencies of detection of the chemicals during the RI. The major contaminants of concern are TFH gas, TFH diesel, JP-4, benzene, 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane, TCE, and metals. For the purpose of this risk assessment, contaminant concentrations are assumed to remain constant during the duration of the assumed exposures.

The major exposure pathways for OU 5 are identified. Those pathways that have at least some likelihood of occurring under current or potential future site conditions include the following:

• Exposure of current (upgradient subarea) and future (all other subareas) residents to contaminated surface soil through direct contact (incidental ingestion and dermal absorption) and inhalation of dusts;

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Exposure of current and future short-term workers to contaminated subsurface soil through direct contact (dermal absorption and incidental ingestion) and inhalation of vapors from the soil; ٣

۲

(4)

- Exposure of current (nearby) and future residents to contaminated lower aquifer groundwater through ingestion, inhalation (showering), and dermal contact (showering);
- Exposure of future residents to contaminated upper aquifer groundwater through ingestion, inhalation (showering), and dermal absorption (showering);
- Exposure of current and future recreationists (children) to contaminated sediment through ingestion and dermal absorption;
- Exposure of current and future recreationists (children) to contaminated surface water through ingestion, dermal absorption, and inhalation of volatiles from the surface water; and
- Exposure of recreationists through consumption of locally caught fish in Ship Creek.

Risk estimates are developed for these assumed exposure scenarios, and the results are summarized in Tables 6-10 through 6-15 and 6-17. The risks summarized in those tables are based on maximum concentrations screening for subsurface soil, surface water, sediment, and some surface soil, and on average case and RME scenarios developed for groundwater and some surface soil. No quantitative estimates of exposure by fish consumption were made because no significant contamination in Ship Creek was found.

Several pathways listed in Table 6-17 used a maximum concentration screening approach to eliminate pathways of low risk to human health. Consequently, the risk estimates listed for the surface soil, subsurface soil, surface water, and sediment are highly conservative, and the actual risks are probably much less. In most cases, one exposure route (usually ingestion) within a pathway contributed to an estimated risk that was an order of magnitude (10x) higher than the other exposure routes. Consequently, additivity did not increase the overall risk for a given pathway.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

	Report Reputation	Expense Cost	Rapesure Route	Summery of Rick Aspenment Results
Sarface Soil	Residents (future) over a lifetime	Maximum concen- tration screening for all subarens; average and reasonable maximum for lower bluff subaren	Ingestion	HIs (RME) <1.0; ELCR (RME) 7 x 10 ⁵ at lower bluff subarea; ELCR (AVE) 4 x 10 ⁶ at lower bluff subarea
			Inhelation	See Air Pathway
			Dermal	HIs <1.0; ELCR (RME) 9 x 10^4 at lower bluff subarea; ELCR (AVE) 4 x 10^4 at lower bluff subarea
		Additive Risks		HI (RME) <1.0; ELCR (RME) 8 x 10 ³ at lower bluff subarea; ELCR (AVE) 4 x 10 ⁴ at lower bluff subarea
Subsurface Soil	Trench worker (current/future) who spends 24 days per year for 5 years in trenches at OU 5	Maximum concen- tration screening	Ingestion	HIs <1.0; ELCR <10 ⁴
		Risk-based concen- tration screening of individual chemicals	Inhelation	Concentrations of chemicals less than target risk levels for an HI of 1.0 and ELCR of 10 ⁴
		Maximum concen- tration screening	Dermal	HIs <1.0; ELCR <10 ⁴
		Additive Ricks		HIs <1.0; ELCR <10 ⁴
Groundwater	Residents (current/future— lower aquifer; future—upper aquifer) over a lifetime	Average and reason- able maximum expo- sure	Ingestion	Lower Aquifer: No contaminants of concern above background. Upper Aquifer: HI (RME) exceeds 1.0 and ELCR (RME) risk equals 10 ⁻⁴ at lower bluff subarea. Well SP101 is contributing to the risk. The risk is largely due to metals that may be background levels. ELCR (RME) equal to or less than 10 ⁻⁵ for other subareas.
			Inhalation (showering)	Lower Aquifer: No volatile compounds detected. Upper Aquifer: HIs <1.0; ELCR (RME) between 10 ⁻⁵ and 10 ⁻⁶ for upgradient, pipeline corridor, lower bluff, and golf course beaver pond subareas.

Summary of Human Health Risk Assessment

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

•

.

۲

۲

۲

۲

(Continued)

Testary.	Report Nymetrics	Represent Cased	Experies Reads	Samary of Rick Assessment Reads
Groundwater (cont.)			Dormal (showering)	Lower Aquifer: No contaminents of concern. Upper Aquifer: HIs <1.0; ELCR (RME) <10 ⁴ .
		Additive Risks		Lower Aquifer: No contaminants of concern. Upper Aquifer: HI (RME) exceeds 1.0 and ELCR (RME) risk equals 10 ⁻⁴ at lower bluff subarces.
Surface Water	Recreationists (current/future) — a child suposed for 1 hour per day for 26 days over 5 years	Maximum concen- tration acreening	Ingestion	$HI = 1.0; ELCR < 10^4$
			Inhelation	See Air Pathway
			Dermai	HI <1.0; ELCR <10 ⁴
			Fish Ingestion	No chemical concentration data in fish tissues are available. No significant contamination in Ship Creek.
		Additive Risks		HI <1.0; ELCR <10 ⁴
Sodiments	Recreationists (current/future) — a child exposed for 1 hour per day for 26 days over 5 years	Maximum concen- tration screening	Ingestion	HI <1.0; ELCR equals 10 ⁴
			Dermal	HI <1.0; ELCR 10⁴
		Additive Risks		HI <1.0; ELCR 2 x 10^4
Air	Residents (future) over a lifetime	Average and reason- able maximum expo- sure	Inhalation— dust from surface soils	HI (RME) = 1.0; ELCR (RME) 2 x 10^{5} using very conservative assumptions. Risks due to OU 5 sources probably much less. See Section 6.1.5.3.
			Inhelation- volatilization from surface water	Qualitative assessment of pathway determined risk to be very low. See text. See Section 6.1.4.2.

venero the exposues case used the maximum concentration as a accessing approach, the risk estimates are highly conservative and the actual risks are probably much less. Additive risks equal the sum of the exposure route risks within a pathway. HI = Hanned Index. BLCR = Encour Lifetime Cancer Risk. RMR = Resconsble Maximum Process.

.....

Elmendorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

6-70

0

For exposures to carcinogenic substances, EPA has determined that "acceptable exposure levels are generally concentrations that represent an excess upper bound (RME) lifetime cancer risk to an individual of between 10⁻⁴ to 10⁻⁶ using information of the relationship between dose and response." For noncarcinogens, "acceptable exposure levels shall represent concentrations to which the human population, including sensitive subgroups, may be exposed without adverse effect during a lifetime . . ." (EPA, 1989b). In other words, exposures to noncarcinogens cannot exceed RfD intake levels. EPA has more recently clarified the role of risk assessment in supporting risk management decisions (1991c). When the cumulative carcinogenic site risk to an individual based on the reasonable maximum exposure for both current and future land use is less than 10⁻⁴, and the noncarcinogenic HI is less than 1, action is generally not warranted unless environmental impacts exist. However, MCLs and other applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements (ARARs) are also to be considered. For the State of Alaska, a policy stating what risk levels generally do not warrant remediation has not been established by ADEC, and may be different from the EPA position.

1

For the individual exposure pathways in this assessment (under RME assumptions), the only environmental medium containing contaminant concentrations that generate noncancer HI values exceeding 1, or total excess lifetime cancer risks greater than 1×10^4 , is the upper aquifer groundwater over a lifetime at the lower bluff subarea. In this scenario, future exposure of residents through ingestion of groundwater over a lifetime is assumed. The estimated risks for ingestion of upper aquifer groundwater in the lower bluff subarea are largely due to metals (arsenic and manganese). The risk assessment is based on only one round of sampling. Additional sampling may show that the arsenic levels are due to background levels. The arsenic levels (maximum 0.0054 mg/L) in the upper aquifer groundwater at OU 5 are less than the federal and Alaska state drinking water standards of 0.05 mg/L.

Organic contaminants contribute a total of 10^{-6} to 10^{-5} RME excess lifetime cancer risks for future residents through ingestion, inhalation of volatiles, and dermal contact over a lifetime of exposure to upper aquifer groundwater at all subareas of OU 5. Those

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

organic contaminants contributing to the risks include TFH gas, TFH diesel, benzene, and TCE. All but the TCE may be the result of old pipeline leaks at OU 5. However, the sources of TCE in the upper aquifer groundwater appear to be upgradient of the OU 5 study area. Although excess lifetime cancer risks calculated for organic contaminants do not exceed 10⁴, both benzene and TCE levels in the upper aquifer groundwater do exceed federal and Alaska state drinking water standards of 5 mg/L.

V.

A future residential scenario for the upper aquifer groundwater is highly conservative. The upper aquifer at OU 5 is unlikely to be used for domestic purposes because of low yield and the availability of other piped water supplies from the MOA. The upper aquifer is not currently being used at OU 5. No risks were identified for use of lower aquifer groundwater.

The risk estimates in this assessment are based on a no-action scenario at OU 5 and they could be mitigated through future remedial action at the sources and study subareas.

6.2 Ecological Evaluation

This baseline ecological evaluation addresses the potential risks to ecological receptors from the contaminants in OU 5.

This evaluation is based on the following major assumptions:

- No remedial actions will be taken;
- The media of primary concern are soils within 1 foot of the ground surface, sediment, and surface water;
- For the purpose of risk assessment, future chemical concentrations will not change over time;

 Observed concentrations of petroleum and metal contaminants at points of exposure were assumed to be 100 percent bioavailable; and

Ŀ

Future land uses will be similar to current uses.^b

This ecological evaluation is based on the data collected during the remedial investigation, which are presented in earlier sections of this report. The following sections are the most relevant:

- Sections 2.1 and 2.2 describe procedures used in the field investigations (including aquatic and terrestrial ecological surveys) and chemical analyses.
- Section 3.6 discusses the ecological characteristics of aquatic and terrestrial communities in OU 5.
- Sections 4.4, 4.5, and 4.6 provide information on nature and extent of contamination where aquatic and terrestrial receptors were surveyed.
- Section 5.0 describes the conceptual model, including sources, characteristics, release mechanisms, environmental fate, and transport pathways for contaminants in OU 5.

Other sections also provide information concerning the site characteristics and the nature and extent of contamination that was considered in evaluation of ecological risks.

The baseline ecological evaluation was performed in accordance with the following guidance documents:

- Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund: Volume II, Environmental Evaluation Manual (EPA, 1989c);
- Supplemental Guidance for Superfund Risk Assessments in Region 10 (EPA, 199d);

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

[&]quot;This assumption is based on a telephone conversation with Allen Richmond, natural resource planner at Elmandorf AFB, on December 1, 1992.

 Handbook to Support the Installation Restoration Program (IRP) Statements of Work: Volume I—Remedial Investigation/Feasibility Studies (RI/FS) (USAF, 1991); and (1

0

• Framework for Ecological Risk Assessment (EPA, 1992b).

This section is organized to present the evaluations for aquatic resources and for terrestrial resources separately, although some findings from the aquatic surveys are used in evaluating risks to semi-aquatic wildlife. Within the sections for aquatic and terrestrial resources, the following topics are included:

- Selection of Site Contaminants screens contaminants identified in Section 4 to determine which ones should be considered further in the ecological risk assessment.
- Exposure Assessment evaluates the pathways by which exposures can occur and estimates the magnitude of actual or potential ecological exposures and the frequency and duration of these exposures.
- Toxicity Assessment presents toxicity information available on chemicals of concern to determine their potential to cause adverse effects in aquatic or terrestrial ecological receptors.
- **Risk Characterization** integrates the exposure and toxicity assessments to estimate the likelihood of impacts to ecological receptors from exposure to OU 5 chemicals of potential concern.
- Conclusions and Limitations summarizes the basic conclusions of the environmental evaluation and the limitations or uncertainties associated with the data and methodology.

6.2.1 Aquatic Resources

Aquatic habitats and fauna were described in Section 3.6.1. The study areas of greatest concern are ponds and drainages along the foot of the lower bluff, the golf course beaver pond, and Ship Creek. These areas include beaver ponds, wetland ponds, and drainage ditches channeling OU 5 runoff to Ship Creek as shown on Figure 4-10. The

Record AFE OU 5 RI/FE Report

nature and extent of contamination in these aquatic habitats were described in Sections 4.4 and 4.5.

Assessment endpoints (the environmental values to be protected) for aquatic receptors include the following:

- Integrity of aquatic habitats in OU 5;
- No impacts of environmental contaminants in OU 5 on aquatic species;

- Compliance with federal and state applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements (ARARs); and
- No exceeding of toxicity levels based on existing scientific literature.

Measurement endpoints include the following:

- General habitat conditions, including aquatic bed plants and fauna within OU 5, as assessed through qualitative and quantitative surveys;
- Benthic macroinvertebrate species diversity and density;
- EPT Index;
- Evidence of impaired ecosystem health, as indicated by the absence of aquatic plant life;
- Contaminant impacts on fish and invertebrates from laboratory toxicity testing;
- Comparisons of observed concentrations to documented effect levels; and
- Comparison of observations and contaminant concentrations to ARARs.
6.2.1.1 Selection of Site Contaminants

Surface Water

To assess the potential for adverse effects on aquatic organisms, surface water contaminant concentrations in Ship Creek, the ponds, and drainage ditches, are compared with federal Ambient Water Quality Criteria (AWQC) (EPA, 1986d) for aquatic life protection, and LOAELs (45 FR 79318). Alaska Water Quality Standards (WQS) (ADEC, 1991) are also considered for chemical elements (zinc) when more stringent than federal standards. The AWQC, Alaska WQS, and LOAEL values used for this assessment are presented in Table 6-18. Site comparisons to AWQC are presented in Tables 6-19 through 6-25, which list the concentrations detected in surface water samples. These tables show the maximum concentration of the potential contaminants detected for the two sample events. Also, as indicated on the figures, the federal AWQC for zinc is $106 \mu g/L$, and the Alaska WQS is a more stringent $47 \mu g/L$.

While AWQC for aquatic life protection currently exist for some PAHs (for example, naphthalene, fluoranthene, and phenanthrene; see Table 6-18), no criteria are available for other PAHs detected at OU 5. In lieu of this information, the criterion value for naphthalene is used as a surrogate for anthracene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, and pyrene (Table 6-26). In general, toxicity of relatively soluble PAHs to aquatic organisms increases with increasing molecular weight, to a point where low water solubility becomes limiting and the acute toxicity of high molecular weight PAHs is reduced (Eisler, 1987b). Table 6-26 summarizes the available freshwater and marine aquatic toxicity information for these chemicals. Based on these comparisons, the detection of each of the PAHs found in OU 5 surface water are well below acute or chronic criteria and LOAELs for the protection of aquatic life and, therefore, will not be evaluated in the risk characterization.

The BTEX grouping of chemical contaminants was detected in the surface water in a bluff pond (SW08) at concentrations that exceed the Alaska WQS of 10 μ g/L for

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

 (\mathbf{I})

0

۲

Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection $(\mu g/L)$

Chambel	Ácuto C	riterier"	Chronie (Criteries?
Aluminum	750	(13)	87	(13)
Antimory	/p/88	(12)	/p/30	(12)
Areanic (III)	360	(4)	190	(4)
Armic (V)	850	(4) ⁴	48	(4) ^b
Benzeno	5,300	(2)*	-	.,
Bis(2-sthylhexyl)phthelate	400	(11)*	360	(11)
Bromomethene	11, 000 ⁴	. ,		. ,
Cadminum	3.9	(4) ⁴	1.1	(4) ⁴
Copper	18	(4) ⁴	12	(4) ⁴
1,1-dichloroothane	118,000	(2)*	20,000	(2)*
1,2-dichloroothane	118,000	(2)*	20,000	(2)*
Trans-1,2-dichloroothene	118,000	(2)*	20,000	(2)*
Ethylbenzene	32,000	(2)*	-	•••
Fluoranthene	3,980	(2)*		
Iron		••	1,000	(1)
Lead	82	(4) ⁴	3.2	(4) ⁴
Mercury (inorganic)	2.4	(4)	0.012	(4)
Naphthalone	2,300	(2)•	620	(2) ⁴
Nickel	1,418	(6)4	158	(6)4
Phonesthrene	/p/30	(12)	/p/6.3	(12)
Selenium	20	(8)	5	(8)
Silver	0. 92	(11)	0.12	(11)
1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane	-	· •	2,400	(2)*
Tolucae	17,500	(2) ^b	- 1	
1,1,1-trichloroethane	18,000	(2)*		
Trichloroethylene	45,000	(2)	21,900	(2)*
Zinc	117	<u></u>	106	<u>()</u>

Ambient Water Quality Otteria for Protection of Presimuter Aquatic Life. The soute criterion reflects a 1-hour average not to be exceeded more than once every 3 years on average. Chronic criterion reflects a 4-day average concentration not to be exceeded more .

exceeded more than once every 3 years on average. Chronic enterion reflects a 4-day average concentration not to be exceeded mo than once in 3 years on the average. Not enough data were available to derive a memorical national water quality criterion for aquatic life protection for these chemicals. Values reflect lowest reported effects levels. From 45 FR 79318, November 28, 1980. Not directly based on memorical texticity—See Document (1). Criterion is dependent on the hardness of the water. Assumed hardness = 100 mg/L Criterion is dependent on the pH of the water. The assumed pH is 7.8. Lowest reported effects level.

4

.

1

•

Sources: (1) From "Quality Criteria for Water" (Red Book), U.S. EPA July 1976 (2) From 49 FR 5831, February 15, 1980. (3) From 50 FR 20784, July 29, 1985. (4) From 51 FR 22978, June 24, 1985. (5) From 51 FR 22978, June 24, 1985. (6) From 51 FR 22978, June 24, 1985. (7) From 52 FR 6213, March 2, 1987. (8) From 53 FR 19028, March 2, 1988. (9) From 53 FR 19028, Mary 26, 1988. (10) From 53 FR 19028, Mary 16, 1988. (11) From 55 FR 19986, Mary 14, 1990. (12) Fraposed orienin /p/ (EPA Mary 1, 1991, Water Quality Criteria Summery). (13) EPA 440/5-86-008, Ambient Water Quality for Aluminum, 1988.

.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/RS Report

6-77

8

•

٢

۲

۲

Beaver Pond (5SW13) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

	Maximum Constant of	Acute Criteries	Chronic Criteries
Denime -	() ()	(ngha)	1.000
			1,000
Boryllium	0.61	130*	5.3°
Copper	21.9	32*	20*
Iron	39.2	-	1,000
Lond	0.7	185	7.2 ^b
Nickel	11.1	2,441	271*
Zinc	58.9	202*	183*/46*
Hardness (mg/L)	188		

Not enough data were available to derive a numerical national water quality criteria for aquatic life protection for these chemicals. Values reflect lowest reported effect levels. From 45 FR 79318. November 28, 1980.

Criterica is calculated based on measured water hardness. Criterian from Alaska Water Quality Standards. Maximum quantity detected in one sampling event.

۲

۲

Maximum Concentration Chronic Acute Criterios Criterios <u>()</u> 57.76 SSWES (mg/L) (mg/L) 1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane 4.3 1.2 2,400* ---Aluminum 249 750 87 _ Arrenic (tri) 1.4 1.2 360 190 1.4 1.2 850 48 Arsenic (pent) 17.8 26.5 1,000 Berium _ 5,300* Benzene 0.6 ----33 21 4.7 Copper ---2.720 Iron 440 1.000 ---191^ь Load 4.7 7.5 _ 40* Thellium 0.8 ---1,400 17,500* ---Toluene 0.7 -----Trichloroethylene 2.9 45,000* 21,900 6.6 39.9 207 1884/47* Zinc 4.5 196 Hardness (mg/L) 215

Golf Course Beaver Pond (5SW04-05) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

⁶ Not enough data were available to derive a sumerical antional water quality criteria for aquatic life protection for these chemicale. Values reflect lowest reported effect levels. From 45 FR 79318. November 28, 1980.

Criterion is based on the measured hardness of the water (196 mg/L).

Criterion from Alaska Water Quality Standards.

4 Maximum concentration detected from two sampling events.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

۲

۲

Wetland Pond (5SW06) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

	Miximum Concentration*	Acute Criterion	Chronic Criterion
Comical	(pg/L)	(+s/L)	(pg/L)
Aluminum	25.6	750	87
Arsenic (tri)	1.4	360	190
Arsenic (pent)	1.4	850°	48°
Barium	50.8		1,000
Iron	3,000		1,000
Toluene	2.7	17,500*	* *
Hardness (mg/L)	283		

Not enough data were available to derive a momerical astional water quality oritoria for aquatic life protection for these chemicale. Values reflect lowest reported effect lovels. From 45 PR 79318. November 28, 1980. Maximum concentration detected in one campling event.

endorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

1

۲

۲

Snowmelt Pond (5SW07) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

Current a		Acuto Celturius (agli)	Chronic Criterian (m/L)
1,2-Dichloroethene	2.6	118,000	20,000
Ahunimen	329	750	87
Armenic (tri)	3	360	190
Arsenic (pent)	3	850*	48*
Berium	200		1,000
Iron	1,220		1,000
Lond	2.6	264°	10*
Trans-1,2-dichloroethene	1.9	11,600	
Trichloroethylene	1.4	45,000	21,900
Zinc	5.6	256*	230*/47*
Hardness (mg/L)	252		

Not enough data were available to derive a sumerical astional water quality criteria for equatic life protection for these chemicals. Values reflect lowest reported effect lovels. From 45 FR 79318. November 28, 1980.

Criterion is calculated based on the measured water hardness.

Criterian from Alesia Water Quality Standards. Maximum quantity detected in one sampling event.

mendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٣

۲

۲

Bluff Pond (5SW08) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

Curriel	Maximum Companyation (ag/L)	Acata Critarion (pe/L)	Chronic Criterion (mp/L)	
1,1-Dichloroethane	2.3	118,000*	20,000	
4-Methylphenol	7	0	•	
Aluminum	1,190	750	87	
Amenic (tri)	3.5	360	190	
Arsenic (pent)	3.5	850 ⁴	484	
Barium	123		1,000	
Benzeno	1.5	5,300	_	
Bromomethene	1.3	*	•••	
Copper	7.2	48*	29*	
Ethylbenzene	12	32,000 ^b		
Iron	6,270		1,000	
JP-4	770		۰.	
Lead	14.8	82*	12*	
Naphthalene	1	2,300*	620*	
TFH-Gas	400		•	
Toluene	27	17,500*	-	
Xylene	19	_	-	
Zinc	36.9	289*	262*/47*	
Hardaces (mg/L)	291	-	-	

LOEL for 1,2-dishlorosthans. No criterion for 1,1-dishlorosthans.

Not enough data were available to derive a memorical national water quality criteria for aquatic life protection for these chemicals. Values reflect lowest reported effect levels. From 45 FR 79318. November 24, 1980. Criterion is calculated based on the measured water hardness.

Criterion from Aleska Water Quelity Standards.

Total hydrocarbons in the water column shall not exceed 15 µg/L, or 0.01 times the lowest measured continuous flow 96-hour LCm for life stages of the most seasitive, biologically important species in a particular location, whichever concentration is lower. Total aromatic hydrocarbons in the water column shall not exceed 10 µg/L, or 0.01 times the lowest measured continuous flow 96-hour LCm for life stages of the most sensitive, biologically important species in a particular location, whichever concentrations now vo-hour LC, for life stages of the most sensitive, biologically important species in a particular location, whichever concentrations is lower. Concentrations of hydrocarbons, animal fits, or vegetable oils in the sediment shall not cause deleterious effects to aquatic life; shall not cause a film, shown, or discoloration on the surface or floor of the water body or adjoining shorelines. Alaska WQ8 1991. Maximum quantity detected in one sampling event.

•

0

۲

۲

Drainage Ditch (5SW09 and 5SW10) Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

	Maximum C	succentration* /L)	Amata	Chunnia	
Connical	55W09	\$\$W10	Criterion (rg/L)	Criterion (µg/L)	
1,1,1- Trichloroethane	1.8	1.9	-	9 ,400 *	
Arsenic (tri)		0.7	360	190	
Arsenic (pent)		0.7	850 °	48*	
Barium	17	20.8	~	1,000	
Beryllium	0.62	0.61	130*	5.3 ^b	
Cadmium	1.4		3.9*	1.1*	
Copper		1.5	18°	12ª	
Iron	127	36.2		1,000	
Nickel	8.2	9.7	1,418°	158°	
Zinc	13.6	3.9	117	106/47 ⁴	

LOEL for 1,2-trichloroethane. No criterion for 1,1,1-trichloroet

Not enough data were available to derive a numerical antional water quality criterie for equatic life protection for these chemicals. Values reflect lowest reported effect lovels. From 45 FR 79318. November 28, 1980.

Criterion is dependent on the hardness of the water. Assumed hardness = 100 mg/L. Criterion from Alaska Water Quality Standards.

Maximum quantity detected in one sampling event.

6-83

(

6

		Maximum C				
Chundral	55W01	55W12	557W13	SSW11	Criterion (rg/L)	Criteries (ug/L)
Aluminum	380	569	315	-	750	87
Antimony	-	ł	1	15	/p/88°	/p/30*
Arsenic (tri)	2.1		0.7		360	190
Arsenic (pent)	2.1	-	0.7	ł	850°	48ª
Barium	9.7	11.2	16.2	72.1		1,000
Beryllium	-	-	-	0.61	130*	5.3*
Copper	1.7	9.8	1.7	ł	7. 5 •	5.4(6.1) ^b
Iron	585	863	562	161		1,000
Lend	-	1.7	0.7		25°	0.99(1.2) ^b
Selenium	0.56	0.54			20	5
Zinc	-	13.3	-	4.2	55•	50°/47°
Hardness (mg/L)	41	46	76			

Ship Creek Surface Water Compared to Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection

Not enough data were available to derive a numerical national water quality criteria for aquatic life protection for these chemicals. Values reflect lowest reported effect levels. From 45 FR 79318. November 24, 1980.

Criterion is calculated based on a hardness of 41 µg/L. Criteria based on a hardness of 46 µg/L are in parentheses.

Criterion from Alaska Water Quality Standards.

Maximum concentration detected from two sampling events for 55W01, 55W02, 55W03, and one sampling event for 55W11. /p/ - Proposed scitterin as of May 1, 1991, EPA Water Quality Criterin Summary.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

he of Distant Esperate 1 Laborator? Anthronom Pink salmon fry 24 hours LC. 920 µg/L Noff 1979 (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) LC. Benzo(a)anthracene Bluegill 6 months 1,000 µg/L EPA 1980 (Lepomis macrochirus) Pink salmon fry Benzo(b)fluorastheas* 24 hours LC. Neff 1979 920 #g/L (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) Bonzo(k)fluoraathone* Pink salmon fry 24 hours LC. 920 xg/L Neff 1979 (Oncorhynchus gorbuscha) Sandworm Benzo(a)pyreae 96 hours LC. >1,000 µg/L Neff 1979 (Neanthes arenceodensata) Chrysene Sendworm 96 hours LC. Neff 1979 >1,000 #g/L (Neanthes arenceodentata) Phoranthene Sandanom 96 hours LC 500 µg/L Neff 1979 (Neanthes arenceodentata) Naphthalone Copepod 10 days LC_ 50 #g/L Neff 1979 (Eurytemora affinis) LC. Pink salmon fry 24 hours 920 #g/L Neff 1979 (Oncorkynchus gorbuscha) Grass shrimp 96 hours LC. 2,400 µg/L Neff 1979 (Palaemonetes pugio) Sheephead minnow 24 hours LC Neff 1979 2,400 µg/L (Cyprinodon variegatus) Brown shrimp 24 hours LC. 2,500 µg/L Neff 1979 (Penaeus aztecus) Amphipod 96 hours LC. 2,680 µg/L Neff 1979 (Elasmopus pectenicrus) Coho salmon fry 96 hours LC. Neff 1985 3.200 ME/L (Oncorhynchus kisutch) Sandworm 96 hours LC 3,800 µg/L Neff 1979 (Neanthes arenceodentata) Moequitofish LC. 96 hours 150,000 #g/L Neff 1979 (Gambusia affinis) 2-Methyinaphthalene Grass shrimp LC 96 hours 1,100 #g/L Neff 1985 (Palaemonetes pugio) 24 hours LC Neff 1979 Sheephead minnow 2,000 ##/L (Cyprinodon variegatus)

Aquatic Toxicity of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(Continued)

NAM Damagana	Nyadia	Duratha of Expanse	Effect.	Due	Laborator*
Phonenthrone	Grass shrimp (Pulsomonetes pagio)	24 hours	LC	370 µg/L	Neff 1979
	Sandworm (Neanthes arenceodentata)	96 hours	LC _p	600 да/ L.	EPA 1960
Pyreas*	Pink salmon fry (Oncorhynchus gorbuschs)	24 hours	LC	920 µg/L	Noff 1979

LC — isthel concentration; subscript indicates percent of test population.
 As refusenced in Binler 1967b.
 Toxisity of nephthelene used as surrogate for anthracens, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, and pyrene.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-86

۲

total aromatic hydrocarbons and, therefore, will be evaluated in the risk characterization section.

Fuel hydrocarbons detected in the surface water include JP-4 and TFH-gas. In certain instances, the total aromatic hydrocarbons in surface water exceeds Alaska WQS of $10 \mu g/L$. In these instances, fuel hydrocarbons in surface water will be evaluated further in the risk characterization.

The semivolatile compound 4-methylphenol (p-cresol) was detected in one surface water sample (SW08) at 7 μ g/L, which is below the 24 hour LC₅₀ (lethal concentration of 50% of test population) of 4000 μ g/L for trout embryos, and will not be evaluated further in the risk characterization.

Metals found in the surface water can be compared to AWQC, and to background surface water concentrations in Ship Creek. The aquatic toxicity of some metals (such as aluminum, cadmium, copper, lead, nickel, and zinc) depends on the hardness of the surface water. Since the hardness of the OU 5 ponds and Ship Creek varies (41 to 291 mg/L, as calcium carbonate), the toxicity of metals will vary. Tables 6-19 through 6-25 list the AWQC for metals based on the actual hardness.

In general, in the beaver pond (SW13) at seep SL29, acute and chronic criteria were exceeded for copper, and zinc exceeds chronic criteria based on Alaska WQS (Table 6-19). For surface waters in the golf course beaver pond and the snowmelt pond, aluminum and iron exceeded chronic criteria (Tables 6-20 and 6-22). Surface waters in the wetland pond exceeded the chronic criterion for iron (Table 6-21). Bluff pond acute and chronic criteria were exceeded for aluminum, while only chronic criteria were exceeded for iron and lead (Table 6-23). Chronic criteria were exceeded in the drainage ditch surface waters for cadmium (Table 6-24). Chronic criteria were also exceeded for aluminum in Ship Creek (Table 6-25).

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Overall, inorganic elements that exceeded available AWQC include aluminum, cadmium, copper, iron, lead, and zinc. These elements will be considered further in the toxicity assessment. Other inorganic elements such as calcium, magnesium, manganese, potassium, and sodium are macro- or micronutrients or nontoxic elements (Reimer, 1984). Because these elements are considered harmless and generally nontoxic, they will not be evaluated further in the risk assessment. Ć

હ

Sediments

Sediment concentrations of concern for OU 5 were derived using the AWQC and an equilibrium partitioning approach for those organic compounds detected in the sediment. This approach is consistent with that used by EPA in the development of sediment quality criteria. A basic assumption is that exposure occurs primarily to the dissolved fraction of chemical. By knowing what concentration of a nonpolar chemical is protective in surface water, the protective concentration in sediment can be estimated by knowing the chemical-specific partition coefficient for organic carbon to water (K_{oe}), and the organic carbon content of the sediment. This approach is conservative in that it assumes surface water concentrations are in equilibrium with sediment concentrations, such as in the ponds and wetlands, although an unlikely occurrence in a moving stream such as Ship Creek. The equation (EPA, 1988d) used for the derivation is as follows:

$C_{sel} = K_{cc} \times AWQC \times 10^{-3} kg/g$

where:

C _{and}	E	sediment concentration of concern $(\mu g/g \text{ organic carbon})$
K _{ee}	-	partition coefficient for organic carbon to water
AWQC		protective surface water concentration (μ g/L)
10 ⁻³ kg/g	=	unit conversion

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The sediment concentration of concern expressed in terms of micrograms of chemical per gram of organic carbon, can be normalized to the particular sediment of concern by multiplying with the organic content (OC) of the sediment as follows:

Sediment concentration of concern (as $\mu g/kg$ sediment) = $C_{mt} \times OC$ (as g/kg)

The default organic carbon content of the OU 5 sediments is assumed to be 3.0% (30 g/kg)^e.

The sediment concentrations of concern for PAHs and other organic compounds detected in sediment during the RI are given in Table 6-27. The comparison of sediment concentrations detected at OU 5 with the derived concentrations of concern is discussed in the risk characterization section.

Because no reliable approaches currently exist for predicting surface water concentrations of metals and other inorganic compounds from sediment information, no sediment levels of concern for inorganic elements are derived using this approach. Instead, surface water concentrations measured during the RI are assumed to be indicative of ecological exposures to metals.

Table 6-28 provides a summary of the site contaminants that were selected for further evaluation in the risk assessment for aquatic resources. Phenol in sediments was not included because the one reported concentration (72 ppb at 5SE09) was an estimated level well below the detection limit of 420 ppb.

6.2.1.2 Exposure Assessment

An exposure pathway describes how a contaminant may move from its source to a receptor (a potentially exposed organism). A complete exposure pathway has five

6-89

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Based on best judgment of TOC content of pond sediment.

÷

A. .

0

۲

Toxicity of Sediments to Aquatic Organisms

Cimbol	Tusicity (se/L)	Radyahat		KOC (11/2)	Suffrant Lond of Construit (cg/lig)	Manhanan Cananatrations Datastat In OUS Sefferent Geblep
Anthracene	620*	AWQC	620	4.45	82.8	230
Benzo(a)anthracone	1,000*	LCI7	10	1,380,000	414,000	59
Benzo(a)pyrene	620*	AWQC	620	5,500,000	102,300,000	91
Benzo(b)fluoranthone	620*	AWQC	620	550,000	10,230,000	58
Benzo(k)fluorasthene	620 ⁺	AWQC	620	550,000	10,230,000	63
Bis(2-sthylhoxyl)phthalate	3.0	AWQC	3.0	31,600	2,844	240
Chrysens	620°	AWQC	620	200,000	3,720,000	85
Ethylbenzene	32,000*	AWQC	320	1,100	10,560	930
2-Mothyinephthalone	620*	AWQC	620	933	17,400	100
4-Methylphenol	2,5604	AWQC	2,560	500	38,400	160
Aroclor-PCB-1260	0.014	AWQC	0.014	530,000	223	1600
Ругово	620°	AWQC	620	38,000	706,800	150
Phonesthrons	6.3*	AWQC	6.3	14,000	2,646	270
Tolucas	17, 500°	AWQC	175	300	1,575	520
Xyienes, Total	13,500*	LC50	135	240	972	6200

* No value was available. AWQC for anylithalone was used.

^b Electer 1987b.

* Acute AWQC was used.

⁴ No value was available. AWQC for phenol was used.
 ⁵ Verschweren K. 1983. Handbook of Environmental Date of Organic Chemicals.
 ⁶ Generic AWQC for philaists enters.
 ⁶ Proposed echerica.
 ⁶ Proposed echerica.

1.05 A.B. 7 MART

-

^b Chronic AWQC was used where available. If only acute endpoint was available, a safety factor of 100 was applied.
 ⁴ An organic carbon of 3% was assumed in these calculations.

Elmenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

۲

۲

١

.

Summary of Data Sources and Contaminants in Aquatic Media Selected for Further Evaluations

Data Source	Contaminants Selected
Surface water (Tables 6-19 through 6-25)	Fuel hydrocarbons, PAHs, semivolatiles, BTEX, aluminum, cadmium, copper, iron, lead, and zinc
Sediment (Table 6-27)	PCB (Aroclor 1260), anthracene, fuel hydrocar- bons, and xylenes (total)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

÷,

1

primary elements (EPA, 1992a):

- A chemical source;
- A mechanism for release;
- An environmental medium;
- An exposure point (receptor location); and
- A feasible route of exposure (for example, dermal contact/absorption).

۲

Contaminant sources, release mechanisms, and migration pathways have been presented in Sections 4 and 5. Potential exposure points, exposure routes, and receptors are evaluated on a site-specific basis. An exposure pathway is complete if there is a reasonable likelihood that a receptor may take in contaminants through contact with contaminated media. No exposure (and thus no risk) exists unless the exposure pathway is complete.

The possible current and future exposure pathways for OU 5, based on a current understanding of the site, are presented on Figure 5-4 for potential exposure pathways for ecological receptors. The potentially complete exposure pathways to aquatic receptors selected for assessment are discussed in the following sections.

Surface Water and Near Surface Groundwater Exposure Pathways

Aquatic plant and/or animal exposures to surface water contaminants can occur through ingestion of water by aquatic organisms, through dermal contact with and absorption of contaminated water, or by direct metabolic uptake through roots or gills. Contaminants have been detected in surface water and shallow unconfined groundwater in the lower bluff area. Shallow groundwater could expose benthic organisms, or discharge into nearby surface water bodies where exposures can occur. In addition, contaminants may migrate to surface water bodies through periodic surficial runoff.

6-92

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Sediment Exposure Pathways

Aquatic plants are potentially exposed to site contaminants of concern through metabolic uptake if their roots penetrate contaminated sediments. Aquatic animals could be exposed to contaminated sediments through dermal contact and through inadvertent ingestion during normal feeding. The frequency, duration, extent, and route of exposure depend on the particular activity of the receptor and the location of the activity.

Aquatic Receptors. Important aquatic receptors include fish, aquatic invertebrates, and freshwater vegetation inhabiting Ship Creek, the golf course beaver pond, the beaver pond (at seep SL29), and the snowmelt pond. Although the other ponds and drainage ditches support aquatic insect populations, they are not considered to be significant ecological aquatic habitats. The most likely receptors are fish and invertebrates residing in Ship Creek, and more invertebrates in the ponds. Fish were not observed to inhabit the ponds within OU 5, apparently because of the lack of suitable habitat, and not because of toxic effects. It does not appear that the anadromous Pacific salmon species spend appreciable amounts of time as fry or juveniles in the vicinity of the study area, due to the absence of suitable rearing habitat in the OU 5 reach of the river, Also, upstream fish passage is effectively blocked at the Elmendorf AFB hatchery dam. Although salmon eggs and sac-fry in reds could be affected by exposure to OU 5 discharges, no salmon spawning or reds were observed in the OU 5 reach of Ship Creek. Therefore, these migratory species are not considered significant potential receptors at risk from OU 5 contaminants of concern.

Potentially important Ship Creek receptors include the resident gamefish, nongame fish, and invertebrate species using the creek habitats adjacent to the study area. The Elmendorf AFB fish hatchery salmon fry and smolts can also be considered important receptors in the surface water runoff pathway⁴. The fish species observed that use this section of the creek (above the fish hatchery dam) include rainbow trout and slimy sculpin.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Determined use of Ship Creek water by hatchery from telephone conversation with Daryl Keifer, Elmendorf AFB hatchery manager, on December 11, 1992.

Although not observed, Dolly Varden may also represent a potential receptor. Important resident aquatic invertebrates observed along this section of Ship Creek include taxa from the orders Ephemeroptera (families Baetidae, Ephemerellidae, and Heptageniidae), Plecoptera (families Chloroperlidae, Nemouridae and Perloidae), Trichoptera (families Glossosomatidae, Hydropsychidae, and Limnephilidae), Diptera (family Chironomidae), and class Oligochaeta (Lumbriculidae, Niadidae, and Tubificidae).

In general, pond life, including aquatic bed plants and aquatic invertebrates, are also potential receptors. Invertebrate residents of the golf course beaver pond included Diptera (family Chironomidae) and class Oligochaeta. Organisms from the intolerant order Ephemeroptera (families Baetidae and Heptageniidae) were also noted. The cladoceran *Daphnia* cf. *pulex* was also present in this pond. Macroinvertebrate populations from the wetland pond (MI06) consisted almost exclusively of organisms from the order Diptera (family Chironomidae) and class Oligochaeta (families Lumbriculidae, Niadidae, and Tubificidae). Invertebrates from the snowmelt pond represented class Crustacea (order Cladocera), and order Diptera (families Chironomidae and Culicidae). The bluff pond had an invertebrate assemblage similar to the snowmelt pond, except for the Chironomidae, which were not noted.

6.2.1.3 Toxicity Assessment

The toxicity of chemicals of concern is described in relation to aquatic receptors in this section. Both acute and chronic exposures are considered. Acute exposure is considered only in the absence of chronic criteria.

In order to assess the likelihood of toxicity to surface water life, measured surface water concentrations were compared to AWQC, established by EPA for protection of aquatic life. The Alaska WQS for zinc was considered because it is more stringent than federal standards.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The initial screening of site contaminants (Section 6.2.1.1) and exposure pathways (Section 6.2.1.2) reduced the contaminants of concern to those listed and described in the following.

 (\mathbf{r})

۲

۲

Contaminants of Concern

- Fuel hydrocarbons
 - TFH gas
 - TFH diesel
 - JP-4

• Other organics

- PCBs
- xylene
- anthracene
- Inorganics
 - aluminum
 - cadmium
 - copper
 - iron
 - lead
 - zinc.

Fuel Hydrocarbons

TFH gas was detected in the surface water and sediments of the bluff pond (SW/SE08), the golf course beaver pond (SE04 and SE05), and the wetland pond (SE06) (Figure 4-10).

TFH diesel was not found in the surface water, but was detected in the sediments of the golf course beaver pond (SE04 and SE05), the wetland pond (SE06), and the bluff pond (SE08).

JP-4 was detected in the surface water of the bluff pond (SW08) and in the sediment of the golf course beaver pond (SE05).

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The presence of these hydrocarbons caused films, sheens, and discoloration of the waters of the golf course beaver pond, wetland pond, and bluff pond. Based on this presence, the criteria of the Alaska WQS are exceeded. The discussion of laboratory bioassays later in this section indicates acute and chronic toxicity of sediments in the golf course beaver pond; however, it is not clear if fuel hydrocarbons are the direct cause of the bioassay results. \mathbf{c}

۲

. (

Other Organics

PCBs (1,600 μ g/kg) were detected at a toxic concentration in the snowmelt pond (SE07) sediment sample, above the sediment level of concern of 223 μ g/kg (Table 6-27).

Xylene (1,100 μ g/kg) was detected in the golf course beaver pond (SE05) above the endpoint (LC₅₀) toxicity value for total xylenes of 972 μ g/kg (Table 6-27). It was also detected in the bluff pond (SE08) at 6,200 μ g/kg and in the wetland pond (SE06) at 3,700 μ g/kg.

Anthracene (230 μ g/kg) was detected in the wetland pond above the sediment level of concern of 82.8 μ g/kg (Table 6-27).

Inorganics

Aluminum was detected in creek and pond surface waters at concentrations that exceed AWQC. In Ship Creek, aluminum was detected at the reference sample station at 380 μ g/L, which exceeds the AWQC of 87 μ g/L for chronic exposure. At sample station SW02 (immediately upstream of the fish hatchery), aluminum was detected at 569 μ g/L. It appears that if aluminum was indeed toxic at the concentrations reported, creek invertebrate populations, and potentially the hatchery fish stocks, would be at risk from chronic exposure.

6-96

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Although aluminum occurs at high background levels in Alaskan soils, the nature and toxicity of aluminum concentrations detected in the study area surface waters are uncertain.

0

۲

Cadmium was detected in the surface water of drainage ditch SW09 at 1.4 μ g/L, which exceeds AWQC by only 0.3 μ g/L. This ditch is at the downgradient/ downstream end of OU 5 and does not pose a risk to important aquatic receptors within OU 5.

Copper was detected in surface water at one pond (SW13) and one Ship Creek sample station (SW02) at concentrations above AWQC. Based on the very slight exceedance of AWQC in the creek (0.3 μ g/L above AWQC), it is assumed that aquatic receptors within OU 5 are not at significant risk from copper; however, the copper concentrations will be evaluated during risk characterization.

Iron was detected at concentrations above AWQC of 1000 μ g/L in the golf course beaver pond, wetland pond, snowmelt pond, and the bluff pond (see Section 4.4.1). The high concentrations may be associated with the inadvertent sample collection of suspended particulates and iron bacteria associated with near surface groundwater seeps. This assumption is made based on the association of bluff groundwater seeps with high iron concentrations found in the background soils where the seeps occur. From the same surface water sample, the soluble fraction of iron in the bluff pond was detected at a concentration of 309 μ g/L, whereas the total iron was detected at 6,270 μ g/L. The absence of sufficient dissolved iron concentration information for the ponds makes the resolution of iron toxicity uncertain. Iron will be evaluated further in the risk assessment.

Lead was detected in surface water at one pond (SW08) and one Ship Creek sample station (SW02) at concentrations that exceed AWQC. Lead in the bluff pond (2.4 μ g/L above AWQC) may be associated with the suspected disposal of fly ash in or near this pond. The lead in Ship Creek (only 0.5 μ g/L above AWQC) may be associated with the

6-97

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

incomplete combustion of fuel by-products washed off Post Road into the creek. Lead concentrations will be evaluated in the risk characterization section.

Zinc (58.9 μ g/L) was detected in surface water at one pond (SW13) at a concentration that may exceed Alaska WQS (47 μ g/L). However, based on the relatively high hardness of the surface water (188 mg/L), it is assumed that important aquatic receptors are not at significant risk from toxic concentrations of zinc.

Laboratory Bioassays

Toxicity test results were presented in Section 4.5.2.4. The results of the acute toxicity tests show that:

- The surface water and sediment samples from Ship Creek and the drainage ditch (SW09), were not acutely toxic to the test species; and
- The sediment from SE04 at the golf course beaver pond was acutely toxic to the test species.

Based on the acute toxicity test screening of selected surface water and sediment samples in the spring, chronic toxicity tests were conducted on surface water and sediment sampled from the golf course beaver pond in the late summer. The chronic toxicity tests were conducted because of the acute toxicity of the sediments at sample station SE04, and because of the strong fuel hydrocarbon odor detected at the opposite end of the pond at SW/SE05. The results of the chronic toxicity tests show that:

- The surface water samples were not chronically toxic to test species.
- Sediment sample SE04 was not chronically toxic to *Hyalella azteca* based on significant difference testing. However, *Hyalella* growth was approximately 41% of the laboratory control weight, indicating that the statistical analyses may be inappropriate for toxicity interpretation.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Sediment sample SE05 was chronically toxic to *Hyalella azteca*. This sample caused a reduction in *Hyalella* survival, also indicating acute toxicity.

Based on these results, it appears that aquatic receptors are at risk from the concentrations of fuel hydrocarbons and volatiles (total xylenes) detected in the sediment at the golf course beaver pond. Results of the laboratory toxicity testing program are in Section 4.5.

6.2.1.4 Risk Characterization

The aquatic habitats of concern are those near contaminant sources and those ecologically coupled to contaminated areas. Surface water, near surface groundwater, and sediment sampling results have indicated elevated concentrations of contaminants of concern to ecological receptors. The following discussion evaluates the potential risks to aquatic receptors.

Aquatic Exposure Pathway Risks

Beaver Pond (SW/SE13). No organic contaminants were detected, other than an unknown hydrocarbon (8.5 mg/kg) in the sediment. Copper (20.1 μ g/L) exceeded AWQC, and zinc (58.9 μ g/L) exceeded Alaska WQS, indicating potential toxicity to aquatic animals. No toxicity tests were conducted on surface water and sediments, and no definitive conclusions can be made about risk to aquatic receptors (macroinvertebrates and aquatic bed plants, no fish), because of limited chemical toxicity data. However, aquatic invertebrates (*Daphnia* spp.) were observed in the water column during sampling activities, indicating a favorable environment for the species (see Section 6.2.2 for discussion of potential stress to terrestrial [riparian zone] plants).

Golf Course Beaver Pond (SW/SE04 and SW/SE05). With the exception of surface oil sheens at the northeast end of the pond at SW05, organic and inorganic elements

Elemenderf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

detected in the surface water do not appear to represent risk to aquatic receptors. For instance, free-swimming aquatic insects (*Daphnia spp.*) were observed in this pond, where the iron (2720 μ g/L) was detected above chronic criterion. However, as laboratory toxicity test results indicate, sediment toxicity at SE04 may be apparent, since the growth of test species was measured at less than half that of the control specimens. Sediment was chronically toxic to test species at SE05 and resulted in reduced survival.

Based on a comparison of the sediment levels of concern (Table 6-27) to contaminant detections in the pond at SE05, organic contaminants exceed endpoint toxicity values for total xylenes. Additionally, at SE04 and SE05, JP-4, TFH-diesel, and TFH-gas in the sediment are assumed to be at levels adverse to aquatic life protection, although no criteria other than LC_{50} values for fuel hydrocarbons in solution (see Table 6-38 in Terrestrial Assessment) are available.

In general, based on the results of laboratory toxicity tests, detection of total xylenes $(1,100 \ \mu g/kg)$ above endpoint toxicity $(972 \ \mu g/kg)$, visible oil sheens and odors, fuel hydrocarbon concentrations in the near surface ground water above LC₅₀ endpoint values, and the results of qualitative and quantitative benthic macroinvertebrate analysis (RBP I), aquatic receptors (aquatic bed plants and macroinvertebrates, no fish) are clearly at risk in the northeast end of the pond (at SE05), as indicated, in part, by the restricted community structure of midges and aquatic worms. At the southwest end of the pond (SE04), there are indications of stress to aquatic receptors, based on toxicity bioassays and macroinvertebrate data from the RBP I assessment and analysis of quantitative samples. Potential contamination could be from contaminant drift toward the southwest (downstream) end of the pond from the northeast end. However, it may be more likely that the fuel hydrocarbon concentrations in the sediment, which are less than those found at the opposite (northwest/upstream) end of the pond, are the cause for risk to aquatic receptors.

Additionally, aquatic bed plants were not observed during the spring sampling, and were observed to be just budding out of the sediment during the late summer sampling.

Bimeader! APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Based on the observance of mature aquatic bed plants in a nearby pond (old power plant cooling water pond), it appears that the occurrence of contaminants of concern (fuel hydrocarbons) in the sediment could, in part, be limiting plant growth. Sedimentation of the pond bottom may also be the cause; however, sediment transport and increased turbidity were not observed to occur even during heavy rains. The cause of a reduced growth pattern of aquatic bed plans is not clear but may be from the sediment contaminant load. More investigation would be required to determine the cause.

Wetland Pond (SW/SE06). TFH-gas (110 mg/kg), TFH-diesel (7,400

mg/kg), total xylene (3700 μ g/kg), and anthracene (230 μ g/kg) were detected in the sediments, and xylene and anthracene exceeded the endpoint toxicity values of 972 μ g/kg, and 82.8 μ g/kg, respectively, for sediment level of concern. Also, fuel hydrocarbon concentrations in the near surface groundwater (at nearby seeps SL16 and SL17) were detected above LC₅₀ endpoint values.

Aquatic receptors at this shallow wetland pond site are limited to aquatic insects and emergent wetland vegetation. Qualitative and quantitative analyses of benthic macroinvertebrates indicate a restricted community structure of midges and aquatic worms, but not as restricted as that noted in the golf course beaver pond site MI05. Still, the benthic community structure represents tolerant taxa that can generally withstand adverse conditions.

Based on these observations, and the absence of organic contaminants downstream (Ship Creek at SW/SE03), it is concluded that risk to aquatic receptors from organic contaminants in this pathway is restricted to this localized wetland pond environment. Downstream aquatic receptors in Ship Creek do not appear to be at risk, because the wetland pond contaminants appear to be bound in the sediment.

Snowmelt Pond (SW/SE07). PAHs were detected in the sediments, but at concentrations well below sediment concentrations of concern. Organic chemical concentrations detected in the near surface groundwater are also below contaminant levels of concern.

Bimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

PCBs (Aroclor 1260) were detected in the sediments at 1.6 mg/kg, which is above the sediment level of concern of 0.223 mg/kg. PCBs may accumulate in the sediments after surface application or spills. The aquatic receptors in this pond (benthic macroinvertebrates) would appear to be at risk from exposure to PCBs in the sediment from contact with the PCBs, or ingestion of the contaminant. However, the presence of chironomids at the water/ sediment interface would suggest that the contaminant is not biologically available, or the organisms present are highly resistant to the contaminant. Larsson (1984) discusses PCB uptake and bioconcentration by chironomids suggesting that the organisms may be resistant. This article also suggests the importance of these organisms as transporters of the contaminant to higher food chain organisms such as fish, diving ducks, and insectivorous birds (chironomid adults).

4

€

٩,

Based on the extent of chemical contaminants of concern in this pond, namely PCBs, it does not appear that aquatic receptors other than the benthic macroinvertebrate community are at risk. No fish are present, and the water depth inhibited the observation of aquatic bed plants, if any. A risk to aquatic receptors downstream (Ship Creek downstream of Yakutat Street) could occur if a significant section of the beaver dam collapsed. The sediment (with PCBs) could be picked up by the water rushing out of the pond through the dam breach. The sudden discharge would, in part, follow drainage ditches to Ship Creek and deposit the contaminants in the creek bed where anadromous Pacific salmon have been observed. However, the extent of the PCBs in the local pond sediments, and the long-term integrity of the beaver dam are unclear. A more focused investigation of the pond substrate and PCB contaminant load would be necessary to eliminate the uncertainties of this assessment.

Bluff Pond (SW/SE08). Lead (14.8 μ g/L) and TFH-gas (400 μ g/L) were detected in the surface water above AWQC and Alaska WQS, respectively. Xylene (6,200 μ g/kg) exceeded the sediment level of concern of 972 μ g/kg. Fuel hydrocarbons TFH-diesel (1,100 mg/kg) and TFH-gas (700 mg/kg) were also detected at high concentrations in the sediment.

Elmondorf APB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The aquatic receptors at risk in this waterbody are limited to aquatic insects. The invertebrate community associated with the water column were culicids (mosquito pupa) and cladocerans (water fleas) (RBP I qualitative sampling). The cladocerans are routinely used as bioassay organisms. Their presence in the water column would suggest that at least the water itself was not acutely toxic to the organisms. No organisms associated with the sediments were collected. 4

Based on observation of the flow patterns during light to moderate rain, it appears that contaminant runoff from the bluff pond could be washed out from this pond and flow down the bluff to the drainage ditch at sample station SW09, which in turn flows west to Ship Creek. However, the contaminants could also be rapidly diluted with stormwater runoff before they entered Ship Creek. Therefore, aquatic receptors downgradient/ downstream of this potential contaminant source may be at risk. Further investigations would be necessary to eliminate uncertainties of this assessment.

Drainage Ditches (SW/SE09 and SW/SE10). Cadmium (1.4 μ g/L) was detected at sample station SW09 in the surface water at a concentration above the AWQC of 1.1 μ g/L (based on assumed hardness of 100 mg/L). However, based on hardness values of a nearby upgradient pond (bluff pond hardness = 291 mg/L), it is suspected, that cadmium in the drainage ditch surface water is not chronically toxic to downstream aquatic receptors.

Phenol was the only organic compound detected in the sediment sample (SE09 at 72 mg/kg). The source of the phenol in the sediments is unclear; it may be runoff from the bluff pond. No significant aquatic receptors are at risk at these locations, although the drainage ditches provide a pathway for contaminant runoff to Ship Creek.

Ship Creek (SW/SE01, 62, 03, 11, and SE12). Lead $(1.7 \mu g/L)$ and copper (7.8 $\mu g/L$) were detected in the surface water slightly above AWQC at SW02. No other organic or inorganic contaminants of concern were detected in the creek surface water or sediments above AWQC, LOAELs, or sediment levels of concern. Lead was not detected in

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

the surface water at the reference site (SW01); however, it was detected at sample station SW02, which receives runoff from Post Road. Because lead has been used as fuel additive, the source may be from background levels caused by the incomplete combustion of fuels from vehicles. The source of the elevated copper concentration at SW02 is not clear. The results of acute toxicity tests and qualitative and quantitative analysis of benthic macroinvertebrate populations indicate that aquatic receptors at this sample station, or Ship Creek in general, are not at risk from OU 5 contaminants of concern. ۲

(

Based on community diversity, taxa richness, and numerical abundance, benthic macroinvertebrate populations remained relatively constant. The changes in community structure and function were considered more indicative of eutrophication processes and probably were not associated with OU 5 contaminants of concern.

6.2.1.5 Conclusions and Limitations

Aquatic habitats surveyed during the 1992 RI surveys for the ecological risk assessment are similar to those observed during the 1991 Ecological Survey (CH2M Hill, 1992c) and those described by Rothe et al (1983). The conclusions are limited by the level of detail in which the aquatic habitat conditions were surveyed.

Indications of aquatic ecosystem impacts were found in some pond environments, as shown by oil sheens, shoreline oil sludges, fuel odors, the absence or arrested development of aquatic vegetation in several surface water bodies, the reduced communities of benthic macroinvertebrates in the northeast end of the golf course beaver pond (compared to the southwest end of the pond), and the results of laboratory toxicity tests. The apparent absence of any resident fish species in the golf course beaver pond (SW04-05) and snowmelt pond (SW07) may have been caused by contaminants of concern, although it is more likely that these lower bluff beaver ponds have been inaccessible to fish. The causes inhibiting growth of the aquatic plants in the golf course beaver pond could not be determined, but appeared to be something other than oxygen deprivation caused by sedimentation. The

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

appearance of stunted aquatic plant growth may be from the cumulative effects of potential contaminants, or the absence of a sufficient nutrient load (for example, phosphorus and nitrogen) to enhance aquatic plant growth. The data are not adequate to reach definitive conclusions about the causes of limited aquatic plant growth.

The risk characterization indicated that the most likely impacts of contaminants on aquatic ecological receptors in OU 5 would be caused by the following:

• Dermal contact/absorption of fuel hydrocarbons, anthracene, and total xylenes in certain pond sediments to benthic macroinvertebrates; and

()

• Metabolic uptake/inhibition effects of contaminants of concern in pond sediments to aquatic bed plants and emergent vegetation.

These conclusions are limited by the data (toxicity tests and AWQC), that are not adequate to assess potential risks of a particular contaminant, or multiple contaminants, by multiple exposure routes; and because organisms were not analyzed for potential tissue uptake.

Comparing observations during the aquatic ecological survey and conclusions of risk characterization to ARARs indicates that federal water quality criteria and Alaska WQS for fuel hydrocarbons are not being met in the golf course beaver pond (SW05) and the bluff pond (SW08).

6.2.2 Terrestrial Resources

Terrestrial habitats, vegetation, and fauna were described in Section 3.6.2. Briefly, the areas of greatest concern are between the bluff (located south of Bluff Road and Second Street) and Ship Creek. These areas include a range of wooded to grass and sedge habitats, interspersed with many open water bodies and wetlands, as shown on Figure 3-14. The nature and extent of contamination in these habitats was described in Section 4, and the conceptual model was presented in Section 5.

Emendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Assessment endpoints (the environmental values to be protected) for terrestrial receptors include the following:

- Integrity of wildlife habitats in OU 5;
- No significant impacts of environmental contaminants in OU 5 on wildlife species; and

 (\mathbf{v})

۲

4)

• Compliance with federal and state ARARs.

Measurement endpoints include the following:

- General habitat conditions, including vegetation and animals within OU 5, as assessed through qualitative surveys;
- Evidence of impaired ecosystem health, as shown by plant stress or by actual or potential contaminant impacts on plants and animals through comparisons of observed concentrations to documented effect levels; and
- Comparison of observations and contaminant concentrations to ARARs.

6.2.2.1 Selection of Site Contaminants

Several screening criteria were used to identify which of the contaminants reported at OU 5 are not likely to produce adverse ecological effects and which should be evaluated in more detail. The screening methodologies used conservative assumptions so that potential adverse effects are not likely to be underestimated. These assumptions include:

- 100% of an animal's diet is composed of soil;
- 100% of an animal's diet is from contaminated areas; and
- Selected criteria are generally from studies on the most sensitive species.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Because of these intentional biases, screening-level assessments can be appropriate for identifying unlikely potential impacts and selecting chemicals for further analysis, but cannot be used to show that an impact is likely.

Direct measurements of soil gasses are not available to assess potential inhalation hazards to small mammals (for example, voles and shrews) that live in shallow burrows throughout the bluff area.

Vapors of selected volatile organic chemicals were measured in the soil gas survey as indicators for the locations where soils and groundwater would be analyzed from soil borings and monitoring wells (see Sections 2.1.2 and 4.1). The soil gas sampling was accomplished with on-site analyses that were intended only for screening purposes; the analyses are not considered to be of sufficient quality that they can be used for risk assessment.

It was possible to estimate contaminant concentrations in some other portions of OU 5, however. Concentrations of various contaminants in the vapor phase of an air space in soil were estimated from measurements of contaminant concentrations in soil or groundwater.

Estimates were made for the maximum detected concentrations of contaminants in soils where plant stress was observed (Table 4-20) and in shallow groundwater analyzed during the soil gas survey (Section 4.1). Although the soil gas survey analyses were performed at an on-site laboratory, and the results were intended only for screening purposes, the groundwater analyses are considered to be of sufficient quality for the estimations being made here. The following assumptions were made for both the soil and the groundwater concentrations:

• Equilibrium conditions exist; concentrations of all phases are constant over time;

b

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

 Linear relationships exist between the concentrations of contaminants in the three phases; and • No air exchange occurs with the surface air.

For calculations based on groundwater concentrations, Henry's Law was applied. Henry's constant is the proportionality constant between the liquid phase concentrations. Values for Henry's constants were selected from an on-line database (HSDB, 1992), except that values for the fuel mixtures were obtained from the literature (BEIA, 1989).

For calculations based on soil concentrations, the soil distribution constant was input. The on-line database was the source of the constants for the single compounds. A range of values was available for mixtures; the most conservative numbers (contaminant preferring water and vapor phase to soil phase) were selected (Arthur D. Little, Inc., 1987). Once water concentrations were calculated, Henry's Law was applied. Soil calculations required a value for the organic carbon in soil and a relatively low value, 0.5 percent, was selected.

Estimates for the fuels, gasoline, jet fuel, and diesel were made assuming that the fuels have constant properties (Henry's constant and organic carbon partition coefficient). In fact, these mixtures have compositions that vary depending on the fuel grade, and vary over time as the different fractions migrate and transform. The more volatile fractions will volatilize at a greater rate than the heavier fractions.

The calculated maximum soil vapor concentrations for chemicals measured in groundwater are presented in Table 6-29 and those for chemicals measured in soils from plant stress areas are presented in Table 6-30. In each of these tables, the maximum calculated concentrations are compared to acute and chronic exposure effect levels by inhalation in mammals (insofar as data are available). Except for fuel hydrocarbons, all estimated maximum concentrations in soil vapor are below the exposure effect levels, and only fuel hydrocarbons will be considered further through the inhalation pathway.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

0

۲

)

Comparison of Estimated Maximum Soil Vapor Concentrations From Groundwater to Acute and Chronic Exposure Effect Levels by Inhalation in Mammals

	Constanting in		time fo	Engeneuro Effect Lovais (mg/m ²)			
C1	Constant top-utions	Puro Water (ag/it		Acres	Chruit?	References	
cis-1,2-dichlorocthene	3.37E-03	53	7.30	65,000 (2-hr)	ND	BEIA, 1989	
trans-1,2-dichloroethene	6.72E-03	9	2.47	75,000 (2-hr)	ND	BEIA, 1989	
1,1,1-Trichlorosthans	8.00E-03	2	0.65	73,710 (10-hr)	737	Verschueren, 1983; Prendergast et al, 1967	
Trichloroethene	1. 03E-02	12	5.05	29,590 (10-hr)	>3,927	Scigel, 1971; BEIA, 1989	
Tetrachlorosthene	1.49E-02	0.06	0.04	35,256 (4-hr)	ND	BEIA, 1989	
Benzene	5.50E-03	82	18	31, 836	2,552	BEIA, 1989; NTIS, 1989	
Toluene	6.64E-03	170	46	19,981 (8-hr)	ND	NIOSH, 1973	
Bthylbenzene	8.44E-03	310	107	17,360 (4-hr)	4,340	Androws et al, 1981; Hardin et al, 1981; BELA, 1989	
Total xylenes	7.04E-03	630	181	21,700 (4-hr)	3,403	BEIA, 1989; NTIS, 1990	
TVHC (C ₊₄)*	5.60E-03	510,000	117,000	135,000 (5-min)	1,6194	BEIA, 1989; HSDB, 1992; MacFariand et al, 1984	
ТVНС (С ₁₉₋₁) [•]	2.90E-04	11,000	130	?	150 ^f	BEIA, 1989; HSDB, 1992	

⁶ Data from Section 4.1.
⁶ Subistial effects in varying time exponence.
⁷ Total volatile hydrocarbons within the range of gasoline hydrocarbons.
⁴ No observed adverse effect level calculated as 230 mg/m³ (Dollarhide, 1992).

⁴ Total volatile hydroserbons within the range of dicael hydrocarbons.
 ⁴ Lowest observed adverse effect level, 90-day exposures (Dollachide, 1992).
 ⁴ ND = not determined

٢

۲

۲

Comparison of Maximum Estimated Soil Vapor Concentrations From Soils^{*} to Acute and Chronic Exposure Effect Levels by Inhalation in Mammals

••••		Contact Contact Notation Contact Subject	c			Region Philip Lords		
			3		33	Acute	Chrutz	References
Dennes	5.506-03	31	14.9	96.13	22	31,836	2,552	BELA, 1989; NTIS, 1989
Tokens	6.648-03	95	63.9	134.53	37	19,961 (8-br)	7	NIOSH, 1973
Bhylbeanene	8.448-03	250	393	314.40	109	17,360 (4-hr)	4,340	Androws et al, 1981; Hardin et al, 1981; BEIA, 1989
Total xylense	7.048-03	204	8360	8196.08	2360	21,700 (4-hr)	3,403	BEIA, 1989; NTIS, 1990
Gasoline	5.608-03	65	670,000	2,060,000	472,000	135,000 (5-min)	1,619*	BEIA, 1989; HSDB, 1992; MacParland et al, 1984
Dissel	2.906-04	962	720,000	150,000	1,780	?	150	Dollarhide, 1992

* Data from Section 4.6.1.

^b Sublethal effects in varying time exponence.
 ^c No observed effect level calculated as 230 mg/m² (Dollarhide, 1992).

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

High concentrations of PAHs $(5,050 \ \mu g/kg)$ were found in soils within 2 feet of the surface at SB29 (Section 4.2). The concentration is adequate to provide a potential risk to exposed terrestrial animals. Risk was established by the comparison of a literaturederived toxicity value for chronic exposure (0.002 mg/kg body weight [bw], Eisler, 1987a) to the observed soil concentration. As a simplifying assumption, it was assumed that 100 percent of the material is benzo(a)pyrene. This is believed to be a conservative assumption because benzo(a)pyrene is considered to be among the most toxic of the PAH chemical group. ۲

۲

8

4)

A direct comparison of the soil concentration to the toxicity value could not be completed due to inconsistent units. However, the toxicity value as well as the soil concentration can be adjusted to provide comparable values for use in assessing risk. Toxicity values such as LOAEL, NOAEL, and LD_{50} values are reported in units of mg/kg bw/day for the organism of study, typically a rat or mouse. To compare the derived toxicity value to the observed soil concentrations, the toxicity value must be adjusted to represent a total dose. This is accomplished by removing the kg bw factor by multiplying the toxicity value by the body weight of the organism of study in kilograms. Lewis (1992) has compiled estimates of average body weights for species of animals used for toxicity testing. The average body weight for a mouse is 25 g (or 0.025 kg); based on these numbers, the toxicity value (NOAEL, LOAEL, or LD_{50}) can be adjusted to derive a total dose.

Assuming the exposed organism ingests 100% soil in its daily diet, an exposure does was derived from the soil concentration by converting the concentration to mg chemical/mg soil (equal to 0.00000505 mg PAH/mg soil) and then multiplying by the organism's ingestion rate. Lewis (1992) reported the average ingestion rate of food by a mouse to be 3 gm/day, or 3000 mg.

To assess the potential risk posed to terrestrial organisms exposed to chemicals in the soil, the literature-derived toxicity value was adjusted to derive a total dose estimate, assuming 100 percent soil ingestion. The resulting dose correlative to toxicity is $0.05 \ \mu g/day$

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

C 🕴
(0.002 mg/kg bw/day \times 0.025 kg bw = 0.00005 mg/day or 0.05 µg/day). Assuming a mouse would ingest 3000 mg of the contaminated soil, the mouse would ingest a total dose of 15.15 µg PAH per day. This exceeds the toxicity dose of 0.05 µg/day, which correlates to the incidence of tumors in mice. Therefore, the potential for risk may exist and PAHs have been retained for further assessment.

Metals and other inorganics found in soils within the areas below the bluff where plant stress was observed (Section 4.6) can be compared to background soils from elsewhere on Elmendorf AFB. These elements were measured in alluvial and moraine soils in a background soil sampling program, as described in Section 4.2 and in the Basewide Background Sampling Report (CH2M Hill, 1992a). If individual on-site values are greater than the upper tolerance limits calculated from the background soils data, it is extremely unlikely that they are part of the background population. The OU 5 soils from below the bluff also were compared to the interim Canadian environmental quality criteria for contaminated sites (CCME, 1991) as a screening procedure. These comparisons to Elmendorf AFB background soils and Canadian remediation criteria are shown in Table 6-31. The Canadian remediation criteria are intended for generic use and do not address site-specific conditions, but they are considered generally protective of human and environmental health (CCME, 1991). The criteria presented in Table 6-31 are those for agricultural uses of soils and serve as benchmarks to evaluate the need for further investigation or remediation with respect to such use. For risk screening purposes, these criteria are considered suitable for evaluating potential accumulation or adverse effects in plants growing in OU 5 habitats. The following elements were found at elevated concentrations in comparison to background soils or the interim remediation criteria: arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, calcium, chromium, copper, lead, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, silver, sodium, and zinc.

To further screen these elements, the maximum detected concentrations were compared to maximum tolerable dietary levels of minerals for domestic animals (NAS, 1980; Table 6-32). The maximum tolerable level was defined as "that dietary level that, when fed

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Soils from OU 5 with Elmendorf AFB Background Soils and Canadian Interim Remediation Criteria

	Maximum	Detected*	Elmen Backgr	dorf AFB ound Soils ^b	
Element	2* - 12*	12* - 36*	0" - 6"	6" - 36"	Remediation Criteria ^e
Aluminum	18,400	19,700	25,000	23,800	
Antimony	15.0	8.9	?	?	20
Arsenic	28.2	8.7	13.1	9.60	20
Barium	3,650	1,430	154	171	750
Beryllium	1.3	1.1	0.62	0.55	4
Boron	33.2	37.2	-		2
Cadmium	3.1	1.8	1.95	1.90	3
Calcium	35,300	20,400	7,318	7,151	
Chromium	39.0	64.3	34.3	45.3	750
Cobalt	12.5	13.9	12.6	14.3	40
Copper	38.0	32.0	24.8	28.3	150
Iron	37,800	34,600	32,700	32,000	
Lead	87.2	22.3	11.1	7.00	375
Magnesium	8,960	9,810	6,610	10,100	
Manganese	10,7004	7,860	738	742	
Mercury	0.30	0.31	6.15	0.22	0.8
Molybdenum	24.8	3.4	-		5
Nickel	36.3	54.9	31.7	44.5	150
Potassium	908	865	685	630	
Selenium	1.1	3.1	0.51	0.29	2
Silver	22.0	1.5	1.60	1.20	20
Sodium	1,430	929	381	317	
Thallium	0.87	0.59	?	?	1
Vanadium	66.4	81.1	83.1	76.6	200
Zinc	159	86.4	77.7	62.9	600

Data from Section 4.6.

Values shown are upper tolerance limits for the 99th percentile with a 95 percent confidence level (CH2M HILL 1992a).

Values abown are interim remediation criteria for agricultural uses of soils (CCME, 1991).

Excluding a value of 199,000 mg/kg, where the 12" to 24" depth sample contained 7860 mg/kg manganese.

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Soils from OU 5 that Exceeded Elmendorf AFB Background Soils or Canadian Interim Remediation Criteria with Maximum Tolerable Dietary Levels for Domestic Animals

	Maximum Detected*	Tolerable Lovel*
Amenic	28.2	50
Barium	3,650	(20) ^{e,4}
Beryllium	1.3	-
Boron	37.2	150
Cadmium	3.1	0.5
Calcium	35,300	12,000
Chromium	64.3	1,000
Copper	38.0	25
Iroa	37,800	500
Lead	87.2	30
Magnesium	9,810	(3,000) ⁴
Manganese	10, 700*	(400) ⁴
Mercury	0.31	2
Molybdenum	24.8	10
Nickel	54.9	50
Potassium	908	(20,000) ⁴
Selenium	3.1	2
Silver	22.0	100
Sodium	1,430	20,000
Vanadium	81.1	10
Zinc	159	300

[•] Data from Section 4.6.

^b Lowest maximum concentrations among cattle, sheep, poultry, and rabbits are shown (NAS 1980).

* As soluble salts of high bioavailability. Higher levels of less soluble forms found in natural substances can be tolerated.

⁴ Value derived by interspecific extrapolation.

Excluding a value of 199,000 mg/kg, where the 12-inch to 24-inch depth sample contained 7,860 mg/kg menganese.

for a limited period, will not impair animal performance and should not produce unsafe residues in human food derived from the animal." Many factors (such as age and physiological status of the animal, its nutritional status, levels of various other dietary components, duration and route of exposure, and biological availability of the compound) influence the level at which an element causes an adverse effect. The endpoints assessed in the review by the National Academy of Sciences (NAS, 1980) varied widely by element, animal species, and individual study, so they reflect many different possible biological effects of excessive dietary levels. Examples include effects on growth rate, biochemical or morphological lesions, mortality, and bioaccumulation of the element in animal tissues. The domestic species included cattle, sheep, poultry, and rabbits, which are considered as surrogates for ecological receptors such as moose, beavers, voles, and birds found in OU 5. This screening approach assumed that the animals ate only soil; thus, for the elements with maximum detected concentrations below the tolerable level, those elements should not be toxic to animals. The following elements were retained through this screening process: barium, beryllium, cadmium, calcium, copper, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, nickel, selenium, and vanadium. These elements will be considered in relation to possible ingestion by animals and their potential for causing adverse effects through that exposure pathway. Relationships between soil chemistry parameters measured in soils supporting plants that showed signs of stress (Section 4.6.1.1) also will be evaluated further.

As an additional screening for site contaminants, concentrations of inorganic elements in plants from OU 5 (see Section 4.6) were compared to maximum tolerable levels of dietary minerals for domestic animals (NAS, 1980; Table 6-33). The following elements exceeded the maximum tolerable dietary levels in one or more plant samples: cadmium, calcium, iron, lead, magnesium, manganese, and potassium. These elements will be considered further in the risk assessment.

Although selenium was reported at 3.2 mg/kg (which exceeds the 2.0 mg/kg tolerable level), this concentration was the limit of detection and selenium concentrations are

Eissendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Comparison of Maximum Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Plants from OU 5 with Maximum Tolerable Dietary Levels for Domestic Animals

Blanent	Maximum Detected	Tolerable Level*
Arsenic	3.2*	50
Boron	65.2	150
Cadmium	0.58	0.5
Calcium	28,100	12,000
Chromium	1.6	1,000
Cobalt	6.9	10
Copper	11.2	25
Iron	1,370	500
Lead	47.6	30
Magnesium	6,570	3,000
Manganese	484	(400) ⁴
Molybdenum	3.9	10
Nickel	6.5	50
Potassium	26,600	20,000
Selenium	3.2°	2
Sodium	1,750	20,000
Zinc	95.8	300

* Data from Section 4.6.

Lowest maximum concentration among cattle, sheep, positry, and rabbits is shown (NAS 1980).

· Limit of detection.

⁴ Value derived by interspecific extrapolation.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

not expected to reach that level on the basis of selenium concentrations and pH in soils at this area.

Concentrations of inorganic elements in plants from OU 5 also were compared to several criteria to evaluate their status as being present at background, deficient, or toxic levels in the plants (Table 6-34). These evaluation levels have been developed by Bodek et al (1988) and by Kabata-Pendias and Pendias (1992) to summarize available information for a wide range of plant species and environmental conditions. Thus, the range of concentrations found in plants from OU 5 should be expected to fall within the background levels. The following elements either exceed background/normal levels, excessive/toxic levels, or tolerable levels for agronomic crops in one or more plant samples: arsenic (although the detection limit was higher than the minimum value for the excessive level), cobalt, iron, lead, manganese, nickel, and selenium (where the detection limit exceeded the background level for plants). Some plant samples had boron, copper, or zinc concentrations in the range where deficiencies could occur.

Seeps and surface water (Section 4.4) as well as shallow groundwater that may discharge to the surface (Sections 4.1 and 4.3) are potential sources of exposure for semi-aquatic wildlife within OU 5. Concentrations of contaminants in these waters were compared to water quality criteria and to no observed adverse effect levels in the previous section (6.2.1) in relation to aquatic resources.

Table 6-35 provides a summary of the site contaminants that were selected for further evaluation in the risk assessment for terrestrial resources.

6.2.2.2 Exposure Assessment

Exposure pathways for ecological receptors were described generally in Section 5; these pathways are summarized on Figure 5-4. The potentially complete exposure pathways to primary terrestrial receptors selected for assessment are listed in Table 6-36.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

1

Comparison of Detected Concentrations (mg/kg) for Inorganic Elements in Plants from OU 5 With Various Evaluation Levels

	Ramee of Concentra-		Evaluation	Levels*	
Element	tions Detected	Background/Normal	Deficient	Excessive/Toxic	Tolerable
Arsenic	3.2 - 3.2	0.01 - 1.7	:	3 - 20	•
Boroa	3.7 - 65.2	10 - 200	5 - 30	50 - 200	8
Cadmium	0.20 - 0.58	0.05 - 0.8	1	5 - 30'	3
Calcium	4,080 - 28,100	ł	1	1	
Chromium	0.40 - 1.6	1 - 10.0	1	5 - 30	2
Cobalt	0.30 - 6.9	0.02 - 1	5	15 - 50	5
Copper	2.6 - 11.2	4 - 30	2 - 5	20 - 100	8
lron	131 - 1,370	3 - 300	1	1	
Lead	3.3 - 47.6	01 - 10	1	30 - 300	10
Magnesium	1,060 - 6,570	8	ł	1	t
Manganese	42.5 - 484	15 - 300	10 - 30	300 - 2,000	300
Molybdenum	0.40 - 3.9	0.2 - 5	0.1 - 0.3	10 - 100	
Nickel	1.7 - 6.5	0.1 - 5	1	10 - 100	8
Potassium	4,980 - 26,600	1	1	1	
Selenium	3.2 - 3.2	0.01 - 2	1	S - 100	
Sodium	190 - 1,750	1	1	1	1
Zinc	8.4 - 95.8	8 - 150	10 - 20	100 - 400	300

. .

From Bodek et al. (1988) and Kabata-Pendias and Pendias (1992); daakes indicate values are not given. Data from Section 4.6.

If less than stated concentration for these essential clementa. In agronomic crops (see Kabasa-Pandias and Pandias 1992). Limit of detection Given as 5 - 700 mg/kg by Bodek et al. (1988). Given as >300 - 1,500 mg/kg by Bodek et al. (1988).

.

۲

۲

4)

3

Þ

6

)

\$

)

)

dorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

٢

۲

۲

.

.

•

Summary of Data Sources and Contaminants Selected for Further Evaluations

Data Searce	Continuinante Sciented
Estimated soil vapor concentrations (Tables 6-29, 6-30)	Fuel hydrocarbons
Soil inorganics analyses (Tables 6-31, 6-32)	Arsenic, barium, beryllium, boron, cadmium, calcium, copper, lead, manganese, mercury, molybdenum, selenium, silver, and sodium
Plant tissue analyses (Table 6-33)	Cadmium, iron, lead, and manganese
(Table 6.34)	Arsenic, cobalt, iron, lead, manganese, nickel, and selenium (potentially excessive)
	Boron, copper, and zinc (potentially deficient)
Surface water and near-surface groundwater (Section 6.2.1)	Fuel hydrocarbons, PAHs, semivolatiles, BTEX, aluminum, copper, iron, lead, and zinc

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-119

۲

۲

۲

۲

Ð

Potentially Complete Exposure Pathways to Primary Terrestrial Receptors Selected for Assessment

European and a second s	Exposure Rouis	Receptors	Continuinents	Association Medican
On-site soils	Ingestion/metabolic uptake	Volcs, shrews	PAHs, fuel hydrocar- bons, inorganics	Soils
Animal burrows	Inhalation	Voles, shrews	Fuel hydrocarbons	Soil gas
Surface water bodies	Ingestion/metabolic uptake	Beavers, ducks, wood frogs	Organics, inorganics	Surface water
	Dermal contact/ absorption	Beavers, ducks, wood frogs	Fuel hydrocarbons, inorganics	Surface water
Sceps/wetlands	Metabolic uptake/ inhibition	Plants, beavers, voles, ducks, wood frogs	Fuel hydrocarbons, other organics, inorganics	Soils, surface water, shallow ground- water, plants

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

This table also lists the contaminants of concern and the medium in which they were measured. The only secondary terrestrial receptors for which potential exposure concentrations were measured are herbivorous mammals (for example, beavers and voles) that may feed on vegetation at various locations where plants were collected for analysis. These exposure routes are discussed in the following paragraphs for the four principal exposure points (on-site soils, animal burrows, surface water bodies, and seeps/wetlands). Exposure point concentrations for each of the pathways have been presented in earlier sections (especially Section 4 and in portions of Section 6.2). **4**)

On-Site Soils

Terrestrial animals that ingest soils either through grooming or in association with feeding could be exposed to contaminants present in the soil. Examples of chemicals detected at elevated levels in the soil include PAHs, fuel hydrocarbons, and inorganic elements. The exposures of terrestrial ecological receptors to inorganic elements in soils could occur at dry sites as well as the seeps and wetlands where plant stress was observed (and elevated concentrations were found in soils).

Animal Burrows

Inhalation. Voles and shrews could be exposed to volatile hydrocarbon vapors if they live in the vicinity of contaminated areas. These small mammals live in runways (that is, pathways through vegetation) and shallow burrows that do not normally extend more than a few inches below ground surface⁶. Throughout OU 5 where elevated concentrations of fuel hydrocarbons were found in near-surface soils (Sections 4.2 and 4.6.1) or shallow groundwater (Section 4.1) there is a likelihood that soil vapor concentrations in animal burrows could reach exposure effect levels (as described in Section 6.2.2.1).

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

This information was obtained in a telephone conversation with Allen Richmond, natural resource planner at Elmendorf AFB, on December 1, 1992.

Although no vapor concentrations were measured in animal burrows, the concentrations of gasoline and diesel at both SL04 and SL16 were estimated to exceed the acutely toxic level.

Dermal contact and incidental ingestion of soil by voles and shrews may also be important intake routes. However, available data do not enable reasonably accurate estimation of the risk of adverse effects to small mammals through this pathway.

Surface Water Bodies

Ingestion/Metabolic Uptake. Semi-aquatic species such as beavers, ducks, and wood frogs are the most likely wildlife receptors for exposure through ingestion and metabolic uptake of contaminants found in surface waters, although most wildlife in OU 5 could be exposed through this route. For assessment of this pathway, the protection of aquatic organisms (see Section 6.2.1) is considered to be protective also for semi-aquatic species. It is also not clear to what extent waterborne contaminants in OU 5 may cause effects to terrestrial species through ingestion from surface water bodies or what level of bioconcentration of contaminants could occur there. Hence, this pathway will not be assessed in further detail.

Dermal Contact/Absorption. Beavers, ducks, and wood frogs also are the wildlife species that are most likely to be exposed through contact with fuel hydrocarbons found in surface water bodies. Floating petroleum products, which were observed in greatest abundance in the large beaver pond at SL22, SL23, and SL24, could be contacted by these species during their use of the pond. Beavers, muskrats, ducks, shorebirds, and frogs were observed at that pond where they could be exposed to oil sheens. These species and aquatic plants also could be exposed through contact with dissolved hydrocarbons in the water.

Seeps/Wetlands

Metabolic Uptake/Inhibition. Plants, beavers, voles, ducks, wood frogs, and other terrestrial receptors are potentially exposed to fuel hydrocarbons, other organics, and inorganics in the soils, surface water, and shallow groundwater found at the seeps and wetlands. Those constituents and media, as well as inorganics found in plants, were analyzed during the RI sampling for assessment of potential effects on ecological receptors. In this exposure pathway, chemical concentrations in plants and the soils they were growing in are used for assessment of potential direct effects on plants.

Secondary Terrestrial Receptors

Animals that may feed on plants with elevated concentrations of various inorganic elements could be exposed through ingestion (Figure 5-4). This pathway is presumed to be potentially complete, although food habitats of the herbivorous mammals in OU 5 were not studied.

Predatory birds and mammals that feed on food-chain organisms containing elevated concentrations of contaminants may also be exposed through ingestion. However, larger mammals (including predatory species such as otter, fox, coyote, and bear) are wideranging and were not surveyed during the qualitative surveys that were conducted, although the presence of bear scat in OU 5 was noted. The affected areas of OU 5 are a small portion of the home range for the larger predatory mammals known to occur there. This is also true for predatory birds. Insufficient data are available to model exposure of those animals (such as home range, diet, and dietary contaminant concentrations) in a meaningful way, and obtaining that information was beyond the scope of the Phase 1 risk assessment. However, based on the available data, this exposure pathway for larger predators does not appear to be significant because exposure would be very limited.

6-123

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

There also are enough uncertainties about the food-chain availability of contaminants of concern for smaller predators, such as shrews, to limit the usefulness of modeling this exposure pathway. Some inorganics (such as lead) identified as contaminants of concern (Section 6.2.2.1) may bioaccumulate in food chains of predators to moderate levels, but concentrations of those elements in soils were not greatly elevated above background levels. The degree of food-chain bioaccumulation for those elements variess widely because of site-specific conditions (see also Section 6.2.2.3). Therefore, food-chain bioaccumulation of some inorganics could cause exposure to predators having limited home ranges within OU 5, but the significance of this pathway is uncertain. It should be noted that organochlorines (persistent pesticides and PCBs), which tend to bioaccumulate readily in food-chain organisms, were not identified as contaminants of concern for terrestrial receptors.

Frequency and Duration of Exposure

It is assumed that resident species of terrestrial animals (for example, beavers, voles, shrews, wood frogs) and plants may be continuously exposed to the contaminants in their habitats. Migratory species that nest within OU 5 habitats (such as ducks) may be exposed to site contaminants throughout their seasonal residence (about half of the year, but nesting and early development periods are when birds are most sensitive); other migratory species are not included in the assessment.

Voles and shrews generally live at or near the soil surface, using shallow burrows, logs, and surface runways through vegetation as shelter (Ingles, 1965; Whitaker, 1980). Their burrows in soils such as those below the bluff in OU 5 are usually less than 1 foot below the surface^f. Semi-aquatic species such as beavers, muskrats, ducks, shorebirds, and wood frogs spend much of their time in contact with surface waters. Because these are air-breathing animals, they are frequently at the water's surface where they

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

⁷This information was obtained in a telephone conversation with Allen Richmond, natural resource plasmer at Elimendorf AFB, on December 1, 1992.

could be exposed to chemicals such as fuel hydrocarbons that form a surface sheen. In addition, frog tadpoles live in the water column and frequently contact and/or ingest materials associated with sediments. Ducks and shorebirds also depend on benthic (sedimentassociated) invertebrates as food resources, so they could be affected directly by contaminants the invertebrates have accumulated, or indirectly by reduced food resources if contaminants are toxic to the invertebrates.

6.2.2.3 Toxicity Assessment

The toxicity of chemicals of concern identified for OU 5 is described in relation to terrestrial receptors in this section. Both acute and chronic exposures are considered. The relative importance of these types of exposure varies by chemical and receptor population. Except for acute exposure to floating petroleum hydrocarbons (oil sheens), the chronic exposures are considered more significant and are the primary focus for assessment. The initial screening of site contaminants (Section 6.2.2.1) and pathways (Section 6.2.2.2) reduced the contaminants of concern to those described in the following sections. Because some inorganics were excluded through one screening but not others, general information is presented about the toxicity of most inorganics considered in the assessment.

Fuel Hydrocarbons

Vapors of fuel hydrocarbons can be toxic to animals that inhale them. Dollarhide (1992) calculated a NOAEL of 230 mg/m³ for continuous exposure using the results of the chronic inhalation study for unleaded gasoline (that tested rats and mice), reported by MacFarland et al (1984). Continuous exposures of dogs, rats, or mice to diesel or jet fuels produced a range of sublethal effects (Dollarhide, 1992). Based on results of subchronic inhalation studies using female mice, a LOAEL of 150 mg/m³ was identified for JP-5. Similarly, LOAELs of 500 mg/m³ and 50 mg/m³ were identified for JP-4 and marine diesel fuel, respectively. However, the effects of chronic exposure of voles or shrews to fuel hydrocarbon vapors occurring at various locations within OU 5 have not been tested.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

A comparison of the PAH concentration in soil at SB29 (5050 μ g/kg) to the chronic oral dose causing tumors in mice (0.002 mg/kg bw/day) (Eisler, 1987a) was presented in Section 6.2.2.1. Because of differences in units, these values cannot be compared directly, and the LOAEL (as PAH concentration that causes effects) must be calculated. The PAH concentration equates to 0.00000505 mg PAH/mg soil. If a mouse (the test animal on which the toxicity value is based) eats 3000 mg of food per day (Lewis, 1992), and, as a "worst-case" conservative assumption the mouse eats only soil, it would ingest a dose of 0.01515 mg PAH/day. Assuming that a mouse weighs 0.025 kg (Lewis, 1992), its ingestion dosage would equal 0.606 mg/kg bw day (calculated as 0.01515 mg/day divided by 0.025kg). The LOAEL soil PAH concentration, therefore, can be calculated as 0.0167 mg/kg, based on:

4

5.050 mg/kg $\times \frac{0.002 \text{ mg/kg } bw/day}{0.606 \text{ mg/kg } bw/day}$

Thus, even if the mouse's diet (or that of a similarly sensitive small mammal such as a vole) contained only a trace of the soil, ingestion of this soil on a continuing basis could be toxic.

Albers (1991) reviewed the effects of oil on plants and animals, and several other authors have reported findings that help to assess the toxicity of fuel hydrocarbons to terrestrial receptors. Those effects that are most relevant to OU 5 potential exposures are summarized in the following paragraphs.

Mammals. Mammals that rely primarily on fur for insulation are the most likely to die after contact with spilled oil (Albers, 1991). Oiled fur becomes matted and loses its ability to trap air or water. Skin and eye irritation and interference with normal swimming can also occur. No reports of effects on moose or black bears were found in the literature, but those species rely on their fur for insulation.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Oil ingested in large quantities can kill polar bears (Ursus maritimus), but seals (Otariide and Phocidae) and cetaceans are more resistant to toxic effects because renal clearance is rapid and they can metabolize petroleum (Albers, 1991). Ingested oil can cause gastrointestinal tract hemorrhaging in the European otter (Lutra lutra), renal failure in the polar bear, liver toxicity in laboratory mice, and blood disorders in the polar bear and laboratory rats and mice. Inhalation of evaporating oil is a potential respiratory problem for mammals near or in contact with large quantities of fresh oil. ۲

4

Documentation of the effects of oil spills on non-marine mammals is limited (Albers, 1991). Large numbers of muskrats were killed by a spill of bunker C fuel oil on the St. Lawrence River. Giant kangaroo rats (*Dipodomys ingens*) in California were found dead after being oiled, beaver and muskrats were killed by an aviation kerosene spill in a Virginia river, and rice rats (*Oryzomys palustris*) in a laboratory experiment died after swimming through oil-covered water.

Because of its small size and abundance in tidal wetlands, rice rats were chosen as subjects for studying the possible effects of crude oil spills on marsh mammals by Wolfe and Esher (1981). Two types of crude oil (Texas and Empire) were applied to the water surface at two concentrations. Application rates were 200 and 20 ml of oil to the surface of the water in the tanks (200 and 20 ml/m²). Tests were begun at about 4 pm and concluded at about 8 am. All experimental and control animals, in individual cages with food and water, were placed in an environmental chamber at 5.0°C. Survival and body temperature were checked at 3, 6, and 24 hours. Both concentrations of the two oils significantly inhibited water crossings per night. The comparison of number swimming or not swimming was not different with either concentration of Texas Crude, but was different with both concentrations of Empire Crude. Both oils at high concentrations produced a significant. Mortality was probably due to loss of insulation rather than direct toxic effects. This study demonstrates an effect on swimming behavior and on survival. It can be inferred that an oil slick washing into a tidal wetland would adversely affect populations of rice rats

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

and other semiaquatic mammalian inhabitants such as muskrat, nutria (Myocastor coypus), mink (Mustela vison), and otter (Lutra canadensis). Data indicate that mortality would be high for individuals swimming through oil slicks, especially during the colder months. 14

4

Birds. Birds can be affected by petroleum through external oiling, ingestion, egg oiling, and habitat changes (Albers, 1991). External oiling disrupts feather structure and causes matting of feathers and eye irritation. Mortality often results from hypothermia and drowning. Birds that spend much of their time in the water are the most vulnerable to surface oil.

Petroleum can be ingested through feather preening, drinking, consumption of contaminated food, and inhalation of fumes from evaporating oil (Albers, 1991). Ingestion of oil is seldom lethal, but it can cause many debilitating sublethal effects that promote mortality from other causes, including starvation, disease, and predators. Effects include inflammation and hemorrhaging of the digestive tract, pneumonia, organ damage, red blood cell damage, hormonal imbalance, intoxication, inhibited reproduction, retarded growth in young, and abnormal parental behavior (Fry and Lowenstine, 1982, 1985; Albers, 1991). Bird embryos are very sensitive to petroleum. Contaminated nest material and oiled plumage are mechanisms for transferring oil to the shell surface. Small quantities of some types of oil are sufficient to cause death, particularly during the early stages of incubation.

Petroleum spilled in avian habitats can have immediate and long-term indirect effects on the birds (Albers, 1991). Fumes from evaporating oil, a shortage of food, and cleanup activities can reduce use of an affected area, but long-term effects are more difficult to document.

Unweathered crude and refined oils are known to be very toxic to the embryos of aquatic birds but the toxicity of weathered petroleum is not as well established (Albers and Gay, 1982). The toxicity of Prudhoe Bay crude oil and No. 2 fuel oil to embryos of mallard ducks decreased only after 3 weeks and 2 weeks of weathering on a large container of fresh

6-128

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

water. Although 10 microliters (μ L) of 4-week-old Libyan crude oil caused a significant increase in mortality among embryos of tricolored herons (*Egretta tricolor*), the same amount of fresh oil did not cause a significant increase in mortality. However, embryos of laughing gulls (*Larus atricilla*) were not significantly affected by 10 μ L of 4- or 8-week-old weathered Libyan crude oil or by 10 μ L of fresh oil. Crude oil (10 μ L) recovered from the water surface near the IXTOC-I oil spill site in the Gulf of Mexico did not significantly reduce the survival of mallard embryos by day 18 of incubation.

4

External exposure and ingestion of oil by birds can cause short-term and longterm reproductive problems. Small amounts of weathered crude oil (0.1-2 mL) on breast feathers of seabirds can reduce the number of eggs laid, lower the number of hatching eggs, and reduce breeding success. Lower breeding success decreased the number of birds returning to the nesting area and disrupted pair bonds, which caused lower reproductive success in the years following external exposure to crude oil (Fry et al, 1985; 1986). Japanese quail, Canada geese, and chickens, fed 0.2 g, 2 g, and 0.5 g of bunker C oil respectively, laid fewer eggs, had fewer eggs hatch, and laid eggs with abnormal yolks (Grau et al, 1977).

Bird embryos are most sensitive to toxic compounds in petroleum during the first 10 days of incubation (Albers and Gay, 1982). Six of 7 groups of 50 mallard eggs were treated with either 1, 5, or 20 μ L of unweathered aviation kerosene or 1, 5, or 20 μ L of aviation kerosene collected by cleanup crews 2 to 5 days after the Manassas, Virginia, spill. The seventh group was an untreated control. Both substances were applied to the surface of the egg near the air cell end by microliter syringe. The 20 μ L treatments consisted of four 5 μ L applications.

Egg hatching success of the control group was not significantly different from that of any of the groups treated with unweathered or weathered aviation kerosene (Albers and Gay, 1982). Hatching success was not dose-related for either substance. No significant differences among groups were found for the developmental ages of dead embryos; means

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

varied from 19.1 to 21.6 days. These results mean that the eggs of waterfowl nesting near the spill site were probably not endangered by plumage transfer of small amounts of partially weathered kerosene to the eggs. 6

4

The lack of any toxic effect of aviation kerosene on duck embryos is probably attributable to the absence of high molecular weight aromatic hydrocarbons that are present in crude and fuel oils (Albers and Gay, 1982). Tricyclic and higher aromatic hydrocarbons, alone or in combination with other aromatic hydrocarbons, can cause significant amounts of mortality in duck embryos. Tetracyclic and higher aromatic hydrocarbons were responsible for reduced growth and other physiological changes in herring gull (*Larus argentatus*) chicks and increased corticosterone and thyroxine levels in herring gull and black guillemot (*Cepphus grylle*) chicks. Consequently, further weathering of the residual aviation kerosene probably would not alter the demonstrated effect of the 2- to 5-day-old sample.

Amphibians. Mortality rates in bullfrogs (Rana catesbeiana) were most severe in tadpoles that were in the late stages of development when exposed to oil. Sensitivity to oil of wood frogs and the spotted salamander (Ambystoma maculatum) was similar to two species of fish (Albers, 1991).

Bullfrogs occupy a central position in the freshwater aquatic food web (McGrath and Alexander, 1979). They are dependent on water throughout their life cycle. Laboratory experiments were conducted to determine the effects of exposure to oil on bullfrog tadpoles. The concentrations of Bunker C (#6) fuel oil used in the experimental jars ranged from 0.13, 0.36, and 10 percent by volume, measured by the total volume per jar of 2.4 liters. Duration of exposure time varied from 96 to 120 hours.

Initially, all tadpoles were observed either to rest on the bottom or to swim actively in apparent feeding motions, both of which are normal behavior activities for tadpoles in the wild (McGrath and Alexander, 1979). However, within a period of approximately 7.5 hours, 72.8 percent of the total number of animals exposed to oil,

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

regardless of the concentration, began to float on the surface. Sensitivity to oil was related to the developmental stages of the tadpole. Animals that had reached the XXVI stage of development were less tolerant of the oil, as seen by a significantly higher mortality rate. All animals, regardless of the developmental stage or concentration of oil, experienced a floating response frequently accompanied by a swollen heart-shaped appearance and lethargy. Lungs of these swollen animals were grossly inflated and occupied a larger-thannormal portion of the body cavity. ۲

4)

Short-term lethality tests were conducted with five (waste oil, No. 1 fuel oil, No. 2 fuel oil, mixed blend sweet crude oil, Lloydminister crude oil) oils and four freshwater species by Hedtke and Puglisi (1982). The oils were tested as floating layers, emulsions, and as the water-soluble fraction of 10 percent oil-water mixtures, in static and flow-through tests. The organisms tested were the American flagfish (*Jordanella floridae*), the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*), and larvae of the wood frog and spotted salamander. LC_{50} values were quite variable depending on a number of influencing factors, including the species tested, the type of oil, differences between batches of the same oil, the form of the oil when added to the test system, the type of test, duration of exposure, and the oil-water contact time. Results of these tests are presented in Table 6-37.

Criteria and Standards. The following criteria and standards apply to the toxicity assessment for fuel hydrocarbons in surface water within OU 5.

Federal water quality criteria for aquatic life (EPA, 1986d) are as follows:

- 0.01 of the lowest continuous flow 96-hour LC₅₀ to several important freshwater and marine species, each having a demonstrated high susceptibility to oils and petrochemicals;
- Levels of oils or petrochemicals in the sediment which cause deleterious effects to the biota should not be allowed; and
- Surface waters shall be virtually free from floating nonpetroleum oils of vegetable or animal origin, as well as petroleum-derived oils.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

۲

۲

				LC _o is pl	Tuelcant Sul	ution/L
Type of CB	OR When Added	of Test	Travel	24 bears	Si hours	8 days
Used Crankcase	Water-soluble	Static	A. flagfish	52,500	36,200	16,800
	fraction	Flow-through	A. flagfish	45,500	9,500	
		Flow-through	Pathead minnow	20,200	16,600	16,600
	Emulsion	Static	A. flagfish		485	
		Flow-through	A. flagfish	200	82.7	82.7
	Floating layer	Static	Pathcad minnow	>40,000	12,000	6,200
			Wood frog	>20,000	1,500	
No. 2 fuel, Sample A	Water-soluble fraction	Static	A. flagfish	>100%	>100%	>100%
		Static	Fathcad minnow	>100%	>100%	>100%
		Static	Wood frog	>100%	413,000	
	Emulsion	Static	Wood Frog	>62.5	>26.4	
		Flow-through	Wood frog	>70.5	4.9	3.4
		Flow-through	A. flagfish	>81.5	60.5	
		Flow-through	Pathead minnow	>72.6	38.6	34.5
		Flow-through	Spotted salamander	>86.4	>86.4	>86.4
No. 2 fuel, Sample A (cont.)	Floating layer	Static	Fathcad minnow	>160,000	> 160,000	>160,0 00
			Wood frog	>80,000	<5,000	
No. 2 fuel, Sample B	Floating layer	Static	Fathcad minnow	> 80,000	48,300	
No. 1 fuel	Emulsion	Flow-through	Pathcad minnow	201	56.7	
		Flow-through	Wood frog	>60.6	45.8	23.1
Mixed-blend sweet crude	Water-soluble fraction	Static	Wood frog	>250,000	> 250,000	>250,0 00
	Emulsion	Static	Wood frog	9.51	78.0	78.0
		Flow-through	Wood frog	56.9	28.2	25.0
		Flow-through	Fathcad minnow	12.4	<8.4	<8.4
	Floating layer	Static	Wood frog	21,600	<2,500	
Lloydminister crude	Floating layer	Static	Wood frog	>40,000	6,300	

LC₅₀ Values for Five Oils and Four Species in Static and Flow-Through Tests

"Water-soluble fraction of 10 percent oil-water mixture. "No mortality in 100 percent solution of water-soluble fraction. Source: Heddie and Paglini 1982.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Alaska water quality standards (18 AAC 70) for Class (1)(C) waters to protect aquatic life and wildlife are:

 Total hydrocarbons in the water column shall not exceed 15 µg/L, or 0.01 times the lowest measured continuous flow 96-hour LC₅₀ for life stages of the most sensitive, biologically important species in a particular location, whichever concentration is less. **(**)

- Total aromatic hydrocarbons in the water column shall not exceed 10 µg/L, or 0.01 times the lowest measured continuous flow 96-hour LC₅₀ for life stages of the most sensitive, biologically important species in a particular location, whichever concentration is less.
- Concentrations of hydrocarbons, animal fats, or vegetable oils in the sediment shall not cause deleterious effects to aquatic life; shall not cause a film, sheen, or discoloration on the surface or floor of the water body or adjoining shorelines.
- Sediment loads shall not cause adverse effects on aquatic animal or plant life, their reproduction, or habitat.

Other Organics

Animals. Limited information is available on the toxicity of PAHs to mammals, birds, and amphibians (Eisler, 1987b). Information on PAH toxicity to mammals deals primarily with carcinogenic or mutagenic effects. Chronic oral exposures of mice to benzo(a)pyrene caused stomach tumors at doses as low as 50 mg/kg in the diet. Also, application of some PAHs to mouse skin has produced skin tumors. Immunosuppression has been noted in mice exposed to certain PAHs. Acute oral LD₅₀ values for benzo(a)pyrene, phenanthrene, nsphthalene, and fluoranthene are reported to be 50, 700, 1780, and 2000 mg/kg body weight, respectively, in rodents. Subchronic studies involving mouse oral exposure to benzo(a)pyrene were used to derive a NOAEL of 125 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 250 mg/kg body weight/day for both fluoranthene and pyrene (EPA, 1988e). Similarly, a NOAEL of 10 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 40 mg/kg body weight/day were derived for phenanthrene from acute studies (Mackenzie and

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Angevine, 1981). PAHs generally do not biomagnify in food chains despite being highly lipid soluble because they are rapidly metabolized (Eisler, 1987b).

٣

Chronic feeding studies with mallards fed diets containing 4,000 mg/kg PAHs showed few signs of toxicity, such as elevated liver weight and increased blood flow to the liver (Eisler, 1987b). Other data suggest that some PAHs, particularly 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)anthracene and benzo(a)pyrene, can cause embryotoxicity when applied in microliter quantities externally to mallard eggs.

Most data available on the toxicity of PAHs to amphibians focus on carcinogenic effects (Eisler, 1987b). Implantation of 1.5 mg of benzo(a)pyrene crystals into the abdominal cavities of immature and adult South African clawed toads resulted in lymphoid tumors, but young toads were less likely to develop tumors than adults. Hepatic tumors were induced in tiger salamanders (*Ambystoma tigrinum*) by intraperitoneal injection of perylene. High incidence of cancer and abnormal metabolite ratios were also observed in tiger salamanders exposed to high concentrations of PAHs (Power et al, 1989). Naphthalene was shown to cause decreased swimming in clawed toads after 6 hours of exposure to 1.7 to 2.3 mg/L, neurotoxic effects at 0.5 to 3 mg/L water, and loss of pigment at 3.7 mg/L (Edmisten and Bantle, 1982). The 96-hour LC₅₀ for clawed toads is reported as 2.1 mg/L.

Plants. Plants absorb PAHs through their roots and translocate them to elongating shoots and other plant tissues even though PAHs are lipid soluble (Eisler, 1987b). There is no evidence that plants concentrate PAHs above the levels of their surroundings and PAH-induced toxic effects are rare. The fate of PAHs within plants is largely unknown, as are the implications of toxicity to herbivorous wildlife. Uptake rates of PAHs are dependent upon concentration, water solubility, soil type and whether the PAH is in vapor or particulate form. Plants tend to absorb lower molecular weight PAHs more readily than high molecular weight PAHs.

6-134

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Inorganics

Animals. The toxicity of the inorganic elements found in soils, sediments, and surface water at OU 5 has been reviewed in relation to their effects on mammals, birds, and amphibians by various authors (see Romanoff, 1972; Luckey and Venugopal, 1977; Underwood, 1977; Venugopal and Luckey, 1978; Friberg et al, 1979; Eisler, 1985a, 1985b, 1986, 1987a, 1988a, 1988b; and Scheuhammer, 1987). ۷

(*)

A number of inorganic elements are essential in small amounts for animal nutrition because they are an integral part of at least one enzyme (Underwood, 1977; Clarkson, 1979; Robbins, 1983). Examples include arsenic, calcium, chromium, copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, potassium, sodium, and zinc, among those measured at OU 5. The animal body has developed a variety of homeostatic mechanisms with regard to these essential macro and trace elements, so they are less likely to produce toxic effects at elevated concentrations than are the non-essential elements such as cadmium and lead. Nevertheless, some essential elements can overwhelm or circumvent those control mechanisms to produce toxic effects in wild birds and mammals (for example, selenium; see Ohlendorf, 1989).

The toxicity of many elements is greatly influenced by the chemical state in which they occur in the animals' food, water, or air. Therefore, total concentrations of these elements in water, soil, or air are not generally good indicators of potentially toxic exposure; concentrations in the food are usually the most important. However, because potentially toxic trace elements occur in many different forms, even the total concentration of some elements in the diet may not be a good predictor of toxicity.

The toxicity of inorganic elements in the diet varies so widely that it is not practical to list specific concentrations that cause adverse effects under conditions of acute or chronic exposure. Furthermore, the reported concentrations in sediments/soils or surface water cannot reasonably be extrapolated to the concentrations that might occur in foods of birds and mammals living in OU 5; only the concentrations measured in plants are useful for

6-135

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

this purpose. The following general summary of the relative toxicity of inorganic elements is based primarily on reviews by Romanoff (1972), Underwood (1977), Luckey and Venugopal (1977), Venugopal and Luckey (1978), Friberg et al (1979), Gough et al (1979), Sax (1984), Eisler (1985a, 1985b, 1986, 1987a, 1988a, 1988b), and Scheuhammer (1987). The various elements are divided into bond valence groups as depicted on the periodic table of elements. ۷

۲

٢

4)

Group I. Potassium and sodium are essential macroelements that are considered to be harmless and generally nontoxic. Copper is an essential trace metal that stimulates growth when moderately high levels (about 100 times the dietary allowances) are fed to mammals, even though it is highly toxic to aquatic organisms. Observed LD₅₀ values for laboratory rats include 140 mg/kg body weight (copper chloride), 29 mg/kg body weight (cupric perchlorate), 940 mg/kg body weight (cupric nitrate) and 960 mg/kg body weight (copper sulfate) in the diet (Venugopal and Luckey. 1978). The maximum chronic tolerated level in grazing animal diets is 25 to 300 mg/kg (Bodek et al, 1988). Based on subchronic laboratory studies, a NOAEL of 12.5 mg Cu/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 4.2 mg Cu/kg body weight/day were derived for rats (Murphy et al, 1981; Massie and Aiello ,1984.) Silver is a nonessential metal that is moderately toxic but poorly absorbed from the gut when ingested.

Group II. Magnesium and calcium also are essential macroelements for animals, and barium is stimulatory but not essential. All three are considered relatively nontoxic at physiologic levels but definitely toxic at higher levels. Reported LD₅₀ values for laboratory animals exposed orally to barium include 54 mg/kg body weight (barium chloridemouse), 150 mg/kg body weight (barium chloride-rats), and 175 mg/kg body weight (barium silicofluoride-rat) (Venugopal and Luckey, 1978). Lifetime exposure of rats and mice to 5 mg/L barium in drinking water (approximately 0.25 mg/kg/day for rats and 0.825 mg/kg/day for mice) resulted in no adverse effects (Schroeder and Mitchener, 1975a, 1975b). Beryllium, cadmium, and mercury are nonessential elements that are stimulatory at very low doses but become highly toxic at relatively low levels. Beryllium and mercury are more toxic than other metals in this group. However, gastrointestinal absorption of soluble

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

beryllium salts in mammals is poor and depends on the ingested dose. There are few reports of beryllium toxicity following oral exposure. In a study using rats, a NOAEL of 0.54 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 0.85 mg/kg body weight/day were reported for chronic oral exposure to beryllium (Schroeder and Mitchener, 1975a and b). Homeostatic mechanisms maintain normal levels of magnesium and calcium, and to a certain extent barium and strontium, but beryllium and cadmium are not controlled by homeostasis. Cadmium toxicity to mammals varies widely and is influenced by external factors. Cadmium exposure can cause derangement in carbohydrate and mineral metabolism in renal, hepatic, testicular, and prostate functions and disturbs the integrity of the central nervous system (Venugopal and Luckey, 1978). Various LD₅₀ values reported for laboratory animal exposed orally to cadmium salts include: 88 mg/kg body weight (cadmium chloride-rat), 150 mg/kg body weight (cadmium fluoride-guinea pig), and 660 mg/kg body weight (cadmium succinate-rat). Chronic ingestion of cadmium at low levels by rats, rabbits, lambs, pigs, and calves results in diminished growth and feed consumption (Nomivama et al. 1973; Doyle et al. 1974: and Cousins et al. 1973). Using laboratory rats, a NOAEL of 0.004 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 0.014 mg/kg body weight/day were derived for oral exposure to cadmium (Kopp, 1982). Barium, beryllium, cadmium, and mercury are retained in the tissues, and the body levels of these metals increase with age. Zinc is an essential trace metal that is relatively nontoxic because of efficient homeostatic mechanisms that maintain a proper balance within the body. Reported LD₅₀ values for laboratory animals exposed to zinc salts orally include: 45.7 mg/kg body weight (zinc phosphide-rat), 250 mg/kg body weight (zinc chloride-guinea pigs), and 350 mg/kg body weight (zinc chloride-mice and rats) (Venugopal and Luckey, 1978). A subchronic NOAEL of 98.3 mg/kg body weight/day was reported for rats orally exposed to zinc in their feed (Drinker et al, 1927). Similarly, a chronic LOAEL of 38 mg/kg body weight/day was derived for mice exposed to zinc in drinking water (Aughey et al, 1977).

٣

۲

۲

4)

Group III. No Group III metals are known to be an essential element in animal nutrition. Intestinal absorption of aluminum is generally very poor and its toxicity is low in comparison to that of many other metals. Thallium is potentially toxic when

6-137

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RJ/FS Report

administered orally, but behaves like potassium in its metabolism. There apparently are no homeostatic mechanisms to control the levels of Group III metals in animals.

Group IV. Lead is a nonessential metal that is readily absorbed from the digestive tract. Organic lead compounds are more toxic than are inorganic salts, because of their greater lipid solubility, stability in biological fluids, and penetration into tissues such as brain and lodgement in the central nervous system. Soluble lead salts are more toxic than insoluble salts, and rabbits and guinea pigs are more susceptible to lead poisoning than rats and mice (Venugopal and Luckey, 1978). Reported oral LD₅₀ toxicity values for laboratory animals include: 100 mg/kg body weight (lead arsenate-rat), 125 mg/kg body weight (lead arsenate-rabbit), 2,000 mg/kg body weight (lead chloride-guinea pig), and 3,000 mg/kg body weight (lead lactate-guinea pig). A chronic NOAEL of 0.45 mg/kg body weight/day and LOAEL of 2.8 mg/kg body weight/day have been reported for rats (Perry et al, 1988; Azar et al, 1973). Adverse effects on aquatic biota have been reported at waterborne lead concentrations of 1 to 5 μ g/L. Lead salts are only toxic to birds at a high dietary dose (100 mg/kg or more), with most experiments conducted on chickens and other gallinaceous birds (WHO, 1989). Exposure of quail from hatching through reproductive age resulted in effects on egg production at dietary levels of 10 mg/kg.

Group V. Arsenic, antimony, and vanadium are nonessential, potentially toxic elements. In general, inorganic arsenic compounds are more toxic than organic arsenic compounds, and trivalent compounds (in the form of soluble arsenite) are far more toxic than pentavalent compounds (arsenates). Arsenic is a teratogen and carcinogen that produces death and malformations in many species of mammals. Reported oral LD₅₀ values for rats and mice include: 8 mg/kg body weight (arsenic pentoxide-rat), 14 mg/kg body weight (potassium arsenite-rat), 43 mg/kg body weight (arsenic trioxide-mouse), 143 mg/kg body weight (arsenic trioxide-rat), and 794 mg/kg body weight (calcium arsenate-mouse) (Venugopal and Luckey, 1978; Eisler, 1988a). In chronic studies with dogs, a NOAEL of 1.2 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 6.4 mg/kg body weight/day were reported for ingestion of arsenic in drinking water (Byron et al, 1967). Antimony salts are inherently

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

toxic, but they are relatively insoluble and less toxic than antimony metal. Acute vanadium exposure to animals affects the central nervous system, lungs and kidneys (Klaassen et al, 1986). Acute studies of laboratory animals have shown that inhalation of vanadium in dust results in respiratory depression, whereas subacute studies have suggested that the liver, bone marrow, and adrenal glands may also be affected. In chronic studies in which rats were exposed to vanadium in drinking water, a NOAEL of 0.7 mg/kg body weight/day and LOAEL of 2.8 mg/kg body weight/day were reported (Schroeder et al, 1970; Kowalski, 1988).

Group VI. Chromium and selenium are essential trace elements for animals, but both are toxic at high doses. Hexavalent chromium is the most biologically active form, although little is known about the properties of organochromium compounds, water-soluble species, or their interactions in complex mixtures. However, in mammals hexavalent chromium is chemically reduced in the acid fluid of the stomach. A NOAEL of 0.46 mg/kg body weight/day has been reported for rats chronically exposed to chromium in the diet, however no LOAEL was reported (Schroeder et al, 1965). Chromium concentrations are usually highest in the lowest trophic levels, and no biomagnification has been observed in food chains. Selenium is more toxic than chromium and the difference between essential dietary levels and toxic levels is narrow. Selenium is teratogenic and has significant toxic effects on reproduction and calcification. Excretory mechanisms exist for maintaining tissue levels of both chromium and selenium, but they are limited in their ability at high dietary concentrations.

Group VII. Manganese salts appear to be the least toxic of the essential metals. An efficient homeostatic mechanism prevents manganese accumulation in tissues, and toxic effects of manganese are not clearly manifested. In one study, a NOAEL of 290 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 930 mg/kg body weight/day were reported for rats exposed chronically to manganese in the diet (Hejtmancik'et al, 1987a, 1987b).

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Group VIII. Iron is an essential metal that is generally considered to be of very low toxicity to animals. Reported oral LD_{50} values for iron exposure to laboratory animals include: 900 mg/kg body weight (ferric chloride-rat), 984 mg/kg body weight (ferrous chloride-rat), 1,170 mg/kg body weight (ferrous sulfate-mouse), 1,480 mg/kg body weight (ferrous sulfate-rat), and 3,250 mg/kg body weight (ferric nitrate-rat) (Venogopal and Luckey, 1978). Nickel is presumed to be an essential element but its metabolic functions are less known than those for iron. Nickel is relatively nontoxic, ranking with iron, cobalt, copper, chromium, and zinc. A NOAEL of 5 mg/kg body weight/day and LOAEL of 50 mg/kg body weight/day were reported for rats chronically exposed to nickel in the diet (Ambrose et al, 1976). Cobalt is an essential metal that has a potential for toxicity if excessive amounts are ingested (Klaassen et al, 1986). In a subchronic study, a NOAEL of 0.05 mg/kg body weight/day and a LOAEL of 0.5 mg/kg body weight/day were reported for rats orally exposed to cobalt (Krasovskii and Fridlyand, 1971).

۲

Amphibians. Additional information is summarized here for amphibians because the kinds of exposures that are typically tested are more applicable to toxicity assessment.

Metals are toxic to amphibians and readily accumulate in body tissues (Power et al, 1989). Metal concentrations present in tissues are often much greater then environmental levels, and can be bioaccumulated in the food chain. Amphibians are most sensitive to the toxic effects of metals while still in the egg. The larval form is slightly less sensitive followed by the adult which is the most resistant.

In an acute study, Gastrophryne carolinensis eggs exposed to arsenic from fertilization to 4 days posthatch exhibited a 96 hour LC_{50} of 0.04 mg/L (Power et al, 1989).

Cadmium affects the development and survival of amphibians (Power et al, 1989). Leopard frog (*Rana pipiens*) eggs which were exposed to 2.5 mg/L of cadmium showed no further development. Exposure to lower concentrations greatly decreased

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

survival. Exposure of the salamander Notophthalmus viridescens to 2.0 to 6.75 mg/L of cadmium for 51 days resulted in retarded limb regeneration at the lower concentrations and mortality at the higher concentrations. Limb regeneration in those that survived was retarded and numerous abnormalities were present. A 96 hour LC_{50} of 0.04 mg/L was reported for *G. carolinensis* eggs exposed to cadmium from fertilization to 4 days posthatch.

4

Chromium residues measured in field collected *R. esculenta* frogs showed that residue levels were much lower in the neometamorphosed frogs than in tadpoles (Power et al, 1989). The decrease in residue levels was due to the change in diet. Tadpoles were primarily herbivorous, whereas the adults were insectivorous. Acute studies with *G. carolinensis* eggs resulted in a 96 hour LC_{50} of 0.03 mg/L.

Cobalt alters epithelial cell membrane permeability by combining with sulfhydryl groups within the membrane (Power et al, 1989). An acute 96 hour LC_{50} for G. carolinensis eggs exposed from fertilization to 4 days posthatch was reported as 0.05 mg/L.

Copper is often present in acid mine drainage (Power et al, 1989). Acute 96 hour LC_{50} values reported for different amphibians include: 0.32 mg/L for Bufo meianosticus tadpoles, 5.04 and 5.38 mg/L for 1 week old and 4 week old Microhyla ornata, respectively, and 0.04 mg/L for G. carolinensis.

Lead has a number of toxic effects in amphibians (Power et al, 1989). Lead has been shown to bind to melanin present in amphibian skin. Toads with darker skin (more melanin) accumulated significantly more lead than toads with light colored skin (less melanin). Lead also inhibits hematopoietic tissues resulting in a reduction in the number of red and white blood cells, causes discoloration of the liver, and affects vision. Acute 96 hour LC_{50} for *G. carolinensis* has been reported as 0.04 mg/L.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Manganese alters the sodium permeability in membranes and may decrease metabolic rates (Power et al, 1989). G. carolinensis eggs exposed to manganese from fertilization to 4 days posthatch were reported to have a 96 hour LC_{50} of 1.42 mg/L.

۲

Nickel has been shown to affect myelinated nerves by slowing down the kinetics of the potassium system (Power et al, 1989). Decreased metabolic rates in frogs located near metallurgic worksites have also been reported. An acute 96 hour LC_{50} of 0.05 mg/L has been reported for *G. carolinensis* exposed from fertilization to 4 days posthatch.

Selenium is an essential trace element, but can be toxic at higher concentrations (Power et al, 1989). Exposure of *Xenopus laevis* embryos to low concentrations of selenium had increased survival rates compared to controls not exposed to selenium. At increased concentrations of 2.0 mg/L and higher, decreased survival rates were observed. Survivors from the higher concentrations exhibited numerous abnormalities. L is treated with selenium exhibited spine curvatures, tail flexures, and malformed heads. Tadpoles treated with selenium exhibited epithelial blisters, abdominal edema, degeneration of muscle cells, erratic swimming, and sluggishness. G. carolinensis eggs were much more sensitive to selenium than X. *laevis* with a 96 hour LC₅₀ of 0.09 mg/L.

Zinc exerts its toxic effects on the nervous system and on epithelial cells (Power et al, 1989). Zinc slows the kinetics of the potassium system in myelinated nerves and alters sodium and potassium kinetics across cell membranes. *Bufo boreas* tadpoles were much more resistant to zinc than *G. carolinensis* eggs. Exposure of *B. boreas* to 0.1 mg/L for 61 days resulted in no mortality, whereas *G. carolinensis* had a 96 hour LC_{50} of 0.01 mg/L.

Plants. The ratio of manganese to iron affects the uptake and translocation of iron in a plant. Iron is translocated in greater concentrations from the root to the shoots and leaves as the concentration of manganese increases (Ghosh et al, 1987). However, with an excess of manganese, iron deficiency may occur in the protoplasm (Erkama, 1950).

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Manganese can compete with iron for uptake and/or translocation causing iron deficiency and chlorosis in addition to its own toxicity (Hue et al, 1988). Also, the biological activity of iron can be affected by the concentration of manganese and of cobalt. Iron is reduced from Fe^{3+} to Fe^{2+} , the biologically active form. This reduction takes place in the roots as well as in the leaves (Poschentieder et al, 1991). A high manganese to iron ratio can inhibit the reduction of iron. Thus, it is possible to have high concentrations of iron in the leaves, yet the leaves can be chlorotic because the iron is biologically unavailable.

3

æ

۲

۱

In all pairings of affected and nonaffected plant soil samples from OU 5 but one, SL19S12A and SL19S12N (that is, SL19 soil from 2 to 12 inches deep), the concentration of manganese was higher for affected plant soil samples than nonaffected plant soil samples. In all cases, the iron to manganese ratio was higher in the nonaffected plant soil samples than in the affected ones. The foliage analysis shows that in 9 out of 13 foliar analyses, affected plants had higher concentrations of manganese than did nonaffected plants.

Cobalt also can affect the biological activity of iron. Cobalt competes with iron, and as the concentration of cobalt increases, the concentration of iron in chlorophyll decreases (Blaylock et al, 1985). Looking at the relationship of cobalt in affected and nonaffected plant soil samples, there is a slight trend of higher concentrations of cobalt in affected plant soil samples than in nonaffected soil samples. However, this trend is so slight that it probably is not significant.

The chlorosis appears to be due to iron deficiency and may be caused by competition from other metals, possibly manganese. Toxicity from other metals such as manganese may be working in combination with iron deficiency. Iron levels can be similar in affected and nonaffected plants because of the ratio of biologically active to biologically nonactive iron.

A summary of relevant information regarding bioaccumulation of metals in common species present or representative of vegetation at Elmendorf AFB is presented in

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

Table 6-38. Where data for a plant's response to multiple elements of concern are available, the data are presented by species. Where a range of doses and responses were reported, the minimum and maximum doses and responses are reported. In most cases, the response generally varies in proportion to the applied dosage.

(ک)

In general, plants exposed to elevated concentrations of metals in soils will take up some fraction of the metals into stem and leaf tissues. In fireweed, willow and horsetail, about half of the applied cadmium dose was taken up by the plant. When horsetail was exposed to low doses of cadmium, there seemed to be some biomagnification, while about half of a high dosage was retained. In contrast, the grasses Agropogon and Avena appear to accumulate levels greater than the metal concentrations of the soils at low levels, but take up much lower fractions of the soil concentrations when exposed to high doses.

Grasses exposed to manganese in the soil appear to readily take up or even biomagnify this element when exposed to moderate or high levels. In general, both copper and lead do not appear to accumulate readily in stems and leaves when plants are exposed to moderate or high levels of soil concentrations.

6.2.2.4 Risk Characterization

Risks of adverse effects were characterized by comparing maximum observed concentrations of the selected contaminants of ecological concern (Table 6-36) to assessment levels that were judged most appropriate. The assessment levels included ecological effects concentrations, background concentrations, or interim remediation criteria that were presented in Section 6.2.2.1. The ecological quotients along with the ecological endpoints and assessment criteria are presented in Table 6-39.

The ecological quotients for PAHs in soils (302), estimated gasoline vapors in soils (291), estimated diesel vapors in soils (11.9), boron in soils (18.6), and manganese in soils (10.5) were highest, meaning that they may represent the greatest risks to ecological

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

۲

۲

)

Dees Uttale Ċ Ň (mg/hs) (mg/kg, dry weight) Epilobium Firmed Cadania 0.270 0.140 angustifolium Willow Saltz cineres Cadminu 0.230 0.170 Horsetail Cadminum 0.06 Equisetum arvense 0.170 6.9-15.4 1-2.6 543 259 Cadminum Wheetgrass 0.2 0.6 Agropogon sp. Lead 0.5 0.9 Mangana 10 26 Agrostis capillaris Cadminum 2.3 1.2 Load 420 97 Cadmium Bont-grass Agrostis stolonifera 0.8 0.63 Copper 15 10.9 Agrostis tenuis Copper Cedminm 40 5 25-250 15-140 Wild Oat 0.09-0.22 Avena so. Cadminum 0.01-.13 0.38-2.0 5.9-15 Cadmium Smooth Brome Bromus inermis 0.08 0.03 Copper 1.2 1.0 Load 0.6 0.7 Manganese 8.9 51 Bermuda Grass Cynodon dactylon Cadminum 3.28-8.96 7.89-27.81 Copper 12-106 9.41-78.28 Lond 98-194 21-41 Manganese 225-632 55-144 Peronnial Ryogram Lolium perenne Cedmium 11.3-27.5 4.2-6.5 Copper 72-195 13-41 Load 290 8 Cadmium Pos annus 2.3 1.1 Copper 750 41 Load 420 31 Poa pratensis Cadmium 1.0 2.23 Copper 6.0 11.3

UTAB Database Information on Bioaccumulation of Heavy Metals by Plants

Source: Uptaka/secumulation, transformation, adhesion, and biotransformation (UTAB) detabase, University of Oklahoma (1992)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

6-145

8

•

Ecological Quotients Comparing Observed Contaminant Concentrations in OU 5 to Assessment Levels¹

		Contrast	ation -			
]]	Ohmend	America	Querican'	Rodopical Respire	
PAHs	Soil (mg/kg)	5,050	0.0167	302	Mammals	LOAEL
Gesoline	Soil gas (mg/m²)	472,000	1,619	291	M ammals	Chronic, sublethal effects
Diesel	Soil gas (mg/m ²)	1,780	150	11.9	<u>M ammals</u>	Chronic, subjectual effects
Arsenic	Soil (mg/kg)	28	30	1.4	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Barium	Soil (mg/kg)	3,650	750	4.9	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Boron	Soil (mg/kg)	37.2	2	18.6	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Cadmium	Soil (mg/kg)	3.1	3.0	1.0	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Calcium	Soil (mg/kg)	35,300	8,881	4.0	Name	Beckground level
Copper	Soil (mg/kg)	38	32	1.2	Nome	Background level
Lead	Soil (mg/kg)	87	13	6.7	Nome	Background level
Manganose	Soil (mg/kg)	10,700*	1,016	10.5	Nome	background level
Molybdemm	Soil (mg/kg)	24.8	S	5.0	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Solenium	Soil (mg/kg)	3.1	2.0	1.6	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Silver	Soil (mg/kg)	22.0	20	1.1	Vegetation	Adverse effects/ accumulation
Sodium	Soil (mg/kg)	1,430	498	2.9	Name	Beckground level
Cadmium	Plant tissues (mg/kg)	0.58	0.5	1.2	Herbivores	Tolerable distary level
Cobait	Plant tissues (mg/kg)	6.9	5	1.4	Vegetation	Tolerable tissue level

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

6-146

•

٢

		Canad				
		- Item	ļ	j	Reducted Recycles	
Plant tissue	1 (mg/kg)	1,370	<u>500</u>	2.7	Herbivores	Tolerable dietary level
Plant tiseve	t (mg/tg)	48	30	1.6	Vegetation	Excessive/toxic tissue level
panee Plant tisme	t (mg/kg)	484	300	1.6	Vegetation	Tolerable tissue level
milling ecological effects concentration milling ecological effects concentration dimma estimated value. Multing a value of 199,000 mg/kg text cherved adverse effect lave	ution, holynom divided by annu is 2-iach to 12-i	d compendantioner, or int meet compendantion. ch soil where the 12-is	nim remediation orie ch to 24 inch depth e	rtia, ar judged ano ample commined 7	st appropriate; aus earlier text : 7,860 mg/kg mangasees.	ad tables in Section 6.2.2.

٢

Ì

۲

Table 6-39

6

ndorf AFB OU 5 RJ/PS Report
receptors. However, the area contaminated with PAHs appears to be small, seemingly limited to the vicinity of SB29, a soil boring location near SL05. Fuel hydrocarbons are more widely distributed and present risks to terrestrial animals through inhalation exposures in animal burrows, contamination of bottom sediments in the golf course beaver pond (and perhaps elsewhere), and formation of surface sheens at seeps, wetlands, and the golf course beaver pond. These sheens may affect semiaquatic mammals, birds, and frogs using the pond. Those animals could be affected directly by contacting the oil, and bird egg hatching success may be reduced by transfer of oil on the birds' feathers from the pond surface to shells of eggs being incubated. However, it is unknown whether fuel hydrocarbons caused reproductive impairment of ducks, gulls, and sandpipers because eggshells were not visibly contaminated. (4)

(4)

It is also unknown whether the scarcity of aquatic vegetation in the golf course beaver pond (compared to others such as the one at SL29) is caused by fuel hydrocarbon contamination of sediment in the pond.

The elevated soil manganese concentrations seem to be the most likely cause of plant stress observed at various OU 5 locations.

Ecological quotients in the range between 5 and 10 included lead and molybdenum in soils from the plant stress sampling sites (Table 6-39). Other ecological quotients for contaminants of concern were between 1 and 5. Contaminants with quotients below 1 were not considered to be of ecological concern and are not listed in the table.

6.2.2.5 Conclusions and Limitations

General habitat conditions in areas surveyed during the qualitative surveys in 1992 are similar to those described in earlier studies. These studies included ecological surveys by Rothe et al (1983), and observations of fuel hydrocarbon contamination in areas below the bluff (summarized in Section 1 of this report). These conclusions are limited by

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

the level of detail with which the general habitat conditions were surveyed. This ecological risk assessment is being conducted using a phased approach, as described in the Site Management Plan (CH2M Hill, 1992d). The intent was to determine whether ecological risk can be characterized at the end of one field season on the basis of qualitative surveys and limited ecological sampling.

۲

(ځ

There was evidence of impaired ecosystem health, as shown by plant stress and possibly by reduced egg hatching success in semi-aquatic birds that nested in the vicinity of several surface water bodies. Causes of the plant stress could not be identified definitively, but they appeared to be some factor other than fuel hydrocarbons. The most likely cause seemed to be mineral imbalances related to elevated manganese, and potentially cobalt, phosphorus, and pH in areas where plants showed signs of stress. The plants exhibited symptoms of iron deficiency (interveinal chlorosis), although they contained high concentrations of iron. Detailed biochemical analyses and bioassays were not performed, so the conclusions are limited to general associations of observed effects that are similar to effects described in the literature. Bird nests were marked when they were found during general surveys near the wetlands/surface water bodies. The number of nests was not adequate to determine causes of nesting failure, but the surveys accomplished their intended purpose (to characterize ecological receptors in OU 5 and screen for possible ecological effects).

The risk characterization indicated that the most likely impacts of contaminants on terrestrial ecological receptors in OU 5 would be caused by (1) inhalation exposure of small mammals to fuel hydrocarbon vapors when the animals were in their burrows, (2) dermal contact/absorption of fuel hydrocarbons by semiaquatic mammals, birds, and wood frogs in the golf course beaver pond (or elsewhere when surface sheens are present), and (3) metabolic uptake/inhibition effects of inorganics by plants near seeps and wetlands where plants exhibited signs of stress. Limitations of these conclusions are that (1) soil vapor concentrations were not always measured or estimated within the top foot of soil where small mammal burrows occur (concentrations were estimated from soils or groundwater,

6-149

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

sometimes at depths of a few feet, but the shallow soils from plant stress areas [Tables 4-20, 6-29, and 6-30] were well above the effects levels for mammals), (2) although surface sheens of fuel hydrocarbons were observed on the beaver pond, animals were not seen in direct contact with the sheens and soiling of eggshells was not observed, and (3) the analyses of soils and stressed plants were conduced as an exploratory survey and the data are not adequate to reach definitive conclusions about the causes of stress.

 (\mathbf{v})

۲

۲

4)

A seemingly small area having a high concentration of PAHs was found through sampling in the lower bluff area (SB29, near SL05). The areal extent of this contamination is not known and the composition of the PAHs is not known.

Comparing observations during the terrestrial ecological survey and conclusions of the risk characterization to ARARs indicates that federal water quality criteria and Alaska WQS for fuel hydrocarbons are not being met in the golf course beaver pond.

Small resident predatory mammals, such as shrews, could be exposed to elevated dietary levels of some inorganic elements, such as lead, that may bioaccumulate in their prey. However, the risks associated with that exposure pathway could not be determined because dietary composition and contaminant concentrations in prey were not measured. Available data were also considered inadequate for modeling this exposure.

Potential effects of animals' exposure to multiple contaminants or to various contaminants through more than one exposure pathway were not assessed because of data limitations. These effects were evaluated, however, for inorganics in relation to plants, as described in earlier parts of this section. Multiple exposures for animals could be of concern if potential interactive effects are identified for contaminants of ecological concern.

6-150

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

TABLE OF CONTENTS

7.1	Interim Remediation Goals
7.2	General Conceptual Model for OU 5
	7.2.1 Groundwater/Seep Interaction
	7.2.2 Groundwater/Ship Creek Interaction (Stream Gaging Results) 7-1
7.3	Western OU 5
	7.3.1 Conceptual Site Model
	7.3.2 Soil
	7.3.3 Surface Water and Sediments
	7.3.4 Groundwater
	7.3.5 Human Health Risk
	7.3.6 Aquatic Biota
	7.3.7 Terrestrial Plants and Animals
	7.3.8 Conclusions for the Western OU 5
7.4	Central OU 5
	7.4.1 Conceptual Site Model
	7.4.2 Soil
	7.4.3 Surface Water and Sediment
	7.4.4 Groundwater
	7.4.5 Human Health Risk
	7.4.6 Aquatic Biota
	7.4.7 Terrestrial Plants and Animals
	7.4.8 Conclusions for Central OU 5
7.5	Eastern OU 5
	7.5.1 Conceptual Site Model
	7.5.2 Soil
	7.5.3 Surface Water and Sediment
	7.5.4 Groundwater
	7.5.5 Human Health Risk
	7.5.6 Aquatic Biota
	7.5.7 Terrestrial Plants and Animals
	7.5.8 Conclusions for the Eastern Area of OU 5
7.6	Snowmelt Pond
• -	7.6.1 Initial Remedial Investigation Study
	7.6.2 Second Sediment Sampling
	7.6.3 Third Sampling Event and Site Inspection
	7.6.4 Final Results and Analysis
	7.6.5. Conclusions for the Sportments Dand

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

0

Ć.,

7-i

•

•

٢

۲

B

۲

ħ

Page

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

¢.

ŧ

V.

C

(

Page

7.7	Beaver Pond
	7.7.1 Summary of the Remedial Investigation
	7.7.2 Aquatic Biota
	7.7.3 Natural Attenuation Study
7.8	Contaminants of Concern
	7.8.1 Inorganic Elements in Soils
7.9	Recommendations
	7.9.1 Areas Recommended for No Further Action
	7.9.2 Areas and Media Recommended for Evaluation in the Feasibility
	Study

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-ii

LIST OF FIGURES

E

Ū

Page

7-1	Conceptual Model Illustration
7-2	Source Areas and Geographic Subdivisions of OU 5
7-3	Water Level Contour Map with Flow Lines
7-4	Ship Creek Gaging Stations and Flow Interactions with Groundwater in OU 5 . 7-13
7-5	Sampling Locations and Contaminant Distribution in Western OU 5 7-16
7-6	Conceptual Site Model - Schematic Cross Section A-A', Western OU 5 7-17
7-7	Sampling Locations and Contaminant Distribution in Central OU 5 7-23
7-8	Conceptual Site Model - Schematic Cross Section B-B', Central OU 5 7-24
7-9	Sampling Locations and Contaminant Distribution in Eastern OU 5 7-30
7-10	Conceptual Site Model - Schematic Cross Section C-C', Eastern OU 5 7-31
7-11	Approximate Locations of Sediment and Surface Water Samples and PCB Analysis Results, Snowmelt Pond, OU 5

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

7-iii

LIST OF TABLES

٢

۲

۲

7-1	Interim Remediation Goals
7-2	Ship Creek Flow, Q in OU 5 from Stream Gaging, March through September 1993
7-3	Summary of Contaminants of Concern (COCs) Analysis

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-iv

7.0 REMEDIAL INVESTIGATION SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The results of the remedial investigation (RI) of Operable Unit (OU) 5 indicate areas of soil, sediment, groundwater, and surface water contamination. To determine which media and which contaminants need to be remediated, the RI results were compared to potential Applicable or Relevant and Appropriate Requirements (ARARs), human health risks posed by the contaminants, and ecological risks. The comparison with these three criteria determined: 4)

- Which contaminants exceeded the criteria. These became the contaminants of concern (COCs).
- The concentrations of the COCs that may require remediation.
- Which media may require remediation.
- The migration pathways affected.

These four factors — COCs, concentrations, media, and migration pathways in turn form the basis of the Feasibility Study (FS). The most important factors are the identification of COCs and the concentrations of COCs that may require remediation. In this report, the concentrations above which COCs must be remediated are referred to as interim remediation goals, because, while they are based on regulatory requirements and site data, they are not the negotiated clean-up levels for OU 5.

The following focused studies were performed after the RI was completed:

- A polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) study in the snowmelt pond;
- A stream gaging effort in Ship Creek; and
- A natural attenuation study at the Beaver Pond.

The findings of these studies are presented in this section. The results were considered in the identification of media and compounds to be addressed in the FS.

The interim remediation goals, the comparison of RI results to those goals, and recommendations for areas that need no further action or that will be evaluated in the FS, are described below.

7.1 Interim Remediation Goals

The interim remediation goals for OU 5, presented in Table 7-1, form the basis for summarizing the RI results and identifying areas, media, and contaminants that are addressed in the FS. These goals set action levels based on three criteria types:

- Potential Applicable or Relevant and Appropriate Requirements

 (ARARs) These are specific federal and state contaminant-specific action levels that are found in laws and regulations. They also include related guidance documents (i.e., "To Be Considered" [TBC]), which are established by regulatory agencies but are not found in regulations. A detailed presentation of potential ARARs is found in Appendix N, Potential ARARs Identification.
- Human Health Risk This criterion is based on a site-specific health risk assessment (HRA) which measures carcinogenic and noncarcinogenic risk, following United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) guidelines.
- <u>Ecological Risks</u> These are risks or potential impacts to ecological receptors that are not covered by specific ARARs or the HRA.

Any of the criteria may be the basis for identifying a specific geographical area, medium, and/or COC for further study in the FS. Contaminated areas that are not identified as areas of concern according to the above criteria and the RI results can be pursued as "no further action" sites. These goals are described as "interim" because they are solely for the purpose of designating areas in OU 5 that might reasonably require remediation. Per Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (CERCLA) guidance,

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-2

1

Έ

۲

•

b

Interim Remediation Goals

		Interim Ramo		
	Potential Contaminant of Concern	Gud		Rationale/Comments
Soil (includes	TFH - dissel	200 mg/kg	ACM	The ACM, a TBC, specifies a procedure
sediments)	TFH - gasoline	100 mg/kg	ACM	to calculate these goals on a site-
	Benzene	0.5 mg/kg	ACM	specific basis. For all areas of concern at
	BTEX	15 mg/kg	АСМ	OU 5, the indicated goals were calculated.
	All potential COCs (i.e., PCBs, PAHs, TFHs, VOCs, and inorganics [except	Total carcinogenic risk of 1 x 10 ⁴	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	Upper value of 1 x 10 ⁴ to 1 x 10 ⁴ EPA acceptable carcino- genic risk range.
	arsenic]) at a specific location	Total noncarcino- genic Hazard Index of 1	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	EPA acceptable noncarcinogenic risk value
	PCBs	1,900 μg/kg (if TOC equals 10%) 190 μg/kg (if TOC equals 1%)	PCB SQCs	EPA recommends that SQCs be considered in establishing reme- diation goals for sedi- ments. The goal is proportional to the TOC concentration as indicated.
	Armenic	9–13 mg/kg	Average surface soil background levels at EAFB	Arsenic can result in a high level of risk, even at background levels. Remediation to below background levels is unreason- able; therefore, arsenic would only be a COC if background levels are exceeded.

•

6

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(

٢

۲

۲

)

b

à

١

Ĩ,

(Continued)

	Interim Remediation Goal		diation Goal		
Medium	Potential Contaminant of Concern	Goal	Reference	Rationale/Comments	
Water	Benzene	5 μg/L	MCLs (federal	MCLs are enforceable	
(surface and groundwater)	TCE	5 μg/L	and Alaska)	ARARs under the Safe Drinking Water	
	Toluene	1,000 µg/L		Act.	
	bis(2-Ethyl hexyl- phthalate)	6 μg/L			
	Ethyl benzene	700 µg/L			
	Xylenes (total)	10 ,000 μg/L			
	Copper	1,300 μg/L			
	Arsenic	50 µg/L			
	Lead	15 μg/L			
	Total hydrocarbons	10 μg/L	ASWQ standards	ASWQ states that level is lesser of 10 μ g/L or 0.01 times the lowest measured 96 hour LC50 for most sensitive species at the particular loca- tion. Level is 15 μ g/L for species not designated by the state as "most sensi- tive." 10 μ g/L is selected as the conser- vative value.	
	Hydrocarbons, oil, and grease	Not cause visible sheens or discolor- ation	ASWQ standards	Sheens must be from COCs and not natural sources.	
	All potential COCs (i.e., PCBs, PAHs, TFHs, VOCs, and inorganics [except arsenic]) at a specific location	Total carcinogenic risk of < 1 x 10 ⁴	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	Upper value of 1 x 10 ⁴ to 1 x 10 ⁴ EPA acceptable carcinogenic risk range.	

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-4

(Ch

٢

õ

(Continued)

		Interio Reaso		
	Potential Contaminant of Concern	Gaal	Reference	Rationale/Comments
Water (cont.)		Total noncarcino- genic Hazard Index of < 1	EPA Risk Assessment Guidelines for Superfund	EPA acceptable noncarcinogenic risk range
	PCBs	0.014 µg/L	NAWQC	This goal is more conservative than the MCLs.

TFH	-	Total fuel hydrocarbons
ACM	-	Alesks Cleanup Matrix for non-UST soils
ASWQ	-	Alaska Surface Water Quality Standards
MCL	=	Maximum concentration level
TEC	-	To be considered
COC	-	Contaminant of concern
TCE	=	Trichloroethylene
PAH	-	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
VOC	-	Volatile organic compounds
PCE	-	Tetrachloroethylene
BTEX	-	Sum of beazens, toluens, ethylbenzene and xylene
PCB	-	Polychlorinated biphenyls
NAWQC	-	National Ambient Water Quality Criteria
SQC	-	Sediment Quality Criteria
TOC	-	Total organic carbon

War - Warst

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

final remediation goals should be based on both ARARs and risk, and are negotiated between the facility and the agencies on a site-specific basis. 0

۲

7.2 <u>General Conceptual Model for OU 5</u>

The conceptual model identifies the contaminant migration pathways in OU 5. Identification of pathways provides a basis for evaluating the potential for exposure of human and ecological receptors to contaminants detected in the OU. The model is used to identify areas addressed in the FS. Figure 7-1 shows a schematic of the migration routes of contaminants toward receptors. Routes of migration include runoff, seeps, and groundwater flow.

Current land use within Elmendorf AFB, but downgradient of the pipeline sources, includes industrial and recreational use. The downgradient area also serves as a major access route to Elmendorf AFB. Land use between Elmendorf AFB and lower Ship Creek includes railroad, industrial, and fisheries activities. Water use varies by the source of the water. Only the lower groundwater aquifer is used as a source of drinking water. Recreational users may come in contact with the surface water. Surface water from Ship Creek is used for irrigation of the golf course, for cooling water at the power plant, and for hatchery operations. Ecological receptors include terrestrial and aquatic communities.

Operable Unit 5 covers an area over 7,000 feet long and over 1,200 feet wide. The OU is geographically diverse, ranging from a steep bluff to a broad flat area in the western part of the OU to a more gently sloping bluff leading to wetland areas in the eastern part of OU 5. The central part of the OU is a transitional area with a bluff and some surface water features. (The snowmelt pond and a fish hatchery are located in this area.) The Installation Restoration Program (IRP) sites located within OU 5 can be roughly grouped into western, central, and eastern areas. Because of the geographic setting and grouping of sites, the conceptual site model of OU 5 has been divided into these three geographical areas, shown in Figure 7-2.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



Elmendorf AFE OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-7



-

ſ

The most likely sources of contamination appear to be three fuel pipelines and the associated fuel distribution system located at the top of the bluff. This system includes storage tanks, valve pits, truck filling stands, and abandoned and active fuel lines. Subsurface leaks in the fuel lines and surface spills were reported in the past at ST37, ST38, SS42, ST46, and SS53. Pipelines have been repaired, and there are currently no known leaks in OU 5. A railroad maintenance operation at SD 40 was considered a potential source of contamination. The operation was never verified, and no contamination can be attributed to activities at the location. (\mathbf{G})

(م

Potential sources in other OUs include sanitary landfills (OU 1), fire training areas (OU 4), a solvent disposal trench (OU 3), and fuel pipeline and underground storage tanks managed under the state environmental program that could be affecting groundwater and surface water quality within OU 5.

The organic contaminants of concern in soil at OU 5 include fuels (total fuel hydrocarbon in the diesel range [TFH diesel], TFH gasoline, and JP-4 jet fuel), and benzene, toluene, ethylbenzenes, and xylenes (BTEX). The organic contaminants of concern in groundwater, surface water, and sediments include fuels, BTEX, and chlorinated solvents (VOCs). Polychlorinated biphenyls were detected in five sediment samples within the snowmelt pond. More detailed discussion of the results is provided in Section 7.6.

Hydrogeology is generally consistent throughout OU 5. Interbedded sand, gravel, and minor silt layers, deposited in a glacial outwash plain, comprise the vadose zone and upper unconfined aquifer beneath OU 5. Three fuel pipelines along the southern boundary of OU 5 parallel the top of a bluff formed by the erosion of the outwash plain deposits by the action of Ship Creek. At the base of the bluff is the Ship Creek floodplain, containing shallow ponds and the wetlands that are maintained by snowmelt runoff and groundwater seepage from the bluff. Since the 1950s, occasional releases of fuel from the pipeline have resulted in seeps of hydrocarbons from the bluff that prompted cleanups, environmental investigations, and repairs of the pipelines.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

At the base of the upper aquifer is the Bootlegger Cove Formation, consisting of 50 to 200 feet of silt and clay layers that separate the upper and lower aquifers. Because the formation acts as a confining layer, groundwater in the upper aquifer flows laterally to the south beneath the pipelines. Groundwater from much of Elmendorf AFB flows beneath OU 5 before reaching Ship Creek. ()

۲

۲

(م

7.2.1 Groundwater/Seep Interaction

Some of the contaminants migrating in groundwater are discharged in seeps along the bluff in OU 5. Groundwater flows in the upper aquifer southward from OUs 2, 3, and 4 toward OU 5 (Figure 7-3). The water table and capillary fringe of the upper aquifer beneath OUs 2, 3, 4, and the northern portion of OU 5 are at a higher elevation than the toe of the bluff, the wetlands, and Ship Creek. Therefore, the southerly flowing groundwater can approach and seep from the bluff face or toe. The volume of seepage is likely to be greater when the water table is higher as a result of increased water infiltration from snowmelt or rain. Groundwater discharged from the seeps flows into ponds, wetlands, and drainage ditches.

Contaminants entering groundwater from surface sources in OU 5 or upgradient operable units are likely to be attenuated by natural processes. Biodegradation, advection, dispersion, dilution, and volatilization may occur as contaminants are transported through OU 5. Advection and dispersion are mechanical processes that reduce the concentration of contaminants as groundwater flows. Dilution that also reduces contaminant concentrations may occur as uncontaminated surface water infiltrates the upper aquifer. Biodegradation of fuel hydrocarbons occurs where contaminated groundwater contacts sufficient air to support aerobic bacterial activity, such as the upper groundwater surface, at seeps or in surface ponds. Halogenated VOCs may be undergoing degradation by anaerobic bacteria below the surface of the upper aquifer or in the bottoms of surface ponds, where oxygen content is reduced. The BTEX and halogenated VOCs are released to the atmosphere from groundwater at surface seeps and at the surface of ponds fed by contaminated groundwater.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



7.2.2 Groundwater/Ship Creek Interaction (Stream Gaging Results)

To determine the hydrologic interaction between groundwater and Ship Creek, flow in the creek was determined from stream gaging measurements collected between 30 March and 15 September 1993. Four gaging stations (Figure 7-4) — three in OU 5 and one upstream from OU 5 — were used for measuring total flow, Q. Flow data are summarized in Table 7-2. Results of the gaging indicate that Ship Creek, which parallels the long axis of OU 5, gains water along its course when creek flow at the first gaging station is less than approximately 300 cubic feet per second (cfs). This condition is expected to exist most of the year. Stream flow has not been gaged in the fall and winter, but these seasons are generally low flow months because of the lower temperatures. (Water is stored as snow pack and ice.) When creek flow is greater than approximately 300 cfs at the first gaging station, the creek loses water along the same course. Figure 7-4 approximates the differences in flow into and out of the creek channel that occurred from March through September 1993. Ľ

The stream gaging data for low-discharge months (March, April, May, July, and projected fall and winter months) indicate that groundwater from OU 5 contributes to Ship Creek during much of the year. Groundwater flowing toward Ship Creek that does not contribute to creek flow will contribute to underflow. Ship Creek underflow migrates downstream in the upper aquifer beneath the base of the creek channel.

The complex relationship between the creek flow, groundwater discharged as underflow from OU 5, and groundwater discharge entering the creek from the south side of Ship Creek make accurate estimates of the percentage contribution from each source difficult with available data. An additional deterrent to accurate estimates is that gaging station 4 is in central part of OU 5, and there are no flow estimates available downstream from that point. However, the effects of the groundwater/surface water interactions on contaminant concentrations can be qualitatively evaluated.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



•

......

Ship Creek Flow, Q, in OU 5 from Stream Gaging, March through September 1993

	Sufer J	Rud Mile	be 2 13.6	A A	12	11]3
Survey Date	Q (ch)*	Q (ch)	Gain ^b (cfs)	Q (đì)	Gaint' (ch)	Q (cà)	
3/30/93	0.24	11.2	11	15.7	4.5	17.6	1.9
4/18/93	23.7	39.8	16.1	43.3	3.5	4 .8	1.5
5/11/93	95.2	<136°	< 40.8"	126	-10	129	3.0
6/16/03	124	448	-23	439	q	3534	38
6/26/93	329	320	q	298	ä	MN	1
7/26/93	99.5	123	23.5	135	12	87.54	
8/15/93	132	152	20	155	3.0	991	5.0
9/15/93	198	219	21	218	-1.0	82	5.0

NM = Not measured - cfi = Cubic fast per second ¹ Prositive values indicate Ship Creek gained flow between upatreem station and this station; negative values indicate a loss of flow between stations. ² Station 2 measurement surport (no high). Gain calculations potentially affected. ³ Station 4 measurement may reflect upstream diversion of flow through beaver pood. Gain calculation affected.

٢

۲

۲

۲

Þ

0

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The Ship Creek channel and groundwater underflow comprise a mixing zone. Groundwater that flows through OU 5, groundwater flowing from the south (northern part of Anchorage), and Ship Creek combine in the mixing zone adjacent to OU 5. As the waters mix, any contaminants that have not previously been naturally attenuated are also mixed. Contaminant concentrations are reduced in the mixing zone through surface and subsurface advection, dispersion, and dilution. Groundwater leaving OU 5 in Ship Creek or as underflow would have significantly lower concentrations than found in groundwater in OU 5. ۲

(4)

Presented below is a summary of the RI findings discussed by geographic area of OU 5 (western, central, and eastern areas). Specific results and details are provided in the previous sections of this RI/FS report.

7.3 Western OU 5

The Western Area of OU 5 includes the Corps of Engineers building, the north source area (ST37), and the industrial area north of Ship Creek.

7.3.1 Conceptual Site Model

A plan view of the western area of OU 5 showing the sampling locations and the approximate extent of contamination in soils and groundwater is shown on Figure 7-5. The schematic cross section in Figure 7-6 illustrates the conceptual migration path of fuel hydrocarbons from pipelines near the top of the bluff, through the vadose zone toward water table (as measured in October 1992). Contaminated soil zones lying above the water table probably represent a "smear zone" of contamination resulting from fuel that migrated to a higher water table and were left in the vadose zone or capillary fringe as the water table receded. The smearing of hydrocarbons may occur between seasons as the water table rises and falls. Hydrocarbons have migrated to surface soil along the bluff face via seep discharges. Hydrocarbon odors and surface sheens in bluff seeps are evidence of this method of migration. Data to characterize the air pathways were not collected.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



ELM4 OUSA4 VRL SAC 11/03/93

0

۲

۲

•

.

.

•

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-16

.

(



7.3.2 Soil

Fuel hydrocarbons, JP-4, gasoline, and diesel fuel were detected at concentrations from 6.1 to 1,160 mg/kg from surface to a depth of 37 feet at locations SL04, SB18, and SB29. Diesel fuel (151 mg/kg) was detected in soils near the surface (0 to 2 feet) at SL04. The greatest concentrations of gasoline range (168 mg/kg) and diesel range (1,160 mg/kg) were detected at 10 to 12 feet below surface in SB29. The deepest fuel hydrocarbon-contaminated samples were collected from the saturated zone in SB18, indicating that the contaminants either migrated to groundwater at this location or at a location further north, in the upgradient direction of groundwater flow.

(4)

7.3.3 Surface Water and Sediments

Fuel hydrocarbons (JP-4 [0.8 mg/L] and gasoline [0.3 mg/L]), BTEX (0.001 - 0.27 mg/L), and 1,1-dichloroethane (0.002 mg/L) were detected in water sample SW08 from a puddle that is fed by groundwater seeps on the face of the bluff. The puddle formed in depressions on the bluff face by slope failure. Contaminants may have reached the puddle through the vadose zone soil, surface water runoff, or groundwater seepage.

Water sample SW09 from a ditch, downslope from the puddle, had a detectable concentration of 1,1,1-trichloroethane (0.0018 mg/L), a VOC not detected in the puddle or in groundwater within Western OU 5; its source is unknown.

7.3.4 Groundwater

Concentrations of TCE (5.2 to 33 μ g/L) were detected in groundwater samples collected from MW01, MW02, and SP1-02 on the bluff in the Western Area of OU 5. In wells SP1-01, MW15, and MW16A on and below the bluff face, TCE was not detected, but fuel hydrocarbons, benzene, toluene, xylenes, and naphthalene were. Groundwater flow directions in October 1992 indicate that the contamination would migrate toward the south.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The downgradient (southern) extent of groundwater contamination that exceeds 1×10^6 cancer risk is estimated in Figure 7-5.

The Bootlegger Cove Formation, at the base of the upper aquifer (approximately 20 to 50 feet below surface in Western OU 5), consists of fine-grained deposits (clays and silts) of low permeability that will impede downward migration of contaminants from the upper to the lower aquifer. Therefore, groundwater containing contaminants that is not lost to surface water or soil from bluff seeps will flow southward and is unlikely to migrate downward to the lower aquifer. Upper aquifer groundwater will mix with water flowing along the course of Ship Creek, as base flow or underflow, and will flow toward the mouth of the creek at Knik Arm.

7.3.5 Human Health Risk

In the Western Area of OU 5, human health risks were estimated for multiple exposure routes for potential receptors. Maximum additive health risks that equal or exceed 1×10^{-6} (carcinogenic) and a Hazard Index (HI) of 1 (noncarcinogenic) and the major contributors to the risk, listed by medium, are:

Medium	Rick to Pe Cardingante	ture Resident Noncarcinogenic	Major Contributors
Surface Soil @ SB-29	4.7 x 10 ⁵	<1	Arsenic, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
Groundwater at SP1-01	1 x 10 ⁻⁴	3	Arsenic, manganese, TFH gasoline, TFH diesel, benzene
Groundwater at MW-02	4 x 10 ⁴	<1	TCE

The future residential scenario, which results in the highest human health risk values in Western OU 5, is highly conservative. Calculation of the values assumes that a residence is built on the most contaminated surface soil and that groundwater from the monitoring wells is used as the only domestic water in the residence. There are currently no

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

residences in OU 5. Groundwater from the upper aquifer is not used and is unlikely to be used because of the availability of water from the deep aquifer. ۲

Arzenic is a major contributor to both carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic risk values calculated for soil and groundwater. However, three factors allow for arsenic not to be considered a COC. First, arsenic concentrations in Western OU 5 groundwater samples are less than federal and state MCLs of $50 \mu g/L$. Second, the arzenic concentrations that contribute to risk in surface soil in Western OU 5 are less than Elmendorf AFB background concentrations. Finally, an increasing body of data indicates that arsenic is not a contaminant in the Western Area of OU 5. Analytical data indicate that arsenic occurs naturally in soil and water of OU 5 at concentrations greater than those detected in uncontaminated media in the continental U.S. The average background arsenic concentrations (9 to 13 mg/kg) in the surface and root zone soil of Elmendorf AFB are greater than average values (5.3 to 7.5 mg/kg) in a database of shallow soil analyses from locations in the soil at Elmendorf AFB provide a natural source of the arsenic detected in groundwater, surface water, and sediments.

7.3.6 Aquatic Biota

The puddle on the bluff near MI 08 contained aquatic organisms associated with the water column, but no aquatic life was noted in qualitative collections of bottom debris. It could not be determined if the absence of aquatic life is the result of fuel hydrocarbons and metals at this location.

7.3.7 Terrestrial Plants and Animals

Plants exhibiting evidence of stress were evaluated throughout OU 5. An evaluation of fuel hydrocarbon and benzene, toluene, and xylene concentrations was conducted at SL04, an area where stressed vegetation in the western area was observed. The

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

results indicated that the concentrations detected were not the cause of plant stress. Evaluations of potential contaminant stress on animals were not specific to the Western OU 5. However, there is no clear evidence that contaminants detected in soils and surface water throughout OU 5 are affecting terrestrial species.

 (\bullet)

7.3.8 Conclusions for the Western OU 5

Concentrations of COCs in soils 10 to 12 feet below ground surface at SB29 exceed the interim remediation goals for diesel (200 mg/kg) and gasoline (100 mg/kg) range TFH. Groundwater in the vicinity of MW01, MW02, and SP1-02 exceeds the interim remediation goals based on federal and state MCLs for TCE; water in MW16A exceeds the Alaskan Water Quality Standards (AWS) (10 μ g/L) for TFH gasoline in groundwater. Cancer risks exceed 1 x 10⁴ at MW02, SP1-01, and SP1-02, even if the contribution of arsenic is not included. Groundwater seepage in the puddle at SW/SE08 exceeds the AWS of 10 μ g/L for total hydrocarbons because of JP-4 (770 μ g/L) and TFH gasoline (320 μ g/L). No other surface water interim remediation goals were exceeded at SW08 or SW09. Sediment concentrations do not exceed interim remediation goals. Surface soil at SB29 exceeds the interim remediation goal of 1×10^{4} cancer risk. The major contributors to the risk are polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and arsenic. Even if arsenic concentrations are excluded from the cancer risk for surface soils at SB29, PAHs cumulatively result in a cancer risk greater than 1×10^{5} . However, the PAHs occur in surface soils on the bluff face where a residence could not be constructed. Therefore, the scenario of the ingestion of soil by a residential receptor at SB29 is conservative, and the potential for exposure would be limited.

SB29 is an area near a seep that forms a puddle. The area measures only approximately 50 feet by 50 feet. Because of the small size of the affected area, the improbability of any residential exposure, and the single compound nature of the impact, the FS will not focus on the PAH surface soil impacts. If any remedial action is deemed

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

necessary, clearly limited excavation and disposal of the affected soil would be the most effective action.

(4)

۲

Based on the conclusions, the FS in Western OU 5 should focus on impacts to subsurface soil, seeps, and groundwater. The areas to be considered for remediation are shown on Figure 7-5.

7.4 <u>Central OU 5</u>

The Central Area of OU 5 extends from the western outlet of the snowmelt pond to the east of the waste paint tank (see Figure 7-7). The area includes source areas ST38, SS42, and the snowmelt pond. The fish hatchery is located in this area between the toe of the bluff and Ship Creek.

7.4.1 Conceptual Site Model

The conceptual site model of Central OU 5 in plan view, showing sample locations and the approximate extent of contamination in soils and groundwater, is shown in Figure 7-7. A conceptual cross section is shown on Figure 7-8. Remedial investigation results for the snowmelt pond are reported separately in Section 7.6. A small volume of near-surface soil with concentrations of diesel hydrocarbons and concentrations of inorganic elements greater than background levels represents the only soil contamination exceeding interim remediation goals in Central OU 5. The surface soil contamination is near the toe of the bluff and is probably the result of seeps of contaminated groundwater. Hydrocarbon odors and surface sheens in bluff seeps are evidence of this method of migration.

Fuel hydrocarbons and BTEX compounds are present in the groundwater pathway. Surface water contamination resulting from seeps occurs in drainage ditches adjacent to the face of the bluff. Data to characterize the air pathway were not collected.

7-22

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report





7.4.2 Soil

The analytical results indicate that fuel hydrocarbons have migrated vertically to groundwater in several locations within Central OU 5 and have migrated horizontally in groundwater to the surface near the toe of the bluff. The data indicate that residual contamination is not present in the vadose zone at the locations sampled. Contamination remains in the soil at the water table. A concentration of fuel hydrocarbons (9,843 mg/kg) was detected in a soil sample from 30 to 31.5 feet below surface in the boring SP2/6-10 beneath ST38, the JP-4 Fuel Line Leak source area (Black and Veatch, 1990). Diesel fuel concentrations were also detected in two other samples at 53 mg/kg in soil at 58 to 60 feet below surface in SB23, and at 720 mg/kg in soil at 2 feet below the surface at seep SL16 at the toe of the bluff. The TFH contamination detected between 30 and 60 feet below ground surface occurs in the saturated zone and should be considered with groundwater. The sample from SL16 exceeds the interim remediation goal for soil. (\bullet)

Concentrations of several inorganic elements exceed soil background concentrations in Central OU 5. Arsenic, barium, beryllium, copper, lead, manganese, selenium, silver, and thallium were detected at concentrations greater than soil background concentrations in near-surface soil samples collected at seep SL25. One to four of these inorganic elements also exceeded background concentrations in the soils at SL16, SL19, and SL27. The natural organic carbon in the samples ranges from 2.7 to 19.5%. Soils with high concentrations of organic carbon adsorb inorganic elements more effectively than soils with little or no natural organic carbon. The organic material in the soils most likely has adsorbed and concentrated the inorganic elements from seep water that flowed through the soil. The soils at SL25, which contain the highest concentrations of organic carbon in Central OU 5, also have the highest concentrations and the greatest number of inorganic elements reported above background levels. Manganese may have been concentrated in the soils from SL25 and SL27 due to adsorption on organic carbon; however, all of the manganese analytic data collected from OU 5 soils are qualified. Also, the manganese concentrations reported by the

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

laboratory have a "high bias" and, therefore, are likely to be higher than the manganese concentration that is actually present in the soils.

4

7.4.3 Surface Water and Sediment

The sediment sample collected at location 5 SW/SE06 had concentrations of 7,400 mg/kg TFH diesel, 17 mg/kg gasoline, and 23.1 mg/kg arsenic. There are no interim remediation goals that specifically address sediment contamination. However, the TFH in sediment is probably related to TFH in soils. The sediment sample was collected near the soil sample at seep SL16 that had concentrations of 720 mg/kg TFH diesel, which exceeds the interim remediation goal of 200 mg/kg. The contaminated soil and sediment should be considered a single soil contaminated area in the FS.

7.4.4 Groundwater

There is no identifiable trend in the compounds detected or their respective concentrations in monitoring well samples. The greatest concentrations and the greatest number of compounds were detected in samples from MW13, the well located furthest in the downgradient direction. Groundwater from the well had concentrations of JP-4 fuel (730 μ g/L), gasoline (250 μ g/L), and benzene (0.6 μ g/L). Upgradient well samples contain lower concentrations of toluene, N-nitrosodiphenlyamine, and diesel fuel. Contaminant plume boundaries in Figure 7-7 estimate the extent of groundwater exceeding 1 x 10⁶ cancer risk.

7.4.5 Human Health Risk

The potential cancer risk from residential exposure to soils at SL25 is greater than 7 x 10^{-5} because of the arsenic concentration in the soil. Potential cancer risk is less than 1 x 10^{-6} and the noncancer risk Hazard Index is less than 1 for residential exposure to all other inorganic element concentrations in Central OU 5 soils. Maximum additive cancer

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

health risks exceeding 1×10^4 were calculated for the groundwater pathway. The Hazard Index for noncancer risks is less than one. Results of risk calculations are:

Madhan	Risk to Pu Carcinogenic	ture Raddent Noscarchoganic	Major Contributor
Soil at SL25	9 x 10 ⁻⁵	< 1	Arsenic
Groundwater at MW13	6 x 10 ⁻⁶	< 1	TFH gasoline, benzene

7.4.6 Aquatic Biota

The wetland pond at MI 06 in Central OU 5 exhibited a restricted invertebrate community structure; i.e., fewer species were found in the pond than are considered normal for a healthy habitat. The presence of organic contaminants may be the cause of restricted community. The presence of aquatic life suggests that contaminants in the pond sediments are not acutely toxic to some of the invertebrate life forms.

7.4.7 Terrestrial Plants and Animals

There are two areas of stressed vegetation; however, no evaluation of plant or animal stress resulting from contaminants was conducted in Central OU 5.

7.4.8 Conclusions for Central OU 5

Diesel fuel (720 mg/kg) in soil 1 to 2 feet below surface, the result of groundwater seepage, does not pose a significant health risk. However, the soil should be evaluated in the FS because it exceeds the interim remediation goal of 200 mg/kg. Sediments, represented by sample SE06, containing TFH diesel and gasoline, should be considered a part of the area of soil contamination. Hydrocarbon concentrations of 50 to 9,843 mg/kg that occur from 30 to 60 feet below surface pose no risk to surface receptors

7-27

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

1

4)

unless they migrate to the surface as seeps in the future. Because these concentrations are at or below the water table, they should be addressed with groundwater.

 (\bullet)

The arsenic concentrations at sample locations SE06 (23.1 mg/kg) and SL25 (28.2 mg/kg) are probably the result of leaching of naturally occurring arsenic from surface soils and adsorption from water onto organic-rich soil. The detected concentrations are less than three times the mean background concentration (7.2 mg/kg) for arsenic in surface soils and do not cause concentrations in surface water to exceed interim remediation goals of 50 μ g/L. Therefore, remediation on the basis of arsenic concentrations is not warranted.

Concentrations of barium, copper, lead, manganese, selenium, silver, and thallium in near-surface soils at seeps SL16, SL19, SL25, and SL27 do not result from discharges of contaminants. These inorganic elements exceed soil background concentrations because of high organic carbon concentrations in the soils that adsorb the elements from seeping groundwater. Although the inorganic element concentrations exceed soil background concentrations, they are present because of natural processes and do not exceed interim remediation goals. Therefore, soil remediation on the basis of inorganic element concentrations is not warranted.

A groundwater plume with gasoline and benzene concentrations that pose greater than 1 x 10^4 cancer risk was detected at MW13. Because of the potential health risks, the gasoline and benzene plume should be evaluated for feasibility of remedial action.

In initial sampling, the concentration $(20 \ \mu g/L)$ of bis (2-ethyl hexyl) phthalate at MW11 exceeded the interim remediation goal of 6 $\mu g/L$. The well was resampled in December 1993 because this compound is atypical in OU 5. No phthalates were discovered in this second sample. Since the phthalate is a potential laboratory contaminant, it was concluded that the first sampling results were inaccurate.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7.5 Eastern OU 5

The Eastern Area of OU 5 extends from the eastern side of the waste paint tank to the eastern edge of source ST46 (Figure 7-9). Source areas SS53, SD40, and ST46 are located in this area. Eastern OU 5 includes an area at the top of the bluff, a bluff face less steep than in Central OU 5, and wetlands between the toe of the bluff and Ship Creek. The most significant feature in the wetlands is the beaver pond. The beaver pond is discussed separately in Section 7.7. (\bullet)

()

7.5.1 Conceptual Site Model

Sampling locations and areas of contamination in Eastern OU 5 are shown in plan view on Figure 7-9. A conceptual cross section of the migration pathways is shown on Figure 7-10. Fuel hydrocarbons and BTEX compounds are present in the soil of the golf course seep area as a result of leaks from the fuel pipelines crossing the northern portion of eastern OU 5. The greatest concentration of TFH occurs in the smear zone near the water table at SB26. This smear zone likely resulted from fuel contaminants that migrated to a higher water table and were left in the vadose zone or capillary fringe as the water table receded. The smearing of hydrocarbons may occur between season as the water table rises and falls. From the area below the pipeline leak, where the hydrocarbons reached the water table, the fuel hydrocarbons have migrated on the upper groundwater surface to seeps along the bluff and have affected surface soil and sediment in the beaver pond. Hydrocarbon odors and surface sheens in bluff seeps are evidence of this method of migration. Groundwater beneath Eastern OU 5 contains compounds that have migrated to the bluff face and beyond to well GW5A. Data to characterize the air pathways were not collected.

7.5.2 Soil

Fuel hydrocarbons (JP-4 and diesel) were detected at concentrations of 165 mg/kg and 172 mg/kg, respectively, in the saturated zone at boring SB26. This soil boring

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report


0

۲

۲

ŧ

ŧ

rendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-30

Ι.



was drilled adjacent to a water drain pit on the JP-4 pipeline, where a leak was detected in 1982. Each of the BTEX compounds were also detected in the sample from 25 to 27 feet below surface. Hydrocarbons were not detected in samples from shallower depths in the boring. The absence of fuel hydrocarbons in the shallow soil suggests that the leaking fuel did not migrate laterally in the vadose zone toward SB26, but migrated vertically to groundwater, and then laterally toward soils at SB26 after reaching the water table. Diesel fuel has migrated in groundwater and reached the surface soil in the golf course seep at surface seep SL20.

4)

7.5.3 Surface Water and Sediment

Surface water and sediment samples were collected in the beaver pond. Results of sampling and analysis in the pond are discussed in Section 7.7.

7.5.4 Groundwater

The estimated extent of the contaminant plume exceeding 1 x 10⁻⁶ cancer risk in the Eastern Area of OU 5 is shown in Figure 7-9. Monitoring well MW06, north of the bluff, yielded a sample with concentrations of TCE (52 μ g/L), ethylbenzene (0.67 μ g/L), toluene (1.4 μ g/L), xylenes (2.7 μ g/L), and gasoline hydrocarbons (0.082 μ g/L). Only the TCE concentration exceeds the groundwater interim remediation goal of 5 μ g/L. A sample from monitoring well GW4A had concentrations of TFH gasoline (260 μ g/L) and benzene (0.84 μ g/L). The TFH gasoline concentration exceeds the interim remediation goal of 10 μ g/L. A sample from MW07 had a concentration of 8 μ g/L of 1,1,2,2-tetrachloroethane, which does exceeds an interim remediation goal (1 μ g/L). All of these compounds were also detected in water or sediment samples from the beaver pond (Section 7.7).

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7.5.5 Human Health Risk

No cancer risk values were calculated for surface or subsurface soil in the Eastern Area of OU 5 because only diesel fuel, which has only non-cancer health effects, was detected at the surface. The BTEX compounds, which can pose carcinogenic effects, were detected at 25 feet below surface, and are thus below the depth of any potential human exposure. Hazard indices for both surface and subsurface soils are less than 1. Groundwater is the only medium in the Eastern OU 5 with calculated cancer risks exceeding 1×10^{6} . Health risk results for three wells are:

Mailina	Risk to Paters Reddent Cardingeole	Major Contributor
Groundwater at GW4A	8 x 10 ⁴	TFH gasoline, TCE, benzene
Groundwater at MW06	4 x 10 ⁻⁵	TFH gasoline, TCE
Groundwater at MW07	3 x 10 ^{-s}	1,1,2,2-Tetrachloroethane

7.5.6 Aquatic Biota

Aquatic biota in Eastern OU 5 were evaluated in the beaver pond. See Section 7.7.

7.5.7 Terrestrial Plants and Animals

There are two areas of stressed vegetation; however, no evaluation of plant or animal stress resulting from contaminants was conducted in the Eastern area of OU 5.

7.5.8 Conclusions for the Eastern Area of OU 5

The principal pathway in the Eastern Area of OU 5 is groundwater. Excess lifetime cancer risks to future residential receptors exceed 1×10^{-6} at the wells. Concentra-

7-33

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(*)

()

tions of TCE at MW06 and TFH gasoline at GW5A also exceed the interim remediation goals of 5 μ g/L TCE and 10 μ g/L TFH gasoline, respectively. The VOC and BTEX concentrations beneath the southern portion of the area may increase in the future because of greater concentrations of TCE in groundwater upgradient at MW06. These increasing concentrations may affect the surface water pathway through surface seeps. If volatile concentrations increase in seeps and surface water, the air pathway may be also be affected by increased concentrations of volatile compounds lost from the water surface. (\mathbf{r})

0

(4)

The FS should focus on groundwater in Eastern OU 5 because of potential health risks and exceedance of potential ARARs for groundwater. Surface water originating from groundwater seeps and sediment in the beaver pond also should be evaluated.

7.6 Snowmelt Pond

Three studies of the snowmelt pond have been performed. The first study, performed as part of the 1992 RI, indicated that PCBs may be present in the sediment of the pond. The second study was performed in June 1993 to confirm the presence of the PCBs in the sediment and to determine if sources of PCBs occurred in the area. The third study was performed in September 1993 to determine if PCBs were in the pond water and to evaluate the risk to aquatic life posed by the PCBs when the total organic carbon content of the sediment is considered. A land ownership study and a site inspection for potential sources of PCBs was conducted as part of the third study. Detailed reports on the second and third studies are provided in Appendix Q.

7.6.1 Initial Remedial Investigation Study

Water samples from snowmelt pond contained concentrations of 1.4 to $2.5 \ \mu g/L$ of three VOCs that have been detected in groundwater in the Western and Eastern Areas of OU 5, but not in Central OU 5. Groundwater from the bluff area to the north discharges into the pond and may contain concentrations of the VOCs. Analysis of a compo-

7-34

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

site sediment sample from the pond detected 0.057 to 0.240 mg/kg of 11 different polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) compounds and 1,600 μ g/kg of PCBs (Arochlor 1260). Additional sampling and analysis was conducted in the pond because an initial evaluation indicated that the PCB concentration in the sediment may pose a threat to aquatic life. (4)

۲

7.6.2 Second Sediment Sampling

Five sample locations were selected to determine if a specific source area of the PCBs could be identified and to determine the extent of the contamination. The additional samples were collected in June 1993 and were analyzed for PCB concentrations by Method SW8080. Locations of the additional sediment samples are shown in Figure 7-11. Sample location SD-01, at the eastern end of the pond, was selected to determine if PCBs were entering the pond from its eastern drainage. Sample location SD-02 was selected to determine if PCBs were entering the pond from the fill area located immediately north of the eastern half of the pond. Sample location SD-03 was placed at the downstream edge of the fill area. Sample location SD-04 was selected to determine if the abandoned building was the source of the PCBs. Sample location SD-05 was selected to determine if the PCBs occurred where the water flowed out of the pond.

The reported PCB concentrations in these samples ranged from "not detected" to 1,460 μ g/kg (see summary table in Section 7.6.4). Since the presence of PCBs in the sediment was confirmed, a third study was performed to determine if the PCBs were present in surface water and to determine the potential threat to aquatic life.

7.6.3 Third Sampling Event and Site Inspection

The objectives of the third study were:

• To determine if the PCBs in the sediments represented a threat to aquatic life;

7-35

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report



.

- To determine if PCBs were present in the pond's water;
- To conduct a site inspection for visible sources of the PCBs; and

(4)

• To obtain information on the property boundaries in the vicinity of snowmelt pond.

The site inspection in September 1993 examined a variety of structures and physical features in the vicinity of the snowmelt pond. Seeps entering the pond at the base of the bluff (see Figure 7-11) contained a visible hydrocarbon sheen. The sheen extended a few feet into the pond and violates Alaska Water Quality Standards for no visible sheens. No other potential sources of PCBs or other contamination were observed during the inspection. A detailed report on the site inspection is provided in Appendix Q.

As shown in Figure 7-11, the property boundary information indicates that snowmelt pond lies almost entirely on Alaska Railroad property. A very small portion of the pond near the abandoned building lies within the Elmendorf AFB property.

The third sampling effort was performed in September 1993. Sediment and surface water samples were collected at the three locations where PCBs were detected during the second round of sampling. The sediment samples were analyzed for total organic carbon (TOC) because PCB toxicity in sediments is dependent on the TOC concentration in the sediments. The water samples were analyzed to determine if PCBs are present in the water phase.

7.6.4 Final Results and Analysis

The results of the sediment and surface water analyses from the second and third sampling events are:

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

			PCB (Are Cance	tiler 1269) Aradies	
Samula Locadan	Lecation Description	TOC" (Percent)	Surface Water (ag/L)	Sudana"	Section and Quality Criteria
SD-01	Surface water inflow point	NS	NS	ND (239)	NC
SD-02	Downslope from fill area	3.2	ND (0.05)	1,170	604
SD-03	End of soil peninsula	9.1	ND (0.05)	1,460	1,730
SD-04	Near abandoned building	NS	NS	ND (130)	NC
SD-05	Surface water outflow point	2.5	ND (0.05)	1,130	475
Average		4.9	NC	790	936

٢

۲

4)

* From third sampling event.

Prom second sampling ev

NS = Not anapled

ND = Not detected (detection lim

NC = Not calculated

The distribution of PCB concentrations in the snowmelt pond does not indicate a specific source area or discharge point for the contaminants. The result from SD-01 from the inflow point indicates that PCBs have not migrated into the pond from another area to the east. The result from SD-04 indicates that the abandoned building is not a source of the PCBs. Evidence that PCB contaminated sediment has been transported across the pond to the point where surface water flows downstream is provided by the SD-05 sample. No data are available regarding a PCB source lying along the side of the pond.

To determine if the PCBs in the sediments pose a threat to aquatic life, the reported concentrations were compared to sediment quality criteria (SQC) (U.S. EPA, 1990). The SQC were designed to be protective of aquatic life and animals that consume aquatic life. U.S. EPA recommends that the SQC be considered in establishing remediation goals for contaminated sediments. The PCB SQC is not a fixed value; rather, it is dependent on the TOC concentration in the sediment. At higher TOC levels, PCBs are less biologically available because a greater fraction of the total PCBs will be sorbed to organic material in the sediments. The PCB SQC is higher at higher TOC concentrations. The PCB SQC

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

for the snowmelt pond, shown in the previous table, were interpolated from the established freshwater SQCs of:

()

- 1,900 μ g/kg if TOC equals 10%; and
- 190 μ g/kg if TOC equals 1%.

The SQCs were exceeded in two of the five sampling locations: downslope from the fill area and at the surface water outflow point. Aquatic receptors may be at risk based on this assessment. However, PCBs were not detected in any of the water samples. The detection limits were not low enough to determine if the National Ambient Water Quality Criteria of 0.014 μ g/L was exceeded.

7.6.5 Conclusions for the Snowmelt Pond

Interim remediation goals for PCBs in sediment are exceeded in two locations. However, PCBs were not detected in any water samples. A small hydrocarbon sheen on the pond was found to be in violation of AWQS. The FS should consider the Snowmelt Pond sediment due to possible risks to aquatic life from PCBs. The sheen on the surface water should also be addressed in the FS.

7.7 Beaver Pond

The beaver pond is a potentially sensitive receptor of contaminated groundwater. Because of the sensitivity, two studies of the pond have been conducted. The first study was performed as part of the RI and focused on the identification of contamination in the water and sediment in the pond. The second study evaluated the ability of the pond to naturally attenuate the known types and concentration of contaminants detected during the RI. The results of each study are discussed below.

7-39

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7.7.1 Summary of the Remedial Investigation

Water samples collected from the golf course beaver pond contained $0.6 \mu g/L$ of benzene, $0.7 \mu g/L$ of toluene, $4.3 \mu g/L$ of 1,1,2,2-tetrachlorethane, $6.6 \mu g/L$ of trichloroethene, and $52 \mu g/L$ of gasoline hydrocarbons. The beaver pond is fed by groundwater seeps and indicates the contaminants migrating in groundwater to the pond. Sediment samples from the pond had concentrations of JP-4, diesel fuel, gasoline, ethylbenzene, naphthalene, phenanthrene, toluene, cadmium, chromium, copper, lead, mercury, silver, and zinc. শ্ব

7.7.2 Aquatic Biota

In eastern OU 5, invertebrate community structure in the golf course beaver pond is dominated by taxa that are considered tolerant. Station MI 05, located at the beaver pond, appeared to be the most biologically affected station in eastern OU 5. Fuel hydrocarbon products were observed in the sediment sample results at this location.

7.7.3 Natural Attenuation Study

Wetlands have been shown, through numerous studies performed through the United States and other countries, to naturally attenuate a variety of contaminants. Wetlands typically contain aerobic, anaerobic, and filtration environments. These environments have the ability to attenuate aromatic VOCs, halogenated VOCs, and metals in water.

The attenuation systems in the beaver pond, and other seeps throughout OU 5, were evaluated in September 1993. Based on analysis of data collected during the investigation, the following conclusions have been made.

• The beaver pond is within Section 404 jurisdiction; while a 404 permit would not be required for allowing the wetland to continue natural degradation of contaminants, the substantive requirements of the permit must be met.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

- The assessment of functions suggests that the beaver pond is capable of treating contamination in excess of that currently discharging into the system.
- The seeps not related to the beaver pond contain hydrocarbon degrading bacteria, yet residence time in the system is probably not sufficient for complete degradation.

(ک

Although the beaver pond is within 404 jurisdiction, and activities involving discharge of fill into the system would not require a permit, as long as substantive requirements of this permit are met. Discharge of fill is broadly interpreted by the Corps of Engineers (COE) to include activities that alter the hydrology or surface flow in a wetland. This can include most activities requiring any equipment heavier than a pick-up truck, any ditching or draining, or any re-routing of water flow. Any remedial action involving earth moving, capture of surface water, or capture of groundwater that naturally discharges to the pond would not require a 404 permit, although the substantive requirements of the permit must be met. A 404 permit would not be required for allowing the beaver pond to continue natural degradation of contaminants, although again, the substantive requirements of this permit must be met. Continuation of natural degradation would not entail any alteration of the system whatsoever, and therefore, would cause no impacts to the hydrology. A long-term monitoring program would be needed to ensure continued effective water treatment and to track potential impacts to the ecosystem.

The assessment of wetland functions within the beaver pond shows a storage capacity and residence time that is more than adequate for the measured contaminant loading rate. The water quality tests suggest that the water leaving the system is of better quality than that at the sites of contamination. Hydrocarbon-degrading bacteria counts also indicate adequate treatment capabilities. Design criteria for constructed wetlands systems were used to calculate the necessary treatment acreage for the contaminant loading rate of Beaver Pond. The results suggest that the beaver pond is 18 times larger than necessary for successful remediation of the influent seeps.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The other seeps investigated during this study were found to have hydrocarbon degrading bacteria. However, the hydraulic residence time in the system is too short to allow for complete degradation. There are no natural controls to the flow and precipitation mixes with the seeps and washes immediately to more major drainages. Modifying the seep areas to control the flow thereby increasing the hydraulic residence time may be a viable remedial alternative.

٣

۲

8

A detailed report on the study is provided in Appendix R.

7.8 <u>Contaminants of Concern</u>

By comparing contaminant concentrations in OU 5 soil and water with interim remediation goals, the contaminants of concern (COC) in OU 5 have been identified (Table 7-3). These COCs combined with the affected media and pathways form the basis of the identification and screening of remedial technologies and the detailed analysis of alternatives in the FS.

On the basis of the analysis, the COCs in the water and soil of OU 5 are:

Water COCs

- Fuel hydrocarbons (JP-4, TFH-diesel, TFH-gasoline);
- Halogenated volatile organic compounds (VOCs); and
- Aromatic volatile organic compounds (BTEX).



٢

۲

Þ

•

Ð

•

Potential COC	Without	6 4 8
Halogensted VOCs	Confirmed as a COC. Levels exceed background, exceed poten- tial ARARs, and contribute to cancer risk.	Not a COC. Not detected.
Aromatic VOCs	Confirmed as a COC. Levels exceed background, exceed poten- tial ARARs, and contribute to cancer risk.	Confirmed as a COC. Levels exceed background and consti- tuents contribute to TFH levels of potential ARARs.
Total Fuel Hydrocarbons	Confirmed as a COC. Levels exceed background, exceed poten- tial TBC level, contribute to risk, and cause abcens on surface water.	Confirmed as a COC. Levels exceed background and potential TBC levels.
Metals	Not a COC. Only two metals in one sample exceed potential ARARs and are minor contribu- tors to risk.	Not a COC. Levels exceed background concentrations only in soils with high organic carbon content.
Areenic	Not a COC. Concentrations less than potential ARAR (50 μ g/L).	Not a COC. Levels exceed background concentrations only in soils with high organic carbon content.
Polycyclic Aromstic Hydrocarbons (PAHs)	Not a COCs. Detectable concen- trations are below potential ARARs, and not significant contributors to risk.	Not a COC. Levels do not exceed potential ARARs. Poten- tial cancer risks from ingestion are reduced because the location cannot be used as a future residence.
РСВа	Not confirmed as a COC. Not detected in water.	Confirmed as a COC. Levels exceed background and SQC levels. Potential environmental risks to aquatic receptors.

Summary of Contaminants of Concern (COCs) Analysis

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

7-43

•

2

ł

Soll COCs

- Fuel hydrocarbons (JP-4, TFH-diesel, TFH-gasoline);
- BTEX compounds; and
- PCBs (Arochlor 1260).

Remedial actions considered for groundwater and surface seeps in OU 5 must also accommodate contaminants that may migrate in groundwater from all upgradient sources. Therefore, the list of COCs may be expanded in the future, if new COCs are identified during groundwater characterization investigations in areas upgradient from OU 5.

7.8.1 Inorganic Elements in Soils

Arsenic is a major contributor to both carcinogenic and non-carcinogenic risk in the soil and groundwater. However, arsenic concentrations in OU 5 groundwater samples are less than federal and Alaskan MCLs for drinking water. Most arsenic concentrations that contribute to risk in surface soil are less than Elmendorf AFB background levels. The natural arsenic in the soil at Elmendorf AFB provides a source of the arsenic detected in groundwater, surface water, and sediments.

Arsenic, barium, beryllium, copper, lead, manganese, selenium, silver, and thallium were detected at concentrations greater than soil background concentrations in nearsurface soils at several seeps in Central OU 5. These inorganic element concentrations can be attributed to high natural organic carbon concentrations (2.7 to 19.5%) in the soils and to the effects of analytical problems on some of the results. The high organic carbon concentrations in the soils are likely to have adsorbed and concentrated the inorganic elements from seep water that flowed through the soil. Soil samples containing the highest concentrations of organic carbon also contain the highest concentrations and the greatest number of inorganic elements reported above background levels. Manganese may have been concentrated in the soils, along with the other inorganic elements, because of adsorption on

Elseendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

natural organic carbon; however, all of the manganese analytical data collected from OU 5 soils are qualified. The manganese concentrations reported by the laboratory have a high bias, and, therefore, are likely to be higher than the manganese concentration that is actually present in soils. For these reasons, the inorganic element concentrations in soils at seeps are not considered COCs.

7.9 <u>Recommendations</u>

On the basis of the comparison of remedial investigation data to interim remediation goals, the following recommendations are made for each area of OU 5.

7.9.1 Areas Recommended for No Further Action

No further action is recommended for the following source areas or specific pathways in each of the three geographic areas of OU 5 because remedial actions are not warranted.

Central OU 5

Source Areas ST38 and SS42 — No further action for the soil, surface water, and sediment pathways are warranted for the following reasons:

- TFH diesel, JP-4, and BTEX compounds were only detected in soil 10 to 60 feet below surface SB23, MW11, SP2/6-10, and SP2/6-04 and are not in a surface soil pathway accessible by residents or terrestrial animals; compounds detected below 30 feet are related to groundwater contamination;
- Detected contaminant concentrations pose less than 1 x 10⁻⁶ cancer risk and have a Hazard Index less than 1 for non-cancer risks;
- COC concentrations do no exceed potential ARAR or TBC levels; and

There are no identifiable effects of contaminants on aquatic biots or terrestrial plants and animals.

Outside of Source Areas — No further action is warranted for soils at SL16, SL19, SL25, or SL27 for the following reasons:

- Concentrations of inorganic elements exceed soil background levels because of 2.7 to 19.5% natural organic carbon that has adsorbed the elements from water to a much higher degree than normal soils have, not because of contaminant discharge;
- With the exception of the near-surface arsenic concentration at SL25, none of the inorganic element concentrations exceed interim remediation goals; and
- The arsenic concentration at SL25 is the result of naturally high arsenic concentrations in Elmendorf AFB soils and the high concentration of organic carbon that has adsorbed the arsenic leached from soils by surface water and groundwater.
- The manganese concentrations at SL25 and SL27 are the result of the high concentration of organic carbon that has absorbed the manganese leached from soils by surface water and groundwater. In addition, the manganese measurements at these locations have a high bias, indicating the actual concentrations are likely to be lower than reported.

Eastern OU 5

Source Area SS53 — No further action is warranted for the soil pathway for the following reasons:

• TFH diesel, JP-4, and BTEX compound concentrations were detected in SB26 at a depth of 25 to 27 feet and is related to groundwater contamination; TFH diesel concentration in near surface soil at SL20 was only 2 mg/kg;

AND ST PROPERTY.

• Detected contaminant concentrations pose less than 1 x 10⁻⁶ cancer risk and have a Hazard Index less than 1 for non-cancer risk; and ۲

Contaminant concentrations do no exceed potential ARAR or TBC levels.

Source Areas SD40 and ST46 — No further action is warranted for the soil pathway for the following reasons:

- Detected contaminant concentrations in all soil samples pose less than 1 x 10⁻⁶ cancer risk and have a Hazard Index less than 1 for non-cancer risk;
- COC concentrations do no exceed potential ARAR or TBC levels; and
- There are no identifiable effects of contaminants on aquatic biota or terrestrial plants and animals.

7.9.2 Areas and Media Recommended for Evaluation in the Feasibility Study

Remedial actions for COCs in specific pathways should be evaluated in the feasibility study because contaminants exceed potential ARARs or TBC regulatory levels or pose cancer risks greater than 1×10^{-6} or non-cancer risks with a Hazard Index greater than 1. The pathways that will be evaluated in each geographic area and the reasons for selecting the pathway are explained below.

Western OU 5

Source Area ST37 — Remedial actions should be evaluated for the soil pathway for the following reason:

• TFH diesel and gasoline concentrations exceed the interim remediation goals of 200 mg/kg and 100 mg/kg, respectively, in a sample from 10 to 12 feet below ground surface at SB29.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Remedial actions are not evaluated for surface soil for the following reasons:

()

• The major contributors to the risk are polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) and arsenic. Even if arsenic concentrations are excluded from the cancer risk for surface soils at SB29, PAHs cumulatively result in a cancer risk greater than 1 x 10⁻⁵. However, the PAHs occur in surface soils on the bluff face where a residence could not be constructed. Therefore, the scenario of the ingestion of soil by a residential receptor at SB29 is conservative and the potential for exposure is limited. SB29 is an area and a seep that forms a puddle. The area measures only approximately 50 feet by 50 feet. Because of the small size of the affected area, the improbability of any residential exposure, and the single compound nature of the impact, the FS will not focus on the PAH surface soil impacts. If any remedial action is deemed necessary clearly limited excavation and disposal of the affected soil would be the most effective action.

Remedial actions should be evaluated for the surface water pathway for the following reason:

• The concentrations of JP-4 (770 μ g/L) and TFH gas (320 μ g/L) exceed the Alaska Surface Water Quality (ASWQ) potential ARAR of (10 μ g/L) at location SW08.

The surface water is a puddle caused by seep water. This pathway should be evaluated in the FS as a seep of groundwater.

Remedial actions should be evaluated for the groundwater pathway for the following reasons:

- Potential federal and state ARARs for groundwater are exceeded for benzene (5 μ g/L) at SP1-01, for TCE (5 μ g/L), and TFH (10 μ g/L) at SP1-01, MW15, and MW16A; and
- Excess lifetime cancer risks to a future residential receptor exceed 1 x 10⁶ in groundwater at wells MW02, SP1-01, and SP1-02 locations even if arsenic is deleted as a contributor to risk.

Elmondorf AFE OU 5 RI/FS Report

Central OU 5

pathway for the following reasons:

as a result of a seep, the remediation evaluation of alternatives for seeps.

following reasons:

following reasons:

Cent	ral OU S
Outs ic foll	ide of Source Areas — Remedial actions should be evaluated for the soil lowing reasons:
•	The TFH diesel concentration exceeds the interim remediation goal of 200 mg/kg in a small volume of soil south of ST38 at SL16 and the sediments at SE06.
This	soil is contaminated by groundwater seeps. Because the soil is impacted
a seej	o, the remediation of soil should not be considered independently, without
altern	atives for seeps.
Remo ons:	edial actions should be evaluated for the groundwater pathway for the
•	Interim remediation goals based on potential ARARs for JP 4 and TFH gasoline (10 μ g/l) are exceeded in MW 13.
•	Excess lifetime cancer risks to a future residential receptor exceed 1×10^{-6} in groundwater at wells MW13.
Snov	vmelt Pond
Remains:	edial actions should be evaluated for the sediment pathway for the
•	Interim remediation goals for PCBs are exceeded in two pond locations.

lacksquare

۲

۲

A hydrocarbon sheen violates Alaska Water Quality Standards.

The PCBs may pose a risk to aquatic receptors; and

Eastern OU 5

Beaver Pond

Remedial actions should be evaluated for the surface water pathway for the following reason:

• A TFH gasoline concentration of 52 μ g/L exceeds the interim remediation goal of 10 μ g/L and TCE exceeds the interim remediation goal of 5 μ g/L.

۲

۲

Groundwater Outside of Source Areas

Remedial actions should be evaluated for the groundwater pathway for the following reasons:

- Interim remediation goals for groundwater are exceeded for TCE $(5 \mu g/L)$ at MW06 and for TFH gasoline (10 $\mu g/L$) at GW5A; and
- Excess lifetime cancer risks to a future residential receptor exceed 1 x 10⁴ at wells MW06, MW07, and GW5A.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

۲

۲

۲

Page

8.0	REM	EDIAL ACTION OBJECTIVES
	8.1	General and Specific Remedial Action Objectives for OU 5
	8.2	Potential Location- and Action-Specific ARARs
		8.2.1 Potential Location-Specific ARARs
		8.2.2 Potential Action-Specific ARARs
	8.3	Interim Remediation Goals
	8.4	General Response Actions

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FE Report

8-i

LIST OF TABLES

٢

۲

۲

Ð

)

1

		Page
8-1	Specific Remedial Action Objectives for OU 5	. 8-2
8-2	Summary of Interim Remediation Goals and General Response Actions for OU 5	.8-4

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

ł.

8-ii

8.0 **REMEDIAL ACTION OBJECTIVES**

Remedial action objectives (RAOs) are the goals that the remedial action alternatives proposed in the feasibility study (FS) are designed to achieve. RAOs can be subdivided into general RAOs, that are applicable to all CERCLA sites, and specific RAOs, that are applicable to conditions at OU 5. Specific RAOs must ensure that compliance with potential ARARs is achieved.

8.1 <u>General and Specific Remedial Action Objectives for OU 5</u>

Overall goals for the remedial action are to:

• Protect human healtn by reducing the risk from the potential exposures identified in the human health evaluation;

 \bigcirc

۲

4)

- Protect environmental receptors;
- Restore contaminated media for present and future land use;
- Protect uncontaminated media by preventing releases from sources;
- Expedite site cleanup by applying the U.S. EPA Superfund Accelerated Cleanup Model goals; and
- Use permanent solutions and alternative treatment technologies to the maximum extent practicable.

Specific remedial action objectives derived from these goals are identified in Table 8-1. To meet these specific objectives, a range of remedial alternatives have been developed to allow an appropriate, cost-effective remedial action to be selected.

8.2 Potential Location- and Action-Specific ARARs

Section 7.0 specified potential contaminant-specific ARARs, which were the criteria used to establish geographical areas and contaminants of concern to be carried

8-1

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 8-1

E

٢

.

Specific Remedial Action Objectives for OU 5

	Remodial Action Objectives
•	Meet potential contaminant-, action-, and location-specific ARARs.
•	Reduce the site's cancer risk to between 1×10^4 and 1×10^6 , and reduce the non- carcinogen hazardous index to less than one. For detailed analysis of the remedial action alternatives, an excess cancer risk of 1×10^6 , the most conservative point of the acceptable range, was used. A single cancer risk number was needed to define potential response areas. Using 10^6 to evaluate alternatives does not mean that this cancer risk is the approved risk management goal. The goal will be established after regulatory comments are incorporated into this FS and as the proposed plan is being developed and reviewed by the public.
•	Reduce the risk posed by contaminants that present an unacceptable level of risk to the existing ecology.
٠	Prevent any contaminants with detectable levels exceeding potential ARARs from reaching Ship Creek.
•	Select alternatives that include treatment, where applicable and practicable, as opposed to alternatives that are limited to simply moving contamination to disposal sites.
•	Optimize the cost/risk reduction quotient, i.e., select cost effective alternatives.
٠	Abate any imminent hazards to water supplies or environmental receptors.
•	Design the remedial action for groundwater to address contaminants from groundwater at Elmendorf AFB upgradient from OU 5. Build enough flexibility into the alternatives to allow for addressing new contaminants and varying concentrations of contaminants.
•	Maintain the physical integrity of the bluffs and other topographical features.
•	Maintain the integrity of the wetlands area. Minimize disruption to the natural flow of water through the wetlands system so that effects on existing ecology and water balance are minimized.
•	Meet all Federal Facility Agreement schedule due dates.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

forward into this FS. Two other types of potential ARARs must be also considered as alternatives are being evaluated.

3

۲

8.2.1 Potential Location-Specific ARARs

Potential location-specific ARARs are requirements that affect the management of hazardous constituents, or the units in which they are managed, due to the location of the unit(s). They might be triggered, for example, if groundwater remediation were selected as a remedial action which required the construction of new surface wastewater treatment units. Examples of sensitive locations for such units include wetlands, floodplains, historic areas, and wildlife refuges. More details on potential location-specific ARARs are presented in Section 3.0 of Appendix N, Potential ARARs Identification.

8.2.2 Potential Action-Specific ARARs

Potential action-specific ARARs are technology-based or activity-based requirements that may be triggered by the particular remedial action chosen for OU 5. Potential action-specific ARARs do not in themselves determine the remedial action; rather, they place restrictions on the manner in which a selected alternative may be achieved. While the remedial action for this OU has yet to be specified, it is useful to consider potential ARARs as early as possible. More details on potential action-specific ARARs are presented in Section 4.0 of Appendix N, Potential ARARs Identification.

8.3 Interim Remediation Goals

Interim remediation goals are specific clean-up levels and related requirements to be met at OU 5. These goals are based on the RAOs identified in Sections 8.1 and 8.2. These goals are specified for all contaminants of concern (COCs) in each environmental medium. Interim remediation goals and general response actions are summarized for soil, sediments, groundwater, surface water, and seepage in Table 8-2. These goals are

8-3

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Table 8-2

Summary of Interim Remediation Goals and General Response Actions for OU 5

DU 5 R	Lettenand Main	eoc.	Remediation Genia	Course Parsons Adding	Creation
I/FS Rep	Soil (includes sediments)	Fuel hydrocarbons	100 mg/kg for TFH-gasoline 200 mg/kg for TFH-diesel	Natural degradation Institutional action	Based on Alaska Guidance on Surface and Groundwater Cleanup Lovels (a potential TBC).
ort				Excavation/Disposal	To define geographic areas that may require
		Aromatic VOCs	1 x 10 ⁶ cancer riak	Containment	remediation, a single acceptable risk target is needed. To define this target, the most
			Hazard Index of 1	Ex-Situ treatment In-Situ treatment	connervative value of 1×10^{-1} tak was used. This value is the high end of the typically acceptable range of 1×10^{-1} to 1×10^{-1} .
	Water	Puel hydrocarbons	Meet MCLs and MCLGs for all	Natural attenuation	MCLs and MCCs are key potential ARARs.
	uncluces groundwater, surface water, and	VOCI	TCE) (e.g., 2 µg/L for benzene and TCE)	Institutional action	NON-ZERO MICLUM AND, IT MORE, THE MICLA are generally relevant and appropriate for any
8	(school		1 x 10 ⁴ cancer riak	Containment	aquiter that is a potomual drinking-which source.
-4			Hazard Index of 1	Ex-Situ treatment	To define geographic areas that may require
			Preserve the wotland areas	In-Situ treatment	remounton, a tange acceptable rait target is needed. To define this target, the most
_			No visible sheens on surface water		contervative value of 1 x 10° rat was used. This value is the high end of the typically
			10 #s/L for TFHs in surface waters		accortable range of 1 x 10" to 1 x 10".
					Wetland standards are likely to apply in "wotland" areas of OU 5. A formal determination of the wetland status is needed
_					to determine if the standards apply.
					10 µg/L TFH standard and no visible sheens based on Alaska Water Quality Standards.
-	COC = Chemical of concern		TBC = To he considered		

VOC = Volatile organic compound TFH = Total fael hydrocarbons ARAR = Applicable or relevant and appropriate requirement

minust level minust concentration minust level goal MCL = Maximum conta MCC = Maximum conta MCLG = Maximum conta ۲

۲

۲

۲

•

•

)

•

•

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

preliminary in that negotiations between the Air Force and regulatory agencies are required before these interim goals can be finalized. Since the water media are so closely related at OU 5, i.e., water interfaces between the media, a single "water" medium was selected to simplify the analysis. The cleanup standards were selected based on protectiveness criteria and the requirements of law. Because the groundwater upgradient from OU 5 is not fully characterized, these remediation goals could change based on future remedial investigation efforts. U

۲

4)

8.4 General Response Actions

The identification of remedial action objectives and potential ARARs, together with the evaluation of environmental media and COC-specific remediation goals, has led to the selection of the following potential general response actions for soil and water:

- Natural attenuation;
- Institutional controls;
- Containment;
- Excavate and dispose (soil only);
- Extract, treat, and dispose; and
- In-situ treatment.

The remainder of the FS identifies, screens, and selects technologies, process options, and alternatives that may be used to implement these response actions. Each of these technologies, process options, and alternatives must be evaluated by their ability to achieve both the RAOs and interim remediation goals presented in this section.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ð

Page

9. 0	IDEF	ILFICATION AND SCREENING OF TECHNOLOGIES
	9.1	General Response Actions for Water
		9.1.1 Natural Attenuation
		9.1.2 Institutional Actions
		9.1.3 Containment
		9.1.4 Extraction/Treatment/Discharge
		9.1.5 In-Situ Treatment
	9.2	General Response Actions for Soil
		9.2.1 Natural Degradation
		9.2.2 Institutional Controls
		9.2.3 Excavation and Disposal
		9.2.4 Containment
		9.2.5 Excavation/Treatment/Disposal
		9.2.6 In-Situ Treatment
	9.3	Identification and Screening of Technology Types and Process Options 9-6
		9.3.1 Identification and Screening of Technologies
		9.3.2 Selection of Technologies
		9.3.3 Surface Water and Sediments

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

9-i

LIST OF TABLES

٢

()

Đ

۲

•

.

•

1

•

Page

	-	
9- 1	Summary of Evaluation of Process Options for Water	
9- 2	Summary of Evaluation of Process Options for Soil	
9-3	Selected Representative Process Options for Water	
9-4	Selected Representative Process Options for Soil	

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5

9-ii

9.0 IDENTIFICATION AND SCREENING OF TECHNOLOGIES

The identification and screening of remedial technologies is a two-step process, which is displayed in the two figures below. The process took into consideration the environmental conditions at Operable Unit (OU) 5 and the remedial action objectives. The identification process began by defining general response actions. A general response action is a type of remedial action that alone, or in combination with other actions, ould potentially satisfy the remedial action objectives for OU 5. Potential remedial technologies and specific process option(s) for each technology were then identified that would have the potential to implement each general response action. This identification process is displayed below. ٣

4)



Technology and Process Option Identification

Once the above process options were identified, they were then screened and selected for applicability to the conditions at OU 5. This selection process is displayed below.



۲

4)

Technology and Process Option Selection

The figure indicates three possibilities. In (1), all process options were screened out, which means the associated technology also gets screened out. In (2), only one option passes the screening and is, therefore, selected. In (3), two options pass the screening. However, to simplify the rest of the feasibility study (FS), only the process option thought to be the best at meeting the criteria, i.e., most representative, is selected for further analysis in Section 10.

Once this initial screening is complete, different combinations of applicable response actions, technologies, and process options will be combined into remedial alternatives. These alternatives will later address different media at the different geographical locations within OU 5.

To identify general response actions, OU 5 was divided into two media: water (groundwater, seeps, and surface water) and soil (including sediment). Groundwater includes the unconfined aquifer upgradient of OU 5 beneath Elmendorf Air Force Base (AFB). Seeps are springs and seeps downgradient of the bluff area. Surface water includes ditches, ponds, and other expressions of surface water downgradient from the seeps. These three types of water were combined in the analysis because water migrates from one state to the other and because technologies and process options to remediate each are similar. Soil includes

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

unconsolidated deposits from the surface to the water table within the geographic area of OU 5.

4)

9.1 <u>General Response Actions for Water</u>

Five general response actions were identified for water.

9.1.1 Natural Attenuation

This response action involves no remedial response at OU 5. Natural attenuation is relied upon to degrade, adsorb, or volatilize any contaminants of concern. Natural attenuation is used as a baseline to compare alternatives.

9.1.2 Institutional Actions

Institutional actions limit human exposure to the groundwater and surface water. Institutional actions could include access restrictions (fencing, warning signs), restrictions on groundwater use, and monitoring.

9.1.3 Containment

Containment prevents or minimizes the spread of contaminated water through the use of barriers. Containment methods include capping and hydraulic barriers. Containment would not reduce the toxicity or volume of contamination; however, it could serve to limit contaminant mobility to the area within the barriers by constraining the contaminant's ability to migrate beyond the physical barriers. Containment is typically used as part of a remedial alternative that limits migration rather than eliminating contaminant concentrations.

9.1.4 Extraction/Treatment/Discharge

This response action consists of collecting and treating contaminated water, and then discharging it. Possible extraction methods include use of vertical or horizontal extraction wells and interceptor trenches. The water can be treated using physical, chemical, or biological methods prior to on-site or off-site discharge. **4**)

9.1.5 In-Situ Treatment

Contaminated water could be treated in-situ using chemical oxidation, air sparging, permeable treatment beds, vapor extraction, bioremediation, or steam stripping methods. These methods will often also treat the soil in contact with the contaminated water.

9.2 General Response Actions for Soil

Six general response actions were identified for soil.

9.2.1 Natural Degradation

The term "Degradation" is used for soils as opposed to "Attenuation" used for water since the processes differ slightly. Soils degrade contaminants through adsorption and biological destruction/oxidation capability of naturally occurring bacteria. In the wetlands environment, additional attenuation occurs through biological uptake processes of organisms and plants.

9.2.2 Institutional Controls

Institutional controls include actions such as land use deed restrictions and fencing. As with water, institutional controls are used to limit human exposure to the contaminants in the soil.

9-4

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

9.2.3 Excavation and Disposal

Contaminated soils are excavated and transported directly to an on- or off-base landfill for disposal. This general response action would result in removal of some of the contamination and would, therefore, help achieve the applicable cleanup criteria. Removal of contaminants would also reduce long-term risk to human health, but may be offset by the short-term risks associated with the actual excavation. (**)**

۲

۲

4)

9.2.4 Containment

Containment prevents or minimizes the spread of contaminants by reducing the infiltration of rainwater and reducing dust migration. Direct contact with contaminated soil is eliminated and the potential for migration of contaminants to surrounding soil by rainwater runoff and infiltration is reduced. Containment methods include capping, vertical barriers, sediment control barriers, and lateral barriers.

9.2.5 Excavation/Treatment/Disposal

Contaminated soil is excavated, treated, and disposed. Treatment methods might include soil washing, low temperature thermal treatment, biopiling or incineration. Disposal options could include reburial or disposal in on-base or off-base landfills. The resulting holes can be backfilled, or treated soil could be used for general fill if clean-up levels are achieved. As with the excavate and disposal option (Section 9.2.3), this action will help achieve cleanup levels and reduce long-term risk, but may result in a short-term increase in risk.

9.2.6 In-Situ Treatment

In-situ treatment methods are implemented without excavating the contaminated soil. In-situ treatment includes stabilization, soil heating, soil vapor extraction with offgas treatment, in-situ vitrification, bioventing, and bioremediation. Additionally, combinations of these process options may be used (e.g., vapor extraction enhanced by steam injection). ٣

*****)

4)

9.3 Identification and Screening of Technology Types and Process Options

Technology types and process options that may be applicable to OU 5 are discussed below. Descriptions of the technologies are provided in Appendix S. The purpose of this Appendix is to provide the reader with general background information on the technologies to assist in understanding the analyses to follow. An initial screening was performed to reduce the number of technology types and process options based on the three Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) screening criteria of effectiveness, implementability, and cost.

9.3.1 Identification and Screening of Technologies

For each media-specific general response action, remedial technologies were identified that are potentially applicable to the contamination at OU 5. Specific process options were then identified for each technology. For instance, under the general response actions that include treatment, the technologies could include physical treatment, chemical treatment, biological treatment, and thermal treatment. Process options for chemical treatment could include precipitation and carbon adsorption, among others. The sources for process option selection were EPA CERCLA guidance documents, Air Force Center for Environmental Excellence (AFCEE) guidance and experience at numerous other CERCLA sites.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report
A summary of the evaluation is shown in Tables 9-1 and 9-2. In this evaluation, effectiveness was a measure of: 1) the suitability of the process option for handling the estimated areas and volumes of media and for meeting the remediation goals; 2) the potential impacts to human health and the environment during the construction and implementation phase; and 3) the reliability of the process with respect to the contaminants and conditions at the site. Both short and long term effectiveness were considered. ۲

4

The implementability of each process option was evaluated for both technical and administrative feasibility to implement each option at OU 5. Issues considered included the developmental state of the technology (commercial, bench scale, etc.); conditions at OU 5; the ability to obtain necessary permits (or satisfy the substantive requirements of a permit); the availability of treatment, storage, and disposal (TSD) facilities; the availability of necessary equipment and skilled workers to implement the technology; and political and public perception.

Relative capital and operation and maintenance (O&M) costs were identified as high, moderate, or low compared to other process options within the same remedial technology. A present-worth cost exceeding \$5 million was considered high, \$1.5 to \$5 million moderate, and less than \$1.5 million was considered low. Costs are provided for comparative purposes, but options were not screened out based on cost alone. However, costs could be a factor in selecting from several similar screened process options. To provide general cost estimates at this stage, consideration was given to the site specific conditions at OU 5. However, specific volumes of water and soil requiring remediation were not calculated at this stage. Costs were for typical applications at CERCLA sites similar to OU 5. The actual volumes and/or quantities of soils and water to be remediated would be a function of system design and applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements (ARARs). Estimates of volumes to be remediated, per alternative, are provided in the detailed analysis of alternatives in Section 11.0 and the back-up for Cost Estimating (Appendix T).

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

The process options that are not shaded in Tables 9-1 and 9-2 were considered to be potentially implementable and effective at OU 5. The shaded options were dropped from further consideration because of difficulties in implementation or their marginal effectiveness. The specific reasons for eliminating process options are noted in the tables. ۲

4)

9.3.2 Selection of Technologies

To develop and evaluate alternatives, a single process option was selected to represent all of the technologies for a particular general response action. Combinations of responses actions, technologies and process options will later be assembled into alternatives to address remedial actions. Identifying representative process options greatly simplifies the identification and evaluation of alternatives. The rationale for selecting a representative cost compared to other equally effectiveness, ease of implementability, and/or relative cost compared to other equally effective options. Not all remedial technologies were selected as representative process options selected for water and soil, along with the rationale for selection, are shown in Tables 9-3 and 9-4. In most cases, one effective and implementable process option is identified for each viable technology. However, for some general response actions, more than one process option was worth evaluating.

9.3.3 Surface Water and Sediments

Due to their unique characteristics, surface water bodies, and the soil sediments beneath them, at OU 5 demand specific analysis. Surface water evaluated in this FS are grouped into the following:

- Beaver Pond;
- Snowmelt Pond; and
- Ditches unrelated to the Beaver and Snowmelt ponds.

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Each of these surface water bodies, along with their associated sediments, will not require further analysis for the remediation alternatives described in Sections 10 and 11 due to site-specific factors. These factors are described in the text below.

a

4

Beaver Pond—The Beaver Pond wetlands system consists of an 18-acre wetlands as described in Appendix R, the Beaver Pond Study. For Beaver Pond, no response actions, other than natural attenuation and institutional controls, were determined to be both effective and implementable. Any attempt to either contain, excavate, or treat in-situ surface water or sediments using any of the process options in Tables 9-1 or 9-2 would have a severe detrimental effect on the wetlands area. For example, physically removing visible sheens, dredging sediments, or processing wetlands water through a treatment facility would all upset ecological balances, disturb the water flow, and/or violate potential ARARs, that specify minimal disturbance of wetlands. The risk of upsetting the ecological balance of Beaver Pond is great in comparison to the relative lack of significant concentrations of COCs in the pond. Also, since the source of any contaminants in Beaver Pond is from the seeps and groundwater, effective measures to remediate the seeps and groundwater will eventually reduce contamination. It has been demonstrated in the Beaver Pond Study (see Appendix R), that Beaver Pond is a viable natural wetland that can remediate chemicals entering it.

Snowmelt Pond—Snowmelt Pond is described in detail in Appendix Q. Chapter 7 concluded that ecological impacts are a concern for aquatic life at this location due to the concentrations of PCB in the sediments. This site is unique in that it is the only location within OU 5 where PCBs are a constituent of concern. The options for dealing with this site are very limited. Natural attenuation processes are not as effective on PCBs as on the other OU 5 constituents of concern, i.e., VOCs and fuel hydrocarbons. Excavation of sediments would create risks of spreading the PCBs to downstream ditches. No effective insitu treatment methods are known unless the sites were drained. Draining may be impractical because the water levels are controlled to a degree by groundwater infiltration. Thus, containment is the only applicable general response action. Capping is not implementable or effective in a wetlands or saturated environment because of the groundwater infiltration that

9-9

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

would either inundate or "float" the cap. The only available option to reasonably prevent exposure to the PCBs in the sediment is to prevent contact with environmental receptors by isolating the sediment with a material such as sand or gravel. To treat the sheens caused by discharging groundwater, Snowmelt Pond would be converted into a constructed wetland, with the gravel cover being an integral part of the subflow design of the wetland. Since isolating the sediment and converting the pond to a wetland is the only implementable and effective remedial action at this location, it is defined as the presumptive remedy for Snowmelt Pond. No further analysis of alternatives to remediate these sediments is therefore required in Sections 9, 10, and 11 of this FS. However, each of the soil remediation alternatives in Section 11, Table 11-6 will include the costs for this presumptive remedy, which will be carried forward into the comparative analysis in Section 11. 4)

Ditches—This pathway consists of all ditches, ponds, and other surface water that is not connected into either the Beaver Pond or Snowmelt Pond hydrologic system. Regulation of these ditches is more appropriately carried out under the Elmendorf AFB NPDES program, as opposed to the CERCLA program. The NPDES program is designed to monitor discharges and implement corrective actions for any discharges found to have a detrimental effect on human health or the environment. The NPDES program at Elmendorf AFB should therefore regulate the discharge of this surface water, and take into consideration the results of this RI/FS in identifying appropriate constituents to monitor.

Summary of Evaluation of Process Options for Water

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis.

Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for

1	i	
5	1	
	ľ	
Ì	ł	
)	

		Contraction of the local distance of the loc				
Natural Attenuation	Includes natural attenuation within the wetlands and in the groundwater	Not applicable, although mochanisms include adsorption, microbial breakdown, volatilization, and fibration.	S, G	Natural attenuation will provide some degree of treatment. Modeling and monitoring pro- grums required to determine level of effectiveness.	Bacily implemented, assuming public and regulatory accep- tance.	wor
Institutional Action	Access restrictions	Deed/water rights reatric- tions, fences.	ဗ စ	Effectiveness depends on contin- ued future implementation. Does not reduce contamination.	Implementable for carbase contamination as long as base maintains control over land use. Implementability decreases for off-base conta- mination since coordination with private parties and legal issues can docrease likelihood for protective deed restric- tions.	For
		Land purchase/eminent domain	S, G	Effectivences depends on contin- ued future implementation. Does not reduce contamination.	Purchase must be negociated with current hand owners. Purther migration of contami- nation could require additional land acquisition.	Moderate

Media treated: groundwater (g) and scops (s)

-

~

- Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million No reduction in risk achieved
 - Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern
 - ~

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance Does not prevent migration of contaminants

 - Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2

۷

۲

۲

(

Ð

•

)

1

)

)

adorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for

}	
i ,	
!	
, 	
•	
•	
•	
j.	
Non	
nin,	
<u>S</u>	
2	

Low	Easily implemented.	Effectively documents current conditions and degree of treat- ment achieved.	S,G	Monitoring wells and sur- face water sampling.	Monitoring	
			Ð			
1			o			
			0			Institutional Action (cont.)
() - S	a second s			Francis Optimus	Readed Telescop	Concel Parameter

Media treated: groundwater (g) and seeps (s)

_

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million No reduction in risk achieved ~

Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment

Not effective on the contaminants of concern

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance Does not prevent migration of contaminants -
 - Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted õ

4

*****}

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Tochnologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for erroming out.

=
-
-
-
H.
_
-
-

ţ.	High	Moderate
Difficult to implement due to limited access and construction in wetland eavironment.	Difficult to implement due to limited acceca and construction in wetland environment. More difficult to construct than alurry walls.	Difficult to implement due to limited access and construction in wetland ervironment. Also extensive areas of contamination would require large and complex well system. Also dotrimental effect on water balance.
In abort term, effectively reduc- ce lateral migration. Long term, groundwater, surface water, and accept could back up and over- flow the barrier. Usually re- outires associated termine and/	or capping actions to maintain effectivences. In short term, effectively reduc- ce lateral migration. Long term, groundwater, surface water, and seeps could back up and over- flow the barrier. Usually re- quires associated pumping and/	or capping actions to maintain effectivences. In short term, effectively roduc- ce latarul migration. Long term, groundwater, surface water, and seeps could migrate laterally around injection well.
S,G	S,G	S,G
Shurry wall/grout ourtain	Sheet pile wall	Injection wells (hydraulic barrier)
Vertical barrier		
Contrainment		

9-13

Media treated: groundwater (g) and scops (s) -

- ~ . Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million No reduction in risk achieved 2 •
 - Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment
 - Not effective on the contaminants of concern Ś

Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance Does not prevent migration of contaminants

•

- Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2

۲

۲

Ð

)

)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis.

indicates the reason(s) for The number in the lower right

ž.	
8	
ĝ	
Š.	
Ķ.	
ä,	

2		
ź		
5		
ł		
1		
2		
ē.		
2		
5		
ł.		
5		
Į		
\$		
2		
2		
Ì		
5		
1		
è		
ï		
5		
ţ.		
(
i		
ł		
Ľ		
5		
ľ		
ł		
5		
Ĭ		
5		
÷		
5		
1		

Course Request				
Action Containment (cont.)	Vertical barrier (cont.)	Frame Option Marginal Landson for Marginal Landson for A. Y	Interference (index regarding of bytems) (index by the matching of the property of the matching of the second of the second of the	
		Grout spinoton (rubuse hore hurrier) which car- hore is all filled it before all hurrier formed the fillence of a proof the fillence of a proof the fillence of a proof the	I frak variat al atratic frak a set se set se set al atratic frak a set se set se set set set set set a set set set set set set set set a set set set set set set set set set a set	Mind a manual second se
	Horizontal Intrict	Copping with chy, ar-	link denne lepting to the level of the level to the level of the level to the level of the level of the level to the level of the level	

- Media treated: groundwater (g) and seeps (s)
- Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million 2
 - No reduction in risk achieved
 - Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment ~
 - Not effective on the contaminants of concern

D

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance
 - Does not prevent migration of contaminants ~
 - Detrimental effect on future land use -
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted <u>e</u>

Eimendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for acreating

		1000
		200
		*
	1	
		0000
		0000
	ĺ	ŝ
5		ž
•		1

Collection/Treatmen	#/Dischargo					
Collection	Extraction	Extraction wells	S,G	Effective removal of contami- nated groundwater. Could affect ecology unless flow rates of water into the wetlands are maintained after collection.	Wells can be drilled and pumpe installed.	Moderato
		Horizontal drains (lateral pipes into bluff)	S	Effective removal of water, but only water that can be drained, without pumping, from the upper portion of the shallow aquifer. Could affect coology unleas water balance of the wetlands is maintained after collection.	Lateral draims easily drilled. Must maintain alope stability, or drains could be damaged.	Low
	Surface collectors	Berm/swale (carth)	S	Effective capture of scops al- though constituents could mi- grate through earth. Could affect flow into wetlands and have negative impact on coolo- gy.	Implementable. Limited access and construction prob- lems could affect portions of the installation.	Low
		Concrete trench	ø	Effective capture of sceps. Could affect flow into wetlands and have negative impact on ecology.	Implementable. Limited access and construction prob- hems could affect portions of the installation.	Modernie

- Media treated: groundwater (g) and acope (s) Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = \leq 1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million No reduction in risk achieved

 - Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern *

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance
 - Does not prevent migration of contaminants Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2

۲

۲

۲

4)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

000000000

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

i	
5	
•	
r	
ŧ	
-	

Colloction (cont.)	Subsurface drains	Collection trenches (Preach drain)	D'S	Effectively removes shallow groundwater. Could affect flow into wetlands and have negative impact on ecology.	Moderately difficult to imple- ment due to space limitations. Potential to disrupt wellands although act as much as other remedial actions, auch as permeeble beds and grout
Ex-Sáu Treatment		2	5		injection, which require great- er depths of excernion.
			5.0a		
			101		
	Physical treatment		È		

- Media treated: groundwater (g) and scops (s) -
- Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million ~
 - No reduction in risk achieved
- Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern Ś

Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance Does not prevent migration of contaminants

- Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved 2
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted

۲

۲

۲

4;

ndorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for

screening out.

	\$ #		High	
	Technology available and implementable. Treatmost unit must be located on top of the bluff, which would require water to be pumped up to the unit. Pipes con- taining this water must be protected from breakage due to potential slope failure. Air permitting and monitoring re- quirements for vapor dia- charges.		Early implemented. Requires regeneration of ourbon.	
	Effective and reliable for remov- al of volatile contaminants. Must be used in conjunction with other technologies to re- move metals and semivolatiles.		Effective and reliable for organ-	
	a,D,S	5	s,G ^{ill}	
the other	Aur sträpping		Carbon adsorption	
	Physical treatment (cont.)			
ļ	Ex-Stiu Treetmeent (coat.)			

- -
- Media treated: groundwater (g) and seeps (s) Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs e
 - Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million
 - No reduction in risk achieved
- Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern

*

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance •
 - Does not prevent migration of contaminants Detrimental effect on future land use
 - .
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2

ک

•

۲

4)



(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

Cont.) Cont.)	Rendel Technica Physical treatment (cont.)	The Other	10	Barris and a surface		3
	Chemical Treatment	Chemical oxidation, with possible addition of oxi- dizing agent such as ultraviolet light.	s,Gu	Effective destruction of organ-	Implementable. Requires treatability tests to select correct oxidizing agent and doages. Oxidizing agents	Moderate
			8	And the second se	may be hazardous materials requiring special care.	1

Media treated: groundwater (g) and seeps (s)

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million No reduction in risk achieved

Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern ~

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance Does not prevent migration of contaminants
 - Detrimontal effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or
 - land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2



(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

a citation de la cita		Moderste
Implementable. Requires close monitoring of para- meters to ensure optimul per- formance. Relatively high flow will require catomaive land on top of bluff to provide adequate residence time. A lower flow construc- ted wetland can be built below the bluff by altering Snowmedt Pond.		Discharge limits and monitor- ing required. Potential regulatory and public percop- tion problems. Reinjection must be designed to not contaminate Ship Creek.
Effective on metals and organ- ics. May have reduced effec- tiveness in cold months. Moni- toring required to demonstrate effectiveness.		Effective disposal method. May upset the water balance of the wetlands if water is resignated that would have gone to the wetlands areas.
s,G ¹⁶		S,G
Constructed wetlands		Direct discharge to rein- jection wells
Wetland Remediation	On-tite discharge	
Ex.Sinu Treatment (cont)	Discharge	

- -
- -
- -
- Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment •
 - Not effective on the contaminants of concern

Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance

Does not prevent migration of contaminants Detrimental effect on future land use

~

Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2



9-19

Media treated: groundwater (g) and seeps (s) Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million

No reduction in risk achieved

.

-

۲

۲

۲

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

		Alter Otto N				
Discharge (cont.)	On-tile discharge (cont.)	Weilande	S,G	Effective disposal method.	Discharge limits and monitor- ing required. Potential regulatory and public perception problems.	Low
	Off-the discharge	Direct discharge to off- aite reinjoction wells	S,G	Effective disposal method. May uppet the water balance of the wedlands if water is reinjected that would have gone to the wetland areas.	Disoharge timita and monitor- ing required. Potential regulatory and public perception problems. Reinjoction must be designed to prevent contamination of Ship Creek.	Moderate
		Treated water discharged to POTW.	S,G	Effective.	POTW may not accord the discharge because of volume. Reinjoction must be designed to not contaminate Ship Creek.	Low
In-Siru Treatmeat	Chomical treatment		9]

- Media treated: groundwater (g) and seeps (s) -
- Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million ~
 - No reduction in risk achieved

- Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern

Ð

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance
 - Does not prevent migration of contaminants
 - Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2



endorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

9-20

6

Table 9-1

(Continued)

Tochnologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for acreening out.

	Moderate	Low	Low	Moderate
	Implementable. Must monitor for medium breakthrough and then remove and replace treatment medium. Multiple construc- tion efforts may be limited by space limitations and could disturb large areas of land.	Implementable.	Implementable. Low ambient temperatures could impact degradation rates.	Implementable. Low ambient temporatures could impact re- moval rates, atthough this could be counteracted by heat from the steam.
Tanking and	Effective and reliable. Effec- tivences limited by lithology and ability to contact all contaminat- ed media.	Effective for removal of volatile contaminants. Effectivences limited by lithology and ability to contact all contaminated media.	Effective for destruction and volatilization of degradable organic contaminanta. Effec- tiveness limited by lithology and ability to contact all contaminat- ed media.	Effective for destruction of degradable organic contami- nants. Effectiveness limited by lithology and ability to contact all contaminated media.
	Ð	Ð	U	U
Press of the local division of the local div	Permoable treatmost bods	In-situ air stripping	Air sparging (note this option also has physical aspects due to ability to volatilize COCs).	In-situ stcam stripping
	Chemical treatment (cont.)	Physical treatment	Biological treatment	Thermal treatment
	In-Sign Treatmont (cont)			

Media treated: groundwater (g) and scops (s)

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million

No reduction in risk achieved

Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment Not effective on the contaminants of concern ×

- Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance
 - Does not prevent migration of contaminants
 - Detrimental effect on future land use
- Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved
 - Groundwater treated if actively extracted 2

Q

(

(

ļ

(

madorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Summary of Evaluation of Process Options for Soil

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for acreating out.

ndetion	Natural degradation	Not applicable, although mechanisms include natural, physical, chemical, and biological processes	Natural degradation will provide some degree of treatment.	Easily implemented, assuming I public and regulatory acceptance.	wo
Action	Access Restrictions	Land Use Restrictions	Effectivences depends on continued fluure implementation. Does not reduce contamination, or prevent migration of contaminated material.	Implementation for on-base conta- mination as long as base maintains control over land use. Imple- mentability decreases for off-base contamination since coordination with private parties and legal issues can decrease likelihood for protective deed restrictions.	80
		Deed Restrictions	Effectivences depends on continued future implementation. Does not reduce consamination, or prevent migration of contaminated material.	Implementation for on-base conta- mination as long as base maintains control over hand use. Imple- mentability decreases for off-base contamination since coordination with private parties and legal issues can decrease likelihood for protective deed restrictions.	Moo
		Land purchase/eminent domain	Effectivences depends on continued future implementation. Does not reduce contamination, or prevent migration of contaminated material.	Purchase must be negotiated with A outrest land owners.	Modernie
		Pencing	Effective and reliable.	Easily implemented. Base must 1 maintain control over land use.	

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million. ² No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment

⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance Does not prevent migration of contaminants 7 Detrimontal effect on future land use

^c Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved U

0

4

\$

)

1

ndorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

5

Table 9-2

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right comer of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

α.		Press Document			
Institutional Action (cont.)	Access Restrictions (cont.)	Soil gas	Does not directly measure soil contamination.	Easily implemented.	Low
		Borings	Effective and reliable.	Essily implemented.	Low
Excavation/Disposal					
Excertation	Shallow Excavation (lees than 15 feet in depth) and backfilling	Backhoe, buildozer, scraper, truck loader, etc.	Effective and reliable, but only for top 10-15 fact of soil. Not effective on sediments in the beaver pond since disturbance of sediments would degrade surface water and disrupt the ecology of the pond.	Batily implemented.	Low

¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.

- ⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use
- ¹ Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance

e

(

Ć

(

⁴ Does not prevent migration of contaminants ³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment ⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern ² No reduction in risk achieved

nadorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report Rie

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for occorring out.

		Contraction Designation			
Disposal	Off-site disposal	RCRA landfill	Effective and reliable for hazardous wastes.	Nearest hazardous waste laadfill is in Arlington, Oregon (Chemical Waste Management).	H,
		Industrial landfill	Effective and reliable for non- hazardous, but contaminated soils (>100 mg/kg TFH)	Implementable, although public and industry concerns could arise over transport and disposal of soils from a CERCLA site.	and l
Containment	Capping	Bentonite and soil	Effective at preventing surface contact and reducing migration of contantinants. Cracks are self- bealing. Less effective at pre- venting migration from the con- taminated area if a hydraulic grad- ient still crists after capping (e.g., in a wetlands or scop environment).	Topography may limit cap location (e.g., capa on aloped areas not implementable). Saturated soil also inhibits installation (e.g., in a wetlands or soop environment).	Low
		Clay	Effective at preventing surface contact and reducing migration of contaminants. Suscoptible to weathering and cracking. Loss effective at preventing migration from the contaminated area if a hydrautic gradient still crists after capping (e.g., in a wetlands or soop environment).	Topography may limit cap location (c.g., capa on aloped areas not implementable). Seturated soil also inhibits installation (c.g., in a wetlands or soop environment).	B

¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$55 million. ² No reduction in risk achieved

Does not prevent migration of contaminants
 Dotrimontal effect on future land use

¹ Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvala/public acceptance

ndorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

9-24

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment ⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

સ

(T

¢

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right conner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

	cruto			
Mod	tion Mod	hion High		
tit cap loos d areas not birrated soli ion (e.g.,	nit cap loon 1 aroas not buratod soil jion (e.g., i vironment)	uit cap loca d areas not burnted soil ion (e.g., i vironmest),		
dy may lin dy may lin a on abpo abbic). Se dia installa	dry may lim a on slopo table). Sa its installat or scop en	thy may lin a on alopo table). Sa its installat or acop en		b.
Topograp (c.g., or implement abo inhib wetlands	Topograf (c.g., cep implement also inhib wetlande	Topograp (c.g., car implement also inhib wetlands		
ip, with the former of the for		coting		
a as clay ci dian from the can allo reas to be t	phak cap)	ap at prov		ΠÌ.
e comments ased prote hering. A uninated a ficially if a uste.	e at for a	t effective , ation.		
A boot to be a constant of the	(Sem	Most		
		., RCRA of clay and		
Ĩ.	8	modia (c.g th layers tic linern).	1	ŧ.
Aipha	Concr	Multi- cap wi synthe	Ĵ	
			L	
co) Inique				
a inmeet (s				
Cea				

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.

² No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment

⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance ⁶ Does not prevent migration of contaminants

7 Detrimental effect on future land use

* Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved ۲ •

۲

•

.

•

•

•

Þ

9-25

Ekmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS Report

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for





9-26

- Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.
 - ² No reduction in risk achieved
 - ³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment
 - * Not effective on the contaminants of concern

- ⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance ⁶ Does not prevent migration of contaminants 7 Detrimental effect on future land use
- ⁶ Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

*

بغ

.

ł



(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right comer of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

	Same Table	Press Option	Rationer	line and	2
Containment (cont.)					
Excavation/Treatmen	M/Disposal				
Excavation	(See Excavation and Disposal)				
Ex-Situ Treatment	Physical treatment	ļ	Reserve and the property of the second		! :
		Solver Eteratio	Effective second of separate sec- mental difference separate on second of gaper second		

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.

² No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment

⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

h

)

⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance ⁴ Does not prevent migration of contaminants

C. 18.

substitute of proper

C &

⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use

* Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved Ψ,

8)

4



ł

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis.

Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right comer of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

	and Controls	These Care		1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Ex-Situ Treatment (cont.)	Physical treatment (cont.)				Ì.,
		Air stripping/vacuum extrac- tion	Effective removal of volatile contaminants.	Implementable although requires much greater effort than in stru extraction. Generates vapor stream that must be treated.	Low
					Ţ
	Chemical treatment	Fixation/solidification	Effectively immobilizes most contaminants. Process can be reversible due to weathering.	Implementable, but not as effective in the presence of greater than 10% organics.	Moderate
		Characteri deritivitation:	Ribertony Region defendent operation Dest and sourcefue between constraints		1
		Chemical oxidation	Effective destruction of organic contaminants. Could be used to treat soil washing supernatant.	Implementable.	Moderate

¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.² No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment

⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

⁶ Does not prevent migration of contaminants ⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use

⁴ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance

Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved *

.

1

Elmondorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

 .			2	2	
	for this	1			
	biopiling a crpanded				
	u existing at could be oject.				
	256				
	į			1	
	oontaminar				
	organic o				
	ert				
	vilking ag		e birter	din koke	
	air and			į	
a transfer a					
ibgical tre					
1 8 1	<u> </u>				
En Train					
EA-Si (cont.					

9-29

¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.

² No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment ⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

⁴ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance ⁶ Does not prevent migration of contaminants

⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use ⁶ Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved ۲,

۲

.

ł

•

1

.

1

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

(Continued)

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for



- ¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.
 - ² No reduction in risk achieved
- Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment
 Not effective on the contaminants of concern



- ⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use
- * Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for

į	l	
ľ	•	

Disposel	On-tie disposal	Industrial landfill (on base)	Effective and reliable for non- bazardous waste.	Implementable if a location on base could be found and permitted.	Moderate
		RCRA landfill (on-base)	Biffective and reliable for hazardous wate.	Implementable if there is witable location on base. Also would require extensive efforts to meet substantive landfill design requirements of RCRA.	High
		Beckfill	Effective if treated to acceptable concentrations.	Implementable for general fill if clean-up levels are achieved.	Low
	Off-site disposal	RCRA landfill (off-base)	Effective and reliable for hazardous wrate.	Nearest hazardous waste hadfill is hoested in Oregon. Since contami- nated soils are managed by another party, base retains liability.	High
		Industrial landfill (off-base)	Effective and reliable for nonhazar- dous waste with TFH > 100 mg/kg.	Industrial waste landfills may have difficulty accopting wastes from a CERCLA site. Since contaminated soils are managed by another party, base retains liability.	M odornie

Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million. ² No reduction in risk achieved

- ³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment ⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

⁴ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance * Does not prevent migration of contaminants

- ⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use
- * Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

۲

۲

۲

(



9-31

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for screening out.

Proven extra
a-eitu air stripping
ioil flushing
Rabilization

¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million. No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment

⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

- ⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance ⁶ Does not prevent migration of contaminants
 - 7 Detrimental effect on future land use
- * Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved



9-32

1

۲

۲

4

)

(Continued)

Technologies and process options selected for further analysis. Technologies and process options dropped from further analysis. The number in the lower right corner of the Process Option box indicates the reason(s) for ioreening out.

	×						ł
	uir L	_					
	roval of					l	
	dqA .al	quirod.					
	n picmentel	nissions re					
	aldel aldel	14 is 0					
	of degrad	me to tro	floctive is				
	cetruction	it hough ti	/ be less e	ithe.	an a		
	Effective d	orpanice, a	ong. Maj	winter mol	Same in		
			_	-			•
	oventing						
	Bi				*		
	treatment						
	Incigoloi						
	ent						
	Treatm	-					
.	In-Situ	(cont.)					

¹ Costs are present-worth and include both capital and operation/maintenance costs. Low = <\$1.5 million; Moderate = \$1.5 to \$5 million; High = >\$5 million.

² No reduction in risk achieved

³ Very difficult to implement in a bluff or wetlands environment ⁴ Not effective on the contaminants of concern

- ⁵ Difficulty in obtaining regulatory approvals/public acceptance
 - ⁴ Does not prevent migration of contaminants
 - ⁷ Detrimental effect on future land use
- ¹ Limited commercial experience or extensive equipment and/or land involved

•

ì

۵

•

1

\$

•)

۲



Selected Representative Process Options for Water

General Response Action	Rendiel Technology	Representative Process Option	Rationale for Saladian
Natural Attenuation	Natural Attenuation	Natural attenuation (only option)	Used as a baseline; natural attenuation has potential to be effective in wetland areas of OU 5.
Institutional Action	Access Restrictions	Deed/water rights restrictions, feaces, and/or land purchases	All potential options were carried forward as potential land use restrictions to limit groundwater extraction and contact with water. The alternative water supply technology was eliminated aince no domestic, agricultural, or industrial users are known to use the aballow aquifer.
	Monitoring	Monitoring wells and surface water	Monitoring is an important activity to document that exposures are occurring and that natural attenuation is effective. Also documents the effectiveness of remedial actions.
Containment	Vertical Barriers	Slurry wall	Shury walls would prevent lateral migration of groundwater and concentrate flows for treatment. Slurry wall was selected over abeet pile wall due to leas cost. Injection wells would be leas effective at containing contaminated water. Grout injection and surface water barriers would have negative effects in a wetlands environment. Capping would have no effect on lateral migration.
Collection/Treatment/ Discharge	Collection	Active extraction wells Passive horizontal drains Collection trenches	These process options are the most effective for extracting groundwater and seepage. Earthen berms were thought to be less effective due to migration problems and concrete trenches were more costly than drains.

adorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report Ele

9-34

Ð

ک

۲

۲

4;

•

-

5)

Table 9-3 (Continued)

Counted Response Action	Remedial Technology	Representative Process Option	Rationals for Salarition
Collection/Treatment/ Discharge (cont.)	Biological Treatment and Wetland Remediation	Constructed wetlands	Of the biological technologies, wetlands was the least capital intensive and, with proper operation, could be an all weather option. The four elimi- nated biological options were acreamed out as either not appropriate for the COCs or involving extensive equipment aceds.
	Physical Treatment	Air stripping and carbon adsorption	Air stripping can effectively remove the con- taminants. This process is more proven than the other physical or chemical treatment processes listed. UV oxidation was considered for treat- ment. However, it was not selected because air stripping and activated carbon were considered more proven technologies.
	On-Site Discharge	Discharge to reinjection well system	This option is most protective of Ship Creek. Direct discharge to Ship Creek, the POTW, or the wetlands is less protective. Some of the injection wells may be off-aite, dependent on optimal system design.
In-Situ Treatment	Chemical Treatment	Permesble treatment bods	Permeable treatment beds can effectively remove organic contaminants. This option was the only chemical treatment option passing the acreaning.
	Biological Treatment	Air sparging	Air sparging was selected over in-situ steam or air stripping because of ioss technical complexity.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS Report

9-35

Selected Representative Process Options for Soil

General Reports Action	Remoting Technology	Representative Process Option	Restorate for Scienting
Natural Degradation	Natural Degradation	(Not applicable)	Selected for a baseline comparison; natural degradation can effectively reduce organic contantinants.
Institutional Action	Access Restrictions	Land use/deed restrictions, land purchase, fences	These options can minimize direct contact with contaminated soil. All options were carried forward.
	Monitoring	Soil gas wells and borings	Monitoring can document the degradation of organics.
Excavation/Disposal	Shallow Excevation and Backfill	Backhoe	Shallow excevation is more implementable than deep excevation at OU 5 because of slope stability concerns with deep excevation. Risks in deep excevation would outweigh the benefits of removing relatively small volumes of contaminated soils.
	Off-Site Disposal	Industrial waste landfill	Industrial waste landfills can accept nonhazardous TFH- contaminated soil from CERCLA sites. Disposal out-of- state would be cost prohibitive. RCRA landfill not required.
Containment	Capping	Bentomite and soil cap	A bentonite and soil cap would be easiest to construct and is self-healing when cracked. Other caps would not provide additional benefits. Vertical barriers would not prevent downward migration.
Bxcavate/Treatment/ Disposed	Shallow Excavation	Backhoe	See Excavation/Disposal. All ex-situ options were eliminated due to the difficulty in excavating deep soils.
	Biological Treatment	Biopiling	Biopiling has been effectively used at Elmendorf AFB to treat TFH-contaminated soil before disposal. Other biological and chemical treatment options required extensive equipment. The identified physical treatment technology, air stripping/vacuum extraction, is best carried out in-aitu since the excavation of soils prior to this treatment is a costly step which does not result in an increase in treatment effectivenese.

Elmendorf AFB OU 5 RI/PS

9-36

0

•

•

0

Ð

Ś

(

D

(

(Continued)

General Raymon Artikan	Remedial Technology	Representative Process Option	Reducts for Standar
Lit-Silli I realmont	Physical Treatmont	Vacuum extraction/soil venting	This process option effoctively treats acil from any depth without producing accondary solid wastes, although air emissions must be approved. This option was judged to be the most demonstrated and cost-effective of all the physical and thermal options.
	Biological Treatment	Bioventing	This process option treats soil at any depth without any secondary treatment systems, although air emissions must be approved. This was the only option to pass the screening.

TFH = Total Pael Hydrocarbons

Č

ſ

Elemendorf AFB OU 5 RI/FS

9-37

e